
 

 

 
 

Notice of a public meeting of  
 

Local Plan Working Group 
 
To: Councillors Ayre (Chair), K Taylor (Vice-Chair), Carr, 

Cuthbertson, D'Agorne, Fisher, Doughty, Hollyer, Orrell, 
Pearson, Perrett, Warters, Widdowson, Lomas, D Myers, 
Smalley and S Barnes 
 

Date: Monday, 7 March 2022 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The George Hudson Board Room - 1st Floor West 
Offices (F045) 
 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

 
 

1. Declarations of Interest   
 

 
At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare: 
 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 
 



 

 

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting of the Local Plan 
Working Group held on 13 July 2021. 
 

3. Public Participation   
 

At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 
registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
 
Please note that our registration deadlines have changed to 2 
working days before the meeting. The deadline for registering at 
this meeting is at 5.00pm on Thursday 3 March 2022. 
 
 To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill out an online 
registration form. If you have any questions about the registration 
form or the meeting please contact the Democracy Officer for the 
meeting whose details can be found at the foot of the agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this public meeting 
will be webcast including any registered public speakers who have 
given their permission. The public meeting can be viewed on 
demand at www.york.gov.uk/webcasts.  
 
During coronavirus, we've made some changes to how we're 
running council meetings. See our coronavirus updates 
(www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy) for more information on 
meetings and decisions. 
 
 

4. York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s 
Report and Decision Statement  (Pages 7 - 188) 
 

This report requests that the LPWG recommends to Executive that 
it agrees the Examiner’s recommendations to enable the 
Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to Referendum.  

 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy


 

 

5. Adoption of Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  (Pages 189 - 582) 
 

To report the outcome of the Examination in Public by the 
Government’s Appointed Inspector into the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan (2015-2030) and accompanying Policies Map; and provide a 
recommendation that the Authority makes the necessary 
procedural arrangements to complete the adoption process. The 
Joint Plan was adopted by members of North Yorkshire County 
Council on 16th February and will also be reported to members of 
the North York Moors National Park Authority in March. 
 

6. Urgent Business   
 

Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 
Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officer: 
  
Name: Louise Cook  
Contact Details:  

 Telephone – (01904) 551031 

 E-mail –   louise.cook@york.gov.uk  
 

 
For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 1 
 

Coronavirus protocols for attending Committee Meetings at West Offices 

 

If you are attending a meeting in West Offices, you must observe the following protocols.  

Good ventilation is a key control point, therefore all windows have been opened to allow adequate 

ventilation, they must be left as set prior to the start of the meeting. 

If you’re displaying possible coronavirus symptoms (or anyone in your household is displaying symptoms), 

you should follow government guidance.  You are advised not to attend your meeting at West Offices. 

Testing 

The Council encourages regular testing of all Officers and Members and also any members of the public in 

attendance at a Committee Meeting.  Any members of the public attending a meeting are advised to take a 

test within 24 hours of attending a meeting, the result of the test should be negative, in order to attend.  

Test kits can be obtained by clicking on either link:  Find where to get rapid lateral flow tests - NHS (test-

and-trace.nhs.uk), or, Order coronavirus (COVID-19) rapid lateral flow tests - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk).  

Alternatively, if you call 119 between the hours of 7am and 11pm, you can order a testing kit over the 

telephone. 

Guidelines for attending Meetings at West Offices 

 Please do not arrive more than 10 minutes before the meeting is due to start. 

 You are not required to wear a face covering whilst in West Offices. CYC supports the decision of 
those who wish to do so. 

 Visitors to enter West Offices by the customer entrance and Officers/Councillors to enter using the 
staff entrance only. 

 Ensure your ID / visitors pass and lanyard is clearly visible at all time and worn around the neck. 

 Regular handwashing for 20 seconds is recommended. 

 Please use the touchless hand sanitiser units on entry and exit to the building and hand sanitiser 
within the Meeting room. 

 Bring your own drink if required. 

 Only use the designated toilets next to the Meeting room. 
 

 

Developing symptoms whilst in West Offices 

If you develop coronavirus symptoms during a Meeting, you should: 

 Make your way home immediately  

 Avoid the use of public transport where possible 

 Follow government guidance in relation to self-isolation. 

You should also: 

 Advise the Meeting organiser so they can arrange to assess and carry out additional cleaning 

 Do not remain in the building any longer than necessary 

 Do not visit any other areas of the building before you leave 

If you receive a positive test result, or if you develop any symptoms before the meeting is due to take place, 

you should not attend the meeting.  

 

EJAV501.02.22 

Page 1 Agenda Annex

https://maps.test-and-trace.nhs.uk/
https://maps.test-and-trace.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/order-coronavirus-rapid-lateral-flow-tests


This page is intentionally left blank



City Of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Local Plan Working Group 

Date 13 July 2021 

Present Councillors Ayre (Chair), K Taylor (Vice-
Chair), Carr, Cuthbertson, Fisher, Hollyer, 
Orrell, Pearson, Widdowson, Lomas, 
Smalley, S Barnes, Looker (Substitute for 
Councillor Perrett) and Rowley (Substitute for 
Councillor Doughty) 

Apologies Councillors D'Agorne, Doughty, Myers, 
Perrett and Warters 

 
1. Declarations 0f Interest  

 
[5:30pm The Chair briefly lost connection and re-joined the 
meeting] 
 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any 
personal interests not included on the Register of Interests, and 
any prejudicial or discloseable pecuniary interests, which they 
might have in the business on the agenda. None were declared. 
 

2. Minutes  
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 April  

2021 be approved as a correct record and be signed 
by the Chair at a future date. 

 
3. Public Participation  

 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 

4. Huntington Neighbourhood Plan  
 
Members considered a report that highlighted the results of the 
Huntington Neighbourhood Plan referendum and asked them to 
recommend to Executive to formally ‘make’ the Neighbourhood 
Plan and bring it into full legal force as part of the Development 
Plan for York.  
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



[5:33pm Cllr Barnes joined the meeting]  
 
The Development Officer and the Interim Assistant Director – 
Place Directorate were in attendance to present the report and 
answer any questions. 
 
[5:34pm Cllr Widdowson joined the meeting, 5:35pm Cllr 
Widdowson lost connection and then re-joined the meeting] 
 
It was noted that: 

 The referendum was held in the parish of Huntington on 
Thursday 10 June 2021, with two polling stations being 
open from 7am until 10pm. 

 The Declaration of Results of Poll (Annex A to the report) 
confirmed that 1318 residents casted a valid vote in the 
referendum, out of a potential 7733 on the electoral roll 
(17.1% turnout). 1114 (86.8%) residents voted yes and 
174 (13.2%) voted no. 

 The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations required that 
where over 50% of the vote was in favour then the Council 
was legally obliged to ‘make’ the plan. The Huntington 
Plan did not breach, or was not incompatible with, any EU 
obligation or any of the Convention rights and there were 
no unresolved legal challenges.  

 Executive would consider the results of the referendum 
and be asked to formally ‘make’ the Huntington 
Neighbourhood Plan on 20 July 2021, this would allow the 
Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line with the relevant 
Neighbourhood Planning legislation and Regulations. 

 Once the plan was ‘made’ it would achieve its full legal 
status and would form part of the statutory development 
plan for the area and would sit alongside the Local Plan 
(once adopted). 

 
Officers expressed their thanks to the Huntington 
Neighbourhood Plan Group and the Parish Council and 
Members also expressed their gratitude to those that had been 
involved in developing the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Resolved: That Executive be recommended to: 
 

i) Consider the results of the referendum and formally 
‘make’ the Huntington Neighbourhood Plan. 

  

Page 4



Reason: To allow the Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line 
with the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations.  

 
ii) Approve the Decision Statement attached at 

Annex B to the report and to be published in 
accordance with Regulation 19 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012 (as amended). 

 
Reason: To allow the Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line 

with neighbourhood planning legislation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr N Ayre, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.30pm and finished at 5.39pm]. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

  

  
 

   

 
Local Plan Working Group 
 

7th March 2022 

Report of the Corporate Director of Place   
 

YORK MINSTER PRECINCT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN – EXAMINER’S 
REPORT 

 

Summary 

 

1. The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Examiner’s Report is 
attached at Annex A to this report. Annex B sets out a Decision 
Statement which includes the Council’s proposed response to the 
Examiner’s recommended modifications. This report requests that the 
LPWG recommends to Executive that it agrees the Examiner’s 
recommendations to enable the Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to 
Referendum.  

 

Recommendations 

 

2. LPWG Members are asked to recommend the report to Executive 

with any additional observations they wish Executive to consider: 

Reason: In order that Executive can consider the observations 

and recommendations of the LPWG in their decision making. 

Executive Recommendations: 

i) Agrees the Examiner’s modifications set out at Annex B (Decision 

Statement) to the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan and 

that subject to those modifications the Neighbourhood Plan meets 

the Basic Conditions and other legislative requirements. 

   Reason: To allow the Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line with 

  neighbourhood planning legislation.  

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



 

ii)  Agrees that the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan as 
amended proceeds to a local referendum based on the 
neighbourhood area and residential properties within the 
immediate vicinity of the neighbourhood area, to include the 
postcodes outlined in Appendix A of the Examiners Report (in 
Annex A).   

   Reason: To allow the Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line with 
  neighbourhood planning legislation.  

 

(iii)  Approves the Decision Statement attached at Annex B to be  
  published on the City of York Council’s website. 

   Reason: To allow the Neighbourhood Plan to progress in line with 
  neighbourhood planning legislation. 

 

Background 

 

3. The Localism Act 2011 introduced new powers for community groups to 
prepare neighbourhood plans for their local areas.  The Council has a 
statutory duty to assist communities in the preparation of 
Neighbourhood Plans and to take plans through a process of 
Examination and Referendum. The local authority is required to take 
decisions at key stages in the process within time limits that apply, as 
set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 as 
amended in 2015 and 2016 (“the Regulations‟) and within new 
government guidance in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

4. The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by 
York Minster Neighbourhood Plan Forum with the support of York 
Minster and Alan Baxter, and the on-going engagement with the local 
community and City of York Council. Prior to Examination it has been 
through the following stages of preparation: 

 

- Designation as a Neighbourhood Area (14th March 2019) 

- Issues and Options (25th May to 30th June 2019) 

- Draft Plan (17th May to 7th July 2019) 

- Consultation on Pre-Submission Version (Regulation 14) (11th 
January to 23rd February 2020) 

Page 8



 

- Second Pre-Submission Version (Regulation 14) (16th December 
2020 to 14th February 2021) 

- Submission to City of York Council (26th April 2021) 

- Submission Consultation (Regulation 16) (14th July to 8th 
September 2021) 

 

5. Following the close of submission consultation and with the consent of 
the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Forum, Mr Andrew 
Ashcroft BA (Hons) MA, DMS, MRTPI was appointed to undertake an 
Independent Examination of the Neighbourhood Plan. The purpose of 
the Examination is to consider whether the Plan complies with various 
legislative requirements and meets a set of “Basic Conditions” set out in 
paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. The Basic Conditions are: 

 i) To have regard to national policies and advice contained in  
  guidance issued  by the Secretary of State; 

ii) To contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; 

iii) To be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in 
  the development plan for the area;  

iv) To not breach, and be otherwise compatible with, EU and 
European convention on Human Rights  obligations; and 

v) To be in conformity with the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017(3). 

 

6. The Examiner can make one of three overall recommendations on the 
Neighbourhood Plan namely that it can proceed to referendum (i) with 
modifications; (ii) without modification; or (iii) that the Plan cannot be 
modified in a way that allows it to meet the Basic Conditions or legal 
requirements and should not proceed to referendum.  

 

7. Modifications can only be those that the Examiner considers are 
needed to: 

a) make the plan conform to the Basic Conditions  

b) make the plan compatible with the Convention rights 

c) make the plan comply with definition of a neighbourhood plan and 
 the provisions that can be made by a neighbourhood plan  or  

d) to correct errors.   

Page 9



 

 

8. If a recommendation to go to a referendum is made, the Examiner must 
also recommend whether the area for the referendum should go beyond 
the Neighbourhood Area, and if so what the extended area should be. 

 

9. The Regulations presume that Neighbourhood Plans will be examined 
by way of written evidence only, with a requirement for a hearing only in 
cases where the Examiner feels the only way to properly assess a 
particular issue is via a discussion with all parties. The Examiner 
decided that examination by written representations was appropriate in 
this case and provided his final report on 7th January 2022. 

 

10. Overall, the Report concluded that “On the basis of the findings in this 
report I recommend to the City of York Council that subject to the 
incorporation of the modifications set out in this report that the Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan should proceed to 
referendum.” 

 

11 On the matter of the Referendum going beyond the Neighbourhood 
Plan area, the Examiner stated: “I recommend that the referendum area 
is the neighbourhood area and residential properties within the 
immediate vicinity of the neighbourhood area. It is the area where the 
immediate effects of the development proposed in the Plan could be 
experienced.”  

 

Examiner’s Recommendations  

 

12. Annex A to this Committee report sets out the Examiner’s Report, 
including modifications.  

 

 13.  Positively the Examiner summarises that:  

“It is distinctive in addressing a specific set of issues that have been 
identified and refined by the wider community. It is a very impressive 
Plan in its own right and it positively overlaps with other strategic 
documents produced by the Minster. Following the independent 
examination of the Plan I have concluded that the Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions for the 

Page 10



 

preparation of a neighbourhood plan subject to a series of 
recommended modifications.” 

 

14.  The examiner also identified that: “The Plan has been underpinned by 
community support and engagement. It is clear that all sections of the 
community have been actively engaged in its preparation.” 

 

15.  He also identified that: “Subject to a series of recommended 
modifications set out in this report I have concluded that the Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Plan meets all the necessary legal 
requirements and should proceed to referendum.” 

 

16. The Examiners Report assesses the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan 
and makes a series of recommended modifications where necessary, to 
ensure that the policies have the necessary precision to meet the basic 
conditions. The proposed Modifications by the Inspector are outlined in 
Annex B, together with the Council’s Consideration / Justification. The 
bold text in the ‘Recommended Modification’ column shows 
recommended modifications to policies and the modifications not in bold 
shows other recommended changes, primarily to text and justifications.  

 

17.  The Examiner has proposed modifications to the following policies:  

 

o Policy A2: Sustainable Development: 

o Policy A3: Policies Map 

o Policy A4: Design Excellence 

o Policy B1: Landscape and Biodiversity Net Gain 

o Policy C1: Historic Environment 

o Policy C2: Listed building Consent 

o Policy C3: Archaeological and Scheduled Monument 
Consent: 

o Policy D1: Wellbeing 

o Policy E1: Movement and Public Realm 

o Policy E2: Accessibility and Wayfinding 

o Policy E3: Electric Vehicles and Parking 

Page 11



 

o Policy E4: Green Travel Plan 

o Policy F1: Monitoring and Securing Delivery 

o Policy PA1: Minster Yard and College Green 

o Policy PA2: West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square 

o Policy PA3: Learning and gardens 

o Policy PA4: Own Use Properties 

  

Community Actions  

 

39. Additionally the examiner has made a series of amendments which will 

bring the clarity required by NPPF to the Community Actions which are 

identified in the plan to provide context for these Actions which are not 

land use policies but which complement the land use policies and 

enhance the legibility of the plan.  

 

Other matters 

40. The Examiner also considered a number of other, consequential 
changes to the general and specific text in other parts of the Plan in so 
far as they are necessary to ensure that the Plan meets the basic 
conditions. 

 
41. The Examiner also identified changes to the general text may be 

required elsewhere in the Plan as a result of the recommended 
modifications to the policies. 

 
Next Steps 

 
42. The next stage of the relevant legislation requires the Council to: 
 • Consider each of the recommendations made by the Examiner’s 

 Report (and the reasons for them), and 
 • Decide what action to take in response to each recommendation. 
 
43. If the LPA is satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic 

Conditions, is compatible with the Convention rights, and complies with 
the definition of an NP and the provisions that can be made by a NP or 
can do so if modified (whether or not recommended by the Examiner), 
then  a referendum must be held.   

 

Page 12



 

44. The Council must publish its decision and its reasons for it in a 
‘Decision Statement’. The Decision Statement must be published within 
5 weeks beginning with the day following receipt of the Examiner’s 
Report unless an alternative timescale is agreed with the 
Neighbourhood Plan Forum. The 17th March Executive date is more 
than 5 weeks from the receipt of the examiner’s report (7th January 
2022) however York Minster Neighbourhood Plan Forum has confirmed 
acceptance of this alternative timescale in writing. 

 
45. The Examiner’s recommendations on the Neighbourhood Plan are not 

binding on the Council, who may choose to make a decision which 
differs from the Examiner’s. However, any significant changes from the 
Examiner’s recommendations would require a further period of public 
consultation, along with a statement from the Council setting out why it 
has taken this decision. 

 
46. A decision to refuse the Neighbourhood Plan proposal could only be 

made on the following grounds: 
 • the LPA is not satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan meets the 

 Basic Conditions; 
 • the LPA does not believe that with modification Neighbourhood 

 Plan  can meet the Basic Conditions; 
 • the LPA considers that the Neighbourhood Plan constitutes a 

 repeat proposal; or 
 • the LPA does not believe the qualifying body is authorised or 
 • that the proposal does not comply with that authorisation. 
 
47. The Examiner’s Report concludes that, subject to the modifications 

proposed in his report, the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic 
Conditions required by legislation and that the Neighbourhood Plan 
should proceed to a referendum to be held within the Neighbourhood 
Area. Officers have considered all of the recommendations and the 
Examiner’s reasons for them and have set out the Councils response 
as part of the Decision Statement in Annex B. 

 
48. It is recommended that all of the Examiner’s recommended 

modifications be made as set out in Table 1 at Annex B. The Officer 
recommendation is that subject to those modifications the Plan meets 
the Basic Conditions, is compatible with the Convention Rights and 
complies with the provisions that can be made by a neighbourhood 
plan. Subject to the Executive’s agreement of the Decision Statement, 
the Neighbourhood Plan will be amended accordingly and the 
Neighbourhood Plan will proceed to local referendum. 

Page 13



 

 
   
 

Referendum 
 
49. The Council must organise a referendum on any Neighbourhood Plan 

that meets the legislative requirements. This ensures that the 
community has the final say on whether a Neighbourhood Plan comes 
into force.   

 
50. The Examiner considers that the referendum area presents a number of 

geographic and administrative challenges – on the one hand the 
proposed neighbourhood area had been drawn to be as tight as 
possible, to reflect the scale, nature and influence of the Minster, and 
on the other hand, the policies and proposals in the Plan have the 
ability to affect local residents within the immediate vicinity of the 
neighbourhood area itself. Consequently, the Examiner’s Report 
recommends that the referendum area should be the neighbourhood 
area and residential properties within the immediate vicinity of the 
neighbourhood area. Appendix A of the Examiners report identifies the 
postcodes which are included in the referendum area.  However, it 
should be noted that a new block of student flats at The Brickworks, 
Hallfield Road, York has the postcode YO31 7AD (which is within the 
list of postcodes in Appendix A of the Inspectors Report). It is 
geographically well outside the buffer zone area identified as being of 
influence from the Minster Precinct area. It is considered as being an 
anomaly and consequently, the block of student flats won’t be included 
within the referendum.  
 

51.  The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations 2012 as 
amended require the Local Planning Authority to hold the referendum 
within 56 days of the date that a decision to hold one has been made. 
Assuming the Executive endorse the recommendations in this report, it 
is anticipated that the referendum will be held on or before 12th May 
2022 within the 56 day period set out in the amended Regulations. The 
date for the referendum and further details will be publicised once a 
date is set by the Council. This is currently being discussed with 
colleagues in Electoral Services. 

 
52. If over 50% of those voting in the referendum vote in favour of the 

Neighbourhood Plan, then under the legislation the Council  must bring 
it into force within 8 weeks of the result of referendum (unless there are 
unresolved legal challenges). If the referendum results in a “yes” vote a 

Page 14



 

further report will be brought to Executive with regard to the formal 
adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan as part of the statutory 
Development Plan. 

 
 Decision making 
 
53. As the Plan is now at an advanced stage, its policies where relevant 

have legal weight in decision making with regard to any planning 
applications to be determined within the York Minster Precinct area. 
This is reflected in The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 which 
recognises that, when determining an application, a LPA must have 
regard to “a post examination draft neighbourhood development plan as 
far as material to the application”. If a LPA make a decision to allow a 
draft neighbourhood plan with modifications to proceed to referendum, 
then the modifications recommended must also be taken into account. 
 

54 The government have published updated guidance on the weight of the 
Neighbourhood Plan policies. The new government guidance states 
that ‘where the local planning authority has issued a decision statement 
(as set out under Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012) detailing its intention to send a 
neighbourhood plan to referendum, that plan can be given ‘significant 
weight’ in decision-making, so far as the plan is material to the 
application’. 

 
Consultation  

 
55 As mentioned earlier in the report, the York Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Plan has been through several stages of consultation. 
These are:  
- Designation as a Neighbourhood Area (14th March 2019) 
- Issues and Options (25th May to 30th June 2019) 
- Draft Plan (17th May to 7th July 2019) 
- Consultation on Pre-Submission Version (Regulation 14) (11th 

January to 23rd February 2020) 
- Second Pre-Submission Version (Regulation 14) (16th December 

2020 to 14th February 2021) 
- Submission to City of York Council (26th April 2021) 
- Submission Consultation (Regulation 16) (14th July to 8th 

September 2021) 
 
56. A Consultation Statement accompanied the submission version of the 

Neighbourhood Plan and sets out all the consultation undertaken. All 

Page 15



 

the consultation undertaken by City of York Council has been carried 
out in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community 
Involvement. 
 
Options 

 

 57. Officers request that Members: 
i) endorse the recommendations in paragraph 2 of this report and 

agree with the Examiner’s Recommendations and approve the 
Decision Statement attached at Annex B to enable the York 
Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to Referendum. 

 
Analysis 

 
58. The Examiner has concluded that the modifications will satisfy the Basic 

Conditions, the Council has an obligation, under Schedule 4B of the 
1990 Town and Country Planning  Act, to arrange a local referendum, 
unless the Examiner’s  recommended modifications and/or conclusions 
are to be challenged. The Officer recommendation to Members is that 
the modifications made by the Examiner are well justified and that, with 
these modifications, the Neighbourhood Plan proposals will meet the 
legislative requirements. The Council must organise a referendum on 
any Neighbourhood Plan that meets the legislative requirements. This 
will give the local community the opportunity to vote on whether they 
deem the Neighbourhood Plan to meet the needs and aspirations for 
the future of their neighbourhood. 

 
59.  Council Officers understand that the York Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Plan Forum are considering their position in relation to 
the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Examiners Report.   

 
 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection  
 
60. The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for 
 the reasons as set out below 
 

ii) That the Executive provide modified recommendations to those 
made by the Examiner and, if considered to be significant, agree 
that these  will be subject to further consultation along with a 
statement explain why the decision differs from the Examiner’s;  

 

Page 16



 

This option is not considered appropriate as the proposed modifications 
make the Neighbourhood Plan more robust and enable it to meet the 
Basic Conditions.   
 
iii) That the Executive reject the Examiner’s recommendations and 

refuse the Neighbourhood Plan proposal. This decision can only 
be justified on the grounds listed under paragraph 46.    

 
This option can only be justified if the Examiner recommends that the 
Plan should not proceed to a referendum, or the Council is not satisfied 
that the plan has met the procedural and legal requirements. This 
option is not considered appropriate. 

 
Financial Implications 

 
61. The responsibility and therefore the costs of the Examination and 

Referendum stages of the Neighbourhood Plan production lie with the 
City of York Council. Table 1 below sets out a breakdown of the non-
staffing costs of producing the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 
Plan to date and also sets out the estimated costs associated with the 
Examination and Referendum.  

 
Table 1 

 Stage Cost 

Designation consultation £500  

Submission consultation £500 

NP grant to Neighbourhood 

Forum 

£3,000 

Examination £4362 

Referendum  Circa £12,000 (tbc) 

Total £20,362 

 
62. There is also a significant level of officer costs required throughout the 

process to provide the required support to each of the Neighbourhood 
Planning Bodies. This officer input seeks to ensure legal conformity, 
appropriate plan content, technical advice, including provision of mapping 
and assistance with Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA).  
 

63. Financial support from Central Government is available for Local 
Planning Authorities (LPAs) involved with Neighbourhood Plans. Some 

Page 17



 

LPAs can claim £5,000 for the designation of neighbourhood areas. 
However, it is no longer available for neighbourhood areas in York as 
more than 5 neighbourhood areas are designated. Local Planning 
Authorities can also claim £20,000 - they apply for this once they have set 
a date for a referendum following a successful examination. A claim will 
be able to be made at the point when the local planning authority issues a 
decision statement (as set out under Regulation 25 of the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012) detailing its intention to send the 
plan to referendum (rather than when a referendum date has been set). 
 

64. York Minster Neighbourhood Plan Forum was provided with a £3k grant 
from the Council to support the development of the neighbourhood plan. 

 

65. Communities with Neighbourhood Plans in place can also benefit 
financially should York adopt a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 
They can benefit from 25% of the revenues from the CIL arising from the 
development that takes place in their area. 

 

Implications 
 

 66. The following implications have been assessed: 

 

 Financial – The examination and referendum will be funded by City 
of York Council. A claim by the City of York Council will be able to be 
made to government for a grant of £20,000 at the point when the 
City of York Council issues a decision statement (as set out under 
Regulation 25 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012) detailing its intention to send the plan to referendum. The 
government grant of £20,000 can be put towards the costs of the 
City of York Council’s involvement in preparing the Plan (including 
the costs of the Examination and referendum). Any shortfall will need 
to be accommodated within existing resource.  

  Human Resources (HR) - none 

 One Planet Council / Equalities - Better Decision Making Tool 

attached at Annex D. 

 Legal -  The Legal implications are set out within the body of this 
report. The decision to proceed to referendum is, like all decisions of a 
public authority, open to challenge by Judicial Review. The risk of any 
legal challenge to the Neighbourhood Plan being successful has been 

Page 18



 

minimised by the thorough and robust way in which it has been 
prepared and tested. 

 Crime and Disorder - None 

 Information Technology (IT) None  

 Property - None 

 Other – None 

 
Risk Management 

 
67. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy, the main risks 

associated with the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan are as 
follows: 

 

 Risks arising from failure to comply with the laws and regulations relating 
to Planning and the SA and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
processes and not exercising local control of developments. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 
Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 

John Roberts 
Strategic Planning 
Policy Officer 
01904 551464 
 
 

Kirsten Clow 
Interim Head of Strategic Planning Policy 

Report 
Approved 

 
Date 24.2.22 

 
 

    
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
 
Financial Implication:   Legal Implication: 
Patrick Looker    Sandra Branigan 
Finance Manager   Senior Solicitor 
01904 551633    01904 551040 
   
 
 
Wards Affected:    Guildhall  

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minster-precinct-neighbourhood-
plan/1 
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Examiner’s Report 
Annex B Decision Statement 
Annex C York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version) 
Annex D Better Decision Making Tool 
Annex E  Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

 
List of Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 
BA (Hons) MA, DMS, MRTPI – Bachelor  of Arts, Masters, Diploma in 
Management Studies, Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute.  
 
EU – European Union 
 
LPA – Local Planning Authority 
 
NP – Neighbourhood Plan 
 
SEA – Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 
HRA – Habitats Regulation Assessment 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 
2020-2035 
 

  
 

 
 
A report to the City of York Council on the Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
BA (Hons) M.A. DMS M.R.T.P.I. 
 
Director – Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited 
 

ANNEX APage 23



 

 
 
 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
1 I was appointed by the City of York Council in September 2021 to carry out the 

independent examination of the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Development 
Plan. 

 
2 The examination was undertaken by written representations. I visited the 

neighbourhood area on 13 October 2021. 
 
3 The Plan includes a range of policies and seeks to bring forward positive and 

sustainable development in the neighbourhood area. The policies include detailed 
proposals for four Project Areas.  

 
4 The Plan has been underpinned by community support and engagement.  It is clear 

that all sections of the community have been actively engaged in its preparation.  
 
5 Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this report I have 

concluded that the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan meets all the necessary 
legal requirements and should proceed to referendum. 

 
6 I recommend that the referendum should be held within the area as identified in 

Appendix A by reference to postcodes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner 
7 January 2022 
 

 
 
 
 
  

 

ANNEX APage 24



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

1 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the York Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan 2020-2035 (the ‘Plan’). 

1.2 The Plan has been submitted to the City of York Council (CYC) by the York Minster 
Neighbourhood Forum (YMNF) in its capacity as the qualifying body responsible for 
preparing the neighbourhood plan.  

1.3 Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the Localism Act 
2011.  They aim to allow local communities to take responsibility for guiding 
development in their area.  This approach was subsequently embedded in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 and its updates in 2018, 2019 and 2021. The 
NPPF continues to be the principal element of national planning policy. 

1.4 The role of an independent examiner is clearly defined in the legislation. I have been 
appointed to examine whether or not the submitted Plan meets the basic conditions 
and Convention Rights and other statutory requirements. It is not within my remit to 
examine or to propose an alternative plan, or a potentially more sustainable plan 
except where this arises as a result of my recommended modifications to ensure that 
the plan meets the basic conditions and the other relevant requirements.  

1.5 A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. Plans can include whatever 
range of policies they see as appropriate to their designated neighbourhood area. The 
submitted Plan is very distinctive. The neighbourhood area is a concentrated part of 
the City Centre and has a clear focus on preserving the character and the appearance 
of the Minster Precinct. It includes both general policies and policies which address 
specific proposals. 

1.6 Within the context set out above, this report assesses whether the Plan is legally 
compliant and meets the basic conditions that apply to neighbourhood plans.  It also 
considers the content of the Plan and, where necessary, recommends modifications to 
its policies and supporting text. 

1.7 This report also provides a recommendation as to whether the Plan should proceed to 
referendum.  If this is the case and that referendum results in a positive outcome the 
Plan would then be used to determine planning applications within the neighbourhood 
area as part of the wider development plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ANNEX APage 25



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

2 

2         The Role of the Independent Examiner 

2.1 The examiner’s role is to ensure that any submitted neighbourhood plan meets the 
relevant legislative and procedural requirements. 

2.2 I was appointed by CYC, with the consent of the YMNF, to conduct the examination of 
the Plan and to prepare this report.  I am independent of both CYC and the YMNF.  I 
do not have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan. 

2.3 I possess the appropriate qualifications and experience to undertake this role.  I am a 
Director of Andrew Ashcroft Planning Limited. In previous roles, I have over 35 years’ 
experience in various local authorities at either Head of Planning or Service Director 
level.  I am a chartered town planner and have significant experience of undertaking 
other neighbourhood plan examinations and health checks.  I am a member of the 
Royal Town Planning Institute and the Neighbourhood Planning Independent 
Examiner Referral Service. 

Examination Outcomes 

2.4 In my role as the independent examiner of the Plan I am required to recommend one 
of the following outcomes of the examination: 

(a) that the Plan is submitted to a referendum; or 
(b) that the Plan should proceed to referendum as modified (based on my 

recommendations); or 
(c) that the Plan does not proceed to referendum on the basis that it does not meet 

the necessary legal requirements. 

2.5 The outcome of the examination is set out in Sections 7 and 8 of this report. 

Other examination matters 

2.6 In examining the Plan I am required to check whether: 

 the policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated 
neighbourhood plan area; and 

 the Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the Plan must specify the period to which it 
has effect, must not include provision about development that is excluded 
development, and must not relate to more than one neighbourhood area); and 

 the Plan has been prepared for an area that has been designated under Section 
61G of the Localism Act and has been developed and submitted for 
examination by a qualifying body. 

 
2.7 I have addressed the matters identified in paragraph 2.6 of this report. I am satisfied 

that the submitted Plan complies with the three requirements.  
 
 
 
 

ANNEX APage 26



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

3 

3 Procedural Matters 

3.1 In undertaking this examination I have considered the following documents: 

 the submitted Plan; 
 the Basic Conditions Statement; 
 the Consultation Statement; 
 the Sustainability Assessment (which incorporates Strategic Environmental 

Assessment); 
 the Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report; 
 the Heritage Impact Assessment; 

 the York Minster Conservation Management Plan; 
 the Forum’s responses to the Clarification Note; 
 the representations made to the Plan; 

 the saved elements of the Regional Spatial Strategy for Yorkshire and Humber; 
 the City of York Draft Local Plan incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes 

Development Control Local Plan (April 2005); 
 the submitted City of York Local Plan 2017-2033; 
 the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021); 

 Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014 and subsequent updates); and 
 relevant Ministerial Statements. 

 
3.2 I visited the neighbourhood area on 13 October 2021.  I looked at its overall character 

and appearance and at those areas affected by policies in the Plan in particular.  The 
visit is covered in more detail in paragraphs 5.9 to 5.16 of this report. 

 
3.3 It is a general rule that neighbourhood plan examinations should be held by written 

representations only.  Having considered all the information before me, including the 
representations made to the Plan, I was satisfied that the Plan could be examined 
without the need for a public hearing.  I advised CYC of this decision after I had 
received the responses to the clarification note. 

 
3.4 The Plan was prepared in the context of the 2019 version of the NPPF. This is reflected 

in the Basic Conditions Statement. Since the Plan was submitted for examination the 
NPPF was updated in July 2021. Where it is necessary to do so, I comment on the 
relationship between the most current version of the NPPF and the policy concerned 
in Section 7 of the report.  

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX APage 27



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

4 

4 Consultation 
 
 Consultation Process 
 
4.1 Policies in made neighbourhood plans become the basis for local planning and 

development control decisions.  As such the regulations require neighbourhood plans 
to be supported and underpinned by public consultation. 

 
4.2 In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 the 

YMNF has prepared a Consultation Statement.  This Statement sets out the 
mechanisms used to engage all concerned in the plan-making process. It also provides 
specific details about the consultation process that took place on the pre-submission 
versions of the Plan. Its principal feature is the way in which it captures the key issues 
in a proportionate way and is then underpinned by more detailed appendices.  

 
4.3 The Statement sets out details of the comprehensive range of consultation events that 

were carried out in relation to the initial stages of the Plan. They included: 
 

 the ongoing engagement with CYC; 
 the ongoing engagement with conservation and heritage bodies; 
 the development of a Consultation Strategy; 
 the public consultation event (May-June 2018); 

 the public consultation on a draft Plan (May 2019); 
 radio interviews and newspaper bulletins in both local and national news outlets 

(ITV, BBC, Yorkshire Post, York Press) with the Dean of York, the Chair of the 
YMNF and the Director of Works & Precinct;  

 the development a dedicated project website; and 
 the development of a social media campaign. 

4.4 Appendices 1 and 2 of the Statement reproduces details of the way in which the YMNF 
engaged with the wider community. They provide a degree of depth and interest to the 
Statement. It is clear that the process has been proportionate and robust.  

4.5 Appendix 9 of the Statement provide specific details on the comments received as part 
of the consultation process on the second pre-submission version of the Plan 
(December 2020 to February 2021). It identifies the principal changes that worked their 
way through into the submission Plan. The appendix helps to describe the way in which 
the Plan has been refined in response to this important part of the plan-making 
process. 

 
4.6 It is clear that consultation has been an important element of the Plan’s production.  

Advice on the neighbourhood planning process has been made available to the 
community in a positive and direct way by those responsible for the Plan’s preparation.  

 
4.7 From all the evidence provided to me as part of the examination, I have concluded that 

the Plan has promoted an inclusive approach to seeking the opinions of all concerned 

ANNEX APage 28



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

5 

throughout the process. CYC has carried out its own assessment that the consultation 
process has complied with the requirements of the Regulations. 

 
Representations Received 

 
4.8 Consultation on the submitted Plan was undertaken by CYC.  This exercise generated 

comments from the following organisations: 
 

 Historic England Yorkshire 
 The Coal Authority 

 The York Minster Fabric Advisory Committee 
 City of York Council 

 
4.9 Representations were also received from seven local residents. I have taken all the 

representations into account in examining the Plan. Where it is appropriate to do so I 
make specific reference to certain representations on a policy-by-policy basis.  

 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX APage 29



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

6 

5 The Neighbourhood Area and the Development Plan Context 
 
 The Neighbourhood Area 
 
5.1 York Minster and its surrounding Precinct form a highly sensitive and complicated part 

of York city centre. It was designated as a neighbourhood area on 14 March 2019.   

5.2 As the Plan describes the focus of the neighbourhood area is the Cathedral and 
Metropolitical Church of St Peter in York, better known as York Minster. The Minster is 
more than 800 years-old and is a Gothic masterpiece of stone and stained glass, and 
home to the largest collection of medieval glass in the UK. The Minster has 
international architectural and artistic importance and is a magnet that draws visitors 
to York. It is a defining symbol of the City of York, and a place of prayer and pilgrimage 
that welcomes over 700,000 visitors per year.   

5.3 The Minster sits within a precinct of approximately six hectares of land, bounded by 
the historic city walls to the north and west and by city streets to the south and east. It 
is an integral element of the city centre, connected with surrounding streets and 
surrounded by homes and businesses. The Minster itself is widely visible both within 
the city centre, and from more remote locations within and around the City.  

  
Development Plan Context 

 
5.4 The development plan context is both complex and unusual. It consists of two saved 

policies from the Regional Spatial Strategy for Yorkshire and Humber as follows: 

 Policy YH9: Green Belts – the definition of the inner boundaries of the Green Belt 
around York. 

 Policy Y1: York sub area – the definition of detailed boundaries of the outstanding 
sections of the green belt and the inner boundary and the protection and enhancement 
of the historical and environmental character of York. 

 These saved policies will apply in the neighbourhood area until they replaced by the 
emerging City of York Local Plan. Plainly the latter policy has a greater significance 
than the former to the Minster Precinct.  

5.5 The CYC does not have an adopted Local Plan. The City of York Draft Local Plan 
incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes Local Plan (April 2005) was approved for 
development management purposes. Its policies are capable of being material 
planning considerations in the determination of planning applications where policies 
relevant to the application are consistent with those in the NPPF.  

  
5.6 The Basic Conditions Statement highlights the policies in the development plan and 

how they relate to policies in the submitted Plan. This is good practice. It also explains 
the complicated context within which the neighbourhood plan has been prepared. 

 

ANNEX APage 30



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

7 

5.7 The emerging City of York Local Plan (2017-2033) was making good progress at the 
time of this examination. It was submitted for its own examination in May 2018. The 
following policies in that Plan are particularly relevant to the neighbourhood area: 

 
 Policy D5 Listed Buildings Policy  
 Policy D6 Archaeology   
 Policy D8 Historic Parks and Gardens 
 Policy D9 City of York Historic Environment Record  
 Policy D10 York City Walls and St. Mary’s Abbey Walls (‘York Walls’)   

 Policy D11 Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings 

5.8 Consultation took place on proposed Main Modifications to the emerging Local Plan in 
June/July 2019 and in May/July 2021. Following recent exchanges between CYC and 
the planning inspectors three further phases of hearings have recently been arranged 
(February/April/May and June 2022). The submitted Plan has been designed to run 
concurrently with the emerging York Local Plan (which has been revised to 2035 since 
it was submitted). This follows important national advice in Planning Practice 
Guidance.  

  
Unaccompanied Visit 

 
5.9 I visited the Minster Precinct on 13 October 2021. I took the opportunity to look at the 

northern parts of the Precinct from the City Walls. The Walls were interesting both in 
their own right and in providing views into the extensive garden spaces in this part of 
the Precinct.  

 
5.10 This part of the visit helped significantly in my understanding of Project Areas PA3 and 

PA4. In relation to PA3, I was able to see the Plan’s intentions for Zones A-D and the 
proposal for new public green space. In relation to PA4, I was able to see the proposals 
for Zones A (storage and housing) and Zone B (workshop for masons).  

 
5.11 I then looked at the Plan’s proposals for the West Front (Project Area PA2). I was able 

to appreciate the need for the proposed public realm improvements. I saw the way in 
which the incorporation of the South African war memorial would better sit within the 
wider enhancements to the public realm.  

 
5.12 I then looked at the Minster Yard and College Green area (PA1). I saw that it had a 

quieter character than that of PA2. I saw the statute of Constantine the Great and the 
impressive Roman column. I saw the attractive opportunities as included in the 
parameter plan. It was clear that the proposals for a recognised visitor entrance and 
new outdoor seating and a new public green space will assist in celebrating the setting 
of the Minster and enhancing its attractiveness to visitors. 

 
5.13 I then looked at the Chapter House Yard and the surrounding area (PA4). I saw the 

importance of this part of the Precinct to the day-to-day activities of the Minster.  
 

ANNEX APage 31



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

8 

5.14 I then took the opportunity to look at Dean’s Park. I saw that it had a quieter character 
which was enjoyed by several groups of people including those looking for peace and 
quiet during their working days.  

 
5.15 I then took the opportunity to look at Chapter House Street and Ogleforth. I saw the 

way in which these thoroughfares related to and interconnected with the heart of the 
Precinct area 

 
5.16 I finished the visit by walking more generally within the streets which surround the 

Minster Precinct. I saw their vibrancy and attractiveness. I also saw the attractive views 
towards the Minster from Duncombe Place, Stonegate and High Petergate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX APage 32



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

9 

6 The Neighbourhood Plan and the Basic Conditions 
 
6.1 This section of the report deals with the submitted neighbourhood plan as a whole and 

the extent to which it meets the basic conditions. The submitted Basic Conditions 
Statement has helped considerably in the preparation of this section of the report. It is 
a well-presented and informative document. It is also proportionate to the Plan itself.   

 
6.2 As part of this process I must consider whether the submitted Plan meets the Basic 

Conditions as set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  To comply with the basic conditions, the Plan must: 

 have regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State; 

 contribute to the achievement of sustainable development;  
 be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in 

the area; 
 be compatible with European Union (EU) obligations and European Convention 

on Human Rights (ECHR); and  
 not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (7). 

6.3 I assess the Plan against the basic conditions under the following headings: 

National Planning Policies and Guidance 
 
6.4 For the purposes of this examination the key elements of national policy relating to 

planning matters are set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) issued 
in July 2021.  

. 
6.5 The NPPF sets out a range of core land-use planning issues to underpin both plan-

making and decision-taking.  The following are of particular relevance to the Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Plan: 

 
 a plan led system – in this case the relationship between the neighbourhood 

plan and existing development plan context as described in section 5 of this 
report; 

 building a strong, competitive economy; 
 highlighting the importance of high-quality design and good standards of 

amenity for all future occupants of land and buildings; and 
 conserving heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance. 

 
6.6 Neighbourhood plans sit within this wider context both generally, and within the more 

specific presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Paragraph 13 of the NPPF 
indicates that neighbourhoods should both develop plans that support the strategic 
needs set out in local plans and plan positively to support local development that is 
outside the strategic elements of the development plan. 

ANNEX APage 33



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

10 

6.7 In addition to the NPPF I have also taken account of other elements of national 
planning policy including Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements. 
Plainly the development plan context with the City of York is both unusual and 
challenging. In these circumstances, I have given particular attention to the relevant 
part of Planning Practice Guidance (ID: 41-009-0509) which comments about the way 
in which a qualifying body and a local planning authority should discuss and aim to 
agree the relationship between policies in an emerging neighbourhood plan, an 
emerging local plan and the adopted development plan with appropriate regard to 
national policy and guidance. 

6.8 Having considered all the evidence and representations available as part of the 
examination, I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to national planning 
policies and guidance in general terms.  It sets out a positive vision for the future of the 
neighbourhood area. In particular it includes a series of policies on the scale and nature 
of new development taking account of the international, national and local importance 
of the historic character and significance of the neighbourhood area. It also sets out 
policies for four Project Areas. The Basic Conditions Statement maps the policies in 
the Plan against the appropriate sections of the 2019 version of the NPPF. 

6.9 At a more practical level, the NPPF indicates that plans should provide a clear 
framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made and that they 
should give a clear indication of how a decision-maker should react to a development 
proposal (paragraph 16d).  This is reinforced in Planning Practice Guidance - 
paragraph ID:41-041-20140306 indicates that policies in neighbourhood plans should 
be drafted with sufficient clarity so that a decision-maker can apply them consistently 
and with confidence when determining planning applications.  Policies should also be 
concise, precise and supported by appropriate evidence. 

6.10 As submitted, the Plan does not fully accord with this range of practical issues.  The 
majority of my recommended modifications in Section 7 relate to matters of clarity and 
precision. They are designed to ensure that the Plan fully accords with national policy. 

 Contributing to sustainable development 

6.11 There are clear overlaps between national policy and the contribution that the 
submitted Plan makes to achieving sustainable development.  Sustainable 
development has three principal dimensions – economic, social and environmental.  It 
is clear that the submitted Plan has set out to achieve sustainable development in the 
neighbourhood area.  In the economic dimension, the Plan includes policies and 
proposals and for the future residential and employment-related development within 
the Minster Precinct (Policies PA3 and PA4). In the social role, it includes a policy on 
well-being (Policy D1). In the environmental dimension the Plan positively seeks to 
protect its natural, built and historic environment.  It has specific policies on listed 
buildings (Policy C2), on conservation areas/scheduled monuments (Policy C3), 
design excellence (Policy A4) and on proposals for open spaces (Policy PA1 and PA2). 
YMNF has undertaken its own assessment of this matter in the submitted Basic 
Conditions Statement. 

 

ANNEX APage 34



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

11 

General conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan 

6.12 I have already commented in detail on the development plan context in the City of York 
in paragraphs 5.4 to 5.8 of this report. I am satisfied that subject to the incorporation of 
the modifications recommended in this report that the submitted Plan is in general 
conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan.  

6.13 I also consider that the submitted Plan delivers a local dimension to the policies on the 
City Centre and heritage matters in the emerging Local Plan. 

 European Legislation – Strategic Environmental Assessment 

6.14 The Neighbourhood Plan General Regulations 2015 require a qualifying body either to 
submit an environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 or a statement of reasons 
why an environmental report is not required. 

6.15 In order to comply with this requirement the YMNF commissioned a Sustainability 
Assessment (SA) for Neighbourhood Plan. It incorporates Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA). This outcome was determined following advice from City of York 
Council that the emerging Neighbourhood Plan has potential economic impacts on the 
wider city centre. 

6.16 The details of the SA reflect the scoping process. It was established that the following 
issues required specific assessment:  

 Economy  
 Health and Wellbeing  
 Society 

 Landscape, Cultural Heritage and Archaeology 

6.17 The SA/SEA is exceptional in the way in which assesses the various matters in 
general, and provides an evidence base for the development of policies in the Plan in 
particular.  

6.18 The SA/SEA provides a very detailed assessment of the reasonable alternatives which 
were considered for the four key areas of change (and as developed in Policies PA1 
to PA4). In this respect the SA/SEA addresses this important matter in a way which 
meets the basic conditions.  

6.19 The SA comments about the process taken to decide upon the four key areas of 
change and how it was undertaken by the YMNF. It advises that the process took 
account of both the physical attributes of each option, and the extent to which the 
various policies and proposals would be compatible with the objectives of the Plan and 
the role of the community in life at the Minster. 

6.20 In this context, the SA advises that the Minster receives no Government funding or 
central Church of England financial support. The responsibility for caring for the 
building and its Precinct falls with Chapter which relies on the generosity of various 
funding bodies and paying visitors. It also advises that ensuring a viable and 

ANNEX APage 35



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

12 

sustainable business to underpin the care of the Minster is a key aim of the Plan and 
that it has been driving element of the identified key areas of change. 

6.21 Finally, the SA advises that the four areas of change have been chosen as the most 
appropriate and sensitive development areas following numerous consultations with 
various stakeholders. It also comments that the Plan has been developed to provide a 
flexible document against which Chapter can manage its resources appropriately to 
maintain both a viable and sustainable precinct and business model for future 
generations to enjoy the Minster. 

European Legislation – Habitats Regulations Assessment 

6.22 YMNF, CYC and the Chapter of York collectively prepared a separate Habitats 
Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Plan (April 2021). It takes account of the likely 
effects of development in the neighbourhood area on the Strensall Common SAC, the 
River Derwent SAC, the Lower Derwent SAC, SPA and Ramsar site and on the 
Humber Estuary SPA, SAC and Ramsar site. It concludes that the Plan is not 
considered to have the potential to cause a likely significant adverse effect on a 
European protected site. It also concludes that there will be no likely significant in-
combination effects. Its level of detail provides assurance that this important matter 
has been comprehensively addressed.  

 
6.23 The work undertaken on HRA screening is exemplary. Having reviewed the information 

provided to me as part of the examination, I am satisfied that a proportionate process 
has been undertaken in accordance with the various regulations. In the absence of any 
evidence to the contrary, I am entirely satisfied that the submitted Plan is compatible 
with this aspect of European obligations.  

 
European Legislation – Human Rights 

6.24 In a similar fashion I am satisfied that the submitted Plan has had regard to the 
fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR) and that it complies with the Human Rights Act. There is no 
evidence that has been submitted to me to suggest otherwise. In addition, there has 
been full and adequate opportunity for all interested parties to take part in the 
preparation of the Plan and to make their comments known. On the basis of all the 
evidence available to me, I conclude that the submitted Plan does not breach, nor is in 
any way incompatible with the ECHR. 

Summary 

6.25 On the basis of my assessment of the Plan in this section of my report I am satisfied 
that it meets the basic conditions subject to the incorporation of the recommended 
modifications contained in this report.  

 

 

 

ANNEX APage 36



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

13 

7         The Neighbourhood Plan policies 

7.1 This section of the report comments on the policies in the Plan.  In particular, it makes 
a series of recommended modifications to ensure that they have the necessary 
precision to meet the basic conditions.   

7.2 My recommendations focus on the policies themselves given that the basic conditions 
relate primarily to this aspect of neighbourhood plans.  In some cases, I have also 
recommended changes to the associated supporting text. 

7.3 I am satisfied that the content and the form of the Plan is fit for purpose.  It is a very 
distinctive Plan. It is also proportionate to the neighbourhood area. The wider 
community and the YMNF have spent time and energy in identifying the issues and 
objectives that they wish to be included in their Plan. This sits at the heart of the 
localism agenda. 

7.4 The Plan has been designed to reflect Planning Practice Guidance (Section 41-004-
20190509) which indicates that neighbourhood plans must address the development 
and use of land. It also includes a series of Community Actions. 

7.5 I have addressed the policies in the order that they appear in the submitted Plan. 
Where necessary I have identified the inter-relationships between the policies.  

7.6 For clarity this section of the report comments on all policies whether or not I have 
recommended modifications in order to ensure that the Plan meets the basic 
conditions.   

7.7 Where modifications are recommended to policies they are highlighted in bold print.  
Any associated or free-standing changes to the text of the Plan are set out in italic 
print. 

 The initial section of the Plan (Sections 1-5) 

7.8 These initial parts of the Plan set the scene for the range of policies.  They do so in a 
proportionate way.  

7.9 The Plan has been prepared in a very professional way. In its own right, it is a first-
class neighbourhood plan. In a broader context, it is an important part of a wider 
package of initiatives being pursued by the Minster/Chapter which include the 
Chapter’s Strategic Plan 2015-2020 and the Conservation Management Plan 2021. 
This wider approach provides both a strong context for the Plan and the mechanisms 
to ensure the delivery of its proposals. For a Plan of such importance, it has been 
prepared in relatively quick order.  

7.10 The Plan is beautifully-presented and organised. A very clear distinction is made 
between its policies and the supporting text. It also highlights the links between the 
Plan’s objectives and its resultant policies. The various maps are produced to a very 
high quality and provide clarity to all concerned. The various high-quality photographs 
enhance the attractiveness of the document and highlight the policies and other issues 
which the Plan addresses.  

ANNEX APage 37



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

14 

7.11  The Introduction comments generally about the neighbourhood planning process. It 
does so to good effect. In this case it relates that wider process to the package of 
initiatives which are being pursued by the Minster and the Chapter of York. It helpfully 
sets out a series of challenges which the Plan has sought to address. In an indirect 
way the Plan identifies both the Plan period (on the front cover) and the neighbourhood 
area (on Figure 1). However, the text does not comment directly on this matter. I 
recommend a modification to remedy this matter.  

 At the end of paragraph 1.0.5 add: ‘The neighbourhood area is shown on Figure 1. The 
Plan period is 2020 to 2035’ 

7.12 Section 3 comments about the Minster Precinct in its wider context.  It is a very well-
considered element of the Plan. In particular, it provides a context for the subsequent 
policies. The Minster and its Precinct need little introduction. Nevertheless, this part of 
the Plan comments about its history, the different elements of the Minster as they exist 
today, its land uses, access and movement, its economy, its community and well-
being, and its historic environment.  

7.13 Section 4 comments about the development of the Plan. It comments about its 
relationship with the wider work of the Chapter and the formation of the Neighbourhood 
Forum. It highlights the consultation events which took place and the earlier iterations 
of the Plan. It overlaps with the submitted Consultation Strategy.  

7.14 Section 5 sets out the vision and objectives of the Plan. The Vision neatly weaves 
spiritual, cultural, community and environmental matters as follows: 

‘In 2035, York Minster Precinct continues to be a welcoming and special place loved 
and used by the local community and visitors from around the world. It is acknowledged 
as a lynchpin in the cultural identity and daily life of the City of York and reaches out to 
engage the community in discovering God’s love’ 

7.15 The Vision is then underpinned by nine objectives. In a very innovative way Figure 15 
of the Plan then summarises the Spatial Vision for the Neighbourhood Area and how 
it will evolve in response to the vision and objectives to strengthen the overall character 
and quality of the Precinct. 

7.16 The remainder of this section of the report addresses each policy in turn in the context 
set out in paragraphs 7.5 to 7.7 of this report. In the context of my earlier views about 
the overall excellence of the submitted Plan I will restrict my policy-based comments 
to a brief summary of the policy, an assessment of the way in which it meets the basic 
conditions and, where necessary, any required modifications. 

 
 Policy A1 Purpose and ambition 
 
7.17 This is an overarching policy. It sets out the purpose and the ambition of the Plan and 

two main requirements. The first is stewardship for the benefit of all. The second is 
sustaining vitality and viability. Thereafter it sets out four overarching principles for new 
development.  

 

ANNEX APage 38



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

15 

7.18 The initial part of the policy could be read as much as a summary of Section 5 (Vision 
and Objectives) as a land use policy. I sought the comments of YMNF on the approach 
it had taken. It commented that ‘this policy was drafted in response to earlier public 
comments received through the first pre-submission draft consultation in 2020. We felt 
it important to offer an overarching policy which set out the purpose of the Plan and 
how development would be supported.’ 

7.19 On the balance of the information I am satisfied that the policy is appropriate within the 
context of a neighbourhood plan. In particular it provides a direct link between Section 
5 and the detailed policies. The four principles are at the heart of the policy and provide 
an overall framework for other more detailed elements of the Plan.  

7.20 The policy meets the basic conditions. 

Policy A2 Sustainable Development  
 
7.21 This policy sets out the need for new development to be of a sustainable nature. It 

identifies eight principles with which new development should comply.  
 
7.22 The policy has been well-developed. It relates the principles of sustainable 

development to the very specific circumstances of the Minster Precinct. The eight 
principles both reflect national policy and respond to the distinctive circumstances 
found in the neighbourhood area.  

 
7.23 I recommend that the policy is modified so that the detailed principles apply as 

appropriate to the development concerned – in some cases development will impact 
on all eight areas and in other cases only some of the criteria will be relevant to the 
particular proposals. Otherwise, the policy meets the basic conditions. It will assist 
significantly in the delivery of sustainable development in the Precinct.  

 
 In the fifth paragraph replace ‘New development’ with ‘As appropriate to its scale 

and nature new development’ 
 
 Policy A3 Policies Map 
 
7.24 This policy acts as a spatial plan for the Minster Precinct. It makes a helpful distinction 

between the general policies and the site-specific policies/proposals. It comments that 
the policies map sets out the proposed general distribution of land uses across the 
Precinct and is a co-ordinated spatial plan to deliver the vision and objectives of the 
Neighbourhood Plan during the plan period. It identifies the four principal project areas 
where built development, land use change and improvements to green infrastructure 
and public realm will be focused. It comments that the Chapter of York will work closely 
with the Neighbourhood Forum, City of York Council, Historic England, York Civic Trust 
and other key stakeholders to implement development and enhancement in line with 
the policies map to deliver (PA1-4) 

7.25 The approach taken in the policy helps to provide a context for the wider Plan. I 
recommend that the final sentence of the policy (which refers back to Policy A2) is 

ANNEX APage 39



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

16 

deleted. There is no need for a policy to refer in this way to another policy as the Plan 
is read as a whole. Otherwise, it meets the basic conditions 

7.26 I also recommend that the policy’s title is modified so that it more clearly explains its 
approach. Whilst the Policies Map is an important part of the wider Plan it is a Map 
which shows the various policies as they apply within the Precinct Area rather than a 
policy in its own right.  

 Deleted the final sentence of the policy. 

 Replace the policy’s title with: ‘Spatial Plan’  

Policy A4 Design Excellence 
 
7.27 This policy requires that all development proposals should, where relevant, be required 

to demonstrate design excellence and is to be inspired by and contribute to the 
distinctive and historic nature of the Precinct. It also comments about resilience to 
climate change and extreme weather events, and then need to reduce carbon 
emissions. It identifies ten design principles. They are both appropriate and distinctive 
to the neighbourhood area. 

7.28 I recommend that the first part of the policy and the initial component of the second 
part of the policy are modified so that they adopt a format which more closely reflects 
that of a development plan document. However, their purpose will remain unaffected. 

7.29 In addition recommend that the policy is modified so that the detailed principles apply 
as appropriate to the development concerned – in some cases development will impact 
on all the design principles and in other cases only some of the principles will be 
relevant to the particular proposals.  

 
7.30 I also recommend that the first and second criteria are set out in bullet point format as 

the other principles. I also recommend that the policy is explicit that all of the criteria 
need to be met (insofar as they are relevant to the proposal). 

 
7.31 The Plan was prepared within the context of the 2019 version of the NPPF. In July 

2021 an updated version of the NPPF was published. The principal changes between 
the two versions of the NPPF relate to design matters. However, in many respects 
Policy A4 had anticipated the contents of the updated NPPF. It is directly informed by 
the excellent context of the Plan and the way in which it addresses this important 
matter in a general way. In addition, it is underpinned by the submitted Heritage Impact 
Assessment and the preparation of detailed guidelines for the four specific parts of the 
Precinct (PA1-PA4). As such, I am satisfied that there the submitted Plan continues to 
have regard to national policy.  

7.32 With the incorporation of the recommended modifications the policy will meet the basic 
conditions. It will do much to ensure that new development is delivered to the highest 
possible standards and in doing so contribute to the environmental dimension of 
sustainable development.  

 

ANNEX APage 40



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

17 

  Replace the first part of the policy with: ‘Development proposals should 
demonstrate design excellence and be inspired by and contribute to the 
distinctive and historic nature of the Precinct, be resilient to climate change and 
extreme weather events, and reduce carbon emissions’ 

Replace the opening element of the second part of the policy with ‘As 
appropriate to their scale and nature, development proposals will be supported 
which meet the following criteria:’ 

Set out the first and second criteria with bullet points. 

At the end of each bullet point replace the full stop with a semi-colon. After the 
semi colon at the end of the penultimate bullet point add ‘and’ 

Policy B1 Landscape and Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
7.33 This policy comments about the need for biodiversity net gain and sets out proposals 

for developments which affect trees and about greenspaces and the public realm. It 
addresses these matters in a well-balanced way.  

 
7.34 The policy specifically addresses proposals which may affect trees. The potential loss 

of trees is a matter which has been raised in several of the representations. I sought 
the YMNF’s comments on the various representations and the way in which it was 
intending to address this important matter. It commented as follows: 

 
‘…we have always been very clear with the public that the Minster takes the 
management of its estate very seriously. We regularly have applications for tree works 
including crown lifting and thinning. Where a tree has come to the end of its life, we 
replace the tree. We are committed to a net increase of trees within the Precinct but 
need to balance access and public realm with good tree management. Indeed, we 
have a programme of planting to make sure these new trees become established long 
before the original needs to be felled. The London Plane tree at the West Front of York 
Minster is contentious. Through the extensive consultation, it is clear that half of the 
city want it to go and half want it to stay. This issue will be debated during the 
consultations on both the development brief and planning application for Queen 
Elizabeth Square’ 

7.35 The response highlights that the retention and/or replacement of trees within wider 
enhancement or public realm works can divide opinions. I have considered the matter 
very carefully within both this context and given the information available in the Plan 
itself. Taking all matters into account, I am satisfied that the YMNF has taken a 
responsible approach on this matter and which meets the basic conditions. I have 
reached this conclusion for the following reasons: 

 the retention/replacement of any affected trees will be considered and 
determined within the wider context of the public realm enhancements 
proposed in the Plan; 

 these matters will be considered more specifically as any required planning 
applications and/or applications for works to protected trees are determined in 

ANNEX APage 41



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

18 

due course and in the context of detailed site-specific policies elsewhere in the 
Plan; and 

 trees have a natural lifespan, and, in any event, some trees may be more suited 
for the scale, nature and layout of the public realm works proposed in the Plan. 

7.36 I recommend two detailed modifications to the policy to bring the clarity required by the 
NPPF. In particular, I recommend that the first paragraph of the policy acknowledges 
that not all development proposals will automatically have any relationship with 
biodiversity. Otherwise, it meets the basic conditions. It will do much to assist in the 
delivery of the environmental dimension of sustainable development.  

Replace the first paragraph with: ‘Where relevant, development proposals 
should protect and enhance existing areas of biodiversity in the Precinct, 
including any green corridors’ 

In the third paragraph of the policy add ‘would’ between ‘proposals’ and ‘affect’ 

Policy C1 Historic Environment 
 
7.37 Policies C1-C3 address related elements of the historic environment. My 

recommended modifications overlap and their presentation as separate modifications 
would be confusing as they rely on the common supporting text in this section of the 
Plan. On this basis, I set out the package of recommended modifications for the three 
policies after my assessment of Policy C3. 

 
7.38 Policy C1 sets out the Plan’s general approach towards the historic environment. It 

includes the following related elements: 
 

 guidance for circumstances where proposals may have an impact on the 
significance of heritage assets; 

 the identification of a series of key principles which developments should follow; 

 commentary on changes of use of heritage assets; and 
 environmental change and the climate emergency.  

 
7.39 The policy provides an excellent local iteration of Section 16 of the NPPF.  
 
7.40 The final three paragraphs of the policy address climate change issues and strongly 

encourage developers to engage in pre-application discussions with CYC. As 
submitted, they use language more usually seen in supporting text of neighbourhood 
plans. I sought the YNPF’s views about their relocation from the policy to the 
supporting text. It commented as follows: 

 
‘Because of the importance of environmental sustainability to the Forum we felt these 
paragraphs sit better in the policy itself, not least because of our ambition to address 
the climate emergency through appropriate adaptation. In the (current) absence on 
any local or national planning policy/guidance relating to the adaptation of heritage 
assets, and the balance of harm, we felt these points would hold more weight 
embedded within the policy, rather than explanatory text.’ 

ANNEX APage 42



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

19 

7.41 I understand the approach taken in the submitted Plan. Nevertheless, the language 
used is not that of a land use policy and I am not persuaded that they are capable of 
modification to become policies in their own right. As such, I recommend that they are 
deleted from the policy and repositioned into the supporting text. Whilst I acknowledge 
the Forum’s thinking and approach, I am satisfied that the overall effect and purpose 
of the Plan is otherwise unaffected by this recommended modification.  

 Policy C2 Listed Building Consent 

7.42 This policy sets out a series of local details about how applications for listed building 
consent will be determined. In general terms it meets the basic conditions. However, I 
recommend that its third paragraph (on the suggested need for the York Civic Trust to 
be consulted on applications for LBC) is deleted. Whilst this is an entirely appropriate 
course of action it is a process matter. However, I recommend that this element of the 
policy is repositioned into the supporting text.  

 
 Policy C3 Archaeological and Scheduled Monuments Consent 
 
7.43 This policy sets out a series of key principles which any proposals requiring these 

specialist consents should follow. In general terms it meets the basic conditions. 
However, I recommend that its final two paragraphs are deleted. Whilst the approach 
intended is an entirely appropriate course of action it is a process matter. However, I 
recommend that these elements of the policy are repositioned into the supporting text.  

 
 Delete the final three paragraphs of Policy C1.  

Delete the third paragraph of the Policy C2. 

Delete the final two paragraphs of Policy C3. 
 

Reposition the final paragraph of the Policy C1 at the end of submitted paragraph 6.4.1. 
Thereafter reposition the third paragraph of Policy C2 at the end of the modified 
paragraph. 
 
Reposition the two preceding paragraphs of Policy C1 (combined) as a new paragraph 
(paragraph 6.4.4) 

Insert a new paragraph 6.4.5 to read: 

‘Policy C3 comments about the archaeology and scheduled monuments consent 
procedures. Where development proposals affect Scheduled Monuments, an 
application must be made to Historic England for Scheduled Monument Consent. 
When Scheduled Monument Consent is granted, it is usually subject to certain 
conditions that may specify methods of working, or arrangements for prior 
archaeological investigation and recording. These conditions are listed in the consent 
letter and are applied in order to safeguard the scheduled remains’ 

Renumber submitted paragraphs 6.4.4 and 6.4.5 accordingly. 

 

ANNEX APage 43



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

20 

Policy D1 Wellbeing 
 
7.44 This policy comments that development which supports the wellbeing of York’s 

residents by increasing public access, creating new public spaces and supports the 
Minster’s Mission of welcome will be supported. It identifies five factors which 
proposals should meet (as appropriate to the nature of the particular proposal).  

7.45 I recommend a detailed modification to ensure that the Plan has the clarity required by 
the NPPF. Otherwise, it meets the basic conditions. It will assist in delivering the social 
dimension of sustainable development.  

 Replace ‘Development which supports’ with ‘Development proposals which 
promote’ 

Policy E1 Movement and Public Realm 
 
7.46 This policy comments that throughout York Minster Precinct greater emphasis will be 

placed upon pedestrian safety and priority over vehicles, particularly in relation to the 
reordering of Duncombe Place (Policy PA2) and improvements to Deangate (Policy 
PA1). It also identifies a series of factor to enhance the public realm of the Precinct. 

7.47 The policy sets out a very comprehensive to this matter. Nevertheless, its final two 
factors are out of context with the other factors. In particular they are process matters 
rather than design principles. As such I recommend that they are deleted from the 
policy and repositioned into the supporting text.  

7.48 I also recommend a detailed addition to the second criterion so that it takes account of 
the more general approach in the following policy in the Plan.  

 Delete the final two bullet points in the policy. 

At the end of the second bullet point add: ‘subject to consideration for universal 
accessibility as set out in Policy E2 of this Plan’. 

Reposition the two bullet points so that they sit at the end of paragraph 6.6.1 of the 
Plan. 

Policy E2 Accessibility and Wayfinding 
 
7.49 This policy comments that proposals for wayfinding improvements will be supported 

where they assist with navigation around the Precinct, support increased footfall to the 
Precinct’s visitor attractions and businesses, and link to proposals for wider city centre 
wayfinding improvements. The approach reflects the wider approach of the Minster to 
work towards universal accessibility wherever possible. 

7.50 The policy has been well-considered. I recommend detailed modifications to its 
wording so that it has the clarity required by the NPPF. Otherwise, it meets the basic 
conditions.  

  

ANNEX APage 44



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

21 

In the first paragraph of the policy replace ‘is to work’ with ‘will work’ 

 In the second paragraph delete ‘therefore’ 

Policy E3 Electric Vehicles and Parking 
 
7.51 This policy takes account of the Minster’s support for environmental sustainability 

objectives, and comments that applications for suitable electric charging points which 
are appropriately positioned will be supported. It also comments that the Chapter of 
York will begin to introduce electric charging points within the Chapter House Car Park 
to encourage non-tourist visitors and staff to use electric or hybrid cars.  

7.52 With modifications the first part of the policy meets the basic conditions. It addresses 
a land use matter. In contrast, the second part of the policy is a community action – it 
identifies actions and priorities to be pursued by the Minster in pursuit of the 
sustainable use of vehicles. As such I recommend this part of the policy is deleted and 
that a Community Action is introduced into this Section of the Plan to address this 
matter. The Action is set out at the end of Policy E4 which addresses a similar matter.  

7.53 Finally I recommend that the policy’s title is modified so that it more closely reflects its 
purpose. 

 In the first paragraph of the policy replace ‘applications’ with ‘development 
proposals’ 

 Delete the second part of the policy. 

 Replace the policy title with: ‘Electric Vehicle Charging’ 

Policy E4 Green Travel Plan 
 
7.54 This policy comments that the Minster will work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle 

movement and parking within the Precinct by providing alternative modes of transport 
in a Green Travel Plan which will consider the impacts of any proposals on 
neighbouring streets and car parks and the needs of blue badge holders. 

7.55 As submitted the policy is hybrid in its nature. Most of its details are actions and 
priorities to be pursued by the Minster in pursuit of green travel in and around the 
Precinct. I recommend that these elements are repositioned into an additional 
community action. Nevertheless, I also recommend that an element of the submitted 
policy is retained as a land use element. It follows the format suggested by CYC in its 
representation.  

Replace the policy with: ‘Development proposals that reduce unnecessary 
vehicle movements and parking within the Minster Precinct will be supported. 

Insert a new Community Action using the same format as other Community Actions in 
the Plan (after Policy E4) to read: 

‘The Chapter of York will begin to introduce electric charging points within the Chapter 
House Car Park to encourage non-tourist visitors and staff to use electric or hybrid 

ANNEX APage 45



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

22 

cars. In the future, priority for parking will be given to visitors and staff using electric 
cars. 

The Minster will work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle movement and parking 
within the Precinct by providing alternative modes of transport to be articulated in a 
York Minster Green Travel Plan. This will consider the impacts of any proposals on 
neighbouring streets and car parks and the needs of blue badge holders. Other 
businesses and institutions within the Neighbourhood Plan Area will be encouraged to 
collaborate in a joint Green Travel Plan strategy’ 

Policy F1 Monitoring and Securing Delivery 
 
7.56 The policy comments on a series of related matters as follows: 

 that the Plan will be subject to annual monitoring by the Neighbourhood Forum 
and periodic review in consultation with the Chapter of York before the end of 
the Plan period, or earlier if required;  

 that where necessary, the Chapter of York will work closely with City of York 
Council and Historic England to prepare development briefs, which will set out 
design parameters for project areas in greater detail than is appropriate for this 
Neighbourhood Plan; and 

 public consultation will continue to inform the design development of individual 
projects. 

7.57 The policy takes an appropriate approach to these important matters. In particular the 
annual monitoring review of the Plan will allow it to assess the implications on its 
policies (if any) once the emerging Local Plan is adopted.  

7.58 The two final paragraphs of the policy address consultation on listed building consent 
and ongoing liaison with CYC. Whilst both issues are important the first is a process 
matter and the latter is already addressed elsewhere in the Plan (and in the supporting 
text associated with the policy itself). As such I recommend that they are deleted. 

 Delete the final two paragraphs of the policy.  

Policy PA1 Minster Yard and College Green 
 
7.59 This policy sets out the Plan’s approach to the Minster Yard and College Green. It 

comments that the focus of the busy visitor welcome facilities will be at the south of 
the Minster, reflecting consultation feedback received during the ‘Issues & Options’ 
Stage in May 2018. The main visitor entrance to the Minster will be moved to the South 
Transept. The Chapter will redevelop its existing property at 1 Deangate to provide a 
new ticket and box office. The former Minster School will be redeveloped to create a 
new refectory (café/restaurant), new public open space and opportunities for office, 
education and residential conversion in the future. Within the Minster, the reordering 
of visitor flows from the south door and the visitor experience of the Minster will be 
guided by the Minster Liturgical Plan. 

ANNEX APage 46



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

23 

7.60 The policy sets out ten parameters to provide a context to secure a high-quality 
outcome for such proposals.  

7.61 The policy takes a very positive approach to this important matter. In particular, it 
identifies important land use and design principles against which development 
proposals can be assessed.  

7.62 I recommend a series of detailed modifications to the submitted policy which, in their 
different ways, address two important matters: 

 the distinction between policy and development principles on the one hand and 
supporting text on the other hand – in some cases the policy includes elements 
of the latter; and 

 the distinction between the broader enhancement plans for the Minster precinct 
and the neighbourhood plan itself (which has a sharp focus on land use issues).  

The effect of the recommended modifications does not detract from the overall 
approach of the policy and its outcomes.  

 Replace B with ‘New outdoor seating for residents and visitors’ 

 In E replace ‘To be visible’ with ‘The new development should be visible’ 

Replace G with: ‘The development of a zone for reconfigured stonemasons’ 
compound with appropriate fencing to allow for continued visitor engagement’ 

Replace H with: ‘Access should be maintained to the Stoneyard and refectory 
from Deangate. On road cycling route should be maintained with careful design 
to minimise conflict between the cycling route and pedestrians’ 

Delete I. 

In J replace ‘Enhancement of College Green to provide’ with: ‘The enhancement 
of College Green should’  

At end of paragraph 7.1.1 add: ‘The policy approach offers a longer-term opportunity 
to reconfigure Deangate to enhance the quality and enclosure of the public realm in 
this area. Any changes to traffic routing will require agreement with the City of York 
Council in its capacity as the Highways Authority’ 

Policy PA2 West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square 
 
7.63 This policy sets out the Plan’s approach to the East front of the Minster. It comments 

that a new civic and ceremonial space will be created for the City and named in honour 
of Her Majesty the Queen. This public space will be a significant feature of the City’s 
public realm and requires the highest quality design. The policy comments that the 
Chapter of York will place a statue of the Queen in an empty niche on the West Front 
to mark the Platinum Jubilee in 2022.  

7.64 The details of the policy comment that detailed proposals for Queen Elizabeth Square 
will be brought forward by way of a development brief which will confirm the technical 

ANNEX APage 47



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

24 

and operational requirements and civic ambitions for the space in agreement with 
CYC, Historic England and York Civic Trust. This will be followed by a Design 
Competition with public consultation playing an important part in the development of 
the design proposals.  

7.65 The policy sets out five parameters to provide a context within which to secure a high-
quality outcome for such proposals.  

7.66 The policy takes a very positive approach to this important matter. It identifies important 
land use and design principles against which development proposals can be assessed. 
In particular, it will bring significant enhancements to this important element of the 
public realm and be a major feature in the way in which the City of York marks Her 
Majesty’s Platinum Jubilee. It will assist significantly in contributing to the various 
elements of sustainable development.  

7.67 I recommend a detailed modifications to the submitted policy to ensure that it uses 
language appropriate to a development criterion in a neighbourhood plan. Otherwise, 
it meets the basic conditions. 

Replace C with: ‘The South African War Memorial should be incorporated into 
the design of the new square and surrounding public realm’ 

Policy PA3 Learning and gardens 
 
7.68 This policy sets out a range of policy guidance for the proposals in Area PA3. In 

summary Zones A-D are proposed to become a centre for learning and participation 
with space to exhibit the Minster’s artefacts. The Plan comments that it will have 
multifunctional space for use by visiting schools and community groups and for adult 
learning and will include: teaching space, learning, office, exhibition space, stores and 
conservation studio, library. In detail the four areas are proposed for the following 
works: 

 A. Old Palace to be retained, repaired and enhanced with expanded public 
access as part of the learning and education centre.  

 B. A reconfiguration or redevelopment of existing twentieth century extensions 
to the Old Palace.  

 C. Indicative location for additional built extension to the learning centre. The 
design will be required to respond appropriately to the setting of heritage assets 
including the Old Palace, Minster and City Walls and key views, and will be 
informed by a detailed heritage impact assessment and 3D modelling.  

 D. Enhanced public realm providing access to the Old Palace learning and 
education centre, sensory garden and City Walls. 

7.69 The policy sets out four parameters to provide a context to secure a high-quality 
outcome for such proposals.  

7.70 The policy takes a very positive approach to this important matter. It identifies important 
land use and design principles against which development proposals can be assessed. 

ANNEX APage 48



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

25 

7.71 I recommend a series of modifications to bring the clarity required by the NPPF. They 
ensure that the first part of the policy reads as a land use policy rather than partly as a 
land use policy and partly as a promotional document. They are also designed to 
ensure that the second part of the policy sets out specific requirements which need to 
be met rather than as a continuation of the description of the wider project (as set out 
in Zones A-D).   

Replace the opening element of the second paragraph of the policy with: 

‘Zones A – D will become a centre for learning and participation with space to 
exhibit the Minster’s artefacts. It will have multifunctional space for use by 
visiting schools and community groups and for adult learning and will include: 
teaching space, learning, office, exhibition space, stores and conservation 
studio and library. It will incorporate the following elements:’ 

Replace the final part of the policy with:  

‘Development proposals should also incorporate the following elements:  

 the wider support for controlled and authorised access to the City Walls. 
 the delivery of a new sensory garden, the design of which appropriately 

incorporates the Kohima War Memorial to the Second Division taking 
account of healthy and mature trees in the immediate locality’  

Policy PA4 Own Use Properties 
 
7.72 This policy addresses the buildings to the north, east and south of the Minster House 

functions which are essential for its daily operations. The Plan proposes the 
development of space for additional facilities to support those who live and work in the 
Precinct. They are both distinctive to the neighbourhood area and respect its historic 
character.  

7.73 It sets out the following proposals for three specific areas as follows: 

A. Existing garages and rear garden space to be redeveloped to provide storage on 
the ground floor and Minster staff housing on the first floor. Redevelopment to be no 
higher than the existing ridge line, and its plan, massing, roofscape, materials and 
details to respond positively to the character and appearance of the site and the setting 
of heritage assets.  

B. A new workshop to house the Minster’s masons will be created as part of the 
investment in the Stoneyard to establish an international centre of excellence for 
heritage skills across the Precinct. The building is to be a lightweight, single storey 
construction, with a green living roof and is to be sensitively designed in relation to the 
character of the retained gardens.  

C. The display of part of the Minster’s lapidarium with examples of historic stone to be 
viewed from the city wall. 

ANNEX APage 49



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

26 

7.74 The policy takes a very positive approach to this important matter. It identifies important 
principles against which development proposals should be designed and can be 
assessed. 

7.75 I recommend a series of modifications to bring the clarity required by the NPPF. The 
policy sensibly identifies the potential need for 3D modelling of emerging proposals. 
Nevertheless, this is a process matter rather than policy in its own right. In the 
circumstances, I recommend that this element is deleted from the policy and 
repositioned into the supporting text. I also recommend that the wording of Part C of 
the policy is clarified to explain its intentions.  

Delete ‘3D modelling of proposals is likely to be necessary to develop 
appropriate design solutions’ 

Replace C with: ‘The display of part of the Minster’s lapidarium with examples 
of historic stone being able to be viewed from the City Walls’ 

At the end of paragraph 7.4.2 add: ‘Policy PA4 sets out key land use and design 
principles for this important part of the Minster Precinct. Given its heritage and 
environmental sensitivity, 3D modelling of development proposals may be necessary 
to develop appropriate design solutions’ 

Community Actions 

7.76 The Plan includes a series of Community Actions. They are non-land use matters 
which have naturally arisen as the Plan was being prepared. In some cases, the 
Actions will complement land use policies in the Plan. 

7.77 National guidance comments that such Actions should be located in a separate part of 
the Plan to distinguish them from the land use policies. In this case, the Actions are 
included in the main body of the Plan. Having considered this matter very carefully, I 
am satisfied that the approach taken is appropriate. I have reached this conclusion for 
two reasons. The first is that some of the Actions complement the land use policies 
and enhance the natural flow and legibility of the Plan. The second is that they are 
identified in a different fashion to the land use policies. 

7.78 Nevertheless, the Plan does not directly provide a context for the Community Actions. 
I recommend that this matter is incorporated within Section 4.9 (The Structure of the 
Plan). This will bring the clarity required by the NPPF and reinforce the points identified 
above.  

Renumber paragraph 4.9.2 to 4.9.3. 

 Introduce a new paragraph 4.9.2 to read: 

 ‘The Plan includes a series of Community Actions. They are non-land use matters 
which have naturally arisen as the Plan was being prepared. In some cases, their 
implementation will complement the land use policies. The Actions are incorporated 
within the policy key themes. They are distinguished from the land use policies by their 
display in a Community Action box and without the shading associated with the 
policies’.  

ANNEX APage 50



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

27 

7.79 In other parts of this report I have recommend that Actions are modified or that new 
Actions are included in the Plan. In this context I also recommend a modification to the 
Action on accessibility and cycling to take account of specific comments from CYC. 

In the Community Action on page 70 add: ‘Additionally, this will seek to ensure the 
suitable location for cycle parking or amendments to existing facilities to make them 
accessible to all types of cycles’ 

Other matters - General 

7.80 This report has recommended a series of modifications both to the policies and to the 
supporting text in the submitted Plan. Where consequential changes to the text are 
required directly as a result of my recommended modification to the policy concerned, 
I have highlighted them in this report. However other changes to the general text may 
be required elsewhere in the Plan as a result of the recommended modifications to the 
policies. It will be appropriate for CYC and the YMNF to have the flexibility to make any 
necessary consequential changes to the general text. I recommend accordingly.  

 
 Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency with the 
modified policies. 

 Other Matters – Specific 

7.81 CYC has made a series of comments and suggested changes to the submitted Plan. 
They reflect the positive and collaborative way in which the Plan has been prepared.  

7.82 I have addressed the CYC comments in relation to specific policies earlier in this report. 
I set out below a series of additional modifications to the general text in the Plan and 
to community actions insofar as they are necessary to ensure that the Plan meets the 
basic conditions. In doing so, I have taken account of responses of YMNF to the 
comments made by CYC.  

 At the end of paragraph 1.0.3 add: ‘The importance of the Minster and the City of York 
Council working collaboratively to secure funding is captured in a Community Action’ 

In the Introduction insert an additional Community Action to read: ‘The Forum and the 
City of York Council will work collaboratively to secure funding for projects in general, 
and as identified in this Plan in particular’. 

Add an additional bullet point at the end of paragraph 1.0.6 to read: 

‘The York Minster Precinct attracts crowds as result of its cultural and historic assets. 
The Minster is one of the City’s leading visitor attractions and draws around 700,000 
visitors to the Precinct annually (pre-pandemic). As such measures for the safety and 
security of users and facilities need to be constructively considered through 
management of access and links to the rest of the city centre, particularly in relation to 
vehicles’ 

 

 

ANNEX APage 51



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

28 

In paragraph 3.3.2: 

On page 20 - South of the Minster: Replace the first bullet point with ‘Relationship 
between the strategic cycle route through the square and the Square’s public realm 
use by pedestrians’ 

On page 23 – North of the Minster: Replace the third bullet point with: ‘Poor quality 
surfacing and parked cars on the cobbled street east of Dean’s Park and their effect 
on the setting of the Minster and Dean’s Park.’  

Modify the fourth bullet point to read: ‘Poor quality surfacing and parked cars on the 
cobbled street east of Dean’s Park, which is part of the private estate and an un-
adopted section of the road’. 

In paragraph 3.5.3 replace the second sentence with: ‘The latter has a negative visual 
impact on the setting of Dean’s Park and the Minster and hinders pedestrian access to 
the park gates.’ 

At the end of paragraph 3.7.5 add: ‘This approach will help to identify opportunities to 
support community and well-being’. 

Insert an additional community action (in Section 5.2) to read: ‘The Minster Precinct 
Forum and the City of York Council will work collaboratively to achieve Eco Gold 
Church status by 2025.’ 

Policies Map – ensure consistency between the Map itself and the Key on the Chapter 
House Yard.  

At the end of paragraph 7.0.2 add: ‘The proposals for the Project areas should be 
considered in conjunction with the other policies in the neighbourhood plan. This will 
ensure that the Plan is read as a whole.’ 

At the end of 7.2.2 final bullet point add: ‘and ensuring that any proposals can be 
maintained in perpetuity’ 

Other Matters – Referendum Area 

7.83 This matter presents interesting geographic and administrative challenges. On the one 
hand, the neighbourhood area has been deliberately drawn to be as tight as possible 
to reflect the scale, nature and influence of the Minster. On the other hand, the policies 
and proposals in the Plan have the ability to affect local residents within the immediate 
vicinity of the neighbourhood area itself.  

 
7.84 In these circumstances, I recommend that the referendum area is the neighbourhood 

area and residential properties within the immediate vicinity of the neighbourhood area. 
It is the area where the immediate effects of the development proposed in the Plan 
could be experienced. Appendix A of this report identifies this area by reference to 
postcodes.   

 
7.85 For the avoidance of any doubt, I am satisfied that a referendum in a more extensive 

area in the City of York is unnecessary. The development proposals in the Plan have 

ANNEX APage 52



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

29 

been very well-developed and are designed to ensure the ongoing sustainability and 
self-sufficiency of the Minster.  In this context, the Plan’s policies and proposals will 
consolidate and reinforce the international, national and local importance and 
attractiveness of the Minster. The Plan does not include proposals of strategic 
significance within the wider City. This conclusion reinforces the findings of the 
submitted Sustainability Assessment (incorporating Strategic Environmental 
Assessment) and the related conclusion of the Habitats Regulations Assessment.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNEX APage 53



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

30 

8         Summary and Conclusions 

Summary 
 
8.1 The Plan sets out a range of policies to guide and direct development proposals in the 

period up to 2035.   
 
8.2 It is distinctive in addressing a specific set of issues that have been identified and 

refined by the wider community. It is a very impressive Plan in its own right and it 
positively overlaps with other strategic documents produced by the Minster.  

 
8.3 Following the independent examination of the Plan I have concluded that the Minster 

Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions for the 
preparation of a neighbourhood plan subject to a series of recommended 
modifications. 

 
 Conclusion 
 
8.4 On the basis of the findings in this report I recommend to the City of York Council that 

subject to the incorporation of the modifications set out in this report that the Minster 
Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan should proceed to referendum. 

 
 Referendum Area 
 
8.4 I am required to consider whether the referendum area should be extended beyond 

the neighbourhood area.  
 
8.5 Taking account of my considerations in paragraphs 7.83 to 7.85 of this report, I 

recommend that the referendum area is the neighbourhood area and residential 
properties within the immediate vicinity of the neighbourhood area. Appendix A of this 
report identifies the postcodes which are included in the referendum area.   

 
Other comments 

 
8.6 I am very grateful to everyone who has contributed towards an efficient examination. 

The wider process has been carefully-managed in accordance with the examination 
arrangement note. This has provided an opportunity for the Forum to comment on the 
questions in the clarification note and to respond to the representations received to the 
Plan. This has made the recommended modifications to the Plan much easier to 
prepare and within an overall spirit of achieving an agreed and positive outcome.  

 
8.7 In particular the City of York Council has provided ongoing support and access to 

documents and the Forum has commented in a timely and helpful way to the questions 
in the clarification note. 

 

ANNEX APage 54



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

31 

8.8 The examination reflects the collaborative fashion in which the Plan has been 
prepared. This is one of its major strengths. It will also assist significantly in the delivery 
of its policies and community actions.  

 
8.9 In short, the Plan is a major achievement. It will do much to secure the longer-term 

sustainability of the Minster and the attractiveness and accessibility of the Minster 
Precinct.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Andrew Ashcroft 
Independent Examiner  
7 January 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX APage 55



 
 

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report  

 

32 

Appendix A 
 
York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Referendum Area 
 
The referendum for the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Development Plan should take 
place in the following postcode areas: 
 
YO1 7AB YO1 7FJ YO1 7JR YO1 8BH YO31 7EA 
YO1 7AH YO1 7FX YO1 7JW YO1 8DA YO31 7EB 
YO1 7AL YO1 7HD YO1 7LD YO1 8HX YO31 7EF 
YO1 7BD YO1 7HF YO1 7LF YO1 8QF YO31 7EH 
YO1 7BP YO1 7HG YO1 7LG YO1 8QG YO31 7EQ 
YO1 7BR YO1 7HH YO1 7LH YO1 8QJ YO31 7ER 
YO1 7BT YO1 7HL YO1 7LJ YO1 8QN YO31 7EX 
YO1 7BU YO1 7HN YO1 7LP YO1 8QP YO31 7EY 
YO1 7BX YO1 7HP YO1 7LQ YO1 8QR YO31 7HA 
YO1 7BZ YO1 7HS YO1 7LS YO1 8QU YO31 7HB 
YO1 7DJ YO1 7HT YO1 7LW YO1 8QW YO31 7HY 
YO1 7DN YO1 7HU YO1 7QB YO1 8QZ YO31 7HZ 
YO1 7DR YO1 7HW YO1 8AA YO1 8RN YO31 7JA 
YO1 7DS YO1 7HY YO1 8AB YO1 8RW YO31 7JS 
YO1 7DT YO1 7HZ YO1 8AD YO1 8XJ YO31 7JZ 
YO1 7DX YO1 7JA YO1 8AJ YO1 8ZD YO31 7PD 
YO1 7DY YO1 7JB YO1 8AN YO1 8ZW YO31 7PE 
YO1 7ED YO1 7JD YO1 8AQ YO30 7BL YO31 7PH 
YO1 7EF YO1 7JF YO1 8AR YO30 7BN YO31 7PJ 
YO1 7EH YO1 7JG YO1 8AS YO30 7BP YO31 7QR 
YO1 7EJ YO1 7JH YO1 8AU YO30 7BR YO31 7QS 
YO1 7EN YO1 7JJ YO1 8AW YO30 7BS YO31 7QT 
YO1 7EP YO1 7JL YO1 8AX YO30 7BW YO31 7RB 
YO1 7EW YO1 7JN YO1 8AZ YO30 7DU YO31 7RD 
YO1 7EY YO1 7JP YO1 8BE YO31 7AB YO31 7UQ 
YO1 7FD YO1 7JQ YO1 8BG YO31 7AD  

 
 

 
 

  

  

 

ANNEX APage 56



ANNEX B 

City of York Council 

 

YORK MINSTER PRECINCT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN:  

POST- EXAMINATION DECISION STATEMENT 

 

Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning  

(General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 

This document is the decision statement required to be prepared under 

Regulation 18(2) of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 (as 

amended). It sets out the Council’s response to each of the 

recommendations contained within the Report to City of York Council of 

the independent examination of the York Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Plan (“the Plan”) by independent Examiner Mr Andrew 

Ashcroft, which was submitted to the Council on 7th January 2022.  

 

This decision statement, the independent Examiner’s Report and the 

submission version of the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan 

and supporting documents can be viewed on the Council’s website: 

www.york.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning in line with the current 

arrangements in the Councils update Statement of Community 

Involvement.1 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND  

 

1.1 Under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), City of 

York Council (“the Council”) has a statutory duty to assist communities in 

the preparation of neighbourhood (development) plans and to take plans 

through a process of examination and referendum. The Localism Act 

2011 (Part 6, Chapter 3) sets out the Local Planning Authority’s 

responsibilities under neighbourhood planning.  

 

1.2 This statement confirms that the modifications proposed by the 

Examiner’s Report have been considered and accepted and that subject 

                                                           
1 statement-of-community-involvement (york.gov.uk) 

Page 57

http://www.york.gov.uk/neighbourhoodplanning
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/2128/statement-of-community-involvement


ANNEX B 

to making the recommended modifications (and other minor 

modifications) the Plan may now be submitted to referendum.  

 

1.3 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan was designated by the 

Council as a Neighbourhood Area on 14th March 2019. The Plan 

describes the focus of the neighbourhood area as the Cathedral and 

Metropolitical Church of St Peter, in York, better known as York Minster. 

The neighbourhood plan does not follow any particular parish or ward 

boundaries, but lies within an area of approximately 6 hectares, bounded 

by the historic city walls to the north and west and by city streets to the 

south and east. It is an integral element of the city centre. The Minster 

itself is widely visible within the city centre and also from more remote 

locations around the city. It is entirely within the Local Planning 

Authority’s area.  

 

1.4 York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Forum undertook pre-

submission consultations on the draft Plan in accordance with 

Regulation 14. Consultation on the Pre-Submission Version took place 

between 11th January and 23rd February 2019. A second Pre-

Submission consultation took place between 16th December 2020 and 

14th February 2021. 

 

1.5 Following the submission of the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 

Plan to the Council on 26th April 2021, the Council publicised the draft 

Plan for a six-week period and representations were invited in 

accordance with Regulation 16. The Submission consultation took place 

between 14th July and 8th September 2021.  

 

2.0 INDEPENDENT EXAMINATION  

 

2.1 The Council appointed Mr Andrew Ashcroft BA (Hons) MA, DMS, 

MRTPI, with the consent of York Minster Neighbourhood Forum, to 

undertake the independent examination of the York Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Plan and to prepare a report of the independent 

examination.  

 

Page 58



ANNEX B 

2.2 The Examiner examined the Plan by way of written representations 

supported by an unaccompanied site visit of the Neighbourhood Plan 

Area on 13th October 2021. 

  

2.3 The Examiner’s Report was formally submitted on 7th January 2022. The 

Report concludes that subject to making the modifications 

recommended by the Examiner, the Plan meets the basic conditions set 

out in the legislation and should proceed to referendum.  

 

2.4 Following receipt of the Examiner’s Report, legislation requires that the 

Council consider each of the modifications recommended, the reasons 

for them, and decide what action to take. The Council is also required to 

consider whether to extend the area to which the referendum is to take 

place.  

 

3.0 DECISION AND REASONS  

 

3.1 Having considered each of the recommendations made in the 

Examiner’s Report and the reasons for them, the Council, has decided 

to accept all of the Examiner’s recommended modifications to the draft 

Plan. These are set out in Table 1 below. 

 

3.2 The Council considers that, subject to the modifications being made to 

the Plan as set out in Table 1 below, the York Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Plan meets the basic conditions mentioned in paragraph 

8(2) of Schedule 4B of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) is compatible with the Convention rights and meets the 

requirements of paragraph 8(1) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 

3.3 As a consequence of the required modifications, the Council will modify 

the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan accordingly, for it then to 

proceed to referendum. 

 

3.4 The Examiner recommended that the referendum area should go 

beyond the Neighbourhood Plan area, to include the neighbourhood 

area and residential properties within the immediate vicinity of the 

Page 59



ANNEX B 

neighbourhood area. It is this area where the immediate effects of the 

development proposed in the Plan area could be experienced 

3.5 This decision was made at a meeting of the Council’s Executive on 17th 

March 2022. 

3.6 This decision statement is dated 17th March 2022. 

Other information:  

 

The Neighbourhood Plan document will be updated to incorporate all the 

modifications required and re-titled Referendum Version.  The date for 

the referendum and further details will be publicised shortly once a date 

is set by the Council.   

Page 60



ANNEX B 

Table 1: Examiner’s Recommended Modifications  

York Minster 
Precinct 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Policy 

Examiner’s 
Report 
Reference 

Recommended Modification CYC 
Consideration/ 
Justification 

At end of 
paragraph 1.0.5 

Paragraph 
7.11 

Add: “The neighbourhood area is shown in Figure 1. The Plan period is 2020 to 2035. Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy A1: 
Purpose and 
ambition 

 No modifications proposed. N/A 

Policy A2: 
Sustainable 
Development 

Paragraphs 
7.21-7.23 

In the fifth paragraph replace ‘New development’ with ‘As appropriate to its 
scale and nature new development’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy A3: 
Policies Map 

Paragraphs 
7.24-7.26 

Delete the final sentence of the policy. 
 
Replace the policy’s title with: ‘Spatial Plan’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy A4: Design 
Excellence 

Paragraphs 
7.27-7.32 

Replace the first part of the policy with: ‘Development proposals should 
demonstrate design excellence and be inspired by and contribute to the 
distinctive and historic nature of the Precinct, be resilient to climate change and 
extreme weather events, and reduce carbon emissions’ 
 
Replace the opening element of the second part of the policy with ‘As 
appropriate to their scale and nature, development proposals will be supported 
which meet the following criteria:’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

P
age 61



ANNEX B 

 
Set out the first and second criteria with bullet points. 
 
At the end of each bullet point replace the full stop with a semi-colon. After the 
semi colon at the end of the penultimate bullet point add ‘and’ 

Policy B1: 
Landscape and 
Biodiversity Net 
Gain 

Paragraphs 
7.33-7.36 

Replace the first paragraph with: ‘Where relevant, development proposals 
should protect and enhance existing areas of biodiversity in the Precinct, 
including any green corridors’ 
 
In the third paragraph of the policy add ‘would’ between ‘proposals’ and ‘affect’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy C1: 
Historic 
Environment  

Paragraphs 
7.37-7.41 

Delete the final three paragraphs of Policy C1. Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy C2: Listed 
Building Consent 

Paragraph 
7.42 

Delete the third paragraph of the Policy C2. Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy C3: 
Archaeological 
and Scheduled 
Monuments 
Consent 

Paragraph 
7.43 

Delete the final two paragraphs of Policy C3. Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Section 6.4 – 
‘Section C _ 
Historic 
Environment’ 
general 

Paragraph 
7.43 

Reposition the final paragraph of the Policy C1 at the end of submitted paragraph 
6.4.1. 
Thereafter reposition the third paragraph of Policy C2 at the end of the modified 
paragraph. 
 
Reposition the two preceding paragraphs of Policy C1 (combined) as a new 
paragraph 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

P
age 62



ANNEX B 

(paragraph 6.4.4) 
 
Insert a new paragraph 6.4.5 to read: 
‘Policy C3 comments about the archaeology and scheduled monuments consent 
procedures. Where development proposals affect Scheduled Monuments, an 
application must be made to Historic England for Scheduled Monument Consent. 
When Scheduled Monument Consent is granted, it is usually subject to certain 
conditions that may specify methods of working, or arrangements for prior 
archaeological investigation and recording. These conditions are listed in the consent 
letter and are applied in order to safeguard the scheduled remains’ 
 
Renumber submitted paragraphs 6.4.4 and 6.4.5 accordingly. 

Policy D1: 
Wellbeing 

Paragraphs 
7.44-7.45 

Replace ‘Development which supports’ with ‘Development proposals which 
promote’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy E1: 
Movement and 
Public Realm 

Paragraphs 
7.46-7.48 

Delete the final two bullet points in the policy. 
 
At the end of the second bullet point add: ‘subject to consideration for 
universal accessibility as set out in Policy E2 of this Plan’. 
 
Reposition the two bullet points so that they sit at the end of paragraph 6.6.1 of the 
Plan. 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy E2: 
Accessibility and 
Wayfinding 

Paragraphs 
7.49-7.50 

In the first paragraph of the policy replace ‘is to work’ with ‘will work’ 
 
In the second paragraph delete ‘therefore’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy E3: electric 
Vehicles and 
Parking  

Paragraphs 
7.51-7.53 

In the first paragraph of the policy replace ‘applications’ with ‘development 
proposals’ 
 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 

P
age 63



ANNEX B 

Delete the second part of the policy (add as a Community Action after Policy E4 – 
see below). 
 
Replace the policy title with: ‘Electric Vehicle Charging’ 

the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy E4: Green 
Travel Plans 

Paragraphs 
7.54-7.55 

Replace the policy with: ‘Development proposals that reduce unnecessary 
vehicle movements and parking within the Minster Precinct will be supported. 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Paragraphs after 
Policy E4 

Paragraphs 
7.52 & 7.55 

Insert a new Community Action using the same format as other Community Actions in 
the Plan (after Policy E4) to read: 
 
‘The Chapter of York will begin to introduce electric charging points within the Chapter 
House Car Park to encourage non-tourist visitors and staff to use electric or hybrid 
cars. In the future, priority for parking will be given to visitors and staff using electric 
cars. 
 
The Minster will work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle movement and parking 
within the Precinct by providing alternative modes of transport to be articulated in a 
York Minster Green Travel Plan. This will consider the impacts of any proposals on 
neighbouring streets and car parks and the needs of blue badge holders. Other 
businesses and institutions within the Neighbourhood Plan Area will be encouraged to 
collaborate in a joint Green Travel Plan strategy’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy F1: 
Monitoring and 
Securing Delivery 

Paragraphs 
7.56-7.58 

Delete the final two paragraphs of the policy. Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy PA1: 
Minster Yard and 
College Green 

Paragraphs 
7.59-7.62 

Replace B with ‘New outdoor seating for residents and visitors’ 
 
In E replace ‘To be visible’ with ‘The new development should be visible’ 
 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 

P
age 64



ANNEX B 

Replace G with: ‘The development of a zone for reconfigured stonemasons’ 
compound with appropriate fencing to allow for continued visitor engagement’ 
 
Replace H with: ‘Access should be maintained to the Stoneyard and refectory 
from Deangate. On road cycling route should be maintained with careful design 
to minimise conflict between the cycling route and pedestrians’ 
 
Delete I. 
 
In J replace ‘Enhancement of College Green to provide’ with: ‘The enhancement 
of College Green should’ 

Report. 

Paragraph 7.1.1 Paragraph 
7.62 

At end of paragraph 7.1.1 add: ‘The policy approach offers a longer-term opportunity 
to reconfigure Deangate to enhance the quality and enclosure of the public realm in 
this area. Any changes to traffic routing will require agreement with the City of York 
Council in its capacity as the Highways Authority’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy PA2: West 
Front and Queen 
Elizabeth Square 

Paragraphs 
7.63-7.67 

Replace C with: ‘The South African War Memorial should be incorporated into 
the design of the new square and surrounding public realm’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Policy PA3: 
Learning and 
gardens 

Paragraphs 
7.68-7.71 

Replace the opening element of the second paragraph of the policy with: 
 
‘Zones A – D will become a centre for learning and participation with space to 
exhibit the Minster’s artefacts. It will have multifunctional space for use by 
visiting schools and community groups and for adult learning and will include: 
teaching space, learning, office, exhibition space, stores and conservation 
studio and library. It will incorporate the following elements:’ 
 
Replace the final part of the policy with: 
 
‘Development proposals should also incorporate the following elements: 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

P
age 65



ANNEX B 

 the wider support for controlled and authorised access to the City Walls. 

 the delivery of a new sensory garden, the design of which appropriately 
incorporates the Kohima War Memorial to the Second Division taking account 
of healthy and mature trees in the immediate locality’ 

Policy PA4: Own 
Use Properties 

Paragraphs 
7.22-7.75 

Delete ‘3D modelling of proposals is likely to be necessary to develop 
appropriate design solutions’ 
 
Replace C with: ‘The display of part of the Minster’s lapidarium with examples 
of historic stone being able to be viewed from the City Walls’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Paragraph 7.4.2 Paragraph 
7.75 

At the end of paragraph 7.4.2 add: ‘Policy PA4 sets out key land use and design 
principles for this important part of the Minster Precinct. Given its heritage and 
environmental sensitivity, 3D modelling of development proposals may be necessary 
to develop appropriate design solutions’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Community 
Actions 

Paragraphs
7.76-7.79  

Renumber paragraph 4.9.2 to 4.9.3. 
 
Introduce a new paragraph 4.9.2 to read: 
 
‘The Plan includes a series of Community Actions. They are non-land use matters 
which have naturally arisen as the Plan was being prepared. In some cases, their 
implementation will complement the land use policies. The Actions are incorporated 
within the policy key themes. They are distinguished from the land use policies by 
their display in a Community Action box and without the shading associated with the 
policies’. 
 
In the Community Action on page 70 add: ‘Additionally, this will seek to ensure the 
suitable location for cycle parking or amendments to existing facilities to make them 
accessible to all types of cycles’ 
 

 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters - 
General 

Paragraph 
7.80 

Modification of general text (where necessary) to achieve consistency with the 
modified policies 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 

P
age 66



ANNEX B 

reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 1.0.3 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

At the end of paragraph 1.0.3 add: ‘The importance of the Minster and the City of York 
Council working collaboratively to secure funding is captured in a Community Action’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

In the Introduction insert an additional Community Action to read: ‘The Forum and the 
City of York Council will work collaboratively to secure funding for projects in general, 
and as identified in this Plan in particular’. 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

Add an additional bullet point at the end of paragraph 1.0.6 to read: 
 
‘The York Minster Precinct attracts crowds as result of its cultural and historic assets. 
The Minster is one of the City’s leading visitor attractions and draws around 700,000 
visitors to the Precinct annually (pre-pandemic). As such measures for the safety and 
security of users and facilities need to be constructively considered through 
management of access and links to the rest of the city centre, particularly in relation to 
vehicles’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 3.3.2 / 
page 20 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

On page 20 - South of the Minster: Replace the first bullet point with ‘Relationship 
between the strategic cycle route through the square and the Square’s public realm 
use by pedestrians’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 3.3.2 / 
page 23 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

On page 23 – North of the Minster: Replace the third bullet point with: ‘Poor quality 
surfacing and parked cars on the cobbled street east of Dean’s Park and their effect 
on the setting of the Minster and Dean’s Park.’ 
 
Modify the fourth bullet point to read: ‘Poor quality surfacing and parked cars on the 
cobbled street east of Dean’s Park, which is part of the private estate and an 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

P
age 67



ANNEX B 

unadopted section of the road’. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 3.5.3 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

In paragraph 3.5.3 replace the second sentence with: ‘The latter has a negative visual 
impact on the setting of Dean’s Park and the Minster and hinders pedestrian access 
to the park gates.’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 3.7.5 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

At the end of paragraph 3.7.5 add: ‘This approach will help to identify opportunities to 
support community and well-being’. 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: Section 
5.2 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

Insert an additional community action (in Section 5.2) to read: ‘The Minster Precinct 
Forum and the City of York Council will work collaboratively to achieve Eco Gold 
Church status by 2025.’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: Policies 
Map 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

Policies Map – ensure consistency between the Map itself and the Key on the 
Chapter House Yard. 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 7.0.2 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

At the end of paragraph 7.0.2 add: ‘The proposals for the Project areas should be 
considered in conjunction with the other policies in the neighbourhood plan. This will 
ensure that the Plan is read as a whole.’ 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other matters – 
specific: 
paragraph 7.2.2 

Paragraphs 
7.81-7.82 

At the end of 7.2.2 final bullet point add: ‘and ensuring that any proposals can be 
maintained in perpetuity’ 
 

Agree with the 
modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

Other Matters – Paragraphs Recommend that the referendum area is the neighbourhood area and residential Agree with the 

P
age 68



ANNEX B 

Referendum 
Area 

7.83-7.85 properties within the immediate vicinity of the neighbourhood area. It is the area 
where the immediate effects of the development proposed in the Plan could be 
experienced. Appendix A of this report identifies this area by reference to postcodes. 

modifications for the 
reasons set out in 
the Examiners 
Report. 

 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



YORK MINSTER PRECINCT
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
A Sustainable Future 2020 – 2035
Submission Draft
April 2021

ANNEX C
P

age 71



York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

Produced by York Minster Neighbourhood Forum with 
the support of  York Minster and Alan Baxter

Alan Baxter

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 72



Contents

1.0	 INTRODUCTION������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������7

2.0	 POLICY CONTEXT�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������13
2.1	 The National Planning Policy Framework��������������������������������������������������������������������������13
2.2	 York’s Local Plan���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������14

3.0	 THE MINSTER PRECINCT IN CONTEXT���������������������������������������������������������������������������17
3.1	 Introduction�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������17
3.2	 The history of the Minster Precinct���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������18
3.3	 The Minster Precinct today �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������20
3.4	 Land use������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������24
3.5	 Access and movement��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������26
3.6	 The Precinct’s economy������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������28
3.7	 Community and wellbeing������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������28
3.8	 Environmental quality���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������29
3.9	 Historic environment�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������29
3.10	 Summary of challenges�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������32

4.0	 PREPARING THE PLAN���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������37
4.1	 A long term approach����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������37
4.2	 York Minster Neighbourhood Area��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������37
4.3	 Neighbourhood Forum�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������37
4.4	 Consultation and evidence gathering��������������������������������������������������������������������������������39
4.5	 Emerging Draft Plan consultation����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������40
4.6	 Pre-Submission Draft, January 2020������������������������������������������������������������������������������������41
4.7	 Pre-Submission Draft, December 2020, examination and .adoption �����������������������������41
4.8	 Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan�����������������������������������������������������������������������������42
4.9	 The structure of the Plan����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������42

5.0	 VISION AND OBJECTIVES���������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 45
5.1	 Vision������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������45
5.2	 Objectives���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������46
5.3	 Spatial vision����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������48

6.0	 THE POLICIES��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 51
6.1	 Introduction�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������51
6.2	 Section A – General Principles������������������������������������������������������������������������������52
6.3	 Section B – Precinct landscape����������������������������������������������������������������������������60
6.4	 Section C – Historic Environment ����������������������������������������������������������������������62
6.5	 Section D – Wellbeing ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������66
6.6	 Section E – Movement and Place������������������������������������������������������������������������68
6.7	 Section F – Monitoring and Review ������������������������������������������������������������������72

7.0	 PROJECT AREAS���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 75
7.1	 Area 1 – Minster Yard and College Green��������������������������������������������������������75
7.2	 Area 2 – West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square���������������������������������������78
7.3	 Area 3 – Learning & gardens���������������������������������������������������������������������������������80
7.4	 Area 4 – Own Use Properties���������������������������������������������������������������������������������82

Appendix A: Planning framework and evidence base

Appendix B: York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal – 
City of York Council

ANNEX C
P

age 73



ANNEX C
P

age 74



Preface

I have followed the preparation of the York Minster Neighbourhood Plan with 
enormous interest. The Plan has been developed with great care to ensure 
as many people as possible have had an opportunity to shape the emerging 
proposals for the future, which have at their core the sustainable care of York 
Minster over the next 15 years. It is very clear that the plan has been developed 
through solid partnership between the Neighbourhood Forum, York Minster, 
City of York Council and Historic England – this is to be commended.

I wish the Neighbourhood Forum and the Chapter of York all good wishes for 
the successful implementation of their vision:

“In 2035, York Minster Precinct continues to be a welcoming and special 
place loved and used by the local community and visitors from around 
the world. It is acknowledged as a lynchpin in the cultural identity and 
daily life of the City of York and reaches out to engage the community in 
discovering God’s love.”

The Rt Hon the Earl of Halifax K. St J., D.L. 
High Steward of York Minster

ANNEX C
P

age 75



ANNEX C
P

age 76



Neighbourhood Plan: Foreword
The Metropolitical Church of St. Peter in York, or York Minster as it is more 
widely known, is one of England’s most iconic buildings. The Precinct in which 
the Minster stands has borne witness to prayer, pilgrimage and the Christian 
story since the 7th Century. The current Minster is built on the site of the Roman 
Principia and in the environs of its Anglo-Saxon predecessor. This small corner 
of the City has consistently undergone changes to its built environment and in 
each generation has been treasured by those who come to worship, live, work 
or visit each year.

York Minster is both a place of living worship, echoing with the footsteps of 
the countless pilgrims, and an organisation which contributes to the economic 
flourishing of the City. The Neighbourhood Plan has been conceived to enable 
the Chapter of York, the Minster’s governing body, to deliver its responsibilities 
towards the fabric, daily life and future flourishing of the Minster. Those who 
live and work in or around the Precinct share a sense of their responsibility to 
hand on to future generations a treasure of exceptional beauty. The process of 
developing a Neighbourhood Plan has drawn in our neighbours and friends: 
it has been designed to enable key stakeholders in the life of the Minster, for 
example residents and business people within the Precinct, to embrace the 
opportunities that this moment in time holds out before us.

The Minster is a Grade I listed building and land beneath the Precinct is a 
Scheduled Monument. The Precinct extends to approximately six hectares 
and consists of open space and a rich mix of diverse properties, many of them 
Grade II* or Grade II listed. The estate is also a site of national archaeological 
significance. This factor, amongst others, gives York Minster and its Precinct 
a special character to which sensitive and highly skilled attention has been 
given. This proposed Neighbourhood Plan is the fruit of expert, scholarly and 
professional attention.

The Chapter of York benefits from no regular source of funding to care for the 
Minster and Precinct. It is, therefore, reliant upon income streams it can generate 
and the generosity of funding bodies and individuals. The Chapter of York 
seeks to secure a sustainable financial future to ensure the flourishing of York 
Minster and its Precinct. It is with this intention that the Neighbourhood Forum 
offers its Neighbourhood Plan. Proposed areas of change, although modest, 
will need to be carefully managed within local planning policy, to protect 
the distinctive character of the Precinct. Our extensive and well supported 
consultations, through exhibitions, workshops, presentations, surveys and 
countless conversations, leave us in no doubt that the local community wishes to 
see York Minster flourish for future generations. Contributions have been listened 
to; they have made a difference. Our Neighbourhood Plan sets a clear trajectory 
for delivering this aspiration enabling residents and those who work within the 
Precinct to have a positive role in shaping the area in which they live and work.

Vitally, the Neighbourhood Plan ensures that residents and business owners 
within the Precinct will have a more attractive and safer space in which to live and 
work. Once adopted, this Plan will form part of the Development Plan for the City 
of York. It will sit alongside the City of York Council’s Local Plan. Future decisions 
on planning applications will be considered using both the Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan is offered in the knowledge that it 
will need to be updated over the coming years in accordance with the Local Plan 
reviews and as projects are delivered.

We commend to you this Neighbourhood Plan.

Rt Rev Dr Jonathan Frost, 
Dean of York

Mark Calvert, Chair, 
Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum

ANNEX C
P

age 77



ANNEX C
P

age 78



5York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

1  INTRODUCTION

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 79



6York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Section TitleSubmission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 80



7York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

1.0	  
INTRODUCTION
1.0.1	 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan (YMPNP) is a 

community-led planning document. Neighbourhood Plans are part of 
community powers to enable local communities to better shape their 
area introduced by the Government through the 2011 Localism Act.

1.0.2	 A Neighbourhood Plan can be used to decide where new development 
takes place, what use it should have and what it should look like. 
It can also consider other issues such as open space, public realm 
and community facilities. It cannot be used as a tool to prevent 
development and must reflect the strategic policies of the Local 
Plan. Neighbourhood Plans can also provide an opportunity to set 
out strategic policies for an area voicing the aspirations of the local 
community for the future.

1.0.3	 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan is the first time the 
future care and development of a heritage estate has been brought 
forward as a Neighbourhood Plan. Once adopted, the plan will form 
part of the statutory development plan framework for the City of York 
and will carry significant weight in decision making on future planning 
applications. This is of particular importance to the Chapter of York, 
the governing body of York Minster and its Precinct, as it will provide 
clarity on development policies when securing funding for the various 
projects set out within this Neighbourhood Plan.

1.0.4	 The decision to formulate a York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 
Plan stems from a recognition that planning for future change in such 
a complicated and sensitive area of the city requires clarity. It also 
forms a key objective of Chapter’s Strategic Plan 2015-2020, in which 
Chapter acknowledged the need for a Precinct-wide Masterplan. Policy 

SS3 of the draft Local Plan lends its support to developing a plan for 
the future. The Chapter of York has led the process of establishing a 
Neighbourhood Forum, which was formally ratified by City of York 
Council on 14th March 2019. It was seen as a positive opportunity to 
create a genuinely community-led plan for the Precinct with everyone’s 
priority being the care and future sustainability of York Minster.

1.0.5	 The Neighbourhood Plan will provide a long-term policy framework 
and a co-ordinated spatial plan. This will guide Chapter in managing 
its limited resources appropriately to maintain a viable and sustainable 
Precinct and business model, so that it can seize the opportunities on 
offer, take action to meet present and future challenges, and thereby 
ensure that future generations can enjoy the Minster. Importantly, the 
Neighbourhood Plan gives residents and businesses the opportunity to 
create a shared sustainable vision of how they would like the Precinct 
to develop over the next 15 years. This will ensure new development 
or change fits in and contributes to conserving the character of the 
Precinct so valued by those who hold this special place in such high 
regard.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 81



8York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

Figure 1: Location plan

River Ouse
River Ouse

River F
oss

River F
oss

Foss Islands Rd

Foss Islands Rd

Clifton

Clifton

Statio
n Rd

Statio
n Rd

Gill
yg

at
e

Gill
yg

at
e

Monkgate

Monkgate

York StationYork Station

MinsterMinster

Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Area

N

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 82



9York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

1.0.6	 The Neighbourhood Plan responds to a number of challenges which 
affect the daily running of the Minster and the experience of visitors to 
the Precinct:

•	 York Minster is the only cathedral with Museum Accreditation, 
but Chapter has to manage complex environmental issues in the 
undercroft which can be harmful to the collection of artefacts. New 
facilities are needed to protect and display the collection as well as 
to share objects with other museums on a reciprocal basis.

•	 Unlike many other cathedrals York Minster has no welcome centre 
and no dedicated café to offer refreshments to its visitors and 
groups.

•	 The Minster has no dedicated community space which the Canon 
Pastor can use for youth groups, community meetings, etc.

•	 There is a long-established tradition of learning at York Minster. The 
Learning Centre offers a range of workshops to school groups to 
help pupils find out about past and present life at the Minster. The 
Learning Centre needs new facilities to support and build outreach 
learning.

•	 York Minster is one of only nine (out of 42) Anglican Cathedrals 
in the UK to retain its own dedicated body of craftspeople. These 
nine cathedrals have joined together in the Cathedrals Workshop 
Fellowship to create a new generation of craftspeople equipped 
with the specialist skills required to care for the nation’s cathedrals 
and historic buildings in the 21st century. However, the current 
facilities for craftspeople to work and live in the Precinct are 
limited. With the support of the York Minster Fund, there is now 
an opportunity to build upon the renowned reputation of the 
Minster’s Stoneyard and create a national and international centre 
of excellence within the Precinct to ensure York Minster always has 
the craft skills needed to conserve and repair this unique building.

Stone corrosionOld Palace library

Minster entrance

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 83



10York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

1.0.7	 The key areas of change set out in this Neighbourhood Plan are the 
result of over two years work to identify locations where appropriate 
development, predominately through conversion of existing buildings 
but with limited new development, should take place to provide the 
facilities needed to address existing shortcomings and provide the 
assets needed to support the functioning of the Minster in the 21st 
century. They are supported by wider policies related to the Minster’s 
public realm and movement routes, the historic environment and 
landscape.

1.0.8	 The Precinct is not unaccustomed to change; indeed, the area has 
been continuously evolving and changing since the Romans founded 
the city. It is of the utmost importance, however, that any plans for 
the future are focused on the care of York Minster and that the vision 
is carefully articulated to reinforce the message of care, welcome and 
sustainable change. This Neighbourhood Plan will provide a route map 
to support the Neighbourhood Forum and Chapter in sustaining and 
enhancing the cultural significance and environmental value of the 
Precinct and its buildings, and continuing to make a positive impact on 
the community and wider city.

1.0.9	 Securing planning permission and providing certainty to funders 
and future donors is essential. Because of the complicated nature of 
the Precinct, the medieval masterpiece that is York Minster, and the 
attachment people from all over the world have for the Minster, the 
Neighbourhood Plan must offer a credible route map to delivering the 
vision for the next 15 years.

York Minster, view to the south door

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 84



11York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  Introduction

2  POLICY CONTEXT

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 85



12York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

1.0  IntroductionSubmission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 86



13York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

2.0  Policy context

2.1	 The National Planning Policy Framework
2.1.1	 The requirements for Local and Neighbourhood Plans are laid down 

in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, February 2019). 
This states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute 
to the achievement of sustainable development. Furthermore, the 
planning system should take into account local circumstances to 
ensure that economic, social and environmental gains can be delivered 
in a sustainable manner according to the needs and opportunities of 
different areas. The NPPF states:

“Neighbourhood plans should support the delivery of strategic policies 
contained in local plans or spatial development strategies; and should 
shape and direct development that is outside of these strategic policies… 
Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver sustainable 
development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the 
statutory development plan. Neighbourhood plans should not promote 
less development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or 
undermine those strategic policies.”

2.0	  
POLICY CONTEXT

View of York Minster from Museum Street

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 87



14York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

2.0  Policy context

2.2	 York’s Local Plan
2.2.1	 Ensuring compatibility between the YMPNP and the City of York 

Local Plan is complicated by the fact that York does not have an 
adopted Local Plan. At present, the 2005 ‘City of York Draft Local 
Plan Incorporating the 4th Set of Changes’ is used for the purpose of 
development control.

2.2.2	 A new Local Plan for York is currently under development. This was 
submitted to the Secretary of State in May 2018 and is in the process of 
independent examination and consultation on proposed changes.

2.2.3	 The most recent draft version of the new Local Plan is the Local Plan 
Publication Draft, published in February 2018. Although not formally 
adopted, publicly available correspondence between the Planning 
Inspectorate and City of York Council (COYC) states that the Local 
Plan Phase 1 hearings (December 2019) focused on legal compliance, 
including the duty to co-operate and sustainability appraisal, and 
matters in principles relating to York’s housing requirements and green 
belt. Matters pertaining to more detailed policies will be discussed in 
the next phase of hearings. As these policies have limited relevance 
to the Minster Precinct, it is reasonable to use this Draft Local Plan for 
the purposes of ascertaining compatibility with the strategic policies 
contained therein.

2.2.4	 The Neighbourhood Plan Area boundary, the ‘Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area’ is taken from the Precinct Boundary as defined 
by the Policy Map (City Centre Inset) with the addition of Duncombe 
Place as agreed in discussion with COYC.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 88



3  THE MINSTER PRECINCT IN CONTEXT

ANNEX C
P

age 89



ANNEX C
P

age 90



17York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.0	  
THE MINSTER PRECINCT IN CONTEXT

3.1.4	 For such a small area, the Minster Precinct contains a high 
concentration of interesting features and areas of activity:

•	 more than 60 listed buildings, including four at Grade I
•	 Treasurers House, a National Trust visitor property
•	 a large area of open green space (Dean’s Park)
•	 two smaller open green spaces
•	 residential housing
•	 retail units
•	 a former school
•	 a hotel
•	 the Stoneyard
•	 a parish church and
•	 a library/archive

3.1.5	 The Precinct also sits within a Conservation Area and is designated 
below ground as a Scheduled Monument.

3.1.6	 All trees within the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Area are subject to 
conservation area protection.

3.1	 Introduction
3.1.1	 York Minster and its surrounding Precinct form a highly sensitive 

and complicated area of the City of York, whose future care must be 
carefully planned.

3.1.2	 Its focus is the Cathedral and Metropolitical Church of St Peter in York, 
better known as York Minster, the centre of Christian life in the north 
of England. The current Minster is more than 800 years-old; a Gothic 
masterpiece of stone and stained glass, and home to the largest 
collection of medieval glass in the UK. Of international architectural and 
artistic importance, the Minster is a magnet that draws visitors to York, 
a defining symbol of the North, and a place of prayer and pilgrimage 
that welcomes over 700,000 visitors per year.

3.1.3	 The Minster sits within a Precinct of approximately 6 hectares of land, 
bounded by the historic City Walls to the north and west and by city 
streets to the south and east. It is an integral element of the city centre, 
connected with surrounding streets and surrounded by homes and 
businesses. Proposals for the Precinct must therefore take account of a 
much wider context.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 91



18York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.2	 The history of the Minster Precinct
3.2.1	 The Minster Precinct sits atop the remains of Eboracum, the Roman 

legionary fortress and town founded in 71 AD. The site is bounded by 
the City Walls between Bootham Bar and Monk Bar, which follow the 
Roman lines, and Petergate, which was the main street of the fortress. 
The headquarters building or Principia lies under the Minster itself.

3.2.2	 After the collapse of the Roman Empire, York was revived as an 
important town in the Anglian kingdom of Northumbria. The first 
church was built in 627 AD for the baptism of the Anglian king Edwin, 
and later rebuilt in stone. The site of this building is believed to have 
been close to the present Minster, but no trace of it has yet been found. 
However, archaeological discoveries indicate that this area of the city 
was an important part of Anglian and subsequently Viking York.

3.2.3	 After the Norman Conquest, a magnificent new Minster was built on 
the site of the present building, traces of which can be seen below 
ground. This was surrounded by a Precinct, extending from the City 
Walls to Petergate, which was administered by the Minster and subject 
to its own laws. This area, known as the Liberty, was walled off and 
densely built up, and included the Archbishop’s Palace, numerous 
houses and chapels and its own prison. At its heart remained the 
Minster church, which over the course of the 13th, 14th and 15th 
centuries was rebuilt to create the present Gothic masterpiece.

3.2.4	 Shops and other buildings were built against the walls of the cathedral, 
but from the mid-17th century onwards these structures, much of the 
abandoned Archbishop’s Palace and numerous other buildings and 
three of the gates were demolished to create what was considered a 
more appropriate setting for the Minster. This process culminated in 
the 19th century with the laying out of Dean’s Park and the creation 
of a west prospect of the Minster and Duncombe Place, at the head 
of new approach to the cathedral from the railway station via Lendal 

Drawing by James 
Malton in 1794, 
showing the 
newly revealed 
north side of the 
Minster following 
the demolition of 
medieval buildings

Bridge. Deangate, created in 1903, formed part of the main road to 
Scarborough and Hull before being closed in the 1980s.

3.2.5	 To the north and west of the Minster the sense of separateness 
survives behind the railings of Dean’s Park and Minster Court, in the 
enclosure of the City Walls. To the south and east, however, the streets 
and life of the city now encroach closely on the Minster. As part of 
the York Minster Revealed Project, a refurbished public space was 
reclaimed from the highways at the south transept. It serves as both 
as a pedestrian square and as a buffer between the Minster and the 
buildings of Minster Yard/Minster Gates. A strategic south-east to 
north-east cycle route (which forms part of the National Cycle Network 
Route 658) was incorporated into the refurbished public space at the 
South Transept. To the west, however, Duncombe Place remains a 
disjointed space with the potential for greater use and enhancement as 
a key public space in the city centre.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 92



19York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 2: Eboracum, 200AD Figure 3: York, 1500

Figure 4: York, 1850 Figure 5: York, 2019

M
ap

pi
ng

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
B

ri
tis

h 
H

is
to

ri
c 

To
w

n 
A

tl
as

 o
f Y

or
k 

(H
is

to
ri

c 
To

w
ns

 T
ru

st
 a

nd
 Y

or
k 

A
rc

ha
eo

lo
gi

ca
l T

ru
st

)
M

ap
pi

ng
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

B
ri

tis
h 

H
is

to
ri

c 
To

w
n 

A
tl

as
 o

f Y
or

k 
(H

is
to

ri
c 

To
w

ns
 T

ru
st

 a
nd

 Y
or

k 
A

rc
ha

eo
lo

gi
ca

l T
ru

st
)

M
ap

pi
ng

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
B

ri
tis

h 
H

is
to

ri
c 

To
w

n 
A

tl
as

 o
f Y

or
k 

(H
is

to
ri

c 
To

w
ns

 T
ru

st
 a

nd
 Y

or
k 

A
rc

ha
eo

lo
gi

ca
l T

ru
st

)
M

ap
pi

ng
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

B
ri

tis
h 

H
is

to
ri

c 
To

w
n 

A
tl

as
 o

f Y
or

k 
(H

is
to

ri
c 

To
w

ns
 T

ru
st

 
an

d 
Yo

rk
 A

rc
ha

eo
lo

gi
ca

l T
ru

st
) w

ith
 m

od
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 a

ft
er

 P
er

ri
ng

Th
es

e 
dr

aw
in

gs
 in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Surviving gateway into the Precinct Neighbourhood Plan boundary Historic buildings Historic streets

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 93



20York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

South of the Minster
Visitors arriving at the Precinct from Stonegate/Minster Yard 
experience a breath-taking change in character from the tightly packed 
medieval streets to the vast scale of the Minster and the openness of 
the public square which wraps around the Minster’s south door.  This 
high quality, south facing space, redesigned through the York Minster 
Revealed project is a popular space for people to congregate and rest. 
It is surrounded by the former Minster School buildings including the 
former song school and small playing field. 

Issues include:

•	 Relationship between the strategic cycle route through the square 
and its use by pedestrians.

•	 Finding an appropriate new use for the former Minster School 
buildings.

•	 The fragmented nature of the public realm to the south east – a 
legacy of the former trunk road.

•	 Views towards St William’s College, Holy Trinity Church and St 
Michael Le Belfrey.

3.3	 The Minster Precinct today 
3.3.1	 Today, the Precinct welcomes thousands of people a day including 

worshippers, pilgrims and paying visitors to the Minster, visitors to the 
National Trust Treasurer’s House, employees, school children and many 
who simply pass through the Precinct on their way through the city or 
to visit Dean’s Park.

3.3.2	 The Minster Precinct is dominated by the awe-inspiring Minster at its 
core, surrounded by a rich and irregular ‘necklace’ of buildings and 
structures, outdoor spaces, vegetation and movement routes. These 
individual areas of distinctive character are experienced by visitors 
as a series of visually and culturally linked places and spaces creating 
a sense of the Precinct as a whole. The Neighbourhood Plan policies 
recognise the variation in character across the Precinct and the issues 
that need to be addressed in each area :

South side of the Minster

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 94



21York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 6: Existing character areas

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Broad areas of character:

Minster

South of the Minster

West End

North of the Minster

City Walls and gardens

East End

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 95



22York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

East End
College Green has a more intimate scale. It is crossed by College Street 
and dominated by the view to the Minster’s East End. St William’s 
College, Minster staff housing and small businesses frame the northern 
side of the space where the wide pavement is occupied by café seating. 
To the south is a lawn and the access into Deangate and Queen’s Path 
which serve educational uses and the Minster’s Stoneyard.

Issues include:

•	 Opportunity to enhance the quality of the space’s soft and hard 
landscaped areas.

•	 Fragmentation of the space by the road carriageway.

•	 Management of traffic and parking in College Street and Deangate.

West End 
The grand approach to the Minster’s West End lacks coherence as 
a space and is dominated by large trees, street carriageways and 
parked cars. Part of the space is lawn and forms the setting for the 
South African War Memorial. Surrounding uses include hospitality, 
institutional uses, churches and residential.

Issues include:

•	 Management of cycle, vehicle and pedestrian movement routes 
which cross outside the Minster’s west door.

•	 Lack of definition of entering the Precinct.

•	 Opportunity to enhance the quality and coherence of the public 
space and make better use of the lawn area.

•	 Importance of the view to the Minster’s west end and views towards 
Dean’s Park and Minster Yard.

East End: view of St William’s College and College Green from 
Queen’s Path

West End: view of the Minster from Duncombe Place

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 96



23York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

North of the Minster
Dean’s Park is a valued green space comprising lawn, mature trees and 
footpaths. It is open to the public between dawn and dusk and offers 
a sense of tranquillity within a busy part of the city which locals and 
visitors enjoy. It is loosely framed by the Purey Cust private homes, the 
Old Palace library and archives, the Kohima War Memorial, and railings 
and a hedge beyond which lie the Deanery, Minster staff housing and 
the National Trust Treasurer’s House and garden. Beyond the Kohima 
War Memorial is the private Residence Garden. This is a grassed area 
leading up to the City Walls which has recently been used for minibus 
parking and garden storage.

Issues include:

•	 The need to retain the sense of tranquillity in Dean’s Park and 
enhance its quality as a public green space.

•	 Lack of wayfinding towards the Treasurer’s House and Old Palace.

•	 Opportunity to make better use of the Residence Gardens.

•	 Poor quality surfacing and parked cars on the cobbled street east of 
Dean’s Park.

•	 Opportunity to improve access to the Minster’s collections and 
archive; functional shortcomings of the existing extension to the 
Old Palace.

City Walls and Gardens
The City Walls form a solid boundary to the north east and north west 
of the Precinct strongly defining the Precinct edge. Visitors experience 
the Minster and the Precinct from a different perspective on the walls, 
where there are views across the private gardens and outhouses to the 
rear of the Deanery and Minster Yard which are not visible from street 
level. 

Issues include: 

•	 The lack of disabled access along the City Walls and the potential to 
provide access from the Precinct direct onto the City Walls.

•	 The contrast between the vast scale of the Minster and the intimate 
character of leafy, private gardens and domestic buildings lining the 
walls.

•	 Wide ranging views across the Precinct and the city to the north.

View of City Walls from the Residence Gardens

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 97



24York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.4.2	 Public and private green space within the Precinct forming the setting 
for the Minster:

	- Dean’s Park (owned by the Chapter of York and open to the 
public)

	- College Green (owned by the Chapter of York and open to the 
public)

	- Duncombe Place (owned by City of York Council)

	- large parts of the Precinct’s green spaces are currently private 
and Chapter wish to increase public access to some of this space 
through the Neighbourhood Plan.

3.4	 Land use
3.4.1	 Figure 7 illustrates the current distribution of land uses across the 

Precinct which includes:

•	 land uses associated with the operations of the Minster such as 
Minster offices, Old Palace library and archive, Stonemasons’ Yard 
and Deanery

•	 small businesses including retail and cafés

•	 Grays Court Hotel

•	 the National Trust Treasurer’s House 

•	 small areas of residential use including:

	- Minster Yard, from the Deanery up to St William’s College, 
consists of 12 residential properties, owned by the Chapter of 
York and largely occupied by its own staff

	- The Purey Cust, a residential development on the west side of 
Dean’s Park, containing 12 residential properties and

	- a small number of isolated residential properties scattered 
around the Precinct

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 98



25York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 7: Existing land uses

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

The City Walls District 
Green Corridor

Minster

Minster welcome: 
tickets, shop, toilets 
(no café)

Chapter of York staff 
housing

Minster support uses: 
offices, Stoneyard, 
police, storage

Minster owned 
residential and 
commercial buildings

Minster learning: 
library, archive, 
museum, nursery 
school

Vacant - St William’s 
College and surplus 
school estate

Publicly accessible 
green space

Private gardens

Buildings outside 
Minster ownership

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 99



26York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.5	 Access and movement
3.5.1	 Access to the Precinct is via Duncombe Place to the south west and 

Goodramgate to the north east. There is currently no direct pedestrian 
access from the City Walls into the Precinct. The walls form an 
impenetrable boundary on the Precinct’s western and northern sides.

3.5.2	 Vehicular access is via Goodramgate and College Street. There is a 
restricted vehicle access to the west via Duncombe Place and High 
Petergate as part of the Council’s footstreet zone. Minster Yard to the 
south of the Minster is shared space and a busy pedestrian area and 
contains a demarcated cycle route. Deangate provides access to the 
Stoneyard and York Glaziers Trust and has a vehicle turning circle at 
Minster Yard.

3.5.3	 Limited parking for Minster staff is provided within Chapter House Yard 
and on the cobbled lane to the north. The latter has a negative visual 
impact on the setting of Dean’s Park and hinders pedestrian access to 
the park gates.

3.5.4	 Duncombe Place accommodates taxi parking, together with parking 
for businesses, space for a horse-drawn carriage and a turning circle for 
the National Railway Museum train. There are security issues posed by 
such a large gathering space so close to a public highway. In 2017, in 
light of the wider security environment, temporary measures were put 
in place to protect a small part of this gathering space on the basis that 
a permanent solution would be incorporated in the design for a new 
civic square.

3.5.5	 Providing a safe and welcoming environment is a priority of this 
Neighbourhood Plan.

View of York Minster from Museum Street

Public space to the west of the Minster

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 100



27York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 8: Movement and access

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Adopted highways

Pedestrian zone 
footstreet*

Not footstreet

Area closed to motor 
vehicles at all times, but 
cycling is permitted

Access road only

Primary areas of parking

National Railway Museum 
train route

Walking routes

National Cycle Route 658

Shared use cycling track 
on highway closed to 
motor vehicles at all 
times, but on which 
cycling is permitted

Other cycling routes

C Bicycle parking

Bollard

Gates

*Footstreets have restrictions to 
vehicle access between certain 
times of the day https://www.
york.gov.uk/info/20114/york_
city_centre/1434/footstreets

SRU

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 101



28York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.6	 The Precinct’s economy
3.6.1	 York profits greatly from tourism. With major York attractions such as 

the Minster, the National Railway Museum and Jorvik Viking Centre 
it provides a cluster of high quality facilities. York’s wider economy is 
primarily based around services, especially healthcare and education 
with York boasting a large NHS hospital and two universities.

3.6.2	 The Minster Precinct is a vibrant economic area, with activity primarily 
based around tourism and retail. In 2019 the Minster welcomed over 
700,000 visitors in addition to the many thousands of people we 
welcome to services every day. The Minster itself receives no regular 
funding from the government or Church of England and is therefore 
largely responsible for covering its own maintenance and running 
costs.

3.6.3	 The Precinct contains a library jointly run by the Minster and University 
of York and an archive.

3.6.4	 The Minster itself is the largest employer in the Precinct with 158 
full-time equivalent posts in 2021, paying £3.7 million in wages and 
pensions from a total expenditure of £6.5 million.

3.6.5	 The Precinct contains a large number of businesses, primarily shops 
and restaurants/cafés. These are mostly local small businesses, though 
branches of large chains also exist in the Precinct.

3.7	 Community and wellbeing
3.7.1	 Guildhall Ward (which the Minster Precinct sits within) includes the 

relatively affluent city centre, but also the less affluent areas of the 
Groves and Layerthorpe, as well as student housing near York St John 
University. As such, there is significant disparity within the local area 
between affluent and more deprived areas. The Ward as a whole is 
significantly younger than the York average, with below-average 
numbers of children and 35+ year old people, and a larger number of 
15-34 year olds.

3.7.2	 Pockets of deprivation inside Guildhall Ward mean that it exhibits 
higher than the York average levels of income support claimants, 
fuel and child poverty, challenges around access to work, training or 
education and people on Jobseekers Allowance.

3.7.3	 The Precinct, due to its small size and the fact that residential 
accommodation is either of high-end type or connected to 
employment at the Minster, is not representative of the wider ward. 
The population of the area is generally of settled family age i.e. 35+, 
with some children living at home. There is a virtually non-existent level 
of deprivation inside the Precinct itself.

3.7.4	 The Minster Precinct is, therefore, a quite distinct socio-economic space 
compared to the surrounding area.

3.7.5	 In developing the Neighbourhood Plan proposals, consideration has 
also been given to the needs and experiences of the much broader 
community who visit the Minster Precinct including worshippers, 
tourists, local residents and businesses.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 102



29York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.8	 Environmental quality
3.8.1	 While there are no statutorily designated sites of nature conservation 

value, there are several areas, such as the City Wall embankments, 
which have biodiversity value. The Precinct as a whole supports a 
variety of trees and wildlife, including foraging bats, birds, hedgehogs 
and invertebrate life. There is a family of peregrine falcons which nest 
each year on the North West Tower. Dean’s Park houses two beehives. 
The Minster Precinct, while small, includes a number of valued green 
spaces and a substantial number of trees. Because it is in a conservation 
area, these trees are subject to additional control. Consultations have 
revealed the great importance placed on landscape and ecology by 
residents and users of the Precinct.

3.8.2	 The Minster Precinct abuts an Air Quality Management Area along 
Gillygate, a result of poor quality air caused by traffic congestion.

3.8.3	 There are no watercourses in the Precinct, and the Precinct sits within 
Flood Zone 1 meaning the area has a less than 1 in 1,000 annual 
probability of river flooding (<0.1%). To comply with the draft Local 
Plan (2018) applications for future development must be accompanied 
by an assessment of whether the proposed development is likely to be 
affected by flooding and whether it will increase flood risk locally.

3.8.4	 Extreme weather events, as well as changes such as increased rainfall 
linked to anthropogenic climate change, represent one of the biggest 
threats to conservation of the fabric of York Minster over the course of 
the next century.

3.8.5	 The entire Precinct is classified as ‘built up area’.

3.9	 Historic environment
3.9.1	 The Precinct of York Minster is a place of international cultural 

importance. As Figure 9 and Figure 10 show, it contains an 
exceptionally high concentration of heritage assets, which contributes 
towards a historic environment that is unusually complex. Its 
conservation and enhancement is an opportunity addressed by the 
Neighbourhood Plan.

3.9.2	 The outstanding cultural importance of the Precinct is recognised by 
these designations and controls:

•	 The York Minster Cathedral Precinct Scheduled Monument (see 
York Minster Conservation Management Plan for details) applies 
to the ground beneath the Precinct, to conserve its exceptional 
archaeology, the arcade of the former Archbishop’s Palace and 
those parts of the City Walls bounding the Precinct, including 
Bootham Bar. All other structures and buildings, including the 
Minster, are excluded, as well as above ground roads, paths and 
fixtures.

•	 More than 60 listed buildings and structures, including four 
buildings (York Minster, St William’s College, the Old Palace and the 
Treasurer’s House) listed at the highest Grade, Grade I (identified on 
Figure 9).

•	 York Minster itself is subject to Ecclesiastical Exemption. Under the 
Ecclesiastical Exemption (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Order 2010, any building in ecclesiastical use by the Church of 
England is exempted from listed building control, the area defined 
by the so-called ‘red line’. In its place, the Minster is regulated by the 
Care of Cathedrals Measure 2011. Under this legislation, which as 
a Measure passed by the General Synod of the Church of England 
has equivalent status to an Act of Parliament, within a precinct 

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 103



30York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.9.3	 Visually, the historic environment is primarily experienced as a 
dynamic sequence of views. Some of the most important of these are 
identified in Figure 9. This is not an exhaustive list – the selection is 
representative and illustrates the characteristics that are important. 
These characteristics include:

•	 The dominant presence of the Minster in the city.

•	 The presence and form of the City Walls and uninterrupted views 
out from them.

•	 The Roman street grid, for example Petergate.

•	 Post Roman land divisions and street layouts, often important 
evidence of the medieval setting of the Minster and form and land 
use in the Precinct.

•	 The picturesque juxtaposition of the Minster, townscape and 
landscape.

•	 The role of historic roof forms and roofscape in this juxtaposition.

defined by the so-called ‘green line’ heritage control is exercised 
by the Cathedrals Fabric Commission for England (CFCE) and local 
Fabric Advisory Committees (FACs). These bodies, in consultation 
with the Local Planning Authority, Historic England and national 
amenity societies, receive applications for any works which might 
materially affect the architectural, archaeological, artistic or historic 
character of such a building or its setting within the green line. 
They also exercise control over a cathedral’s Inventory and any 
archaeological or human remains in its precinct. Outside the red 
line of Ecclesiastical Exemption (that is, everywhere except the 
Cathedral itself) works in the Precinct are also subject to normal 
listed building control.

•	 Inclusion in the York Central Historic Core Conservation Area, where 
it forms Character Area 9 (The Minster Precinct). The Conservation 
Area Appraisal notes:

	- The contrast between the secluded north side and more open 
south side of the Precinct.

	- The highly pedestrianised nature of the Precinct.

	- The strong case for extending the pedestrianisation of areas to 
the south of the Minster including Duncombe Place.

	- The visual dominance of the Minster and importance of the 
prospects and spot-view around the Precinct.

A link to the Conservation Area Appraisal character assessment for the 
Minster Precinct is included in Appendix B.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 104



31York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 9: Historic environment

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Listed buildings within NP 
boundary

Grade I

Grade II*

Grade II

Listed buildings in the 
setting

Archaeology

Area of Scheduled 
Monument

Area of excavation

Area of geophysical 
survey

Evaluation and 
excavation

Watching briefs, 
observations and 
recording projects

Antiquarian 
investigation/observation

Earlier buildings
(S. F. Perring)

Conservation Area Appraisal

Central Historic Core 
Conservation Area 
boundary

Buildings of Merit

13c Key views

Landmarks

Other notable views

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 105



32York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Exhibitions are primarily held in the undercroft which is unsuitable 
in the long-term given the high humidity levels and associated 
damp.

•	 The Minster has no dedicated community space which the Canon 
Pastor can use for youth groups, community meetings and other 
outreach.

•	 The learning team needs additional fit for purpose teaching space, 
with flexibility to welcome large numbers of visiting school parties 
and provide adult/community education.

•	 Though the Minster’s Stoneyard is internationally renowned, the 
facilities available to the cathedral’s craftspeople are constrained 
and inadequate for the long term task of sustaining the scarce craft 
skills that are vital to the long term repair and conservation of the 
medieval building.

•	 The high cost of housing in York is a major challenge for the 
apprentices that the Minster takes on to provide the long term skills 
needed for its care and management.

•	 The Minster does not sit in a clearly defined Precinct, which presents 
its challenges both in terms of security and presenting a distinct 
sense of place, quite different from the other parts of the city, as it 
did historically.

3.10	 Summary of challenges
3.10.1	 The Precinct has a number of shortcomings which affect the daily 

operations of the Minster and Precinct and which the Neighbourhood 
Plan must address:

•	 It costs over £22,000 a day to care for and operate the Minster. The 
Minster receives no ongoing Government funding or central Church 
of England financial support towards the care of the fabric and relies 
entirely on the generosity of our community, paying visitors and 
funding bodies to sustain its care and operations. Ensuring a viable 
and sustainable business to underpin the care of the Minster lies at 
the heart of how we plan for the future.

•	 In 2019 York Minster welcomed over 700,000 visitors, a new record. 
To maintain these numbers and offer a visitor experience which 
is comparable to competitor attractions, the Minster requires the 
facilities necessary to support the visitor department.

•	 Ticketing for the Minster is currently located inside the West Door. 
This is cramped and insufficient for visitor numbers. Its location 
detracts from the initial experience of the Minster.

•	 Unlike many other cathedrals the Minster has no dedicated café to 
offer refreshments to visitors, both individuals and larger groups. 
This has been a recurring criticism during public consultation.

•	 Toilets for Minster visitors are located within the Minster and also 
used by choristers. For that reason, they must be closed to visitors at 
certain times of the day.

•	 The Minster is the only cathedral with museum accreditation, but it 
has no purpose built, fit for purpose space within which to exhibit 
the collection or share with other museums on a reciprocal basis. 

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 106



33York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

Figure 10: Constraints

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Listed buildings

Grade I

Grade II*

Grade II

Area of Scheduled 
Monument

The City Walls District 
Green Corridor

Earlier buildings
(S. F. Perring)

Important building 
frontage

Entrance

Church tower

Existing high quality 
trees* 
(no survey available for 
Duncombe Place)

Existing wall/columns

Sensitive edge to 
adjacent property rear

Other notable views

Conservation Area Appraisal

13c Key views

*Tree classification is based on 
Tree Risk Assessment, Tree Survey 
2016, Barnes & Associates

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 107



34York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in Context

3.10.2	 One example of the costly but necessary 
and never-ending conservation work 
at the Minster is the restoration of the 
South Quire Aisle. This part of the Minster 
dates from the fourteenth century and 
its construction took around 60 years to 
complete. This side of the Minster bears 
dramatic evidence of six centuries of 
exposure to the elements and pollution 
which includes extensive cracking and 
erosion of the stonework and serious 
damage to the fragile medieval stained 
glass. The current project involves work 
to repair and replace stone and glass 
in 15 window bays, rebuild buttresses 
and replace grotesques. The project is 
estimated to take 14 years and cost £16M. 
Following this, the same level of repair and 
conservation must be carried out on the 
North Quire Aisle.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 108



4  PREPARING THE PLAN

ANNEX C
P

age 109



36York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

3.0  The Minster Precinct in ContextSubmission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 110



37York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

4.1	 A long term approach
4.1.1	 The initial proposal to create a Precinct wide masterplan was laid 

down in the York Minster Strategic Plan (2015 – 2020) prepared 
and published by the Chapter of York. Chapter is responsible for 
maintaining and operating York Minster and is also the owner of a 
large proportion of land (including Dean’s Park) and a large number of 
properties in the Precinct.

4.1.2	 Chapter needed a plan which was both community and stakeholder-
led, but would also provide planning certainty and coordinate future 
change in an incredibly complicated part of York City Centre. It was 
therefore agreed with the City Council that a Neighbourhood Plan 
would be an appropriate route to bring forward a community-led plan 
which would ultimately form part of the Development Plan for the city. 
Once the Neighbourhood Plan becomes a ‘made plan’ it can help to 
provide certainty in an area where there may otherwise be an absence 
of up to date policy.

4.1.3	 Chapter decided, therefore, to work closely with City of York Council 
and the local community to develop a Neighbourhood Plan. This 
required the establishment of a Neighbourhood Forum, a body 
independent to Chapter and made up of those working or living in the 
Minster Precinct.

4.1.4	 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by 
the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum with the express aim of 
promoting or improving the social, economic and environmental well-
being of the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Area. The work has been 

supported by professional expertise from Alan Baxter, Savills, Curtins 
and Boyd-Thorpe Associates. The process has involved a number of key 
steps.

4.2	 York Minster Neighbourhood Area
4.2.1	 The first step in the neighbourhood planning journey was to define the 

extent of the area the plan will cover (“Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 
Area”). An application to City of York Council was made on 23 January 
2018. The Neighbourhood Plan Area was approved by the Councils’ 
Executive on 14th March 2019.

4.2.2	 The majority of the Neighbourhood Plan Area is taken from the draft 
Local Plan policies map, however it was agreed with City of York 
Council that the boundary would be widened slightly to include 
Duncombe Place given the importance of public realm and security 
improvements in this area.

4.2.3	 The designated Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan Area is illustrated 
on Figure 11 overleaf. The policies of the Neighbourhood Plan apply to 
the entirety of the Neighbourhood Plan Area and not beyond.

4.3	 Neighbourhood Forum
4.3.1	 An invitation was extended by post and email to all residences and 

businesses in the Precinct, as well as to all Chapter employees to 
introduce the proposal to establish a Neighbourhood Forum. A briefing 
and Q&A session was held on 24th October 2018, which made it clear 
that there was sufficient interest in establishing a Forum. Accordingly, 
the founding Annual General Meeting was held on 27th November 

4.0	  
PREPARING THE PLAN

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 111



38York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

Figure 11: Boundaries

NYork Minster boundary  
(the ‘red line’ 
– Ecclesiastical 
Exemption applies)

York Minster Precinct 
boundary  
(the ‘green line’ – 
boundary of the 
Precinct as defined 
under the Care of 
Cathedrals Measure)

Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 112



39York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

2018, at which the Forum’s constitution was established, the executive 
members nominated, and a formal decision made to apply to City of York 
Council for Forum/Area designation.

4.3.2	 The Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum is the ‘responsible body’ 
making this Neighbourhood Plan. While the impetus and funding 
for development of the Plan were provided by the Chapter, it is the 
Neighbourhood Forum who have approved and now submit this Plan.

4.3.3	 The designation of the Minster Precinct as a Neighbourhood Area, and of 
the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum as the Neighbourhood Forum 
for that area, were made by the Executive Member of the City of York 
Council for Transport and Planning on 14th March 2019.

4.4	 Consultation and evidence gathering
4.4.1	 An initial ‘Issues and Options’ consultation exhibition was held in May 2018. 

Members of the public were invited to provide comment on the emerging 
vision and Spatial Plan for the future of the Precinct (see Figure 12) and 
how we might address some of the shortcomings of the Precinct. Members 
of the public were also invited to put forward their own ideas for the use of 
the Precinct to help support the care of York Minster. Over 200 responses 
were received.

4.4.2	 Discussions were held with City of York Council staff, including the Chief 
Executive and representatives of the Planning and Highways teams. 
Historic England and York’s Fabric Advisory Committee (whose duty it is 
to advise Chapter on the care, conservation, repair or development of the 
cathedral or Precinct under the Care of Cathedrals Measure 2011) were also 
consulted.

4.4.3	 Key feedback points received during the May 2018 public consultation:

•	 The tranquillity of Dean’s Park is highly valued. Dean’s Park should not 
be the location for major visitor attractions.

•	 A café, toilets and better outdoor spaces would encourage people 
to visit the Precinct more frequently.

•	 Visitors agreed that access to the City Walls from the Precinct was a 
good idea.

•	 Cyclists and pedestrians sharing the public space can be a problem.

Figure 12: Emerging Spatial Plan - Initial Public Consultation May 2018

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 113



40York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

Figure 13: Emerging Spatial Plan - Second Public Consultation May 2019

4.5	 Emerging Draft Plan consultation
4.5.1	 The responses to the ‘Issues and Options’ consultation were used to 

prepare an Emerging Draft Plan for consultation in May 2019 concentrating 
proposed visitor facilities to the south of the Minster. A guiding principle 
of the emerging plan was to make use of existing buildings first, before 
proposing new development. The Minster’s future requirements and the 
availability and characteristics of existing buildings and spaces to meet 
those requirements was assessed to inform the draft plan.  

4.5.2	 315 responses were received either online or via written representation. A 
public exhibition in May 2019 was supported by a number of workshops as 
well as by numerous presentations to key stakeholders in the city.

4.5.3	 Key feedback points received during the May 2019 public consultation:

•	 Support for locating visitor facilities to the south but concerns about 
the impact of a ticket office located in close proximity to the south quire 
aisle of the Minster.

•	 Support for a sensory garden and focus on learning at the Old Palace.

•	 Access to the City Walls through the sensory garden raised concerns 
about the tranquillity of the new garden.

•	 Reordering of Duncombe Place was widely supported.

•	 Importance of Precinct trees noted.

•	 Ongoing concerns about conflict between cyclist and pedestrian 
movements in Minster Yard.

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 114



41York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

4.6	 Pre-Submission Draft, January 2020
4.6.1	 In January 2020 the Pre-Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan was 

placed on public deposit for 6 weeks. A public exhibition was held over 
the weekend of 10th January. 74 responses were received over the course 
of the consultation period. This was a significantly lower number than 
in previous consultations, reflecting the fact the Pre-Submission draft 
was representative of the evolution of the main principles rather than a 
substantial change. Subsequent discussions with key consultees including 
COYC and Historic England (HE) have been ongoing to refine the Plan in 
light of comments received.

4.6.2	 Key feedback points received during the January 2020 public consultation:

•	 High level of support for overall vision of the Plan and the location of 
different land uses.

•	 Suggestion that detailed design parameters would be better dealt with 
in a separate design code or development brief.

•	 Requirement for an overall policies map.

•	 Policies relating to heritage and green infrastructure need further 
refinement.

•	 Concerns that proposals in the Deangate area may not be compatible 
with vehicle servicing requirements and the cycling network.

4.7	 Pre-Submission Draft, December 2020, examination and 	
	 adoption 
4.7.1	 The end of the Pre-Submission Draft consultation was closely followed by 

the Covid-19 pandemic. In March 2020, York Minster was put into lock-
down and the Neighbourhood Plan paused. As a direct impact of the 
catastrophic loss of income caused by the crisis, the decision was taken to 

Figure 14: Emerging Spatial Plan - Third Public Consultation January 2020

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

close The Minster School. As a consequence, a significant area of surplus 
estate was created which needed to be considered by the Neighbourhood 
Plan Process prior to a revised Pre-Submission Draft Plan being prepared. 
Given the material change in content, specific to Area 1 of the plan, a 
further Pre-Submission consultation was required and undertaken from 
December 2020.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 115



42York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

4.0  Preparing the Plan

4.7.2	 Key feedback points received during the December 2020 public 
consultation:

•	 Continued high level of support from stakeholders and the public 
for the overall vision of the plan and location of different land uses.

•	 Support for the reuse of the former Minster School buildings, 
subject to appropriate noise control/licensing based on continued 
dialogue with immediate neighbours.

•	 Concern expressed by local business owner about the potential 
impact of the proposed Minster Refectory on local hospitality 
businesses.

•	 Support for the retention of the cycle route through Minster Yard, 
but concerns that increased pedestrian traffic will increase the 
conflict with this route.

•	 Suggestion that the overall spatial vision for the Precinct could be 
illustrated more clearly in the Plan for ease of understanding.

4.8	 Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan
4.8.1	 This current Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan has been amended 

in light of the comments received at public consultation.  It has been 
formally submitted, as required, to City of York Council for a six-week 
Regulation 16 publicity period, accompanied by a Sustainability 
Appraisal incorporating the requirements of Strategic Environmental 
Assessment, Habitat Regulations Survey and Consultation Statement. 
There will then follow an Independent Examination by the Planning 
Inspectorate.

4.8.2	 Subject to a successful outcome and any amendments required by 
the Inspector, the plan will proceed to a community referendum 
of all residents on the electoral register within the Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Area. If a majority are in favour, the Neighbourhood 
Plan will then be ‘made’ (i.e. adopted) by City of York Council as part of 
the statutory development plan for the city. From that point onwards, 
the plan will become the starting point for decisions on future planning 
applications within the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Area.

4.8.3	 Full information on all of the consultations undertaken is provided in 
the Consultation Statement which accompanies this Submission Draft 
Plan.

4.9	 The structure of the Plan
4.9.1	 The core of the Neighbourhood Plan that follows comprises 3 main 

chapters and a set of appendices:

•	 Chapter 5: Vision and objectives – explains the Neighbourhood 
Forum’s ambitions for the Precinct over the next 15 years.

•	 Chapter 6: The plan policies – sets out the detailed planning 
policies, under five key themes which have been developed to meet 
the plan’s overall aims and objectives. It also covers monitoring, 
review and implementation, recognising that the Neighbourhood 
Plan, once adopted, is a living document which will need to be 
updated in accordance with the Local Plan reviews.

•	 Chapter 7: Project areas – provides further policies relating to the 
four principal project areas.

•	 The appendices provide further information on local and national 
planning guidance which underpin the policies of this plan.

4.9.2	 There is in addition a detailed evidence base (listed in Appendix A 
and available on the COYC Neighbourhood Planning website) which 
contains many of the detailed references and links to other documents 
which have been drawn on in order to produce this plan.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 116



5  VISION AND OBJECTIVES

ANNEX C
P

age 117



ANNEX C
P

age 118



45York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

5.0  Vision and Objectives

5.0	  
VISION AND OBJECTIVES
5.1	 Vision
5.1.1	 The inaugural Annual General Meeting of the Minster Precinct 

Neighbourhood Forum agreed to adopt the following vision as a basis 
for preparing the Neighbourhood Plan:

“In 2035, York Minster Precinct continues to be a welcoming 
and special place loved and used by the local community 
and visitors from around the world. It is acknowledged 
as a lynchpin in the cultural identity and daily life of the 
City of York and reaches out to engage the community in 
discovering God’s love.”

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 119



46York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

5.0  Vision and Objectives

5.2	 Objectives
5.2.1	 The vision informs all Neighbourhood Plan policies. It is 

underpinned by the following objectives which have been set by the 
Neighbourhood Forum and the Chapter of York in consultation with 
City of York Council, York Civic Trust and Historic England:

•	 To better preserve and celebrate the historic environment of York 
Minster and its Precinct.

•	 To create new and improved visitor facilities to improve the 
welcome to York Minster.

•	 To create a defined Minster Precinct which is safe and welcoming to 
all.

•	 To create new public realm of exemplary design quality which 
reflects the special character and history of the Minster Precinct.

•	 To make best use of Chapter’s assets within the Precinct for the 
good of the Minster without causing unacceptable harm to its 
neighbours.

•	 To create a dedicated museum to display the Minster’s collection 
and create opportunities to host temporary exhibitions including 
touring exhibitions of national and international importance.

•	 To create new flexible community space with improved facilities for 
learning and participation.

•	 To ensure financial, social and environmental sustainability sit at the 
heart of how we care for the Minster over the Plan period with the 
target of achieving Eco Gold Church1 status by 2025.

•	 To enhance and manage trees within the Precinct and improve the 
publicly accessible parts of the Precinct to support the wellbeing of 
our community and the people of York.

5.2.2	 The objectives have helped inform and shape the policies set out in 
Sections 6 and 7.

1 A national initiative to promote sustainability both in terms of the built and natural 
environment of a church but also in the lives of its community.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 120



47York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Principal areas of change:

New and improved 
visitor facilities and 
community spaces 
New and improved 
Minster back-of-house 
facilities and staff 
accommodation

New homes

* Visitor attractions and 
local businesses

Public parks

Public realm  
(squares and green 
spaces)

Cycling routes

Primary walking routes

Private gardens

Figure 15: Spatial Vision

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 121



48York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

5.0  Vision and Objectives

•	 The important work of the Minster’s crafts people will be supported 
by the provision of apprentice accommodation, workshop space 
and storage in the Deanery garages and adjacent private garden.

•	 New residential development will be created at Church House on 
Ogleforth, with Minster back of houses uses focused in St William’s 
College and Chapter House Yard.

5.3.4	 Across the Neighbourhood Area, the individual project areas will be 
connected by a high quality public realm incorporating trees and 
wayfinding features to encourage visitors to experience the different 
character areas of the Precinct.  The Minster will work in partnership 
with COYC to prioritise space in the Precinct for pedestrians and 
cyclists, reduce potential conflict between these modes and reduce the 
impact of vehicles.

5.3.5	 General policies applicable to the Neighbourhood Area are contained 
in the next chapter. Detailed policies relating to the principal project 
areas are contained in Chapter 7.0.

5.3	 Spatial vision
5.3.1	 Figure 15 summarises how the Neighbourhood Area will evolve 

in response to the vision and objectives to strengthen the overall 
character and quality of the Precinct.

5.3.2	 The distinction between the busy south and quieter north sides of the 
Minster will be retained. To the south:

•	 New visitor welcome facilities and a new public park will be created 
close to the South Door making use of some of the former Minster 
School buildings and its playing field. The South Door is to become 
the main visitor entrance to the Minster. Services and ceremonial 
events will access via the West Door. 

•	 College Green will be enhanced to provide a high quality setting for 
the Minster, the restored St William’s College and local businesses.

•	 Duncombe Place will be redesigned as a cohesive, civic square for 
the city named ‘Queen Elizabeth Square’.

5.3.3	 To the north of the Minster:

•	 Dean’s Park will be retained and enhanced as a tranquil green 
space, with public access expanded into a new sensory garden 
adjacent to the City Walls.

•	 Improved facilities for learning, archives and the conservation of the 
Minster’s collections will be created at the Old Palace.

•	 Controlled access to the City Walls will be created in partnership 
with COYC.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 122



49York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

6  THE POLICIES

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 123



50York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The PoliciesSubmission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 124



51York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

6.0	  
THE POLICIES
6.1	 Introduction
6.1.1	 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan policies support the 

vision and objectives (Chapter 5). The policies have all been informed 
by extensive public and stakeholder consultation since 2018.

6.1.2	 The context for each policy section is provided by reference to relevant 
objective(s) and an introduction. The individual policy wording is 
followed by a justification for the policy.

6.1.3	 Evidence for each policy section is contained in separate background 
documents, both national and local planning policy, and the 
Neighbourhood Plan evidence base including:

	- National Planning Policy Framework
	- The submission draft Local Plan (2018)
	- 2015 Strategic Plan
	- Statement of Consultation
	- York Minster Conservation Management Plan 2021
	- Neighbourhood Plan Heritage Impact Assessment
	- Neighbourhood Plan Sustainability Appraisal

6.1.4	 The policy sections of this chapter are as follows:

A: General Principles

B: Sustainable Environment

C: Historic Environment

D: Wellbeing

E: Movement and Place

F: Monitoring & Review

Chapter 7 contains policies relating to the principal project areas.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 125



52York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

6.2	 Section A – General Principles
6.2.1	 In considering the pattern of future development within the Precinct, 

the Neighbourhood Plan supports a sustainable form of land-use. This 
addresses social, economic and environmental sustainability in line 
with the overarching objectives for sustainable development set out by 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

6.2.2	 The Chapter of York wishes to enhance the social and economic 
sustainability of the Precinct to improve the quality of life for existing 
and future residents, and achieve a pattern of development which 
improves the use of its existing assets. It is important to ensure that the 
vitality and viability of the Minster Precinct community are maintained 
and where possible, enhanced, within the overall context of conserving 
the natural environment and unique cultural heritage of the Precinct. 
Importantly, a principal reason for creating this Plan is to ensure the 
future vitality of the Minster’s Visitor Experience operation, ensuring 
that ongoing and urgent conservation projects are funded during 
the plan period. Investment in the Minster and the quality of the 
Precinct environment also supports the economic wellbeing of the 
Neighbourhood Area’s business community.

6.2.3	 In March 2019 City of York Council declared a ‘Climate Emergency’ 
and a target for carbon neutrality by 2030. The Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Forum is fully supportive of this environmental 
sustainability target and the Neighbourhood Plan supports this 
through its policies. York Minster, as the most iconic building in the 
city, has an important role to play in changing attitudes towards 
how we care for the environment and minimise our footprint on the 
planet. Chapter’s target is to become an Eco Gold Church by 2025 
and, supported by the policies in the Plan, it wants to be a key player 
in the city in promoting sustainability and an agenda of caring for the 
environment.

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DP2: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities 
Policy SS1: Delivering Sustainable Growth for York 
Policy SS3: York City Centre 
Policy SS4: York Central 
Policy EC4: Tourism 
Policy H10: Affordable Housing 
Policy HW2: New Community Facilities 
Policy ED6: Preschool, Primary and Secondary Education 
Policy D1: Placemaking 
Policy D11: Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings 
Policy D12: Shop fronts 
Policy CC1: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage 
Policy CC2: Sustainable Design and Construction of New Development 
Policy T1: Sustainable Access 
Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements 
Policy T8: Demand Management

Relevant Neighbourhood Plan Objectives:
•	 To ensure that financial, social and environmental sustainability, sit at 

the heart of how we care for the Minster over the Plan period with the 
target of achieving Eco Gold Church status by 2025.

•	 To make best use of Chapter’s assets within the Precinct for the good of 
the Minster without causing unacceptable harm to its neighbours.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 126



53York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy A1 – Purpose and ambition
The overriding purpose and ambition of this Neighbourhood Plan, with 
which all policies and proposals are to accord, is for York Minster and its 
Precinct to fulfil its ordained purpose as a Metropolitical Cathedral, a centre 
of worship and mission, and to maintain and enhance its role as a cultural 
lynchpin in the City of York and a home to many residents and businesses, 
in accordance with the vision and objectives identified in Chapter 5.0.

There are two primary requirements for the Neighbourhood Plan:

1.	 Stewardship for the benefit of all: 
The Minster exists to serve, in partnership with neighbours 
and partners, all the peoples of the City of York, the Northern 
Province and visitors from around the world, embracing 
equality and diversity. The ambition is to sustain and grow the 
number of people who benefit from and enjoy the cultural 
and spiritual assets of the Minster, its Precinct and the wider 
Neighbourhood Area and to engage, in new ways, with those 
who are under-represented, excluded or disadvantaged. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is therefore founded on a principle of public 
benefit and ambitious standards of excellence in all parts of the 
Neighbourhood Area and for all of the identified Neighbourhood 
Plan outcomes.

2.	 Sustaining vitality and viability: 
In order for the Neighbourhood Area and its assets to continue 
to deliver public benefits for the City of York and the wider 
public for generations to come, the Neighbourhood Plan is 
designed around the need for long term, sustainable stewardship 
of the Neighbourhood Area and its assets – economically, 
socially and environmentally. Policies are designed to serve 
the values, character, biodiversity and heritage significance of 

the Neighbourhood Area in accordance with the concepts of 
‘sustainable heritage’ and managed change.

In general, proposals will be supported within the Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area where they:

1.	 Accord with the vision, objectives and policies of the 
Neighbourhood Plan and policies map.

2.	 Comply with other material Development Plan Policies.

3.	 Accord with the requirements for sustainable development set 
out in policy A2.

4.	 Comply with highway legislation and regulations, and other 
relevant legislation (e.g. legislation relating to services and 
utilities).

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 127



54York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy A2 – Sustainable Development
A presumption in favour of sustainable development will be exercised 
across the Neighbourhood Area in line with the overarching objectives of 
the NPPF and the Minster Precinct vision and objectives, namely:

Economic objective - the Minster needs to be financially sustainable to pay 
for the running and restoration of the Minster and its Precinct. The quality 
of the Precinct environment and its visitor welcome supports the economic 
wellbeing of other businesses within the Neighbourhood Area.

Social objective – to offer community access and a safe and welcoming 
Precinct with accessible public green space which contributes to the social 
health and cultural wellbeing off the city.

Environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing the 
natural and historic environment and character of the Neighbourhood Area. 
To contribute to improving biodiversity, minimising waste and pollution 
and reducing the carbon footprint over the Plan period.

New development within the Neighbourhood Area will be supported 
which:

•	 Conserves and enhances the internationally acclaimed historic 
environment and cultural heritage of York Minster, its Precinct and 
the Neighbourhood Area.

•	 Conserves and enhances the landscape character and green 
infrastructure of the Neighbourhood Area and supports an increase 
in biodiversity.

•	 Contributes to local distinctiveness through ambitious standards of 
design excellence and locally appropriate design of buildings and 
outdoor environments.

•	 Meets and, where it is possible to do so, exceeds current 
Government standards in relation to energy and water efficiency 
and carbon reduction, incorporating technologies such as PV 
cells whilst respecting the significance of heritage assets and their 
settings.

•	 Contributes positively to the health and wellbeing of our 
community and wider city by sustaining a safe and welcoming 
Neighbourhood Area.

•	 Sustains and enhances the Precinct and Minster visitor experience 
recognising that income from visitors is required to fund the 
important and ongoing conservation work to the Minster and 
Precinct which in turn supports footfall to other businesses within 
the Neighbourhood Area.

•	 Prioritises sustainable forms of travel, in particular walking and 
cycling, to and through the Neighbourhood Area and complies 
with the City’s wider footstreets policy.

•	 Create a cohesive series of public spaces that help to define the 
character and distinctive sense of place of the Precinct and that 
connect with the wider public realm of the city centre.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 128



55York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy A3 – Policies Map
The policies map sets out the proposed general distribution of land uses 
across the Precinct and is a co-ordinated spatial plan to deliver the vision 
and objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan during the plan period.

Principal project areas
There are four principal project areas where built development, land use 
change and improvements to green infrastructure and public realm are 
focused. The Chapter of York will work closely with the Neighbourhood 
Forum, City of York Council, Historic England, York Civic Trust and other key 
stakeholders to implement development and enhancement in line with the 
policies map to deliver:

Area 1: Minster Yard and College Green (PA1). Development of 
comprehensive visitor experience facilities including ticket office, refectory 
and the main entrance to York Minster, and reuse of former Minster School 
buildings for a range of uses. This area will provide a welcoming entrance 
for York Minster’s many visitors in the same location as the original Roman 
Principia.

Area 2: West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square (PA2). Creation of a new 
civic and ceremonial space for the city, the first square to be created in over 
200 years. The new square will create improved public realm in a safe and 
usable space which incorporates green infrastructure.

Area 3: Learning and Gardens (PA3). Redevelopment of the Old Palace 
as a centre of excellence for education and learning and as York Minster’s 
new dedicated museum space. The adjacent area of private green space 
will be opened for public access to create a formal sensory garden for the 
wellbeing of the local community and wider city.

Area 4: Own Use Properties (PA4). Investment and moderate 
redevelopment of facilities to the rear of York Minster will provide the 

much-needed facilities to run York Minster. This will include affordable 
housing for our own community and additional facilities to support the 
functioning of the Stoneyard. Investment in Church House and St William’s 
College which are being brought forward in parallel to this Plan.

Detailed design parameters for principal project areas (PA1-4) and public 
realm are to be established in development briefs and / or planning 
applications. These are to be prepared in collaboration with and agreed 
with City of York Council and Historic England and will be informed by 
public consultation.

Precinct-wide approach
Outside the four principal project areas (PA1-4), the general policies of 
the Neighbourhood Plan (Policies A – F) apply and support the delivery 
of enhancements to the Precinct’s public realm, green infrastructure and 
buildings to create a world class series of places and spaces. Proposed land 
use changes must be in keeping with Policy A2.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 129



56York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Figure 16: Policies Map Hatched areas do not indicate proposed building footprints 

NMinster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Area

Project Area policy boundary

The City Walls District Green 
Corridor

Existing
Minster

Minster welcome: tickets, shop, 
toilets (no refectory)

Chapter of York staff housing

Minster support uses: offices, 
Stoneyard, police, storage
Minster owned residential and 
commercial buildings
Minster learning: library, 
archive, museum, nursery 
school

Publicly accessible green space

Private gardens

Buildings outside Minster 
ownership
Cycling routes (refer to Figure 
8 for walking routes)

Proposed
Minster welcome: tickets, shop, 
refectory, toilets
Chapter of York staff housing, 
storage
Minster support uses: 
Stoneyard, storage
Minster owned residential and 
commercial buildings
Extension to Minster learning 
uses – learning and collection 
space
New public green space 
(Sensory Gardens)
New public green space /
square

Private gardens

Enhanced access to City Walls

Enhancements to City Wall 
ramparts
Public realm improvements 
(hard and soft landscape)

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 130



57York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy A4 – Design Excellence
All development coming forward will, where relevant, be required to 
demonstrate design excellence and is to be inspired by and contribute to 
the distinctive and historic nature of the Precinct, to be resilient to climate 
change and extreme weather events, and to reduce carbon emissions.

Planning applications will be supported where development meets the 
following essential criteria:

Complies with Policy SS3 (York City Centre) of the draft Local Plan;

Complies with the Policies PA1-4 within this Neighbourhood Plan and 
subsequent development briefs (where relevant);

•	 Reinforces the importance of the distinctive character of the 
Neighbourhood Area, as identified in the Heritage Impact 
Assessment and Conservation Management Plan, by having regard 
to scale, height, density, layout, appearance and materials.

•	 Delivers distinctive and innovative design which achieves the 
highest practicable energy efficiency, uses low-embodied carbon 
building materials and minimises water demand, where financially 
viable to do so. Where proposals relate to designated heritage 
assets, care will need to be taken to ensure that any proposals 
related to environmental performance are considered against the 
significance of the heritage asset and do not cause unacceptable 
harm to the asset’s significance.

•	 Minimises the need for new built development by making 
use of vacant or underused buildings in the Precinct first, and 
where necessary, demonstrating that there is a need for new 
development.

•	 Delivers flexible and adaptable buildings to prolong the useful life 
of the development.

•	 Creates a safe, accessible environment for visitors, residents of 
York and our local community taking into consideration improved 
security around the Precinct.

•	 Improves the public realm around the Minster and conserves, 
enhances or creates new green infrastructure where relevant.

•	 Includes suitable accessible space for waste management facilities 
of a scale and type appropriate to the proposal and location.

•	 allows for, or incorporates as necessary, appropriate security 
measures including measures to address hostile vehicle 
movements, as advised by Government, taking into account the 
City of York Council’s city centre strategy.

Justification
6.2.4	 Development that meets the needs of the present without 

compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs is central to the economic, environmental and social success of 
the country and is the core principle underpinning national planning 
policy. Simply stated, the principle recognises the importance of 
ensuring that all people should be able to satisfy their basic needs and 
enjoy a better quality of life, both now and in the future.

6.2.5	 Within the context of York Minster, sustainable development goes 
wider. One of the overarching aims of this Neighbourhood Plan is to 
ensure that the care of York Minster is planned for carefully, to ensure 
it has the right facilities to underpin the operational side of caring for a 
medieval building. The essential income to fund the maintenance and 
restoration of the Minster and its Precinct must be sustained for the 
benefit of the City of York and our many visitors.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 131



58York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

6.2.6	 Over the next 15 years the Chapter of York is due to complete works 
to the value of £30 million to conserve York Minster. All funds that 
Chapter raises through admission charges and income from the 
Precinct are invested back into running the Minster and supporting the 
ongoing restoration and conservation projects that keep the Minster, 
its collection and Precinct the special place it has always been.

6.2.7	 York Minster has set a target of securing Eco Gold Church Status by 
2025 in recognition of the significant changes required to reduce its 
carbon footprint and ensure the Minster and Precinct are as sustainable 
as possible. York Minster will lead by example to ensure everyone 
who lives and works within the Precinct plays their part in helping to 
address the Climate Emergency declared by City of York Council in 
2019. Climate change poses a substantial long-term threat to the fabric 
of the Minster and the Precinct, and the benefits of implementing 
climate adaptation measures will be balanced carefully against the 
significance of the historic environment in the Precinct in managing 
any necessary change.

6.2.8	 We want the planned care of York Minster and its Precinct to be an 
inspirational example of planning for the care of an important heritage 
estate. We want to develop a proactive approach to enhance the 
existing cultural heritage of the Precinct and to maximise the many 
benefits of investment for both York Minster and our community, and 
for the wider benefit of the city and our environment. By managing 
Chapter’s resources wisely and ensuring we have the necessary 
facilities to support the visitor experience we will ensure that the 
Minster and its Precinct is handed over in a better condition for future 
generations to enjoy.

6.2.9	 The Minster is one of the City’s leading visitor attractions and draws 
around 700,000 visitors to the Precinct annually (pre-pandemic). 
Visitor footfall to the Precinct supports many small businesses and 

View of the Old Palace from Dean’s Park

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 132



59York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

hospitality venues. By investing in the care and conservation of the 
Minster, improving its visitor welcome and enhancing the quality of the 
public realm of the Precinct, there are wider economic benefits to local 
businesses as a result of increased visitor footfall and dwell times.

6.2.10	 To that end, the policies map for the Precinct has been developed as 
an overarching framework which sets out the key zones of activity and 
areas of change. The plan responds to the challenges and objectives 
for the Precinct, and seeks to make best use of the available land and 
property, and to minimise the impact of necessary built development.

6.2.11	 By refocusing visitor facilities to the south of the Minster, making use 
of the south facing public square, the tranquillity of Dean’s Park is 
preserved and extended into a new sensory garden. The Old Palace 
retains its association with learning and education through the 
provision of new facilities, while the west end of the Minster becomes 
the focus for civic and ceremonial activities.

6.2.12	 There is a pressing need to deliver the greatly enhanced visitor 
and supporting facilities at York Minster outlined in this Plan and 
to improve the security of the Precinct. The Chapter of York and 
Neighbourhood Forum will work closely with key stakeholders to 
enable the effective and timely delivery of the Plan.

6.2.13	 Wherever possible, vacant buildings within the Precinct are to be given 
new uses to limit the requirement for new built development and to 
prolong their useful life. Where development is shown to be necessary, 
new developments must respect the special character of the Precinct 
and detailed design must be consulted on widely to ensure that those 
who live and work within the immediate area have an opportunity to 
influence change in accordance with the Policies for development set 
out in this Neighbourhood Plan.

6.2.14	 As well as the consideration of the above design and construction 
issues, the Sustainability Statement in support of the application 
should also address how the proposals meet all other policies relating 
to sustainability throughout the plan, including:

•	 biodiversity and ecology
•	 land, water, noise and air pollution
•	 transport, mobility and access
•	 health and well-being, including provision of open space (where 

appropriate)
•	 culture, heritage and the quality of built form, including efficient use 

of land.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 133



60York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DP2: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities 
Policy SS1: Delivering Sustainable Growth for York 
Policy SS3: York City Centre 
Policy D2: Landscape and Setting 
Policy GI1: Green Infrastructure 
Policy GI2: Biodiversity and Access to Nature 
Policy GI3: Green Infrastructure Network 
Policy GI4: Trees and Hedgerows 
Policy GI5: Protection of Open Space and Playing Fields 
Policy GI6: New Open Space Provision 
Policy CC1: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage  
Policy T1: Sustainable Access 
Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements  
Policy T8: Demand Management

Policy B1 – Landscape and Biodiversity Net Gain
Development proposals should seek, where appropriate, to protect and 
enhance existing areas of biodiversity in the Precinct, including any green 
corridors.

Development proposals should result in biodiversity net gain in line 
with current Government policy, as a minimum, as measured by DEFRA’s 
biodiversity metric. The use of green roofs will be supported where 
appropriate.

Where development proposals affect existing trees:
•	 Any harm should be clearly justified in terms of public gain against 

6.3	 Section B – Precinct landscape
6.3.1	 The Precinct’s outdoor environment contains important green 

infrastructure and public spaces which are a fundamental part of its 
character and heritage, creating a setting for built heritage assets, 
providing spaces for relaxation and recreation for the City’s residents 
and visitors and supporting biodiversity. Important green spaces 
include Dean’s Park, the City Walls ramparts green corridor and private 
gardens across the Precinct. The Plan supports the enhancement and 
expansion of public green spaces to support environmental and social 
sustainability objectives, and increase understanding of the Precinct’s 
environmental heritage.

6.3.2	 Trees are an important component of the Precinct’s green 
infrastructure and public spaces. Over the past three years the Minster 
has undertaken various environmental management works to the 
Precinct’s trees. These include an annual inspection of tree condition, 
the necessary felling or remedial works to unsafe trees and the planting 
of new trees. Tree planting has resulted in a net increase in tree cover 
across the Precinct. On the advice of the Royal Horticultural Society, the 
Minster has adopted the approach of planting slow growing species 
including Limes, Cherries and Crab Apples. These works will continue 
throughout the plan period.

Relevant Neighbourhood Plan Objectives:
•	 To ensure that financial, social and environmental sustainability sit at 

the heart of how we care for the Minster over the Plan period, with the 
target of achieving Eco Gold Church status by 2025.

•	 To enhance the stock of trees within the Precinct and improve the 
publicly accessible parts of the Precinct to support the wellbeing of our 
community and the people of York.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 134



61York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

the value of these trees, recognising that trees have differing 
arboricultural, aesthetic, biodiversity and amenity values.

•	 Measures should be included which mitigate any such harm, 
including tree planting. Where tree planting is used to mitigate 
unavoidable and justifiable harm, due regard will be had for the 
site-specific value of any tree, the most appropriate location for 
tree planting to enhance the character of the Precinct including 
consideration of views, the genetic diversity of the Precinct’s tree 
population, and the need to adapt to climate change.

Development proposals affecting trees should be supported by:
•	 A tree survey in accordance with BS 5837.

•	 Drawings, as appropriate, showing the position of trees and other 
landscape features, existing and finished site levels, services and 
sight lines.

•	 An arboricultural method statement and impact assessment.

In relation to green spaces and the public realm:
•	 Development proposals will be supported which protect and 

enhance existing green spaces in the Minster Precinct, including i) 
Dean’s Park, ii) College Green and iii) the Residence Garden.

•	 Development proposals will be supported which increase public 
accessibility to green spaces.

•	 Development proposals will be supported which encourage 
greater understanding and appreciation of the Precinct’s 
environmental and landscape heritage and the need for 
environmental stewardship.

Justification
6.3.3	 Biodiversity is a term that has been used since the Convention on 

Biological Diversity was signed by 159 governments, including the UK 
Government, at the first Earth Summit in 1992. It refers to the variety 
of life on earth. This life includes all plants and animals as well as the 
habitats, soils and rocks in which they occur. Wildlife and development 
are often assumed to be in conflict. This does not have to be the case, 
and Policy B1 of the Neighbourhood Plan aims to encourage design for 
biodiversity gain alongside new development. This can be both within 
the building design and the adjoining open spaces.

Dean’s Park

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 135



62York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Historic setting

6.4	 Section C – Historic Environment 
6.4.1	 The Minster Precinct is a key repository of York’s cultural heritage, 

containing buildings, landscapes and archaeology of international 
importance and non-designated assets making up the historic 
environment. A popular saying is that ‘the history of York is the history 
of England’, and the Precinct, with its 2,000 year history, epitomises this. 
The importance – or ‘significance’2 - of the site is a combination of the 
buildings, the buried archaeology and its exceptional history as a place 
of governance, faith and learning for two millennia. This significance is 
highly complex. It is analysed in detail in the evidence base of the Plan 
(Heritage Impact Assessment, York Minster Conservation Management 
Plan).

6.4.2	 The Precinct has profound value to many communities for its close 
association with the culture of the Christian faith, expressed in music, 
liturgy and ceremony, and as a towering symbol York and Yorkshire. 
Therefore, though the significance of York Minster and its Precinct 
may seem obvious, it means different things to different people. An 
archaeologist may focus on the evidence it provides about Anglian 
Britain, whereas someone attending Evensong will expect to find 
spiritual meaning in its architecture and worship, and residents and 
visitors might seek tranquillity and reflection in Dean’s Park, away from 
the hurly-burly of the city. There are many thousands of people who visit 
the Precinct or pass through it on a daily basis and take something from 
the character of this special part of the city.

6.4.3	 The primary focus for this Plan is the sustainable management of the 
internationally significant cathedral church and the buildings and 
spaces that form its setting. In 2019 it cost £22,000 per day to operate 
York Minster and fund its care and maintenance. Improved facilities 
for visitors and a new museum and learning centre will provide an 
enhanced and more robust income flow to support the conservation 

2 Page 73, Annexe 2 Glossary of the National Planning Policy Framework

and operation of the cathedral. These facilities will also allow the 
Minster to extend its welcome to more people, better explain the 
history and stories of the cathedral and the Precinct, and reach larger 
and more diverse audiences. In developing these new facilities, the 
Neighbourhood Plan has carefully assessed the potential to reuse 
the Precinct’s existing buildings and spaces in a sustainable and 
appropriate manner first, to minimise the need for new development.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 136



63York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DP2: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities 
Policy SS1: Delivering Sustainable Growth for York 
Policy SS3: York City Centre 
Policy SS4: York Central 
Policy D1: Placemaking 
Policy D4: Conservation Areas 
Policy D5: Listed Buildings 
Policy D6: Archaeology 
Policy D7: The Significance of Non – Designated Heritage Assets 
Policy D8: Historic Parks and Gardens 
Policy D9: City of York Historic Environment Record 
Policy D10: York City Walls and St Marys Abbey Walls (York Walls) 
Policy D11: Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings 
Policy CC1: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage 
Policy CC2: Sustainable Design and Construction of New Development 
Policy T1: Sustainable Access 
Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements 
Policy T8: Demand Management

Policy C1 – Historic Environment 
Development proposals should protect, conserve and seek opportunities to 
enhance the internationally important historic environment of the Minster 
Precinct.

In instances where a development proposal would affect the significance 
of heritage assets (designated or not), including any contribution made by 
setting, the applicant will be required to prepare a Statement of Heritage 
Significance incorporating a heritage impact assessment prepared in 
line with best practice, in a manner proportionate to the significance 
of the assets affected and the degree of potential change, and having 
consideration for the complexity, interrelationships and nuances of the 
Precinct’s historic environment. The Statement should:

A.	 Describe and assess the significance of the assets, including 
their setting, to determine their architectural, historical, 
landscape or archaeological interest.

B.	 Identify any impact caused by the proposed works on the 
significance of assets.

C.	 Provide clear justification for the works with reference to 
legislation, NPPF and local policy, especially if the works would 
harm the significance of assets and their setting, so that the 
harm can be weighed against public benefits.

D.	 Show due regard, as appropriate, for the York Minster 
Conservation Management Plan, which will be subject to 
Quinquennial updates, and the York Central Historic Core 
Conservation Area Appraisal.

Relevant Neighbourhood Plan Objectives:
•	 To better preserve and celebrate the historic environment of York 

Minster and its Precinct.

•	 To make the best use of Chapter’s assets within the Precinct for 
the good of the Minster without causing unacceptable harm to its 
neighbours.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 137



64York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Change of use of heritage assets will be supported where:

•	 The proposed use is compatible with the significance and setting 
of heritage assets.

•	 Such a change of use will support economic viability, maintenance 
or enhancement of heritage assets, consistent with their 
conservation.

•	 Elements that are fundamental to the significance of heritage 
assets are not lost or altered to facilitate the change of use.

Environmental changes and extreme weather events brought about by 
climate change constitute a substantial threat to the conservation of the 
historic fabric of the Minster and other heritage assets in the medium and 
long term. Because of the threat climate change poses to the environmental 
and economic well-being of York, the City of York Council has declared a 
Climate Emergency. The Minster is also committed to achieving Eco Gold 
Church status by 2025.

In pursuit of these commitments, the public and heritage benefits of works 
in the historic environment to reduce carbon footprint and mitigate climate 
change effects are considerable and should be balanced carefully against 
any possible harm to significance by following best practice and adopting a 
holistic approach to the climate adaptation of historic buildings and places.

Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage in pre-application 
discussions with City of York Council and Historic England on any 
development in the Precinct that would require Planning Permission, Listed 
Building Consent or Scheduled Monument Consent.

Development proposals will be supported where they:

•	 Respond positively to, protect and reinforce the significance and 
distinctiveness of heritage assets and the internationally important 
historic environment of the Precinct and City of York.

•	 Conserve the significance of designated heritage assets (including 
their setting) by protecting and enhancing architectural and 
historic character, historical associations, archaeological deposits, 
landscape interest through consideration of siting, scale, mass, 
form, layout, design, materials, use, and views both from and 
towards the asset.

•	 Promote opportunities to better reveal significance of heritage 
assets, where possible.

•	 Take into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing non-
designated heritage assets and their setting.

•	 Avoid harm to significance (substantial or less than substantial), 
and where harm cannot be avoided, reduce harm to the minimum 
necessary, and finally mitigate or compensate any residual harm.

Development proposals that will result in less than substantial harm to, or 
loss of, the significance of designated heritage assets will not be supported 
without clear and convincing justification. Any proposals that would cause 
substantial harm to or loss of:

•	 Grade II listed buildings will only be supported in exceptional 
circumstance.

•	 Scheduled monuments and grade I and II* listed buildings, will only 
be granted consent in wholly exceptional circumstances.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 138



65York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy C2 – Listed Building Consent
Consent to alter or extend a listed building will be granted where City 
of York Council, with advice from Historic England, is satisfied that the 
proposal is in accordance with the requirements of the relevant legislation, 
the NPPF, local policy with regard to the conservation of the significance of 
the affected listed building, its setting and that of the Precinct.

Development proposals that affect the setting of a listed building will be 
supported if they preserve or better reveal the significance of the Listed 
Building.

The York Civic Trust should be consulted on applications.

All works requiring listed building consent should be accompanied by 
appropriate historic building recording, agreed with City of York Council. 
For applications affecting Minster properties, the Cathedral Archaeologist 
should be consulted.

Policy C3 – Archaeology & Scheduled Monument Consent
Any development proposals and associated planning applications that 
may affect the archaeology of the Precinct, whether known or potential, 
designated or undesignated, should:

•	 Incorporate every practical and reasonable step to protect and, 
where possible, enhance its significance.

•	 Be the subject of a staged archaeological strategy for the 
development site, agreed with City of York Council. If initial 
assessment does not provide sufficient information, applicants 
will be required to undertake field evaluation in advance of 
determination of the application. This may include a range of 
techniques for both intrusive and non-intrusive evaluation, as 
appropriate to the site.

•	 Include in support of planning applications an appropriate and 
proportionate assessment to understand the potential for and 
significance of remains, and the impact of development upon 
them.

•	 Wherever possible and appropriate, be subject to mitigation 
strategies to ensure the preservation of archaeological remains 
in-situ. Where this is either not possible or not desirable, provision 
must be made for preservation by record according to an agreed 
written scheme of investigation submitted by the application and 
approved by City of York Council.

Where development proposals affect Scheduled Monuments, an application 
must be made to Historic England for Scheduled Monument Consent.

When Scheduled Monument Consent is granted, it is usually subject to 
certain conditions that may specify methods of working, or arrangements 
for prior archaeological investigation and recording. These conditions 
are listed in the consent letter and are applied in order to safeguard the 
scheduled remains.

Justification
6.4.4	 The national and international important historic environment of the 

Precinct is exceptionally significant and complex. This significance is 
highly valued by all those who use and visit the Precinct. It is also an 
irreplaceable record of the past that must be safeguarded for future 
generations.

6.4.5	 The historic environment and its effective conservation deliver wider 
social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits and are a 
fundamental contributor to the Precinct’s positive identity and character. 
For these reasons, effective management and enhancement will be 
central to the future success of the Precinct, with wider positive benefits 
for the City of York as a whole. Therefore, decisions affecting its future 
must be taken with full understanding of the consequences.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 139



66York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DP2: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities 
Policy SS3: York City Centre 
Policy HW1: Protecting Existing Facilities 
Policy HW2: New Community Facilities 
Policy HW7: Healthy Places 
Policy GI1: Green Infrastructure 
Policy GI2: Biodiversity and Access to Nature 
Policy GI3: Green Infrastructure Network 
Policy GI4: Trees and Hedgerows 
Policy GI5: Protection of Open Space and Playing Fields 
Policy GI6: New Open Space Provision 
Policy ENV1: Air Quality 
Policy T1: Sustainable Access  
Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements  
Policy T8: Demand Management

6.5	 Section D – Wellbeing 
6.5.1	 The impact of our environment on the health and wellbeing of our 

communities is being increasingly recognised in strategies and policy 
statements and in national planning policies.

6.5.2	 The York Minster Precinct, particularly Dean’s Park and the proposed 
sensory garden, offer unrivalled opportunities for the city and local 
community to enjoy outdoor recreation and experience spiritual 
refreshment – elements that can contribute positively to the health and 
wellbeing of our communities. This Neighbourhood Plan places great 
importance on the benefits the special character of the Precinct brings 
to those who live and work within the Neighbourhood Plan area as well 
as to the people of York and the many visitors to our Precinct.

6.5.3	 A principal aim of this Neighbourhood Plan is to increase the amount 
of publicly accessible space within the Precinct with a focus on the 
importance of open space in improving wellbeing, particularly mental 
health.

Relevant Neighbourhood Plan Objectives:
•	 To create new and improved visitor facilities to improve the welcome 

to York Minster.

•	 To create a defined Minster Precinct which is safe and welcoming to all.

•	 To create new public realm of exemplary design quality which reflects 
the special character and history of the Minster Precinct.

•	 To create new flexible community space with improved facilities for 
learning and participation.

•	 To ensure that financial, social and environmental sustainability, sit at 
the heart of how we care for the Minster over the Plan period with the 
target of achieving Eco Gold Church status by 2025.

•	 To enhance the stock of trees within the Precinct and improve the 
publicly accessible parts of the Precinct to support the wellbeing of our 
community and the people of York.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 140



67York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Policy D1 – Wellbeing 
Development which supports the wellbeing of York’s residents by 
increasing public access, creating new public spaces and supports the 
Minster’s Mission of welcome will be supported.

Development proposals should, where appropriate:

•	 Inspire people to visit York Minster and its Precinct.

•	 Create new spaces and improve existing spaces for people to 
enjoy.

•	 Promote partnership with public, voluntary, business and 
community sectors.

•	 Provide universally accessible buildings and public spaces.

•	 Respect the importance of the Minster as a place for worship and 
reflection.

Justification
6.5.4	 Wellbeing is defined by the Oxford Dictionary as “the state of being 

comfortable, healthy, or happy”. However, it is important to realise 
that wellbeing is a much broader concept than moment-to-moment 
happiness. While it does include happiness, it also includes other 
things, such as how satisfied people are with their life as a whole, 
their sense of purpose, and how in control they feel. Having access to 
greenspace and cultural heritage is proved to have a positive impact 
on our lives and these polices have been prepared to keep wellbeing 
at the heart of the plans for the Precinct, particularly how greenspace, 
the natural environment and cultural heritage have the ability to enrich 
people’s lives.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 141



68York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

6.6	 Section E – Movement and Place
6.6.1	 The Minster Precinct is an important part of the public and civic life 

of the City of York. The public realm of the Precinct has both civic 
and movement functions and is the setting for the Minster and the 
Precinct’s other important historic assets. It is important that this 
setting is improved to realise all of the benefits the Precinct can bring 
to the city and region as a whole.

6.6.2	 It is a key aspiration of the Neighbourhood Plan that the Minster 
Precinct becomes accessible to all by ensuring that improvements in 
public realm and through any new development recognise the needs 
of all abilities at all stages of their lives. York Minster welcomes over 
700,000 visitors a year in addition to those attending its many statutory 
services and consequently accessibility needs to be considered with 
due regard to the need to ensure public safety.

Public space to the south of the Minster

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 142



69York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DP2: Sustainable Development 
Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities 
Policy SS1: Delivering Sustainable Growth for York 
Policy SS3: York City Centre 
Policy SS4: York Central 
Policy D1: Placemaking 
Policy D2: Landscape and Setting 
Policy GI3: Green Infrastructure Network 
Policy GI6: New Open Space Provision 
Policy HW7: Healthy Places 
Policy ENV1: Air Quality 
Policy ENV2: Managing Environmental Quality 
Policy T1: Sustainable Access 
Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements 
Policy T7: Minimising and Accommodating Generated Trips 
Policy T8: Demand Management 
Policy T9: Alternative Fuel Fuelling Stations and Freight Consolidation 
Centres

Relevant Neighbourhood Plan Objectives:
•	 To better preserve and celebrate the historic environment of York 

Minster and its Precinct.

•	 To create a defined Minster Precinct which is safe and welcoming to all.

•	 To create new public realm of exemplary design quality which reflects 
the special character and history of the Minster Precinct.

•	 To ensure that financial, social and environmental sustainability sit at 
the heart of how we care for the Minster over the Plan period with the 
target of achieving Eco Gold Church status by 2025.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 143



70York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

D
R A F T

Policy E1 – Movement and Public Realm 
Throughout York Minster Precinct a greater emphasis will be placed upon 
pedestrian safety and priority over vehicles, particularly in relation to the 
reordering of Duncombe Place (Policy PA2) and improvements to Deangate 
(Policy PA1). Proposals to enhance the public realm of the Precinct will be 
supported where they:

•	 Create a cohesive series of public spaces that help to define the 
character and distinctive sense of place of the Precinct and that 
connect with the wider public realm of the city centre.

•	 Prioritise pedestrian and cycle movements over vehicle 
movements and parking.

•	 Provide appropriate routes throughout the Precinct for cyclists to 
travel at low speeds.

•	 Provide spaces which are high quality and flexible to accommodate 
the public and civic life of the Precinct and City.

•	 Use high quality hard landscape materials, street furniture and 
planting which are in keeping with the character of the Precinct 
and form a high quality setting for the Precinct’s heritage assets. 
Reference should be made to the COYC Streetscape Strategy (2011) 
to ensure proposals within the Precinct are complementary to 
enhancements in the wider city centre.

•	 Are appropriately designed in relation to required security 
measures.

•	 Result in no net loss of cycle parking spaces within the 
Neighbourhood Area and, where appropriate, identify new 
locations for cycle parking. 

•	 Proposals which affect the adopted highway including changes 
to street furniture and planting require consultation with and 
approval by the Highways Authority.

•	 Due regard will be given to Department for Transport guidance in 
relation to shared spaces.

Community Actions
Cycling and pedestrian strategy
A strategy for pedestrian and cycle movements within the Precinct will 
be developed with COYC/Highways Authority to address current and 
potential future conflicts between cycle movement routes, walking routes 
and pedestrian dwelling spaces across the Neighbourhood Plan area. The 
strategy will connect with wider City Centre public realm proposals and will 
inform detailed design proposals for the public realm of the Precinct.

Policy E2 – Accessibility and Wayfinding
The Minster Precinct is to work towards universal accessibility wherever 
possible to provide a welcoming environment which recognises the needs 
of people of all abilities and stages of life.

Improvements to public spaces, existing footpaths and new development 
will therefore be supported where they are accessible to people of all 
abilities, inclusive, connected, easy to understand and navigate.

Proposals for wayfinding improvements will be supported where they 
assist with navigation around the Precinct, support increased footfall to the 
Precinct’s visitor attractions and businesses, and link to proposals for wider 
city centre wayfinding improvements.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 144



71York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

D
R A F T

Policy E3 – Electric Vehicles and Parking
In support of environmental sustainability objectives, applications for 
suitable electric charging points which are appropriately positioned will be 
supported.

The Chapter of York will begin to introduce electric charging points within 
the Chapter House Car Park to encourage non-tourist visitors and staff to 
use electric or hybrid cars. In the future, priority for parking will be given to 
visitors and staff using electric cars.

Policy E4 – Green Travel Plan
York Minster will work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle movement 
and parking within the Precinct by providing alternative modes of transport 
to be articulated in a York Minster Green Travel Plan. This will consider the 
impacts of any proposals on neighbouring streets and car parks and the 
needs of blue badge holders.

Other businesses and institutions within the Neighbourhood Plan Area will 
be encouraged to collaborate in a joint Green Travel Plan strategy.

Justification
6.6.3	 The Minster Precinct is an important and increasingly busy part of 

the city. Consideration of movement into and through the Precinct 
forms a vital part of the Plan, with an emphasis on greater pedestrian 
safety and priority over vehicles. These policies intend to appropriately 
manage this movement. The Neighbourhood Forum recognises that 
the Minster Precinct is an important route for cyclists and will continue 
to work with City of York Council and key stakeholders to facilitate safe 
access for cyclists through the Precinct.

6.6.4	 The quality of the public realm has a significant influence on quality of 
life because it affects people’s sense of place, security and belonging, 
as well as having an influence on a range of health and social factors.

6.6.5	 York Minster welcomes over 700,000 visitors a year in normal times, 
in addition to those attending its many statutory services, and 
consequently accessibility needs to be considered.

6.6.6	 The Neighbourhood Forum would support the further expansion of the 
footstreets network within the Neighbourhood Plan Area to increase 
pedestrian accessibility. The majority of the footpaths and roads within 
the Precinct are adopted highway and therefore any future changes 
including expansion of the footstreets network will be subject to the 
Town and Country Planning Act (1990), the Highways Act (1980) and 
other relevant legislation relating primarily to services and utilities. City 
of York Council, in its capacity as Local Highways Authority, will play 
a key role in working delivering any change involving the adopted 
highway.

Submission Draft ANNEX C
P

age 145



72York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

6.0  The Policies

Justification
6.7.2	 The core policies of the Plan will be delivered through their application 

by officers of City of York Council, Historic England and Members of 
City of York Council Planning Committee.

6.7.3	 The results of monitoring will be used to assess:

•	 Whether there are any obstacles to development that the 
Neighbourhood Forum, in consultation with Chapter, can act upon.

•	 Whether there is a significant risk to the delivery of the Plan’s 
requirements.

•	 Delivery progress.

Policy F1 – Monitoring and Securing Delivery
The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan will be delivered and 
implemented over the plan period 2020 – 2035. It seeks to provide the 
focus for change within the Precinct but is not a rigid ‘blue-print’, rather a 
framework for change. The Plan will be subject to annual monitoring by 
the Neighbourhood Forum and periodic review in consultation with the 
Chapter of York before the end of the Plan period, or earlier if required.

Where necessary, the Chapter of York will work closely with City of York 
Council and Historic England to prepare development briefs, which will set 
out design parameters for project areas in greater detail than is appropriate 
for this Neighbourhood Plan.

Public consultation will continue to inform the design development of 
individual projects. For example, in the case of Queen Elizabeth Square, 
public consultation will inform the selection of a preferred design team as 
part of a design competition.

With all planning applications and applications for Listed Building Consent, 
the Chapter of York will consult as necessary in accordance with legislation.

Throughout the plan period, the York Minster Neighbourhood Forum 
and Chapter of York will continue to work in partnership with City of York 
Council, Historic England and other stakeholders as necessary.

Relevant policies contained within City of York Local Plan - 
Publication Draft (February 2018)
Policy DM1: Infrastructure and Developer Contributions

6.7	 Section F – Monitoring and Review 
6.7.1	 This section of the plan sets out the approach to implementing the 

Neighbourhood Plan to ensure delivery of the vision, objectives and 
policies. It is based on two fundamental approaches:

•	 Continued collaboration between City of York Council, Historic 
England and other key stakeholders in the city.

•	 An understanding that York Minster is a building of regional, 
national and international importance and that, at the heart of this 
plan, the care and sustainable future of the Minster is a priority, 
to ensure that future generations can enjoy the building and its 
Precinct as we do today.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 146



7  PROJECT AREAS

ANNEX C
P

age 147



ANNEX C
P

age 148



75York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Figure 17: Project areas location plan

N7.0	  
PROJECT AREAS

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

7.0.1	 Figure 17 identifies where the four principal 
project areas described in Policy A3 are located 
within the Minster Precinct. Policies for each 
of the four project areas are presented in this 
section by short description, policy table and a 
parameter plan.

7.0.2	 All Neighbourhood Plan objectives are relevant 
to the policies set out in this chapter.

7.1	 Area 1 – Minster Yard and College Green
7.1.1	 The focus of the busy visitor welcome facilities 

will be at the south of the Minster, reflecting 
consultation feedback received during the 
‘Issues & Options’ Stage in May 2018. The main 
visitor entrance to the Minster will be moved 
to the South Transept. Chapter will redevelop 
its existing property at 1 Deangate to provide 
a new ticket and box office. The former Minster 
School will be redeveloped to create a new 
refectory (café/restaurant), new public open 
space and opportunities for office, education 
and residential conversion in the future.

7.1.2	 Within the Minster, the reordering of visitor 
flows from the south door and the visitor 
experience of the Minster will be guided by the 
Minster Liturgical Plan.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 149



76York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Policy PA1 – Minster Yard and College Green
Development at Minster Yard will be supported where it is in accordance 
with the following parameters as shown on Figure 18 and detailed planning 
applications for change of use, new buildings and for the design of College 
Green (area J):

A.	 Former song school building (former part of the Minster school) 
restored and converted with change of use to create a destination 
refectory suitable for providing refreshment to visitors to the 
Precinct.

B.	 New outdoor seating offering visitors and residents a new area 
within the Precinct to enjoy the incredible views of the Minster.

C.	 New public green space to be created by opening up the landscape 
of the former school field to provide an attractive and safe space for 
families to enjoy. The park will be managed on the same basis as 
Dean’s Park and will be policed by York Minster Police creating an 
additional space with a sense of tranquillity. When funding allows, 
improved public realm proposals will be brought forward to create 
an attractive flexible landscape.

D.	 Potential change of use and conversion to include residential and 
office. Opportunities for some continued education use.

E.	 Change of use to create the new ticket and box office. To be visible 
across Minster Yard for intuitive visitor orientation, while retaining 
and enhancing views to the Minster and Red House/St William’s 
College.

F.	 7 Minster Yard to remain in educational use.

G.	 Zone for reconfigured Stonemasons’ compound (indicative 
boundary) of around 800m2. Boundary to be secured, but with 

appropriate fencing to allow for continued visitor engagement.

H.	 Access to be maintained to the Stoneyard and refectory from 
Deangate. On road cycling route to be maintained with careful 
design to minimise conflict between the cycling route and 
pedestrians (refer to Community Actions below). Longer term 
opportunity to reconfigure Deangate to enhance the quality and 
enclosure of the public realm in this area. Any changes to traffic 
routing will require agreement with COYC as Highways Authority.

I.	 Investment in the Stoneyard. The enhanced facilities will not 
only offer new partnership opportunities with both universities 
and local heritage organisations; they will further cement the 
reputation and role of York Minster as a national and international 
centre of excellence for heritage craft skills.

J.	 Enhancement of College Green to provide greater usable public 
space, incorporating green infrastructure and improved security 
features (in consultation with the Home Office and COYC) while 
maintaining access for essential vehicles.

Community Actions
Access and Parking
A review of future access and parking requirements including blue badge 
parking, management and security in Minster Yard / College Green 
and Deangate will be undertaken with the COYC / Highways Authority 
to inform future planning applications. Due regard will be given to 
Department for Transport guidance in relation to shared spaces.

Refer also to Community action: cycling and pedestrian strategy under 
Policy E1 which will address potential conflicts between cycle movement 
routes, walking routes and pedestrian dwelling spaces.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 150



77York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Existing

Private gardens

Public realm layout

High quality tree*

Moderate quality tree*

Low quality tree or unsuitable 
for retention*

Cycling route

Proposed

Reconfigured Stone 
Masons’ area

Potential development
zone 1 storey for Minster 
Welcome uses

(the above do not represent  
development footprints)

Change of use to Minster 
Welcome uses

Public realm improvements 
(hard and soft landscape)

Minster residential and 
commercial buildings

Minster learning: nursery school

New public green space/square

Retained/enhanced key 
view corridors

Reconfiguration of Minster 
access

A-JA-J Refer to Policy PA1

Figure 18: Area 1 Parameter Plan – Minster Yard and College Green

N

AA

BBCC

DD

DD

EE
FF

GG

HH

JJ

II

*Tree classification is based on Tree Risk 
Assessment, Tree Survey 2016, Barnes & 
Associates

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 151



78York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Policy PA2 – West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square
Development at the West Front & Queen Elizabeth Square will be supported 
in accordance with the following parameters as shown on Figure 19, 
which are to be incorporated into a development brief to be prepared in 
collaboration and agreed with City of York Council and Historic England and 
York Civic Trust:

A.	 A new public square will be created for civic and ceremonial use.

B.	 The new design of this space should accommodate necessary 
restricted vehicular access serving existing residential and 
commercial uses, cycling infrastructure including no net loss of 
cycle parking, appropriate blue badge parking and necessary 
security measures, and should support intuitive wayfinding for 
visitors to the Precinct.

C.	 South African War Memorial to be incorporated into the design of 
the new square and surrounding public realm.

D.	 Due regard must be given to the existing trees within any design.

E.	 Design proposals should include reference to the alignment 
of the historic Roman route from Bootham to Petergate, and 
reinforce the sense of entering the Precinct.

7.2	 Area 2 – West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square
7.2.1	 A new civic and ceremonial space will be created for the city and 

named in honour of the Queen. This public space will be a significant 
feature of the city’s public realm and requires the highest quality 
design. The Chapter of York will place a statue of the Queen in an 
empty niche on the West Front to mark the Platinum Jubilee in 2022. 
Her Majesty has approved the proposal and will ultimately select the 
design of the statue which will be carved by the Minster’s masons. A 
Committee made up of key city stakeholders will be established to 
bring forward the detailed design and procurement.

7.2.2	 Detailed proposals for Queen Elizabeth Square will be brought forward 
by way of a development brief which will confirm the technical 
and operational requirements and civic ambitions for the space in 
agreement with COYC, Historic England and York Civic Trust. This will 
be followed by a Design Competition with public consultation playing 
an important part in the development of the design proposals.  As 
the first public square created in York in 200 years, the successful 
design will need to consider many issues which need to be carefully 
incorporated into any design solution, namely:

•	 Provision of necessary access and servicing for existing businesses 
and residents in Duncombe Place, Low Petergate and High 
Petergate including the Theatre Royal, St Wilfrid’s Church, Dean 
Court Hotel (drop off and pick up), The Purey Cust, York Minster, 
St Michael-le-Belfrey, Duncombe Court, and Grays Solicitors. The 
scheme must make adequate provision for the taxi rank (including 
late night capacity) and provide a sufficient turning circle for the 
National Railway Museum train and out of hours servicing, and for 
existing cycle routes and cycle parking and provide an appropriate 
level of blue badge parking.

•	 This is an extremely sensitive area and any detailed design will 
need to be developed in close consultation with Historic England in 

order to conserve and where possible enhance the significance and 
understanding of the historic environment here.

•	 Security measures are designed into the square to restrict vehicle 
access close to the Minster and create a safety barrier between 
Duncombe Place and Queen Elizabeth Square in consultation with 
COYC and the Home Office.

•	 Due regard will be given to Department for Transport guidance in 
relation to shared spaces.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 152



79York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Existing

Publicly accessible green space

Private gardens

Moderate quality tree*

Existing trees (indicative 
location)

Cycling route

Proposed

Public realm improvements 
(hard and soft landscape)

Retained and improved vehicle 
access (indicative alignment)

Footstreet with restricted hours, 
one-way vehicle access from 
Bootham Bar

Reconfiguration of Minster 
access

A-DA-D Refer to Policy PA2 

Figure 19: Area 2 Parameter Plan – West Front and Queen’s Square

N

AA
BB

CC
DD

*Tree classification is based on Tree Risk 
Assessment, Tree Survey 2016, Barnes & 
Associates

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 153



80York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Policy PA3 – Learning & gardens
Development at the Old Palace and sensory garden will be the subject of 
a development brief prepared in partnership with City of York Council and 
Historic England in accordance with the following parameters as shown on 
Figure 20:

Zones A – D to become a centre for learning and participation with space to 
exhibit the Minster’s artefacts. It will have multifunctional space for use by 
visiting schools and community groups and for adult learning and will include: 
teaching space, learning, office, exhibition space, stores and conservation 
studio, library. Total floorspace to be circa 20,000 sq. ft.

A.	 Old Palace to be retained, repaired and enhanced with expanded 
public access as part of the learning and education centre.

B.	 Reconfiguration or redevelopment of existing twentieth century 
extensions to the Old Palace.

C.	 Indicative location for additional built extension to the learning 
centre. The design will be required to respond appropriately to the 
setting of heritage assets including the Old Palace, Minster and City 
Walls and key views, and will be informed by a detailed heritage 
impact assessment and 3D modelling.

D.	 Enhanced public realm providing access to the Old Palace learning 
and education centre, sensory garden and City Walls.

Development will also be supported where it:

E.	 Supports controlled and authorised access to the City Walls.

F.	 Delivers a new sensory garden, the design of which appropriately 
incorporates the Kohima War Memorial to the Second Division with 
consideration of healthy and mature trees. A small café kiosk could 
open in the summer months. Poor quality trees to be replaced.

7.3	 Area 3 – Learning & gardens
7.3.1	 During the 2018 ‘Issues and Options’ Consultation, we received a 

strong message that the quiet oasis of Dean’s Park was much valued 
by the residents of York and this is reflected in this Plan. Dean’s Park 
will be enhanced as an important city centre green space. A sensory 
garden will be created on land which is not currently accessible to the 
public. This space for reflection and contemplation is enclosed by the 
Kohima War Memorial to the Second Division and reflects the Minster’s 
commitment to the wellbeing of its community.

7.3.2	 Chapter has been very clear that it wishes to invest in learning and 
participation, which are fundamental to the Minster’s Mission. The 
existing facilities are not fit for purpose and additional space is needed 
to create a new education and learning centre with space to exhibit the 
Minster’s collection of artefacts. The overall space requirement is 20,000 
sq. ft. The building will have flexible space for use by visiting schools 
and community groups and for adult learning.

7.3.3	 This area will be designed to facilitate a disabled access from the 
Precinct onto a small part of the City Walls up to Robin Hood’s Tower. 
Access gate security will be managed by the Minster Police. Associated 
enhancements to extend level access along the Walls will be the 
subject of detailed study and partnership working led by City of York 
Council, which owns and maintain the Walls.

7.3.4	 The sensory garden, Old Palace and City Walls proposals will be 
developed in an integrated manner as complementary facilities, to 
deliver an appropriate balance between visitor activity areas and areas 
of tranquillity.

7.3.5	 Dean’s Park will continue to host temporary events to support the 
Minster and will continue to be managed to maintain its landscape 
quality and tree stock.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 154



81York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Existing

Publicly accessible green space

Private gardens

Minster learning: library, archive, 
museum
The City Walls District Green 
Corridor

High quality tree*

Moderate quality tree*

Low quality tree or unsuitable 
for retention*

13c Conservation Area Appraisal 
key view

Proposed

Extension to Minster learning 
uses – learning and collection 
space
New public green space
(Sensory Gardens)

Enhanced access to City Walls

Public realm improvements 
(hard and soft landscape)

Retained/enhanced key view

A-FA-F Refer to Policy PA3

Figure 20: Area 3 Parameter Plan – learning and gardens

N

AA

BB

CC

EE

FF
DD

*Tree classification is based on Tree Risk 
Assessment, Tree Survey 2016, Barnes & 
Associates

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 155



82York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Policy PA4 –Own Use Properties
Development of areas A-C will be the subject to extended pre-application 
discussion with City of York Council and Historic England in accordance with 
the following parameters as shown on Figure 21: Proposals should respond 
positively to the historic character of the site, including:

•	 Setting of the City Walls
•	 Views from the City Walls to the Minster
•	 The linear land divisions
•	 The characteristics of the historic roofscape
•	 The ancillary ‘back of plot’ history and nature of the site

3D modelling of proposals is likely to be necessary to develop appropriate 
design solutions.

A.	 Existing garages and rear garden space to be redeveloped to 
provide storage on the ground floor and Minster staff housing on 
the first floor. Redevelopment to be no higher than the existing 
ridge line, and its plan, massing, roofscape, materials and details to 
respond positively to the character and appearance of the site and 
the setting of heritage assets.

B.	 A new workshop to house the Minster’s masons will be created 
as part of the investment in the Stoneyard to establish an 
international centre of excellence for heritage skills across 
the Precinct. The building is to be a lightweight, single storey 
construction, with a green living roof and is to be sensitively 
designed in relation to the character of the retained gardens.

C.	 Part of the Minsters lapidarium with examples of historic stone to 
be viewed from the city wall.

7.4	 Area 4 – Own Use Properties
7.4.1	 Many of the buildings to the north, east and south of the Minster house 

functions which are essential for the daily operations of the Minster.

7.4.2	 The Neighbourhood Plan provides space for additional facilities to 
support those who live and work in the Precinct.

7.4.3	 The existing Deanery garages will be redeveloped to create better 
storage and new first floor accommodation for Minster apprentices. 
An area of private garden adjacent to the garages will be the location 
for a new single storey Workshop for the Minster’s stonemasons. This 
area will be designed to enable visitors on the City Walls to visually 
engage with the conservation work of the stonemasons and will 
provide improved facilities to support the masons’ essential Minster 
conservation work as part of the wider Centre of Excellence. The 
restored St William’s College will house Chapter’s offices and Church 
House will be converted to residential flats for private rent. The lane 
adjacent to Dean’s Park will be resurfaced to provide level access to the 
Park and learning centre and there is an aspiration to remove parking 
from this area. The appearance of Chapter House Yard will be improved 
and the final bays of the north quire aisle will be developed. Car parking 
in Chapter House Yard which serves an essential function for Minster 
staff and VIPs and will be retained behind planted screening.

7.4.4	 In 2021 work will commence on the restoration of St William’s College. 
The work will return the building to Chapter’s principal offices with the 
medieval halls returning to use as conference and banqueting venues.

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 156



83York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Existing

Publicly accessible green space

Private gardens

The City Walls District Green 
Corridor

High quality tree*

Moderate quality tree*

Low quality tree or unsuitable
for retention*

13c Conservation Area Appraisal 
key view

Entrance

Proposed

Potential development zone 
for staff housing and storage
Potential development zone 
for residential uses
Potential development zone 
for Minster support uses (single 
storey building)

(the above do not represent 
development footprints)

Enhancements to City Wall 
ramparts
Public realm improvements 
(hard and soft landscape)
General enhancements to 
the Chapter House car park

A-FA-F Refer to Policy PA4

Figure 21: Area 4 Parameter Plan – back of house and storage

N

AA

BB

CC

DD

EE

FF
*Tree classification is based on Tree Risk 
Assessment, Tree Survey 2016, Barnes & 
Associates

Th
is

 d
ra

w
in

g 
in

co
rp

or
at

es
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
O

rd
na

nc
e 

Su
rv

ey
 w

hi
ch

 is
 ©

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
. A

B
A

 L
ic

en
ce

:  
A

L1
00

0 
17

54
7

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 157



84York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

7.0  Project Areas

Permission will be ascertained and / or implemented to:

D.	 Reconfigure and extend Church House to accommodate 
residential uses, following the relocation of Chapter offices to St 
William’s College. Any new development will take into account 
important views from Ogleforth.

E.	 Enhance the setting of the Chapter House through appropriate, 
high quality resurfacing of the Chapter House car park and the 
planting of a beech hedge (or similar) at the boundary to provide 
screening to the car park. 

F.	 Deliver the additional back of house space for Minster staff and 
volunteers at Chapter House Yard (planning consent reference 
7/05/189D/LB).

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 158



Appendices

ANNEX C
P

age 159



86York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

Appendix ASubmission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 160



87York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

Appendix A

Appendix A:	  
Planning framework and evidence base
Planning framework
City of York Draft Local Plan Incorporating the 4th Set of Changes, COYC, April 
2005

Submission Draft Local Plan, COYC, 2018

National Planning Policy Framework, MHCLG, updated 2019

National Planning Practice Guidance, MHCLG, various dates

Other Material Considerations

York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal, COYC, 2011

Evidence base
2015 Strategic Plan, 2015

Consultation Report, 2021

Conservation Management Plan, Alan Baxter, 2021

Heritage Impact Assessment, Alan Baxter, 2021

Sustainability Appraisal, Savills, 2021

Habitats Regulation Assessment, 2021

Ecology Report, 2016

Draft York Minster Liturgical Plan, 2021

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 161



88York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan   A Sustainable Future 2020-2035  /  April 2021

Appendix B

Appendix B:	  
York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal – City of York Council
The full York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal can be 
downloaded here:
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/843/conservation-area-01-york-
central-historic-core

The Minster Precint Character Area can be downloaded here: 
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/825/9-the-minster-precinct

Submission Draft

SUBMIS
SIO

N D
RAFT

ANNEX C
P

age 162



ANNEX C
P

age 163



ANNEX C
P

age 164



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Service submitting the proposal: Strategic Planning Policy

Name of person completing the assessment: Sophie Hall-Thompson

Job title: Development Officer

Directorate: Economy and Place

Date Completed: 28/01/2022

Date Approved: form to be checked by service manager Kirsten Clow

Annex D

What data / evidence is available to understand the likely impacts of the proposal? (e.g. hate crime figures, obesity levels, 
recycling statistics)

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

The 'Better Decision Making' tool should be completed when proposing new projects, services, policies or strategies. 

This integrated impact assessment tool was designed to help you to consider the impact of your proposal on social, economic and 
environmental sustainability, and equalities and human rights. The  tool draws upon the priorities set out in our Council Plan and 
will help us to provide inclusive and discrimination-free services.  The purpose of  this new tool is to ensure that the impacts of 
every proposal are carefully considered and balanced and that decisions are based on evidence. 

Part 1 of this form should be completed as soon as you have identified a potential area for change and when you are just beginning 
to develop a proposal. If you are  following the All About Projects Framework it should be completed before going through 
Gateway 3.

Part 2 of this form should be filled in once you have completed your proposal and prior to being submitted for consideration by the 
Executive. If you are following the All About Projects Framework it should be completed before going through Gateway 4. Your 
answer to questions 1.4 in the improvements section must be reported in any papers going to the Executive and the full ‘Better 
Decision Making’ tool should be attached as an annex.

Guidance to help you complete the assessment can be obtained by hovering over the relevant text or by following this link to the 
'Better Decision Making' tool on Colin.

Section 1: What is the proposal?

Please complete all fields (and expand if necessary).

Introduction

Guidance on completing this assessment is available by hovering over the text boxes. 

Part 1 

Section 2: Evidence

 To progress the Your Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan to a Referendum.
1.3

1.2

1.1

What are the main aims of the proposal? 

 York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan seeks to ensure the future care and development of York Minster is based on a shared 
sustainable vision with residents and businesses. The key area of changes set out in the plan identify locations where appropriate 
development should take place to provide the facilities needed to address existing shortcomings and provide the assets needed to 
support the functioning of the Minster in the 21st century. The main purpose of the report is to request that Members agree the 
recommendations of the Examiner and the additional proposed officer recommendations pertaining to Green Belt  and allow the 
Huntington Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to referendum. 

   What are the key outcomes?

Name of the service, project, programme, policy or strategy being assessed?

 York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan- Examiner's Report

ANNEX DPage 165



Are there any other initiatives that may produce a combined impact with this proposal? (e.g. will the same individuals / 
communities of identity also be impacted by a different project or policy?)

The Neighbourhood Plan has been developed alongside an emerging City of York Local Plan. The residents, businesses and people 
with a land interest in the Neighbourhood Plan area will also be consulted on as part of the Local Plan process. 

2.3

The Neighbourhood Plan uses the Local Plan evidence base to support its policies alongside the York Minster Strategic Plan (2015 - 
2020); consultation based evidence gathering; Conservation Management Plan (2021); Heritage Impact Assessment (2021); 
Sustainability Appraisal (2021); Habitats Regulation Assessment (2021); Ecology Report (2016);  Draft York Minster Liturgical Plan 
(2021). 

2.1

What public / stakeholder consultation has been used to support this proposal? 

 A series of consultations were undertaken by the Neighbourhood Planning Forum and the City of York Council as follows: Issues and 
Options May - June 2018; Draft Plan May - June 2019; Pre-submission Draft (Reg 14) January - February 2020; Pre-Submission Draft 

(Reg 14) December 2020 - January 2021 and Submission Version (Reg 16) July - September 2021. 

2.2

ANNEX DPage 166



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Does your proposal? Impact

3.1
Impact positively on the business 
community in York?

Positive

3.2
Provide additional employment or training 
opportunities in the city? 

Positive

3.3
Help individuals from disadvantaged 
backgrounds or underrepresented groups 
to improve their skills?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.4
Improve the physical health or emotional 
wellbeing of staff or residents?

Positive

3.5 Help reduce health inequalities? Positive

3.6
Encourage residents to be more 
responsible for their own health?

Positive

3.7 Reduce crime or fear of crime? Positive

3.8
Help to give children and young people a 
good start in life?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.9 Help improve community cohesion? Positive

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Policy A3 'Policies Map' identifies project areas where development and change are 
focused. This includes the development of visitor experience facilities, a refectory, a 
new civic and ceremonial square, a centre for education and learning with a museum 
and investment in the Stoneyard leading to 'new partnership opportunities with both 
universities and local heritage organisations'. These projects, will support additional 
employment and learning opportunities in the city. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to provide 'accessible green space which 
contributes to the social health and cultural wellbeing of the city' and to ensure the 
area is 'safe and welcoming'. Policy D1 'Wellbeing' seeks to support development 
'which supports the wellbeing of York’s residents by increasing public access, creating 
new public spaces and supports the Minster’s Mission of welcome will be supported. 
Policy PA3 'Learning and Gardens' seeks to deliver a sensory garden. 'Policy E4 'Green 
Travel Plan' seeks to work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle movement and 
parking'. 

No specific provision is made for this. 

Throughout the Neighbourhood Plan, policies seek to work towards ensuring the 
Minster Precinct is 'safe and welcoming'. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to provide 'accessible green space which 
contributes to the social health and cultural wellbeing of the city' and to ensure the 
area is 'safe and welcoming'. Policy D1 'Wellbeing' seeks to support development 
'which supports the wellbeing of York’s residents by increasing public access, creating 
new public spaces and supports the Minster’s Mission of welcome will be supported. 
Policy PA3 'Learning and Gardens' seeks to deliver a sensory garden. 'Policy E4 'Green 
Travel Plan' seeks to work towards reducing unnecessary vehicle movement and 
parking'. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 
Policy D1 'Wellbeing' seeks to promote partnership working with the 'public, 
voluntary, business and community sectors.  A number of Community Actions seek to 
address potential conflicts between cyclists and pedestrians. Policy E2 seeks to 
'recognise the needs of people of all abilities and stages of life'. 

The neighbourhood plan is seeking to invest in the quality of the Precinct environment 
which will support the economic wellbeing of the Neighbourhood Area's business 
community and this is reflected in the General Principles and Policy A12 'Sustainable 
Development' and Policy D1 'Wellbeing' which seeks to support partnership working 
with businesses. 

Part 1 

Please summarise any potential positive and negative impacts that may arise from your proposal on staff or residents. 
This section relates to the impact of your proposal on the One Planet principles.

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Culture & Community

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to provide 'accessible green space which 
contributes to the social health and cultural wellbeing of the city' and to ensure the 
area is 'safe and welcoming'. Policy D1 'Wellbeing' seeks to support development 
'which supports the wellbeing of York’s residents by increasing public access, creating 
new public spaces and supports the Minster’s Mission of welcome will be supported.'

No specific provision is made for this. 

Section 3: Impact on One Planet principles

Equity and Local Economy

If you wish to enter multiple paragraphs in any of the boxes, hold down ‘Alt’ before hitting ‘Enter’.
For ‘Impact’, please select from the options in the drop-down menu.

Health & Happiness

ANNEX DPage 167



3.10
Improve access to services for residents, 
especially those most in need?

Positive

3.11 Improve the cultural offerings of York? Positive

3.12
Encourage residents to be more socially 
responsible?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.13
Minimise the amount of energy we use, or 
reduce the amount of energy we will 
use/pay for in the future?

Positive

3.14
Minimise the amount of water we use or 
reduce the amount of water we will 
use/pay for in the future?

Positive

3.15
Provide opportunities to generate energy 
from renewable/low carbon technologies?

Positive

Does your proposal? Impact

3.16
Reduce waste and the amount of money 
we pay to dispose of waste by maximising 
reuse and/or recycling of materials?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.17
Encourage the use of sustainable transport, 
such as walking, cycling, ultra low emission 
vehicles and public transport?

Mixed

3.18
Help improve the quality of the air we 
breathe?

Mixed

Does your proposal? Impact

3.19
Minimise the environmental impact of the 
goods and services used? 

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.20
Maximise opportunities to support local 
and sustainable food initiatives?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to minimise pollution and reduce the 
carbon footprint 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

No specific provision is made for this. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Land Use and Wildlife

Local and Sustainable Food

Zero Carbon and Sustainable Water

No specific provision is made for this. 

Throughout the Neighbourhood Plan, policies seek to ensure public access to new and 
improved facilities. 

The plan centres on the York Minster Precinct, one of York's primary cultural assets, 
and how to ensure it's future for the York Minster community as well as the wider city. 
Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' states a social objective to support the 'cultural 
wellbeing of the city'. This objective is reflected through the policies and projects 
within the plan. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' Environmental Objective seeks to minimise 
waste. Policy A4 'Design Excellence' seeks to include suitable accessible space for 
waste management facilities'. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to prioritise sustainable forms of travel. 
Policy E1 'Movement and Public Realm' seeks to place a greater emphasis on 
pedestrian safety and prioritising this over vehicles, alongside supporting a strategy for 
pedestrian and cycle movement. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to prioritise sustainable forms of travel. 
Policy E1 'Movement and Public Realm' seeks to place a greater emphasis on 
pedestrian safety and prioritising this over vehicles, alongside supporting a strategy for 
pedestrian and cycle movement. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to meet and where possible exceed 
Government standards in relation to energy and achieve highest practicable energy 
efficiency. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to meet and where possible exceed 
Government standards in relation to water and maximise water efficiency and 
minimise water demand. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to meet and where possible exceed 
Government standards in relation to energy and incorporate technologies such as PV 
Cells whilst respecting the significance of heritage assets. 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Sustainable Materials

Zero Waste

Sustainable Transport

ANNEX DPage 168



3.21
Maximise opportunities to conserve or 
enhance the natural environment?

Positive

3.22
Improve the quality of the built 
environment?

Positive

3.23
Preserve the character and setting of the 
historic city of York?

Positive

3.24 Enable residents to enjoy public spaces? Positive

3.25

Policy PA1 'Minster Yard and College Green' seeks to enhance college green to provide 
greater usable public space. Policy PA2 'West Front and Queen Elizabeth Square' seeks to 
provide a new public square. 

Policy A2 'Sustainable Development' seeks to contribute to improving biodiversity and 
support an increase in biodiversity. Policy B1 'Landscape an Biodiversity Net Gain' 
seeks to protect and enhance existing areas of biodiversity and states that proposals 
should result in biodiversity net gain. This policy is also supportive of Green roofs. 

Policy C1 'Historic Environment' seeks to protect, conserve and seek opportunities to 
enhance historic environment of the Minster Precinct alongside other heritage assets 
including their setting. Policy PA3 'Learning and Gardens' and Policy PA4 'Own Use 
Properties' seeks to ensure design responds appropriately to setting of heritage assets. 

Additional space to comment on the impacts

Policies throughout the plan seek to improve the quality of the built environment 
specifically Policy C1 'Historic Environment', Policy C2 Listed Building Consent, Policy 
C3 'Archaeology & Scheduled Monument Consent and Policy A4 Design Excellence.  

ANNEX DPage 169



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Impact

4.1 Age

Positive

4.2 Disability

Positive

4.3 Gender

Neutral

4.4 Gender Reassignment

Neutral

4.5 Marriage and civil partnership

Neutral

4.6 Pregnancy and maternity

Neutral

4.7 Race

Neutral

4.8 Religion or belief

Neutral

4.9 Sexual orientation

Neutral

4.10 Carer

Positive

4.11 Lowest income groups

Neutral

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Will the proposal adversely impact upon ‘communities of identity’?
Will it help advance equality or foster good relations between people in ‘communities of identity’? 

If you wish to enter multiple paragraphs in any of the boxes, hold down ‘Alt’ before hitting ‘Enter’

Section 4: Impact on Equalities and Human Rights

Please summarise any potential positive and negative impacts that may arise from your proposal on staff or residents. 
This section relates to the impact of your proposal on advancing equalities and human rights and should build on the impacts 

you identified in the previous section.

For ‘Impact’, please select from the options in the drop-down menu.

Equalities

What are the impacts and how do you know? 
Policy E2 'Accessibility and Wayfinding' states the 'Minster 
Precinct is to work towards universal accessibility wherever 
possible to provide a welcoming environment which recognises 
the needs of people of all abilities and stages of life.

Dean's Park will be designed to facilitate disabled access from 
the Precinct onto a small part of the City Walls. 

Policy E2 'Accessibility and Wayfinding' state the 'Minster 
Precinct is to work towards universal accessibility wherever 
possible to provide a welcoming environment which recognises 
the needs of people of all abilities and stages of life. Dean's Park 
will be designed to facilitate disabled access from the Precinct 
onto a small part of the City Walls. 

ANNEX DPage 170



4.12 Veterans, Armed forces community

Neutral

Impact

4.13 Right to education

Neutral

4.14
Right not to be subjected to torture, 
degrading treatment or punishment

Neutral

4.15 Right to a fair and public hearing

Neutral

4.16
Right to respect for private and 
family life, home and 
correspondence

Neutral

4.17 Freedom of expression

Neutral

4.18
Right not to be subject to 
discrimination

Neutral

4.19 Other Rights

Neutral

4.20

Consider how a human rights approach is evident in the proposal

Human Rights

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Additional space to comment on the impacts

ANNEX DPage 171



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

6.2

Action Person(s) Due date

6.1 The community has been widely consulted on the content of the Plan. Members are being asked to agree the Examiner's 
recommendations to progress the Plan to referendum. Therefore, the community will have the final say when they vote in the 
referendum whether or not to agree with the final Plan. 

What further evidence or consultation is needed to fully understand its impact? (e.g. consultation with specific communities 
of identity, additional data)

What are the outstanding actions needed to maximise benefits or minimise negative impacts in relation to this proposal? 
Please include the action, the person(s) responsible and the date it will be completed (expand / insert more rows if needed)

5.1 Overall the vision, objectives, policies and projects responds to the issues, opportunities and challenges facing the area and it is 
considered that the plan will have a positive impact overall on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient 
neighbourhood. 

Section 6: Planning for Improvement

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Section 5: Developing Understanding

Based on the information you have just identified, please consider how the impacts of your proposal could be improved upon, in 
order to balance social, environmental, economic, and equalities concerns, and minimise any negative implications. 

It is not expected that you will have all of the answers at this point, but the responses you give here should form the basis of 
further investigation and encourage you to make changes to your proposal. Such changes are to be reported in the final section.

Taking into consideration your responses about all of the impacts of the project in its current form, what would you consider 
the overall impact to be on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient city?

No improvements considered necessary. 

What could be changed to improve the impact of the proposal on the One Planet principles? (please consider the questions 
you marked either mixed or negative, as well as any additional positive impacts that may be achievable)

5.2

5.3

No mixed or negative impacts on equality and human rights are considered likely. 

What could be changed to improve the impact of the proposal on equalities and human rights? (please consider the 
questions you marked either mixed or negative, as well as any additional positive impacts that may be achievable)

Part 1 

ANNEX DPage 172



6.3

Additional space to comment on the impacts

ANNEX DPage 173



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Any further comments?

1.3
No negative impacts anticipated. 

What changes have you made to your proposal to reduce negative impacts? 

1.4

Overall the vision, objectives, policies and projects responds to the issues, opportunities and challenges facing the area and it is 
considered that the plan will have a positive impact overall on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient 
neighbourhood. 

Taking into consideration everything you know about the proposal in its revised form, what would you consider the overall 
impact to be on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient city? 

Your response to this question must be input under the One Planet Council implications section of the Executive report. Please 
feel free to supplement this with any additional information gathered in the tool. 

1.1
Potential impacts are considered to be positive and in line with national and local planning policy and as such no further work 
has been undertaken to clarify understanding. 

1.2
No changes considered necessary.

What changes have you made to your proposal to increase positive impacts? 

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Section 1: Improvements

Part 2 builds on the impacts you identified in Part 1.  Please detail how you have used this information to make improvements 
to your final proposal. 

Please note that your response to question 1.4 in this section must be reported in the One Planet Council implications 
section of reports going to the Executive. 

Part 2

For the areas in the 'One Planet' and 'Equalities' sections, where you were unsure of the potential impact, what have you 
done to clarify your understanding?

ANNEX DPage 174



1.5

ANNEX DPage 175



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
 

City of York Council 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
 

 

Who is submitting the proposal?  
 

 
 

Step 1 – Aims and intended outcomes   
 

Directorate: 
 

Economy and Place 

Service Area: 
 

Strategic Planning Policy 

Name of the proposal : 
 

York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s 
Report 

Lead officer: 
 

Sophie Hall-Thompson, Development Officer 

Date assessment completed: 
 

31/01/22 

Names of those who contributed to the assessment : 

Name                                             Job title Organisation  Area of expertise 

Sandra Branigan Senior Solicitor  City of York Council Legal 

P
age 177



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

 

1.1 What is the purpose of the proposal? 
Please explain your proposal in Plain English avoiding acronyms and jargon.  

 The proposal is brought forward by the Strategic Planning Policy team on behalf of the Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum (MPNF) in conformity with Neighbourhood Planning (2012) Regulation 18. The Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum and 
Area were designated following consultation and following a Decision by the Executive Member for Transport and Planning in March 
2019. The MPNF and area were designated to enable a Neighbourhood Plan to progress for the Minster Precinct Area. The 
Neighbourhood Plan has been developed, consulted on and examined by an independent examiner and found to meet the legislation 
requirements. This proposal is for the Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to referendum in line with the Examiner’s modifications and 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations. The referendum will determine in the Neighbourhood Plan is made part of the City of York’s 
development plan. Where more than 50% of those taking part in the referendum vote in favour of the plan, it will become part of the 
development plan. Those who are invited to take part in the referendum, live in the planning area or in close proximity (150m).  

1.2 Are there any external considerations? (Legislation/government directive/codes of practice etc.) 

 The council’s duties under the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 are key considerations. The proposals also need 
to be considered in light of Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012).  

1.3 Who are the stakeholders and what are their interests? 

 Stakeholders include people who live, work or carry on business in the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Planning Area in 
alongside consultation bodies referred to in paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012).    

1.4 What results/outcomes do we want to achieve and for whom?  This section should explain what 
outcomes you want to achieve for service users, staff and/or the wider community. Demonstrate how the 
proposal links to the Council Plan (2019- 2023) and other corporate strategies and plans. 

P
age 178



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
 

 
 

 The York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan is required to be in conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and the local Development Plan which comprises of the emerging Local Plan (Publication Draft Local Plan 2018). The proposals 
seek to support the Council Plan (2019-2023) with respect to:  

 Well-paid jobs and an inclusive economy 

 A greener and cleaner city 

 Getting around sustainably 

 Good health and wellbeing 

 Safe Communities and culture for all 
With respect to the emerging Local Plan, the proposal seeks to support:  

 Policy DP2: Sustainable Development  

 Policy DP3: Sustainable Communities  

 Policy SS1: Delivering Sustainable Growth for York  

 Policy SS3: York City Centre Policy SS4: York Central  

 Policy EC4: Tourism Policy  

 H10: Affordable Housing  

 Policy HW2: New Community Facilities  

 Policy ED6: Preschool, Primary and Secondary Education  

 Policy D1: Placemaking Policy  

 D11: Extensions and Alterations to Existing Buildings  

 Policy D12: Shop fronts  

 Policy CC1: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage  

 Policy CC2: Sustainable Design and Construction of New Development  

 Policy T1: Sustainable Access  

 Policy T5: Strategic Cycle and Pedestrian Network Links and Improvements  

 Policy T8: Demand Management 

P
age 179



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Step 2 – Gathering the information and feedback   
 

2.1  What sources of data, evidence and consultation feedback do we have to help us understand the 
impact of the proposal on equality rights and human rights? Please consider a range of sources, 
including: consultation exercises, surveys, feedback from staff, stakeholders, participants, research reports, 
the views of equality groups, as well your own experience of working in this area etc. 

 Source of data/supporting evidence Reason for using  

Regulation 19 Local Plan and Local Plan 
Evidence Base 

The Regulation 19 Local Plan was assessed under an Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) and the Neighbourhood Plan has been developed to comply with 
the Regulation 19 Local Plan.   

National Planning Policy Framework: Equality 
Impact Assessment, July 2018 

The updated NPPF was assessed under an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
and the Neighbourhood Plan has been developed to comply with the National 
Planning Policy Framework.    

York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan 
Statement of Community Involvement 

Details the extensive consultation undertaken over three years with the community, including 
people who live, work, visit and worship within the York Minster Precinct, including comments 
and responses to all stages of consultation undertaken. The consultation has informed the 
development of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan 
Evidence Base (Conservation Management Plan 
(2021); Heritage Impact Assessment (2021); 
Sustainability Appraisal (2021); Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (2021); Ecology Report (2016); Draft York 
Minster Liturgical Plan (2021).) 

These documents have informed the consultation that has taken place with the community.  

 

Step 3 – Gaps in data and knowledge  
  
 

P
age 180



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
 

Step 4 – Analysing the impacts or effects. 
 

4.1  Please consider what the evidence tells you about the likely impact (positive or negative) on people 
sharing a protected characteristic, i.e. how significant could the impacts be if we did not make any 
adjustments? Remember the duty is also positive – so please identify where the proposal offers 
opportunities to promote equality and/or foster good relations. 

Equality Groups  
and  
Human Rights.  

Key Findings/Impacts  Positive (+) 
Negative (-)  
Neutral (0)   

High (H) 
Medium (M) 
Low (L) 

Age Policy E2 'Accessibility and Wayfinding' state the 'Minster 
Precinct is to work towards universal accessibility wherever 
possible to provide a welcoming environment which 
recognises the needs of people of all abilities and stages of 
life. 
 

+ M 

Disability 
 

Dean's Park will be designed to facilitate disabled access 
from the Precinct onto a small part of the City Walls.  
 

+ M 

3.1 What are the main gaps in information and understanding of the impact of your proposal?  Please 
indicate how any gaps will be dealt with. 

Gaps in data or knowledge  Action to deal with this  

n/a  n/a 

P
age 181



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Gender 
 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Gender 
Reassignment 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Pregnancy  
and maternity  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Race No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Religion  
and belief 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Sexual  
orientation  

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Other Socio-
economic groups 
including :  

Could other socio-economic groups be affected e.g. 
carers, ex-offenders, low incomes? 

 

Carer Policy E2 'Accessibility and Wayfinding' state the 'Minster 
Precinct is to work towards universal accessibility wherever 
possible to provide a welcoming environment which 
recognises the needs of people of all abilities and stages of 
life. Dean's Park will be designed to facilitate disabled 
access from the Precinct onto a small part of the City Walls.  

+ L 

Low income  
groups  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Veterans, Armed 
Forces 
Community  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Other  n/a, no other groups identified n/a n/a 

P
age 182



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

Impact on human 
rights: 

  

List any human 
rights impacted. 

The Convention rights applicable are:  

 Article 8 - protects the right of the individual to respect for 
their private and family life, their home and their 
correspondence. The private life part of this right covers 
things like wellbeing, autonomy, forming relationships with 
others and taking part in our community.  

 Article 14 - protects the right to be free from discrimination 
when enjoying other rights, such as Article 8.  
 
The equalities impact assessment identifies some positive 
impacts as a result of the aspirations set out within the 
neighbourhood plan.   

  

 
 

Use the following guidance to inform your responses: 
 
Indicate: 

- Where you think that the proposal could have a POSITIVE impact on any of the equality groups like 

promoting equality and equal opportunities or improving relations within equality groups  

- Where you think that the proposal could have a NEGATIVE impact on any of the equality groups, i.e. it 

could disadvantage them 

- Where you think that this proposal has a NEUTRAL effect on any of the equality groups listed below i.e. it 

has no effect currently on equality groups. 

 

P
age 183



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

It is important to remember that a proposal may be highly relevant to one aspect of equality and not relevant to 
another. 
 

 
 

 

High impact 
(The proposal or process is very equality 
relevant) 

There is significant potential for or evidence of adverse impact 
The proposal is institution wide or public facing 
The proposal has consequences for or affects significant 
numbers of people  
The proposal has the potential to make a significant contribution 
to promoting equality and the exercise of human rights. 
 

Medium impact 
(The proposal or process is somewhat 
equality relevant) 

There is some evidence to suggest potential for or evidence of 
adverse impact  
The proposal is institution wide or across services, but mainly 
internal 
The proposal has consequences for or affects some people 
The proposal has the potential to make a contribution to 
promoting equality and the exercise of human rights 
 

Low impact 
(The proposal or process might be equality 
relevant) 

There is little evidence to suggest that the proposal could result in 
adverse impact  
The proposal operates in a limited way  
The proposal has consequences for or affects few people 
The proposal may have the potential to contribute to promoting 
equality and the exercise of human rights 
 

P
age 184



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
Step 5 - Mitigating adverse impacts and maximising positive impacts 
 
5.1 Based on your findings, explain ways you plan to mitigate any unlawful prohibited conduct or 

unwanted adverse impact. Where positive impacts have been identified, what is been done to 
optimise opportunities to advance equality or foster good relations? 

The neighbourhood plan supports some positive impact measures contained with the Local Plan. These positive 
impacts will be optimised through the community actions identified in the neighbourhood plan alongside policies in 
the plan which stipulate further public consultation. The plan will also be subject to annual monitoring and periodic 
review.  
    
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 6 – Recommendations and conclusions of the assessment 

 
 

6.1    Having considered the potential or actual impacts you should be in a position to make an 
informed judgement on what should be done. In all cases, document your reasoning that 
justifies your decision. There are four main options you can take: 

P
age 185



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

- No major change to the proposal – the EIA demonstrates the proposal is robust.  There is no                       
   potential  for unlawful discrimination or adverse impact and you have taken all opportunities to  
   advance equality and foster good relations, subject to continuing monitor and review. 

- Adjust the proposal – the EIA identifies potential problems or missed opportunities. This involves taking 
steps to remove any barriers, to better advance quality or to foster good relations.  

 
- Continue with the proposal (despite the potential for adverse impact) – you should clearly set out the 

justifications for doing this and how you believe the decision is compatible with our obligations under the 
duty 

 
- Stop and remove the proposal – if there are adverse effects that are not justified and cannot be 

mitigated, you should consider stopping the proposal altogether. If a proposal leads to unlawful 
discrimination it should be removed or changed.  
 

Important: If there are any adverse impacts you cannot mitigate, please provide a compelling reason in the 
justification column. 

Option selected  Conclusions/justification  

No major change to the 
proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The EIA demonstrates the proposal is robust.  There is no potential for                     
unlawful discrimination or adverse impacts. Opportunities to advance equality 
and foster good relations will be applied throughout the York Minster Precinct 
Neighbourhood Plan 

 

P
age 186



ANNEX E 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
 
 

Step 7 – Summary of agreed actions resulting from the assessment 
 
 

7.1  What action, by whom, will be undertaken as a result of the impact assessment. 

Impact/issue   Action to be taken  Person 
responsible  

Timescale 

n/a    
 

 

Step 8 - Monitor, review and improve 
 
 

8. 1 How will the impact of your proposal be monitored and improved upon going forward?   
Consider how will you identify the impact of activities on protected characteristics and other 
marginalised groups going forward? How will any learning and enhancements be capitalised 
on and embedded? 

 York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Forum annually monitor the York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood 
Plan with periodic review in accordance with Neighbourhood Plan Policy F1.  
 

  
 
 

P
age 187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

  
 

   

 
Local Plan Working Group 
 

7th March 2022 

Report of the Corporate Director of Place   
 

ADOPTION OF THE MINERALS AND WASTE JOINT PLAN 

 

Summary 

1. To report the outcome of the Examination in Public by the Government’s 
Appointed Inspector into the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan (2015-2030) 
and accompanying Policies Map; and provide a recommendation that the 
Authority makes the necessary procedural arrangements to complete the 
adoption process. The Joint Plan was adopted by members of North 
Yorkshire County Council on 16th February and will also be reported to 
members of the North York Moors National Park Authority in March. 

 

Recommendations 

 

2. LPWG Members are asked to recommend the report to Executive 

with any additional observations they wish Executive to consider: 

Reason: In order that Executive can consider the observations 

and recommendations of the LPWG in their decision making. 

 

The recommendations to Executive: 

 

i) Notes the Inspectors Report and recommended changes and 

accept the Main Modifications. 

Reason: To allow the Plan to progress to adoption. 

 

ii) recommends to Full Council to adopt the Minerals & Waste Joint 

Plan incorporating the Inspectors Modifications, circulated with 

this report. 

Reason: To allow the Plan to progress to adoption. 

Page 189 Agenda Item 5



 

 

iii) recommends to Full Council to adopt the accompanying Policies 

Map. 

Reason: To allow the Plan to progress to adoption. 

 

 iv) that it authorises the Corporate Director of Place to make any 

further minor typographical or presentational amendments or 

updates before final publication of any documents referred to in 

this item, and to take any necessary steps to conclude the 

adoption process. 

Reason: To allow the Plan to progress to adoption. 

 

v) that it authorises the publication of an Adoption Statement and 

Sustainability Appraisal in accordance with Regulations 26 and 35 

of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

Reason: To ensure the adoption of the Plan is in accordance with 

the required legislation. 

 

Background 

3. Members will be aware that the draft Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 
(‘the Joint Plan’) has been produced by the City of York Council, North 
Yorkshire County Council and the North York Moors National Park 
Authority. In line with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, it was submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate in November 2017 for independent examination. The 
Examination in Public was opened on Tuesday 27th February 2018 for a 
period of three weeks between that date and 23rd March 2018. 
Additionally, a session was held on 13th April 2018, and later, in 2019, a 
further session was held on Thursday 24th and Friday 25th January 
2019, relating to unconventional oil and gas. 

 

4. Ms Elizabeth Ord LLB (Hons) LLM MA Dip TUS was the appointed 
Planning Inspector, and she examined the submitted Plan in relation to 
the tests of ‘soundness’, as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. The authorities producing the Joint Plan have now received 
the Inspectors Report and accompanying letter, dated 4 February 2022, 

Page 190



 

stating that the Joint Plan satisfies all requirements and is considered to 
be ‘sound’, subject to the Main Modifications recommended by her, as a 
result of the discussions which took place at the Examination. 

 

5. Once Adopted, the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan will replace the 
‘saved’ policies relating to minerals and waste in the North Yorkshire 
Minerals Local Plan and North Yorkshire Waste Plan (for North 
Yorkshire County Council) and the Adopted Core Strategy and 
Development Policies, November 2008 (for the North York Moors Park 
Authority). For the City of York Council there are no Adopted Plans 
which the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will replace. However, the City of 
York Draft Local Plan (incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes), April 
2005 was approved for DM purposes (only some of the policies refer to 
minerals & waste). The City of York 2018 Publication Draft Plan 
contains policies WM1 ‘Sustainable Waste Management’ and WM2 
‘Sustainable Minerals Management, which refer the decision maker to 
the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan. 

 

6. This report is accompanied by: 

 Minerals & Waste Joint Plan 2015-2030, as proposed to be adopted 
(Annex 1); 

 The Inspector’s Final Report (Annex 2); 

 The list of Modifications required by the Inspector to make the Plan 
‘sound’ (Annex 3); 

 The Joint Plan Adoption Statement (Annex 4). 

 

7. Copies of these documents are also available on the Joint Plan section 
of the Authority’s website: 

https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1   

 

The Inspector’s Report 

8. A Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft Plan was 
subject to public consultation between 21st July 2021 and 15th 
September 2021 and the outcome of that consultation was sent to the 
Inspector, before she produced her Final Report. 

 

9.  There were a number of modifications proposed, including: 

Page 191

https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1


 

 Amending and adding trigger points for review; 

 Updating minerals reserve and requirement figures and splitting 
the figures for the different types of crushed rock; 

 Adding policy provisions for non-allocated minerals sites coming 
forward; 

 Clarifying and expanding building stone provision; 

 Amending hydrocarbon strategies to reflect various changes to 
national policy and to provide more precise guidance; 

 Clarifying the relationship to and interaction with other regulatory 
authorities; 

 Updating capacity and requirement figures for waste; 

 Amending policies to ensure they fully reflect national policy and 
provide sufficient flexibility; 

 Adding new development management policies on air quality and 
planning obligations; 

 Strengthening nature conservation provisions in accordance with 
the Habitat Regulations; 

 Clarifying safeguarding provisions and inserting an additional 
policy; 

 Inserting additional allocations and development requirements to 
a number of allocations; 

 Adding further monitoring provisions for additional policies. 

 

Changes to current policies & new policies 

10. Paragraph 5 above, outlines the Plans which the Minerals & Waste 
Joint Plan will replace across York and North Yorkshire, once Adopted. 
Although the approach to development is not considered to be 
significantly different to the current approach, the Joint Plan introduces 
some changes to minerals and waste planning in the area covered by 
the Plan as a whole These include the following changes: 

 Policy M07: Meeting concreting sand and gravel requirements, 
inclusion of reference Area of Search; 

 Policy M09: Meeting crushed rock requirements, changing focus 
from just Magnesian Limestone to crushed rock as a whole; 

Page 192



 

 Policy M16: Key spatial principles for hydrocarbon development, 
change of the 3.5km buffer zone to 3.5km visually sensitive zone 
around National Parks and AONBs; 

 Policy M17: Other spatial and locational criteria applying to 
hydrocarbon development, reference to potential impact of 
cumulative impacts of hydrocarbon development on climate change 
and local amenity; 

 Policy W03: Meeting waste management capacity requirements – 
Local Authority Collected Waste, the inclusion of site allocations for 
Local Authority Collected Waste; 

 Policy S01: ‘Safeguarding Mineral Resources’ has been changed to 
Policy S01: ‘Safeguarding Surface Mineral Resources’ and 
reference to deep mineral resources has been deleted; 

 Policy S02: ‘Developments Proposed Within Minerals Safeguarding 
Areas’ has had its title changed to Policy S02: ‘Developments 
Proposed Within Safeguarded Surface Minerals Resource Areas’ 
and has had reference to deep mineral resources removed; 

 Policy S03: ‘Safeguarding Deep Mineral Resource Areas’. This is a 
new policy created to deal with the safeguarding of deep mineral 
resources (potash). Consequently, there have been a number of 
knock-on effects to other policies, as follows: 

o the original Policy S03: ‘Waste Management Facility 
Safeguarding’, has been changed to Policy S04; 

o the original Policy S04: ‘Transport Infrastructure 
Safeguarding’ has been changed to Policy S05; 

o the original Policy S05: ‘Minerals Ancillary Infrastructure 
Safeguarding’ has been changed to Policy S06; 

o the original Policy S06: ‘Consideration of Applications in 
Consultation Areas’ has had its number changed to Policy 
S07. 

 Policy D07: ‘Biodiversity and Geodiversity’ has been altered and 
now includes reference to local important sites and cumulative 
impacts; 

 Policy D14: ‘Air Quality’ – new policy created; 

 Policy D15: ‘Planning Obligations’ – new policy created. 

 

 

Page 193



 

Changes to Policies Map: 

11. A number of additional sites were allocated during the Examination in 
Public and added to the Policies Map. These were: 

 MJP12 – Whitewall Quarry (crushed rock); 

 MJP13 – Whitewall Quarry (recycling); 

 MJP15 – Blubberhouses (silica sand);  

 WJP01 – Hillcrest, Harmby (waste). 

 

12. A number of allocated sites had their site boundaries changed as a 
result of the Examination in Public, resulting in amendments to their 
boundaries on the Policies Map, as follows: 

 MJP21 – Killerby (sand and gravel); 

 MJP17 – Land South of Catterick (sand and gravel). 

 

13.  The area of potash to be safeguarded has changed and the new 
safeguarded area has been added to the Policies Map. 

 

Adoption 

14. The Regulations prescribe that an ‘adoption statement’ is published 
(Appendix 4). This explains that there is a 6 week period for a High 
Court challenge to the Joint Plan following adoption, on the grounds 
that the document is not within the appropriate power of the local 
planning authority and/or a procedural requirement has not been 
complied with. The process includes press notices and placing the 
documents for inspection at the same places as the draft Plan 
documents were made available. Arrangements for this are in hand and 
a 6 week period will also end 6 weeks from the date of adoption.  

 

15.  Additionally, the Policies Map is also recommended for adoption. 
Legally, the Policies Map is a separate document to the Joint Plan, and 
the Authority is required to keep it up to date according to the changes 
in the Joint Plan. It was not subject to independent examination, but 
was subject to consultation. Both the Joint Plan and Policies Map will be 
treated as part of the Development Plan for the purposes of decisions 
on planning applications from the date of this meeting onwards. 

 

Page 194



 

16. A final published version of the Joint Plan will be produced (a draft is 
attached) and it is suggested that the authority is given to officers to 
carry out any further typographical amendments or updating as the final 
version is produced (in conjunction with partner authorities, in its 
production). Hard copies will be made available for members and staff. 
However, it is planned that an electronic version will be made available  
for planning agents and members of the public to download from the 
website.  

 

Consultation 

17. The Minerals and Waste Joint Plan has been through a number of 
stages of consultation, as follows; 

 Regulation 18 Consultation (May - June 2013) – first consultation; 

 Issues & Options Consultation (February – April 2014); 

 Supplementary Sites Consultation (January – March 2015); 

 Preferred Options Consultation (November 2015 – January 2016); 

 Regulation 19 Consultation – Publication (November – December 
2016); 

 Addendum of Proposed Changes to the Publication Draft (APC) 
(July – September 2017); 

 Written Ministerial Statement on Shale Gas (May 2018) -  
interested parties only consulted; 

 Select Committee Report on Planning Guidance for Fracking (July 
2018) – interested parties only consulted; 

 High Court Judgement released ref Para 209 (a) NPPF – 
interested parties only consulted; 

 Main Modifications Consultation (July – September 2021). 

 

Options 

18. Officers request that Members: 

i) Endorse the recommendations in paragraph 2 of this report and 
agree with the Inspector’s Recommendations and approve the 
Minerals and Waste Joint Plan for adoption, as set out above. 

 

 

Page 195



 

Analysis 

19. The Inspector concluded that the Main Modifications set out in her 
report make the Plan sound and legally compliant and capable of 
adoption, satisfying the requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act 
and meeting the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 

20. The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for 
the reasons as set out below: 

ii) That the Executive rejects the Inspectors recommendations and 
provide modified recommendations to those made by the 
Inspector, and if considered to be significant, agree that these will 
be subject to further consultation along with a statement to 
explain why the decision differs from the Inspectors; 

This option is not considered appropriate as the Main Modifications 
proposed by the Inspector make the Plan sound and legally compliant 
and capable of adoption, satisfying the requirements of Section 20(5) of 
the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for soundness in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Implications: 

21. The following implications have been assessed: 

 

 Financial: 

An invoice from the Planning Inspectorate for most of the costs of the 
Examination has been received by the 3 Partner Authorities for the 
amount of £72,302.64, to date. The City of York Council’s contribution 
to this is 25% of this, which equates to £18,075.66 (North Yorkshire 
County Council’s contribution is £39,766.45).  

 Human Resources/HR: 

None 

 One Planet Council/Equalities: 

The Joint Plan has been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment, and 

has been examined by the Inspector. No negative equality implications 

are forcecast to arise. 

Page 196



 

 Legal: 

The preparation of the Joint Plan and the Examination in Public have 

been carried out in accordance with all statutory requirements and 

duties set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012 as well as having regard to national policy, guidance and relevant 

case law where appropriate. Progressing to adoption will continue to be 

in line with all legislative requirements. 

 

On adoption, the Council must consider all relevant planning 

applications against policies in the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan. It 

should be noted that, whilst the risk is low, there is a short window of six 

weeks post adoption whereby an aggrieved party could legally 

challenge the adoption of the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan. Should 

this occur, officer will communicate with Members as appropriate. 

Looking to the future, the council must legally review the Joint Plan 

within 5 years of adoption. Options for the timing and content of such a 

review will be subject to future reports to Cabinet as and when deemed 

necessary.  

 Crime & Disorder:  

None 

 Information Technology/IT: 

None 

 Property: 

None 

 Other: 

None 

 
Risk Management: 
22. In compliance with the Council’s risk management strategy, the main risks 

associated with the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan are as follows: 

 

Page 197



 

 Risks arising from failure to comply with the laws and regulations relating 
to Planning and the SA and Strategic Environmental Assessment 
processes and not exercising local control of developments. 

 
 
 
Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 

John Roberts 
Strategic Planning 
Policy Officer 
01904 551464 
 
 

Kirstin Clow 
Interim Head of Strategic Planning Policy 

Report 
Approved 

 
Date 24.2.22 

 
 

    
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
 
Financial Implication:   Legal Implication: 
Patrick Looker    Heidi Lehane 
Finance Manager   Senior Solicitor 
01904 551633    01904 555859 
   
 
 
Wards Affected:    All  

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1   
 
Minerals & Waste Policy Map (only available electronically due to its size) – 
see link below to view the Policies Map.  

https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/minerals-and-waste-joint-plan  

 

Annexes 
 

Page 198

https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1
https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/minerals-and-waste-joint-plan


 

Annex 1 Minerals & Waste Joint Plan Policy Document 
Annex 2 Minerals & Waste Joint Plan Inspectors Report 
Annex 3 Minerals & Waste Joint Plan Main Mods  
Annex 4 Draft Adoption Statement 
Annex 5  Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
Annex 6 Better Decision Making Tool 
 
 
 
List of Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 
Joint Plan – Minerals & Waste Joint Plan 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  1 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

 

 

Minerals and Waste  

Joint Plan 

2015 – 2030 

 

Adopted February 2022 

 
  

ANNEX 1Page 201



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  2 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Foreword 
As planning authorities for minerals and waste in each of their areas, North Yorkshire County 
Council, City of York Council and the North York Moors National Park Authority have a 
responsibility to take decisions on planning applications for related development.  The three 
Authorities, (referred to as ‘the Authorities’), also have a duty to produce planning policies to 
help to take those decisions, which can often be controversial because of the scale and 
nature of development involved.   

Minerals such as sand and gravel, limestone and clay are essential to meeting society’s 
needs for economic growth and development.  Other minerals, such as onshore gas, are 
important in helping to meet our needs for energy.  The North Yorkshire area is rich in 
minerals resources and there is a long history of mining and quarrying.  In some areas the 
jobs and economic benefits of mineral extraction are an important part of local community 
life.   

North Yorkshire is also rich in high quality landscapes and the historic built environment and 
includes two National Parks, four Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and a Heritage 
Coast.  Therefore it is especially important to ensure that the working of essential minerals 
takes place without causing harm to these and other special areas.  

It is now well known that Government, commerce, industry and individuals all need to do 
more to ensure that the waste we produce can be dealt with in less harmful and more 
efficient ways.  In particular, waste needs to be viewed less as a problem and more as a 
resource, which can be reused, recycled, or from which other value can be recovered. 

Ensuring the continued supply of the minerals which may be required and the availability of 
the facilities we need to manage waste effectively, can lead to pressure for new 
development, such as new or extended quarries and waste management sites.  As well as 
bringing benefits, these forms of development can of course affect our environment, 
communities, quality of life and climate change, for example through lorry movements and 
impacts on the landscape and from noise and dust.  

The Authorities have therefore worked jointly to prepare this Minerals and Waste Plan, 
referred to as the ‘Joint Plan’, containing planning policies to help us to take decisions about 
matters such as where, when and how minerals and waste developments should be planned 
and controlled up to 31 December 2030. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

ANNEX 1Page 202



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  3 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Contents 

 Page  

Chapter 1: Background  9 

Timeframe and geographical scope of the plan 9 
Statutory Requirement 9 
Why produce a Joint Plan? 10 
What’s been done so far both individually and jointly? 10 
Scope and purpose of Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 11 
Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment 12 

  

Chapter 2: Context 13 

Spatial Portrait of the Plan area 13 
Policy Context 16 
Evidence Base 23 
Mineral and Waste specific context 25 
Addressing Duty to Cooperate 32 

  

Chapter 3: Issues and Challenges 34 

  

Chapter 4: Vision and Objectives  36 

Vision and priorities 36 
Objectives 38 
Policies map and key diagrams 41 
Monitoring and Review 45 

  

Chapter 5: Minerals  47 

Aggregates supply  47 
Scale of provision of sand and gravel over the Plan period 50 
Scale of provision of crushed rock over the Plan period 53 
Maintenance of primary aggregates supply 56 
Secondary, Recycled and Marine Aggregates  68 
Silica Sand  70 
Clay  73 
Building Stone 72 
Hydrocarbons (oil and gas) 81 
Coal  108 
Potash Polyhalite and Salt  112 
Gypsum 114 
Vein Minerals   115 
Borrow Pits  116 

 
 

 

Chapter 6: Provision of Waste Management Capacity and 
Infrastructure 

118 

Introduction 118 
Moving waste up the waste hierarchy 121 

ANNEX 1Page 203



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  4 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Strategic role of the Plan area in the management of waste 123 
Meeting future waste management needs 126 
Overall locational approach to provision of waste management 
capacity 

146 

Site identification principles for new waste management capacity 150 
  

Chapter 7: Minerals and Waste Transport and Other 
Infrastructure 

153 

Non-road Transport Infrastructure for Minerals and Waste 153 
Minerals Ancillary Infrastructure 156 
  

Chapter 8: Minerals and Waste Safeguarding 159 
Safeguarding mineral resources 159 
Development of Mineral Resource Safeguarding Areas 162 
Waste management facility safeguarding 166 
Minerals and waste transport infrastructure safeguarding 168 
Minerals ancillary infrastructure safeguarding 169 
Consultation areas 171 
Safeguarding exemption criteria 172 
Sites proposed for safeguarding 172 

  

Chapter 9: Development Management  173 

Presumption in favour of sustainable minerals and waste 
development 

173 

Development Management Criteria 174 
Protection of Important Assets 178 
Water Environment 193 
Reclamation and afteruse of minerals and waste sites 196 
Sustainable design, construction and operation of development  201 
Protection of agricultural land and soils 205 
Coal Mining Legacy 206 
Air Quality 208 
Planning Obligations 209 
Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning Performance 
Agreements 

210 

  

Chapter 10: Introduction to Site Allocations  211 
  

Appendices (these are published as separate documents)  

Appendix 1: Allocated sites and Areas of Search  

Appendix 2: Safeguarded sites  

Appendix 3: Monitoring framework  

Appendix 4: Saved policies to be replaced by Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan policies 

 

  

Glossary 
 

    

213 

  

ANNEX 1Page 204



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  5 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

  

  

 
 
 
 

Index of Policies 

 
 Policy  Policy Title 

 Strategic policies for minerals 
 

 M01 Broad geographical approach to supply of aggregates 
 M02 Provision of sand and gravel 
 M03 Overall distribution of sand and gravel provision 
 M04 Landbanks for sand and gravel 
 M05 Provision of crushed rock 
 M06 Landbanks for crushed rock 
 M07 Meeting concreting sand and gravel requirements 
 M08 Meeting building sand requirements 
 M09 Meeting crushed rock requirements 
 M10 Unallocated extensions to existing quarries 
 M11 Supply of alternatives to land-won primary aggregates 
 M12 Continuity of supply of silica sand 
 M13 Continuity of supply of clay 
 M14 Incidental working of clay in association with other minerals 
 M15 Continuity of supply of building stone 
 M16 Key spatial principles for hydrocarbon development 
 M17 Other spatial and locational criteria applying to hydrocarbon 

development 
 M18 Other specific criteria applying to hydrocarbons development 
 M19 Carbon and gas storage 
 M20 Deep coal and disposal of colliery spoil 
 M21 Shallow coal 
 M22 Potash, polyhalite and salt supply 
 M23 Supply of gypsum 
 M24 Supply of vein minerals 
 M25 Borrow pits 

 
 Strategic policies for waste 

 
 W01 Moving waste up the waste hierarchy 
 W02 Strategic role of the Plan area in the management of waste 
 W03 Meeting waste management capacity requirements - Local 

Authority Collected Waste 
 W04 Meeting waste management capacity requirements – Commercial 

and Industrial waste (including hazardous C&I waste) 
 W05 Meeting waste management capacity requirements  

- Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste (including 
hazardous CD&E waste) 

 W06 Managing agricultural waste 
 W07 Managing low level (non-nuclear industry) radioactive waste  

ANNEX 1Page 205



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  6 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 W08 Managing waste water and sewage sludge 
 W09 Managing power station ash and Incinerator Bottom Ash 
 W10 Overall locational principles for provision of waste management 

capacity 
 W11 Waste site identification principles 

 
  

 
Minerals and waste supporting infrastructure policies 
 

 I01 Minerals and waste transport infrastructure 
 I02 Locations for ancillary minerals infrastructure 

 
 Minerals and waste safeguarding policies 

 
 S01 Safeguarded Surface mineral resources 
 S02 Developments proposed within Safeguarded Surface Mineral 

Resource areas 
 S03 Safeguarded Deep Mineral Resource areas 
 S04 Waste management facility safeguarding 
 S05 Transport infrastructure safeguarding 
 S06 Minerals ancillary infrastructure safeguarding 
 S07 Consideration of applications in Consultation Areas 

 
 Development management policies 

 
 D01 Presumption in favour of sustainable minerals and waste 

development 
 D02 Local amenity and cumulative impacts 
 D03 Transport of minerals and waste and associated traffic impacts 
 D04 Development affecting the North York Moors National Park and the 

AONBs 
 D05 Minerals and waste development in the Green Belt 
 D06 Landscape 
 D07 Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 D08 Historic environment 
 D09 Water environment 
 D10 Reclamation and afteruse 
 D11 Sustainable design, construction and operation of development 
 D12 Protection of agricultural land and soils 
 D13 Consideration of applications in Development High Risk Areas 
 D14 Air Quality 
 D15 Planning Obligations 

   

   

   

   

   

   

 
 
 

 

ANNEX 1Page 206



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  7 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

 

 

 

List of Abbreviations 
   

 ALC Agricultural Land Classification 

 AWRP Allerton Waste Recovery Park 

 AD Anaerobic Digestion 

 AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 BGS British Geological Survey 

 BREEAM Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment 

Methodology 

 CEEQUAL 

CPRE 

Civil Engineering Environmental Quality Assessment and Award 

Campaign to Protect Rural England 

 CCS Carbon Capture and Storage 

 CYC City of York Council 

 CMM Coal Mine Methane 

 C&I Commercial and Industrial Waste 

 CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 

 CD&E 

DBEIS 

Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

 DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government 

 DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change (Note following 

departmental restructuring in July 2016 oil and gas licensing now 

falls within the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 

Strategy - DBEIS) 

 DEFRA Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

 EA Environment Agency 

 EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

 FBA Furnace Bottom Ash 

 GVA Gross Value Added 

 HSE 

IBA 

Health and Safety Executive 

Incinerator Bottom Ash 

 LVIA Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

 LCA Landscape Character Assessment 

 LAA Local Aggregate Assessment 

 LACW Local Authority Collected Waste 

 LEP Local Economic Partnership 

 LLR Low Level (non-nuclear) Radioactive Waste 

 MCAs Mineral Consultation Areas 

 MPA Mineral Planning Authority 

 MSAs Mineral Safeguarding Area 

 MWJP Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 

 NORM 

NPPF 

Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials 

National Planning Policy Framework 

ANNEX 1Page 207



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  8 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance 

 NTS National Transmission System 

 NYMNPA North York Moors National Park Authority 

 NY North Yorkshire 

 NYCC 

OGA 

North Yorkshire County Council 

Oil and gas authority 

 PEDL Petroleum Exploration and Development Licence 

 PFA Pulverised Fuel Ash 

 RSS Regional Spatial Strategy 

 SSSI Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

 SAC Special Area of Conservation 

 SPA Special Protection Area 

 SiDCaMP Sustainability in Design, Construction and Management of 

Properties 

 SuDS Sustainable Drainage Systems 

 UCG Underground Coal Gasification 

 UKOOG United Kingdom Onshore Oil and Gas Group 

 WDA Waste Disposal Authority 

 WPA Waste Planning Authority 

 WHS World Heritage Site 

 YDNPA Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

ANNEX 1Page 208



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  9 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

   

 
 
 

A glossary of terms used in the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan is provided at the 

end of this document. 

ANNEX 1Page 209



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  10 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 1: Background  

 

Timeframe and geographical scope of the Joint Plan 

 

1.1 The Minerals and Waste Joint Plan will cover the period 1 January 2016 to 31 
December 2030.  The geographical scope of the Joint Plan is the three minerals and 
waste planning authority areas of North Yorkshire, the City of York and the North 
York Moors National Park.  Figure 1 below shows the area covered by the Joint Plan, 
referred to subsequently in this document as the ‘Plan area’.  Whilst a large part of 
the adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park area also forms a part of the North 
Yorkshire sub-region, that authority is producing a separate local plan, which includes 
minerals and waste policies.  Liaison has been maintained with the Yorkshire Dales 
National Park Authority during production of the respective Plans.   

 
Figure 1: The Plan area 

 

 Statutory Requirement 
 
1.2 Planning authorities are required, either individually or jointly with other planning 

authorities, to prepare a Development Plan setting out policies for the development 
and use of land in their area. Unitary authorities, National Park Authorities and 
County Councils are minerals and waste planning authorities, with the former two, 
along with District and Borough councils, also being local planning authorities having 
responsibility for all other types of development.  Thus, in the Plan area, the County 
Council is the minerals and waste planning authority for the parts of the county 
located outside of the two National Parks, with the City of York Council and the North 
York Moors National Park Authority being responsible for minerals and waste 
planning within their areas.  A map showing the boundaries of all the planning 
authorities in the Plan area is provided below. 

ANNEX 1Page 210



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  11 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
        Figure 2: Planning Authority boundaries in the Plan area 
 

Why produce a Joint Plan? 
 
1.3 There is a recognition that minerals and waste planning issues often affect larger 

than local areas and can best be planned for at a wider than local level.  In addition, 
one of the key changes to the planning system under the 2011 Localism Act has 
been the introduction of the 'duty to co-operate', which seeks to enhance the way 
planning authorities work together in preparing their plans.  The National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) also encourages planning authorities to consider 
preparing joint plans.  As a result, the Authorities have decided to prepare a joint 
Local Plan, referred to as the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan, recognising a number 
of inter-relationships in the provision of minerals and the management of waste.  

1.4 As the sole planning authorities for their areas, the City of York Council and the North 
York Moors National Park Authority also have responsibility to plan for other matters 
such as housing and commercial development land.  City of York Council is currently 
producing a Local Plan.  The Plan contains high-level policies on minerals and waste 
and will provide part of the strategic context for the Joint Plan.  The North York Moors 
National Park Authority adopted its Core Strategy and Development Policies in 2008.  
This contains policies on minerals and waste, which will be replaced by the Joint 
Plan.  The National Park has commenced work on a new Local Plan which will 
replace the Core Strategy and Development Policies.  A schedule of existing policies 
adopted by the three authorities, which it is proposed will be replaced by new policies 
in the Joint Plan, is provided in Appendix 4 for information. 

 

What’s been done so far both individually and jointly? 
 
1.5 The First Consultation on the Joint Plan was carried out in May/June 2013 in 

accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

ANNEX 1Page 211



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  12 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

(England) Regulations 2012.  This provided an introduction to some of the key 
information relating to minerals and waste in the area and marked the launch of the 
preparation of the Joint Plan.  Views were invited on what the Joint Plan should 
contain.  The issues raised in the consultation responses, together with issues raised 
in previous consultations helped us to prepare an Issues and Options consultation for 
the Joint Plan, which was launched for consultation in February 2014.  This set out a 
range of policy options which could be followed to help to deal with the issues 
identified, and invited views on these and any other options which should be 
considered. 

 
1.6 In addition to the First Consultation and Issues and Options consultation, a ‘call for 

sites’ was also issued.  This provided an opportunity for relevant parties to provide 
details of sites that they would wish to see identified as being suitable in principle for 
future minerals or waste related development.  Two previous ‘call for sites’ had also 
been issued, by City of York Council in August 2012 and North Yorkshire County 
Council in January 2011.  The various sites submitted have been considered in 
preparing this Joint Plan and allocated sites are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
1.7 A Preferred Options consultation, representing a first full draft of the Joint Plan, was 

undertaken in late 2015 and early 2016 and the outcome of that process has helped 
finalise the Joint Plan.  Prior to commencement of work on the Joint Plan, North 
Yorkshire County Council was in the early stages of preparing separate minerals and 
waste plans.  Relevant information gathered from work on those plans has been 
carried forward into the development of the Joint Plan.  Details of the responses 
received to the main stages of consultation can be found on the Joint Plan website at 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwjointplan.   

 

Scope and purpose of the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 
 

1.8 The main purpose of the Joint Plan is to provide guidance to developers, local 
communities and other interested parties on where and when minerals and waste 
development may be expected over the next 15 years or so, as well as how it will be 
managed to reduce any adverse impacts and maximise any benefits.  Minerals 
development includes activities such as mining, quarrying and gas extraction.  Waste 
development includes activities such as waste recycling and the treatment and 
disposal of waste. 

 
1.9 The Joint Plan forms part of the statutory development plan and the Authorities will 

use it as the starting point for decisions on planning applications for development 
relating to these activities.  Where the Joint Plan contains relevant policies, decisions 
will be made in accordance with the Joint Plan unless there are other material 
considerations, related to planning, which indicate otherwise. 

 
1.10 When using the Joint Plan to help with such decisions, it must be read as a whole.  

Whilst the specific policies in the Joint Plan are particularly significant in setting out 
the key principles on which decisions will be based, the supporting text explains in 
more detail how the individual policies will be interpreted and applied.  It will therefore 
be used by the planning authorities, in conjunction with the policies, to guide their 
approach to decision-making. 

 
1.11 The Joint Plan needs to deal with a wide range of matters and set out a clear local 

approach on relevant issues.  It also needs to meet a number of tests of ‘soundness’ 
set by Government.  These require that a plan is:  

 Positively prepared - it meets identified needs for development, including needs 
arising outside the area where appropriate; 

ANNEX 1Page 212

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwjointplan


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  13 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Justified - it represents the most appropriate strategy for the area based on 
proportionate evidence; 

 Effective - it is capable of being delivered, and; 

 Consistent - it is generally consistent with national planning policy. 
Meeting these tests inevitably constrains the scope and content of the Joint Plan and 
requires that a balanced approach is taken on the various issues that can arise. 

 
1.12 As well as contributing to the supply of important raw materials and sources of 

energy, minerals and waste development can give rise to a range of adverse 
impacts, such as on the environment, local communities and businesses, which need 
to be minimised.  Helping to achieve a suitable balance between these potentially 
conflicting objectives is a key role of the Joint Plan. 

 
1.13 In this respect, an important matter addressed in the Joint Plan is the potential for a 

rapid rise in commercial interest in development of shale gas resources in the 
eastern part of North Yorkshire.  This follows the recent announcement of new 
Government exploration and development licences in the area, which may lead to the 
submission of more proposals for this form of development during the lifetime of the 
Joint Plan. 

 
1.14 Accommodating new development of this nature, whilst ensuring a high degree of 

protection to the environment and local communities, is a key challenge.  To reflect 
the significance of this rapidly evolving issue, the Joint Plan sets out a 
comprehensive range of policies and supporting information for oil and gas that will 
need to be taken into account, both by developers in coming forward with proposals 
and by the planning authorities in taking relevant decisions.  In summary, the Joint 
Plan provides a degree of flexibility for development to take place in suitable 
locations, and where it can be carried out in a way which ensures a high degree of 
protection to those existing qualities of the area which make it a particularly 
distinctive and valued place in which to live, work and visit.  The planning authorities 
will be guided by this principle when fulfilling their planning responsibilities. 

 

Sustainability Appraisal and Other appraisals to support 
the Joint Plan 
 
1.15 Sustainability Appraisal of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement under the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Strategic Environmental Assessment is 
required by European law.  The two assessments have been undertaken 
simultaneously in relation to the Joint Plan under the term Sustainability Appraisal.  
The Sustainability Appraisal assesses the potential effects of the Joint Plan at each 
stage in relation to sustainability objectives.  Where appropriate, recommendations 
arising from the appraisal process have been incorporated into the content of the 
Joint Plan.  Information relating to Sustainability Appraisal is available in the 
Sustainability webpage: www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwsustainability. 

 
1.16 Habitats Regulations Assessment, required by European law, is concerned with 

ensuring that the Joint Plan will not cause harm to the integrity of Special Areas of 
Conservation, Special Protection Areas and Ramsar sites.  Each policy and site has 
been assessed in terms of its likely significant effects and the outcome of this 
process can be viewed in the Habitats Regulations Assessment report on the 
sustainability webpage.  

 
1.17 A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) has also been carried out and is 

available as part of the evidence base for the Joint Plan. 
 

ANNEX 1Page 213

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwsustainability


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  14 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 2: Context 
 

2.1 This Chapter provides information relating to current planning policy, both national 
and local, supporting evidence for the Joint Plan and a description (‘spatial portrait’) 
of the Plan area, setting out information about what the area is like now, as well as 
an introduction to minerals and waste development.  It provides a summary of the 
background information identifying the issues and challenges the Joint Plan needs to 
address. 

 

Spatial Portrait of the Plan area 
 
2.2 A detailed description of the Plan area can be found within the evidence supporting 

the Joint Plan, all of which can be found on the Joint Plan website at 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence. 

 
2.3 The Plan area covers the combined area of the three minerals and waste planning 

authorities of North Yorkshire County Council, (NYCC), the City of York Council, 
(CYC), and the North York Moors National Park Authority (NYMNPA).  The three 
authority areas form the major part of the North Yorkshire sub-region, along with the 
adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority area.  A separate local plan, 
including minerals and waste issues, is being prepared by the Yorkshire Dales 
National Park Authority.  Although the majority of the North York Moors National Park 
Authority area lies within North Yorkshire, a small part in the north of the National 
Park falls within Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council (see fig.7).  The National 
Park Authority is the planning authority for the whole of the area of the National Park 
but Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council remains the Waste Management 
Authority for the part of the National Park within Redcar and Cleveland, with 
responsibility for the collection and disposal of waste. 

 
2.4 The total extent of land covered by the Plan area is 6,718 square kilometres – this is 

a particularly large and diverse area.  The NYCC area is largely rural, containing a 
number of small market towns and numerous villages, along with the larger urban 
areas of Scarborough and Harrogate.  The CYC area is focussed upon the historic 
city of York and is mostly urban, with a rural hinterland.  The NYMNPA is very rural 
and sparsely populated.  It was designated as a National Park due to its ‘intrinsic 
merits as an area of beautiful and unspoilt country and magnificent coast with a 
wealth of architectural interest.’  

 
2.5 There are seven District or Borough Councils within the NYCC area1.  These are all 

producing or updating a local plan for their area.  The decisions by these Councils in 
respect of their own plans have implications for the wider area in terms of housing 
growth and economic development.  In turn these provide relevant context for the 
policies in the Joint Plan.  The area of Craven District which lies outside the 
Yorkshire Dales National Park (and hence falls within the Plan area - see fig 2) is 
partly separated from the remainder of the Plan area, in administrative terms, by the 
National Park.  However, in functional terms (for example in relation to waste 
management arrangements) the area is closely linked to the remainder of the Plan 
area, as well as to other parts of the Leeds City Region located to the south-east. 

 

                                                
1 These are Craven, Hambleton, Richmondshire, Ryedale and Selby Districts and the Boroughs of Harrogate and 

Scarborough. 

ANNEX 1Page 214

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  15 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.6 A total of about 829,0002 people live within the Plan area.  At an average of 123 
people per km2 it is more sparsely populated than many English counties, even 
taking account of relatively high population density in York.  Most of these live within 
the NYCC area whilst 204,400 live in York and 23,200 live in the North York Moors 
National Park.  It is forecast that the population of the Plan area will grow to around 
874,3003 by 2030.  York is a fast growing city with a population increase of 9.2% 
between 2001 and 2011.  It is forecast that this relatively high growth will continue, 
with the population of York reaching around 228,900 by 2030.  Relatively high growth 
is also projected for Selby District, whereas growth in other parts of the Plan area is 
expected to be more modest.  Increase in population is expected to be accompanied 
by a proportionately higher increase in the number of households, as a result of an 
expected decline in average household size.  Correspondingly high rates of housing 
growth are proposed in some parts of the Plan area in response to these expected 
changes.   

 
2.7 The largest commercial and industrial sectors in the Plan area are retail, 

accommodation and food services and manufacturing, although in York transport and 
storage is also a prominent sector and in the North York Moors National Park 
agriculture, mining, forestry and fishing are important.  Selby District contains a 
significant proportion of the area’s industry, including power generation.  However, 
coal mining in Selby District ceased at the end of 2015.  Within NYCC a very high 
proportion of the area is occupied by agricultural land, much of which is graded as 
being of ‘best and most versatile’ quality.  The high quality of the Plan area’s natural 
and cultural heritage and environment and the presence of a substantial length of 
attractive coastline mean that tourism and recreation is also of importance to the 
local economy. 

 
2.8 Unemployment in the Plan area is generally lower than the regional and national 

average.  Employment in mining and quarrying represents around 1% of 
employment, although Boulby Potash Mine is the largest employer in the North York 
Moors National Park.  Approval has recently been granted for a second polyhalite 
mine in the Park and this is planned to be developed within the course of the Plan 
period, providing substantial additional employment in this sector.  Around 1,800 
people work in industries related to waste in North Yorkshire. 

 
2.9 The main transport links in the area run on a north-south axis, via the A1M and A19 

and the East Coast Main Line.  East-west routes are generally poorer except from 
York and the East Coast Mainline, and many of the more rural parts of the area are 
particularly remote from major transport networks. 

 
2.10 The Spatial Plan for York, North Yorkshire and East Riding indicates that the overall 

focus for growth is to realise the benefits of significant development and investment 
opportunities in the North-South Corridor focussed on the A1/A19 and East Coast 
Mainline.  Although the Spatial Plan is not a Statutory Plan it is a material 
consideration in decision-taking.  The Plan area is also closely related to its more 
urban neighbours – the Tees Valley to the north and the Leeds City Region to the 
south.  The Districts of Craven, Harrogate and Selby, along with York, are all part of 
the Leeds City Region.  The economies of the Tees Valley and Leeds City Region 
are particularly relevant to North Yorkshire as commuter patterns cross into these 
areas.  Population and household growth in adjacent urban areas is also expected to 
be relatively high, particularly in West Yorkshire, and population and economic 
growth in these areas may have implications for minerals demand in North Yorkshire. 

 

                                                
2 ONS 2014 mid-year estimate 
3 ONS 2014 based sub-national projections 

ANNEX 1Page 215



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  16 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.11 The North York Moors National Park was designated in 1952.  The diverse 
landscape of the National Park includes open heather moorland, interspersed by 
narrow dales, extensive woodland areas, high coastal cliffs and dramatic geological 
features such as Sutton Bank and Roseberry Topping.  The statutory purposes for 
National Parks, as set out in the 1995 Environment Act, are to ‘conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the Park and promote 
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the Park 
by the public’.  In pursuing these two purposes the 1995 Act also places a duty on 
National Park Authorities ‘to seek to foster the economic and social well-being of 
local communities’. 

 
2.12 There are two AONBs wholly within the Plan area - Howardian Hills and Nidderdale - 

as well as small parts of two others, Forest of Bowland and North Pennines.  In terms 
of national planning policy the AONBs enjoy the same level of landscape protection 
as National Parks.  The primary aim of the designation is to conserve and enhance 
the natural beauty of the landscape.  Much of the coastline of the Plan area is 
defined as Heritage Coast for its natural beauty.  A number of local landscape 
designations have been identified by the District and Borough councils.  The 
implications of a large part of the Plan area being designated as either National Park 
or AONB are significant in terms of planning for minerals and waste, which are 
typically relatively large-scale developments of industrial character, as there is a 
presumption against major development in these areas. 

 
2.13 As well as large areas being designated as a National Park or AONB, the Plan area 

contains numerous other important environmental and heritage designations.  Large 
tracts of the area, particularly the uplands, are designated at European level as a 
Special Area of Conservation for habitats or Special Protection Area for their 
importance to wildlife.  There are also around 865km2 of Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest, some of which are also subject to the European designations such as the 
River Derwent and Derwent Ings, as well as five National Nature Reserves and 15 
Local Nature Reserves.  There are also many locally designated wildlife sites across 
the Plan area.  This network of sites contributes to the overall biodiversity and 
geodiversity of the Plan area.  Much of the woodland in the Plan area is located in 
the North York Moors National Park, which has around 310km2, and there is around 
80 km2 of ancient woodland in the Plan area.  There are also many non-designated 
parts of the Plan area which are nevertheless very important for biodiversity and local 
amenity and leisure, such as within towns and villages, on agricultural land or along 
road verges. 

 
2.14 There is 361km2 of Green Belt designated in the Plan area around York, although the 

inner boundary is still to be defined.  The general aim of Green Belt policy is to 
maintain open space around large urban areas, although the main purpose of the 
York Green Belt is to protect the historic character and setting of the City.  Parts of 
the western fringe of Selby District fall within the West Yorkshire Green Belt. 

 
2.15 Within the Plan area there are 327 Conservation Areas, over 14,000 Listed Buildings 

and 1,605 Scheduled Monuments as well as thousands of other non-designated 
heritage assets.  Fountains Abbey and Studley Royal World Heritage Site is also 
located in the Plan area.  The relatively flat and low lying landscape of York allows for 
views of the Minster and the green wedges and strays are an important part of the 
setting of York.  The City’s status as an Area of Archaeological Importance 
recognises the value of the Minster, around 2000 listed structures and a number of 
scheduled monuments, including the city walls, Clifford’s Tower and St Mary’s 
Abbey.  The cultural heritage of the North York Moors National Park was one of the 
reasons behind its designation and it contains a particularly high concentration of 
Scheduled Monuments. 

ANNEX 1Page 216



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  17 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
2.16 The Plan area contains numerous opportunities for recreation, leisure and research 

including over 12,000km of public rights of way, many gardens, historic houses and 
castles, the historic city of York and the North York Moors National Park and is 
therefore important as a visitor destination. 

 
2.17 Ecosystems services are the services provided by the natural environment which 

help to support human life.  Ecosystems services provided by the Plan area include 
food production, raw materials, recreation, landscape and aesthetic benefits, 
opportunities for carbon capture, pollination and climate and water regulation.  
Maintaining biodiversity is important in the provision of ecosystems services. 

 
2.18 Large parts of the lower lying areas covered by the Joint Plan are at risk from 

flooding, particularly around York, Selby and the Vale of Pickering.  Some parts, 
particularly around Northallerton, the area to the west of York, the area to the south 
of Selby and the southern parts of the North York Moors National Park are classified 
as Groundwater Source Protection Zones and most of the lower lying parts of the 
area are classified as Nitrate Vulnerable Zones, where water quality needs to be 
protected.  In addition Principal Aquifers, which usually provide a high level of 
groundwater storage, have been designated in some locations.  They may support 
water supply and/or river base flow on a strategic scale, and therefore need 
additional protection. 

 
2.19 Air quality is generally good but a small number of urban locations have been 

designated as Air Quality Management Areas, including in Knaresborough, Ripon, 
Malton and three in York.  The York AQMAs are based on breaches of health-based 
objectives for nitrogen dioxide.  Nitrogen dioxide is the result of emissions from a 
variety of different sources, however by far the main source is transport-related 
emissions including from diesel engines and HGV traffic.  As such, it is possible that 
the boundaries of the existing AQMAs may change over time (or indeed new AQMAs 
may be declared) as a consequence of more development across the City.  The City 
Council has recently adopted a Low Emissions Strategy and is developing planning 
guidance to reduce the emissions impact of new developments. 

 
2.20 The assets referred to in the paragraphs above combine to create networks of green 

infrastructure across the Plan area, providing habitats for wildlife as well as 
opportunities for recreation. 

 
 

Policy Context 

 

National policy 
 
2.21 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) contains the Government’s 

overarching policies on minerals planning.  It contains a number of policies relating to 
specific minerals types which are considered later in the Joint Plan.  The NPPF 
identifies a need to ensure that a continuous supply of minerals is available to 
support the economy and states that great weight should be given to the economic 
benefits of minerals extraction, whilst also making clear that minerals should be used 
sustainably.  It identifies a range of minerals that are of ‘local and national 
importance’ for which planning authorities should have policies.  Minerals ‘of local 
and national importance’ of relevance to the Plan area are aggregates, brickclay, 
silica sand, gypsum, salt, fluorspar, coal, gas, potash and building stone. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 217



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  18 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.22 The NPPF sets out specific policies in relation to the supply of a number of types of 
minerals.  It requires the maintenance of landbanks of at least 7 years for sand and 
gravel and at least 10 years for crushed rock, at least 10 years for silica sand sites 
(more in some circumstances) and at least 25 years for clay sites.  It also requires 
planning authorities to consider how to meet demand for minerals for the repair of 
historic assets. 

 
2.23 In aiming to reduce the need to extract primary minerals and also find uses for waste 

materials, the NPPF requires planning authorities to take account of the contribution 
that substitute or secondary and recycled materials and minerals waste would make 
to the supply of materials before considering extraction of primary materials.  It also 
places an emphasis upon safeguarding mineral resources for future use and 
safeguarding minerals infrastructure. 

 
2.24 In relation to gathering appropriate evidence on minerals the NPPF states: 
 

‘Minerals Planning Authorities should work with other relevant organisations to use 
the best information to: 

 Develop and maintain an understanding of the extent and location of mineral 
resources in their areas; and 

 Assess the projected demand for their use, taking full account of opportunities 
to use materials from secondary and other sources which could provide 
suitable alternatives to primary minerals’. 

 
2.25 These policies have been addressed through the production of a range of evidence 

papers which support the Joint Plan. 
 
2.26 The NPPF also places emphasis upon conserving important landscape and heritage 

assets by requiring that landbanks for non-energy minerals are, as far as practical, 
provided outside National Parks, AONBs, Scheduled Monuments and World Heritage 
Sites.  This is relevant as a relatively large proportion of the Plan area is subject to 
such designations.  In National Parks and AONBs many minerals and waste 
developments would be classed as ‘major development’ and should not be permitted 
except in exceptional circumstances as defined by a series of considerations known 
as the ‘major development test’ (see Glossary).  The NPPF advises that 
inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not 
be approved except in very special circumstances. It also advises that minerals 
extraction is not considered to be inappropriate development within Green Belt, 
provided it preserves openness and would not conflict with the purposes of including 
land within it.  Harm to assets, including landscape and heritage assets, relevant to 
the purpose of Green Belt designation equate to harm to the purposes of Green Belt 
designation. Green Belt policy is addressed further in Chapter 9 Development 
Management. 

 
2.27 National waste planning policy is informed by European waste policy such as the 

Waste Framework Directive (2008), which introduced the concept of the Waste 
Hierarchy.  The Landfill Directive (1999) is a key driving factor behind the diversion of 
waste from landfill and aims to reduce the negative effects of landfilling on the 
environment and human health.  This Directive sets a 2020 target to reduce the total 
amount of biodegradable municipal waste sent to landfill by 35%, using 1995 as a 
baseline year.  A further important consideration, relevant to planning for both waste 
and minerals, is the Climate Change Act and an associated requirement at a national 
level to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. 

 
2.28 The NPPF does not contain specific policies on planning for waste management 

although its policies remain generally relevant.  A new National Waste Planning 

ANNEX 1Page 218



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  19 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy was published in October 2014.  It operates alongside the Waste Management 
Plan for England and National Policy Statements for Waste Water and Hazardous 
Waste.  The new policy states that planning strategies should help to drive waste up 
the waste hierarchy, deliver sustainable development and resource efficiency, 
provide appropriate infrastructure and enable businesses and communities to take 
more responsibility for their own waste without harming human health or the 
environment, including protecting the Green Belt.  The waste hierarchy, shown in 
Figure 3 below, places priority on the prevention of waste, followed by re-use, then 
recycling, then other recovery (which can include recovering energy from waste) and 
finally disposal as a last resort. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.29 Waste planning authorities are required to identify sites and areas for new or 

enhanced waste management facilities for the management of the waste needs in 
their areas.  In identifying suitable sites and areas, they should identify the broad type 
or types of waste management facility that would be appropriately located on the 
allocated site or area, plan for the disposal of waste and recovery of mixed municipal 
waste in line with the proximity principle, consider opportunities for on-site 
management of waste where it arises and look for opportunities to co-locate facilities 
with complementary activities.  The new national policy indicates that planning 
authorities should first look outside the Green Belt for suitable sites and areas for 

Figure 3: Waste hierarchy (Defra, Government Review of Waste Policy 2011) 
 

ANNEX 1Page 219



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  20 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

waste facilities which, if located in the Green Belt, would be inappropriate 
development. 

 
2.30 It also places greater emphasis on considering needs for waste management 

capacity of more than local significance, and on joint working between waste 
planning authorities to provide a suitable network of facilities through considering 
waste arising across neighbouring authority areas. 

 
2.31 In 2004 the UK implemented the EU Water Framework Directive, which sets out a 

range of objectives aimed at protecting and improving the ecological health of rivers, 
lakes, estuaries and coastal and groundwaters.  The Directive places a range of 
obligations on developers and planning authorities to further these objectives and 
these have informed the content of the Joint Plan.  

 
 
Local Policy and Strategies 
 
2.32 A number of local policy or strategy documents provide relevant context for the Joint 

Plan.  The key relevant local policy documents forming part of the evidence base for 
the Joint Plan can be viewed at www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence. 

 
Municipal Waste Management Strategies 
 
2.33 The waste disposal authorities covering the Plan area (NYCC, CYC and Redcar and 

Cleveland Borough Council) set out the approach to management of municipal waste 
(now often referred to as Local Authority Collected Waste).   

 
2.34 A small part of the North York Moors National Park lies within Redcar and Cleveland 

Borough and the local authority collected waste generated within that area has been 
considered as part of the adopted Tees Valley Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.  
The most relevant strategy for the Joint Plan is therefore the joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy for the City of York and North Yorkshire.  This was adopted in 
2006 and sets targets and policies for the period up to 2026.  The strategy’s 
objectives and targets are: 

 To reduce the amount of waste produced in York and North Yorkshire to 
make us one of the best performing areas in the country by 2013 

 To promote the value of waste as a natural and viable resource by: 
- Re-using, recycling and composting the maximum practicable amount of 

household waste; 
- Maximising opportunities for re-use of unwanted items and waste by 

working closely with community and other groups; 
- Maximising the recovery of materials and/or energy from waste that is not 

re-used, recycled or composted so as to further reduce the amount of 
waste sent to landfill. 

 
2.35 With regard to recycling and composting the Strategy aims to achieve the following 

targets as a minimum: 

 Recycle or compost 45% of household waste by 2013 

 Recycle or compost 50% of household waste by 2020. 
 
In addition to the targets above the Strategy also sets a target to, as a minimum: 

 Divert 75% of municipal waste from landfill by 2013. 
 

ANNEX 1Page 220

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  21 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.36 These targets are considered in more detail and in relation to current performance 
and future requirements in Chapter 6 of the Joint Plan. 

 

Local Plans 
 
2.37 CYC is a ‘unitary planning authority’ while the National Park is the ‘sole planning 

authority’, meaning that they are the only planning authority for their areas and are 
therefore responsible for local planning (e.g. housing, employment uses, etc.) as well 
as minerals and waste planning4.  The Joint Plan will operate alongside the wider 
planning policies for these areas which will also be factors in determining minerals 
and waste planning applications.   

 
2.38 City of York Council officers produced a publication draft Local Plan in autumn 2014. 

This process however was halted by a Council resolution on 9th October 2014.  In 
response to both the Council resolution and the changed context in terms of housing 
figures, officers initiated a work programme cumulating in the ‘Local Plan – Preferred 
Sites 2016’ document and the other supporting technical documents which were 
published for public consultation July-September 2016. 

  
2.39 The ‘Local Plan – Preferred Sites 2016’ documents focus on additional work relating 

to housing and employment land need and supply.  A ‘Local Plan – Publication Draft’ 
which will contain all proposed allocations and planning policies will follow in late 
2016 with submission expected in May 2017.  This will include a strategic approach 
to minerals and waste setting out the main principles for York. 

 
2.40 As the York Local Plan is still under preparation, its progress, including the definition 

of a permanent Green Belt for York, will be reflected within subsequent documents 
produced in relation to the Joint Plan.  York Green Belt has been established for 
many years but has never been formally adopted.  Whilst the Regional Strategy for 
Yorkshire and Humber has otherwise been revoked, its York Green Belt policies 
have been saved together with the key diagram which illustrates those policies and 
the general extent of the Green Belt around York.5 

  
2.41 NYMNPA adopted its Core Strategy and Development Policies in 2008.  This 

contains strategic planning policies as well as development management policies.  
The minerals and waste policies (Core Policy E and Core Policy F) will be replaced 
by the Joint Plan, however all other policies will remain in place pending the 
preparation of a new Local Plan for the National Park.  Of particular relevance is 
Core Policy A which sets the overall principles for development in the National Park, 
and aims to ‘further the National Park purposes and duty by encouraging a more 
sustainable future for the Park and its communities whilst conserving and enhancing 
the Park’s special qualities’.  Of further relevance to the Joint Plan and the supply of 
minerals are the conservation and design policies, which specify that the use of the 
correct materials is important in ensuring new development can be assimilated into 
the landscape. 

 
2.42 The development plans of local planning authorities within and around the Plan area 

set out future requirements for housing and employment development, including 
through allocations of land for such uses, as well as identifying major building 
projects in the area.  Some of these plans are still at a draft stage.  Economic growth 
and new building are linked to demand for minerals and the generation of waste.  It is 

                                                
4 The National Park Authority is defined as the ‘sole planning authority’ for the National Park in the 1995 

Environment Act. 
5 The Regional Strategy for Yorkshire and Humber (Partial Revocation) Order 2013 came into force on 22nd 
February 2013. 

ANNEX 1Page 221



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  22 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

therefore important to understand the likely scale of development which may take 
place over the Plan period.  An analysis of current housing requirements reveals that 
there are plans for around 3,250 new houses per annum in the North Yorkshire sub-
region.  Housing growth is also expected to be linked to additional development for 
employment purposes and a range of social and economic infrastructure.  In addition, 
major infrastructure projects, some of which are planned at a national level, such as 
the High Speed 2 rail line and the proposed gas-fired power station near Knottingley 
may, if developed, also generate demand for minerals.  Specific figures for new 
housing growth and employment land are likely to change over time as new or 
revised local plans are prepared. 

 
2.43 The information above nevertheless suggests that the Joint Plan should support the 

continued supply of minerals in order to meet local development and economic 
needs.  The scale of new development expected within the Plan area will also have a 
bearing on the range, and scale of waste management capacity and facilities that 
should be planned for, and this has been considered in the waste arisings and 
capacity work which is discussed in Chapter 6. 

 

Sustainable Communities Strategies 
 
2.44 The North Yorkshire Sustainable Community Strategy is produced by the Chief 

Executives Group North Yorkshire and York and Local Government North Yorkshire 
and York Partnership Group, an organisation comprising a range of public, private 
and voluntary sector bodies.  The North Yorkshire Community Plan relates to the 
period 2014-2017 and sets out three key priorities for the Partnership to focus on 
over the next three years.  These are to: 

 facilitate the development of key housing and employment sites across North 
Yorkshire by delivering necessary infrastructure investments through 
partnership;  

 support and enable North Yorkshire communities to have greater capacity to 
shape and deliver the services they need and to enhance their resilience in a 
changing world; and  

 reduce health inequalities across North Yorkshire. 
 
2.45 The City of York Council’s Strategic Plan, ‘The Strategy for York 2011 – 2025’, was 

produced by the Without Walls partnership of public, voluntary and business 
organisations.  The guiding principles of the strategy are focused on ‘inclusion and 
enrichment’ and ‘reducing our environmental impact’.  The long-term objective is that 
‘York will be a leading sustainable city by demonstrating strong performance in 
tackling climate change, resource efficiency, environmental protection and 
enhancement (natural and built environments), sustainable transport and quality of 
life for all, and whilst respecting its special qualities and capacity for growth 
accordingly’. 

 

North York Moors National Park Management Plan 
 
2.46 National Park Authorities must produce a National Park Management Plan setting out 

the vision, aims and policies for the management of the National Park over a 15 year 
period.  Planning Practice Guidance on the natural environment states that, although 
not part of the statutory development plan, National Park Management Plans may be 
material considerations when determining planning applications.  The North York 
Moors National Park Management Plan was adopted in 2012.  Within the context of 
delivering the statutory National Park purposes, the Plan focuses upon the Park’s 
ecosystem services, setting out a strategy to conserve and enhance the National 
Park’s special qualities and improve habitat networks whilst at the same time 

ANNEX 1Page 222



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  23 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

supporting new woodland, increased agricultural production, more visitors and 
renewable energy generation.  The Plan aims to protect the Park’s landscape, 
biodiversity, natural and historic environment and tranquil areas, provide 
opportunities for enjoying and understanding the Park’s special qualities, promote the 
North York Moors brand and support the local economy.  It contains a policy which 
aims to reduce the amount of waste generated and increase the amount of waste 
which is re-used or recycled.  Although covering a 15 year period, National Park 
Management Plans are to be reviewed on a five yearly basis to take account of any 
changes in circumstances, pressures or opportunities facing the National Park.  At 
the time of preparing the Joint Plan the North York Moors National Park Authority 
was in the process of carrying out is first review of the Management Plan, which will 
be finalised in 2017. 

 

Strategic Economic Plan 
 
2.47 The Strategic Economic Plan for North Yorkshire, City of York and the East Riding 

was published by the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) for the area in March 2014.  
In addition to setting out a vision for the area to become ‘a thriving prosperous place 
where businesses are growing in size, number and long term profitability’, the 
Strategy identifies a number of matters of more specific relevance to the Joint Plan.  
These include a focus on the area becoming a ‘UK leader in food manufacturing, 
agriculture and biorenewables’, and ‘Driving Growth in our towns and the City of 
York’.  The Strategy recognises a strong connection between food and agriculture 
and natural resources, especially biorenewables, for example using farm waste to 
produce energy through anaerobic digestion.  It also indicates an intention to focus 
strategic investment in growth towns identified within the area’s local plans, as well 
as development in the City of York to support its ambition to be a top 5 UK City.  In 
smaller towns and rural areas the focus is on locally led economic development.  The 
Strategy makes specific reference to the inward investment potential of the proposed 
second potash mine in the North York Moors National Park, as well as the biomass 
and carbon capture and storage proposals at Drax power station.  
Specific messages of relevance to the MWJP are: 

 Ambition to: create 20,000 jobs; generate £3 billion growth; major investment 
in agri-tech and bio-renewables and double the rate of house building. 

 £1billion generated annually in exports from the proposed potash mine. 

 Potential for sustainable energy and resource efficiency in farm and food 
businesses - this includes producing energy from waste with significant 
investment already made in this technology within the area, as well as an 
overall aim to grow the bio-economy by 40%. 

 Support for investment in energy and resource efficiency, turning waste into a 
resource of renewable energy and income stream, with the overall outcome to 
achieve a reduction in waste and carbon emissions. 

 
2.48 The southern part of the Plan area (Craven, Harrogate, York and Selby council 

areas) also falls within the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership Area.  
The Leeds City Region Strategic Economic Plan (March 2014) sets out four strategic 
priorities: Supporting business and enterprise; Enabling a skilled and flexible 
workforce; Fostering a low carbon, sustainable economy; and, Creating the 
infrastructure for growth. 

 
2.49 Although only a small part of the Plan area falls within the Tees Valley Local 

Economic Partnership area, managed by Tees Valley Unlimited, it is still important to 
consider the influence which economic growth from outside the Plan area may have.  
The Strategic Economic Plan, published May 2014, contains a number of ambitions 
relevant to the Joint Plan, including: to drive the transition to a High Value Low 

ANNEX 1Page 223



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  24 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Carbon economy, focused on renewable energy, new technology, biological feed 
stocks and reduction in carbon foot print of existing industries; a growing demand for 
advanced manufacturing products and services with potential to exploit the 
restructuring of domestic energy and environmental markets, onshore and off shore 
low carbon opportunities, energy from waste and the potential to exploit shale gas, 
and leading the way in energy from waste. 

 
Climate Change 
 
2.50 Addressing the causes and effects of climate change, and contributing to wider 

targets, is being taken forward through a number of local strategies.  The City of York 
Council approved a Climate Change Framework and accompanying Action Plan in 
2010 to ensure that, over time, York accelerates actions to reduce carbon emissions.  
It commits the City to a 40% reduction in CO2 emissions by 2020 (based on a 2005 
baseline) and an 80% reduction by 2050 (based on a 1990 baseline).  It also 
commits the City to making full use of the potential for low carbon, renewable and 
localised sources of energy generation and highlights 10 key issues for the City to 
focus on, including sustainable planning and waste management.  North Yorkshire 
County Council’s Climate Change Strategy aims to reduce the impact of climate 
change across North Yorkshire by firstly looking at its own services and operations 
and secondly working with partners to support the wider community of North 
Yorkshire to reduce the impact on climate change.  Mitigating and adapting to climate 
change is identified as one of the key pressures for change in the North York Moors 
National Park Management Plan and is integral to many of its policies and actions.  A 
new climate change target was adopted by the UK Government in late 2015 as a 
result of the Paris agreement.  A range of work is taking place alongside preparation 
of the Joint Plan to help ensure that relevant issues are taken into account, including 
a Sustainability Appraisal incorporating Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. 

 
 

Evidence Base 

 
2.51 Some of the key documents used in preparing the draft Joint Plan are listed below 

and these, along with other evidence documents are available at 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence.   

 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan Evidence Papers 
 
2.52 Each of the authorities has produced specific evidence papers relating to their area.  

These provide a detailed account of the geological distribution, technical properties 
and uses, historic and current activity and policy framework for each mineral in each 
planning authority area.  A Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement has 
been produced jointly by all WPAs in Yorkshire and Humber to help to provide a 
wider evidence base for waste plans.  Evidence papers relating to economic and 
environmental aspects of the Plan area, as well as on a number of other specific 
topics, have also been produced on a joint basis.  Some of the main ones are 
identified below. 

 

Local Aggregates Assessment 
 
2.53 All minerals planning authorities are required to produce a Local Aggregates 

Assessment (LAA).  This must be based on a rolling average of 10 years sales data 
and other relevant local information and include an assessment of all supply options 
for aggregate minerals (including marine-dredged, secondary and recycled sources).  
The Authorities, along with the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority, published 

ANNEX 1Page 224

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  25 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

their first Local Aggregates Assessment in March 2013.  A review was carried out 
with updated information, including a revised approach to forecasting future demand 
for aggregate, leading to a revised LAA being produced in 2015.  A further review 
and updating was carried out in 2016 and it is intended to review the LAA on an 
annual basis.  Specific findings of the LAA are considered within the aggregate 
minerals sections in Chapter 5.   

 

Marine Dredged Sand and Gravel 
 
2.54 The minerals planning authorities in the Yorkshire and Humber area appointed 

consultants (URS Environment and Infrastructure UK Ltd) to assess the extent to 
which off-shore sand and gravel resources could increase supply to the area, which 
could have implications for the amount of sand and gravel required to be supplied 
from land-based quarries.  This is identified in the Local Aggregate Assessment (see 
above) as a matter which needs to be kept under review.  The report published in 
January 2014 suggests that there is potential for a significant increase in supply of 
marine aggregate into the Yorkshire and Humber area, but that this is unlikely to 
occur in the short term (within 5 years), whereas over the medium to long term, 
particularly the latter, there is potential to provide a significant increase in supply 
subject to additional investment in existing and new infrastructure.  A shift in supply 
towards marine sources is relevant to the Plan area because of the potential 
implications for sand and gravel supply requirements from land won resources in 
North Yorkshire, although it is considered unlikely to have a substantial impact over 
the current Plan period.  Marine Plans for the East Inshore and East Offshore areas 
were published by the Marine Management Organisation in April 2014.  These 
recognise the significance of marine aggregates resources in the Humber dredging 
area.  They include policies which seek to ensure that the potential of existing 
licensed dredging areas, as well as areas of unlicensed marine aggregate resources, 
are considered and where appropriate protected when other offshore development 
activity is proposed. For the area north of Flambrough Head, and pending finalisation 
of a North East Marine Plan, reference should be made to the national Marine Policy 
Statement, which also highlights the importance of marine aggregates in supplying 
the construction industry. 

 

Minerals Safeguarding Studies 
 
2.55 The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning authorities to define 

Minerals Safeguarding Areas, to protect resources from sterilisation by other forms of 
development.  British Geological Survey was commissioned to carry out work to 
identify Mineral Safeguarding Areas within the Plan area.  The outcome of the work 
has been used to help to inform the approach to Mineral Safeguarding taken within 
the Plan. 

 

Updated sand and gravel assessment 
 
2.56 As part of the work on minerals safeguarding, a re-assessment of the distribution of 

potentially viable sand and gravel resources in the area was also undertaken by 
British Geological Survey on behalf of NYCC and CYC.  This has identified a revised 
overall distribution of potential resources and has formed the basis for identifying 
safeguarding areas for sand and gravel, as well as assisting with identifying locations 
for future development. 

 

Waste Arisings and Projections 
 

ANNEX 1Page 225



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  26 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.57 The Authorities commissioned consultants Urban Vision to provide evidence in 
relation to waste arisings and capacity for the Joint Plan authority areas.  The 
Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority was also involved and information relating to 
the Yorkshire Dales National Park forms part of the outputs. 

 
2.58 The work provides an assessment of likely future arisings to 31st December 2030 in 

relation to local authority collected waste6, commercial and industrial waste, 
construction, demolition and excavation waste, hazardous waste, agricultural waste, 
local level non-nuclear industry radioactive waste and waste water / sewage sludge.  
These projections are set within the context of varying growth scenarios.  The work, 
which was updated in 2016, identifies the available capacity of existing waste 
management facilities and any potential ‘gap’ between existing capacity and capacity 
likely to be required over the Plan period.  The work and its conclusions are 
discussed in Chapter 6.  Information has also been drawn from the Yorkshire and 
Humber Waste Position Paper, prepared jointly by waste planning authorities in the 
area and updated during 2016. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal 
 
2.59 The Sustainability Appraisal helps to ensure that environmental, social and economic 

considerations are integrated into the production of the Joint Plan.  Sustainability 
Appraisal has shaped the content of the Joint Plan.  The Sustainability Objectives 
used to assess the Joint Plan have been developed by taking account of the 
objectives of many other plans, policies and programmes which are relevant to the 
Plan area, along with other considerations and have been agreed through 
consultation on the Scoping Report.  This consultation took place alongside the initial 
consultation on the draft Joint Plan in 2013, including two workshops with key 
stakeholders.  The scoping report and other sustainability appraisal reports 
supporting the Joint Plan can be accessed here: 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwsustainability. 

 
 

Mineral and Waste specific context 

 
2.60 The purpose of this section is to provide more background to the development of the 

policies in the Joint Plan.  It is derived mainly from information in the evidence base 
for the Joint Plan, which can be accessed at www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence.  
More information on minerals and waste issues is contained in Chapters 5 and 6. 

 

Minerals 
 

2.61 Minerals are important as they provide many of the raw materials necessary for 
construction, energy and industry.  They are therefore essential in helping to sustain 
economic growth.  For these reasons, Government attaches importance to planning 
for their supply, whilst at the same time requiring that the impacts of extracting them 
are kept within acceptable limits.  An important consideration in planning for minerals 
is that they can only be worked where they occur in sufficient quantity and quality and 
this fundamental geological constraint will always be a key influence on minerals 
planning.  Figures 4 and 5 below show the overall distribution of potential minerals 
resources in the Plan area.   

 

 

 

 

                                                
6 The study does not generate new projections of arisings for LACW but incorporates projections already 
generated by the York and North Yorkshire Waste Management Partnership, who have responsibility for 
management of this waste stream, as these projections are considered to be robust 

ANNEX 1Page 226

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwsustainability
http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  27 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
           Figure 4: Distribution of surface mineral resources within the Plan area 

 

 
            Figure 5: Distribution of underground mineral resources within the Plan area 
 

ANNEX 1Page 227



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  28 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.62 Despite this relatively broad distribution of resources, there are certain areas where 
the quarrying industry is well-established and infrastructure exists to help to process 
minerals and transport them to markets.  This has resulted in concentrations of 
working in certain parts of the Plan area such as the valleys of the Rivers Swale and 
Ure, the western and southern parts of Selby District and in parts of Ryedale District 
in the eastern part of the Plan area.  Most current mineral workings are in the NYCC 
part of the Plan area, although an important exception to this is Boulby 
potash/polyhalite mine, located in the northern part of the North York Moors National 
Park. 

 
2.63 With over 50 working quarries, the Plan area is a significant producer of minerals at a 

regional and, in some instances, national scale.  Aggregate minerals (sand and 
gravel and crushed rock) are particularly important, with the Plan area being the 
largest supplier of concreting sand and gravel within Yorkshire and Humber, all of 
which is extracted in the NYCC area.  Other important minerals include potash 
(Boulby Mine in the North York Moors National Park is the UKs only operational 
potash/polyhalite mine, although permission has been granted recently for a major 
new polyhalite mine in the Park) and silica sand, which is a scarce and nationally 
significant mineral worked on a relatively small scale at Burythorpe Quarry and 
formerly worked at Blubberhouses Quarry, where reserves still remain.  Onshore gas 
is exploited in the Vale of Pickering in one of the UK’s largest onshore conventional 
gas fields, and approval has recently been given for extraction from a well at 
Ebberston in the North York Moors National Park.  Other minerals quarried on a 
smaller scale are clay and building stone, which are worked mainly in the NYCC 
area, although two building stone quarries exist in the National Park. 

 

 
Figure 6: Distribution of active and dormant quarries in the Plan area 

 
2.64 In addition to these ‘primary’ minerals resources of commercial significance, the Plan 

area is also a supplier of secondary aggregate, in the form of waste ash from power 
stations located in Selby District.  The Plan area also produces recycled aggregate 

ANNEX 1Page 228



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  29 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

from construction and demolition waste.  These are both important sources of supply 
as they can act as more sustainable alternatives to the extraction of primary 
resources.  Marine aggregates constitute another potential source of aggregate but 
do not currently form an important element of supply in the area, although their 
significance may increase in future. 

 
2.65 As well as quarries and mines, the Plan area contains a range of other infrastructure 

associated with the supply of minerals.  These include plant for the manufacture of 
concrete and coated roadstone and the production of blocks made from aggregate, 
as well as facilities used or with potential for use to help to transport aggregate, such 
as rail heads and river wharves.  This infrastructure is important as it helps to ensure 
that minerals can be supplied in forms which the market requires and to the locations 
where it is needed.  The large majority of this infrastructure is located within the 
NYCC area. 

 
2.66 Markets for minerals are not restricted by administrative boundaries and evidence 

indicates that a number of export and import movements occur.  Although 
predominantly rural, the area is located between major urban areas to the south and 
north (West and South Yorkshire and Teesside respectively) and it is therefore not 
surprising that minerals are transported into these areas, where demand tends to be 
greater than in more rural locations and there are known supply constraints.  
Information about minerals movements is not available in full detail but we know that, 
in 2014, around one-half of all the sand and gravel and approximately one-third of all 
crushed rock produced in the area was transported to other locations in Yorkshire 
and Humber or into the North East Region, mainly Durham and Teesside. 

 
2.67 Less information is available for other minerals but it is understood from the mine 

operator that around a third of potash produced from the Boulby potash mine is 
exported from the UK.  Smaller scale known exports from the Plan area include silica 
sand, which has a national market and gas extracted in the Vale of Pickering, which 
is used to generate power and fed into the national grid.  Most of the building stone 
worked in the area is sold locally, although some is known to have served more 
distant markets, including Scotland.  Clay is used mainly at local manufacturing 
facilities within the Plan area. 

 
2.68 The overall scale of imports of minerals is relatively small compared with total 

consumption, although data is limited.  Known imports in 2014 include aggregate 
from the Yorkshire Dales National Park, the North East region, Cumbria, Doncaster, 
the East Riding, Nottinghamshire and Sunderland, although the specific pattern and 
volume of movements is likely to vary year-on-year in response to market 
circumstances.  Silica sand is also imported in to the Plan area as a raw material for 
a glass manufacturing plant near Selby, as well as to other locations in the Yorkshire 
and Humber area.  These imports, other than clear glass grade silica sand, are 
thought to relate mainly to minerals which meet specifications which cannot be 
provided from within the Plan area, or where local market conditions exist near the 
boundaries of the area. 

 
2.69 Transport of minerals within the Plan area is mainly by road although potash 

extracted from Boulby mine is transported by rail, whilst gas is transported by 
pipeline.  Some minerals are imported into the Plan area by rail, but this is currently 
limited to two sites in Selby district. 

  
2.70 The continued availability of reserves of some minerals, particularly sand and gravel 

and silica sand, is under pressure, with current reserves expected to run out during 
the Plan period in the absence of new permissions.  By comparison, the current 
supply situation for other minerals, such as crushed rock and potash is relatively 

ANNEX 1Page 229



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  30 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

healthy.  It is likely that there will be a need to make significant new provision for 
sand and gravel working in particular, if security of supply in accordance with current 
arrangements is to be maintained.   

 
2.71 Since work started on the Joint Plan, there has been a greatly increased focus on the 

potential for developing shale gas resources in the Plan area.  This follows the 
announcement of new oil and gas exploration and development licences in 
December 2015 and a decision by NYCC in May 2016 to grant permission for 
hydraulic fracturing of an existing well at Kirby Misperton in the Vale of Pickering.    

 
2.72 In June 2015, the North York Moors National Park Authority resolved to grant, 

permission for development of a major new polyhalite mine in the north eastern part 
of the National Park.  The permission was issued in October 2015. 

 
2.73 Whilst planning for the future supply of minerals is clearly important, there is also a 

need to ensure that other aspects of the Plan area that are highly valued, such as its 
high-quality landscapes and natural, built and cultural heritage (which includes the 
North York Moors National Park and AONBs and the historic core of York), its local 
communities and businesses, are protected from any harmful effects of minerals 
working and transport. 

 

Waste 
 
2.74 Dealing with waste is a major challenge for society and needs to be addressed 

alongside other initiatives to improve the sustainability of our environment and 
economy.  Many items discarded as waste have the potential to be re-used, recycled 
or used as a resource.  Managing waste in these ways has benefits in reducing the 
amount of natural resources that are consumed.  For example re-using or recycling 
materials generated during demolition activity can reduce the need for extraction of 
new minerals.  At the same time, it can reduce the need for landfilling of waste, which 
is itself an inherently unsustainable practice in many circumstances.  Treating waste 
as a resource can also lead to new opportunities for the economy, with the outputs of 
modern waste management processes acting as inputs to businesses which can use 
them.  The management of waste can be relatively energy and resource intensive, for 
example as a result of transportation requirements and the nature of certain waste 
management practices themselves.  In recent years there has been rapid change in 
the policy and regulatory context for waste management, as well as in the means by 
which waste is being managed, and this is expected to continue, suggesting a need 
for some flexibility in the Joint Plan. 

 
2.75 Waste arises from a wide range of domestic, commercial and industrial activities.  

The main waste types (streams) arising within the Plan area include: 

 Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW, which includes Household waste 
and other similar wastes collected by the Local Authorities) 

 Commercial and industrial waste (C&I) 

 Construction, demolition and excavation waste (CD&E) 

 Hazardous waste 

 Agricultural waste 

 Low level (non-nuclear industry) radioactive waste (LLR waste) 

 Waste Water. 
 
2.76 LACW, C&I and CD&E waste are the three main types which need to be considered 

in the Joint Plan, although the Plan also contains appropriate policy for other 
important waste streams known to arise.  Of the three main streams, CD&E waste is 
the most significant by volume in the Plan area. 

ANNEX 1Page 230



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  31 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
2.77 The amount and type of waste produced, and the ways in which it is managed, partly 

reflects the environmental, social and economic characteristics of the area.  
Concentrated populations and commercial/industrial activities, as are found in the 
City of York and the towns of Harrogate and Scarborough, along with industrial 
activity in the Selby area, are the largest producers of waste and this tends to be 
reflected in the overall pattern of waste management facilities.  However, large parts 
of the area are also highly rural, with population and development sparsely 
distributed.  The amounts of waste generated in these areas are likely to be lower 
(with the exception of agricultural waste) but managing waste in such areas can 
present challenges as arisings are more dispersed and significant transport of waste 
may be needed if local facilities cannot be provided. 

 
2.78 The majority of waste in the Plan area has, historically, been disposed of through 

landfill and this continues to be the case today for some waste types.  This is partly 
due to the fact that parts of the area have a high number of quarries which 
traditionally have been restored via landfill, and landfill has been a relatively cheap 
means of dealing with waste.  However, in line with the waste hierarchy7, current 
national policy seeks to change this position and deliver substantially greater levels of 
re-use, recycling and recovery of waste, such that only ‘residual’ waste (i.e. that 
which cannot be re-used, recycled or composted or put to beneficial use in some 
other way) is disposed.  The Government defines such a position as a ‘zero waste 
economy’. 

 
2.79 In addition to increased re-use, recycling and composting of waste, alternative 

methods of dealing with residual waste have been developed, including technologies 
such as mechanical and biological treatment, anaerobic digestion, incineration with 
energy recovery and advanced thermal treatment processes such as pyrolysis and 
gasification.  Some of these (such as anaerobic digestion and incineration with 
energy recovery) are well-established in the UK on a commercial scale.  Others, such 
as pyrolysis and gasification technologies, are less well established.   

 
2.80 There are many organisations involved in the overall process of dealing with waste 

and the actions of individuals are important too.  The three waste planning authorities 
have a particular responsibility to ensure that up to date planning policies are in place 
to help to support the more sustainable management of waste.  This can include 
setting out the general scale, distribution and nature of waste management capacity 
that is likely to be needed in the area over the next 15 years, as well as policies to 
ensure that any proposals for new waste facilities can be developed without 
unacceptable impact on communities, businesses and the environment. 

 
2.81 It is not the role of the Joint Plan to specify how waste is collected, or the detailed 

processes and technologies by which it must be managed.  These are mainly matters 
for business and the waste collection and disposal authorities.  Figure 7 below shows 
the waste disposal authorities covering the Plan area.  Most of the waste arising in 
the North York Moors and Yorkshire Dales National Parks is managed outside the 
Parks but within the NYCC area, and this situation is expected to continue. 

 

                                                
7 The Waste Hierarchy is a concept endorsed at all levels of planning policy which places five categories of waste 
management in their order of priority: Prevention, Preparing for Re-Use, Recycling, Other recovery, Disposal.   

ANNEX 1Page 231



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  32 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
       Figure 7: Waste Disposal Authorities covering the Plan area. 

 
2.82 Specific local targets for recycling, composting and diversion of household waste 

from landfill have been set by the York and North Yorkshire Waste Partnership 
(which comprises the seven District Councils in North Yorkshire together with the 
County Council and CYC).  Targets for waste management in the part of the North 
York Moors National Park falling within Redcar and Cleveland Borough are set out in 
the Tees Valley Joint Waste Management Strategy.  Whilst these matters are clearly 
of relevance to the Joint Plan, as they may have implications for the general range 
and quantity of waste management capacity that may be needed in the area, they are 
identified separately from it. 

 
2.83 The management of waste is not necessarily constrained by local authority 

boundaries.  Evidence suggests that there are both imports and exports of waste 
across the North Yorkshire sub-region boundary, as well as imports of waste from the 
adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority area.  Whilst some of these 
movements may be part of well-established patterns of waste management, other 
movements may take place in a more ad hoc way depending on shorter term 
commercial and market considerations.  Previous or current patterns of movement 
may not necessarily continue in the future in response to a wide range of market and 
other considerations.  This represents a considerable challenge to comprehensive 
planning for the management of waste and suggests a need for a degree of flexibility 
in the Joint Plan. 

 

Links between minerals and waste development 

 

2.84 There are important links between minerals and waste development.  The efficient 
use of materials such as waste power station ash, as alternatives to primary 
minerals, can help to conserve natural resources.  Quarries may have potential for 
the disposal of waste via landfill, as part of the reclamation process, in circumstances 

ANNEX 1Page 232



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  33 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

where any need for landfill capacity has been identified, and in some cases the 
disposal of residual inert waste via landfill can help to improve the quality of derelict 
or degraded land.  These links need to be reflected in the content of the Joint Plan. 

 
2.85 Minerals and waste developments can also deliver benefits.  For example, through 

the careful design, operation and reclamation of mineral sites it may be practicable to 
enhance wildlife habitats, improve the provision of floodwater storage capacity or 
deliver other environmental benefits help support local businesses and the economy. 
Some waste developments may be able to produce power or heat for use by local 
consumers. 

 
2.86 Both forms of development, due to their nature, also have the potential to give rise to 

adverse impacts, for example on the landscape, through the impact of vehicle 
movements and the generation of noise or other forms of pollution.  A key role for the 
Joint Plan is to develop planning policies which balance the need for development 
with ensuring that any harmful impacts are minimised through the appropriate 
location, design and operation of development. 

 
Addressing the Duty to Cooperate 
 
2.87 It is a legal requirement that local plans are prepared having regard to the statutory 

Duty to Cooperate on strategic cross-boundary issues.  Cooperation with a range of 
organisations, including other planning authorities and prescribed bodies, is required 
where necessary.  Both minerals and waste development can give rise to strategic 
matters of importance to more than one local authority area.  The decision to prepare 
the Plan on a joint basis is itself a response to the requirements of the Duty, 
reflecting the benefits of a consistent and coordinated approach which acknowledges 
existing cross-boundary issues and relationships. 

 
2.88 Development of the evidence base for the Joint Plan, together with the outcome of a 

range of consultation activity, has identified a number of issues on which cooperation 
with other bodies has been required in order to ensure a coordinated approach.   
These include: 

 Cross boundary movements of aggregate minerals, particularly exports to the 
West and South Yorkshire areas and to the North East and the implications of 
potential shortfalls in indigenous supply in parts of these areas. 

 Cross boundary supply issues relating to silica sand, which is a mineral of 
national importance. 

 Cross boundary movements of waste, particularly exports of waste from the 
Plan area to a range of other WPA areas 

 Safeguarding of minerals and waste sites and infrastructure within the two tier 
parts of the Plan area. 
 

2.89 Cooperation with a wide range of relevant organisations has taken place in relation to 
the above matters, resulting in the following specific actions: 

 Preparation of a joint Local Aggregates Assessment for the North Yorkshire 
sub-region to help to establish the scale of future requirements for aggregates 
minerals 

 Preparation of a Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement presenting 
evidence on waste arisings and capacity issues over the Yorkshire and 
Humber area 

 Preparation of a joint evidence study on waste capacity needs for the North 
Yorkshire sub-region 

ANNEX 1Page 233



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  34 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Agreed memoranda of understanding with the Yorkshire Dales National Park 
Authority and Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council in relation to 
arrangements for the management of waste 

 Liaison with a wide range of specific minerals and waste planning authorities 
in relation to identified cross-boundary movements of minerals and/or waste 

 Liaison with relevant prescribed bodies in relation to the development of 
policies for inclusion in the Joint Plan. 

 
2.90 A statement8 summarising work undertaken in relation to the Duty to Cooperate can 

be found in the evidence pages on the Joint Plan website. 

  

                                                
8 Duty to Cooperate Summary Document for Publication Stage 

ANNEX 1Page 234



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  35 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 3: Issues and Challenges 
 
3.1 In order to plan for minerals and waste development, it is important to understand the 

relevant issues and challenges facing the area and the implications of these for the 
Joint Plan.   

 
3.2 The need to ensure relevant issues have been taken into account is reinforced 

through the NPPF, which requires the Joint Plan to be justified and based upon 
proportionate evidence. 

 
3.3 The issues and challenges that the Joint Plan needs to address have been identified 

through: 

 Review of the NPPF, PPG, the National Planning Policy for Waste and other 
relevant national policy 

 Consideration of any relevant local policies and strategies, including local 
waste management strategies, Sustainable Communities Strategies and the 
North York Moors National Park Management Plan 

 Review of factual, technical and independently sourced information contained 
in the evidence base 

 Specific items of evidence produced to support the Plan 

 Comments received during consultation on the Joint Plan  
 
 

Issues and Challenges Summary 
 
3.4 The issues and challenges considered to be of most significance are summarised 

below.  These are addressed in more detail in Chapters 5 to 9 of the Joint Plan. 
 

Minerals 
 

 Ensuring a continuity of supply of minerals, reflecting where practicable the likely 
levels of economic and housing growth and future requirements for minerals; 

 Encouraging the use of alternative sources of supply of minerals such as 
secondary, recycled and marine aggregate over primary land won minerals 
extraction; 

 Maintaining the required landbanks for sand and gravel, crushed rock, silica sand 
and clay, but as far as practicable providing for these outside of the National Park 
and AONBs; 

 Continuing to provide a supply of building stone for repair of traditional buildings 
and for new build; 

 Considering how to address the potential positive and negative impacts of 
exploiting unconventional hydrocarbon resources such as shale gas as well as 
planning for conventional forms of energy minerals; 

 Addressing commercial interest for potash mining in the National Park; 

 Safeguarding important minerals resources and infrastructure from sterilisation by 
other uses; 

 Ensuring there are sufficient safeguards in place to minimise the impacts of 
minerals extraction on communities, the environment and other important assets; 

 Providing for a range of enhancements, including ecological services and 
biodiversity, particularly through reclamation of workings; and 

 Developing an appropriate locational strategy for minerals supply, taking account 
of cross-boundary supply issues where relevant. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 235



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  36 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Waste 
 

 Promoting the management of waste further up the waste hierarchy i.e. reducing 
the amount going to landfill and encouraging the re-use, recycling, composting 
and recovery of waste, as well as supporting an overall reduction in the 
generation of waste; 

 Supporting the delivery of the additional waste management capacity expected to 
be required, in line with any identified needs; 

 Incorporating flexibility to reflect uncertainties resulting from waste data limitations 
and evolving technologies and practice; 

 Developing an appropriate locational strategy for new waste management 
facilities, taking account of cross-boundary movements where relevant; 

 Considering opportunities to co-locate waste management facilities with 
complementary uses; 

 Ensuring there are sufficient safeguards in place to minimise the local impacts of 
waste management on communities, the environment and other important assets; 
and 

 Safeguarding strategically important waste management infrastructure. 
 

General 
 

 Establishing policies which are appropriate across the diverse characteristics of 
the Plan area; 

 Developing an appropriate approach to the protection and enhancement of the 
Plan areas’ important landscapes, and natural and heritage assets including the 
North York Moors National Park, AONBs and World Heritage Site, the historic city 
of York, numerous Conservation Areas, Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 
Special Areas of Conservation, Ramsar Sites, Special Protection Areas, Sites of 
Importance for Nature Conservation, Heritage Coast, Green Belt, nature reserves 
and listed buildings and ground and surface water supply and quality; as well as 
the wide range of non-designated assets which are important for their own 
intrinsic value;  

 Ensuring minerals and waste development contributes to and supports economic 
growth both within the Plan area and nationally, including the employment 
opportunities that they provide; 

 Seeking to reduce carbon emissions, particularly in relation to the transportation 
of minerals and waste, promoting re-use and recycling of materials and recovery 
of energy from waste; and providing opportunities to assist in adapting to the 
effects of climate change, such as reducing flood risk and enhancing habitat 
connectivity; 

 Considering accessibility to major transportation networks and sustainable 
transport infrastructure, recognising constraints on opportunities for the 
movement of minerals or waste;  

 Recognising the potential for mutually beneficial links between minerals and 
waste activities, such as utilising specific waste streams in the sustainable 
restoration of mineral workings; and 

 Ensuring an element of flexibility is built into the Joint Plan. 
 

  

ANNEX 1Page 236



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  37 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 4: Vision and Objectives  
 

4.1 Having a vision and objectives gives direction to the policies in the Plan and helps to 
ensure it delivers what we want to achieve.  The vision and objectives in this Chapter 
respond to the issues and challenges facing the area and reflect the outcomes of 
public consultation, as well as the evidence base and the wider policy context.   

 

 

Vision and Priorities 

 
Over the period to 31 December 2030 the Plan area will move towards the more sustainable 
provision of minerals and waste infrastructure and services, maintaining a careful balance 
between meeting future needs whilst protecting and enhancing the Plan area’s environment, 
protecting and supporting its communities and strengthening its economy. 
 
The following interconnected priorities underpin the vision and objectives: 

 Delivering sustainable waste management 

 Achieving the efficient use of minerals resources 

 Optimising the spatial distribution of minerals and waste development 

 Protecting and enhancing the environment, supporting communities and 
businesses and mitigating and adapting to climate change. 

 

Delivering Sustainable Waste Management 
 

i. Less waste will be generated and the Plan area will have moved substantially closer 
to a zero waste economy, with more waste being used as a resource and disposal of 
waste arising in the Plan area only taking place as a last resort.  National and local 
targets for recycling and diversion of waste will, as a minimum, have been met and, 
where practicable, exceeded.  Important waste management infrastructure will have 
been safeguarded for the future and the Plan area will have delivered sufficient waste 
management capacity to meet needs equivalent to waste arising in North Yorkshire 
and the City of York, with waste only being exported out of the Plan area where 
necessary or more sustainable. 

 

Achieving the Efficient Use of Minerals Resources 
 

ii. Whilst maximising the use of alternatives to primary minerals, the provision of an 
adequate and steady supply of minerals will have been maintained, recognising the 
important role the Plan area has in the supply of a range of minerals and in particular 
recognising the area’s role in aggregates provision in the Yorkshire and Humber area 
and the adjacent North East region.  Provision will have also reflected the importance 
of using local minerals to help to maintain and improve the quality of the area’s built 
environment.  Important minerals resources and minerals supply infrastructure will 
have been safeguarded effectively for the future. 

 
Optimising the Spatial Distribution of Minerals and Waste Development 
 

iii. Where geological, environmental and infrastructure considerations allow, 
opportunities to ensure a good match between locations of minerals supply and 
demand will have been taken, and appropriately located mineral workings  will also 
be playing a role as locations for the re-use and/or recycling of construction and 
demolition and excavation waste. 

ANNEX 1Page 237



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  38 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
iv. For both minerals and waste development, an adequate network of suitably scaled 

and sustainably located facilities will have been delivered in order to meet 
requirements identified in the Joint Plan and the distribution of these will reflect the 
availability of adequate transportation networks, any opportunities for modal shift and 
the benefits of minimising the overall distance waste and minerals are transported.  

 
v. Waste arising in both urban and rural areas will be managed as near to where it 

arises as practicable, appropriate to the waste stream and scale of arisings, through 
a network of facilities accessible to local communities and businesses.  New waste 
facilities in both urban and rural locations will, where practicable, have been co-
located with complementary industries, businesses and producers or users of waste, 
in order to maximise the overall efficiency of waste management and the delivery of 
wider benefits to local businesses and the economy, including from the generation of 
heat and power through the recovery of waste. 

 
vi. In identifying appropriate locations for the delivery of both minerals and waste 

development the distinguished natural, historic and cultural environment and unique 
and special landscapes of the Plan area will have been protected, with particular 
protection afforded to the North York Moors National Park, the Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, the historic City of York and the World Heritage Site at Fountains 
Abbey/Studley Royal 

 
Protecting and Enhancing the Environment, Supporting Communities and 
Businesses and Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change 
 
vii. Minerals and waste development will be taking place in accordance with the highest 

practicable standards of design, operation and mitigation throughout the life of the 
development in order to ensure that the amenity and health of local communities, the 
sustainability of local businesses and the high-quality environment of the Plan area 
are given robust protection, including from any adverse cumulative impacts arising 
from development of shale gas resources  Liaison between developers and local 
communities, businesses, regulators and landowners will have been key in delivering 
this. 

 
viii. Improved efficiency in energy and resource use, including increased use of 

alternatives to primary minerals and appropriate design and mitigation to address 
effects on, and from, climate change, including reducing the carbon footprint 
associated with minerals and waste and reducing flooding will have occurred, and a 
high standard of reclamation and afteruse of minerals and waste sites will be being 
delivered, providing a range of benefits for local communities and the environment of 
the area, including connecting local access and enhancing biodiversity and 
ecological networks at a landscape scale where practicable, as well as protecting 
and restoring high quality agricultural land. 

ANNEX 1Page 238



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  39 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Objectives 

 
4.2 Based on the Vision and the priorities identified above, the following objectives 

provide a means of taking them forward.  They are split into four groups reflecting the 
interconnected priorities. 

 

Delivering sustainable waste management 
 

Objective 1 Encouraging the management of waste further up the hierarchy   

Explanation  

This means supporting the efficient use of materials in the design and 
construction of development and supporting a reduction in the amount 
of waste generated by individuals and organisations; meeting national 
and local targets for high quality recycling, composting and diversion of 
waste from landfill; using waste as a resource; incinerating waste 
without effective energy recovery and disposing of waste via landfill 
only as a last resort or to ensure that landfill sites, quarries or degraded 
land are restored to beneficial use, and identifying appropriate links 
between waste and minerals policy. 

 

Objective 2 
Making adequate provision for the waste management capacity 
needed to manage waste arising within the sub-region and 
safeguarding important waste management infrastructure 

Explanation  

This means planning for the delivery, where practicable, of the new 
waste management infrastructure needed to manage a level of arisings 
equivalent to the anticipated future arisings of waste in the Plan area, 
including arisings of Local Authority Collected Waste arising within the 
adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority area; and; 
safeguarding and supporting the best use of important waste 
management infrastructure and ensuring appropriate co-ordination with 
District and Borough Councils in North Yorkshire to ensure a joined-up 
approach to safeguarding.  It also helps to support the contribution of 
the waste industry to the local and wider economy. 

 
Achieving the efficient use of minerals resources 
 

Objective 3 
Safeguarding important minerals resources and minerals 
infrastructure for the future 

Explanation  

This means safeguarding relevant surface and underground minerals 
resources of national and local importance, important aggregates 
supply and transport infrastructure such as railheads, wharfs, 
roadstone coating and concrete plants; and ensuring appropriate co-
ordination with District and Borough Councils in North Yorkshire to 
ensure a joined-up approach to safeguarding. 

 
 
 

ANNEX 1Page 239



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  40 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Objective 4 

Prioritising the long-term conservation of minerals through 
facilitating provision of sustainable alternatives to primary 
minerals extraction, including increasing the re-use and recycling 
of minerals and the use of secondary aggregates 

Explanation  

This means identifying an appropriate local contribution from 
alternative sources to primary land won minerals; supporting the 
development of such alternative sources in appropriate locations; 
encouraging the efficient use of minerals resources through the 
sustainable design and construction of new development; and 
identifying appropriate policy links between minerals and waste policy. 

 

Objective 5 

Planning for the steady and adequate supply of the minerals 
needed to contribute to local and wider economic growth, built 
development, quality of life, local distinctiveness and energy 
requirements, within the principles of sustainable development 

Explanation. 

This means identifying and maintaining future supply requirements for 
minerals, in line with national planning policy and the North Yorkshire 
Local Aggregates Assessment and maintaining adequate landbanks, 
recognising the role of the Plan area in the supply of minerals beyond 
the Plan area boundary; whilst also considering and responding to the 
ability of the area to sustain minerals extraction without compromising 
other social, economic and environmental goals including obligations 
under the Climate Change Act. 

 

Optimising the spatial distribution of minerals and waste 
development 
 

Objective 6 
Identifying suitable locations for the extraction and recycling of 
minerals, the production of secondary aggregate, key minerals 
supply and transport infrastructure and the management of waste 

Explanation  

This means identifying and allocating appropriate sites or areas for 
future minerals working, the provision of secondary and recycled 
aggregate, minerals supply and transport infrastructure and the 
disposal of mineral waste, as well as identifying and allocating 
appropriate sites or areas for the management and where necessary 
disposal of waste.  Identification of strategically important sites or areas 
will be the priority.  It also includes identifying appropriate development 
criteria for new sites where identification of specific sites or areas is not 
practicable. 

 

Objective 7 

Seeking a good match between locations for waste management 
infrastructure and the places where waste arises, and between 
locations for mineral working and minerals supply infrastructure 
and the places where minerals and mineral products are used, in 
order to minimise the overall need for transport 

Explanation  

This means developing locational policy which encourages new waste 
management infrastructure in locations as near as practicable to 
existing sources of arisings and expected patterns of future growth; co-
locating waste facilities, where practicable, with complementary 
industries, businesses and producers or end users of waste including 
taking opportunities to utilise heat and/or power for the benefit of local 
communities and businesses, and; encouraging new minerals workings 

ANNEX 1Page 240



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  41 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

and infrastructure, including sites for the supply of secondary and 
recycled aggregate, in locations well related to existing markets within 
and near to the Plan area.  

 

Objective 8 
Promoting the use of alternatives to road transport and ensuring 
that new development is served by suitable transport networks 

Explanation  

This means developing locational policy which encourages new waste 
management infrastructure, minerals workings and minerals supply 
infrastructure in locations where sustainable transport modes such as 
rail, water, pipeline and underground conveyor systems can be utilised 
where practicable for longer distance and large scale movements; and; 
where such modes are not practicable, that locations for development 
are well-connected to suitable highways infrastructure and impacts on 
the road network minimised. 

 

Protecting and enhancing the environment, supporting 
communities and businesses and mitigating and adapting to 
climate change 
 

Objective 9 
Protecting and where appropriate enhancing the natural and 
historic environment, landscapes and tranquil areas of the Plan 
area  

Explanation  

This means developing policy to protect, conserve and where 
practicable enhance the environment of the Plan area, including 
natural, historic and pre-historic assets, landscapes and environments, 
priority habitats and biodiversity, geodiversity, ground and surface 
waters, green infrastructure (including agricultural land) and 
ecosystems services; recognising and protecting the special qualities 
of the North York Moors National Park, the AONBs, and the historic 
character and setting of York and supporting the use of local building 
stone to help maintain and improve the quality of the built environment 
and local distinctiveness. 

 

Objective 10 
Protecting local communities,  businesses and visitors from the 
impacts of minerals and waste development, including transport 

Explanation. 

This means promoting high standards of design, operation and where 
relevant reclamation of minerals and waste sites (including sites for the 
supply of secondary and recycled aggregate and the disposal of 
mineral waste) and high standards in the transport of minerals and 
waste; as well as promoting the involvement of local communities and 
businesses in proposals for minerals and waste development in order 
to help protect local amenity, quality of life and the local economy. 

 

 

 

 

ANNEX 1Page 241



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  42 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Objective 11 

Encouraging the sustainable design and operation of minerals 
and waste development activity, including using opportunities 
arising from minerals and waste development and reclamation 
activity to mitigate and adapt to climate change 

Explanation  

This means planning for more sustainable design and working 
practices, including those aimed at carbon reduction, at minerals and 
waste sites; considering opportunities for the delivery of renewable and 
low carbon energy; and taking a long term view of the potential for 
reclaimed minerals sites for purposes such as flood alleviation, the 
provision of ecosystems services and maintenance of agricultural 
capacity.  This objective would also contribute to meeting the national 
requirement to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 80% below 1990 
levels by 2050. 

 

Objective 12 
Delivering benefits for biodiversity, geodiversity, recreation and 
public access and other green infrastructure through reclamation 
of minerals workings 

Explanation  

This objective supports wider objectives within the NPPF and within 
local strategies which seek to enhance conditions for biodiversity and 
other important environmental objectives, increase opportunities 
available for recreation and public access and ensure measures are in 
place to enhance green infrastructure.  This objective also supports a 
strategic, landscape-scale approach to reclamation where this could 
help to minimise adverse impacts and deliver maximum benefits. 

 

 

Policies map and key diagrams 
 
4.3 The NPPF requires that local plans indicate broad locations for strategic 

development on a key diagram and land use policies on a Policies Map.   
 
4.4  The Policies Map illustrates geographically the policies in the Joint Plan, based on an 

Ordnance Survey map base.  The map includes a range of information such as 
assets and designations, minerals safeguarding areas and site allocations.  The 
Policies Map is available to view on the Joint Plan website at 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwconsult . 

 
4.5 The Plan area is very large.  To ensure that the paper version of the Policies Map is 

user-friendly, the area has been subdivided into 15 sections (see key map below).  A 
number of separate theme-based maps have also been prepared to illustrate some 
of the large-scale constraints, such as flood zones and aerodrome safeguarding 
zones. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 242

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwconsult


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  43 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
             Figure 8: Breakdown of Policies Map across the Plan area 

 
4.6 Both the minerals and waste key diagrams (see below) are prepared on a base plan 

reflecting elements of the York, North Yorkshire and East Riding non-statutory 
Spatial Plan and depict the ’focus for growth areas’ as identified within the Spatial 
Plan.  It also identifies main towns (with a population in excess of 10,000) and key 
transport links across the area, as these are of significance for both minerals and 
waste development.   

 
4.7  The minerals key diagram identifies the general extent of surface minerals resources, 

reflecting the fact that minerals can only be worked where they occur.  Many of these 
resources are also proposed for safeguarding in the Joint Plan.  Main areas of 
important environmental designations, where mineral working is constrained by 
national and local policy, are shown.  The diagram also shows illustratively the 
northwards and southwards landbank areas for concreting sand and gravel and 
identifies a number of key minerals and minerals infrastructure sites of particular 
significance within the Plan area.  Important known export market destinations for 
aggregates minerals are indicated to illustrate important cross-boundary supply 
relationships.  Active and dormant mineral working sites are also identified to indicate 
where development is currently taking place, or where there is potential for it to take 
place.   

 
4.8 The waste key diagram identifies important existing waste infrastructure which is 

proposed for safeguarding in the Joint Plan.  It also indicates strategic locations of 
current or permitted large scale infrastructure for management of LACW and C&I 
waste.  Areas of Green Belt are indicated as certain forms of waste management 
activity are unlikely to be acceptable in such areas.  The extent of the inner boundary 
of the Green Belt for the City of York area is currently under review through 
preparation of the City of York Local Plan. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 243



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  44 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 1Page 244



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  45 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 1Page 245



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  46 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Monitoring and Review 
 
4.9 Monitoring the effects of the policies set out in the Joint Plan will be important.  This 

is to ensure that policies are having their intended effects and to identify whether any 
review is required.  A monitoring framework has been prepared to accompany the 
Joint Plan and is provided in Appendix 3. 

 
4.10 National legislation and  planning policy requires that development plans be reviewed 

every five years from adoption. It is also possible that matters justifying a review may 
arise over a timeframe of less than five years. The need for review may arise as a 
result of factors such as a significant change in circumstances, including the 
availability of important new evidence, or a major change to national policy, or as a 
result of changing and unforeseen development pressures in an area.   

 
4.11 There are three key policy areas addressed in the Joint Plan, identifiable at this 

stage, which could lead to a need for review.  These are: 

 To ensure that adequate landbanks of sand and gravel and/or crushed rock 
can be maintained in the latter part of the Plan period. This will be influenced 
by the actual level of demand for these minerals which arises during the 
earlier years of the Joint Plan and whether suitable proposals are brought 
forward on sites or areas identified in the Joint Plan.  This matter will be kept 
under review including through the preparation of an annual Local Aggregates 
Assessment, with review of the relevant policies and any further requirement 
for site allocations or areas carried out as necessary; and; 

 To ensure that sufficient site allocations are identified to meet requirements 
resulting from a significant and unforeseen increase in waste arising in the 
area.  This matter will be kept under review through monitoring of the Plan; 
and; 

 To respond to new issues arising out of any further exploration activity for 
shale gas in the area. Around the time of finalisation of the Joint Plan, in 
November 2019, the Government imposed an effective moratorium on 
hydraulic fracturing by introducing a presumption against the issuing of any 
further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new evidence is 
provided which would address concerns about the prediction and 
management of induced seismicity. A written Ministerial Statement 
accompanying the introduction of the moratorium emphasised the 
Government’s view that natural gas remains an important source of secure 
and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in this. As the 
Joint Plan is intended to cover the period to 2030, the Authorities take the 
view that it is important to maintain local policy for shale gas development, so 
as to ensure that local policy coverage is in place should the moratorium be 
lifted, but it will be necessary to keep under review both the need for, and 
scope of, these policies. At present there is substantial uncertainty over the 
extent and geographical distribution of any commercially recoverable gas and 
this factor, together with the very early stage of the shale gas industry in the 
UK as a whole, leads to a lack of clarity on the scale of development pressure 
the area could be facing.  There is also some uncertainty over the specific 
development ‘model’ that may be followed by industry in the UK with respect 
to shale gas, and how this might influence the scale and nature of planning 
impacts that could arise. Such impacts might include those affecting a 
localised area only, whereas other effects, particularly those relating to 
greenhouse gas emissions for example, could have wider implications in 
terms of climate change considerations. Whilst the policies in the Joint Plan 
set out a comprehensive range of criteria to deal with proposals for 
hydrocarbons development, based on available information, and represent a 

ANNEX 1Page 246



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  47 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

precautionary approach reflecting this uncertainty, it may be practicable to 
develop these further in future.  This could require, in due course, provision of 
more detailed spatial guidance on the location and scale of development 
which may be acceptable, as well as updated criteria on relevant operational 
issues which arise.  The MPAs will therefore initiate a review of these policies 
where this would be justified by significant new evidence emerging on 
relevant matters including: 
a) the scale and distribution of proposals for commercial production that 

could come forward following further exploration and appraisal activity; 
b) the environmental, economic, amenity or public health impacts of 

hydrocarbon development (including impacts from greenhouse gas 
emissions and on climate change, and as a result of induced seismicity); 

c) the award of any further Petroleum Exploration, Production and 
Development Licences in the Plan area or other significant regulatory 
changes relevant to the development of local planning policy; 

d)    where the capacity and capability of existing treatment facilities to deal 
with waste water arisings may be significantly challenged.  

 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNEX 1Page 247



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  48 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 5: Minerals 

5.1 This Chapter puts forward policies to help to maintain continuity of supply of the 
various mineral resources present in the Plan area.  Where practicable it identifies 
expected future needs and how those needs could be met, as well as any key 
‘spatial’ issues that may be relevant.  In this respect it should be noted that no overall 
spatial approach to extracting all forms of mineral worked in the Plan area is 
included, mainly because minerals can only be extracted where they occur in 
economically viable quantities and this is fundamentally constrained by geology.  
More detailed consideration of the potential impacts of minerals extraction on the 
environment and communities is provided in Chapter 9 Development Management. 

 

Aggregates supply 

 
5.2 Planning for future supply of aggregate minerals (sand and gravel and crushed rock 

used mainly by the construction industry) is complex and is the subject of a range of 
national policy and guidance.  There is a more detailed evidence base on sales, 
reserves and movements of aggregate compared with other minerals worked in the 
area.  The following sections address a range of issues relating to the supply of 
aggregate.   

 

Spatial Approach to Aggregates Supply 

5.3 Aggregates are identified in national policy as a mineral of national and local 
importance and are some of the most important primary minerals worked in the Plan 
area, as they contribute to requirements for high-quality concreting aggregate in 
other parts of Yorkshire and Humber and the North East, as well as meeting local 
requirements.  Minerals resource information produced to support preparation of the 
Joint Plan indicates that the large majority of potential sand and gravel resources in 
the Plan area, particularly those of greatest commercial significance, are located 
within NYCC.  The total volume of the resource is very large, although a wide number 
of constraints such as surface development, environmental constraints and 
accessibility considerations, means that the volume potentially available for 
extraction is likely to be much lower.   

 

 

 

ANNEX 1Page 248



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  49 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Figure 9: Aggregate resources in Plan area 

5.4 Crushed rock resources in the Plan area typically comprise three main types: 
Carboniferous limestone, which occurs in the north around the Scotch Corner-
Leyburn area in Richmondshire and Craven in the west; Magnesian limestone, which 
occurs as a narrow band running north-south through the central part of the area; 
and Jurassic limestone, which occurs around the fringes of the Vale of Pickering and 
the North York Moors National Park in the east of the area.  Small amounts of chalk 
have previously been produced but working has now stopped.  There are no crushed 
rock resources in the City of York. 

 
5.5 Substantial resources and permitted reserves of crushed rock exist within Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (Howardian Hills and Nidderdale AONBs respectively) 
and resources also exist in the southern part of the North York Moors National Park.  
However, as with sand and gravel, national policy encourages the maintenance of 
crushed rock landbanks from outside National Parks and AONBs, as far as 
practicable.   

 

Policy M01: Broad geographical approach to supply of 
aggregates 
The Plan area outside the North York Moors National Park, the Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and the City of York will be the main focus for 
extraction of aggregate (sand and gravel and crushed rock).  Exceptions to this 
principle will be made for: 
 

1) In the National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the 
extraction of crushed rock aggregate where it is incidental to and would not 
compromise the supply of building stone extraction as the primary activity, 

ANNEX 1Page 249



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  50 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

and where the removal of crushed rock from the site will not compromise 
the high quality reclamation and afteruse of the site. 
 

2) In the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the extension of time for the 
extraction of remaining permitted reserves at existing quarries and/or the 
limited lateral extension or deepening of existing quarries where necessary 
to help ensure continued operation of the site during the Plan period.  Any 
proposals in these areas will need to demonstrate a particularly high 
standard of mitigation of any environmental impacts including, where 
practical, enhanced mitigation and higher-quality site reclamation 
compared with that required by the existing permission/s.  Where proposals 
are considered to comprise major development the test for major 
development in Policy D04 will also need to be satisfied. 

 
3) In the City of York area, the small scale extraction of sand and gravel where 

this is consistent with safeguarding the historic character and setting of the 
City. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M02, M03, M05, M07, M08, M09, M10, D01, D02, D03, 
D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, D10, D11, D12 

Objectives 6, 7, 9 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 1 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.6 Due to a combination of resource availability issues and environmental constraints, it 

is expected that the NYCC area will be the main focus for aggregates working over 
the Plan period.  However, there may be limited circumstances where it would be 
appropriate to support aggregates extraction in other parts of the Plan area. 

 
5.7 Although extraction has taken place until relatively recently there are now no existing 

permitted aggregates quarries in the National Park.  Further working would therefore 
involve opening a new quarry.  It is not considered that there is sufficient justification 
for such development, taking into account the substantial permitted reserves 
elsewhere in the Plan area, as well as national policy, which supports the 
maintenance of landbanks of aggregate from outside National Parks as far as 
practical.   

 
5.8 Although Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are also subject to a similar degree of 

national policy constraint, the AONBs in the Plan area contain a number of well-
established crushed rock quarries, including Pateley Bridge Quarry in the Nidderdale 
AONB and a number of smaller quarries in the Howardian Hills AONB.  It would not 
be appropriate to support large-scale new working in these areas during the Plan 
period, taking into account the availability of reserves and resources of crushed rock 
elsewhere in the Plan area.  However, provision of support for the continuation of 
working at sites where existing time-limited permissions are due to expire during the 
Plan period yet reserves remain would help to ensure that local economic benefits, 
including local employment, are sustained, as well as maintain the site’s contribution 
to the overall supply of aggregate.  Similar benefits could also arise through the 
limited physical extension of quarrying at existing sites in the AONB where this is 
needed to enable the site to continue its’ existing role in supply. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 250



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  51 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

5.9 Where a time extension or additional extraction through lateral extensions or 
deepening are proposed, a very high degree of protection of the environment should 
be demonstrated and, preferably, a better quality of mitigation and site reclamation 
secured compared with that required by the existing permission/s.  This is necessary 
to reduce the overall impact of such development on these highly protected areas.  It 
is unlikely that proposals involving an increase in rate of output compared with the 
previous position would be supported under this policy.  National policy does not 
preclude major development from taking place in protected areas.  However, 
proposals need to be considered against the requirements for major development 
which state that exceptional circumstances need to be shown and that it can be 
demonstrated they are in the public interest.  Although the term ‘major development’ 
is not defined in the context of the national policy test, it is likely that most proposals 
for extensions to aggregates quarries in the National Park and AONBs will need to be 
subject to the test, as set out in Policy D04 of the Plan. 

 
5.10 There is no recent history of aggregates extraction in the City of York area but 

evidence suggests that some sand and gravel resources (mainly building sand) are 
present, particularly in the north.  Resources in this area are subject to a substantial 
number of environmental and physical constraints and it is considered that the 
potential to identify suitable resources for development is relatively low.  No 
proposals have come forward from industry in response to calls for sites.  However, 
provision of support in principle for small-scale extraction would be appropriate to 
deliver a local contribution to supply, subject to suitable proposals coming forward.  
The emerging York Local Plan identifies a range of criteria which would need to be 
met by any proposals for working in the City of York area and any proposals would 
also need to comply with the development management policies in the Joint Plan. 

 

Scale of provision of sand and gravel over the Plan period 
 
5.11 A North Yorkshire sub-regional Local Aggregates Assessment (LAA) has been 

produced in partnership by North Yorkshire County Council, City of York Council and 
the North York Moors and Yorkshire Dales National Park Authorities and provides an 
important source of evidence on supply of, and potential future requirements for, 
sand and gravel.   

 
5.12 The evidence indicates that demand for sand and gravel worked in the Plan area is 

likely to continue and may increase over recent historic levels.  Pressure for growth 
and development generates demand for aggregate minerals, including sand and 
gravel.  The Plan area has traditionally been a major supplier of sand and gravel.  
Information about relevant future supply and demand factors for sand and gravel has 
been included in the Local Aggregates Assessment for the North Yorkshire Sub-
region, which will be updated regularly.  In order to ensure that an adequate supply 
can be maintained, significant additional resources of sand and gravel will need to be 
made available for working in the Plan area, in line with the level of demand 
forecasted in the LAA. 

 

Policy M02:  Provision of sand and gravel 

ANNEX 1Page 251



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  52 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Total provision for sand and gravel over the 15 year period 1st January 2016 to 31st 
December 2030 will be 36.6 million tonnes, at an equivalent annual rate of 2.44 
million tonnes as indicated in Table 1 and Table 3. 
 
Additional provision shall be made, through a 5 yearly review of provision in the 
Plan, if necessary to maintain a landbank of at least 7 years for sand and gravel at 
31 December 2030 and/or to meet additional requirements identified through 
updates to the Local Aggregate Assessment, based on an annual rate of provision 
to be determined through the review. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Minerals 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M03, M04, M07, M08, M10, M11, S01, D01 Objective 5  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 2 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.13 The Plan area is particularly important for the supply of high quality concreting 

aggregate, of which it is significantly the largest supplier in the Yorkshire and Humber 
area.  Supply of concreting sand and gravel northwards into the Tees Valley and 
adjacent areas in the North East from quarries in northern North Yorkshire is also 
very important.  In 2014 around a half of sales were exports to locations outside 
North Yorkshire.  It is expected that the important role of the area in the supply of 
aggregate minerals, including to markets outside the Plan area, will need to continue 
over the Plan period. 

 
5.14 The initial distribution of provision between concreting sand and gravel (northwards 

distribution), concreting sand and gravel (southwards distribution) and building sand 
will be in accordance with the approach set out in Policy M03 Overall distribution of 
sand and gravel provision.   

 
5.15 To ensure that an adequate supply (i.e. to maintain a landbank of at least 7 years) is 

available at the end of 2030, additional resources may be needed to deliver this, 
depending on the actual scale of demand that arises.  As it is intended that the Local 
Aggregates Assessment will be updated regularly, and that it may be expected that 
the demand forecast may change over the Plan period in response to new 
information, it is not considered appropriate to specify, at this stage, the precise level 
of further provision that may be needed in order to maintain a landback of at least 7 
years at 31 December 2030.  This is a matter which can be addressed in monitoring 
of the Joint Plan and via a 5 yearly review, at which time the level of additional 
provision which may be needed can be the subject of updated assessment, through 
the annual review of the Local Aggregates Assessment, with additional site 
allocations brought forward if necessary.  A commitment to maintaining a landbank of 
at least 7 years is set out in Policy M04 and Policies M07 and M08 identify sites 
which could be brought forward to meet landbank requirements for sand and gravel 
in the later part of the Plan period. 

 

Overall distribution of sand and gravel provision 

5.16 The Local Aggregates Assessment provides further information on the operation of 
the sand and gravel supply system in North Yorkshire and is a key source of 
evidence for the Joint Plan. 

 
5.17 Due to the specific properties and different end uses of building sand and concreting 

sand and gravel, their supply has been addressed separately.  There is no general 

ANNEX 1Page 252



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  53 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

substitute for building sand and concreting sand and gravel and it is considered that 
maintaining this distinction is likely to remain appropriate over the Plan period. 

 

Policy M03:  Overall distribution of sand and gravel provision 
Overall provision of sand and gravel will be allocated in the following proportions: 

 Concreting sand and gravel (Southwards distribution area): 50% 

 Concreting sand and gravel (Northwards distribution area): 45% 

 Building sand: 5% 
 
In accordance with the numerical requirements identified in Tables 1 and 2 and 
based on the interactive location of the Northwards and Southwards distribution 
areas as shown in the Minerals Key Diagram on page 44. 
 
If it is not practicable to make overall provision in accordance with this ratio, 
through grant of permission on allocated sites, provision for concreting sand and 
gravel shall be made across both areas in combination.   

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Minerals 
Industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M02, M04, M07, M08, S01, S04, S05, D01, Minerals 
Key Diagram (page 44) 

Objectives 5, 6, 7 

Monitoring: Monitoring indicator 3 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.18 Evidence in the Local Aggregates Assessment suggests that demand for sand and 

gravel from the Plan area will be significant and that there will be a continuing 
requirement for exports of concreting sand and gravel into adjacent areas in the 
North East and Yorkshire and Humber, where in some locations there are substantial 
limitations on the availability of similar resources.  Since adoption of the North 
Yorkshire Minerals Plan in 1997, separate provision has been made for maintenance 
of supply in northwards and southwards distribution areas for concreting sand and 
gravel.  This reflects the distribution of key markets for sand and gravel as well as the 
distribution of sources of supply and has been successful in maintaining supply and 
in helping to ensure a distribution of mineral workings which reflects proximity to 
markets, therefore helping to reduce overall transportation distances.  In determining 
in which area a proposed site or reserve falls, regard will be had to its geographical 
location and the likely markets for the mineral.  The division between the concreting 
sand and gravel northwards and southwards distribution areas is shown indicatively 
on the minerals key diagram (see page 44 of the Plan). Specific requirements for 
sand and gravel in order to maintain adequate suipply throughout the Plan period are 
set out in Policies M07 and M08 and Tables 1 and 2.  

 
5.19 Although there are some indications that there could be a small relative increase in 

future demand from markets to the south (i.e. in West and South Yorkshire) in 
response to future supply constraints and growth pressures, an allowance for this 
has been made in the overall forecast of demand for the Plan area and there are a 
number of uncertainties about the actual scale of future demand for concreting sand 
and gravel in the various markets served by the Plan area.  It is therefore considered 
that provision should be made in general accordance with the recent historic shares 
of total provision from each distribution area, with separate provision for building 
sand reflecting the different end uses for this product. 

 
5.20 In common with other types of minerals resources present in the Plan area, sand and 

gravel resources partly overlap with a range of sensitive locations and designations, 

ANNEX 1Page 253



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  54 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

including important natural environment designations and heritage assets, some of 
which are of large geographical extent.  Later policies in the Joint Plan seek to 
ensure that, so far as practicable, future requirements for sand and gravel are met 
through identifying particular sites or areas and this, along with the development 
management policies in the Joint Plan, provides a mechanism to ensure that the 
impacts of any future sand and gravel working, wherever it is proposed, would not 
lead to unacceptable impacts. 

 

Landbanks for sand and gravel 
 
5.21 Landbanks are an important aspect of Government policy to ensure continuity of 

supply of minerals and support economic growth and provision of infrastructure.  The 
NPPF requires mineral planning authorities to make provision for landbanks for sand 
and gravel of at least 7 years supply (i.e. sufficient reserves with planning permission 
to last for at least 7 years at the anticipated annual rate of extraction identified in the 
Local Plan).   

 

Policy M04:  Landbanks for sand and gravel 
A landbank of at least 7 years for concreting sand and gravel will be maintained 
throughout the Plan period for each of the northwards and southwards distribution 
areas identified on the key diagram.   
 
A landbank of at least 7 years will be maintained throughout the Plan period for 
building sand. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Minerals 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M02, M03, M07, M08, M10,  S01, D01 Objective 5 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 4 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.22 The landbank is a key means of monitoring adequacy of supply, with a shortfall in the 

landbank indicating that more reserves need to be released.  The spatial approach 
for sand and gravel is to make provision for supply of concreting sand and gravel 
from separate northwards and southwards distribution areas, along with a separate 
landbank for building sand, which serves different end uses.  To assist with 
monitoring the effectiveness of this approach it will be necessary to monitor, and 
maintain, separate landbanks for the southwards and northwards distribution areas 
and for building sand.   

 
5.23 As concreting sand and gravel resources are only present in potentially workable 

configurations in the NYCC area and City of York Council areas, it follows that, 
subject to other policies in the Joint Plan, the provision needed to maintain sand and 
gravel landbank requirements will be made within those parts of the Plan area 
outside the North York Moors National Park.  National planning policy seeks to 
ensure, as far as practical, that landbanks are maintained outside National Parks.  

 
5.24 Taking account of the distribution of sand and gravel resources within the Plan area 

and the existence of a significant number of individual production sites and operator 
companies, it is not considered necessary to set a minimum sand and gravel 
landbank period of more than 7 years. 

 

Scale of provision of crushed rock over the Plan period 

ANNEX 1Page 254



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  55 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
5.25 The Plan area is a major producer of crushed rock in the Yorkshire and Humber 

Region and a significant exporter to other areas of Yorkshire and the Humber and the 
North East.  

 
5.26 National planning policy requires planning authorities to consider and plan for a 

steady and adequate supply of aggregate for their area, taking account of any 
significant cross boundary movements, by preparing an annual Local Aggregate 
Assessment (LAA).  A North Yorkshire sub-regional LAA has been produced in 
partnership with North Yorkshire County Council, City of York Council and the North 
York Moors and Yorkshire Dales National Park Authorities. 

  

Policy M05: Provision of crushed rock 

Total provision for crushed rock over the 15 year period 1st January 2016 to 31st 
December 2030 shall be 51.75 million tonnes, in accordance with the numerical 
requirements identified in Table 3, at an equivalent annual rate of 3.45  million 
tonnes, within which specific provision for a total of 18 million tonnes at an 
equivalent annual rate of 1.20 million tonnes per annum shall be for Magnesian 
Limestone and 6.8 million tonnes at an equivalent annual rate of 0.45 million 
tonnes per annum shall be for Jurassic Limestone. 
 
Additional provision shall be made through a 5 yearly review of provision in the 
Plan, if necessary, in order to maintain at least a 10 year landbank of crushed rock, 
including a separate landbank of at least 10 years for Magnesian Limestone, at 31 
December 2030 and/or to meet additional requirements identified through updates 
to the Local Aggregates Assessment based on an annual rate of provision to be 
determined through the review. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M06, M09, M10, M11, S01, D01 Objective 5 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 5 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

5.27 Evidence indicates that demand for crushed rock worked in the Plan area is likely to 
continue, although the precise scale of future requirements is difficult to assess.  
Pressure for growth and development generates demand for aggregate minerals, 
including crushed rock.  The area has traditionally been an important supplier of 
crushed rock into other parts of Yorkshire and Humber and the North East, as well as 
within North Yorkshire, and growth and development in all these areas is expected to 
take place over the Plan period.  Information about relevant future supply and 
demand factors for crushed rock has been included in the Local Aggregates 
Assessment for the North Yorkshire Sub-region, which will be updated regularly. 

 
5.28 Substantial permitted reserves of crushed rock already exist in the Plan area and 

there is no near term prospect of an overall shortfall in supply.  However, evidence in 
the LAA suggests that in order to reflect supply imbalances across the range of 
crushed rock types present in the area, it would be beneficial to make available 
further resources of Magnesian Limestone.  This would help to ensure that an 
adequate supply of this particular rock type can be maintained, as well as help to 
maintain local sources of aggregates supply in the southern and central part of the 
Plan area.  It is therefore appropriate to identify specific provision for this type of rock 
separately from other crushed rock sources. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 255



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  56 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

5.29 Magnesian Limestone resources in the Plan area form part of an extensive but 
distinctive topographical feature known as the Southern Magnesian Limestone Ridge.  
The Ridge is important due to the historic landscapes and designated and 
undesignated heritage assets it contains.  Whilst Magnesian Limestone working on 
the Ridge has been taken taking place for many years, providing policy support in the 
Joint Plan for maintaining the supply of this rock type could create a risk of adverse 
impacts on heritage assets.  However, the overall scale of additional development 
expected to be required is relatively small when considered in the context of the 
geographical extent of the Ridge.  Locations for further working are addressed 
through specific site allocations in the Joint Plan, which have been subject to 
assessment, including in relation to their potential for impact on historic landscapes 
and heritage assets.  The development management policies in the Joint Plan 
provide further protection and make specific reference to the significance of the 
Southern Magnesian Limestone Ridge.  Policy support for the continued availability 
of Magnesian Limestone, which is a well-established element of the overall supply of 
crushed rock in the Joint Plan area, is important in that it could help to maintain an 
appropriate distribution of supply of crushed rock as well as the availability of 
aggregates suitable for a range of end uses, to complement supply from other 
sources.  

    
5.30 To ensure that an adequate supply of crushed rock (i.e. a landbank of at least 10 

years) is available at the end of 2030, it may also be necessary to identify some 
additional resources towards the end of the Plan period, depending on the actual 
scale of demand and the extent to which any reserves are permitted as a result of 
implementing the Joint Plan.  As it is intended that the Local Aggregates Assessment 
will be updated regularly, and that changes to the demand forecast may be expected 
over the Plan period, it is not considered appropriate to specify, at this stage, the 
level of further provision that may be needed to maintain a landbank of at least 10 
years at 2030.  This is a matter which can be addressed in monitoring of the Joint 
Plan and via a 5 yearly review, at which time the level of additional provision which 
may be needed can be the subject of an updated assessment, and additional 
provision made if necessary.  A commitment to maintaining landbank of at least 10 
years of crushed rock throughout the Plan period, including a separate landbank of at 
least 10 years for Magnesian Limestone, is set out in the following policy. 

 

Landbanks for Crushed Rock 
 
5.31 National planning policy for aggregate minerals requires the maintenance of 

landbanks (a stock of reserves with planning permission for extraction) to help to 
ensure continuity in supply.  The landbank is a key means of monitoring adequacy of 
supply, with a shortfall in the landbank indicating that more reserves need to be 
released.  

 

Policy M06: Landbanks for crushed rock 
An overall landbank of at least 10 years will be maintained for crushed rock 
throughout the Plan period.  A separate landbank of at least 10 years will be 
identified and maintained for Magnesian Limestone crushed rock throughout the 
plan period. 
 
Where new reserves of crushed rock are required in order to maintain an overall 
landbank of at least 10 years these will, as far as practical, be sourced from 
outside the National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

ANNEX 1Page 256



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  57 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

M01, M05, M09, S01, D01 Objective 5 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 6 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.32 National Planning Policy requires a landbank of crushed rock sufficient for at least 10 

years based on the anticipated rate of supply.  The approach for crushed rock is to 
identify an overall landbank for crushed rock, along with a separate landbank for 
Magnesian Limestone as it mainly serves different end uses and is currently more 
constrained in supply than Carboniferous Limestone (the other main source of 
crushed rock in the plan area).  This will assist with monitoring availability of supply 
across the main rock types worked in the area and ensuring that appropriate 
provision is maintained, consistent with the approach in Policy M05. 

 
5.33 National policy supports the maintenance of landbanks of aggregate minerals from 

locations outside National Parks and AONBs, so far as practical. Crushed rock 
resources occur within highly protected parts of the plan area, including the National 
Park and in both the Howardian Hills and Nidderdale AONBs.  There are no current 
crushed rock workings in the National Park and the release of crushed rock in the 
Park to maintain the landbank would not be supported by national policy, unless it is 
not practical to make provision outside the designated area.  Both AONBs currently 
contribute to the supply of crushed rock and therefore the overall landbank of 
reserves.  The minerals supply policies in the Joint Plan support the limited working 
of additional resources at these sites.  However, such support is provided in order to 
maintain the benefits that these established sites bring to the local employment and 
economy rather than the contribution they may make to the landbank.  It therefore 
follows that the release of additional reserves in the AONBs, specifically in order to 
maintain the landbank of at least 10 years, will not be supported under this policy, 
unless it is not practical to make provision outside the designated area. 

 

Maintenance of primary aggregates supply 
 
5.34 National planning guidance encourages future requirements for aggregate to be 

provided through the identification and allocation, where practicable, of specific sites 
for development.  Such an approach has the benefit of providing greatest certainty to 
industry and other interested parties on locations where future development will be 
acceptable in principle, thus helping to encourage investment as well as providing 
more clarity to local communities.  Where this is not practicable, preferred areas or 
areas of search should be identified, to indicate where resources potentially suitable 
for working may be located. 

 
5.35 The assessment of future requirements for aggregate, carried out when preparing the 

Joint Plan, has indicated that provision needs to be made for further working to help 
to ensure continuity of supply of concreting sand and gravel, building sand and 
Magnesian Limestone.   

 

Policy M07: Meeting concreting sand and gravel requirements 
Requirements for concreting sand and gravel will be met through existing 
permissions and the grant of permission on sites and areas identified in the Joint 
Plan for working, as shown on the Policies Map and as indicated in Table 1. 
 
Part 1) Sand and gravel (northwards distribution) site allocations: 
 

ANNEX 1Page 257



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  58 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

i) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan 
period: 

 
Land at Killerby (MJP21), in Hambleton and Richmondshire Districts 

 
ii) Allocations potentially required to contribute to maintenance of an 

adequate landbank at 31 December 2030.  Permission will not be 
granted for development of these allocations prior to 2025, unless there 
is a shortfall in the sand and gravel landbank in the northwards 
distribution area or there is a shortfall in production capacity in the 
northwards distribution area requiring the release of additional sites for 
working: 

 
Land at Home Farm, Kirkby Fleetham (MJP33), in Hambleton District 
Land South of Catterick (MJP17), in Hambleton and Richmondshire 
Districts 
Additional Preferred Area on Land South of Catterick, in Hambleton and 
Richmondshire Districts 

 
Proposals for development of these sites will be required to take account of the 
key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set 
out in Appendix 1. 
 
Part 2) Sand and gravel (southwards distribution) site allocations and Areas of 

Search: 
 

i) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan 
period: 

 
Land at Langwith Hall Farm (MJP06), in Hambleton District 
Land at Pennycroft and Thorneyfields, Ripon (MJP14), in Harrogate 
Borough 
A Preferred Area on land at Oaklands (MJP07), in Hambleton District 

 
Proposals for development of these sites will be required to take account of the 
key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set 
out in Appendix 1. 

 
ii) Areas of Search A and C for concreting sand and gravel are identified 

as shown on the key disgram on page 44 and are set out in Appendix 1 
as Area of Search A (in Harrogate Borough with a small part in 
Hambleton District) and Area of Search C (in Harrogate Borough).  
Planning permission will be granted for development of sites within an 
Area of Search where necessary in order to maintain an adequate 
landbank at 31 December 2030 in the southwards distribution area and 
the need cannot be met through development of allocated sites or 
preferred areas.  Permission will not be granted for development within 
these Areas of Search prior to 2025, unless there is a need for the 
earlier release of further reserves in order to maintain an adequate 
landbank or there is a shortfall in production capacity in the 
southwards distribution area requiring the release of additional sites 
for working.  

 
Part 3)   Permission will be granted outside allocated sites, Preferred Areas and  

Areas of Search where the development would contribute to 
maintenance of an adequate and steady supply of concreting sand and 

ANNEX 1Page 258



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  59 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

gravel that cannot be met through reserves on sites or areas identified 
in the Plan, and/or the development would support the maintenance of 
adequate production capacity or an effective geographical distribution 
of sources of supply in the Plan area.  Proposals will also need to be 
consistent with the development management policies in the Plan. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and District 
and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M02, M03, M04, S01, Minerals Key Diagram (page 44) Objectives 5, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 7 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.36 Evidence indicates that, taking into account the level of permitted reserves at the end 

of 2015, additional provision of the order of 10.3mt is required for the sand and gravel 
northwards distribution area over the period to 31 December 2030.  The equivalent 
figure for the southwards distribution area is 5.9mt.  Sites with existing reserves 
expected to make a contribution to supply are listed in Table 1 below.  Additional 
reserves would be needed in both areas to help to maintain a landbank of at least 7 
years at the end of the Plan period, in line with Policy M04.  The scale of additional 
reserves required would be 7.7mt (northwards distribution area) and 8.5mt 
(southwards distribution area). 

 
5.37 A range of specific locations have been put forward by industry for consideration 

during preparation of the Joint Plan and these have been assessed.  Requirements 
for concreting sand and gravel in the northwards distribution area can be met through 
the release of reserves on specific sites to be allocated in the Joint Plan.  Some sites 
proposed to be allocated are expected to be required in order to meet needs during 
the period to 2030.  A proposed allocation is identified in Part 1i) of the Policy to meet 
this requirement in the northern distribution area, containing an estimated 11.4mt of 
reserves.  Further sites are identified in part 1ii) of the Policy to help to ensure that an 
adequate landbank can be maintained in the latter part of the Plan period and that 
adequate productive capacity can be maintained.  Proposals for release of reserves 
on sites identified in Part 1ii) of the Policy should be accompanied by information to 
demonstrate why there is a need to release the reserves. 

 
5.38 Proposed site allocations in the southwards distribution area contain an indicative 

5.8mt.  This does not include any additional reserves which could be available within 
an identified Preferred Area at Oaklands (MJP07).  Whilst this area was proposed as 
a site allocation, a number of constraints to development have been identified, 
including potential impact on the historic environment and on the setting of Well 
village.  It has not been possible to fully resolve these issues prior to finalisation of 
the Plan.  A Preferred Area has therefore been identified, based on the submission 
boundary as shown in Appendix 1.  In view of the constraints at this site it is not 
expected that the whole of this area would be acceptable for development and more 
detailed assessment would be needed, through a detailed planning application, in 
order to identify a suitable boundary for working.  It has not been practicable to 
identify other suitable specific sites in the Policy to demonstrate how a further 
contribution to longer term (post-2030) landbank requirements could be made.  To 
address this, and to provide an element of flexibility in overall provision, Areas of 
Search have been identified.  Based on available information, these Areas contain 
substantial resources of concreting sand and gravel and could provide suitable 
locations for the identification of further reserves for the southwards distribution area.  
To help ensure a planned approach to provision, it would not be appropriate to 

ANNEX 1Page 259



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  60 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

release reserves in sites within these Areas, unless a shortfall in the landbank 
indicates that additional reserves are required.  Proposals for development of sites 
within Areas of Search will also need to demonstrate full compliance with relevant 
development management policies in the Joint Plan.  The following table summarises 
requirements and proposed site allocations and Preferred Areas for concreting sand 
and gravel. 

 
5.39 Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing 

permitted reserves, is expected to be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate 
supply of concreting sand and gravel over the Plan period, it is possible that, for a 
range of reasons, reserves in these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the 
expected supply, or demand may be higher than expected.   It is also recognised that 
circumstances could arise where the release of further reserves for working could 
help deliver clear sustainability benefits. This could include benefits arising through 
proposals which would ensure that  adequate overall production capacity within the 
Plan area can be maintained, or an effective overall geographical distribution of 
sources of supply of concreting sand and gravel (for example through reducing 
reliance on imports from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific and more 
localised demands, not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a 
local supply source would deliver demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with 
reliance on established supply sources).  Any proposals for release of further 
reserves on land not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within the scope of Policy 
M10 Unallocated extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with 
evidence of the claimed sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with 
relevant development management policies set out in Chapter 9 of the Plan.   

 

Summary of concreting sand and gravel requirements and proposed allocations 

  Northwards Distribution Southwards Distribution 

Total estimated requirement over 
the period 1 January 2016 to 31 
December 2030 (million tonnes) 

16.5 18.3 

Estimated shortfall (balance 
between permitted reserves at 1 
January 2016 and total requirement 
to 31 December 2030) (million 
tonnes) 

10.3 5.9 

Additional reserves required to 
provide a 7 year landbank at 31 
December 2030 (million tonnes) 

7.7 8.5 

Total estimated reserves available 
in sites proposed for allocation in 
Part 1(i) of Policy M07 (million 
tonnes) 

11.4 
Comprising: 
11.4mt (Killerby site 
MJP21) 

  

5.8 
Comprising: 
2.3mt (Langwith Hall Farm site 
MJP06) 
3.5mt (Land at Pennycroft and 
Thorneyfields, Ripon site 
MJP14) 
Oaklands site Preferred Area 
MJP07 (tonnage estimate not 
available) 

Total estimated reserves available 
in sites proposed for allocation in 
Part 1(ii) of Policy M07  in order to 
contribute to longer term landbank 
requirements (million tonnes) 

5.67 

Comprising: 

3.5mt (Home Farm site 
MJP33) 

Estimated requirement to be 
provided from Areas of Search 
in the southwards distribution 
area: 6-8mt depending on scale 
of any reserves delivered via the 

ANNEX 1Page 260



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  61 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

2.17mt (Land south of 

Catterick site allocation 

MJP17) and 

Land south of Catterick 
additional Preferred 
Area (tonnage estimate 
not available) 

Oakland Preferred Area 
(MJP07).        

 

Sites with permitted reserves of 
concreting sand and gravel as at 30 
June 2016 (excludes dormant sites) 

Scorton Quarry, Bridge 
Farm (Pallet Hill) Quarry, 
Manor House Farm 
Quarry 

Marfield Quarry, Ripon Quarry, 
Ripon City Quarry, Nosterfield 
Quarry, Wykeham Quarry, Ings 
Farm 

Table 1: Summary of requirements, allocations and sites with existing permitted reserves for 
concreting sand and gravel in northwards and southwards distribution areas 

 
5.40 Additional provision, if required in order to meet longer term concreting sand and 

gravel landbank requirements, will be addressed through a 5 yearly review of the 
Joint Plan in line with Policy M02. 

 
5.41  Planning permission will be granted for development of sites allocated in the Joint 

Plan subject to compliance with other relevant policies.  Proposals will also be 
expected to demonstrate that any relevant development requirements for the 
allocation, as identified in Appendix 1, have been addressed, and incorporate 
appropriate provision for mitigation where necessary.  

 

Building Sand 
   

Policy M08: Meeting building sand requirements 
1) Requirements for building sand will be met through existing permissions 

and the grant of permission on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for working 
and shown on the Policies Map as indicated in Table 2 

 
Land at Hensall Quarry (MJP22), in Selby District 
Land at West Heslerton Quarry (MJP30), in Ryedale District 
Land adjacent to Plasmor blockworks, Great Heck (MJP44), in Selby District 
Land at Mill Balk Quarry, Great Heck (MJP54), in Selby District 
 

Proposals for the development of these sites will be required to take 

account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation 

measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

2) Permission will be granted outside allocated sites where the development 
would contribute to maintenance of an adequate and steady supply of 
building sand that cannot be met through reserves on sites identified in the 
Plan, and/or the development would support the maintenance of adequate 
production capacity or an effective geographical distribution of sources of 
supply in the Plan area.  Proposals will also need to be consistent with the 
development management policies in the Plan. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

ANNEX 1Page 261



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  62 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

M02, M03, M04, S01  Objectives 5, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 8 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.42 Evidence suggests that the scale of additional provision for building sand needed to 

meet requirements over the Plan period is relatively small (amounting to around 0.9 
million tonnes (mt) over the period to 31 December 2030).  A further 0.8mt would be 
required in order to provide a landbank of at least 7 years at 31 December 2030.  
Although there is only very limited evidence available on the distribution of potentially 
suitable building sand resources, a range of specific locations have been put forward 
by industry for consideration during preparation of the Joint Plan and these have 
been assessed.  Requirements for building sand during the Plan period can be met 
through the release of reserves on specific sites put forward for consideration, which 
contain an estimated 2.5mt of reserves and therefore would also be sufficient to 
maintain a landbank of at least 7 years for building sand at 31 December 2030.  The 
following table summarises requirements and proposed site allocations for building 
sand, as well as sites with existing permitted reserves expected to be able to 
contribute to supply. 

 
5.43 Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing 

permitted reserves, is expected to be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate 
supply of building sand over the Plan period, it is possible that, for a range of 
reasons, reserves in these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the expected 
supply, or demand may be higher than expected.   It is also recognised that 
circumstances could arise where the release of further reserves for working could 
help deliver clear sustainability benefits. This could include benefits arising through 
proposals which would ensure that  adequate overall production capacity within the 
Plan area can be maintained, or an effective overall geographical distribution of 
sources of supply of building sand (for example through reducing reliance on imports 
from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific and more localised demands, 
not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a local supply source 
would deliver demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with reliance on 
established supply sources).     Any proposals for release of further reserves on land 
not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within the scope of Policy M10 Unallocated 
extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with evidence of the 
claimed sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with relevant development 
management policies set out in Chapter 9 of the Plan.   

 

 Summary of building sand requirements and proposed allocations 

Total estimated requirement over the period 
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030 
(million tonnes) 

1.8 

Estimated shortfall (balance between 
permitted reserves at 1 January 2016 and 
total requirement to 31 December 2030) 
(million tonnes) 

0.9 

Additional reserves required to provide a 7 
year landbank at 31 December 2030 
(million tonnes) 

0.8 

ANNEX 1Page 262



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  63 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Total estimated reserves available in sites 
proposed for allocation in Policy M08 
(million tonnes) 

1.7 
Comprising: 
1.5mt (Hensall Quarry site MJP22) 
0.03-0.05mt (West Heslerton Quarry site MJP30) 
0.9mt (Land adjacent to Plasmor Blockworks, Great 
Heck site MJP44) 
0.07mt (Mill Balk Quarry site MJP54) 

 

Sites with permitted reserves of building 
sand as at 30 June 2016 (excludes dormant 
sites) 

Hensall Quarry 
Mill Balk Quarry 
West Heslerton Quarry 

Table 2: Summary of requirements, allocations and sites with existing permitted reserves for building 
sand 

 
5.44 Planning permission will be granted for development of sites allocated in the Joint 

Plan subject to compliance with other relevant policies.  Proposals will also be 
expected to demonstrate that any relevant development requirements for the 
allocation, as identified in Appendix 1, have been addressed, and incorporate 
appropriate provision for mitigation where necessary.  

 

Crushed rock 
 

Policy M09: Meeting crushed rock requirements 
Requirements for crushed rock over the Plan period will be met through existing 
permissions and the grant of permission on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for 
working shown on the Policies Map, and as indicated in Table 3. 
 
Magnesian Limestone allocations: 
 

Part 1) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan 
period: 

 
Land at Jackdaw Crag South, Stutton (MJP23), in Selby District 
Land at Barnsdale Bar Quarry (MJP28) ), in Selby District 
Land at Went Edge Quarry, Kirk Smeaton (MJP29) ), in Selby District 

 
Part 2) Allocations required to contribute to maintaining an adequate landbank 

at 31 December 2030: 
 

Land at Gebdykes Quarry (MJP11), in Hambleton District and Harrogate 
Borough 
Land at Potgate Quarry (MJP10), in Harrogate Borough 

 
Maintenance of supply of crushed rock is also supported through the identification 
of allocated sites at: 
 

Land at Settrington Quarry (MJP08) (Jurassic Limestone), In Ryedale 
District 
Land at Whitewall Quarry (MJP12) (Jurassic Limestone), in Ryedale 

District 

Land at Darrington Quarry (MJP24) (retention of processing plant site 

and haul road) ), in Selby District 

 

ANNEX 1Page 263



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  64 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Proposals for the development of sites identified in this Policy will be required to 
take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation 
measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 
 

Part 3) Permission will be granted outside allocated sites where the 

development would contribute to maintenance of an adequate and 

steady supply of Carboniferous Limestone, Magnesian Limestone and 

Jurassic Limestone crushed rock that cannot be met through reserves 

on sites identified in the Plan, and/or the development would support 

the maintenance of adequate production capacity or an effective 

geographical distribution of sources of supply in the Plan area.  

Proposals will also need to be consistent with the development 

management policies in the Plan. 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M05, M06, S01 Objectives 5, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 9 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.45 Evidence indicates that a further 6.9 million tonnes (mt) of reserves of Magnesian 

Limestone are needed in order to meet requirements over the period 1 January 2016 
to 31 December 2030, based on permitted reserves at the end of 2015.  Permission 
was granted in early 2016 for working of 0.7mt of Magnesian Limestone within an 
area submitted for allocation at Barnsdale Bar (North area), reducing the remaining 
requirement to 6.2mt.  Sites expected to be able to contribute to supply of Magnesian 
Limestone during the Plan period are identified in Table 3 below.  A further 12mt of 
reserves would be required in order to maintain a landbank of at least 10 years for 
Magnesian Limestone at 31 December 2030.   

 
5.46 A range of specific locations have been put forward by industry for consideration 

during preparation of the Joint Plan and these have been assessed.  Requirements 
for Magnesian Limestone during the Plan period can be met through the release of 
reserves on specific sites put forward for consideration.  Sites considered suitable for 
allocation contain an estimated total of 14.5mt and therefore would also make a 
significant contribution towards maintaining an adequate landbank of Magnesian 
Limestone beyond 31 December 2030.  Two of these sites (comprising extensions to 
Gebdykes Quarry and Potgate Quarry) are not expected to make a contribution to 
supply until around 2020, taking into account the extent of existing permitted 
reserves, although the additional reserves in these sites are expected to be important 
in maintaining supply in the latter part of the Plan period and in contributing to an 
adequate landbank at 31 December 2030.  These two sites also facilitate the supply 
of Magnesian Limestone from a part of the Plan area where other sources of 
Magnesian Limestone are not available, thus helping to sustain flexibility and an 
appropriate pattern of supply.  The following table summarises requirements and 
proposed site allocations for Magnesian Limestone. 

 
 

Summary of crushed rock requirements and allocations 

Rock Type Million Tonnes 

a) Crushed rock (total)  

ANNEX 1Page 264



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  65 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Total estimated requirement over the Plan period 1 January 

2016 to 31 December 2030 at 3.45 million tonnes per annum. 

51.8 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year landbank at 31 

December 2030 

34.5 

Total  86.3 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 91.9 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan Nil 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via Policy M09 18.2 (sites MJP08, MJP10, 

MJP11, MJP12, MJP23, MJP28 

and MJP29). 

 

b) Carboniferous Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan period 1 January 

2016 to 31 December 2030 at 1.76 million tonnes per annum. 

26.4 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year landbank at 31 

December 2030 

17.6 

Total requirement 44.0 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 71.5 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan Nil 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via Policy M09 Nil 

 

c) Magnesian Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan period 1 January 

2016 to 31 December 2030 at 1.20 million tonnes per annum. 

18.0 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year landbank at 31 

December 2030 

12.0 

Total requirement 30.0 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 11.1 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan 18.9 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via Policy M09 14.5 comprising: 7.0 part 1 (sites 

MJP23, MJP28 and MJP29)  

7.5 part 2 (sites MJP10 and 

MJP11) 

 

ANNEX 1Page 265



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  66 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

d) Jurassic Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan period 1 January 

2016 to 31 December 2030 at 0.45 million tonnes per annum. 

6.8 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year landbank at 31 

December 2030 

4.5 

Total requirement 11.3 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 9.5 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan 1.8 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via Policy M09 3.7 (MJP08 and MJP12) 

 

Sites with permitted reserves of crushed rock as at 30 June 2016 (excludes dormant sites) 

Carboniferous Limestone: 
Skipton Rock Quarry 
Pateley Bridge Quarry 
Barton Quarry 
Forcett Quarry 
Leyburn Quarry 
Wensley Quarry 
Low Grange Quarry 
 

Magnesian Limestone: 
Gebdykes  Quarry 
Potgate Quarry 
Jackdaw Crag Quarry 
Brotherton Quarry 
Newthorpe Quarry 
Went Edge Quarry 
Barnsdale Bar Quarry 
 

Jurassic Limestone: 
Newbridge Quarry 
Settrington Quarry 
Wath Quarry 
Whitewall Quarry 
Hovingham Quarry 

Table 3: Summary of crushed roack requirements, and requirements, allocations and sites with 
existing permitted reserves 

 
5.47 Supply of Magnesian Limestone in the Plan area and adjacent areas is also 

facilitated by existing processing plant and related infrastructure within the former 
Darrington Quarry site, near Cridling Stubbs.  Although mineral extraction at 
Darrington Quarry in North Yorkshire ceased a number of years ago, permission has 
been granted to retain the processing plant to serve more recently permitted 
Magnesian Limestone extraction within Wakefield, to which the plant site is linked by 
a private haul road.  An application to retain the plant site and haul road for a further 
period, in order to serve the remaining expected quarry working life in Wakefield, is 
currently awaiting determination.  Both permitted reserves and annual output at the 
site are substantial and make an important contribution to overall supply of 
Magnesian Limestone.  A proposed site allocation for retaining the processing plant 
site and related infrastructure has been submitted and is considered suitable for 
allocation.   

 
5.48 During preparation of the Joint Plan, sites for working other crushed rock resources 

(Carboniferous Limestone and Jurassic Limestone) were put forward for 
consideration9.  No specific requirement has been identified for the release of further 
reserves of these types of crushed rock in order to meet requirements over the 
period to 31 December 2030 and it is not considered that identifying allocations for 
these is a priority for the Joint Plan.  However, a small volume of further reserves of 
Jurassic Limestone (estimated at 1.8mt) could be needed to maintain a 10 year 
landbank at 31 December 2030.  Of the four sites put forward, only two are 
considered suitable for allocation.  The reserves in these sites (3.7mt) could help to 

                                                
9 Site MJP03 for working Carboniferous Limestone from land at Scarborough Field, Forcett, was subsequently 
withdrawn. 

ANNEX 1Page 266



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  67 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

sustain security of supply of Jurassic Limestone in this part of the Plan area.  Should 
proposals come forward for extensions to other existing Carboniferous or Jurassic 
Limestone sites these will be assessed under the requirements of Policy M10 
Unallocated extensions to existing quarries and, if the site is located in an AONB, 
Policies M01 and D04.  

 
5.49 Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing 

permitted reserves, is expected to be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate 
supply over the Plan period, it is possible that, for a range of reasons, reserves in 
these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the expected supply, or demand may 
be higher than expected.   It is also recognised that circumstances could arise where 
the release of further reserves for working could help deliver clear sustainability 
benefits. This could include benefits arising through proposals which would ensure 
that  adequate overall production capacity within the Plan area can be maintained, or 
an effective overall geographical distribution of sources of supply of the three main 
types of crushed rock worked in the area (for example through reducing reliance on 
imports from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific and more localised 
demands, not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a local 
supply source would deliver demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with 
reliance on established supply sources).  Any proposals for release of further 
reserves on land not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within the scope of Policy 
M10 Unallocated extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with 
evidence of the claimed sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with 
relevant development management policies set out in Chapter 9 of the Plan.   

 
5.50 Planning permission will be granted for development of sites allocated in the Joint 

Plan subject to compliance with other relevant policies.  Proposals will also be 
expected to demonstrate that any relevant development requirements for the 
allocation, as identified in Appendix 1, have been addressed, and incorporate 
appropriate provision for mitigation where necessary. 

 
 

Extensions to existing quarries on unallocated sites 
 
5.51 It is recognised that proposals for extensions to existing aggregate quarries are likely 

to continue to come forward as planning applications during the life of the new Joint 
Plan and that, in some cases, such applications may not be on land allocated 
specifically in the Joint Plan as being suitable in principle for further working.  It is 
possible that proposals will also come forward for extensions to other types of 
mineral workings.  Such applications are most likely to come forward to maintain 
continuity of production at an established site where current permitted reserves are 
near to exhaustion but further suitable resources have been identified on immediately 
adjacent land. 

 
5.52 It is therefore appropriate to include a policy in the Joint Plan which sets out the main 

criteria that would be applied to any such proposals.   
  

Policy M10: Unallocated extensions to existing quarries 
Proposals for extensions to minerals extraction sites on land not allocated for 
working in the Joint Plan will be permitted subject to the following criteria; 
 

i) If the site is in the National Park or an AONB, the requirements for major 
development in Policy D04 are complied with; 

ANNEX 1Page 267



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  68 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

ii) The development would not compromise overall delivery of the strategy for 
the sustainable supply and use of minerals, including encouraging the use 
of alternatives to primary minerals; 

iii) The development would be consistent with the development management 
policies in the Joint Plan. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M02, M03, M05, M11, D01, D04, D02, D03, D05, D06, D07, 
D08, D09, D10, D11, D12  

Objective 5 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 10 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.53 The presumption in favour of sustainable development means that development 

should not be prevented solely because it is not identified and supported specifically 
in the Joint Plan.  Such an approach could unnecessarily prevent development which 
might otherwise be acceptable and could impact adversely on the local and wider 
economy and other social objectives.  However, it will be important to ensure, where 
development proposals come forward on land not identified specifically for working, 
that they do not compromise other important strategic objectives of the Joint Plan 
and that any environmental and amenity impacts are considered by applying relevant 
development management policies in the Joint Plan.  In all cases, any reserves 
granted on unallocated sites would, where relevant, contribute towards the landbank 
of the mineral. 

 
5.54 National policy does not preclude major development from taking place in protected 

areas.  However, proposals need to be considered against the requirements for 
major development, which state that exceptional circumstances need to be shown 
and it can be demonstrated that they are in the public interest, as set out in more 
detail in Policy D04 of the Joint Plan.  Although the term ‘major development’ is not 
defined in this context in national policy, it is likely that most proposals for extensions 
to aggregates quarries in the National Park and AONBs will be subject to the test.  

  

ANNEX 1Page 268



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  69 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Secondary, Recycled and Marine Aggregates  
 
5.55 National policy requires mineral planning authorities, so far as practicable, to take 

account of the contribution that secondary and recycled material and minerals waste 
would make to supply of aggregate, before considering extraction of primary 
materials.  Secondary aggregates are by-products of other processes which can be 
used to substitute for primary aggregate minerals such as sand and gravel and 
crushed rock.  The main form of secondary aggregate occurring in the Plan area is 
power station ash, comprising furnace bottom ash (FBA) and pulverised fuel ash 
(PFA).  Recycled aggregates, arising from construction, demolition and excavation 
activities, can also be used to substitute for primary minerals, often as low-quality 
aggregate for construction uses such as bulk fill, although some secondary and 
recycled materials may be capable of acting as a substitute or partial substitute for 
primary aggregates in higher specification end uses, such as concrete manufacture. 

 
5.56 The southern part of the Plan area contains two major coal-fired power stations (Drax 

and Eggborough). A third (Ferrybridge) located just outside the boundary of the area 
and utilising ash disposal facilities located within it has recently ceased coal-fired 
power generation.  Until recently, Kellingley Colliery in Selby district has been a 
major source of secondary aggregate in the form of colliery spoil. The Colliery closed 
at the end of 2015.  These closures are likely to have some adverse impact on the 
capability of the area to supply secondary aggregate.  However, there is also the 
potential for ash to be generated by recently permitted waste-to-energy capacity in 
the area, including the Allerton Waste Recovery Park facility which is currently under 
construction.  Some of this ash also has the potential to be recycled and/or used as 
secondary aggregate. 

 
5.57 National planning policy requires planning authorities to consider and plan for a 

steady and adequate supply of aggregate for their area, taking account of any 
significant cross-boundary movements, by preparing an annual Local Aggregate 
Assessment (LAA).  A North Yorkshire sub-regional LAA has been published which 
concludes that, in terms of secondary and recycled aggregates, it would be 
reasonable to assume capability to maintain supply at levels similar to recent years, 
although there may be potential for a small increase in the supply of some secondary 
and recycled materials.  This matter will be kept under review through the LAA. 

 
5.58 There has been growing interest recently in the potential for an increased supply of 

sand and gravel from marine sources to replace an element of land-won supply, 
particularly in markets in the major urban areas in West and South Yorkshire, and 
this is supported in principle in national policy.  A study undertaken jointly on behalf 
of mineral planning authorities in Yorkshire and Humber was published in 2014 (see 
paragraph 2.54).  This indicates potential in the medium to longer term for a 
significant increase in supply into such market areas (with the potential therefore to 
offset an element of supply of land-won sand and gravel from North Yorkshire).  
However, at this stage it is not considered appropriate to assume that such sources 
will have a substantial impact on supply during the timeframe of the current Joint 
Plan.  This is an issue which will need to be kept under review and addressed where 
necessary in future updates of the Local Aggregates Assessment and in any review 
of the Joint Plan, including as referred to in Policy M02.  The protection afforded to 
marine aggregates in the Humber dredging area through Policies  AGG1, AGG2 and 
AGG3 of the statutory East Inshore and Offshore Marine Plans (MMO 2014) should 
help presere the potential of this source of supply for the future. 

 
 
 

ANNEX 1Page 269



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  70 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy M11: Supply of alternatives to land-won primary 
aggregates 
Proposals which would facilitate the supply and use of secondary, recycled and 
marine aggregate as an alternative to primary land-won aggregate will be 
permitted including: 
 

1) The development of appropriately scaled new ancillary infrastructure, 
including ancillary manufacturing facilities, using secondary aggregate as 
the primary raw material, at sites where secondary aggregates are 
produced, or marine aggregates imported; 

2) The supply of secondary aggregate from waste disposal sites provided it 
would not involve disturbance to restored ground or a landscaped feature 
which has become assimilated into, or is characteristic of, the local 
landscape, or is of archaeological value; 

3) The separation of materials with potential for re-use or recycling as 
aggregate during waste management activity and the maximum recovery of 
recycled aggregate during demolition activity; 

4) The use of appropriately located aggregates mineral extraction sites, and 
sites for the transport of minerals, as locations for the ancillary reception, 
processing and onward sale of recycled aggregate during the associated 
period of minerals extraction at the site; 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M02, M05, M20, W05, W09, I02, S05, D02, D03, D05, D07, 
D09  

Objectives 4, 6 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 11 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.59  A range of measures, capable of being implemented or supported through planning 

processes, can help to increase the use of secondary and recycled aggregates and 
are supported in the Joint Plan.  Support for facilities for the management of 
construction and demolition waste is also provided in the waste policies in Chapter 6 
and can also help with supply of materials which can substitute for primary 
aggregate. 

 
5.60 Although the use of secondary and recycled aggregate has benefits in terms of 

replacing natural materials and in generating economic activity, it can also have 
impacts on the environment and amenity.  Proposals for new facilities and 
infrastructure for the supply of secondary and recycled aggregate will therefore need 
to comply with other relevant policies in the Joint Plan, particularly the development 
management policies in Chapter 9.  Whilst marine aggregates are not expected to 
make a major direct contribution to supply in the area over the Plan period, it is 
appropriate to provide policy support for this in the Joint Plan, to encourage a 
sustainable mix of supply sources.   

 
5.61 A particular consideration is the role that quarries and sites for the transport of 

minerals can play in providing locations for the reception, processing and supply of 
aggregate.  Many aggregates quarries now supply a wide range of products, 
including a proportion of recycled materials, sometimes as a blend of primary and 
recycled materials.  This can help to minimise overall use of primary aggregate and 
help to sustain economic activity at minerals extraction sites.  However, aggregates 
quarries are generally located in open countryside and are sometimes subject to a 

ANNEX 1Page 270



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  71 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

range of environmental constraints.  In some cases they are located in the Green 
Belt and may have been permitted because of the flexibility allowed for minerals 
extraction in the Green Belt, subject to particular tests.  It is considered that 
appropriately scaled recycling activity at operational minerals extraction sites in the 
Green Belt can be supported in principle under this policy, provided that it would 
preserve the openness of the Green Belt and be consistent with the purposes of the 
Green Belt.  The construction of buildings for the purposes of recycling activity at 
quarries in the Green Belt would be unlikely to be supported under this policy. 

 
5.62 In all cases, quarries and sites for the transport of minerals proposed to be used for 

the reception and supply of recycled aggregate, as part of an overall mix of supply, 
should be well-located in relation to transport networks including the major road 
network, in line with Policy D03, to minimise any adverse impacts on environment or 
amenity. 

 
 

Silica Sand  
 
5.63 Silica sand is a scarce industrial mineral which is of local and national importance 

and which can, depending on its particular properties, serve a variety of end uses in 
manufacturing and industry.  The overall geographical extent of potential resources 
of silica sand within the Plan area is very small, with occurrences in two separate 
locations: at Burythorpe, near Malton to the east; and Blubberhouses, in Harrogate 
Borough to the west.  The different qualities of the silica sand at the two locations 
means that they are suitable for different end uses.  Burythorpe Quarry produces 
foundry sand and Blubberhouses Quarry, which has been mothballed for many 
years, contains sand suitable for high-quality glass manufacture.  There are no 
resources of silica sand in the City of York area or the North York Moors National 
Park.  The significance of silica sand is such that, in some cases, proposals for 
development may be dealt with via the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project 
procedures. 

 

 

ANNEX 1Page 271



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  72 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Figure 10: Silica sand resources in Plan area 

 
5.64 MPAs are required to plan for a steady and adequate supply of industrial minerals by 

co-operating with neighbouring and more distant authorities to co-ordinate the 
planning of industrial minerals, to ensure adequate provision is made to support their 
likely use in industrial and manufacturing processes, and encourage safeguarding or 
stockpiling so that important minerals remain available for use. 

 

Policy M12: Continuity of supply of silica sand 
1)  Proposals for the continuing extraction of silica sand at Burythorpe Quarry, 

including proposals for lateral extensions or deepening, will be supported in 
principle where necessary to maintain reserves during the period to 31 
December 2030 and a minimum 10 year stock  for the site. 

 
2)  In order to secure an adequate supply of silica sand of at least 15 years where 

significant new capital is required reserves are provided through a site 
allocation at Blubberhouses Quarry (MJP15). Proposals to extend time to 
complete existing permitted development or proposals for lateral extensions or 
deepening, will be supported in principle subject, where relevant, to compliance 
with the requirements for major development in Policy D04, compliance with the 
Habitats Regulations and compliance with other relevant development 
management policies.  Any proposals will need to demonstrate a very high 
standard of mitigation of any environmental impacts and high quality 
restoration, including protection of peat resources. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC and Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

S01, D04, D06, D07, D08, D10 Objectives 5, 6 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 12 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.65 National policy supports the maintenance of permitted reserves of silica sand, in 

order to provide a minimum 10 year supply at individual sites or a 15 year supply 
where significant new investment is required. 

 
5.66 Within the Plan area active production takes place at a site at Burythorpe Quarry and 

the current permission is valid until 2042.  Burythorpe Quarry provides a large 
proportion of the UK market share of resin coated sand, as well as supplying markets 
outside the UK.    

 
5.67 There are no published national or local forward projections of likely demand for silica 

sand.  Based on known reserves at the end of 2014 and average annual output, it is 
likely that there is capability to maintain sufficient supply from this site up to the end 
of the Plan period.  Nevertheless it is possible that factors including variability in the 
quality of the resource may lead to further reserves needing to be released for 
Burythorpe Quarry during the Plan period, although specific proposals to achieve this 
have not yet been identified by the operator. 

 
5.68 A number of constraints on future development may exist at Burythorpe Quarry, 

including the presence of a Roman villa in proximity to the site.  These would need to 
be addressed if any specific proposals for extension are brought forward. 

 
5.69 The resource of silica sand located at Blubberhouses Quarry overlaps with 

internationally important nature conservation designations and, along with a number 

ANNEX 1Page 272



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  73 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

of other existing or former mineral workings, falls within the Nidderdale AONB.  It is 
also in an area important for the presence of peat.  The site has been dormant since 
1991 and the original permission has now expired, although prior to expiry an 
application  (ref. NY/2011/0465/73)  for an extension of time was submitted, which is 
currently undetermined.  The national policy requirement for available reserves at the 
Blubberhouses site would be met in the event that the planning application for the 
extension of time is granted and the allocation of the site reflects that, for extraction 
at the site to occur, significant new capital investment would be required.  The 
location of the site within the Nidderdale AONB means that any proposals for 
significant further development involving minerals extraction will need to satisfy the 
major development test set out in Policy D04 of the Joint Plan. 

 
5.70 The proximity of designated internationally important nature conservation sites also 

means that Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations will be needed. 
Where applicable to the location, any planning application for future development will 
need to consider appropriately the impacts on the integrity of the internationally 
important nature conservation designations in accordance with The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. This may include the need to demonstrate 
potential “Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest” (IROPI) subject to 
securing compensatory measures that ensure the overall coherence of the Natura 
2000 network. Any development that would be likely to have a significant effect on a 
European site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, will be 
subject to assessment under the Habitats Regulations at project application stage. If 
it cannot be ascertained that there would be no adverse effects on site integrity the 
project will have to be refused or pass the tests of regulations 63 and 64, in which 
case any necessary compensatory measures will need to be secured in accordance 
with regulation 68.  As a result of these major constraints, the acceptability of future 
development at Blubberhouses Quarry will be fully tested when the planning 
application (ref. NY/2011/0465/73) or any other relevant applications are determined. 

 
5.71 There are only three Mineral Planning Authority areas in England that produce silica 

sand suitable for high quality glass manufacture: Norfolk and Surrey County Councils 
and Cheshire East Council.  Supply also takes place from Fife in Scotland.  Supply 
from Cheshire East is due to cease in 2016 with no new supply sources available. 
Sites within the other two MPAs in England with reserves of silica sand currently do 
not have a 10 year stock as required by national policy, although both are seeking to 
make future provision through their emerging land use plans which, if achieved, 
would enable supply to continue over a longer period should the market require. In 
both areas resources are constrained by a range of important environmental 
designations.   

 
5.72 It is understood that silica sand is currently imported from a site in Norfolk to a glass 

manufacturer located in Selby District and to other glass manufacturers in the 
Yorkshire and Humber region.  Due to the specific properties of the silica sand 
needed to produce the quality of glass required, it is not considered that suitable 
resources are available elsewhere within the Plan area, apart from in the vicinity of 
Blubberhouses. 

 
5.73 Other important considerations include: the absence of alternative sources of 

potential supply outside the AONB; the economic benefits both locally and nationally 
in securing raw materials for industry; and the potential impacts of a reduced supply if 
supplies from outside the Joint Plan area were not available. 

 
5.74 Overall the evidence suggests that there is significant uncertainty, beyond the short 

term, about the future supply situation nationally as well as an expectation that, in the 
near future, supply from England will be concentrated in the southern part of the 

ANNEX 1Page 273



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  74 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

country.  There is potential for a shortage of supply in the medium to long term and 
as a result the longer-term significance of the high-quality silica sand resource at 
Blubberhouses is likely to increase.  It is therefore appropriate to provide support in 
principle for the development of resources within the Blubberhouses site subject to 
taking account of the important constraints that exist in this location. 

 
5.75 A further relevant consideration in respect of Blubberhouses Quarry is that the 

County Council (within its Local Transport Plan 4: strategy and strategic transport 
prospectus) and the York and North Yorkshire & East Riding Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (within its strategic economic plan) have identified the need to realign 
the A59 road at Kex Gill, near Blubber Houses Quarry, as a key strategic priority.  
The existing alignment of the A59 in the Kex Gill area is subject to poor land stability 
issues, resulting in several road closures taking place on this regionally important 
strategic trans Pennine route over the past 15 years. A definitive proposed 
realignment is not yet available and there is no safeguarded route. Work is currently 
on going identifying options, however there is potential for this project to overlap with 
the Blubberhouses Quarry site. In this scenario there would be a need to ensure that 
the potential for conflict between road realignment and the quarry is reflected in 
design of both schemes and the potential for any cumulative impact taken into 
account where necessary. 

 

Clay  
 
5.76 Potential resources of clay are widely distributed in the Plan area, mainly in the lower 

lying central part of NYCC and within the City of York.  The quality of clay resources 
is likely to be very variable and workable deposits may be much more limited in 
distribution.  The principal clay resource in the Plan area is brick clay, although small 
amounts of fireclay are also likely to be present, in association with shallow coal 
which has not itself been the subject of any commercial interest, as well as clay 
suitable for engineering purposes.  There are only a small number of active sites, all 
located in the NYCC area.  The main uses of clay worked in the Plan area are for 
brick manufacture (at Alne Brickworks) and for the manufacture of lightweight 
aggregate blocks (at the Plasmor site at Great Heck in Selby District, which is 
currently served by clay from the nearby Hemingbrough Clay Pit).   

 
5.77 Deposits of brick clays also occur in the Heworth, Layerthorpe, Dringhouses and 

Acomb areas in the City of York.  Historically, brick clay has also been extracted in 
the City of York area, although there have been no workings or brick-making industry 
in York for over 50 years. 

  

ANNEX 1Page 274



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  75 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Figure 11: Clay resources in the Plan area 

Policy M13: Continuity of supply of clay 
1) The provision of sufficient permitted reserves of clay to provide a 25 year 

supply for existing manufacturing operations at Alne Brickworks and Plasmor 
Blockworks, Great Heck, is supported as follows:  

 
i) Allocation as shown on the Policies Map required in order to meet 

requirements during the Plan period: 
 

     Land to north of Hemingbrough clay pit (MJP45), in Selby District 
 

ii) Allocation as shown on the Policies Map potentially required to 
contribute to maintaining longer term supply for Plasmor Blockworks: 

 
    A Preferred Area on land adjacent to former Escrick Brickworks (MJP55), 

in Selby District 
 

Development of reserves within this Preferred Area will only be permitted 
where it would follow the extraction of reserves within allocation MJP45 
or it can be demonstrated that additional reserves are required to 
maintain an adequate longer term supply of clay to the Plasmor 
Blockworks site and subject to compliance with the development 
management policies in the Plan. 

 
2)  Maintaining the supply of clay is also supported through identifying an 

allocated   site as shown on the Policies Map for engineering clay at: 
 

Land to the west of Newlands Lane, Upper Poppleton (MJP52), in the City of 
York 
 

ANNEX 1Page 275



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  76 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

3)  Proposals for the development of sites allocated in 1) and 2) above will be 
required to take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary 
mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
4)  Working of unallocated brick clay resources will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated that the mineral is needed to maintain an adequate supply to 
existing manufacturing facilities in line with national policy, where sufficient 
mineral cannot be provided from sites or preferred areas allocated in the Joint 
Plan and subject to compliance with relevant development management 
policies in the Joint Plan. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , CYC and minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M14, S01, D01, D02, D05, D06, D07, D09, D10 Objectives 5, 6 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 13 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.78  Clay is identified in national planning policy as a mineral of national and local 

importance.  National policy requires that a stock of at least 25 years’ supply should 
be maintained for brick clay in order to provide adequate reserves to serve existing 
facilities manufacturing clay-based products.  Policy also requires account to be 
taken of the need to provide clay from a number of sources to enable appropriate 
blends to be made.  There are two active brick clay extraction sites in the area, 
supplying associated manufacturing facilities.  At one of these sites, Alne Brickworks, 
planning permission was granted in 2015 for an extension to the mineral extraction 
area, providing sufficient reserves to meet the national policy requirement.  

 
5.79 Permission for an extension to Hemingbrough Quarry was granted in early 2016 but 

following discussions with the operator, it has been identified that further reserves of 
clay would be needed here in order to maintain continuity of supply to the associated 
manufacturing facility at Great Heck over the Plan period.  The operator has 
identified the potential for a future extension to Hemingbrough Quarry which is 
considered suitable for allocation in the Joint Plan.  An area of land at Escrick, near 
York, adjacent to a former tileworks, has also been put forward by the operator to 
provide a longer term source of clay for the facility at Great Heck. 

 
5.80 The site allocation at Hemingbrough is identified in the Joint Plan to help to meet the 

25 year supply requirement for the Plasmor blockworks.  This allocation provides a 
high level of certainty about the necessary resources being delivered.  Whilst it is 
considered that future supply over the Plan period for the Plasmor Blockworks would 
most appropriately be provided via further extension to existing workings at 
Hemingbrough, resources are also identified in a Preferred Area at Escrick, to 
demonstrate how supply could be maintained if it is not practicable to provide 
sufficient reserves at the Hemingbrough site to meet the full 25 year national policy 
requirement.  There are a number of significant constraints on development at the 
Escrick site, including proximity to the Trans Pennine Trail, and any proposals 
needed in the longer term to maintain supply to the Plasmor Blockworks would need 
to be carefully located and designed within the Preferred Area to ensure protection of 
the environment, including historic environment, and local amenity.  It is not expected 
that development of the whole of the Preferred Area would be acceptable under this 
policy. 

 
5.81 An allocation for clay extraction is also identified at land to the west of Newlands 

Lane, York to help provide a local supply of clay for engineering purposes in the City 

ANNEX 1Page 276



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  77 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

of York area.  This site is within the general extent of the York Green Belt and will 
remain in the Green Belt in York’s emerging Local Plan and development must 
therefore comply with national and local Green Belt policy.  

 
5.82 Some further flexibility is also appropriate to ensure that other resources can be 

developed, if necessary, to meet the national policy requirement for the supply of clay 
to existing manufacturing facilities.  This flexibility might be needed if it is not 
practicable to deliver the expected amount through the allocated sites or areas, or if 
the supply of clay of particular quality or having certain technical specifications which 
may not be available in other permitted sources is sought.  

 
5.83 In all cases, any specific proposals will need to comply with relevant development 

management policies to protect the environment and local amenity and provide 
mitigation if required.  Where it is proposed to work unallocated resources at 
locations away from the manufacturing facility to be served, it will be particularly 
important to ensure that road haulage impacts are minimised. 

 

Policy M14: Incidental working of clay in association with other 
minerals 
The incidental working of clay in association with production of other minerals will 
be permitted, where the incidental extraction of clay would help to ensure the most 
sustainable use of resources and would not significantly increase any adverse 
environmental or amenity impacts associated with the primary working, or the 
subsequent reclamation and afteruse of the site. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , CYC, NYMNPA and 
minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M13, D01, D02, D03, D06, D07, D09, D10 Objective 5 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 14 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.84  In some mineral workings, particularly for sand and gravel and some crushed rock 

types, the primary mineral occurs alongside clay deposits which sometimes may 
need to be removed to access the primary target mineral.  Such clay deposits can, in 
some cases, have commercial value and it may be justifiable for them to be extracted 
and used off site.  However, for this to represent a sustainable form of mineral 
extraction, it will be important to ensure that removing incidental clay off-site would 
not significantly increase the overall environmental impacts compared with extracting 
the primary mineral, including in relation to reclamation and afteruse of the site.  Clay 
materials are often retained on site and replaced in worked-out areas to help to 
provide a satisfactory final landform.  Where it is proposed to remove such clay from 
the site, applicants will need to demonstrate that a satisfactory standard of 
reclamation and afteruse can still be achieved. 

 

Building Stone 

5.85 Building stone includes material used for roofing, walling, flagstones or ornamental 
purposes.  There are currently 15 active quarries supplying building stone in the Plan 
area, although historically there have been many more.  Sandstones and limestones 
suitable for use as building stone can be found relatively widely within the Plan area 
outside the Vale of York and the lower lying parts of Selby District.  There are no 
known resources in the City of York.  In many cases it is only certain parts of the 

ANNEX 1Page 277



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  78 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

resource which may be suitable for use as building stone, as a result of varying 
geotechnical and aesthetic properties.    

5.86 Supply of building stone is important for the upkeep of traditional buildings and 
historic assets and for ensuring new development reflects the character of its 
surroundings.  It is therefore important in maintaining and enhancing the overall 
quality of the environment in the Plan area.  There are many historic buildings in the 
Plan area, including within the City of York, which require high quality building stone 
for repair and renovation work.  The colour and appearance of stone varies greatly 
depending on where it is found, which means that building stone must often be 
sourced locally if the character and appearance of local buildings is to be maintained. 
The following table identifies active building stone sites in the Joint Plan area and the 
details of the stone extracted and uses. 

 
Site name Type of 

stone 

Details of stone Uses 

Gatherley Moor 
Permitted  
Until 28th February 2020 

Sandstone Alston sandstone – generally 
fine to medium grained, iron 
rich which gives an orange 
colour tinged with grey. 

Building stone 
and used for 
flags and roofing 
tiles. 

Grey Yaud 
Permitted until 20 
December 2036 

Sandstone Lower follifoot grit – coarse 
grain buff coloured sandstone 

Repair and 
renovation of 
local buildings 

Carkin Moor 
Permitted until 31 July 
2036 

Sandstone Alston sandstone – generally 
fine to medium grained, iron 
rich which gives an orange 
colour tinged with grey. 

Building stone 
and used for 
flags and roofing 
tiles. 

Melsonby 
Permitted until 3 December 
2032  

Limestone Underset limestone – grey 
base containing white or 
crystalline fossils, also known 
as Swaledale Fossil Limestone 

Building stone 

Highmoor 
Permitted until 28 July 
2021 

Limestone Lower magnesian limestone – 
fine to coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Quality building 
stone 

Low Grange 
Permitted until 22 February 
2042 

Limestone Underset limestone – grey 
base containing white or 
crystalline fossils, also known 
as Swaledale Fossil Limestone 

Building stone 

Went Edge 
Permitted until September 
2023 

 Lower magnesian limestone – 
fine to coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Quality building 
stone 

Brotherton 
Permitted until 31 
December 2020 

Limestone Upper magnesian limestone – 
Fine to coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Field walls and 
farm buildings, 
also used as a 
source of lime. 

Aislaby 
(Does not have a time limit, 
but has a resource limit 
instead) 

Sandstone Aislaby stone – medium to 
coarse grained, buff, yellow 
and brown in colour 

Building stone, 
freestone, 
ashlar, farm 
buildings, walls 
and 
monumental 
sculptures 

Lowther’s Crag 
Permitted until 6 December 
2022 

Sandstone Saltwick sandstone - medium 
to coarse grained, buff, yellow 
and brown 

Slabs, 
freestone, 
ashlar, quoins, 
walling stone 
and rubble fill 

ANNEX 1Page 278



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  79 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Whitewall Quarry Limestone Coralline Oolite Formation  
 

Building stone 

            Table 4: Active building stone sites in Joint Plan Area 

5.87 The National Planning Policy Framework requires planning authorities to include 
policies for the extraction of building stone and to meet demand for small scale 
extraction of building stone needed for the repair of historic assets at, or close to, 
former quarries.  It is unlikely that requirements for building stone for ‘ad hoc’ repairs 
will be sufficient for it to be viable to fully re-open quarries and therefore it is essential 
that policies support their limited operation on a temporary basis. 

5.88 Building stone is a relatively high-value and sometimes scarce product and in some 
instances stone worked in the Plan area is exported from the area in response to 
market requirements.  Although evidence about future requirements for building 
stone is very limited, consultation suggests that demand for stone from the Plan area 
is likely to remain and, potentially, increase during the Plan period. 

 

Policy M15: Continuity of supply of building stone 
1)  In order to secure an adequate supply of building stone, proposals will, where   

consistent with other policies in the Joint Plan, be permitted for:- 
i) the extension of time for completion of extraction at permitted building 

stone extraction sites; 
ii) the lateral extension and/or deepening of workings at permitted building 

stone extraction sites;  
iii) the re-opening of former building stone quarries;  
iv) the opening of new sites for building stone extraction, including the small- 

scale extraction of building stone at new sites adjacent to existing historic 
buildings or structures where the use is specifically for their repair; 

v) the incidental production of building stone in association with the working 
of crushed rock; 

vi) the grant of permission on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for working of 
building stone. 

vii) development for building stone products and processing activities 
including at appropriate locations functionally but not physically linked to 
an existing quarry;  

viii) where development is proposed in the National Park or an AONB under 
criteria i) to iv) above, and where the development comprises major 
development due to its scale and nature, proposals will need to meet the 
requirements for major development set out in Policy D04. 
 

2)  Proposals for the supply of building stone should be supported by evidence to 
demonstrate the contribution that the stone proposed to be worked would make 
to the quality of the built and/or historic environment in the Plan area and/or to 
meeting particular requirements for building stone outside the area, such as 
geological matching. The scale of the proposal should be consistent with the 
identified needs for the stone.   

 
3)  Proposals for the supply of building stone from locations within the National 

Park or AONBs,will need to demonstrate that the stone is required  to meet 
requirements arising from new build or repair work within the National Park 
and/or AONBs or is for the repair of buildings or structures which rely on the 
proposed source of stone as the original source of supply, or as providing a 
directly equivalent product which can no longer be provided from the original 

ANNEX 1Page 279



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  80 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

source supply, or is required to be sold out of the National Park or AONB so as 
to preserve the overall economic viability of the source quarry. 

 
4)  Additional reserves to help to maintain the supply of building stone are also 

provided through a site allocation as shown on the Policies Map for: 
 

      Land at Brows Quarry (MJP63) in Ryedale District. 
 
     Proposals for development at this site will be required to take account of the 

key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are 
set out in Appendix 1. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , CYC and minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M10, I01, S01, D04, D08 Objectives 3, 6, 9 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 15 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.89 Building stone quarries are typically relatively small in scale but, as a result of the 

need to source stone of particular technical or aesthetic properties, may sometimes 
be proposed in sensitive locations with the potential for impacts on the environment 
or local communities.  It is therefore important that proposals can demonstrate 
compliance with other relevant policies in the Joint Plan. Proposals for sustainable 
stone processing at a quarry or at an existing stone recycling facility including; 
sawing, tooling and screening would need to demonstrate compliance with the 
development management and other infrastructure policies in the Joint Plan. 

 
5.90 Stone with suitable technical and aesthetic properties to meet requirements for high 

quality new build and repair work is understood to be relatively scarce in the Joint 
Plan area and is a finite resource.  Substantial export of such stone out of the area, in 
order to meet a general market requirement for building stone, may over time reduce 
the availability of high quality indigenous sources of supply with the right technical 
and aesthetic properties to match the existing built or historic environment in the 
area. 

 
5.91 It is nevertheless recognised that in some instances it may be appropriate for high 

quality building stone worked in the Plan area to serve wider markets, including in 
cases where stone from the Plan area has been used in important buildings and 
structures elsewhere or can provide a similar match to stones which are no longer 
available elsewhere.  It is therefore important that applications for working of high 
quality stone such as ashlar are accompanied by supporting information on 
requirements for the stone, including, for example, reference to the Strategic Stone 
Study (a national study led by Historic England working with the British Geological 
Survey which identifies the most significant building stone resources as well as, in 
some cases, the original sources of stone for particular buildings or settlements).  
Existing quarries in designated areas are important in terms of preserving and 
enhancing the built character of the protected areas by providing geologically 
matching stone. Where it can be demonstrated that sale of stone outside the 
designated area is necessary to preserve the economic viability of an existing quarry 
which primarily supplies stone to the designated area, such sales to preserve 
economic viability will be supported. 

 
5.92 It is also recognised that the extraction of local building stone can have a positive 

impact in terms of enhancing the built environment of National Parks and AONBs.  

ANNEX 1Page 280



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  81 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

However, unrestricted extraction of stone for export to other areas may have harmful 
effects both in terms of the scale of extraction in these highly protected areas and 
potential exhaustion of existing resources.  The building stones used in the 
Howardian Hills and the National Park are often sourced from the same geological 
structures and therefore it is considered appropriate to provide flexibility for building 
stone extracted from the Park to be used in the Howardian Hills and vice versa as 
this will help to retain the characteristics of both areas.  In many cases, proposals for 
significant new working of building stone in the National Park and AONBs will also 
need to satisfy the requirements for major development set out in Policy D04 of the 
Joint Plan.   

 
5.93 There may be occasions where suitable stone resources are available immediately 

adjacent to the site where they will be utilised and, as this can represent a 
sustainable option, limited extraction specifically to serve repair needs for adjacent 
existing historic structures or buildings will be supported in principle. There may be 
sites dealing with stone products that are not at existing quarries, which are 
nevertheless important for the supply of stone products to the plan area. It is 
therefore appropriate to support their ongoing development where there is 
compliance with the development management and other infrastructure policies in 
the Joint Plan. 

 
5.94 In some cases, building stone is worked as an ancillary product at the same time as 

extracting crushed rock aggregate.  Where suitable stone exists, this can be a 
sustainable form of development as it can contribute to the overall supply of building 
stone without substantial additional adverse impacts.  Where proposals are brought 
forward for the ancillary supply of building stone at crushed rock quarries, proposals 
should contain information about any specific or additional impacts associated with 
the proposed working of building stone so that appropriate mitigation can be 
considered if necessary. 

 
5.95 Only two allocations of land for building stone extraction have been proposed during 

preparation of the Joint Plan.  Of these, only one site (land at Brows Quarry MJP63) 
is considered suitable for allocation for environmental reasons.  This site has recently 
had the benefit of permission for working, although the permission has now expired.  
Proposals for working this site would need to demonstrate compliance with the 
development management policies in the Joint Plan. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 281



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  82 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Hydrocarbons (oil and gas) 
 

Introduction 

 

5.96 Since work started on the Joint Plan, there has been increasing public and 
commercial interest in issues associated with developing onshore shale gas 
resources.  This is a highly relevant issue for the Plan area following the 
announcement in late 2015 of new oil and gas exploration and development licences 
(PEDLs) in the eastern part of the area (see fig. 12), as well as the approval in 2016 
of proposals for hydraulic fracturing for shale gas at an existing well site near Kirby 
Misperton, in Ryedale District.  Nevertheless, substantial uncertainties remain about 
the scale and distribution of any future proposals that could come forward. Around 
the time of finalisation of the Joint Plan, in November 2019, the Government imposed 
an effective moratorium on hydraulic fracturing by introducing a presumption against 
the issuing of any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new 
evidence is produced which would address concerns about prediction and 
management of induced seismicity. A Written Ministerial Statement of 4 November 
2019, accompanying the introduction of the moratorium, emphasised the 
Government’s view that natural gas remains an important source of secure and 
affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in this. As the Joint Plan is 
intended to cover the period to 2030, the Authorities take the view that it is important 
to maintain local policy for shale gas development, so as to ensure that policy 
coverage is in place should the moratorium be lifted, but it will be necessary to keep 
under review both the need for, and scope of, these policies as explained in more 
detail in para 4.11. 

 
5.97 The Oil and Gas Authority awards PEDLs to give exclusivity to operators who meet 

certain criteria to ‘search and bore for and get’ oil and gas resources, which are 
owned by the Crown.  Whilst a key objective of the licensing process is to help 
ensure maximum exploitation of a national resource, the award of a licence does not 
confer any exemption from other legal and regulatory requirements.  Compliance with 
a range of regulatory processes is required, including the need to obtain planning 
permission.  Development Plans, including the Joint Plan, have statutory force under 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and applications for planning 
permission need to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
there are material considerations which indicate otherwise.  The licensing objective of  
maximising exploitation of the resource does not therefore override the role of the 
policies in the Joint Plan in setting out a local approach to this issue. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 282



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  83 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Figure 12: PEDL blocks and blocks announced in 14th licensing round (2015) 

 
5.98 The expected increase in commercial interest in gas in the Plan area in future years, 

including shale gas, together with the highly sensitive nature of the environment in 
large parts of the area covered by new and existing PEDLs, presents a significant 
challenge.  An appropriate balance has to be achieved between provision of a 
degree of support and flexibility to enable development to take place in appropriate 
locations, and the need to provide a high standard of protection to local communities 
and the environment.  This section of the Joint Plan sets out a comprehensive range 
of policies that aim to achieve this balance.   

 
5.99 The evolving picture in relation to onshore hydrocarbon development means that the 

policies in this section of the Joint Plan may need to be reviewed and updated in 
future (para. 4.11 identifies circumstances which may justify a review).  

 

Hydrocarbons in the Plan area 
 

5.100 National planning guidance states that both conventional and unconventional 
hydrocarbons (oil and gas) are minerals of national and local importance and that 
minerals plans should include policies for their extraction.  There is no known oil 
resource in the Plan area but resources of gas are present and have been exploited 
over a substantial period of time.  Recent geological information suggests there may 
be significant further resources of shale gas in the area.   

 
5.101 Conventional hydrocarbons are oil or gas which has accumulated in a ‘reservoir’ of 

porous rock such as sandstone or limestone and which can be extracted by 
conventional drilling techniques.  Conventional gas was first discovered in the North 
York Moors in the 1940s.  In the 1970s, gas was extracted from a wellhead in the 
National Park and processed at a site in Pickering, although this operation was only 
short lived as a result of water ingress.  In the 1980s successful exploration wells 

ANNEX 1Page 283



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  84 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

were drilled in the Vale of Pickering and in 1995 the Knapton gas power generation 
plant was commissioned, with gas being sourced from a number of well sites within 
the Vale, at Kirkby Misperton, Marishes, Malton, and Pickering.  Production continues 
and the Vale of Pickering contains one of the larger onshore gas fields in the UK. 
More recently, further exploratory drilling for conventional hydrocarbons development 
has taken place within the National Park, with a view to extracting gas for transport 
via pipeline to the Knapton facility.  

 
5.102 To date, exploration, appraisal and production of conventional gas resources in the 

Plan area, including within the National Park, have been carried out without giving 
rise to unacceptable impact on the environment and the onshore gas industry 
remains an established part of the local economy. 

 
5.103 More recently, there has been interest in unconventional hydrocarbons as a form of 

energy supply.  These are hydrocarbons which cannot be extracted by conventional 
techniques and include sources of hydrocarbons such as methane captured from 
coal mines, coal bed methane, underground coal gasification, as well as shale gas.  

 
5.104 Coal mine methane is vented from active or disused underground mine workings 

following the natural accumulation of gas in the underground void.  It is a relatively 
simple process typically involving collection and transfer of the gas to a generating 
engine, located at the surface, which burns the gas to produce electricity.  Coal mine 
methane is currently used in this way in the Selby Coalfield, for example at the 
former Stillingfleet mine site in Selby district.  Coalbed methane is produced during 
the process of coal formation.  The gas is either adsorbed onto the coal or dispersed 
into pore spaces around the coal seam.  By drilling a network of wells the gas can be 
extracted from coal seams which have not been mined. The gas is typically extracted 
via the well through natural pressure release, or through the pumping of water from 
the seam in order to reduce pressure.  Exploration has taken place near Shipton by 
Beningbrough to the north of York in recent years, however there is no expectation 
that production will be brought forward in the foreseeable future.  Development of 
coal bed methane can involve a requirement for multiple well pads and wells in order 
to access a sufficient volume of resource. 

 
5.105 Like coal-bed methane extraction, Underground Coal Gasification can be carried out 

on seams of coal which have not been mined.  It is achieved by drilling boreholes into 
the coal seam, injecting water/oxygen mixtures down one pipe, igniting and partially 
combusting the coal and then extracting the gasification products through another 
pipe.  It produces a mixture of gases including carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, 
hydrogen and methane that can be processed to provide fuel for power generation, 
vehicle fuels and chemical feed stocks.  Substantial surface infrastructure can be 
associated with Underground Coal Gasification.  Although resources of coal 
potentially suitable for underground coal gasification are likely to occur in the area, 
there is no known commercial interest in this source of gas at present. 

 
5.106 Shale gas is found within organic-rich shale beds or other fine-grained rocks with low 

porosity, rather than in a conventional ‘reservoir’ of porous or permeable rock, 
although the gas itself is the same as other forms of natural gas and could provide 
both industrial and domestic power.  Resources of shale gas in the UK are likely to 
occur at substantial depths (between 1500m and 4200m) below ground.  

 
5.107 A recent British Geological Survey report ‘The Carboniferous Bowland Shale Gas 

Study: Geology and Resource Estimation’ (July 2013) identifies potentially suitable 
shale deposits (in both the Upper and Lower Bowland Hodder shales) which extend 
at depth right across northern England, as far north as a line approximately between 
Lancaster and Whitby.  In particular it identifies prospective areas for gas in Ryedale, 

ANNEX 1Page 284



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  85 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Scarborough, Hambleton and Selby Districts, as well as the North York Moors and 
York.  The exploitation of shale gas in the UK involves technologies such as 
hydraulic fracturing (‘fracking’)10.  

 
5.108 Whilst permission for hydraulic fracturing of an existing gas well near Kirby Misperton 

was granted in 2016, there is still a high degree of uncertainty about the commercial 
viability of any resources in this area or the UK generally, and hence the potential 
scale or distribution of development activity that may come forward.  This uncertainty 
is likely to prevail until further exploration activity has taken place. 

 
5.109 However, shale gas has the potential to be an important new source of energy for the 

UK and the Government is currently encouraging further exploration.  In autumn 
2012 the Government announced an overall strategy for gas, to ensure that the best 
use is made of gas power, including new sources of gas under the land, in order to 
deliver a range of objectives including improved security of energy supply and as part 
of a transition towards use of lower carbon energy sources11.  In 2014 the 
Government published online Planning Practice Guidance entitled ‘planning for 
hydrocarbon extraction’.  It stated, amongst other matters, that “[a]s an emerging 
form of energy supply, there is a pressing need to establish - through exploratory 
drilling - whether or not there are sufficient recoverable quantities of unconventional 
hydrocarbons such as shale gas and coal bed methane present to facilitate 
economically viable full scale production”.  More recently, in September 2015, a 
Ministerial Written Statement by Government indicated that there is a national need 
to explore and develop shale gas in a safe, sustainable and timely way. A further 
Ministerial Statement on Energy Policy, published in May 2018, reaffirmed 
Governments view on the national importance of shale gas and their support for the 
principle of shale gas development, and signalled an intention to create the world’s 
most environmentally robust onshore shale gas sector. Government subsequently 
advised, in a further Written Ministerial Statement of May 2019, that policy for 
onshore oil and gas, including references to the local and national importance of 
unconventional oil and gas and the need to give weight to the benefits of mineral 
extraction, contained in the Statements of September 2015 and May 2019, remain 
extant. A Written Ministerial Statement in November 2019 reinterated the 
Government’s view that natural gas remains an important source of secure and 
affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in this. The context to the 
Statements of May and November 2019 is explained in more detail in the next 
paragraph. 

 
5.110 National planning policy for shale gas has continued to evolve during the later stages 

of preparation of the Plan.  NPPF 2018 paragraph 209a indicated that MPAs should 
recognise the benefits of onshore oil and gas development, including unconventional 
hydrocarbons, for the security of energy supplies and supporting a transition to a low 
carbon economy; and put in place policies to facilitate their extraction.  This 
paragraph was subsequently quashed following legal proceedings.  The High Court 
judgment leading to the quashing of NPPF 209a made reference to the failure by 
Government to consider the implications of evidence produced in objection to the 
proposed policy, which contended that the evidence on greenhouse gas emissions 
from shale gas development relied upon to support the policy was flawed.  The MPAs 
take the view that the evolving national policy position and the evolving evidential 
basis for the claimed carbon benefits of shale gas development, justify a 
precautionary approach to relevant local planning policies for this form of 

                                                
10 In some circumstances hydraulic fracturing techniques can also be applied in the development of conventional 
gas sources, for example for purposes of well stimulation to increase the yield of gas.  See para. 5.109 for a 
description of the hydraulic fracturing process. 
11 Provision of policy support for the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions as part of the sustainable design, 

construction and operation of minerals and waste development is addressed in Policy D11 in Chapter 9. 

ANNEX 1Page 285



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  86 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

development, and reinforce the justification for their commitment to keep this matter 
under close review, as referenced in paragraphs. 4.10 and 4.11 of the Plan. 

 
5.111 Further significant developments in the wider regulatory context to shale gas 

development took place in November 2019, with the announcement by Government 
of a presumption against the issuing of any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, 
until compelling new evidence is provided which would address concerns around the 
prediction and management of induced seismicity.  Nevertheless, an Energy Update 
Written Statement of 4 November 2019, accompanying the introduction of the 
moratorium, emphasised the Government’s view that natural gas remains an 
important source of secure and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential 
role in this. 

 
Summary of the process of hydrocarbons development 
 
5.112 There are three main phases of onshore hydrocarbon development identified in 

national planning guidance: exploration, appraisal and production, as summarised 
below.  Development relating to each of these main phases falls within the scope of 
the Policies in the Joint Plan.  However, the distinctions between the phases may not 
always be clear cut.  For example, hydraulic fracturing for unconventional gas can be 
associated with each of the main phases.  

 

 Exploration - seeks to acquire geological data to establish whether hydrocarbons are 
present. It may involve 2-dimensional or 3-dimensional seismic surveys, exploratory 
drilling, well testing and completion and, in the case of shale gas, hydraulic fracturing.  
For conventional hydrocarbons, exploration drilling onshore is a short-term, but 
intensive, activity.  Typically, site construction, drilling and site clearance will take 
between 12 to 25 weeks.  For unconventional hydrocarbons, exploratory activity may 
take considerably longer, especially if hydraulic fracturing12 is involved and, in the 
case of coalbed methane, removal of water from the coal seam. 

  

 Appraisal - takes place following exploration when the existence of oil or gas has 
been proved, but the operator needs further information about the extent of the 
deposit or its production characteristics, to establish whether it can be commercially 
exploited.  The appraisal phase can take several forms including additional seismic 
work, longer-term flow tests, or the drilling of further wells.  This may involve 
additional drilling at another site away from the exploration site, or additional wells at 
the original exploration site.  For unconventional hydrocarbons it may involve further 
hydraulic fracturing followed by flow testing to establish the size of the resource and 
its potential productive life.  The size and complexity of the hydrocarbon reservoir 
involved will be important in determining the approach taken. 

  

 Production - normally involves the drilling of a number of wells at one or more well 
pads.  These may be at well pads used at the exploratory and/or appraisal phases of 
hydrocarbon development, or from one or more new well pads.  Associated 
equipment and infrastructure, such as pipelines and processing facilities needed to 
clean or compress or store gas may also be required.  Production can be up to 
around 20 years.  The production stage may involve re-fracturing of existing wells 
and is likely to require the periodic maintenance of wells, which may require use of 
drilling equipment. 

 
5.113 The following diagram illustrates the main regulatory approvals required, taken from 

of the online Planning Practice Guidance.  Please note that the referenced to ‘DECC’ 
in Figure 13 should now be read as references to the Department for Business, 

                                                
12 See para. 5.109 for a description of the hydraulic fracturing process 

ANNEX 1Page 286



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  87 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Energy and Industrial Strategy (DBEIS) as its successor. Further details of other 
relevant regulatory regimes are discussed later. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.114 With all hydrocarbon appraisal or production, whether conventional or 

unconventional, a well is drilled and a number of steel casings are set in cement to 
seal and help prevent any contamination of ground water.  In some cases, 
particularly for shale gas wells, horizontal drilling at depth may take place to enable 
maximum exposure to the gas resource.  Gas held within shale beds or other rocks 
of low porosity is then accessed through hydraulic fracturing (fracking).  This involves 
injecting the rock with liquid at high pressure to generate or widen small fractures.  
Small particles (usually sand) are also pumped into the fractures to keep them open 
when the pressure is released so that the gas can flow into the well.  Although 
typically 98-99% of the liquid is water, small quantities of chemicals are often added.  

Figure 13: Outline of process for drilling an exploratory well 

ANNEX 1Page 287



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  88 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Operators must demonstrate to the Environment Agency that all the chemicals used 
in the process are non-hazardous to groundwater.  Once the rock has been fractured 
some fluid returns to the surface (known as flow-back) and this will require disposal 
or recycling in accordance with the required environmental permits.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5.115 Proposals for drilling and hydraulic fracturing, like most forms of oil and gas 

development, including associated processing facilities, require planning permission 
before development can take place.  A range of other regulatory processes are also 
involved.  The United Kingdom Onshore Oil and Gas Group (UKOOG), which 
represents the industry, has established a Charter for community engagement on 
new onshore oil and gas proposals.  The Charter sets out a number of commitments 
for operators which includes engagement with local communities at each of the three 
main stages of operations.  The Mineral Planning Authorities will expect applicants 
who are members of UKOOG to comply with these commitments when bringing 
forward proposals. 

 
5.116 A range of issues are likely to be relevant when considering planning applications for 

hydrocarbon development.  For example there is the potential for landscape and 
visual impact, impacts from noise, vibration, external lighting, flaring and traffic, and 

Figure 14: Hydraulic fracturing 

ANNEX 1Page 288



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  89 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

impacts on the natural environment.  These issues should be considered in the 
planning system given that its function is to control the use and development of land 
and ensure that new development is appropriately located.  Hydrocarbon 
development typically involves temporary and intermittent activity particularly during 
the early stages of development. Depending on the nature of the development, it is 
likely that there will generally be a lesser degree of activity during any production 
phase. 

 
5.117 Particular concerns have been expressed about other potential impacts of the 

hydraulic fracturing techniques used in extraction of shale gas and some other forms 
of hydrocarbons development.  These include matters such as pollution of ground 
and surface water, use of water resources and management of waste water, air 
pollution and the potential for ground movements (i.e. earth tremors) to be triggered.  
Whilst Public Health England has indicated that it does not consider that a properly 
regulated industry would be likely to give rise to significant risks to health, the 
potential for various effects on health and well-being is a key concern to local 
communities.  The focus of the planning system is on whether the development itself 
is an acceptable use of the land.  Other regulatory regimes (see below) are relevant 
to the detailed control of matters such as sub-surface environmental pollution, 
induced seismicity, borehole design and construction and health and safety. The 
Environment Agency has an important regulatory role in relation to the management 
of returned water and Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials (NORM).  In 
accordance with Government advice, the Minerals Planning Authorities will assume 
that these other regimes will operate effectively.  However, where matters subject to 
regulation through other regimes also give rise to land use implications, the 
Authorities will seek to address them through the planning process. 

 
5.118 In a number of cases PEDL areas straddle mineral planning authority boundaries, 

both within or across the boundary of the Plan area (for example a number of 
individual PEDL areas contain land within both North Yorkshire or York and the East 
Riding).  This gives rise to the potential for the submission of a planning application 
either in close proximity to the boundary of the Plan area, or which directly straddles 
a boundary between adjacent mineral planning authority areas.  Where proposals 
have the potential to impact on more than one mineral planning authority area, the 
determining mineral planning authority will consult with the adjacent authority as 
necessary and in accordance with relevant development management procedures. 

 

Other regulatory regimes 
 
5.119 Each proposed development is assessed by the Environment Agency, which 

regulates discharges to the environment, issues water abstraction licences, and acts 
as a statutory consultee in the planning process.  The Environment Agency has 
issued guidance which notes that an environmental permit will be required for 
matters such as the emission of waste gasses and the disposal of waste 
underground.  A permit will also be needed if large quantities of gas are to be flared 
and for groundwater activities, depending on the local hydrology. 

 
5.120 All drilling operations are subject to notifying the Health and Safety Executive, which 

will check operators’ plans, assess engineering designs and reports and be 
responsible for checking sites to ensure they meet the requirements of the relevant 
legislation.  The Health and Safety Executive requires that an independent well 
examiner reviews the design of the well before drilling begins and subsequently 
monitors its’ construction and operation. The drilling operations are also regulated by 
the Oil and Gas Authority who will approve each stage of the progression of the well 
through their WONS system (Well Operations Notification System). 

ANNEX 1Page 289



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  90 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

5.121 A key public concern in relation to hydraulic fracturing is the risk of earth tremors.  
The responsibility for giving final consent for drilling lies with Oil and Gas Authority, 
who must review the operator’s hydraulic fracture plan to minimise the risk of seismic 
activity.  The 2014 DECC publication ‘Fracking UK Shale: Understanding Earthquake 
Risk’ refers to the small tremors which took place following fracking activity at Preese 
Hall near Blackpool in 2011.  It states that “the tremors measured magnitude 2.3 and 
1.5 on the Richter scale.  Earthquakes of this size are not normally felt at the 
surface…[They]…were probably caused when frack fluids flowed into a geological 
fault, a crack running through one or more layers of the underground rocks”. 

 
5.122   In 2012 DECC (now DBEIS) introduced measures to control seismic risks from 

fracking.  Operators are now required to assess the location of any relevant faults 
before fracking operations can take place.  Operators must submit to DBEIS a plan of 
operations, starting with small test fractures before main operations and install real-
time monitoring based on a traffic light system.  Operators must stop and investigate 
if they detect tremors above the normal range.  Further guidance on the regulation of 
hydrocarbons proposals is set out in the DECC publication ‘Onshore Oil and Gas 
Exploration in the UK: regulation and best practice (England) (December 2015).  A 
diagram illustrating the ‘traffic light’ system is provided below. Notwithstanding the 
introduction of this system, in 2018 and 2019 hydraulic fracturing of wells at the 
Preston New Road Site, also near Blackpool, gave rise to further induced seismicity, 
culminating in a magnitude 2.9 event in August 2019 which was widely felt, and 
reportedly caused damage to property in the area.  An interim report by the Oil and 
Gas Authority into the 2018 seismic activity at Preston New Road concluded that, on 
the basis of current evidence, it cannot evaluate with confidence whether a proposal 
to resume hydraulic fracturing in the area, or to start operations elsewhere, will not 
cause unacceptable levels of seismicity.  This led to the announcement by 
Government in November 2019 of the introduction of a presumption against issuing 
any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new evidence is provided 
which addresses the concerns around the prediction and management of induced 
seismicity. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 290



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  91 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
 
5.123 Planning guidance and case law makes clear that Minerals Planning Authorities do 

not need to focus on the control of processes or emissions themselves where these 
are subject to approval under pollution control regimes.  It states that they can 
determine applications having considered the advice of the relevant regulatory 
bodies without having to wait for the other approval processes to be concluded.   

 
Definitions 
 
5.124 To ensure that the local policy approach to hydrocarbon development is as clear as it 

can be, it is helpful to define some key words and concepts that will be used by the 
Mineral Planning Authorities when implementing the Joint Plan: 

 

F
ig

u
re

 1
5

: 
D

B
E

IS
 t
ra

ff
ic

 l
ig

h
t 
s
y
s
te

m
 f

o
r 

re
g
u
la

ti
o
n
 o

f 
h

y
d
ro

c
a
rb

o
n
s
 

ANNEX 1Page 291



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  92 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

a) ‘Hydrocarbon development’ includes all development activity associated with 
exploring, appraising and/or producing hydrocarbons (oil and gas), including both 
surface and underground development.  

 
b) ‘Surface hydrocarbon development’ and ‘surface proposals’ includes use and/or 

development of the land surface for the purposes of the exploring, appraising and/or 
producing hydrocarbons. 

 
c) ‘Sub-surface hydrocarbon development’ and ‘sub-surface proposals’ includes 

development taking place below the ground surface for the purposes of exploring, 
appraising and/or producing hydrocarbons. 

 
d) ‘Conventional hydrocarbons’ include oil and gas found within geological ‘reservoirs’ 

with relatively high porosity/permeability 
 

e) ‘Unconventional hydrocarbons’ include hydrocarbons such as coal bed and coal mine 
methane and shale gas, as well as the exploitation of in situ coal seams through 
underground coal gasification. 

 
f) For the purposes of the Plan ‘hydraulic fracturing’ includes the fracturing of rock 

under hydraulic pressure regardless of the volume of fracture fluid used. 
 

g) In planning terms it is considered that the relevant distinctions can be drawn between 
the specific nature and/or scale of activities associated with certain stages of 
development for conventional hydrocarbons and those used for unconventional 
hydrocarbons. These differences may include the potential requirement for a larger 
number of well pads and individual wells, the volume and pressures of fluids used for 
any hydraulic fracturing processes and the specific requirements for any related plant 
and equipment and the management of related wastes. 

 

Policy M16: Key spatial principles for hydrocarbon development 
Hydrocarbon development of the types identified below should be located in 
accordance with the following principles: 
 

a)  

 exploration, appraisal and production of conventional hydrocarbons, 
without hydraulic fracturing; 

 exploration for unconventional hydrocarbons, without hydraulic 
fracturing: 

 
Proposals for these forms of hydrocarbon development will be permitted in 
locations where they would be in accordance with Policies M17 and M18 and, 
where relevant, part d) of this Policy. 

 
b)  

 Exploration, appraisal and production of conventional hydrocarbons, 
involving hydraulic fracturing; 

 Exploration for unconventional hydrocarbons, involving hydraulic 
fracturing; 

 Appraisal and/or production of unconventional hydrocarbons (other than 
coal mine methane): 

i) Surface proposals for these forms of hydrocarbon development will only 
be permitted where they would be outside the following designated 
areas:  National Park, AONBs, Protected Groundwater Source Areas, the 

ANNEX 1Page 292



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  93 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Fountains Abbey/Studley Royal World Heritage Site and accompanying 
buffer zone, Scheduled Monuments, Registered Historic Battlefields, 
Grade I and ll* Registered Parks and Gardens, Areas which Protect the 
Historic Character and Setting of York, Special Protection Areas, Special 
Areas of Conservation, Ramsar sites and Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest. 

ii) Sub-surface proposals for these forms of hydrocarbon development, 
including lateral drilling, underneath the designations referred to in i) 
above, will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
significant harm to the designated asset will not occur.  Where lateral 
drilling beneath a National Park or AONBs is proposed for the purposes 
of appraisal or production, this will be considered to comprise major 
development and will be subject to the requirements of Policy D04. 

iii) Surface and sub-surface proposals for these forms of hydrocarbon 
development will also be required to be in accordance with Policies M17 
and M18.  Surface proposals will also, where relevant, need to comply 
with Part d) of this Policy. 

 
c) Coal mine methane: 

 
Proposals for production of coal mine methane resources will be supported 
where any surface development would be located on industrial or 
employment land or within the developed surface area of existing or former 
coal mining sites. 

 
d) Additional criterion applying to surface hydrocarbon development: 

 
i) Where proposals for surface hydrocarbon development meet other 

locational criteria set out in this policy but fall within a National Park or 
an AONB or the associated 3.5km visual sensitivity zone around these 
areas, as identified on the Policies map, or where located beyond this 
zone, are otherwise considered to have the potential to cause significant 
harm to a National Park and/or AONB, applications should must be 
supported by a detailed assessment of the potential impacts on the 
designated area/s, unless it can be demonstrated that such an 
assessment is not required taking into account the particular locational 
circumstances of the proposed site relative to the designated area/s. 
Where detailed assessment is required this should include an 
assessment of views of and from the designated area/s from significant 
view points and an assessment of the cumulative impact of development 
in the area.  Permission will not be granted for such proposals where 
they would result in unacceptable harm to the special qualities of the 
designated area/s or are incompatible with their statutory purposes in 
accordance with Policy D04. 

ii) Surface hydrocarbon development will only be permitted where the 
undeveloped character of defined Heritage Coast will be protected. 

 
e) Conversion of well pads and wells for further or alternative forms of 

hydrocarbon development: 
 

Where proposals are brought forward for the conversion of an exploration 
well pad or individual well to one to be used for appraisal and/or production 
purposes, or for the conversion of a well pad or individual well used for 
conventional hydrocarbons to one to be used for unconventional 

ANNEX 1Page 293



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  94 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

hydrocarbons, such proposals shall be subject to the spatial principles set 
out in this Policy as relevant. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , NYMNPA, CYC and District 
and Minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M17, M18, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, 
D10, D11, D12 

Objectives 5, 6, 9, 10, 
12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 16 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification  

 

5.125 In December 2015 a substantial number of new PEDLs were announced, covering 
significant areas of Hambleton, Ryedale and Scarborough Districts, including areas 
within the North York Moors National Park and Howardian Hills AONB, as well as 
parts of the City of York and Selby District.  It is expected that this announcement will 
lead to a new round of exploration activity in the area.  A key difference compared 
with earlier activity is that there is expected to be a focus on shale gas as a target for 
exploration and, potentially, appraisal and development, in line with the 
Government’s objective of stimulating commercial interest in this resource.  Whilst a 
number of activities associated with shale gas development are similar to those 
associated with conventional hydrocarbons development, including the need for 
construction of a well pad and the operations involved in initial drilling of a well, there 
are also a number of significant differences.  Examples include the potential for 
increased activity associated with the fracturing operations themselves, the 
expectation of the need to drill a number of horizontal wells from one or more well 
pads, the potential for high noise levels during periods of hydraulic fracturing activity, 
and increased traffic movements as a result of the need to bring in additional 
materials or water and remove waste materials.  Other forms of unconventional 
hydrocarbons, particularly Underground Coal Gasification and coal bed methane, can 
also give rise to a need for substantial development activity at the surface as a result 
of the processes involved, particularly at appraisal or production stages. 

 
5.126 The NPPF indicates that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and 

scenic beauty in National Parks and AONBs, which have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.  The Infrastructure Act 2015 
has introduced a ban on hydraulic fracturing activity taking place anywhere at a depth 
less than 1000m below the ground surface.  The Government has also set out 
through secondary legislation to the Infrastructure Act, which came into force on 6 
April 201613, that high volume hydraulic fracturing14 will not be supported beneath 
National Parks, AONBs, protected groundwater source areas and World Heritage 
sites, unless it would take place at a depth in excess of 1,200m below the surface.  
These controls do not remove the potential for lateral hydraulic fracturing at a greater 
depth under the National Park, AONBs or other protected areas, from surface 
locations beyond their boundary, or expressly prevent the possibility of surface 
development for the purposes of shale gas development, or development for other 
forms of unconventional hydrocarbons, in these areas.  When considering the 
potential impact of a development on the special qualities of a National Park or 
AONB, reference to their special qualities can be found in the relevant Management 
Plan for the area.  Whilst the specific qualities relevant to each protected landscape 
may differ from one another, they will all include qualities such as landscape and 

                                                
13 The Onshore Hydraulic Fracturing (Protected Areas) Regulations 2016 
14 For the purposes of the Plan the term ‘high volume hydraulic fracturing’ has the same definition as ‘associated 
hydraulic fracturing’, as defined via the Infrastructure Act 2015 (i.e. more than 1,000m3 of fracture fluid per frack 
or 10,000m3 overall). 

ANNEX 1Page 294



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  95 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

views, tranquillity, remoteness, dark night skies, biodiversity and geodiversity and 
rare species and heritage, and it is the combination of these qualities that led to 
these areas being designated and protected as National Parks and AONBs.  As 
such, development which would result in significant harm to the special qualities of a 
National Park or AONB will generally be resisted.   

 
5.127 While the Infrastructure Act 2015 and secondary legislation address hydraulic 

fracturing which occurs underground, the Government has also introduced further 
restrictions, in the form of a prohibition on hydraulic fracturing operations from taking 
place from new or existing wells drilled at the surface in certain specified areas, The 
restrictions will principally affect surface development that is used for the carrying out 
of “associated hydraulic fracturing” the definition of which is contained in section 
4B(1) of the Petroleum Act 1998. The Government has stated that, in addition, these 
restrictions will apply where an operator is required to get consent from the Secretary 
of State for hydraulic fracturing that is not “associated hydraulic fracturing”, and that 
the Secretary of State intends to require that such consent be obtained for operations 
which use more than 1,000 cubic metres of fluid at any single stage, or expected 
stage, unless an operator can persuasively demonstrate why requiring such consent 
would not be appropriate in their case.  The areas protected through this means are 
National Parks, AONBs, World Heritage Sites, Groundwater Source Protection Zone 
1, SSSIs, Natura 2000 sites (SPAs and SACs) and Ramsar sites.  Although these 
areas all benefit from strong national planning policy protection in their own right, the 
restrictions do not, in themselves, constitute planning policy as they will be 
implemented through the oil and gas licensing regime. 

  
5.128 The net effect of the existing restrictions would be to prevent subsurface 

development involving high-volume hydraulic fracturing at a depth of less than 
1,000m below the surface anywhere in the Plan area, and at a depth of less than 
1,200m below the surface in some highly protected areas (as indicated in para. 
5.121).  However, a range of other important types of designation would not be 
subject to similar legislative protection.  Furthermore, whilst the surface restrictions 
will provide protection to a range of important designations, albeit not as a matter of 
planning policy, there are other types of sensitive areas that would not receive 
equivalent protection. 

 
5.129 An additional consideration is that the new Regulations and surface restrictions will 

only apply to “associated hydraulic fracturing”. The Authorities have taken into 
account the WMS of May 2018 and recognise this statutory definition, and have paid 
due regard to Planning Practice Guidance. It is considered that whereas the 
definition in the Regulation applies to high volume hydraulic fracturing as defined, in 
terms of land use and the potential for impacts on the environment, local amenity and 
other relevant matters, impacts could occur at lower levels of activity.15  It is therefore 
not considered appropriate to distinguish in the Policy between high-volume hydraulic 
fracturing and fracking involving lower volumes of fracture fluid. This approached is 
reflected in the broader definition of hydraulic fracturing contained in paragraph 5.124 
f) of the Plan. The definition of hydraulic fracturing used in the Plan is related to the 
PPG definition in that it does not rely on a minimum volumetric threshold. Similarly, it 
is considered that where hydraulic fracturing is proposed for the purposes of 
supporting the production of conventional gas resources, there is potential for this to 
give rise to a generally similar range of issues and potential impacts, although it is 
acknowledged that fracturing for stimulation of conventional gas production would be 
likely to involve generally lower volumes and/or pressures. In these circumstances 
whilst it is appropriate that such development is subject to the same policy approach. 

                                                
15 As an example, the recently permitted hydraulic fracturing activity at the KM8 well site in North Yorkshire 
involves 5 separate fracks, only one of which would exceed the 1,000m3 threshold. 

ANNEX 1Page 295



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  96 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

It is not the intention of the Mineral Planning Authorities to unreasonably restrict 
activity typically associated with production of conventional resources, which is a 
well-established industry in the Plan area. Where hydraulic fracturing is proposed in 
association with development of conventional hydrocarbons, the authorities will 
consider exceptions to the more restrictive approach set out in Policy M16 part b) 
where it is satisfied that, based on the circumstances of the specific proposal, it 
would not result in unacceptable impact on the protected area and full compliance 
with other relevant elements of the Plan can be demonstrated.    

 
5.130 In view of the limited protection provided by existing and proposed legislation, as well 

as current uncertainty about the potential scale and geographical distribution of any 
commercial gas production that may be sought by industry, it is considered important 
that a comprehensive range of key environmental and other designations in the Plan 
area are afforded an appropriate degree of protection as a matter of local planning 
policy. The local policy needs to align with express Government policy on meeting 
national need and to ensure that the exploration and development of shale gas and 
oil resources is carried out in a safe ans sustainable way meeting the highest 
environmental standards.  This would help provide a clear, robust and consistent 
local approach by ensuring that their protection is incorporated within the statutory 
development plan.  Such an approach acknowledges the very important contribution 
made by these designations to the overall character of the Plan area, the quality of its 
environment and its attractiveness to both residents and visitors.  The development 
management policies in Chapter 9 of the Joint Plan, including Policies D04, D05, 
D06, D07, D08 and D09, also provide specific policy protection for these and other 
assets, and will need to be taken into account as relevant in the determination of 
planning applications.  This includes the need to take account of any Impact Risk 
Zones identified by Natural England for SACs, SPAs, Ramsar sites and SSSIs, via 
the requirements of Policy D07 Biodiversity and geodiversity and impacts on the 
historic environment through the requirements of Policy D08 where relevant forms of 
surface or underground hydrocarbon development are proposed.  Policy D11 also 
sets out requirements relating to the sustainable design, construction and operation 
of development, including minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions, consumption 
of water and generation of waste amongst other matters, in order to further reduce 
potential adverse impacts.  

 
5.131 Mining operations and drilling at any depth would constitute “development” as 

defined in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (“development” means the 
carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under 
land, or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or other land).  
Where horizontal drilling beneath a National Park is proposed from a location outside 
the Park, a ‘straddling’ application to both mineral planning authorities will be 
required in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Schedule 1, 
paragraph 1(1)(i). Such a development, which is likely to fall under EIA regulations, 
involves mineral extraction from a protected landscape and may be regarded as 
major development in combination with the wider surface development activity 
associated with it which could impact on the National Park environment itself. For 
example, emissions to air and ground and surface water close to the National Park 
could in turn result in ecological impacts in such a sensitive area, where there are 
important interactions between ground and surface waters and the heath and moor 
habitats, which are designated as Special Protection Areas and Special Areas of 
Conservation for both their vegetation and specific bird species they support.  Further 
details on how proposals are assessed in terms of the major development test are 
set out in Policy D04. 

 
5.132 A key factor leading to designation of an area as a National Park or Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty is the quality of its landscape.  These areas benefit from 

ANNEX 1Page 296



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  97 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

a very high degree of protection in national policy, which states that major 
development within them should be refused unless there are exceptional 
circumstances and the development would be in the public interest.  National Parks 
and AONBs are very important in contributing to the overall environmental quality, 
distinctive character and rural economy of the Plan area, yet substantial areas of 
PEDLs are located in them.  In some cases, development outside a National Park or 
AONB could have an impact on its setting, and conflict with the statutory purposes of 
its designation.  A particular consideration is whether the scale, nature and location 
of a proposed development close to the designated area would detract from its 
special qualities.  Tall elements of surface hydrocarbons development, such as drill 
rigs associated with exploration and appraisal, or production wells, may typically be 
35-40m in height.  Such equipment may only be present on site for relatively short 
periods, or potentially a number of months, or intermittently over a period of years at 
established well pads where successive wells are drilled or refracturing of existing 
wells takes place.  However, where they would be located in close proximity to 
National Parks or AONBs, they have the potential to cause significant adverse impact 
on the setting of these important areas.  This could include impact on important views 
to or from the National Park or AONB, or on the dark night skies typically associated 
with such areas as a result of the need for site lighting during 24-hour operations at 
some stages of development.  Further justification for the protection of the setting of 
National Parks and AONBs is provided in paras. 9.26 and 9.27. 

 
5.133 In order to ensure that National Parks and AONBs are provided with a degree of 

protection commensurate with their significance to the landscape and overall quality 
of the environment within the Plan area, proposals for surface hydrocarbons 
development within the visual sensitivity zone of the National Park or AONB should 
be supported by detailed information assessing the impact of the proposed 
development, including views into and out of the designated area. The Authorities 
consider that, for development outside the boundary of the designated area, such a 
requirement is most likely to apply within a 3.5km zone around the boundary, as 
defined on the Policies Map. This 3.5km zone is based on standard planning practice 
relating to assessment of landscape and visual impact for EIA purposes, where it 
may be justified to ‘screen out’ consideration of a 35m tall and relatively linear 
structure beyond a distance of 3.5km from the receptor.  Whilst it is considered that a 
3.5km zone is likely to be adequate to ensure that, in the large majority of cases, the 
potential for significant impacts is identified and considered, there may be particular 
circumstances, for example as a result of the local topography, that mean that similar 
information will be required in respect of proposals beyond the 3.5km zone. Similarly, 
the particular topography of the landscape surrounding the designated area in places 
may, within this 3.5km zone, effectively screen the development in views from or 
towards the designated area and in such cases, as well as cases involving small 
scale surface hydrocarbon development such as monitoring equyipment, additional 
assessment and supporting information may not be required. Prospective applicants 
should seek advice from the relevant Mineral Planning Authority on this matter at pre-
application stage. 

 
5.134 Although the City of York is not protected in the same way as National Parks and 

AONBs, the historic character and setting of the City is a key reason for having 
designated the York Green Belt, one of only six cities in England where this reason 
applies, and the historic City as a whole does not benefit from any other specific 
national policy protection.  The relatively flat and low lying landscape around York 
allows for long distance views of the Minster and other landmark buildings which are 
integral to the setting of the City.  For these reasons, applicants will need to consider 
carefully the historic character and setting of the City when siting and designing 
proposals for surface hydrocarbons development within the City of York Green Belt.  

ANNEX 1Page 297



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  98 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Where necessary, mitigation measures should be provided to prevent any 
unacceptable impact.  Further details on the Green Belt can be found in Policy D05. 

 
5.135 Areas of Heritage Coast have been defined in the Plan area.  In these nationally 

defined non-statutory areas, local planning authorities are required to ‘maintain the 
character of the undeveloped coast, protecting and enhancing its distinctive 
landscapes and improve public access to and enjoyment of the coast’.  Such areas 
are therefore afforded a relatively high level of significance in national policy terms 
and it is appropriate to reflect this in the spatial approach. In some parts of the Plan 
area affected by PEDLs, areas of locally important landscapes have been identified 
in District and Borough local plans. Where these continue to form part of the statutory 
development plan, and are relevant to a proposal which falls to be determined by 
North Yorkshire County Council as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, regard 
will be had to the requirements of any associated local plan policy. 

 
5.136 Coal mine methane from former mine workings at Kellingley Colliery and within the 

Selby Coalfield is currently extracted in the Plan area and used to generate 
electricity.  National planning policy encourages capture and use of this resource and 
it is appropriate to provide corresponding support in the Plan, through Policy M16 
part c).   It is likely that such development, which is small in scale, can be 
accommodated within surface sites associated with the former mine workings, or on 
industrial estates or employment land, and these are likely to remain the most 
appropriate locations for this form of development.  However, where it is not 
practicable to access the resource from such a location then proposals in other 
locations will be considered in relation to the development management policies in 
Chapter 9 of the Plan. 

 

Policy M17: Other spatial and locational criteria applying to 
hydrocarbon development 

1) Accessibility and transport 
 

i) Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations with suitable 
direct or indirect access to classified A or B roads and where it can be 
demonstrated through a Transport Assessment that: 
a) There is capacity within the road network for the level of traffic 

proposed and the nature, volume and routing of traffic generated by 
the development would not give rise to unacceptable impact on local 
communities16, businesses or other users of the highway or, where 
necessary, any such impacts can be appropriately mitigated for 
example by traffic controls, highway improvements and/or traffic 
routing arrangements; and 

b) Access arrangements to the site are appropriate to the volume and 
nature of any road traffic generated and safe and suitable access can 
be achieved for all users of the site, including the needs of non-
motorised users where relevant; and 

c) There are suitable arrangements in place for on-site manoeuvring, 
parking and loading/unloading. 

 
ii) Where access infrastructure improvements are needed to ensure that the 

requirements of i) a) and b) above can be complied with, information on 
the nature, timing and delivery of these should be included within the 
proposals.  

                                                
16 For the purposes of interpreting this and other Policies in the Plan, the term local communities includes 
residential areas as well as residential institutions such as residential care homes, children’s homes, social 
services homes, hospitals and non-residential institutions such as schools. 

ANNEX 1Page 298



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  99 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

iii) Where produced gas needs to be transported to facilities or 
infrastructure not located at the point of production, including to any 
remote processing facility or the gas transmission system, this should 
be via underground pipeline where practicable, with the routing of 
pipelines selected to have the least practicable environmental or amenity 
impact.   

iv) Where hydraulic fracturing is proposed, proposals, where practicable, 
should also be located where an adequate water supply can be made 
available without the need for bulk road transport of water.  

 
2) Cumulative impact 

 
i) Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where it would 

not give rise to unacceptable cumulative impact, as a result of a 
combination of individual impacts from the same development and/or 
through combinations of impacts in conjunction with other existing, 
planned or unrestored hydrocarbons development. Applications for 
appraisal and production activities should specifically address the 
potential for cumulative impacts of development upon climate change 
and where appropriate, propose such mitigation and adaptation 
measures as may be available and are consistent with Policy D11 and 
the requireements of other relevant regulators. 

ii) Well pad density and/or the number of individual wells within a PEDL 
area will be limited to ensure that unacceptable cumulative impact does 
not arise.  Assessment of the contribution to cumulative impact arising 
from a proposal for hydrocarbon development will include (but not 
necessarily be limited to) consideration of: 
a) The proximity of a proposed new well pad site to other existing, 

permitted or unrestored well pads, and the extent to which any 
combined effects would lead to unacceptable impacts on the 
environment or local communities, including as a result of any 
associated transport impacts; 

               b) The duration over which hydrocarbon development activity has taken       
place in the locality and the extent to which any adverse impacts on 
the environment or local communities would be expected to continue 
if the development were to be permitted; 

               c) The sensitivity of the receiving environment, taking into account the 
nature and distribution of any environmental constraints, proximity to 
local communities, the availability of adequate access links to the 
highway network and the need to ensure a high standard of protection 
in line with other relevant policies in the Plan. 

Where results from any earlier exploration and/or appraisal activity are 
available, proposals for production of unconventional hydrocarbons 
should include information on how the proposal is intended to fit within 
an overall scheme of production development within the PEDL area and 
should ensure as far as practicable that production sites are located in 
the least environmentally sensitive areas of the resource. 

iii) In order to reduce the potential for adverse cumulative impact, proposals 
for production of hydrocarbons will be supported in locations where 
beneficial use can be made of existing or planned supporting 
infrastructure including, where relevant, pipelines for transport of gas 
and/or water, facilities for the processing or generation of energy from 
extracted gas and overhead or underground power lines and grid 
connections which could serve the development. 

iv) Where development of new processing, power or pipeline infrastructure 
is required, consideration should be given to how the location and 

ANNEX 1Page 299



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  100 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

design of the development could facilitate its use for multiple well pads 
in order to reduce adverse cumulative impact.  The Minerals Planning 
Authority will support co-ordination between operators and the 
development of shared infrastructure where this will help reduce overall 
adverse impacts from hydrocarbon development. 

v) New processing or energy generation infrastructure for hydrocarbons 
should, as a first priority, be sited on brownfield, industrial or 
employment land.  Where it can be demonstrated that development of 
agricultural land is required, and subject first to other locational 
requirements in Policies M16 and M17, proposals should seek to utilise 
land of lower quality in preference to higher quality. 

 
3) Local economy 

 
Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where a high 
standard of protection can be provided to environmental, recreational, 
cultural, heritage or business assets important to the local economy 
including, where relevant, important visitor attractions.  The timing of short 
term development activity likely to generate high levels of noise or other 
disturbance, or which would give rise to high volumes of heavy vehicle 
movements, should be planned to avoid or, where this is not practicable 
minimise, impacts and take into account seasonal variations and peaks in 
traffic movements.  

 
4) Specific local amenity considerations relevant to hydrocarbon development 

 
i) Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where it would 

not give rise to unacceptable impact on local communities or public 
health.  Adequate separation distances should be maintained between 
hydrocarbons development and residential buildings and other sensitive 
receptors in order to protect against unacceptable adverse individual 
and cumulative impacts on amenity and public health, in line with the 
requirements of Policy D02.  Proposals for surface hydrocarbon 
development, particularly those involving hydraulic fracturing, within 
500m of residential buildings and other sensitive receptors, will only be 
permitted in following the particularly careful scrutiny of supporting 
information which robustly demonstrates how in site specific 
circumstances an unacceptable degree of adverse impact can be 
avoided. 

ii) Proposals should refer to any relevant data from baseline monitoring 
and other available information to ensure that a robust assessment of 
potential impacts is undertaken, and that comprehensive mitigation 
measures are proposed where necessary. 

iii) Proposals involving hydraulic fracturing should be accompanied by an 
air quality monitoring plan and Health Impact Assessment. 

iv) Proposals should include measures appropriate and proportionate to the 
development to manage waste gas emissions, including the capture and 
use of the gas where practicable, to ensure there is not an unacceptable 
impact on local communities or public health and to make practical use 
of any waste gas available. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , NYMNPA, CYC and District 
and Minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M17, M18, I02, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, 
D09, D10, D11, D12 

Objectives 5, 6, 9, 10, 
12 

ANNEX 1Page 300



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  101 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 17 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification  

 

5.137 The exploration and appraisal phases of oil and gas development may generate a 
significant number of heavy vehicle movements, mainly in the early or final stages 
where drilling and associated equipment is being installed or removed, or during 
phases when hydraulic fracturing operations are taking place.  This sometimes 
requires abnormal loads to be transported.  Large parts of the Plan area, including 
the majority of the area covered by PEDLs, are highly rural with a relatively sparse 
network of main roads.  Rural roads often pass through local communities and, in 
many cases, have not been constructed to take a large volume of heavy vehicle 
movements. Vehicle movements also have the potential to impact on air quality, 
particularly in locations where Air Quality Management Areas have been identified 
and this will also be a relevant consideration in identifying suitable traffic routes, via a 
Transport Assessment, It is therefore important to ensure that development is located 
where there is good access to suitable road networks.  This can help to ensure that 
traffic movements on unsuitable roads are prevented, that the flow of traffic on the 
highway is not impeded and that highway safety is maintained.  The main road 
network in the Plan area comprises A and B classified roads and development 
should be located where suitable access to these routes can be obtained without 
harming the amenity of local communities and businesses.  Proposals should include 
a Transport Assessment to demonstrate how suitable access will be achieved.  
Where a requirement for improved access infrastructure is identified, proposals to 
deliver this should be provided as part of the Assessment, including through the use 
of formal agreements under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
or section 278 of the Highways Act 1980, where appropriate. 

 
5.138 Where produced gas needs to be transported off-site to remote processing facilities 

or other infrastructure, pipelines are the most appropriate method in order to 
minimise the need for vehicle movements and their associated impacts.  As pipeline 
construction can itself give rise to adverse impacts, it is important that the need for 
new infrastructure is minimised and sharing of infrastructure is supported under part 
2) iv) of this Policy.  Where new pipelines are required, routes which seek to 
minimise any impacts on the environment or local amenity should be selected, 
recognising that there are a range of factors which can impact on this, including land 
ownership and economic factors as well as environmental constraints.  Impacts from 
vehicle movements can be reduced by ensuring that development such as hydraulic 
fracturing, involving large volumes of water, is located where water can be supplied 
by means such as pipeline or directly from a suitable local source, without the need 
for road transport.  This can be further supported by encouraging re-use or recycling 
of water where practicable and this is addressed in Policy M18. 

 
5.139 The nature of hydrocarbon operations, particularly for unconventional hydrocarbons 

such as shale gas, means that development may be proposed incrementally within a 
given area, potentially over substantial periods of time.  This is done to access new 
areas of gas or stimulate the flow of gas in a given location, therefore helping to 
ensure maximum recovery of the resource and an appropriate return on investment 
on items such as processing infrastructure.  As a result there may be commercial 
pressure to construct progressively more well pads and/or drill more wells on an 
existing pad, or re-fracture existing wells.   

 
5.140 At this early stage in commercial interest in shale gas in the area, there is 

considerable uncertainty about the potential scale and distribution of development 
that could come forward.  Indications are that a typical well pad would have a surface 

ANNEX 1Page 301



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  102 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

area of some 2ha and that the density of well pads per PEDL area would depend on 
factors including surface constraints and geological factors.  It would be influenced by 
the outcome of further initial exploration activity in the area.  Each well pad could be 
expected to contain several individual well heads, from each of which a number of 
horizontally drilled wells would be drilled to access the shale gas resource, leading to 
the possibility of a substantial number of individual wells being drilled per pad.  Such 
a scenario has the potential to lead to cumulative impacts as more development is 
proposed within an area, and to the potential for an incremental increase in impacts 
on the environment or local communities, including from traffic movements. 

 
5.141 If further exploration leads to commercial interest in the production of shale gas in the 

Plan area, it is vital that a reasonable balance is found between developing the 
resource and protecting local communities and the environment.  This is particularly 
so bearing in mind that PEDL areas are subject to a range of environmental 
constraints; are places where people live, work or visit and that they make an 
important existing contribution to the overall character, economic well-being and 
perception of the area.   

 
5.142 Consequently, it will be very important to ensure that cumulative impacts that could 

arise through a proliferation of development are assessed and taken into account in 
considering proposals for hydrocarbon development.  Whilst the current state of the 
evidence does not make it practicable to impose, at this stage in the development of 
the industry, a specific policy limit on the number of well pads or individual wells that 
may be acceptable in any particular area, or to specify a minimum separation 
distance that should be maintained between well pads, the policy sets out a range of 
criteria which will be used when assessing proposals which could give rise to 
cumulative impact.  

 
5.143 To give an indication at this stage, however, it is considered unlikely that proposals 

which would lead to a total development density, including operational and restored 
sites, of more than 10 well pads per 100km2 PEDL area would be compatible with the 
purpose of this element of the Policy17. Where an area being developed by an 
operator comprises a PEDL or licence block area of less, or more, than 100km2 the 
density guideline will be applied pro-rata.  For PEDLs located within the Green Belt or 
where a relatively high concentration of other land use constraints exist, including 
significant access constraints, a lower density and/or number may be appropriate.  
As PEDL boundaries are based purely on the OS grid and do not reflect other 
considerations, the location of existing or planned development in adjacent PEDL 
areas will also be considered in assessing cumulative impact under this Policy. 

 
5.144 Where information is available as a result of exploration and/or appraisal activity in a 

PEDL area, operators should use this when putting forward specific proposals for 
production to set out, as far as practicable, how those proposals are expected to fit 
into an overall production scenario for the PEDL area, in terms of any further 
development that may be anticipated.  Such information should refer to development 
that it is anticipated over the whole of the PEDL area and take account of the entire 
likely duration of development activity. This can help to ensure that a strategic 
approach is taken to the development of the area, which includes directing 
development, as far as practicable, towards the least sensitive locations.  

 
5.145 In assessing the potential for cumulative impact, account will be taken of the 

relationship between the proposed site and the location of other operational 
hydrocarbons development, the location of sites used for hydrocarbon development 

                                                
17 Where a PEDL straddles the boundary of a National Park or an AONB then this guideline would be applied pro 
rata to the area of the PEDL falling outside the designated area. 

ANNEX 1Page 302



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  103 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

which are no longer operational but which have not yet been restored to an agreed 
condition or afteruse, and the location of other permitted but as yet unimplemented 
hydrocarbons development.  Where a formal Environmental Impact Assessment is 
required in respect of a specific proposal, the cumulative impacts of that proposal in 
combination with other development may also be required, depending on the 
circumstances of the individual case. 

 
5.146 Accommodating any processing facilities and other supporting infrastructure, such as 

gas treatment, compressor or storage facilities, which may be needed to serve 
hydrocarbons development may be a challenge, given the predominantly rural nature 
of the Plan area and the scale and character of the development that could be 
involved.  There are likely to be benefits therefore in locating new hydrocarbon 
development where it can use existing infrastructure, such as processing and 
distribution facilities, effectively, thus reducing the need for new development across 
the Plan area.  This could help to reduce overall adverse impacts, including 
cumulative impacts.  Consideration should therefore be given when locating 
development, and at the design stage, to the potential for the development to use 
suitable existing infrastructure, including infrastructure developed to serve activities 
carried out by other operators in adjacent PEDL areas, and developers should seek 
to deliver this where practicable. 

 
5.147 Where new processing or other supporting infrastructure is required, consideration 

should be given to locating and designing this so that it would have the potential to 
serve multiple surface sites, potentially including those within the control of other 
operators.  In support of this Policy the mineral planning authorities will encourage 
and facilitate discussion between PEDL holders or operators where necessary.   

 
5.148 Where co-location or sharing is not practicable the priority should be for new facilities 

to be located on brownfield sites, industrial or employment land or, where the use of 
agricultural land is necessary, on land of lower agricultural quality in preference to 
higher quality land18 where practicable in order to ensure consistency with national 
policy and guidance. 

 
5.149 Whilst hydrocarbon development has the potential to bring local economic benefits to 

the area, such as through employment and positive impact on the local service 
economy, there is also the potential for adverse impact on elements of the existing 
economy.  Tourism and recreation are an important part of the wider economy in 
Ryedale, Scarborough and Hambleton Districts, in the North York Moors National 
Park and in the City of York.  The quality of the natural environment, the opportunities 
for outdoor recreation and the cultural and heritage assets in the area all play an 
important part in attracting visitors.  Furthermore, many local businesses in the area, 
including within the agricultural and manufacturing sectors, benefit from the current 
perception that they operate in a high-quality rural environment. 

 
5.150 In some cases individual sites or locations important to the visitor economy are 

already designated for protection in law or policy.  However, many are not and it will 
be important to ensure that, in determining proposals for hydrocarbons development 
in the area, consideration is given to the potential for adverse impact on the existing 
economy, including provision of appropriate mitigation measures where necessary. 

 
5.151 It is acknowledged that some of the adverse impacts of hydrocarbon development 

can be of relatively short duration, or intermittent in nature.  Examples include the 
need for increased heavy vehicle movements during the installation and removal of 
drilling equipment, or during phases where any hydraulic fracturing is taking place, 

                                                
18 i.e. not on land Grades 1, 2 and 3a within the DEFRA agricultural land classification system 

ANNEX 1Page 303



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  104 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

and the need for ‘workovers’ at existing well sites.  Where such activity is proposed in 
locations where there could be a significant impact on the visitor economy, proposals 
should include consideration of whether the activity could be timed to avoid local 
school holiday periods. 

 
5.152 Unlike other forms of minerals development currently taking place or expected in the 

Plan area, some phases of hydrocarbons development, such as the drilling of a well, 
require 24-hour operations.  Such operations have acute potential to impact on local 
residents adversely, for example due to noise and light intrusion.  This potential 
exists over much of the area that is currently subject to PEDLs, which is rural in 
nature, often with relatively low background noise levels, and relatively dark night 
skies.  It is therefore important that locations for development are selected which will 
ensure adequate separation distances from residential property and other sensitive 
receptors.  This would also help to ensure adequate protection from other potential 
impacts, such as emissions to air or water or induced seismicity. The significance of 
this latter issue has increased following the announcement by Government in 
November 2019 of an effective moratorium on hydraulic fracturing by introducting a 
presumption againstagasinst the issuing of any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents 
until compelling new evidence is provided which would address concerns around the 
prediction and management of induced seismicity.  The adequacy of separation 
distances to properties and other receptors will need to be determined by the Mineral 
Planning Authority on a case by case basis but in all cases a robust assessment of 
potential impacts is required and a high standard of effective mitigation provided 
where necessary. The Authoritie consider that the potential for adverse impacts to 
arise will tend to increase with greater proximity to sensitive receptors and that 
proposals within 500m of sensitive receptors are generally likely to create higher 
risks of harmful impacts on amenity. Such development will generally require 
especially careful scrutiny of existing conditions, potential impacts and the 
effectiveness of proposed mitigation measures during consideration of any planning 
application. The Authority will accordingly expect applications to be supported by 
more detailed and rigorous information in all these cases, which demonstrates that 
development can take place acceptably within this distance from sensitive receptors.  
A 500m distance from the well pad boundary (excluding site access) is considered to 
represent a reasonable distance of immediate sensitivity taking into account the 
potential for a complex range of individual and cumlative impacts on amenity and 
public health, comproising  noise, vibration, lighting and light pollution, and visual 
impact, including impacts arising from potential mitigation measures. Disturbance 
during the night time periods (23:00 – 7:00) has the potential for a greater degree of 
perceived impact. To the extent that other factors, relating to emmissions to air or 
ground abd surface water, or  the potential generation of induced seismic activity, are 
relevant, these will also be taken into account. For the purpose of interpreting this 
approach, the term ‘sensitive receptor’ comprises residential dwellings and 
institutions such as residential care homes, children’s homes, social services homes, 
hospitals and non-residential institutions such as schools.  

 
5.153 In considering appropriate noise limits at sensitive receptors, operators will as a 

minimum be expected to meet the required limits set out in the NPPF and national 
Planning Practice Guidance, with the objective of ensuring a high standard of 
protection for local amenity.  Site lighting should be designed and located to ensure 
minimum light spillage beyond the site boundary. 

 
5.154 A further specific consideration associated with hydraulic fracturing is the possibility 

of induced seismicity.  This has the potential to impact local amenity adversely and 
can be a significant concern to local communities. Furthermore, the Plan area 
contains a wide range of historically important buildings, which may be more 
vulnerable to damage from induced seismicity than more modern structures.  It will 

ANNEX 1Page 304



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  105 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

be important to ensure that development which could give rise to induced seismicity 
is located in areas of suitable geology. Government indicated in an Energy Update 
Written Statement in November 2019 that the causes of seismicity are highly 
dependent on local geology and that the limitations of current scientific evidence 
means it is difficult to predict the probability and maximum magnitude of any seismic 
events  Proposals shoulD05:d therefore be supported by compelling evidence which 
demonstrates that induced seismicity can be managed and mitigated to an 
acceptable level. This should include information information which demonstrates the 
known location of any faults and an assessment of the potential for induced 
seismicity to occur as a result of the proposed development.  Operators will be 
expected to apply the DBEIS traffic light system (see Fig.15) during their operations. 

 
5.155 The potential for emissions to water or air is also a key issue, particularly for 

proposals involving hydrocarbon development.  Although these are primarily matters 
controlled by other regulators (see below), they may have implications for the use 
and development of land, and local communities may be concerned about the 
potential for adverse impacts on health, which is also a relevant consideration in 
planning.  Where proposals are put forward for development involving hydraulic 
fracturing, an air quality monitoring plan should be included.  This should set out the 
measures to be taken to monitor air quality in the vicinity of the site, including the 
parameters to be monitored (to include parameters which relate to vehicle 
movements), the locations for monitoring and arrangements for reporting of results.  
A Health Impact Assessment should also be provided as part of an Environmental 
Impact Assessment, utilising any relevant data arising from baseline monitoring, 
including air quality monitoring and from other sources.  This assessment should 
identify any likely significant health impacts, any mitigation and also identify 
proposals for further monitoring. 

 
5.156 A range of other impacts associated with hydrocarbon development have the 

potential to cause impact on local amenity, and further policy on this matter is 
contained in Policy D02, which will be applied as relevant when considering 
proposals for all forms of minerals and waste development activity.  The 
requirements of Policy D11 relating to the sustainable design, construction and 
operation of development will also need to be considered, in order to help ensure that 
greenhouse gas emissions, water consumption and generation of waste are 
minimised. This should include measures to manage waste gas emissions and 
include the capture and use of the gas as energy, so as to achieve a green 
completion where practicable. 

 
5.157 Hydrocarbon development is subject to a range of other regulatory regimes which 

provide control over certain aspects of the operations.  These are administered by 
organisations such as the Environment Agency, the Health and Safety Executive and 
the Oil and Gas Authority.  National planning guidance is clear that planning 
authorities should not seek to duplicate these controls, and should assume that other 
regulatory regimes will operate effectively.  The mineral planning authorities will 
therefore seek to work effectively with other regulatory bodies to ensure that a robust 
approach is taken to protect the environment and local amenity, recognising that 
issues relevant to the use and development of land are matters for the planning 
system.  

 
5.158 If significant environmental impacts are likely the minerals planning authority will 

require the applicant to undertake an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA).  It is 
established in law that ‘projects’ cannot be sub-divided to avoid proper application of 
the regulations.  If EIA is required it is expected that applicants will submit sufficiently 
detailed information to allow the impact of the whole development to be considered. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 305



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  106 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy M18: Other specific criteria applying to hydrocarbon 
development 

1) Waste management and reinjection wells 
 

i) Proposals for hydrocarbon development will be permitted where it can 
be demonstrated, through the submission of details relating to the  
management of waste water, that adequate capacity exists and adequate 
arrangements can be made for the management or disposal of any 
returned water and Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials arising 
from the development.  Proposals should, where practicable and where a 
high standard of environmental protection can be demonstrated, provide 
for on-site management of these wastes through re-use, recycling or 
treatment.  Where off-site management or disposal of waste is required, 
proposals should demonstrate that adequate arrangements can be made 
for this.  Where new off-site facilities are proposed in the Plan area for 
the management or disposal of waste arising from hydrocarbons 
development, these should be located in accordance with the principles 
identified in Policies W10 and W11. 

ii) Proposals for development involving re-injection of returned water via an 
existing borehole, or the drilling and use of a new borehole for this 
purpose, will only be permitted in locations where a high standard of 
protection can be provided to ground and surface waters; they would 
comply with all other relevant requirements of Policy M16 and M17 and 
where it can be demonstrated that any risk from induced seismicity can 
be mitigated to an acceptable level. 

 
2) Decommissioning and restoration 

 
Proposals for hydrocarbon development will be permitted where, subject to 
other regulatory requirements, it can be demonstrated that: 

 
i) Following completion of the operational phase of development, 

notwithstanding the requirements and obligations under any other 
regulatory regimes, any wells will be decommissioned, insofar as this 
involves the complete removal of any associated surface development, 
so as to both prevent the risk of any contamination of ground and 
surface waters and emissions to air and ensure the proper restoration 
and after-care of the site; and 

ii) All plant, machinery and equipment not required to be retained at the site 
for operational purposes would be removed and the land restored to its 
original use or other agreed beneficial use within an agreed timescale. 

iii) For unconventional hydrocarbon development, the Mineral Planning 
Authority may require provision of a financial guarantee, appropriate to 
the scale, nature and location of the development proposed, in order to 
ensure that the site is restored and left in a condition suitable for 
beneficial use following completion of the development. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , NYMNPA, CYC and District 
and Minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M17, M18, S01, S05, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, 
D08, D09, D10, D11, D12, W08 

Objectives 5, 6, 9, 10, 
12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 18 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification  

ANNEX 1Page 306



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  107 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

5.159 A significant issue with hydrocarbon development, particularly development involving 
hydraulic fracturing, is the need to manage the various forms of water that may be 
returned to the surface via a borehole.  This can include water originally held within 
the rock (known as formation water) and, where hydraulic fracturing is involved, a 
proportion of the fracture fluid which returns to the surface via the borehole, known 
as flowback fluid.  At production stage produced water arising as condensate in the 
gas can also occur.  Water constituting waste and requiring management as waste 
can arise in substantial volumes and may contain Naturally Occurring Radioactive 
Materials (NORM) and other contaminants.  It may be practicable to prepare waste 
water on site for re-use, through cleaning it, or subject it to other reprocessing so that 
it can be recycled. Relevant processes can include filtration, disinfection, oxidation, 
sterilisation, sedimentation and electrocoagulation.  It may also be practicable to treat 
some waste at the site prior to any requirement for off-site disposal.  

 
5.160 Provided a high standard of environmental protection is maintained to prevent 

spillage that could result in contamination of surface or groundwater, on-site 
preparation for re-use, recycling or treatment is likely to represent the most 
sustainable option, minimising the need to transport waste and promoting increased 
re-use or recycling in line with waste policy objectives in the Joint Plan.  Where this is 
not practicable or appropriate, then off-site treatment or disposal will be required.  
The need for appropriate management of waste water is an important consideration 
for these forms of development, given the potentially large volumes that could arise.  
Proposals which would generate waste water should therefore be supported by a 
waste water management plan, identifying the measures proposed, including any off-
site arrangements, to ensure the safe and sustainable management and transport of 
the waste in order to minimise risks to local communities or the environment.  Further 
information on the protection of ground and surface waters, including the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive, is provided in Chapter 9 in the 
section on the Water Environment. 

 
5.161 Evidence suggests that there are a small number of existing facilities in and around 

the Yorkshire and Humber area which may be able to receive such waste, and these 
are likely to represent the nearest appropriate installations for management of this 
form of waste.  However, it is possible that if hydraulic fracturing activity develops on 
a significant scale, either inside or outside the Plan area, there will be a need for 
further development of suitable waste management infrastructure.  At this stage it is 
not practicable to assess in any detail the likely scale or location of the capacity that 
could be required.  However, the existing waste policies in Chapter 6 of the Joint 
Plan, particularly relevant elements of Policies W10 and W11, provide a basis for 
considering any applications for the development of local capacity if required.  

 
5.162 Reinjection of water down existing wells, or new wells drilled specifically for this 

purpose, is sometimes proposed as a disposal method and is most likely to be 
appropriate for water which does not contain returned flowback fluid, given that such 
fluid poses a pollution risk.  Whilst the Environment Agency has indicated that 
reinjection of flowback fluid is not necessarily prohibited, it currently takes the view 
that a precautionary approach should be applied and that this method of disposal 
does not represent the Best Available Technique.  This part of Policy M18 will 
therefore need to be implemented taking into account the position of other relevant 
regulators, particularly the Environment Agency, at the time any planning application 
is being considered.  Whilst in some circumstances reinjection of water may be an 
appropriate means of helping to manage waste without the need for off-site transport, 
it will be particularly important to ensure that it would only take place where a high 
standard of protection can be provided to ground and surface water resources.  A 
specific issue sometimes associated with this form of development is the potential for 

ANNEX 1Page 307



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  108 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

re-injected water to act as a trigger for the activation of geological fault movements, 
potentially leading to induced seismic activity (earth tremors).  Proposals for this form 
of development should therefore be supported with detailed information on the 
underlying geology of the site and an assessment of the potential for induced 
seismicity, together with any proposed mitigation. 

 

5.163 Hydrocarbon development can be of relatively short duration (i.e. several weeks or 
months) or, in the case of production of an oil or gas field, can last up to some 20 
years.  Whatever the duration of the development, it is important to ensure that 
applicants provide an appropriate level of detail, at the outset, on how it is intended to 
decommission and restore the site to a beneficial afteruse.  This should include 
information about the dismantling of equipment and clearance of the site surface, the 
decommissioning of any wells to prevent the risk of contamination of ground or 
surface waters or any emissions to air; and how the site will be restored to an 
appropriate after use when operations cease, in accordance with relevant elements 
of Policy D10 ‘Reclamation and Afteruse’, within a specified timescale.  As stated 
above other regulators also play a role in ensuring that decommissioned sites would 
not pose a risk as a result of pollution of ground or sub surface waters or emissions 
to air. 

 
5.164 Unlike development of conventional gas resources, or indeed a range of other forms 

of minerals development, which are well-established industries, development 
involving hydraulic fracturing for shale gas, or development for some other forms of 
unconventional gas, would involve new and relatively unfamiliar processes in the 
Plan area and in the UK generally.  As a result there is no well-established track 
record of the successful progression of development from the operational stage 
through to the final decommissioning and restoration of the site.  The national 
Planning Practice Guidance states that a financial guarantee provided by the 
operator to cover restoration and aftercare costs can be justified where a novel 
approach or technique is to be used.  

 
5.165 At the time of preparing this Joint Plan, unconventional hydrocarbon development, 

particularly for shale gas and other technologies such as Underground Coal 
Gasification, is unproven on a commercial scale in the UK.  The relevant mineral 
planning authority may therefore, depending on the scale and nature of the 
development proposed and sensitivity of the location, require provision of an 
adequate financial guarantee.  This is to ensure that there is appropriate financial 
provision in place, at the outset, to safeguard the satisfactory restoration and 
aftercare of the land in accordance with planning requirements.  Whether this policy 
should be continued throughout the plan period will be considered at the first review 
of the Joint Plan. 

 
5.166 In applying policy the Authorities will have regard to other regulatory regimes and will 

work effectively with other regulatory bodies as explained in paragraph 5.157. 

 

 

Carbon and Gas Storage 
 

Policy M19: Carbon and gas storage 
Proposals for carbon capture and storage and the underground storage of gas will 
be permitted where it has been demonstrated that: 
 

ANNEX 1Page 308



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  109 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

i) The local geological circumstances are suitable;  
ii) The proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on the quality and 

availability of ground and surface water resources, on land stability, or on 
public health and safety; 

iii) There would be no unacceptable impact on the environment or local 
communities; and 

iv) The proposals are consistent with other relevant policies in the Plan. 
 

Transport of carbon or gas should be via pipeline with the routing of lines selected 
to give rise to the least environmental or amenity impact.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC , CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

D01, D02, D03, DO4, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, D10, D11, 
D12 

Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 19 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 

5.167 Carbon Capture and Storage is a technique which can be used to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions into the atmosphere from sources such as fossil fuel power 
stations and Underground Coal Gasification.  It involves capturing carbon dioxide, 
either before or after burning it, transporting it in pipelines and permanently storing it 
deep underground in suitable geological formations.  The Government believes 
Carbon Capture and Storage has potential to be an important technology in climate 
change mitigation.  Potentially suitable geologies have been identified across the UK 
including areas within Ryedale and Scarborough which may be suitable for such 
processes.  Proposals have been under consideration (via the National Significant 
Infrastructure Planning procedures) for the capture and storage of carbon from Drax 
power station, in North Yorkshire, although the cancellation of the project was 
recently announced.  Whilst the proposals would have involved construction of a 
carbon transport pipeline across part of the Plan area, carbon storage would have 
taken place within depleted gas fields under the North Sea.  In the current 
circumstances, it is not expected that proposals for storage within the Plan area are 
likely within the Plan period.  However, national policy requires minerals planning 
authorities to encourage underground gas and carbon storage and associated 
infrastructure if local geological circumstances suggest that it is feasible.  

Coal  
 
5.168 Until 2004, substantial tonnages of coal were worked within the Selby Coalfield in 

North Yorkshire.  The Selby Coalfield closed in 2004 leaving Kellingley Colliery as 
the only operational deep mine in the Plan area. Kellingley Colliery subsequently 
closed at the end of 2015.  The entrance to the mine has been capped and the land 
associated with the Colliery is being put forward for redevelopment, reducing the 
possibility of the mine being reopened in the future.  Whilst national energy policy 
seeks to encourage greater use of lower carbon sources of energy, it indicates that 
coal is likely to be needed in the future, although this is expected to be supplied 
mainly by imports.  

 
 

ANNEX 1Page 309



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  110 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Figure 16: Coal resources in the Plan area 

 
5.169 The closure of Kellingley Colliery means that there is presently no coal being mined 

in the Plan area and there are no known proposals for new operations in the Plan 
period.  However, there is a large area of coal resource still present and national 
policy identifies coal as a mineral of local and national importance which should be 
addressed in minerals local plans.  It is therefore appropriate to include a policy for 
coal, including policy relating to disposal of colliery spoil, in the Joint Plan in case 
future proposals for coal mining come forward. 

 
5.170 Minerals resource information shows that there are limited and relatively fragmented 

resources of shallow coal in some parts of the Plan area, but there has been no 
recent history of these being worked by opencast methods, nor is there any known 
commercial interest in doing so currently. 

 

Policy M20: Deep coal and disposal of colliery spoil 
1) Proposals for surface and underground development for the mining of deep 

coal will be permitted where all the following criteria are met: 
i) the location, siting and design of the surface development would ensure a 

high standard of protection for the environment and local communities in 
line with the development management policies in the Joint Plan; 

ii) the proposals would enable coal to be transported in a sustainable 
manner; 

iii) where located in the Green Belt, the proposals would comply with national 
policy on Green Belt; 

iv) the effects of subsidence upon land stability and important surface 
structures, infrastructure (including flood defences) and the natural and 
historic environment, will be monitored and controlled so as to prevent 
unacceptable impacts; 

v) that opportunities have been explored, and will be delivered where 
practicable, to maximise the potential for reuse of any colliery spoil 
generated by the development and that proposed arrangements for any 

ANNEX 1Page 310



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  111 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

necessary disposal of mining waste materials arising from the 
development are acceptable in line with Part 3 below;  

vi) the proposal’s impact upon climate change has been considered. 
 
2) Proposals to remediate and restore the Womersley Spoil Disposal Site will be 

permitted where they would be consistent with the development management 
policies in the Joint Plan. 

 
3) Proposals for new spoil disposal facilities will be assessed by reference to the 

following order of preference: 
i) Infilling of quarry voids where this can deliver an enhanced overall 

standard of quarry reclamation; 
ii) Use of derelict or degraded land; 
iii) Where use of agricultural land is necessary, use of lower quality 

agricultural land (ALC Grade 3b or below) in preference to higher quality 
agricultural land (ALC Grade 3a or higher). 

 
Preference will also be given to proposals for new spoil disposal facilities 
which are located: 
iv) Outside the Green Belt, unless it can be shown that the proposals can be 

accommodated within the Green Belt in line with national policy; 
v) Where spoil can be delivered to the site via sustainable (non-road) means 

of transport or, where road transport is necessary, transport of spoil can 
take place without unacceptable impacts on the environment or local 
communities. 

vi) the proposals impact upon climate change has been considered. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA, 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M11,  M16, M21, W01, W05, W10,  I01, I02, D02, D03, D04, 
D05, D06, D07, D08, D09 D10, D11, D12, D13 

Objectives 2, 4,  5, 6, 8 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 20 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
5.171 Kellingley Colliery closed at the end of 2015 and is unlikely to reopen in the future.  

The mine entrance has been capped and the former mine operator is proposing to 
put the land forward for redevelopment.  However, there is still a large resource of 
deep coal in the Plan area and therefore the potential for proposals for future 
extraction of deep coal, although this is unlikely in the current Plan period.  However, 
to ensure appropriate policy coverage in the Joint Plan, Policy M20 sets out the main 
strategic criteria that would apply to any such proposals that may come forward.  

 
5.172 Underground mining of coal is often associated with surface subsidence which can 

have adverse impacts on certain structures and other infrastructure and assets.  
Whilst separate legislation exists to compensate landowners or require remediation 
for any damage caused, there is public interest in the planning system ensuring a 
degree of protection.  Features at risk can include infrastructure such as roads and 
railway lines and flood defence works, sensitive environmental and cultural 
designations, and listed buildings.  Any proposals will need to ensure that 
unacceptable impacts from subsidence will not arise.   

 
5.173 Underground mining often generates large amounts of spoil which requires disposal.  

Spoil from Kellingley Colliery has been disposed of at offsite locations, principally the 
Womersley spoil disposal facility, which since the closure of Kellingley Colliery is 

ANNEX 1Page 311



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  112 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

being restored.  A proposal has been submitted to extend the time allowed for the 
restoration of Womersley spoil disposal facility by two years, using the remaining 
colliery spoil from Kellingley Colliery and soil making materials from elsewhere.  
Transport and disposal of spoil can have significant impacts on communities and on 
the environment, especially when road haulage is involved.  It is therefore important, 
when new disposal sites are under consideration, to give preference to proposals 
which use sustainable transport modes such as rail, water or pipeline.  Where road 
haulage is the only practicable option it will be need to be demonstrated that suitable 
haulage routes are available between the location of the arisings and the point of 
disposal.   

 
5.174 Spoil may also be capable of being used beneficially as a secondary aggregate and it 

will be important to maximise the potential for this, in line with Policy M11 relating to 
the supply of secondary and recycled aggregate.    
 

Policy M21: Shallow coal 
1) Proposals for the extraction of shallow coal will be permitted where extraction 

would take place as part of an agreed programme of development, in order to 
avoid sterilisation of the resource as a result of the implementation of other 
permitted surface development; and where the proposal would be consistent 
with the development management policies in the Joint Plan. 

 
2) Other proposals for the working of shallow coal will be permitted where the 

following criteria are met: 
 

i) Where located in the National Park or an AONB the development would be 
consistent with Policy D04 or, where the development would be located 
outside a National Park or AONB, would provide a high standard of 
protection to the designated area; 

ii) A high standard of protection would be provided to internationally and 
nationally important nature conservation designations;  

iii) Where located in the Green Belt, the working, reclamation and afteruse of 
the site would be compatible with Green Belt objectives in line with national 
policy on Green Belt; 

iv) The site is well located in relation to the highway network and intended 
markets. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA, 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M20, M22, S01, S06, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, 
D09, D10, D11, D12 

Objectives 5, 9 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 21 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.175 Shallow coal resources are relatively scarce across the Plan area and the resource is 

highly fragmented.  There has been no recent history of working shallow coal and no 
known current commercial interest.  Where the resource does occur, in some cases it 
is located in sensitive areas such as those designated as National Park, AONB, 
national or international nature conservation designations or Green Belt.  In a number 
of instances the resource is also found in locations relatively remote from major 
transport routes. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 312



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  113 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

5.176 The nature of shallow coal extraction through opencast working can give rise to 
significant environmental impacts.  It is therefore considered that specific criteria are 
necessary to ensure adequate protection of the environment and local community 
should any proposals come forward, in addition to those requirements set out in the 
general development management policies elsewhere in the Joint Plan. 

 
5.177 In some instances it may be practicable to carry out prior extraction of shallow coal to 

avoid its sterilisation by other forms of surface development.  This can be a particular 
opportunity for shallow coal as it is a relatively high value product and its working in 
relatively small quantities can be viable.  Such prior extraction can be beneficial to 
avoid sterilisation of a valuable resource and can be in the overall interests of 
sustainable development, provided it can be carried out without unacceptable impact 
on the environment and local communities and would not prejudice delivery of the 
surface development giving rise to the opportunity for prior extraction.  Where such 
prior extraction is proposed, compliance with relevant environmental and amenity 
policies in the Joint Plan will be required.  

 

 

Potash and salt 

5.178 Potash is the generic term for potassium bearing minerals and has an important 
economic value for fertiliser. Within the Plan area it takes the form of sylvinite, which 
can be processed to create ‘muriate of potash’, and polyhalite, which although lower 
in terms of potassium content, also includes other important plant nutrients, 
particularly sulphur. Rock salt may occur in association with potash and is commonly 
used for de-icing roads. Both potash and salt occur at substantial depths below the 
eastern part of the Plan area, where existing extraction takes place. Identified 
resources lie mainly beneath the North York Moors National Park. 

 

Policy M22: Potash, polyhalite and salt supply 
Proposals for the extraction of potash and salt sites within the North York Moors 
National Park and renewed applications for the existing sites at Boulby Mine and 
Woodsmith Mine beyond their current planning permissions will be assessed 
against the criteria for major development set out in Policy D04. 
 
Proposals for new surface development and infrastructure associated with the 
existing permitted potash and salt mine sites in the National Park, or their surface 
expansion, which are not considered to be major development, will be permitted 
provided they meet the requirements of Policy D11 and Policy I02 and that no 
unacceptable impact would be caused to the special qualities of the National Park, 
its environment or residential or visitor amenity in the context of any need for the 
development. Proposals for new surface development and infrastructure which are 
considered to represent major development will be assessed against the criteria 
for major development set out in Policy D04. 
 
Proposals for increased volume of potash extraction, the extraction of other forms 
of potash not included in existing permissions, or sub-surface lateral extensions 
to the permitted working area in locations accessible from the existing sites at 
Boulby Potash Mine and the Woodsmith Mine site as well as proposals for new 
sites  outside of the National Park, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
that the following criteria are met: 
 

i) The proposals would not result in unacceptable harm to the special 
qualities of the National Park, taking account of any mitigation measures 
proposed;  

ANNEX 1Page 313



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  114 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

ii) The effects of subsidence upon land stability, coastal erosion and important 
surface structures, infrastructure (including flood defences) and 
environmental and cultural designations, can be monitored and controlled 
so as to prevent unacceptable impacts; 

iii) The proposed arrangements for disposing of mining waste materials arising 
from the development are acceptable; and 

iv) The requirements of Policy I01 for transport and infrastructure have been 
fully considered. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, NYMNPA and Minerals 
industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I01, I02, S01, S04, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06,D08, D09, 
D07 D10, D11, D12 

Objectives 3, 5, 6, 8, 10 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 22 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.179 In planning terms, the differentiation between two forms of potash is important, in 

relation to the policy requirements of the major development test relating to need 
assessment. There is an existing national requirement for the sylvinite form of 
potash, whereas polyhalite is new to the global fertiliser market and is not yet an 
established product.  Planning permission for Boulby Mine allows for the extraction of 
’potash’, covering both sylvinite and polyhalite (and also rock salt), whereas the 2015 
permission for Sirius Minerals at Doves Nest is restricted to polyhalite only. Another 
important distinction is the fact that sylvinite requires processing and therefore has 
significant additional infrastructure requirements, whereas when polyhalite is mined 
entire ore is used with only the need for granulation.  In Policy M22, the term ‘potash’ 
means all forms of the mineral unless where otherwise explicitly stated. 

 
5.180 The UK’s only working potash mine is located at Boulby which is in the north eastern 

area of the North York Moors National Park.  The mine has been producing potash 
since 1973, although the mine now produces mainly polyhalite, with mining currently 
occurring at depths of 800-1350m below ground with operations extending to 14km 
off-shore.  In 2015, permission was granted for a second mine, located at Doves 
Nest Farm near Whitby, for the extraction of polyhalite underneath the North York 
Moors National Park, incorporating a 37km tunnel to convey the mineral to a handling 
facility at Wilton on Teesside.  An associated export facility at Teesport was approved 
in 2016 under the NSIP process. The “North Yorkshire Polyhalite Project” was 
approved by the North York Moors National Park Authority when it concluded that the 
potential economic benefits from the proposal represented a transformational 
economic opportunity at a regional and local level. At the same time it was concluded 
that the innovative nature of the mine design and associated landscaping would 
result in an acceptable reduction in the long term environmental impacts of the 
development. It was also recognised that there was no realistic scope for locating the 
development elsewhere outside the National Park. (It is important to note that the 
need for the mineral was not considered to represent exceptional circumstances as 
this form of potash did not have any established market globally, and in any case 
was available in significant volumes at the nearby Boulby Potash mine).  
Construction of the mine began formally on the 4th May 2017.  At the time of 
commencement of the MWJP Hearings, site preparation works at both the mine site 
and the Lockwood Beck intermediate tunnel site (located just outside the National 
Park in the Redcar & Cleveland BC area) were substantially complete and 
construction of the project is continuing, with first Polyhalite production currently 
expected to commence in the first few years following adoption of the MWJP. 

ANNEX 1Page 314



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  115 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
5.181 Rock salt is mined as a by-product of potash extraction at Boulby mine.  The rock salt 

is transported by rail to Teesside from where it is either exported or transported to 
locations within the UK, with a small amount transported by road to local authorities 
for use on roads.  

 
Gypsum 
 
5.182 Gypsum is a product of the evaporation of seawater and is used mainly in the 

manufacturing of plaster, plasterboard and cement.  Although specific evidence is not 
available, it is possible that demand for gypsum will increase in line with future 
development and economic growth. 

 
5.183 Gypsum is found close to the surface and has been mined in the Plan area although 

it is not currently worked, with a former mine at Sherburn in Elmet closing in 1988. 
The mine workings are now understood to be flooded. 

   
5.184 Synthetic gypsum is produced at Drax and Eggborough power stations as a by-

product of the process of flue gas desulphurisation following the burning of coal.  
Moves towards greater use of lower carbon fuel for power generation may lead to 
reduction in output of synthetic gypsum in the longer term. 

 
5.185 Gypsum is identified as a mineral of local and national importance in the NPPF, 

which requires policies to be included for its extraction. 
 

Policy M23: Supply of gypsum 
The extraction of natural gypsum and the supply of desulphogypsum will be 
permitted where the following criteria are met: 
 

i) the location, siting and design of surface development would ensure a 
high standard of protection to the environment and local communities in 
line with the development management policies in the Joint Plan and the 
site would not be located in the Green Belt unless it can be shown that the 
development can be accommodated within the Green Belt in line with 
national policy; 

ii) the effects of any subsidence upon land stability and important surface 
structures, infrastructure (including flood defences) and the natural and 
historic environment, will be monitored and controlled so as to prevent 
unacceptable impacts. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, NYMNPA and Minerals 
industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I01,I02, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, 
D10, D11, D12 

Objective 5  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 23 (see Appendix 3) 
 

Policy Justification 
 

5.186 The potential for gypsum deposits to dissolve in water means that their distribution is 
unpredictable and no specific information is available for the Plan area.  No mining of 
natural gypsum has taken place in the Plan area since 1988, with the cessation of 
working at the former mine at Sherburn in Elmet.  Permission for working at Sherburn 
in Elmet Mine remains extant, although the workings are now flooded.  There has 
been no indication of any commercial interest in reactivating workings or the opening 

ANNEX 1Page 315



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  116 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

of new gypsum mines in the Plan area.  BGS have indicated that potential gypsum 
and anhydrite bearing units occur at depth under the Plan area but gypsum is 
unlikely to have formed and anhydrite is not considered to be an economic resource.  
Whilst it is considered unlikely that proposals for further working will come forward 
during the Plan period, provision of policy support for the principle of development of 
gypsum resources, subject to compliance with other relevant policies in the Joint 
Plan, would be consistent with national policy objectives, including the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.   

 
5.187 The supply of synthetic gypsum (known as desulphogypsum) is consistent with 

objectives to preserve scarce natural resources and to minimise waste.  Where 
development associated with the supply of synthetic gypsum falls within the scope of 
the Joint Plan, it is considered that support should be provided, subject to compliance 
with other relevant policies.  The amount of synthetic gypsum produced is likely to 
reduce over time due to the move from coal to other forms of fuel at Drax Power 
Station and the potential closure of Eggborough Power Station in the future.  It is 
therefore not considered appropriate to give specific priority, in the policy, to supply 
of synthetic gypsum over natural gypsum as this may limit potential to maintain 
overall supply of gypsum in the future. 

 
 

Vein Minerals 
 
5.188 Vein minerals in the form of fluorspar, barytes and lead mineralisation occur in 

association with other minerals within parts of Craven District, Richmondshire District 
and Harrogate Borough, as part of the North Pennine Orefield. 

 
5.189 Historic working has comprised a combination of both surface and underground 

mining and planning permissions still remain in the vicinity of Greenhow Hill and 
Cononley for fluorspar extraction, although these would have to be subject to a 
mineral review and a new set of planning conditions determined before working could 
take place, as these sites are currently classified as dormant. 

 

Policy M24: Supply of vein minerals 
Proposals for the extraction of vein minerals, including proposals for the 
reactivation of dormant permissions, will be determined in accordance with the 
development management policies in the Joint Plan, having particular regard 
where relevant to any impacts on: 
 

i) important habitats and species; 
ii) protected landscapes; 
iii) heritage assets; 
iv) tourism assets; 
v) transport infrastructure. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC and Minerals industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I01,I02, D01, D02, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, D11, D12  Objectives 5, 9 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 24 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
5.190 National policy requires that mineral plans include policies for the extraction of 

mineral resources of local and national importance although, with the exception of 
fluorspar, vein minerals are not mentioned specifically. 

ANNEX 1Page 316



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  117 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
5.191 A small amount of fluorspar, barytes and lead mineralisation occurs alongside other 

minerals, mainly Carboniferous limestone, within Harrogate Borough (to the west of 
Pateley Bridge) and Craven District (near Cononley, west of Skipton), as part of the 
North Pennine Orefield.  The occurrences in the former area are located within the 
Nidderdale AONB and also lie within or in close proximity to areas designated as 
SPA and SAC.   

 
5.192 There has been no known activity in terms of development of vein minerals for at 

least 15 years, although old dormant planning permissions still remain in the vicinity 
of both Greenhow Hill and Cononley for small scale fluorspar extraction.  

 
5.193 There is no evidence of any commercial interest in reactivating workings or opening 

new workings in the Joint Plan area, or any indication of any future requirements. 
 
5.194 The significant environmental constraints in areas with potential deposits of vein 

minerals, such as the western part of Harrogate Borough, together with the absence 
of any apparent commercial interest in these deposits in the Joint Plan area means 
that it would not be appropriate to express specific support in the Joint Plan for the 
principle of further working.  If any proposals do come forward then they would need 
to be assessed against the relevant development management policies.  Proposals 
for working within the AONB may need to meet the major development test and there 
may also be need for Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations, 
depending on the location of any proposals which do come forward. 

 

Borrow Pits  
 
5.195 Borrow pits are mineral workings used to supply material solely in connection with a 

specific construction or engineering project.  They are typically located on the site of, 
or immediately adjacent to, the project to avoid or substantially reduce traffic 
associated with importation of minerals on public roads.  Sometimes the voids 
created are backfilled with surplus or unusable material from the project and the land 
restored under a much shorter timescale than for a conventional quarry.  Often, they 
can be restored within the timescale of the associated construction works.  In some 
circumstances, borrow pits can be a sustainable form of development by reducing 
transportation impacts compared with supply from other sources.  They can also help 
to prevent sterilisation of the resource, ensure higher quality materials are not used 
for a lower grade use and also reduce the need for new or expanded conventional 
quarries. 

 

Policy M25: Borrow pits 
Proposals for borrow pits, where permission is required, will be permitted where 
the required mineral cannot practicably be supplied by secondary or recycled 
material of appropriate specification from a source in close proximity to the 
construction project, and; where all the following criteria are met: 
 

i) The site lies on, or immediately adjoins, the proposed construction scheme 
so that mineral can be transported from the borrow pit to the point of use 
without significant use of the public highway system; 

ii) The site can be landscaped and restored to a high standard within an 
agreed timescale and to an agreed end-use without the use of imported 
material other than that generated on the adjoining construction project. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC and 
Minerals industry 

ANNEX 1Page 317



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  118 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D09, D10, D11, D12  Objectives 5, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 25 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification  
 
5.196 Principles for the sustainable management of resources suggest that, where 

practicable, secondary or recycled materials should be used in preference to primary 
minerals.  The possibility of sourcing secondary or recycled material should therefore 
be considered before proposals are brought forward for a borrow pit.  Use of such 
materials (provided they can meet the necessary specification for the works) would 
only be likely to present a significant overall benefit compared with supply from a 
borrow pit if the secondary or recycled sources are located in relatively close 
proximity to the project, in order to avoid the need for road haulage over long 
distances.  Where borrow pits are proposed information should be provided to 
demonstrate the relationship between the proposal and the specific project to be 
served.  Borrow pits should not be used to serve the wider market for minerals and it 
is likely that any permissions granted will be limited on that basis. 

 
5.197 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 

2015 sets out where development is permitted without needing to make a successful 
planning application.  This includes the winning and working on land held or occupied 
with land used for the purposes of agriculture of any minerals reasonably necessary 
for agricultural purposes within the agricultural unit of which it forms part, unless the 
site is within 25 metres from a metalled part of a trunk road or classified road.  
However this permitted development right does not include minerals that are moved 
outside the land from which it was extracted and therefore, in these circumstances, 
proposals will be considered against the criteria set out in Policy M25.  

 
 

ANNEX 1Page 318



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  119 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 6: Provision of Waste 
Management Capacity and 
Infrastructure 

Introduction 
 
6.1 This chapter focusses on planning for the management of waste generated in the 

Plan area.  Waste is produced by a wide range of domestic, commercial and 
industrial activities, sometimes in large quantities.  Commercial and Industrial waste,  
waste from construction and demolition activity and waste arising from municipal 
sources,  known as Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) are, by volume, the 
most common forms of waste arising in the Plan area19. 

 
6.2 LACW arises widely across the Plan area but, as household and some commercial 

waste is an important part of this waste stream, there is a strong association with the 
distribution of population, with the more urbanised parts of the Plan area being key 
sources of arisings.  It can comprise a wide range of items including inert waste and 
biodegradeable materials such as food waste, as well as waste which needs 
specialist management, such as waste electrical equipment. 

 
6.3 Commercial and Industrial (C&I) waste is generated by business and industrial 

activity and therefore will occur relatively widely within the area, with a particular 
concentration in the more urbanised parts.  C&I waste can include a very wide range 
of materials, due to the range of sources from which it is generated.  Certain 
elements of the C&I waste stream, such as mixed ordinary C&I waste, can be very 
similar to household waste and can often be dealt with through similar processes.  
However, an important exception to this is the Power and Utilities sector, which 
comprises a large proportion of total C&I waste in the Plan area.  The majority of this 
arises in the form of power station ash in association with electricity generation in 
Selby District. 

 
6.4 Whilst there is limited data on where Construction, Demolition and Excavation 

(CD&E) waste arises, it is reasonable to assume that most arises in the more urban 
areas, or at other locations where large scale construction projects take place.  It 
includes inert materials such as bricks and rubble, as well as non-inert material such 
as wood and plastic.  A large amount of CD&E waste is disposed of or beneficially 
reused on the site where it arises and therefore does not enter the wider waste 
market and is not recorded.  This position is expected to continue.  In particular, 
overburden and waste stone generated during quarrying activity is generally 
disposed of as part of landscaping and quarry reclamation activity at the site where it 
is produced and does not need management at off-site facilities.   

 
6.5 The large majority of agricultural waste comprises organic materials, although other 

items such as plastic packaging may arise.  It is generated widely outside urban 
locations but is particularly associated with more intensively farmed areas outside the 
upland parts of the Plan area. 

 

                                                
19 The District and Borough Councils in North Yorkshire have responsibility to collect LACW arising within NYCC.  
North Yorkshire County Council has responsibility to ensure arrangements are in place to dispose of the waste 
which is collected.  As a Unitary Council, the City of York Council fulfils both these responsibilities within its area. 
Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council are responsible for collecting and managing LACW in the part of the 
North York Moors National Park in that Borough. 

ANNEX 1Page 319



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  120 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.6 Hazardous waste is waste which requires specialised management because of the 
potential it has to cause harm to health or the environment.  It can occur in 
association with a range of commercial, industrial and domestic activities and may 
include some common household items which are discarded.  Low-Level Radioactive 
Waste (LLR waste) from the non-nuclear industry currently arises in very small 
quantities, often in association with medical and research activities as well as some 
industrial processes.  Waste water and sewage sludge is generated in association 
with domestic, commercial and industrial activity and therefore its overall distribution 
is likely to be similar to that of LACW and C&I waste.  There is potential for an 
increase in arisings of waste water and LLR waste if shale gas development activity 
becomes established in the area. 

 
6.7 The following table presents estimates of arisings of the main waste streams in the 

North Yorkshire sub-region for 2014 unless otherwise stated. 
 

North Yorkshire Sub-region - Estimated Main Waste 

Arisings  2014 (tonnes) 

              Comment 

Local Authority Collected Waste 425,864 Does not include arisings within 
the Redcar and Cleveland area of 
the NYMNP. 

Commercial and Industrial waste 322,872 Excludes large volumes of power 
station ash from Drax and 
Eggborough Power Stations 
deposited at private disposal 
facilities at Barlow and Gale 
Common ash disposal sites. 

Construction, Demolition and 
Excavation waste 

820,705 Excludes waste managed at EA 
Registered Exemption sites. 

Hazardous Waste 33,143  

Agricultural waste 33,786 Excludes large volumes of 
organic farm waste managed 
directly within the farm holding. 

Low-Level Radioactive waste Estimated at less than 
50m3 

EA Estimate 

Waste water No data available  

Table 4: Estimated waste arisings in the North Yorkshire sub-region20 

 
6.8 Alongside these estimates of waste arisings, information published by the 

Environment Agency (EA) suggests that a total of around 2.7 million tonnes (mt)21 of 
waste was deposited at EA permitted waste management facilities22 in the NY sub-
region in 2014.  There are also a range of import and export movements across the 
sub-regional boundary, mainly to and from West Yorkshire, the North East and the 
Hull and Humber area.  Data on cross-boundary movements suggests that volumes 
of imports and exports are relatively small in comparison to total deposits and 
estimated arisings23.  There is variability in volumes of cross-boundary movements 
depending on commercial and other factors and such variability is likely to continue in 
the future. 

                                                
20 North Yorkshire sub region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision)  - Capacity information subsequentley updated March 2017 in accordance with 2015 Environment 
Agency Waste Data Interrogator 
21 2014 WDI data. This figure excludes any waste deposited at sites exempt from permitting but includes 
approximately 1mt of waste deposited at restricted user landfill facilities.  The large majority of this latter waste is 
expected to be waste ash from power stations. 
22 There are a substantial number of permit exempt sites in the area but specific information on waste deposited 
at these is not available. 
23 E.g. North Yorkshire sub region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision) 

ANNEX 1Page 320



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  121 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
6.9 National Government policy aims to ensure that waste can be managed in more 

sustainable ways and this means moving away from traditional waste disposal 
practices like landfill, towards alternative means of managing waste as a resource, 
for example through recycling or recovery of other value, such as energy.  The Plan 
area has traditionally been heavily reliant on landfill to deal with waste, although in 
recent years significant progress has been made towards increasing the amount of 
waste dealt with by other means such as reuse, recycling or composting.  The 
recycling and composting rate for household waste is now around 46%24, with local 
and national targets to achieve a level of 50% by 2020.  

 
6.10 There is a need for the Joint Plan to contribute to diversion of LACW away from 

landfill in accordance with national objectives and agreed targets in the York and 
North Yorkshire Municipal Waste Management Strategy25.  The current rate of landfill 
for this waste stream is around 53% in the North Yorkshire area, with an agreed 
target of diverting a minimum of 75% from landfill.  A new contract for the 
management of residual LACW has been procured by NYCC and CYC, which will 
enable the landfill diversion target and the 50% recycling target to be met.  Key to 
achieving this shift is the construction of a new facility in North Yorkshire (known as 
Allerton Waste Recovery Park) on which work is now well advanced, with the facility 
expected to be fully operational in early 2018.  When operational the facility will 
enable the landfill diversion and recycling targets to be exceeded. 

 
6.11 There are also a range of other national objectives supporting the more sustainable 

management of waste and recently the EU has identified a target for 65% recycling 
of waste (excluding CD&E waste and waste water), with a maximum of 10% to 
landfill, as part of a move towards a ‘circular economy’.  In this and the comparable 
objective of a ‘zero waste economy’ as expressed by the UK Government,  waste is 
viewed as a resource, with disposal only taking place where waste cannot be dealt 
with further up the waste hierarchy. 

 
6.12 The Landfill Tax is also a key factor in the need to divert waste from landfill.  It aims 

to encourage waste producers to generate less waste and recover more value from 
it.  Inert or inactive waste is subject to a lower rate of tax, currently £2.65 per tonne.  
The standard rate is currently (2016/17) £84.40 per tonne and is expected to 
increase further in line with inflation.  This means that landfill is an expensive means 
of dealing with waste, as well as an option which is generally less preferable in 
environmental terms. 

 
6.13 The Plan area already has a substantial range of waste management facilities 

including recycling and composting facilities, landfill sites, treatment facilities and 
transfer stations and more facilities are either under construction or have received 
planning permission.  Most of these existing or permitted facilities are located within 
the NYCC and City of York areas and are generally located close to centres of 
population and areas of expected future growth.  There are relatively few facilities in 
the North York Moors National Park and much of the waste generated in the Park 
(and also in the Yorkshire Dales National Park) is managed in the NYCC area. 

 

                                                
24 This figure relates to the recycling rate for the York and North Yorkshire Waste Partnership area and therefore 
does not include those parts of the North York Moors National Park and Yorkshire Dales National Park areas 
falling within Redcar and Cleveland Borough and Cumbria County Council respectively.  The recycling rate for 
the Plan area itself is expected to be very similar 
25 The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy was produced by the York and North Yorkshire Waste 
Management Partnership in 2006 and sets out a range of local targets and objectives for managing this waste 
stream 

ANNEX 1Page 321



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  122 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.14 To help with planning for waste in North Yorkshire the authorities involved in 
preparation of the Joint Plan, together with the adjacent Yorkshire Dales National 
Park Authority, commissioned consultants to look in more detail at future waste 
management capacity needs over the period up to 31 December 2030.  The findings 
of this sub-regional study26 are available at www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence.  A 
key objective of this work was to examine potential future needs in the light of 
information about current waste management capacity, in order to identify any 
important capacity ‘gaps’ for which provision should be made in the Joint Plan.  The 
findings of the project have informed the content of the Joint Plan. 

 
6.15 The main role that the three Waste Planning Authorities can play in promoting the 

more sustainable management of waste is to support the provision of any additional 
capacity that is likely to be required in the area in order to meet future waste 
management needs in a sustainable way.  This can be achieved by establishing a 
supportive local planning policy framework which encourages development of any 
new waste facilities which may be needed, in appropriate locations, whilst ensuring a 
high level of protection for the environment and local communities. 

 
6.16 Supporting the provision of facilities needed to manage waste more sustainably will 

also help to meet agreed targets for waste management, such as those adopted by 
NYCC and the CYC in their roles as Waste Collection and/or Disposal Authorities.  
However, the wide range of parties involved in the management of waste, the rapidly 
evolving policy and regulatory climate, as well as continuing advances in 
technologies, suggest that there will also need to be a degree of flexibility in any local 
planning policy.  This will help to ensure that the waste management industry can 
come forward with proposals which support the Government’s overall objectives for 
waste planning of providing the right facilities, in the right place, at the right time. 

 
Moving waste up the waste hierarchy 
 
6.17 The ‘waste hierarchy’ is a well-established policy tool supporting the more 

sustainable management of waste.  Moving waste management practice up the 
waste hierarchy is a key objective of Government policy27 and needs to be reflected 
in the approach taken in local plans for waste.  Minimisation of waste, preparing for 
re-use and then recycling represent the three highest levels of the hierarchy (see 
Figure 3 in Chapter 2).  

 
6.18 Achieving the management of waste further up the hierarchy will involve the actions 

of a wide range of organisations and individuals, including the public, businesses, the 
waste management industry and waste management and planning authorities.  The 
Joint Plan is limited in its ability to influence generation of waste (although this is 
addressed where practicable in Policy D11 in Chapter 9 relating to sustainable 
design).  It can play a role in moving waste up the hierarchy by encouraging and 
supporting development proposals which enable waste to be dealt with at higher 
levels of the hierarchy than is currently the case and by imposing a degree of 
restraint on other forms of development, such as landfill and incineration without 
energy recovery (which, as disposal options, represent the lowest level of the 
hierarchy), unless there is appropriate justification.  Locational policies for waste can 
also play a role in moving waste up the hierarchy such as through encouraging the 
co-location of complementary waste activities.  This is addressed later in Policy W11 
dealing with waste site identification principles.  In combination, these actions will 
help to ensure that waste management practice can continue to move further up the 

                                                
26 North Yorkshire sub region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision) 
27 National Planning Policy for Waste (DCLG 2014) 

ANNEX 1Page 322

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  123 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

waste hierarchy and decisions by the Waste Planning Authorities in the area will be 
guided by the principles set out in Policy W01 below. 

 

Policy W01: Moving waste up the waste hierarchy 
1) Proposals will be permitted where they would contribute to moving waste up 

the waste hierarchy through: 
  

i) the minimisation of waste, or; 
ii) the increased re-use, recycling or composting of waste, or; 
iii) the provision of waste treatment capacity and small scale proposals for 

energy recovery (including advanced thermal treatment technologies), 
which would help to divert waste from landfill.  

 
2) Further capacity for the large scale recovery of energy from waste (in excess of 

75,000 tonnes annual throughput capacity), including through advanced 
thermal treatment technologies, will only be permitted in line with Policy W04 
and where any heat generated can be utilised as a source of low carbon energy 
or, where use of heat is not practicable, the efficient recovery of energy can be 
achieved. 

 
3) The provision of new capacity for the landfill of residual non-inert waste will be 

permitted where it can be demonstrated that it is the only practicable option 
and sufficient permitted capacity within the Plan area is not available.  
Proposals for the extension of time at existing permitted landfill sites with 
remaining void space will be supported in principle, where necessary either; 

 
(i)  to maintain capacity for disposal of residual waste, or; 
(ii) to achieve the satisfactory restoration of the site. 

 
4) Landfill of inert waste will be permitted where it would facilitate: 
 
     i) a high standard of quarry reclamation in accordance with agreed reclamation 

objectives, or; 
ii) the substantial improvement of derelict or degraded land where it can be 

demonstrated that the import of the waste is essential to bring the derelict or 
degraded land back into beneficial use and the scale of the importation 
would not undermine the potential to manage waste further up the hierarchy.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W03, W04, W05, W06, W07, W08, W09, W10, W11, S03, 
D01, D10 

Objective 1 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 26 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
6.19 Waste minimisation, preparation for reuse, recycling and composting (where relevant 

quality protocols are met) are the higher levels of the waste hierarchy and are the 
preferred means of dealing with waste.  These are generally the most efficient means 
of extracting value from waste as a resource.  For some types of waste, reuse, 
recycling or composting is not practicable.  For these, other forms of treatment or 
recovery are likely to be required in order to minimise the amount of waste disposed 
of via landfill, which is at the bottom of the waste hierarchy.   

 

ANNEX 1Page 323



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  124 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.20 Waste which it is not practicable to deal with through the higher levels of the 
hierarchy (known as ‘residual waste’) may also be capable of being used as a 
resource via the recovery of energy through various forms of thermal treatment 
processes, including incineration and Advanced Thermal Treatment (ATT) 
technologies, such as gasification and pyrolysis.  Where recovery of energy is 
proposed, national policy encourages utilisation of heat generated, potentially in 
association with electrical power, to help to ensure the most efficient use of the waste 
as a resource.  For all proposals for facilities which recover energy from waste 
consideration should be given to the utilisation of the heat produced as an energy 
source.  However, the investment required to undertake this suggests that it is most 
likely to take place in association with relatively large schemes, where economies of 
scale are likely to arise.  There is significant permitted (but not yet operational) 
capacity for energy recovery in the Plan area.  Any further proposals, consistent with 
other waste policies in the Joint Plan and with a capacity in excess of 75,000tpa, 
should be accompanied by information to demonstrate that the potential for heat 
utilisation has been considered and will be delivered where practicable.  The 
threshold of 75,000tpa is consistent with the threshold used to define larger scale 
facilities within the Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement (February 
2016), produced jointly by all Waste Planning Authorities in the Yorkshire and 
Humber area.  The Environment Agency has indicated that EfW schemes within 
15km of large users of heat are more likely to have potential for heat utilisation.  
Where use of heat is not practicable, it is appropriate to support the maximum 
recovery of electrical energy, in order to help ensure the efficient use of waste as a 
resource.  

 
6.21 Landfill represents the bottom of the hierarchy, although it is likely still to be required 

for waste which cannot be dealt with by other means, and may be able to play an 
important role in the reclamation of mineral workings in the Plan area.  Achieving a 
high standard of reclamation, potentially including importation of suitable materials, is 
addressed in Policy D10 ‘Reclamation and afteruse’.  Subject where necessary to 
extending time for completing landfilling at existing sites with time limited permissions 
in the area, there should be adequate capacity for landfill of residual biodegradeable 
waste.  It therefore follows that, in line with the waste hierarchy, it would not be 
appropriate to support the development of new biodegradeable landfill sites in the 
Plan area unless there is a clear justification in terms of any unmet needs.  

 
6.22 Whilst diversion of inert waste from landfill can facilitate its beneficial use as a 

resource, inert landfill is less harmful to the environment as it does not decompose to 
generate greenhouse gases to the same extent as biodegradeable waste.  It can also 
play an important role in improving the standard of reclamation of quarries in the Plan 
area and, in some cases, improving derelict or degraded land.  It is therefore 
appropriate in some circumstances to provide policy support for this method of waste 
management. 

 
Strategic role of the Plan area in the management of waste 
 
6.23 A particular consideration is the role the Plan area plays in the management of waste 

over the wider North Yorkshire sub-region (i.e. the Plan area together with the 
adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park (YDNP) which is a separate waste planning 
authority area). 

 
6.24 There are currently no significant waste management facilities in the YDNP and 

national policy constraints suggest that this position is unlikely to change.  NYCC, as 
Waste Disposal Authority, has a responsibility for the management of LACW 

ANNEX 1Page 324



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  125 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

collected from the majority of the YDNP28 and most of this waste is currently dealt 
with in the NYCC area.  It is expected that this arrangement will need to continue 
over the Plan period and is reflected in future waste management capacity 
requirements for the Plan area identified through the waste arisings and capacity 
evidence project undertaken on behalf of the four Authorities.  Waste generated in 
the Redcar and Cleveland part of the North York Moors National Park has been 
allowed for in the Tees Valley Minerals and Waste Core Strategy (adopted in 2011).  
Memoranda of understanding with the YDNPA and Redcar and Cleveland Borough 
Council have been agreed to reflect this. 

 
6.25 A view also needs to be taken on the extent to which the Joint Plan area can or 

should seek to be self-sufficient in capacity to manage waste arising in the area, or 
whether greater reliance on exports to facilities elsewhere should be planned for.  
The evidence shows that the area already has a relatively high degree of self-
sufficiency in capacity for some wastes.  However, there have been a number of 
known exports movements in recent years.  This includes landfill and some treatment 
of hazardous waste, management of some LLR waste, and; other specialist needs, 
including some treatment and final reprocessing capacity for recycled C&I and 
LACW29.   

 
6.26 Environment Agency data indicates that in 2014 the North Yorkshire sub-region 

imported a minimum of 212,000 tonnes of waste (251,000 tonnes in 2012 and 
193,000 tonnes in 2013).  However, the actual figure is likely to be higher due to the 
lack of detail on the origin of some waste arisings.  In each year, from 2012 -2014, 
the sub-region is known to have exported over 300,000 tonnes of waste.  The 
majority of import and export movements were from or to other locations in Yorkshire 
and Humber or the North East.  However, as indicated above, data suggests that 
there are significant annual variations in the scale of movements between particular 
areas and this limits the potential to establish a comprehensive understanding of 
current and likely future waste flows. 

 
6.27 Examples of specific waste streams which have been exported for management 

include materials or items such as: asbestos, automotive and household batteries, 
glass, paper, wood, chemicals, ferrous and non-ferrous metal, textiles, engine and 
cooking oil and cooling appliances.  As noted in the Yorkshire and Humber Waste 
Position Statement 2016, final reprocessing capacity for many wastes is subject of 
regional or national scale markets, with the Yorkshire and Humber area containing 
the largest concentration of glass and metal reprocessors in England. 

 
6.28 This information suggests that the waste management market is relatively complex. 

Such complexity is likely to continue to exist over the Plan period, including in 
response to commercial factors and the decisions of waste producers.  

 
6.29 Approximately 86% of hazardous waste arising within the Plan area in 201430 was 

ultimately managed outside the area, with West Yorkshire and the Tees Valley being 
the main export destinations.  This indicates that the area is particularly reliant on 
capacity elsewhere for management of this relatively specialised but diverse form of 
waste, which arises in small quantities and for which specialist management 
provision is required.  Economies of scale suggest it is unlikely to be practicable to 
provide dedicated capacity for this waste in the Plan area. 

 

                                                
28 i.e. the area excluding that part of the YDNP located within Cumbria 
29 Initial separation and sorting of materials for recycling takes place within the Plan area, for example in 
association with the operation of waste transfer activities, and at HWRCs and other recycling facilities.  However, 
it is likely that a substantial amount of final reprocessing of recycled materials takes place outside the Plan area. 
30 Environment Agency Hazardous Waste Interrogator 2014 

ANNEX 1Page 325



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  126 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.30 Government policy encourages communities to take responsibility for their waste 
arisings and sets out a requirement to ensure that waste can be disposed of or, in the 
case of mixed municipal waste collected from private households, recovered at the 
nearest appropriate installation.  Reducing the need for transport of waste over long 
distances can often be the most sustainable arrangement, for example in terms of 
reducing the environmental or local amenity impacts of traffic movements.  However, 
there is no specific requirement in national policy for an area to be self-sufficient in 
capacity to manage its own waste and policy acknowledges that management of 
waste outside the administrative boundary of the area may be the most appropriate 
solution, for example where it would minimise the overall transport of waste or help to 
use existing infrastructure effectively.  Nevertheless, increasing the capability of the 
area to manage the waste that arises within it is an important sustainability 
consideration that should be addressed in the Joint Plan.  As a result, the approach 
in the Joint Plan is to seek a move towards a position of ‘net self-sufficiency’, as 
explained in more detail in the justification for Policy W02 below. 

 

Policy W02: Strategic role of the Plan area in the management of 
waste 
1) Support will be given through the allocation of sites and the grant of planning 

permission for the additional waste management capacity needed to help 
achieve net self-sufficiency in capacity at a level equivalent to expected 
arisings in the Plan area, by 31 December 2030. 
 

2) Provision of capacity within the Plan area shall include provision for waste 
arising in the Yorkshire Dales National Park, with the exception of mining and 
quarrying waste and small scale waste arisings which can be appropriately 
managed at facilities within the National Park. 
 

3) Except as provided for in 2) above, where a facility is proposed specifically to 
manage waste arising outside the Plan area, including specialist facilities 
such as those accommodating hazardous waste,  will not be permitted unless 
it can be demonstrated that the facility would represent the nearest 
appropriate installation for the waste to be managed. 
 

4) Proposals which would help meet unforeseen needs for the management of 
specific waste streams arising in the Plan area but not specifically identified 
or provided for in the Joint Plan, will be permitted where they would be in line 
with the requirements of Policies W10 and W11.  

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W01, W03, W04, W05, W06, W07, W08, 
W09, W10, W11, D01 

Objectives 2, 4, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 27 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

6.31 National policy encourages community responsibility in the management of waste.  
At the same time it needs to be acknowledged that commercial considerations and 
operation of the market play a fundamental role in determining the actual pattern of 
movement of waste for management, and in most cases administrative boundaries 
have little influence on this.  Evidence gathered during preparation of the Joint Plan 
indicates that cross-boundary movements, both imports and exports, have taken 
place in recent years and it is expected that such movements will continue in 

ANNEX 1Page 326



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  127 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

response to market and other factors outside the control of the Waste Planning 
Authorities.   

 
6.32 Planning for a ‘net self-sufficiency’ approach can help ensure that a suitable level of 

provision is made, where practicable, by planning for waste management capacity at 
a level equivalent to expected future arisings in the area.  This ought to ensure that 
additional capacity can be delivered within the Plan area over the period to 31 
December 2030 to achieve the local management of waste, whilst acknowledging 
that a degree of import and export movements are likely to continue, although it is 
recognised that levels of waste imports and exports may not always balance. 

 
6.33 Such an approach also reflects the fact that, for certain specialist waste streams, 

including hazardous waste for landfill and LLR waste requiring management at 
specialist waste water treatment facilities or other specialist facilities, wider 
geographical markets for waste management exist.  Similar considerations apply to 
final re-processing capacity for many types of recyclate, which are often exported to 
nationally or regionally significant facilities receiving waste from a wide range of 
sources.  However, if arisings of specialist waste streams were to increase 
significantly, for example as a result of new industrial or commercial activity taking 
place in the Plan area, this may justify the provision of facilities in the Plan area and 
proposals for these would be addressed through the requirements of Policies W10 
and W11 and other relevant policies in the Joint Plan as appropriate. 

 
6.34 As part of the evidence base for the Joint Plan, a review of the current or emerging 

approach to self-sufficiency in waste management capacity within waste planning 
authority areas adjoining the Plan area, as well as in those which have recently 
exported significant amounts of waste to the area, has been undertaken.  This 
suggests that these areas are, or are intending to, plan on the basis of net self-
sufficiency (or equivalent) for their area.  This in turn suggests that it is unlikely that a 
significantly increased level of imports into the Plan area will occur in the future, as 
other areas plan for more capacity to meet their own equivalent arisings.  Further 
evidence work indicates that areas currently receiving exports from the Plan area do 
not envisage significant problems in such movements continuing over the 
foreseeable future if necessary.  Together, these factors indicate that an approach of 
planning for net self-sufficiency for the Plan area is likely to be adequate and 
appropriate in meeting future waste management needs. 

 
6.35 The Waste Arisings and Capacity study undertaken as part of the evidence base for 

the Joint Plan was prepared in partnership with the YDNPA and reflected capacity 
requirements for waste arising in the YDNPA within the study.  These are in turn 
reflected in the future capacity requirements identified in the Joint Plan.  
Nevertheless, it is likely to be practicable for some waste arising in the YDNP to be 
managed in the Park and this is being addressed in the new Local Plan for the 
YDNP.  A memorandum of understanding between the Authorities and the YDNPA 
reflects this agreed position.   

 
 

Meeting future waste management needs 
 
6.36 To help with planning for waste it is necessary to make some assumptions about the 

scale of future arisings that may need to be dealt with; likely future waste 
management practice, and; the waste management capacity expected to be 
available over the Plan period.  As mentioned earlier, work on this has been carried 
out to support preparation of the Joint Plan.  This work provides an important 
benchmark but the position with regard to predicting future capacity needs is 
complicated by a number of factors including:  

ANNEX 1Page 327



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  128 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 The scale of future arisings may be influenced by a wide range of matters 
such as the economy, technological changes and changes in behaviour of 
waste producers and these cannot be predicted with any certainty; 

 Waste management policy and practice has been going through a period of 
rapid change in recent years and this may continue; 

 There are significant limitations in the availability of data relating to current 
arisings and management of some waste streams (the main exceptions being 
LACW and hazardous waste); 

 Data on waste management capacity is not comprehensive and is subject to 
change over short periods, for example as new permissions are granted or 
expire. 
 

6.37 Together, these and other factors mean that it is not practicable to quantify future 
waste management capacity requirements with a very high degree of precision, 
suggesting that it will be necessary to include a degree of flexibility in the Plan. 

 
6.38 The work commissioned by the Authorities uses two scenarios, one about possible 

changes in the amounts of waste arising over the Plan period and the other about 
how waste management practice may change over the same time, and compares 
these against available information on operational waste management capacity in the 
area.  This can be used to give an indication of the potential scale of any ‘capacity 
gap’ between potential requirements and current capacity. The table below provides 
the projected arisings of waste within the North Yorkshire sub-region at key years 
throughout the Plan period. 

 

Waste Type Quantity 2016 
(tonnes) 

Quantity 2020 
(tonnes) 

Quantity 2025 
(tonnes) 

Quantity 2030 
(tonnes) 

LACW 31 442,297 452,949 468,706 483,416 

AWRP Estimated 
Outputs - C&I 

- 67,346 70,233 72,977 

AWRP Estimated 
Outputs -
Hazardous  

- 16,035 16,723 17,377 

C&I 327,252 336,200 347,759 359,736 

CD&E 837,201 871,196 897,639 920,306 

Hazardous 33,542 34,353 35,395 36,467 

Agricultural 33,786 33,786 33,786 33,786 

LLR waste <50m3 <50m3 <50m3 <50m3 

Waste Water No data available No data available No data available No data available 

TOTAL  
(excluding LLR 
waste and waste 
water) 

1,674,078 1,811,865 1,870,241 1,924,065 

Table 5: Projected waste arisings in the North Yorkshire sub-region 2016, 2020, 2025 and 203032 

 
6.39 The projected waste arisings included in Table 5 are based on the assumption that 

LACW grows in line with projections used by the York and North Yorkshire Waste 
Partnership.  Arrangements are in place through the Partnership to manage this 
projected increase over the Plan period, including through use of the Allerton Waste 
Recovery Park facility (AWRP).  The proposed AWRP facility has been designed to 
accommodate expected growth in arisings of residual LACW over the period to 2040 
and is also expected to be able to provide some capacity for C&I waste over the plan 

                                                
31 LACW projections are for 2016/17, 2020/21, 2025/26 and 2030/31 respectively.  
32 North Yorkshire Sub Region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision) – Capacity information subsequently updated March 2017 in accordance with 2015 Environment 
Agency Waste Interrogator. 

ANNEX 1Page 328



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  129 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

period.  When operational, the AWRP facility will enable targets agreed under the 
current Municipal Waste Management Strategy for York and North Yorkshire to be 
met. 

 
6.40 Projections for other relevant waste streams are based on the ‘growth’ scenario 

modelled in the Waste Arisings and Capacity report.  This represents the highest 
assumed growth rate of the various scenarios considered in the report, in order to 
help ensure that adequate capacity is planned for.  Further information on the growth 
scenarios considered are included in the North Yorkshire sub-region Waste Arisings 
and Capacity Requirements Update Report (September 2016), contained in the 
evidence base for the Plan. 

 
6.41 In order to help identify any potential future ‘capacity gaps’, it is also necessary to 

consider the amount of operational capacity that is currently available within the Plan 
area, in line with the National Planning Policy for Waste (2014), and how this is 
expected to change over time as a result of the expected expiry of existing planning 
permissions.  This is shown in Table 6 below.  For 2020 onwards the Table also 
includes capacity within the AWRP facility33.  Although this is not yet operational the 
facility is at an advanced stage of construction and is expected to be fully 
commissioned in early 2018.  There is therefore a very high degree of confidence 
that this capacity will come on stream. 

  
 

Waste 

Management 

Method 

Capacity 2016 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 

2020 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 2025 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 2030 

(tonnes) 

Recycling  

(C&I, LACW, 

Agricultural) 

734,450 979,751 945,230  895,230 

Recycling  

(CD&E) 
315,920 240,920 177,482 177,482 

Recycling 
(Specialist Material) 

106,200 106,200 106,200 106,200 

Treatment Plant 272,935 381,949 374,925 374,925 

Composting 163,171 163,171 148,171 134,835 

Energy from Waste 0 320,000 320,000 320,000 

Landfill  

(C&I, LACW, 

Agricultural) 

525,927 148,563 56,816 0 

Landfill (CD&E) 658,444 300,406 131,340 131,340 

Landfill (Haz) 610 0 0 0 

TOTAL 2,777,657 2,640,960 2,260,164 2,140,012 

 
Table 6: Total actual (2016) and projected (2020, 2025 and 2030) operating waste management 
capacity in the North Yorkshire sub-region (tonnes per annum)34 

                                                
33 The AWRP facility will include a range of processes including mechanical treatment, anaerobic digestion, 
energy from waste recovery and incinerator bottom ash recycling  
34 North Yorkshire sub region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision) )  - Capacity information subsequentley updated March 2017 in accordance with 2015 
Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 

ANNEX 1Page 329



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  130 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
6.42 Since work on arisings and capacity evidence was first commissioned by the 

Authorities, potential scenarios for waste management practice have been reviewed 
in the updated Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements study (2016).  This is to 
ensure that the modelling work takes into account more up-to-date information and 
targets and responses received on the original scenarios during consultation at 
earlier stages of Plan preparation.  This has resulted in use of the following 
summarised assumptions about waste management practice in the Joint Plan35.  

 

Waste 
Stream 

Practice assumption Comment 

LACW Waste is managed in accordance with 
existing and planned arrangements and in 
accordance with agreed targets in the 
JMWMS and delivery of AWRP facility.  

Reflects current approach by the York 
and North Yorkshire Waste Partnership 
and implementation of the AWRP facility. 

C&I 
waste 

Commercial waste Industrial waste These assumptions reflect the 
‘alternative median’ scenario modelled in 
the Waste Arisings and Capacity Update 
Report (2016) and is considered to 
represent a realistic target in terms of 
recycling performance, which is in line 
with the current EU ‘circular economy’ 
target, whilst reflecting the existence of 
significant permitted energy recovery 
capacity in the Plan area. 

By 2020: 
10% to landfill 
Of the remainder: 
60% recycling 
40% EfW 
 
By 2030: 
10% or below to 
landfill 
Of the remainder: 
65% recycling 
35% EfW 
 

By 2020:  
18% to landfill 
Of the remainder: 
60% recycling 
40% EfW 
 
By 2030: 
18% or below to 
landfill 
Of the remainder: 
65% recycling 
35% EfW 

CD&E 
waste 

Maximised recycling scenario: 
By 2020: 
75% recycling  
20% treatment 
5% landfill 
 
Alternative median recycling scenario: 
By 2020: 
60% recycling  
20% treatment 
20% to landfill 

These assumptions provide a 
challenging maximum recycling scenario 
for CD&E waste, recognising the 
potential for more sustainable 
management of this waste stream, whilst 
also reflecting the need to consider 
requirements for landfill if high rates of 
recycling are not achieved. 

Table 7: Practice scenarios 

 
6.43 The scenarios referred to above can, when considered in relation to operational 

waste management capacity, be used to generate an estimate of the scale of any 
potential waste management ‘capacity gaps’, and how these may change over the 
period to 31 December 2030.  This in turn can inform the policy approach in the Joint 
Plan and ensure that appropriate capacity can be provided.  

 
6.44 Table 8 below summarises the potential capacity gaps identified for the key waste 

management methods, taking into account the scenarios presented in Table 7.  For 
CD&E waste the projected capacity gap for recycling is based on the ‘maximised’ 
recycling scenario.  For CD&E landfill, the gaps are presented on the basis of the 
‘alternative median scenario’.  This approach helps ensure that a high rate of 
recycling is supported, whilst reflecting a potential need for additional landfill capacity 
if a 75% recycling rate is not achieved.    
 

                                                
35 More information on scenarios is provided in the North Yorkshire sub-region Waste Arisings and Capacity 
Update Report (Urban Vision, 2016) 

ANNEX 1Page 330



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  131 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.45 It should also be noted that the capacity gap figures presented in Table 8 are based 
on an assumption that the major waste streams arising in the area are managed in 
the Plan area, in accordance with the principle of net self-sufficiency.  In practice it is 
likely that some waste will continue to be exported (and imported) in accordance with 
current or future market circumstances.  Further flexibility to meet unforeseen 
requirements is also provided through the positive approach to new development 
which would help move waste up the hierarchy, or meet needs arising in the Plan 
area, through Policies W01 and W02 and other relevant policies in the Joint Plan. 

 
Waste 

Management 

Method 

Projected 

Capacity 

Gap/Surplus 

2016 (tonnes) 

Projected 

Capacity 

Gap/Surpl

us 2020 

(tonnes) 

Projected 

Capacity 

Gap/Surplus 

2025 

(tonnes) 

Projected 

Capacity 

Gap/Surplus 

2030 (tonnes) 

Recycling  

(C&I, LACW, 

Agricultural) 

-318,261 -532,226 -477,369 -414,655 

Recycling (CD&E) -20,088 349,698 422,315 437,450 

Treatment Plant 135,378 90,959 111,694 124,908 

Composting -136,992 -136,276 -120,351 -106,058 

Energy from Waste 46,386 -102,961 -95,418 -89,631 

Incineration 

(Specialist High 

Temp) 

13,632 13,632 13,632 13,632 

Landfill  

(C&I, LACW, 

Agricultural) 

-308,556 -109,326 -16,097 42,123 

Landfill (Hazardous) 
7,252 

6,642 
23,464 24,379 25,266 

Landfill (CD&E) -159,364    -32,021 102,046 107,939 

 
Table 8: Main projected capacity Gaps/Surplus in the North Yorkshire sub-region (tonnes per 
annum)36. Please note that capacity gaps are positive figures and capacity surplus are negative. 

 
6.46 Based on this approach, capacity gaps exist throughout the plan period for recycling, 

treatment of waste (physical and chemical), incineration of waste (specialist high 
temperature) and landfill of Hazardous waste. A capacity gap for for recycling of 
CD&E waste is projected over the majority of the Plan period and for landfill of CD&E 
waste occurs in the second half of the Plan period. There is potential for a small 
capacity gap for landfill of C&I, LACW and agricultural waste at the end of the plan 
period.  Other waste management methods are projected to be in surplus throughout 
the Plan period, although as indicated later in this Chapter, provision of further 
capacity for these forms of waste management may be justified in certain 
circumstances, including in order to provide further opportunities for movement of 
specific waste streams up the waste hierarchy or an enhanced geographical network 
of facilities.   

 
6.47 The information above, together with other relevant information, has been used to 

help develop policies to ensure that adequate provision is made for management of 
the various main waste streams arising in the Plan area.  These are presented in the 
following sections.  

                                                
36 North Yorkshire sub region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 

(Urban Vision) )  - Capacity information subsequentley updated March 2017 in accordance with 2015 
Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 

ANNEX 1Page 331



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  132 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) 
 
6.48 Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) includes waste collected from households 

and a range of other waste from municipal sources, as well as commercial and 
industrial waste of similar composition, collected by or on behalf of local authorities. 

 
6.49 Substantial progress has been made in recent years in achieving the more 

sustainable management of LACW.  When the new AWRP facility is fully operational 
(expected in early 2018) this will help to deliver a step change in diverting residual 
LACW from landfill, as well as a further increase in the rate of recycling of this waste 
stream.  A four-year waste treatment framework (2015-2019) is in place with a 
number of private waste management operators to manage York and North 
Yorkshire LACW prior to AWRP becoming fully operational.  If AWRP were to be 
delayed or failed to become fully operational, these contracts would be re-tendered 
before they expire.  Any requirements for additional infrastructure in the Plan area 
arising from such a scenario would, if necessary, be addressed through a review of 
site allocations in the Joint Plan. 

 
6.50 Notwithstanding the expected position when the AWRP facility becomes operational, 

other new or improved supporting infrastructure may be proposed during the Plan 
period to move management of LACW up the waste hierarchy and deliver more local 
solutions for its management. 

 

Policy W03: Meeting waste management capacity requirements - 
Local Authority Collected Waste 
Net self-sufficiency in capacity for management of Local Authority Collected Waste 
will be supported through: 
  

1) Identification of the Allerton Park (WJP08), in Harrogate Borough, and 
Harewood Whin (WJP11), in the City of York, sites as strategic allocations 
over the Plan period for the management of LACW.  Proposals to extend the 
time period for continued waste management operations at these sites over 
the Plan period and the development of other appropriate waste 
management infrastructure will be permitted subject, in the case of the 
Harewood Whin site, to compliance with relevant national and local Green 
Belt policy. 

 
2) Delivery of additional transfer station capacity for LACW to serve the needs 

of Selby District through the allocation of a site at Common Lane, Burn 
(WJP16).  Proposals for development of transfer capacity for LACW at this 
site or at an alternative location consistent with the site locational and 
identification principles in Policies W10 and W11 will be permitted. 

    
3) Permitting proposals for: 

 
a) increased capacity for the recycling and treatment of LACW where this 

would reduce reliance on export of waste from the Plan area and the 
development would be consistent with the site locational and 
identification principles in Policies W10 and W11; 

 
b) improvements to the Household Waste Recycling Centre network. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 332



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  133 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

     4)  Provision of capacity for management of LACW is also supported through 
site  allocations for recycling, recovery of energy, transfer and treatment of 
LACW, as applicable, at:  

 
North Selby Mine Anaerobic Digestion (WJP02), in the City of York  
Southmoor Energy Centre (WJP03), in Selby District 

   Land at Halton East, near Skipton (WJP13), in Craven District 
   Land at Seamer Carr, near Scarborough (WJP15), in Scarborough Borough 
   Land at Skibeden, near Skipton (WJP17), in Craven District   
   Land at Tancred, near Scorton (WJP18), in Richmondshire District 
   Land at Fairfield Road, Whitby (WJP19), in the North York Moors National 
Park 
   Former ARBRE Power Station (WJP25), in Selby District   

 
      5)   Proposals for development at the allocated sites referred to in 1) 2) and 4) 

above, and as shown on the Policies Map will be required to take account of 
the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures 
that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W01, W02, W10, W11, S03, D01, D05 Objectives 1, 2, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 28 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
6.51 Substantial progress has been made in recent years in reducing the amount of 

LACW that is landfilled, with a corresponding increase in recycling, composting and 
other forms of treatment. 

 
6.52 LACW is dealt with at a range of existing facilities in the Plan area and substantial 

capacity for its management is already in place.  When fully operational the AWRP 
facility will provide sufficient capacity for managing residual LACW to enable 
diversion from landfill of over 95% for this waste stream, and a recycling rate for 
household waste of over 50%.  This will enable national and local targets for 
recycling and landfill diversion to be met and exceeded.  As well as providing a 
strategically important location for recycling and recovery, the wider Allerton Park site 
(adjacent to the AWRP facility) contains a significant proportion of the remaining 
permitted capacity for biodegradeable landfill in the Plan area, capable of receiving 
residual LACW and other waste which cannot be diverted from landfill.  Although the 
progress being made in diverting waste from landfill may mean that the landfill 
capacity within the site is not required to meet needs arising in the Plan area, there is 
a small potential gap in capacity for landfill at the end of the plan period and it is 
considered important to support the retention of the facility to cover this eventuality 
and provide flexibility in the Joint Plan.  The Allerton Park complex is therefore likely 
to remain a strategically important location for the management of LACW and other 
similar waste during the Plan period and it is appropriate to identify and protect it as 
such in the Joint Plan.  The landfill operation is the subject of a planning permission 
which is due to expire in 2018 and support in principle for an extension of time for this 
permission is provided in Policy W03. 

 
6.53 Similarly the Harewood Whin site, near York, plays an important strategic role in 

managing LACW via a range of processes and the site also contains the majority of 
remaining operational biodegradeable landfill capacity in the Plan area alongside the 

ANNEX 1Page 333



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  134 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Allerton Park site.  It is also the subject of temporary permissions which would need 
extending during the Plan period and it is considered appropriate to identify and 
protect the existing site area in the Joint Plan as a strategic allocation, with support in 
principle for continued operations.  As this site is located in the general extent of 
York’s Green Belt, the emerging York Local Plan will continue to designate the land 
as Green Belt and any further development would need to be consistent with relevant 
Green Belt policy. 

 
6.54 Whilst extensive new infrastructure requirements for managing LACW during the 

Plan period are not expected (subject to commissioning of the AWRP facility), a 
requirement for further transfer station capacity to serve Selby District has been 
identified in order to facilitate movement of waste to the AWRP facility.  A site for this 
at Burn Airfield has been proposed in response to earlier consultation and is 
allocated in the Joint Plan.  It is also considered appropriate to support the principle 
of developing other capacity and/or improvements to the network of facilities for 
managing LACW where this could increase the extent to which the area is net self-
sufficient in capacity and move waste up the hierarchy, in line with the strategic 
approach, or in other respects result in a more efficient overall network.  In all cases 
where further development is involved, it will be necessary for proposals to be 
consistent with other relevant policies in the Joint Plan, including Policies W10 and 
W11 which establish locational principles and site identification criteria for waste 
facilities. 

 
6.55 During preparation of the Joint Plan a number of potential allocations were put 

forward for sites which could manage a combination of LACW and C&I waste, due to 
the similarity between these streams and the ways in which they need to be 
managed.  A number of these are allocated in the Joint Plan and they have been 
identified in Policy W03 and Policy W04 dealing with C&I waste.37 

 

Commercial and Industrial (C&I) Waste  
 
6.56 There is no predicted overall gap in recycling or energy recovery capacity for C&I 

waste over the Plan period under any of scenarios considered although, as for 
LACW, policy support for further infrastructure is appropriate in order to help 
maximise the potential for net self-sufficiency in capacity and help meet needs for 
particular waste types not directly identified in the needs assessment.  Waste 
capacity modelling work to support the Plan has indicated a gap in capacity for 
physical and chemical treatment of some waste, up to an estimated maximum of 
around 125,000 tonnes per annum by 2030, as well as for smaller amounts of 
specialist high temperature incineration, which is currently exported from the Plan 
area for management.  This is likely to include C&I waste.  There is potential for a 
very small gap in non-hazardous landfill capacity at the end of the Plan period.  

 
6.57 Some specialist recycling needs and final reprocessing of some bulk recyclate 

materials such as paper, card, glass, plastic and metals, originating at recycling 
facilities in the Plan area, is also likely to be met by capacity at regionally and 
nationally significant reprocessing facilities outside the Plan area, through economies 
of scale.   

  

6.58 C&I waste (along with other key waste streams such as LACW and CD&E waste) 
contain an element of hazardous waste, which requires management at specialist 
facilities.  A capacity gap for hazardous landfill of around 25,000 tonnes per annum 

                                                
37 Sites which could play a role in management of both C&I and LACW include WJP02, WJP03, WJP08, WJP11, 

WJP13, WJP15, WJP16, WJP17, WJP18, WJP19 and WJP25.  

ANNEX 1Page 334



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  135 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

by 2030 has been identified and there is no dedicated hazardous landfill capacity in 
the Plan area.   

 

6.59 The scale of any further requirements for energy recovery and anaerobic digestion 
capacity for C&I waste is dependent partly on the commissioning of the AWRP 
proposal (see LACW section above), which could also provide some capacity for 
energy recovery from C&I waste over the Plan period.  Since the grant of permission 
for the AWRP facility, permission has been granted for other energy recovery 
capacity in the Plan area (the Southmoor Energy Centre development and a scheme 
at the former ARBRE power station site, both located in Selby District), although 
these have not yet been implemented.  Permission was also granted in 2014 for a 
substantial anaerobic digestion facility at the former North Selby Mine site in the City 
of York, which has been implemented but is not yet operational.  If some or all these 
proposed developments become operational they have the potential to add 
significantly to the overall scale and range of capacity in the area for the treatment 
and recovery of energy from C&I waste (and potentially other waste streams).  

 

6.60 Monitoring of the development of any operational capacity at one or more of these 
permitted sites for C&I waste will therefore be needed and any strategically 
significant implications addressed as part of any subsequent review of the Plan.  

 
 

Policy W04: Meeting waste management capacity requirements  
- Commercial and Industrial waste (including hazardous C&I 
waste) 
1) Net self-sufficiency in capacity for management of C&I waste will be supported 

through:  
 

i) Permitting proposals which would deliver increased capacity for the 
recycling and treatment of C&I waste, particularly where this would reduce 
reliance on export of waste from the Plan area and the development would 
be consistent with the site locational and identification principles in Policies 
W10 and W11;  

ii) Permitting proposals for additional transfer station capacity for C&I waste 
where it can be demonstrated that additional provision would help reduce 
overall impacts from road transport of waste and the development would be 
consistent with the site locational and identification principles in Policies 
W10 and W11;  

iii) Providing large scale capacity for recovery of energy and anaerobic 
digestion for C&I waste through a combination of spare capacity within the 
Allerton Waste Recovery Park facility and the Southmoor Energy Centre 
(WJP03),  in Selby District, former ARBRE Power Station (WJP25), in Selby 
District,  and North Selby Mine anaerobic digestion (WJP02), in the City of 
York, sites, which are identified in the Plan as allocated sites for these uses.  
The development of the WJP02 site will only be permitted where it would be 
consistent with the principles of including land in the York Green Belt; 

iv) Permitting additional energy recovery capacity for C&I waste where the 
planning authority can be satisfied that the facility would be appropriately 
scaled to meet unmet needs for management of residual C&I waste arising 
in the area and the development would be consistent with the site locational 
and identification principles in Policies W10 and W11; 

v) Subject to energy recovery capacity becoming operational at the allocated 
sites referred to in part iii) of this Policy, permission will not be granted for 
further large scale energy recovery for C&I waste where the waste to be 
recovered would arise mainly outside the Plan area, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the facility would represent the nearest appropriate 

ANNEX 1Page 335



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  136 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

installation for the waste to be recovered and the development would be 
consistent with the site locational and identification principles in Policies 
W10 and W11.  

 

2) Provision of capacity for  management of C&I waste is also supported through 
site allocations for recycling, transfer and treatment of C&I waste at: 

 

Land at Halton East, near Skipton (WJP13), in Craven District 
Hillcrest, Harmby (WJP01), in Richmondshire District 
Land at Tancred, near Scorton (WJP18), in Richmondshire District 
Land at Skibeden, near Skipton (WJP17) ), in Craven District 
Land at Allerton Park, near Knaresborough (WJP08), in Harrogate Borough 
Land at Seamer Carr, near Scarborough (WJP15), in Scarborough Borough 
Land at Common Lane, Burn (WJP16), in Selby District, 
Land at Pollington (WJP22), in Selby District, 
Land at Fairfield Road, Whitby (WJP19), in North York Moors National Park 
Land at Harewood Whin, Rufforth (WJP11), in the City of York 

 

3)  Proposals for development of the allocated sites referred to in 1) and 2) above, 
and as shown on the Policies Map, will be required to take account of the key 
sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out 
in Appendix 1. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W01, W02, W03, W10, W11, D01, D05 Objectives 1, 2, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 29 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

6.61 Substantial capacity for managing C&I waste arising in the area already exists and 
significant further capacity has the benefit of planning permission but has not yet 
been implemented.  Evidence produced during preparation of the Joint Plan suggests 
that there is no predicted overall gap in annual capacity for recycling, energy 
recovery or composting of C&I waste.  Notwithstanding this position, it is known that 
in recent years some C&I waste has been exported from the Plan area for 
management, including for treatment and more specialised recycling.  Providing 
support for additional capacity in the Plan area could therefore reduce reliance on 
exports and maximise the potential for the area to be net self-sufficient in capacity for 
this waste stream.  This is reflected in the positive and flexible approach to permitting 
further capacity for management of C&I waste, as set out in Parts 1) i-iv) of the 
Policy.  Proposals coming forward under these criteria will also be expected to 
demonstrate compliance with Policy W10 addressing Overall locational principles for 
provision of waste management capacity and Policy W11 dealing with Waste site 
identification principles. 

 
6.62  The area is likely to remain reliant on export of hazardous C&I waste requiring landfill 

and for the treatment of some hazardous waste, for which it is unlikely to be 
practicable to provide specific management facilities in the Plan area, as a result of 
economies of scale or other factors.  Liaison with waste planning authorities which 
have recently received exports from the Plan area suggest that the potential exists 
for such exports to continue if necessary.  Although there is adequate overall transfer 
capacity for C&I waste operating in the Plan area, the provision of additional 
infrastructure could assist with enhancing the geographical network of facilities, 
thereby helping to minimise overall transport impacts associated with waste 

ANNEX 1Page 336



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  137 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

movements, including for those wastes which need to be exported for management 
outside the Plan area. 

 

6.63 Whilst the main focus of the AWRP facility is on the management of LACW, it is also 
expected that it could be able to provide some capacity for recovery of C&I waste 
over the Plan period.  However, planning permission has been granted recently for 
substantial additional energy recovery capacity at the Southmoor Energy Centre and 
former ARBRE Power Station sites (both in Selby district).  These permissions have 
not yet been implemented but the potential capacity at these sites could be 
significant in meeting unforeseen needs for recovery of C&I waste arising in the area, 
providing flexibility in the Plan.  In view of the strategic significance of the capacity 
they could provide, these sites are allocated in the Plan and they are also 
safeguarded under Policy S03.  A planning permission also exists for a substantial 
anaerobic digestion facility at the former North Selby Mine site in York.  This facility 
would also have the potential to contribute to availability of a range of technologies 
for recovery of C&I waste arising in the area and this site is also allocated and 
safeguarded in the Plan.  The North Selby Mine site is located within the general 
extent of York’s Green Belt.  The emerging York Local Plan will continue to designate 
this land as Green Belt and therefore any future proposals on this site will need to 
comply with national and local Green Belt policy. 

 

6.64 In circumstances where committed capacity at all the following sites: Allerton Waste 
Recovery Park facility, Southmoor Energy Centre (WJP03), former ARBRE Pawer 
Station (WJP25) and North Selby Mine (WJP02), becomes operational it is not 
considered appropriate to support the principle of further large-scale recovery 
capacity in the area where the waste proposed to be managed would arise mainly 
outside the Plan area, unless it can be demonstrated that the facility would represent 
the nearest appropriate installation for recovery of the waste, in line with relevant 
legislation.  Any such proposals will also be expected to provide for utilisation of heat 
in accordance with Policy W01 and be consistent with the requirements of Policies 
W10 and W11 in order to meet needs arising within it.  For the purposes of this policy 
it is considered appropriate to use a threshold of 75,000tpa as an indicator of large 
scale, in line with the threshold used to identify strategically significant facilities in the 
Waste Position Statement for Yorkshire and Humber38.  The following will form part of 
the annual monitoring associated with this Policy: implementation of committed 
capacity, capacity requirements and decisions on all C&I planning applications that 
would provide additional commercial and industrial waste (including hazardous C&I 
waste) capacity. 

 

6.65 A number of proposed allocations for management of C&I waste have been put 
forward for consideration during preparation of the Joint Plan.  In some cases these 
are considered suitable for allocation to help maximise the potential for net self-
sufficiency in capacity and provide a range of opportunities and locations for 
management of this waste and these are identified and supported in the Policy.  
Applications for development of these sites for the proposed use will need to be 
considered against other relevant policies, including the development management 
policies in Chapter 9.  Due to the similarity between some elements of the LACW and 
C&I waste streams, some sites currently play a role in managing both and this 
position is expected to continue.  Sites proposed for allocation for C&I waste may 
therefore also provide capacity for an element of the LACW waste stream and vice 
versa.  Whilst this helps provide a degree of flexibility in provision it also means that it 
is not possible to quantify the precise scale of capacity that could be provided for any 
one stream in particular.   

 

                                                
38 Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement (Feb 2016) 

ANNEX 1Page 337



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  138 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.66 It is unlikely that there will be a requirement for significant new capacity to landfill 
non-hazardous C&I waste over the Plan period, taking into account permitted 
capacity and expected increases in diversion from landfill, although there is potential 
for a small capacity gap at the end of the Plan period.  However, a large proportion of 
remaining capacity for landfill of non-inert waste is concentrated in two sites (the 
Allerton Park and Harewood Whin landfills).  Both these sites are subject of time 
limited planning permissions expiring during the early part of the Plan period.  These 
key sites are allocated in the Plan under Policy W03 and W04, reflecting their 
potential role for both LACW and C&I waste, to help ensure that their longer term 
potential is maintained for landfill of residual waste which cannot be dealt with by 
other means.  

 
6.67 There is some uncertainty, given pollution control constraints, about the potential for 

new landfill sites for biodegradeable waste to be developed in the Plan area if 
necessary.  A number of existing sites in the area, with planning permission for 
biodegradeable landfill, have not received environmental permits from the 
Environment Agency as a result of pollution control concerns, particularly where 
landfill would take place within existing or former quarries where there is a risk that 
important groundwater resources could be affected.  There is potential for such 
constraints to affect a substantial number of quarry voids in the Plan area, thus 
significantly limiting the scope for new biodegradeable landfill capacity in the area 
should it be required.  Should an unforeseen requirement for landfill of C&I waste 
arise, which cannot be met through permitted capacity in the Plan area, this may 
need to be met by export from the area.  Evidence suggests there is significant 
existing permitted capacity for landfill elsewhere within Yorkshire and Humber39.  

 

6.68 Landfill of hazardous C&I waste requires specialist facilities which are limited in 
number nationally and do not exist in the Plan area.  The small scale of arisings of 
hazardous waste in the area expected to require landfill means that it is unlikely that 
proposals will come forward for specific provision to be made in the area, although 
the Joint Plan does not preclude such development where appropriate.  In recent 
years hazardous waste for landfill has been exported to a range of destinations, 
including in the Tees Valley and in West Yorkshire.  Contact with relevant waste 
planning authorities and collaboration through the Yorkshire and Humber Technical 
Advisory Body suggests that there is significant capacity in these areas40.  Sites with 
hazardous landfill capacity within these areas will represent the Nearest Appropriate 
Installation for the disposal of this waste. 

 

6.69 Specific proposals for new capacity for managing C&I waste will also need to 
demonstrate compliance with other relevant policies in the Joint Plan, including the 
development management policies in Chapter 9.   

 

 
 
 
Construction, Demolition and Excavation (CD&E) Waste  
 
6.70 CD&E waste is generated in large quantities, with estimated 2014 arisings in excess 

of 800,000 tonnes.  The majority of these materials are inert, although some 
biodegradeable and hazardous materials can also occur.  Capacity for managing 
CD&E waste is often provided alongside capacity for other waste streams.  Whilst 

                                                
39 Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement (Feb 2016) 
40 Sites in Yorkshire and Humber with capacity for landfill of hazardous waste include Bradley Park Landfill in 
West Yorkshire, Gallymoor Landfill in the East Riding Council area and Winterton South Landfill in North 
Lincolnshire.  Further capacity for hazardous landfill exists in the Tees Valley.   

ANNEX 1Page 338



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  139 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

this can increase the overall range of management options for these materials, it can 
also make it difficult to identify definitively the capacity currently available for this 
specific waste stream and hence the exact size of any potential capacity gap.  
However, the Waste Arisings and Capacity Assessment (2016) (updated March 
2017) identifies an expected capacity gap for recycling under all scenarios 
considered, up to a maximum of approximately 437,000 tonnes per annum in the 
highest case scenario, based on available capacity for managing CD&E waste only.  
Recycling of CD&E waste tends to be more economically viable at localised facilities 
due to the costs of transporting lower value, higher density wastes.  It can also be 
achieved by mobile plant working at demolition sites, as well as at fixed facilities, thus 
providing a range of routes by which it can be achieved.  

 
6.71 There is no overall gap in transfer capacity for CD&E waste.  However, as with other 

waste streams, policy support for further capacity is justified in order to provide 
opportunities for enhancement of the geographic network and to help to reduce 
overall impacts from road transport of waste. 

 
6.72 Hazardous Construction and Demolition waste, such as asbestos contaminated 

waste, is currently exported for landfill and this remains the only management option 
for this waste.  As with other hazardous waste requiring landfill, it is not likely to be 
practical to provide this within the Plan area and information suggests that existing 
management routes are likely to remain available for such waste. 

 
6.73 There is a forecast shortfall in capacity for landfill of non-hazardous CD&E waste, 

particularly from around 2022, as a result of the expiry of a number of time limited 
permissions, with a maximum annual gap of around 108,000 tonnes per annum by 
2030 in the highest case scenario.  However, there may be more potential for 
increased use of this waste as a resource, to reduce the need for landfill further (for 
example by using it as a resource in engineering projects) and this management 
route should also be supported for this waste stream.  If rates of recycling nearer to 
that modelled in the higher recycling scenario included in the waste arisings and 
capacity assessment are achieved, then the requirement for capacity for landfill of 
non-hazardous CD&E waste could be significantly less, reaching a maximum of 
around 18,000 tonnes per annum by 2030.  The support for retention of landfill 
capacity at the Allerton Park and Harewood Whin sites, provided through Policies 
W03 and W04, could also play a role in helping to provide for landfill needs for this 
waste stream if required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy W05: Meeting waste management capacity requirements  
- Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste (including 
hazardous CD&E waste) 

ANNEX 1Page 339



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  140 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

1) Net self-sufficiency in capacity for management of CD&E waste will be 
supported through:  

 
i) Permitting proposals which would deliver increased capacity for recycling 

CD&E waste where the development would be consistent with the site 
locational and identification principles in Policies W10 and W11;  

ii) Permitting proposals for additional transfer station capacity for CD&E 
waste where it can be demonstrated that additional provision would help 
reduce overall impacts from road transport of waste and the development 
would be consistent with the site locational and identification principles in 
Policies W10 and W11;   

iii) Permitting proposals for additional landfill capacity for CD&E waste where 
it would be consistent with the principles set out in Policy W01 parts 3) and 
4); 

iv) Permitting proposals for extending the time allowed to use remaining void 
space at existing CD&E landfill sites that are the subject of time-limited 
permissions.  

 
2) Provision of capacity for management of CD&E waste is also supported 

through site allocations for: 
 

i) Allocations for recycling of CD&E waste: 
 
            Land at Potgate Quarry, North Stainley (WJP24), in Harrogate Borough 

Land at Allerton Park, near Knaresborough (WJP08) ), in Harrogate 
Borough 
Land at Darrington Quarry, Darrington  (MJP27), in Selby Distict 
Land at Barnsdale Bar, Kirk Smeaton (MJP26) in Selby Distict 
Land at Went Edge Quarry, Kirk Smeaton (WJP10) in Selby Distict 
Land to the west of Newlands LaneLand at Duttons Farm, Upper Poppleton 
(WJP05), in the City of York 
Whitewall Quarry, near Norton (MJP13), in Ryedale District 

 
ii) Allocations for landfill of CD&E waste: 

 
Land at Brotherton Quarry, Burton Salmon (WJP21), in Selby Distict 
Land to the west of Newlands LaneLand at Duttons Farm, Upper Poppleton 
(WJP05), in the City of York 
Land adjacent to former Escrick Brickworks, Escrick (WJP06), in Selby 
Distict 

 
Proposals for landfill at sites WJP05 and WJP06 will only be permitted as a means 
of enabling reclamation of any mineral workings developed in connection with 
allocations MJP52 and MJP55 as relevant. 
 
Sites MJP26, MJP27, WJP10 and WJP05 are located in the Green Belt and any 
development will need to comply with relevant national and local Green Belt 
policy.  
 
3) Proposals for development of the allocated sites for recycling or landfill 

referred to in 2) above, and as shown on the Policies Map, will be required to 
take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation 
measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

ANNEX 1Page 340



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  141 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

M11, W01, W02, W03, W04, W10, W11, D01, D02, D05, 
D07, D09, D10 

Objectives 1, 2, 4, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 30 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 

6.74 CD&E waste arises in significant quantities in the Plan area and future growth and 
development activity, particularly within the more urbanised parts, is likely to lead to 
substantial quantities continuing to arise over the Plan period.  There is high potential 
for some elements of this waste stream to be reused or recycled, sometimes at the 
point of arising, for example in association with demolition and re-development 
activity.  In many cases such material does not enter the wider waste market.  
Managing CD&E waste in this way is usually the most sustainable option and often 
may take place without a specific need for grant of planning permission.  Policy M11 
supports the separation and maximum recovery of materials with potential for re-use 
or recycling as aggregate, where they are produced during demolition activity or as 
part of other waste management activity. 

6.75 A need for additional capacity for managing CD&E waste has been identified in 
evidence for the Joint Plan.  This includes a requirement for both additional recycling 
capacity and additional landfill capacity, although the scale of additional requirements 
cannot be defined precisely and also depends on the future rates of recycling which 
can be achieved, suggesting a need for some flexibility in the Joint Plan.  Provision of 
additional infrastructure for recycling of CD&E waste is supported through the 
positive approach set out in Part 1) i) of the Policy and could reduce the need for 
landfill of this waste stream.  Proposals coming forward under this part of the Policy 
could be at a range of scales provided that they would be consistent with Policy W10 
addressing Overall locational principles for provision of waste management capacity 
and consistent with Policy W11 dealing with Waste site identification principles.  
Where sites considered suitable in principle for recycling of CD&E waste have been 
proposed for consideration, these are allocated in the Plan to provide further 
opportunities for the delivery of additional capacity.  The combined capacity in these 
allocations would significantly reduce the projected capacity gap.  Applications for 
development of these sites for the proposed use will be considered against other 
relevant policies, including the development management policies in Chapter 9.  It 
should be noted that a number of other sites allocated in the Joint Plan may also be 
able to play some role in managing CD&E waste alongside other major waste 
streams such as LACW and C&I waste and this could further reduce any capacity 
gap for this waste stream. 

6.76 Sustainability principles indicate that waste should only be landfilled where it is not 
practicable to manage it further up the waste hierarchy.  Where landfill is required, 
there are a number of existing sites in the Plan area with planning permission for this 
activity.  Consultation with the minerals industry suggests that there have been 
increasing difficulties in sourcing suitable inert wastes for quarry reclamation 
purposes.  Ensuring a high standard of quarry reclamation takes place remains an 
important objective of both national planning policy and the Joint Plan.  Should 
additional landfill capacity be required, it is appropriate to direct this towards the 
reclamation of minerals workings, of which there are a substantial number in the Plan 
area.  In some cases it may also be appropriate to use suitable inert CD&E waste to 
improve the quality of derelict or degraded land, to enable it to be brought back into 
beneficial use and such an approach is also in line with Policy W01 relating to the 
waste hierarchy.  Where suitable sites for landfill of CD&E waste have been put 
forward for consideration, and could help meet needs for landfill of CD&E waste, 
particularly in the latter part of the plan period, these have been allocated in the Joint 
Plan.  It is also likely that non-inert landfills in the Plan area, such as those suitable 

ANNEX 1Page 341



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  142 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

for residual LACW and C&I waste, can play a role in providing capacity for landfill of 
CD&E waste as a result of the need for importation of suitable inert material for cover 
and restoration purposes.  This could further reduce the apparent capacity gap.  The 
Environment Agency have estimated that around 25% of the total capacity of non-
inert landfills could be taken up by inert materials for these purposes. 

6.77 Hazardous CD&E waste requiring landfill as the only realistic management option 
arises only in small quantities in the Plan area.  There is no hazardous landfill 
capacity in the area and the small volume of such waste arising means that provision 
of capacity in the area is unlikely to be practicable.  Such waste is currently exported 
and liaison with other relevant WPAs suggests that there is likely to be potential for 
such exports to continue over the Plan period.     

 
Agricultural Waste 
 
6.78 The Plan area has extensive areas of agricultural land and the agricultural sector is 

an important part of the local economy.  Evidence suggests that substantial amounts 
of agricultural waste arise and that much of this is dealt with at the site where it 
arises, typically by spreading on land.  Whilst evidence suggests that overall capacity 
for management of agricultural waste is sufficient, there may be potential for some 
agricultural waste to be managed further up the waste hierarchy than is currently the 
case, including through processes such as anaerobic digestion, which is encouraged 
through the Waste Management Plan for England. 

 

Policy W06: Managing agricultural waste 
Proposals for the on-farm management of agricultural waste at the point of arising, 
including proposals for individual farm-scale anaerobic digestion, will be permitted 
where the proposed development would assist in moving waste up the waste 
hierarchy and would be appropriately scaled in relation to the arisings requiring 
management.  
 
Proposals scaled to provide capacity for the management of agricultural waste 
from more than one agricultural holding, including facilities for the anaerobic 
digestion of agricultural waste, will be permitted where they would be consistent 
with the overall locational principles and site identification principles for waste 
development in Policies W10 and W11 and would help to move waste up the waste 
hierarchy in accordance with Policy W01. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W01, W02, W10, W11, D01, D07, D09 Objectives 1, 2, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 31 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
6.79 The potential requirements for off-farm disposal of agricultural waste (estimated at 

around 34,000 tonnes per annum41) have been included in the provision for C&I 
waste in the figures presented earlier in this Chapter.  The large majority of 
agricultural waste is expected to be dealt with on-site through direct disposal to land 
or via composting.  There is however a range of specialist provision in the area, 
including specialist storage, processing and incineration plants for animals by-

                                                
41 North Yorkshire Sub Region Waste Arisings and Capacity Requirements Update Report September 2016 
(Urban Vision) 

ANNEX 1Page 342



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  143 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

products.  One method of disposing of farm wastes is through anaerobic digestion 
whereby organic waste can be used to create energy.  The Government is 
encouraging, through its Anaerobic Digestion Strategy, further development of 
anaerobic digestion facilities.  Whilst any proposals brought forward under this Policy 
should be directed principally at the management of waste from the agricultural 
sector, it may be appropriate for limited amounts of suitable organic wastes from 
other sources to be managed, provided this would be consistent with the overall 
objectives and requirements of the Policy.  Feedstock grown specifically for use in 
anaerobic digestion facilities is not considered to be waste and therefore falls outside 
the scope of this Policy. 

 
6.80 It may be practicable for management of agricultural waste to take place at the scale 

of an individual farm holding, depending on the scale and nature of the holding.  In 
other cases it may be more practicable for some agricultural wastes to be dealt with 
at facilities which provide capacity for multiple holdings, including for non-organic 
waste such as plastic and metals.  Both approaches may be appropriate within the 
area, depending on the local circumstances, and in order to provide flexibility, both 
are supported in the Policy subject to compliance with other relevant policies in the 
Joint Plan.  

 

Low-Level (Non-Nuclear Industry) Radioactive Waste (LLR)   
 
6.81 There is relatively limited evidence on arisings of LLR waste in the Plan area and the 

means by which it is managed.  Available evidence suggests current arisings are 
very low.  However, there is potential for a significant increase in arisings of waste, 
particularly waste water, containing Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials 
(NORM) should shale gas development activity become established in the area on 
any significant scale.  National policy indicates that local plans for waste should 
address the need to for manage this waste stream.  The approach to management of 
LLR waste arising from oil and gas development is addressed in Policy M18 and 
through Policies W10 and W11.  The main focus of Policy W07 below is therefore on 
the management of LLR waste arising from forms of development other than those 
relating to hydrocarbons.   

 

Policy W07: Managing low level (non-nuclear industry) 
radioactive waste  
Proposals for management of Low Level Radioactive Waste arising in the Plan 
area will be permitted where they would assist in moving management of the 
waste up the waste hierarchy through on site treatment and reuse or, where this is 
not practicable, enable the on site disposal of the waste at the point of arising. 
 
Proposals for new capacity, where this would not be located at the point of arising, 
should be in line with the requirements of Policies W10 and W11 and other relevant 
policies in the Joint Plan. 
 
Capacity requirements which cannot be met within the Plan area will be met 
through export. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M18, W01, W02, W10, W11, D01, D07 Objective 2 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 32 (see Appendix 3) 

 
 
Policy Justification 

ANNEX 1Page 343



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  144 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
6.82 The amount of low level radioactive waste arising from non-nuclear industry sources 

(such as research and medical services) in the area is very small (estimated at less 
than 50m3 per annum).  The Environment Agency has indicated that premises in 
North Yorkshire that generate radioactive waste currently dispose of that waste either 
under exemption as Very Low Level Waste, or to sewer or by transfer to permitted 
clinical waste incinerators, including in West Yorkshire. 

 
6.83 There is no specific capacity in the area for the landfill of LLR waste, with the nearest 

dedicated landfill at Clifton Marsh in Lancashire, although there is no information to 
suggest that waste from the area is deposited at that facility.  A nationally significant 
repository for radioactive waste is located near Drigg in Cumbria, although again 
there is no evidence to suggest that any waste from the Plan area is managed at that 
site.   

 
6.84 There is no specific information available on expected future trends in arisings of LLR 

waste, although it is possible that growth in the scientific employment sector in York 
could lead to some increase in future.  However, overall volumes from such sources 
are expected to remain very small.  Evidence indicates that there is capacity in the 
Yorkshire and Humber area to deal with such wastes, including the Knostrop facility 
in Leeds, which is also likely to represent the nearest appropriate installation for the 
treatment and disposal of some forms of LLR waste.  Where it is not practicable to 
provide more local solutions for managing this waste then continued reliance on 
export is likely to be required. 

 
6.85 There is also the substantial volumes of Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials 

(NORM) to be generated if exploration, appraisal or development of shale gas takes 
place in the Plan area.  Flowback fluids from hydraulic fracturing in particular can 
constitute a significant source of NORM, depending on the local geology, although 
smaller volumes of other wastes containing NORM may also arise.  It is not 
practicable to predict the potential volumes that could arise at this very early stage in 
development of the industry. The approach to managing waste water from the oil and 
gas industry is addressed through Policy M18 and Policies W10 and W11. 

 
6.86 National policy and strategy applies the principles of the waste hierarchy to LLR 

waste (including NORM) and it is appropriate to support the principle of providing 
local capacity for managing this waste stream where practicable.     

 
6.87 Where proposals for new capacity for the management of LLR waste including 

NORM come forward in the Plan area, these will be addressed under the 
requirements of Policies W10 and W11 and other relevant policies in the Joint Plan, 
including the development management policies in Chapter 9. 

 

Waste Water and Sewage Sludge  
 
6.88 Waste water arises in association with residential, commercial and industrial 

development.  Specific data on arisings or future management requirements is not 
available.  In some circumstances permitted development rights exist which may 
allow some additional waste water treatment capacity to be provided without needing 
to apply formally for planning permission.  However, in some circumstances an 
application for planning permission will be required and it is appropriate to include 
policy in the Joint Plan to provide a basis for decision-making if proposals do come 
forward.  Since work started on the Joint Plan there has been potential for large 
volumes of waste water to be generated as a result of development for the 
exploration, appraisal and production of shale gas and other unconventional 
hydrocarbon sources.  The policy approach for such wastes is set out in Policy M18 

ANNEX 1Page 344



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  145 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

and Policies W10 and W11.  The main focus of Policy W08 below is therefore on the 
management of waste water and sewage sludge arising from forms of development 
other than those relating to hydrocarbons.   

 

Policy W08: Managing waste water and sewage sludge 
1)  Proposals for the development of new infrastructure and increased capacity for 

the management of waste water and sewage sludge, not including waste water 
from hydrocarbon activities, will be permitted in line with requirements 
identified in asset management plans produced by waste water infrastructure 
providers active in the Plan area.  Preference will be given to the expansion of 
existing infrastructure in appropriate locations rather than the development of 
new facilities.  Where it is not practicable to provide required additional 
capacity at existing sites, support will be provided for the development of new 
sites for the management of waste water and sewage sludge in line with the 
requirements of Policies W10 and W11. 

 
2)  Co-location of anaerobic digestion capacity with waste water treatment 

infrastructure will be supported in principle where the Anaerobic Digestion 
capacity to be provided would utilise output from the associated treatment 
works, where it would be of a scale appropriate to the location of the host waste 
water treatment site and where compliance with the development management 
policies in the Joint Plan can be demonstrated. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA, Waste 
Industry and Water Companies 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M18, W01, W02, W10, W11, D01  Objectives 1, 2, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 33 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
6.89 Provision of adequate capacity for treatment of waste water is necessary in order to 

ensure that plans for growth (such as housing and economic development) can be 
delivered.  The asset management plans of the various waste water infrastructure 
providers in the Plan area provide an indication of potential future requirements but 
do not cover the timeframe of the Joint Plan.  Information from the infrastructure 
providers suggests that, whilst the majority of new investment in capacity is likely to 
be based around expansion of the existing facility network, there may be a need to 
develop new sites.  Providing some flexibility for this in the Joint Plan is appropriate 
in order to ensure that adequate opportunities for development of capacity are 
available.   

 
6.90 Some of the output from waste water treatment activity may be capable of being 

subject to further treatment through in-vessel anaerobic digestion processes and this 
could help to move this waste further up the hierarchy through reducing landfilling 
and recovering energy.  In some instances, particularly for larger scale waste water 
treatment works, it may be appropriate to co-locate anaerobic digestion capacity at 
the site as this would reduce the need for transport of waste.  Where such 
development is proposed it will also be necessary to ensure that compliance with 
relevant development management policies in the Joint Plan can be achieved. 

 
 
 
 
Power Station Ash 

ANNEX 1Page 345



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  146 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
6.91 Ash is produced in large quantities as a result of power generation activity in Selby 

District and forms a major and distinctive element of overall arisings of waste in the 
Plan area.  The requirements of the waste hierarchy and the need to encourage the 
sustainable supply of minerals indicate that it is preferable for this waste to be put to 
beneficial use where possible.  An element of the power station ash waste stream is 
already used as secondary aggregate and policy support for increasing such use is 
provided in the policy dealing with Supply of Alternatives to Land Won Primary 
Aggregate (Policy M11).  Potential requirements for colliery spoil disposal are also 
addressed in more detail in the Minerals Chapter (Policy M20). 

Policy W09: Managing power station ash and Incinerator Bottom 
Ash 
Proposals to increase the utilisation of power station ash and Incinerator Bottom 
Ash as secondary or recycled aggregate or for other beneficial use, in line with 
Policy M11 for the Supply of Alternatives to Land Won Primary Aggregate, will be 
permitted. 
 
Where ash cannot be utilised for beneficial purposes, support will be given for the 
continued disposal of power station ash at the existing Gale Common and Barlow 
ash disposal sites, which are safeguarded as strategic sites for the disposal of 
waste. 
 
Proposals for new facilities for the management of power station ash and 
Incinerator Bottom Ash will be determined in accordance with the requirements of 
Policies W10 and W11. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M11, M20, W01, W02, W10, W11, S03 Objectives 1, 2, 4, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 34 (see Appendix 3) 
 

Policy Justification 
 
6.92 Waste ash arising from the major coal and biomass fired power stations in Selby 

District is dealt with at dedicated private facilities and does not ‘compete’ with other 
waste for capacity at facilities available to the market.  However, because of the large 
volumes involved, this is an important waste stream in the area.  Ash from Drax 
power station is disposed of at the adjacent Barlow Ash disposal mound. Remaining 
capacity at the disposal site is understood to be sufficient to last throughout the Plan 
period.  Ash from Eggborough Power Station is disposed of at the nearby Gale 
Common site, which again is understood to have sufficient remaining capacity for the 
Plan period.  A third power station, Ferrybridge, is located just outside the Plan area 
but ash from it has been disposed of at the Gale Common facility and, in emergency 
situations, at the nearby Brotherton Ings site, part of which is within the Plan area.  
Capacity at this latter facility is also understood to be sufficient.  However, coal fired 
generation at Ferrybridge closed in March 2016 and disposal capacity within the Plan 
area for this is no longer expected to be required.   

 
6.93 Whilst there has been recent investment in infrastructure to support increased 

utilisation of power station ash as secondary aggregate, and this is supported 
through Policy M11, it is expected that large volumes will continue to require 
disposal.  Well established long-term disposal arrangements are in place for each of 
the two main power stations in the Plan area and it is expected that these 

ANNEX 1Page 346



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  147 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

arrangements will need to continue over the life of the Joint Plan.  The main ash 
disposal sites are strategically important waste management facilities in the area and 
it is appropriate to safeguard them to ensure their availability for the future. This is 
addressed under Policy S03 ‘Waste Management Facility Safeguarding’.   

 
6.94 More recently, there has been potential for increased arisings of Incinerator Bottom 

Ash as a result of a number of proposals coming forward in the area for development 
of waste-to-energy capacity.  Policy M11 supports the use of such material as 
secondary aggregate.  The only large scale energy from waste capacity currently 
under construction in the area is the Allerton Waste Recovery Park facility.  The 
permitted development includes provision for recycling of Incinerator Bottom Ash.  It 
is also possible that proposals may come forward for management of Incinerator 
Bottom Ash arising from other energy from waste facilities which have received 
permission in the area.  Where proposals come forward for disposal or processing of 
ash, including Incinerator Bottom Ash, they will be considered under Policies W10 
and W11 and other relevant policies in the Joint Plan as appropriate.   

 
 

Overall locational approach to provision of waste 
management capacity 
 
6.95 In deciding on an overall approach to locating waste management capacity in the 

area a number of factors need to be considered including, in particular: 

 The nature and distribution of waste arisings in the area; 

 The nature and distribution of the existing network of facilities; 

 Other important characteristics of the area, such as the location of main 
settlements and future growth, major environmental designations and 
transport networks; 

 National policy requirements relevant to locating waste facilities. 
 

6.96 The existing network of facilities in the Plan area is widely distributed, but in general 
is associated with the more developed parts of the area and main road transport 
links, reflecting key sources of arisings and the important role of road transport in the 
management of waste.  The large majority of remaining capacity for landfill of 
biodegradeable waste is now concentrated at two sites, Allerton Park to the south of 
Boroughbridge, and Harewood Whin, to the west of York.  Treatment, transfer and 
recycling capacity is more widely distributed and tends to be located in and around 
main population centres in the Plan area.  These facilities provide employment and 
make a contribution to the local and wider economy and are an important element in 
the overall infrastructure of the area. 

ANNEX 1Page 347



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  148 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

            Figure 17: Permitted waste facilities in Plan area 

6.97 The Plan area is very large and highly rural, with a widely dispersed pattern of 
settlements.  The City of York and the major towns of Harrogate and Scarborough 
are the main population centres and a significant proportion of future growth in the 
Plan area is expected to be in and around these locations as well as other main 
settlements and transport corridors, as shown on the key diagram.  Substantial parts 
of the Joint Plan area are highly constrained by environmental designations, such as 
National Park and AONBs, as well as important nature conservation, historic 
environment and other designations, such as Green Belt and the requirement to 
protect the historic character and setting of York, which would be likely to preclude 
development of significant new waste facilities as a result of national policy 
constraints.  

6.98 Access by road is good in some parts of the area, particularly in terms of north-south 
links through the central corridor, whereas east-west accessibility is less well 
developed.  This is an issue which is likely to have some impact on the ease with 
which waste can be moved from locations of arising to locations where it can be 
managed.  Modern waste management processes often involve a need for waste to 
be processed through more than one facility type.  This can lead to additional 
movement of waste compared to the former situation where the majority of waste 
was transported directly from point of arising to its final point of disposal. 

6.99 With the exception of agricultural waste and certain other specific waste types, such 
as waste from the power generation industry, it is likely that a substantial majority of 
waste arising in the area is generated within or near to larger settlements, where 
most existing development is concentrated.  As these locations are also expected to 
be the main focus for growth and associated development over the Plan period, it is 
likely that they will continue to be important sources of waste arisings.  

6.100 For some forms of waste management, and some waste streams, there is likely to be 
a need for a larger ‘catchment’ of waste arisings than others.  For example, more 

ANNEX 1Page 348



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  149 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

complex recovery and treatment facilities tend to represent a higher level of 
investment and require larger catchments of waste to make them viable.  Some 
wastes, such as hazardous waste, arise in small quantities that may mean provision 
of specialised facilities at a local level may not be viable.  This is a particular issue for 
the Plan area which, as noted above, is largely rural.  Policy W10 sets out the main 
locational principles relevant to identifying site allocations and provision of additional 
capacity for management of waste. 

Policy W10: Overall locational principles for provision of waste 
management capacity 
The allocation of sites and determination of planning applications should be 
consistent with the following principles: 
 
1) Providing new waste management capacity within those parts of the Plan area 

outside the North York Moors National Park and the Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, unless the facility to be provided is appropriately scaled to 
meet waste management needs arising in the designated area and can be 
provided without causing unacceptable harm to the designated area.  

 
2) Maximising the potential of the existing facility network by supporting the 

continuation of activity at existing time limited sites with permission, the grant 
of permission for additional capacity and/or appropriate additional or 
alternative waste uses within the footprint of existing sites and, the extension to 
the footprint of existing sites. 

 
3) Supporting proposals for development of waste management capacity at new 

sites where the site is compatible with the requirements of Policy W11; and the 
site is located as close as practicable to the source/s of waste to be dealt with. 
This means: 

 
a) For new facilities serving district scale markets for waste, particularly 

LACW, C&I and CD&E waste, or for facilities which are not intended to serve 
the specialised needs of particular industries or businesses, giving priority 
to locations which are within or near to main settlements in the area 
(identified on the key diagram) or, for facilities which are intended mainly to 
serve localised needs for waste management capacity in more rural parts of 
the Plan area, including agricultural waste, where they are well-located with 
regard to the geographical area the facility is expected to serve; 

 
b) For larger scale or specialised facilities expected to play a wider strategic 

role (e.g. serving multi-district scale catchments or which would meet 
specialised needs of particular industries or businesses), these will be 
located where overall transportation impacts would be minimised taking 
into account the market area expected to be served by the facility. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M18, W01, W02, W03, W04, W05, W06, W07, W08, W09, 
W11, D07 

Objectives 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 35 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 

6.101 Arisings of waste in the NYMNPA and AONBs are low and these areas are also 
subject to constraints on major new development.  As a result, it is not considered 

ANNEX 1Page 349



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  150 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

appropriate for them to host significant additional waste management capacity, 
although small-scale provision may be acceptable to meet local needs, particularly 
where this would assist in moving waste up the hierarchy. 

6.102 There is already an extensive network of waste management infrastructure in the 
Plan area, representing a substantial amount of investment by both the private and 
public sectors.  Sustainability principles suggest it will be appropriate to seek to 
maximise the effectiveness of the existing network in meeting future waste 
management needs.  This will have benefits for the local economy and assist in 
ensuring the efficient use of existing land and infrastructure.  In some cases, existing 
sites are subject to time-limited permissions which may expire during the Plan period.  
It is appropriate to support the principle of extending the time limit for undertaking 
waste management operations at such sites in order to help secure their availability 
over the Plan period.  In some cases it may also be practicable for additional waste 
management capacity, and or additional or alternative waste uses which are 
compatible with the location of the site and any relevant constraints, including the 
potential for impact on local communities, to be provided within the footprint of 
existing sites, for example through investment in additional processing plant and 
machinery.  Where such development requires planning permission, it will also be 
appropriate to support it in principle.  Where additional capacity can be provided by 
extending the footprint of existing sites this may also be a suitable means of 
enhancing the efficiency of the current network and, subject to compliance with other 
relevant policies in the Joint Plan, is supported in principle. 

6.103 National planning policy encourages the provision of an integrated and adequate 
network of facilities which enables waste to be disposed of, and mixed municipal 
waste collected from private households to be recovered in, one of the nearest 
appropriate installations.  Supporting the management of waste near to where it 
arises, as well as encouraging communities to take responsibility for the waste 
arising in their area, are important components of sustainability.  In particular it can 
reduce the amount of transport required, with corresponding benefits for local 
amenity and reduced environmental impacts in what is a predominantly rural area 
with a relatively sparse network of major roads.  This suggests that, where 
practicable, new sites for waste management should be well-located in relation to the 
sources of the arisings to be dealt with.  Although detailed information on the 
geographical distribution of arisings of waste is not available, it is likely that most 
LACW, C&I and CD&E waste arises in the more developed parts of the Plan area 
and these are areas where further growth is likely to be focussed.  It is therefore 
appropriate to seek to ensure that, where new development is proposed to deal with 
such arisings, it is located within or in close proximity to the main settlements in the 
Plan area.  For waste more closely associated with rural activities (such as 
agricultural waste or waste from other businesses taking place in rural areas) it will 
be preferable for these to be located within the catchment areas they are intended to 
serve, even where these are not located in close proximity to main settlements, in 
order to help to reduce overall transportation impacts.  For some types of waste 
management development outside urban areas, Green Belt designation is a 
significant constraint and reference should be made to Policy D05 Minerals and 
waste development in the Green Belt (see Chapter 9) for further information on this 
matter. 

6.104 If shale gas development becomes established on any significant scale in the area 
(see Chapter 5), there could be a potential for new arisings of waste from this source 
which, based on current information, would be generated within relatively rural 
locations in the eastern part of the Plan area where the majority of current PEDLs are 
located.  In considering proposals for management of waste from such development, 
Policy M18 is also relevant. 

ANNEX 1Page 350



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  151 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

6.105 Certain facilities can play a wider strategic role in the management of waste, as a 
result of their large scale or specialised role, or a combination of the two factors.  
This means that they are likely to serve geographically more extensive catchments of 
waste (for example significantly above the scale likely to be needed to serve a 
particular settlement, cluster of settlements or district) and it is therefore particularly 
important that where new such facilities are proposed, they are well located in 
relation to the overall catchment area to be served, as well as in relation to the main 
transport networks that are to be used to transport waste to/from the facility.   

6.106 In all cases proposals for new capacity will need to demonstrate compliance with 
other relevant policies in the Joint Plan, including the site identification principles in 
Policy W11 and the development management policies in Chapter 9. 

 

Site identification principles for new waste management 
capacity 
 
6.107 Alongside policy for overall locational principles for waste facilities, set out above, it is 

necessary to consider the approach to the specific types of sites that should be 
considered suitable in principle for new waste management uses.  This can provide a 
basis for identifying suitable site allocations, as well as help with decisions on 
planning applications for new waste facilities. 

 
6.108 Waste management facilities can potentially be located on a wide range of sites.  

Some modern waste management processes are similar in nature to other forms of 
industrial development and can occupy similar types of sites.  Existing waste 
management facilities within the Plan area are located on a variety of sites including 
industrial estates, previously developed land and existing and former mineral 
workings. 

 
6.109 Sites for landfill, particularly for biodegradeable waste, are largely constrained to 

voids with suitable geological characteristics.  These typically comprise existing or 
former mineral workings, the locations of which are determined primarily by geology, 
where imported waste can be used to help to restore the site.  Groundwater pollution 
constraints and flood risk may be particularly important in determining suitable 
locations for some types of landfill activities.   

 
6.110 The identification of suitable sites for waste facilities is also influenced by matters 

such as the scale of facility proposed, the nature of the processes involved and the 
area to be served by the facility.  Other important constraints include environmental 
and local amenity considerations such as noise and odour and transport and access 
issues.  Co-locational opportunities may arise where mutual benefits can be gained 
by locating particular types of waste facilities alongside certain other forms of 
development, such as those which can use the output of waste processes, or where 
the waste management needs of a waste producer can be met without the need for 
significant transport of waste.  A further example is where waste processes which 
generate energy can be located in proximity to users of heat and/or power, as well as 
near to appropriate grid connections.  National planning policy supports the co-
location of waste facilities alongside other complementary uses, as well as the need 
to ensure that any energy produced is used efficiently, preferably in the form of heat. 

 
6.111 The characteristics of the Plan area also need to be taken into account.  As a mainly 

rural area, with a highly dispersed settlement pattern and large areas of important 
environmental designations which may limit potential for development, opportunities 
to identify suitable sites, particularly for larger scale facilities of a more industrial 

ANNEX 1Page 351



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  152 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

nature, are likely to be relatively limited, although there may be greater potential to 
identify suitable locations for smaller scale facilities.  

 
6.112 As well as the general context referred to above, specific considerations are likely to 

apply to particular forms of waste development.  For example, opportunities and 
constraints relating to sites for recycling and transfer activities, which can usually take 
place within buildings of a nature that can be accommodated on industrial estates 
and employment land, will be different to those that apply to large scale recovery or 
disposal operations. 

 

Policy W11: Waste site identification principles 
The allocation of sites and determination of planning applications for new waste 
management facilities should be consistent with the following principles: 
 

1) Siting facilities for the preparation for re-use, recycling, transfer and 
treatment of waste (excluding energy recovery or open composting) on 
previously developed land, industrial and employment land, or at or adjacent 
to existing waste management sites, giving preference to sites where it can 
be demonstrated that co-locational benefits would arise taking into account 
existing or proposed uses and economic activities nearby.  Where the site or 
facility is proposed to deal mainly with waste arising in rural areas then use 
of redundant agricultural buildings or their curtilages will also be acceptable 
in principle and, for agricultural waste, appropriate on-farm locations; 
 

2) Siting facilities for the open composting of waste on previously developed 
land, industrial land, existing waste management sites and, where the site or 
facility is proposed to deal with small scale waste arisings in rural areas, the 
curtilage of redundant agricultural buildings or other appropriate on-farm 
locations.  Where development of new capacity on greenfield land is 
necessary then preference will be given to sites located on lower quality 
agricultural land.  Sites for the composting of waste where the process may 
release bioaerosols should be located at least 250 metres from the nearest 
residential building;  
 

3) Siting facilities involving the recovery of energy from waste, including 
through anaerobic digestion, on previously developed land, industrial and 
employment land, or at existing waste management sites, giving preference 
to sites where it can be demonstrated that co-locational benefits would arise 
taking into account existing or proposed uses and economic activities 
nearby, including where the energy produced can be utilised efficiently.  For 
facilities which can produce combined heat and power, this includes giving 
preference to sites with the potential for heat utilisation.  Where the site or 
facility is proposed to deal mainly with agricultural waste through anaerobic 
digestion including energy recovery, then use of redundant agricultural 
buildings or their curtilages and other appropriate on-farm locations will also 
be acceptable in principle; 

 
4) Siting facilities to support the re-use and recycling of CD&E waste at the 

point of arising (for temporary facilities linked to the life of the associated 
construction project) and at active mineral workings where the main outputs 
of the process are to be sold alongside or blended with mineral produced at 
the site; as well as at the types of sites identified in 1) above, where these are 
well related to the sources of arisings and/or markets for the end product;  

 
5) Siting facilities to provide additional waste water treatment capacity, 

including for waste water containing Naturally Occurring Radioactive 

ANNEX 1Page 352



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  153 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Materials and hazardous waste, at existing waste water treatment works sites 
as a first priority.  Where this is not practicable, preference will be given to 
use of previously developed land or industrial and employment land.  Where 
development of new capacity on greenfield land is necessary then preference 
will be given to sites located on lower quality agricultural land.  Siting of 
facilities for management of waste water from hydrocarbons development will 
also be considered under the requirements of Policy M18 where relevant; 

 
6) Providing any additional capacity required for landfill of waste through 

preferring the infill of quarry voids for mineral site reclamation purposes, 
giving preference to proposals where a need for infill has been identified as 
part of an agreed quarry reclamation scheme and where any pollution control 
concerns can be mitigated to an acceptable level.  

 
In all cases sites will need to be suitable when considered in relation to physical, 
environmental, amenity and infrastructure constraints including existing and 
proposed neighbouring land uses, the capacity of transport infrastructure and any 
cumulative impact from previous waste disposal facilities, in line with national 
policy. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W01, W02, W03, W04, W05, W06, W07, W08, W09, W10, 
M18, Development management policies in Chapter 9 

Objectives 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 36 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
6.113 National planning policy identifies a range of types of sites and areas which may be 

suitable for built waste management facilities.  It indicates that consideration should 
be given to a broad range of locations including industrial sites, looking for 
opportunities to co-locate waste management facilities together and with 
complementary activities.  It states that priority should be given to the re-use of 
previously developed land, sites identified for employment uses and redundant 
agricultural buildings and their curtilages.  It also encourages the utilisation of heat as 
an energy source in the siting of low carbon energy recovery facilities in close 
proximity to potential heat customers.  It is considered that these principles remain 
appropriate to guide identification of allocations for the Plan area and to provide an 
indication to developers and other users of the Joint Plan of the types of sites that are 
likely to be considered suitable in principle for waste management facilities by the 
Authorities when determining planning applications. 

 
6.114 In relation to landfill, the long history of minerals extraction activity in the Plan area 

has resulted in a substantial number of voids which, should a need for further landfill 
arise, provide opportunities which may be suitable in principle.  In a number of cases 
reclamation through landfill is an agreed element of existing approved schemes, 
although in some cases sites have not yet received a permit for landfill from the 
Environment Agency.  A number of significant constraints to landfill could arise in 
association with particular proposals and these would need to be addressed through 
application of the development management policies in Chapter 9 of the Joint Plan. 

 
6.115 A range of site specific considerations may be relevant to determining the actual 

suitability of any specific sites or locations under consideration.  National policy 
provides guidance on relevant criteria, which will also need to be taken into account 
alongside any other relevant policies in the Joint Plan. 

ANNEX 1Page 353



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  154 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 7: Minerals and Waste 
Transport and Other Infrastructure  
 

7.1 This Chapter considers issues relating to minerals and waste transport infrastructure, 
as well as other infrastructure supporting the supply of minerals (often referred to as 
minerals ancillary infrastructure) throughout the Plan area.  It identifies policies to 
help support the provision of any such infrastructure that may be needed. 

 
Non-road transport Infrastructure for minerals and waste 

7.2 Minerals and waste tend to be high bulk, often low-value products, which need to be 
moved from source to market or point of management.  The majority of minerals and 
waste sold or managed in the Plan area is transported by road via the existing 
highway network.  Road transport is not usually the most sustainable form of 
transport due to emissions, congestion and other impacts, including on local amenity.  
However, in many cases it may be the only viable option because of the absence of 
suitable alternatives, or because the scale or pattern of movements involved does 
not justify the investment required to bring alternative arrangements in to use.  Key 
exceptions to road transport of minerals in the area include gas, which is transported 
by pipeline from production wells to the Knapton generating station, potash from 
Boulby Mine which is transported by rail and the importation of small amounts of 
aggregate by rail in the Selby area.  Movement of waste is exclusively by road.  

 
7.3 The NPPF aims to encourage sustainable methods of transportation, stating that 

‘encouragement should be given to solutions which support reductions in greenhouse 
gas emissions and reduce congestion’.  As sources of supply and demand for 
minerals are relatively dispersed, as are locations of waste arisings and 
management, road transport is likely to remain the main method of transport for 
minerals and waste produced or arising in the Plan area for the foreseeable future.  
However, the potential benefits of alternative forms of transport, together with the 
support provided in national policy to use of alternative transport modes, suggests 
that this is an issue the Joint Plan should address.  It will therefore be important to 
support any such opportunities that do arise, and to seek to protect relevant 
infrastructure.  Safeguarding of minerals and waste transport infrastructure is 
addressed in Chapter 8. 

 
7.4 There is a limited distribution of rail and water transport infrastructure suitable, or 

potentially suitable, for minerals and waste in the Plan area and the majority is 
concentrated in Selby District.  However, other parts of the network may have further 
potential or are currently used.  For example, in the past crushed rock has been 
transported by rail from a quarry near Leyburn and until recently coal was transported 
by rail from Kellingley Colliery, where infrastructure still exists.  More recently, a 
37km underground tunnel and conveyor system have been approved as part of the 
York Potash application to transport polyhalite from Doves Nest Farm, near Whitby, 
to a handling facility at Wilton on Teesside.  The map below shows the rail and 
waterways network as well as known locations of existing rail and water transport 
infrastructure in the area.  These have been identified as they are either in current 
use for such activity or are understood to have been used previously for this purpose, 
or for the transport of other bulk products, and have not yet been subject to 
redevelopment for other uses. 

ANNEX 1Page 354



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  155 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Figure 18: Wharf and rail infrastructure 

7.5 A shift towards increased use of rail or water transport in the Plan area would most 
likely arise through bringing into use existing infrastructure which is currently inactive, 
as this is likely to require less investment, and where substantial volumes of minerals 
or waste require transporting to particular destinations for sale or processing and the 
need for double handling can be avoided or minimised.   

Policy I01: Minerals and waste transport infrastructure 
1) The development of rail, water, pipeline or conveyor transport infrastructure, or 

use of existing infrastructure, will be encouraged and permitted for the 
transport of minerals and waste produced or arising in the Plan area, as well as 
for the reception of any large scale imports of minerals or waste into the area.    

 
2)  Where proposals for minerals or waste development would be located in close 

proximity to an existing wharf or rail head, they should include information to 
demonstrate that the potential for use of such facilities has been considered 
and, where practicable, should prioritise use of alternatives to road transport.  

   
     Proposals involving the development of, or use of existing, non-road transport 

infrastructure (other than pipelines and conveyor systems) should also be well 
located in relation to the main road network in order to facilitate multi-modal 
movements of minerals and waste and will be required to demonstrate 
compliance with other relevant development management policies in the Joint 
Plan.  Where new minerals or waste transport infrastructure is proposed in the 
Green Belt the development should preserve openness and be consistent with 
the purposes of Green Belt designation. 

 
3)  Availability of sustainable minerals supply infrastructure is supported through 

a site allocation for the rail reception, handling and onward distribution of 
aggregate at: 

 

ANNEX 1Page 355



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  156 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Land at Barlby Road, Selby (MJP09) 
 

Proposals for development of this site will be required to take account of the 
key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are 
set out in Appendix 1. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and 
Minerals and Waste Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I02, S04, D01, D02, D03, D05, D07, D11 Objectives 6, 7, 8, 10, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 37 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
7.6 National policy encourages use of alternatives to road transport wherever feasible 

and their use can have benefits in terms of reducing overall environmental and 
amenity impacts on the environment and local communities.   

 
7.7 As development of new non-road transport infrastructure is likely to require very 

substantial investment, relative to the likely volumes of material requiring movement 
at any particular locations in the Plan area, it is expected that in most cases 
additional rail and water transport will involve the bringing into use of existing inactive 
or under-used infrastructure rather than building new wharves or railheads.  There 
may be greater potential for the development of new pipelines for the transport of gas 
and the use of conveyor systems, as these are less dependent on the location of pre-
existing other infrastructure and may in some cases require less overall investment. 

 
7.8 For minerals and waste development proposals which are located in close proximity 

to sustainable transport infrastructure, it is important that consideration is given to the 
potential for such facilities to be used.  The undertaking of a Transport Assessment 
(see Policy D03) provides an opportunity to address this issue. 

 
7.9 In many cases use of non-road transport modes will need to operate alongside an 

element of road transport (for example for distribution of minerals products to local 
markets, or the receipt of waste materials for onward bulk transport).  It is therefore 
important that locations for non-road transport infrastructure for minerals and waste 
are also well located in relation to the main road network, to minimise overall 
impacts.  Key exceptions to this may include the development of pipelines or 
conveyor systems for the direct transfer of minerals or waste products between 
production and processing facilities. 

 
7.10 In all cases, proposals for development of new sustainable transport infrastructure, or 

the use of existing infrastructure, should be consistent with relevant development 
management policies in the Plan to ensure that unacceptable impact on the 
environment or local communities does not arise. 

 
7.11 During preparation of the Joint Plan a site at Barlby Road, Selby (MJP09) was put 

forward for consideration for allocation for the reception of aggregates by rail.  This 
site is currently operational and helps to contribute to the sustainable transport and 
supply of aggregate within the Plan area.  However, its permitted life is linked to that 
of an adjacent roadstone coating plant and the longer term availability of rail-linked 
aggregates reception is uncertain.  The allocation has been put forward in order to 
help secure this use in the longer term.  The site has been assessed and is 
considered suitable for allocation and is therefore identified in the Joint Plan as an 
allocation for rail reception, handling and onward distribution of aggregate. 

   

ANNEX 1Page 356



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  157 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Minerals Ancillary Infrastructure 

7.12 In addition to transport infrastructure, supply of minerals is supported by a range of 
other associated infrastructure.  This includes facilities such as plant and equipment 
for routine processing or preparing for sale of minerals extracted at the site.  In 
certain circumstances these routine processing activities, together with their 
associated plant and buildings, may constitute permitted development under the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 2015 
Order. Where they do not, and a planning application is required to be submitted, this 
will be considered against the development management policies in Chapter 9. 

 

7.13 In some cases quarries, or sites for the supply of secondary or recycled aggregate, 
may also host specialist plant or operations for processes such as manufacture of 
ready mixed concrete, roadstone coating and block making, which typically produce 
aggregates based products with value added, serving a range of market 
requirements.  The policies in this section are concerned with this type of 
development.  An important aspect of these additional activities, which are of 
industrial character, is that they all depend on the availability of mineral as a key raw 
material, but are not in themselves essential for the initial extraction and processing 
of the primary mineral itself.  Where ancillary infrastructure is located at the site of 
extraction, this can have the benefit of adding value before the raw material leaves 
the site and thus help reduce the overall volume of material transported. It can also 
enable provision of range of complementary products from a single location.  
Processing infrastructure for hydrocarbon development is addressed in the 
Hydrocarbons (oil and gas) section in Chapter 5. 

7.14 However, such development is not constrained to a particular location in the way 
minerals extraction is and, in some instances, infrastructure of this type may be in 
‘freestanding’ locations, such as on industrial or employment land.  In some cases 
this can represent a more sustainable approach, particularly where a wide range of 
minerals or other raw materials, not available at the ‘host’ quarry site, are required as 
part of the process. 

7.15 Supply of recycled aggregate is partly dependent upon the amount of construction, 
demolition and excavation waste (CD&E) that is produced, which in turn is influenced 
by the level of construction activity taking place.  Recycled aggregate may be 
produced from CD&E waste at certain types of waste management sites and some 
construction sites use mobile equipment to convert CD&E waste into recycled 
aggregate for immediate reuse, either on the same site or elsewhere.  Some existing 
quarry sites also act as sites for the production and supply of recycled aggregate, 
through import for blending with primary minerals worked at the site.  Evidence 
suggests that the rate of reuse of CD&E waste is already high.  To ensure this is 
maintained sites and proposals in suitable locations which would help reduce or 
recycle CD&E waste should be supported by policy. 

Policy I02: Locations for ancillary minerals infrastructure 
1)  Development of ancillary minerals infrastructure at active minerals extraction 

sites and sites producing secondary aggregate will be permitted provided the 
following criteria are met: 
i) The ancillary development produces a ‘value added’ or complementary  

product based mainly on the mineral extracted or secondary aggregate 
produced on the host site; and 

ii) The development would not have significant additional adverse impact on 
local communities, businesses or the environment; and 

iii) The development would not unacceptably increase the overall amount of 
road transport to or from the host site; and 

ANNEX 1Page 357



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  158 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

iv) Where the host site is located in the Green Belt the ancillary development is 
acceptable in accordance with national and local Green Belt policy; and 

v) The development is linked to the overall life of minerals extraction or 
supply of secondary aggregate at the host site, unless the location is 
appropriate to its retention in the longer term. 

 
2)  In addition, within the City of York area, development of ancillary minerals 

infrastructure will only be permitted provided the following criteria are met: 
i) The site would be located on industrial or employment land, previously   

developed land, or would be co-located with other compatible industrial or 
commercial development; and     

ii) The site has good access to the transport network; and 
iii) The development would not have significant adverse impact on local 

communities, businesses or the environment including heritage assets. 
 
3)  In addition to the requirements of Part 1), within the North Yorks Moors National 

Park the siting of ancillary minerals infrastructure will only be supported where 
it would be located within the existing operational surface site on other existing 
industrial land, within the Whitby Business Park or is constrained to a particular 
location for which there is sufficient overriding justification.     

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
Minerals Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M11, W05, W09, S05, D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D09, D10, 
D11 

Objectives 6, 7, 8  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 38 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

7.16 Within the part of the Plan area that has a two-tier planning structure, development of 
this nature falls to be determined by the County Council where it would be located 
within a site permitted for mineral working.  Development at freestanding sites will be 
the responsibility of the District and Borough Councils.  Within the City of York and 
the North York Moors National Park, which are unitary planning authority areas, 
proposals for free-standing ancillary development will be within the scope of the Joint 
Plan. 

 

7.17 Both active quarries and free-standing sites may, in some circumstances, be 
appropriate locations for ancillary development.  In many cases, quarries will be 
suitable locations, particularly where a substantial proportion of the raw materials to 
be used are supplied directly from the host quarry, as this can help to minimise 
overall transport movements.  However, where substantial reliance on imported raw 
materials is needed, it may be preferable for ancillary activities to take place on free 
standing sites well-located in relation to transport networks and key markets for the 
products.  In all cases, it will be necessary to ensure that the ancillary activity will not 
result in unacceptable impact on the environment or local communities and 
businesses.  

 

7.18 There are a small number of existing minerals extraction sites in AONBs in the NYCC 
area.  Where ancillary development is proposed at quarries in the AONBs, 
particularly high standards of siting, design and mitigation will be needed to ensure 
that any impacts will be acceptable.  Minerals extraction sites may sometimes be 
located in the Green Belt.  Where ancillary development is proposed in such 
locations it will be important to ensure that it would not compromise the purposes of 
Green Belt designation or the openness of the Green Belt.  Long-term retention of 

ANNEX 1Page 358



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  159 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

infrastructure, beyond the associated period of mineral extraction, will not be 
appropriate in such locations. 

 

7.19 There is currently no ancillary infrastructure located at any mineral workings in the 
National Park but a free-standing concrete batching plant is located on a small 
industrial estate within the Park near Whitby and a mineral railway is in place to 
transport material from the Boulby potash mine to Teesport.  Environmental 
constraints in the National Park suggest it will not be appropriate to support further 
development of ancillary infrastructure elsewhere in this part of the Plan area, unless 
it would be located within the Boulby potash mine surface site or, if developed, the 
Doves Nest Farm mine surface site.

ANNEX 1Page 359



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  160 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Chapter 8: Minerals and Waste 
Safeguarding  
 

8.1 Safeguarding of minerals resources, and of minerals and waste infrastructure, is an 
important aspect of national policy and necessary to help to ensure the long-term 
sustainability of the area.  This Chapter identifies policies for safeguarding these 
important assets from encroachment or replacement by other forms of development. 

 

8.2 The purpose of safeguarding is not to prevent other forms of development on or near 
to a safeguarded resource or infrastructure, but primarily to ensure that the presence 
of the resource or infrastructure is taken into account when other development 
proposals are under consideration.  This is a particularly important issue within those 
parts of the Plan area which are ‘two-tier’, with the majority of development decisions 
taken by the District or Borough Councils rather than the minerals and waste 
planning authority. 

 

8.3 In these circumstances, consultation between the District/Borough and County 
Councils will be required where certain other forms of development, with the potential 
to sterilise minerals resources or impact on important infrastructure, are proposed in 
a safeguarded area.  Details of those types of development which are exempt from 
safeguarding are set out in the Safeguarding Exemptions List later in this Chapter.  In 
many cases it may be practicable for arrangements such as prior extraction of a 
mineral, or other mitigation, to be put in place where potential conflict between 
minerals resources, or minerals and waste infrastructure, and other development 
pressures arise. 

 

8.4 Areas of minerals resources proposed for safeguarding are shown on the Policies 
Map accompanying the Joint Plan.  A schedule of minerals and waste infrastructure 
sites to be safeguarded is provided in Appendix 2. 

 
 

Safeguarding of Mineral Resources 
 
8.5 Effective safeguarding of minerals helps to preserve finite resources for the future, 

although there is no presumption that safeguarded resources will be worked.  
Sensitive development in close proximity to minerals resources can also impact on 
the ability to work a resource in future, as a result of the impacts necessarily involved 
in working some minerals, such as blasting.  In some cases it is therefore prudent to 
safeguard a limited buffer zone around the resource.  The purpose of the buffer zone 
is to ensure that the potential impacts of development near to but just beyond the 
resource boundary are also taken into account when considering the potential for 
sterilisation of minerals resources by other forms of development. 

8.6 In 2011 North Yorkshire County Council commissioned the British Geological Survey 
(BGS) in 2011 to identify an approach to safeguarding of minerals resources in the 
NYCC area, based on best practice guidance.  Consultation with the minerals 
industry took place during the project and views received were incorporated into the 
recommendations in the Report.  Comparable studies have also been completed by 
BGS for the City of York Council and NYMNPA areas.  The reports are available to 
view at www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence. 

8.7 Whilst safeguarding is primarily concerned with managing potential conflict between 
surface minerals resources and other non-minerals development, in some cases the 
extraction of one underground resource has the potential to sterilise another due to 

ANNEX 1Page 360

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwevidence


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  161 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the fact that areas of different resources can overlap.  The extraction methods used 
could also impact upon areas of underground mining for other resources, for example 
by causing instability or water ingress.  Whilst the Plan area has a range of deep 
mineral resources: coal (including coal bed methane), gas (including shale gas), 
gypsum, potash, polyhalite and salt; a particular consideration is the potential for 
hydrocarbon exploration and development activity in the eastern part of the Plan area 
to overlap with development of strategically important resources of potash and/or 
polyhalite.  

Policy S01: Safeguarded surface mineral resources 
The following surface minerals resources and associated buffer zones identified 
on the Policies Map will be safeguarded from other forms of surface non-mineral 
development to protect the resource for the future: 
 

i) All crushed rock and silica sand resources with an additional 500m buffer; 
ii) All sand and gravel, clay and shallow coal resources with an additional 

250m buffer; 
iii) Building stone resources and active and former building stone quarries 

with an additional 250m buffer.  
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and District 
and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M02, M03, M04, M05, M06, M07, M08, M09, M12, 
M13, M15, M20, M21, M22, S02 

Objective 3 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 39 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy justification for safeguarding of Sand and Gravel/ Crushed Rock/ Silica 
Sand/ Clay/Shallow coal 
  
8.8 A key recommendation of all three minerals safeguarding reports for the Plan area 

was to safeguard the overall resource of sand and gravel, with provision of a 250m 
buffer zone.  The purpose of a buffer zone is to ensure that the potential impacts of 
development near to but just beyond the resource boundary are also taken into 
account when considering the potential for sterilisation of minerals resources by other 
forms of development.  Although glacio-lacustrine deposits are not specifically 
proposed for safeguarding in the work undertaken by BGS, as a result of their 
relatively low quality, representations from the minerals industry suggest that they 
may become of greater commercial relevance in the future as a source of aggregate, 
as higher quality fluvial and fluvio-glacial deposits become more difficult to source.  
Information has been obtained from BGS on the distribution of glacio-lacustrine 
deposits and these are also safeguarded in the Joint Plan. 

 
8.9 With regard to safeguarding the overall resource of Jurassic, Magnesian and 

Carboniferous limestones, Carboniferous sandstones and chalk, provision of a 500m 
buffer consultation zone was recommended, taking into account potential impacts 
associated with working hard rock quarries, including the need for blasting.  

 
8.10 As a relatively scarce mineral, safeguarding of silica sand resources will be 

important.  Work carried out by BGS indicates the presence of additional resources 
adjacent to both the Blubberhouses and Burythorpe sites and these resources will 
require safeguarding for the longer term.  The work recommends safeguarding all 
resources of silica sand and proposes a buffer zone around the resource of 500 
metres to ensure the effective safeguarding of the resource area. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 361



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  162 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

8.11 The BGS reports identified the resources of clay that should be the subject of 
safeguarding, with a recommended 250m buffer zone, taking into account that clay is 
typically worked without the need for techniques such as blasting. 

 
8.12 Although there is no recent history of shallow coal working in North Yorkshire, the 

Coal Authority recommends safeguarding the resource.  The BGS reports for NYCC 
and the NYMNPA also recommend safeguarding all of the shallow coal resource 
together with a 250m buffer zone. 

 

Policy justification for safeguarding of Building Stone  
 
8.13 Information on the distribution of building stone resources of commercial interest is 

less detailed than for other forms of surface mineral in the Plan area.  Geological 
deposits with potential to contain building stone resources are potentially very 
extensive across the area, although in practice it is likely that only relatively small 
parts of these will contain stone with the right technical and aesthetic properties to 
constitute viable sources of supply of building stone.  BGS have developed an 
approach for safeguarding within the Plan area, in consultation with building stone 
specialists, which has led to a number of scarcer mineral resources being identified, 
within which active working for building stone is taking place and which could be 
subject of safeguarding.  However, some active building stone quarries lie outside 
the areas identified in this way.  In order to address this issue, BGS have suggested 
that active quarries lying outside the proposed safeguarding areas are also 
safeguarded, by defining a 250m buffer zone around them also. 

 
8.14 Whilst the work by BGS has also revealed difficulties in clearly identifying important 

historic quarries across the Plan area, it does nevertheless identify a number of 
former sites in the North York Moors National Park which may be important future 
sources of building stone for specific parts of the Park and for the repair of specific 
groups of buildings in and around the Park, based on the Strategic Stone Study.  It is 
considered that these also should be subject of safeguarding, with a 250m buffer 
zone. 

 

Development in Minerals Resource Safeguarding Areas  
 

8.15 This section sets out how applications for development proposed in Minerals 
Resource Safeguarding Areas will be assessed.   

8.16 As a two-tier planning system exists in the NYCC planning authority area, the District 
and Borough councils in that area will be responsible for ensuring that development 
proposals that they determine in Safeguarding Areas are assessed appropriately.  
This can be done by using defined Minerals Consultation Areas, within which the 
District/Borough Councils would consult with NYCC, as minerals planning authority, 
before decisions are taken on certain forms of development which could sterilise 
minerals resources.  Policy S06 deals with Minerals Consultation Areas.  Forms of 
development which, when proposed within Safeguarding Areas, are considered to be 
exempt from requirements for consultation are set out later in this Chapter. 

Policy S02: Developments proposed within Safeguarded Surface 
Mineral Resource areas 
 Within the Safeguarded Surface Minerals Resource areas shown on the Policies 
Map, permission for development other than minerals extraction will be granted 
where: 

i) It would not sterilise the mineral or prejudice future extraction; or 

ANNEX 1Page 362



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  163 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

ii) The mineral will be extracted prior to the development (where this can be 
achieved without unacceptable impact on the environment or local 
communities), or 

iii) The need for the non-mineral development can be demonstrated to outweigh 
the need to safeguard the mineral; or 

iv) It can be demonstrated that the mineral in the location concerned is no longer 
of any potential value as it does not represent an economically viable and 
therefore exploitable resource; or 

v) The non-mineral development is of a temporary nature that does not inhibit 
extraction within the timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

vi) It constitutes ‘exempt’ development (as defined in the Safeguarding 
Exemption Criteria list), as set out in paragraph 8.55). 
 

Applications for development other than mineral extraction in Safeguarded Surface 
Minerals Resource areas should include an assessment of the effect of the proposed 
development on the mineral resource beneath or adjacent to the site of the proposed 
development. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  and District and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

S01, S04, S05, S06 Objective 3 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 40 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

8.17  The purpose of safeguarding is not to protect the minerals resource in all 
circumstances, but to ensure that the presence and potential significance of the 
resource is taken into account when other proposals in a safeguarded area are under 
consideration, and that sterilisation of the resource only takes place where there is 
appropriate justification.  In some cases, it may be practicable for prior extraction of 
the resource to take place, where this can be done without unacceptable impacts on 
local communities or the environment, in line with the development management 
policies in the Joint Plan.  In other cases, the need for the sterilising development 
may outweigh the need to protect the resource, or it may be possible to demonstrate 
that the safeguarded resource is no longer justified for safeguarding.  Where non-
exempt development (see Safeguarding Exemptions Criteria list in para. 8.55) is 
proposed in a safeguarded area for surface mineral resources applicants should 
consider at an early stage any implications that the presence of the safeguarded 
resource may have for their proposals and include information in any application, via 
a mineral resource assessment, about measures that would be implemented to avoid 
unnecessary sterilisation, or to demonstrate that the need for the sterilising 
development outweighs the need to protect the resource.   

 

8.23 Certain forms of surface development are unlikely to lead to significant sterilisation of 
minerals resources, even when proposed in a safeguarded area.  These are 
identified in the Safeguarding Exemptions Criteria list later in this Chapter.  Where 
development falls within the scope of the exemptions list then applicants do not need 
to address safeguarding issues in their proposals, and there is no requirement for 
planning authorities to consider minerals safeguarding issues when taking decisions 
on such proposals. 

 

8.24 To implement an approach to safeguarding in the two-tier part of the Plan area, it will 
be necessary for consultation to take place between District/Borough Councils and 
the mineral planning authority.  Further information on the approach to this is set out 
in the section on Minerals Consultation Areas later in this Chapter.  

ANNEX 1Page 363



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  164 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

afeguarded  

Policy S03: Safeguarded Deep Minerals Resource areas 
Part 1) – Safeguarding potash from surface development vulnerable to 

subsidence: 

Potash (including polyhalite) resources expected to be recovered by the 
Woodsmith Mine over its permitted life are identified on the Policies Map for 
safeguarding, and will be safeguarded from the following forms of non-mineral 
surface developments to protect the resource for the future; 

 Large institutional and public buildings; 

 Major industrial buildings and other industrial buildings and infrastructure 
with sensitive processes and precision equipment vulnerable to ground 
movement; 

 Major retail complexes; 

 Non-residential high rise buildings (3 storeys plus); 

 Strategic gas, oil, naphtha and petrol pipelines; 

 Vulnerable parts of main highways and motorway networks (e.g. viaducts, 
large bridges, service stations and interchanges); 

 Security sensitive structures; 

 Strategic water pumping stations, waterworks, reservoirs, sewage works 
and pumping stations; 

 Ecclesiastical property; 

 Power stations;  

 Wind turbines; 
 
Permission for the above forms of development will be granted where it can be 
demonstrated that a significant risk of sterilisation of the safeguarded mineral 
deposits would not arise, or the need for the surface development would 
demonstrably outweigh the need to safeguard the mineral deposit. 

Part 2) – Protecting potash (including polyhalite) resources from other 
underground minerals development: 

Potash (including polyhalite) resources expected to be recovered by the 
Woodsmith Mine over its permitted life, identified on the Policies Map for 
safeguarding, will also be protected from sterilisation by other forms of 
underground minerals extraction, deep drilling and the underground storage of 
gas or carbon in order to protect the resource for the future. 

Where proposals for deep drilling or development of underground gas resources 
or the underground storage of gas or carbon are located within the area 
safeguarded for potash, (including polyhalite) shown on the Policies Map, 
permission for development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that the 
proposed development will not adversely affect the potential future extraction of 
the protected mineral, or the benefits of the proposed development would 
demonstrably outweigh the need to safeguard the resource. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and District 
and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M02, M03, M04, M05, M06, M07, M08, M09, M12, 
M13, M15, M20, M21, M22,  

Objective 3 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 41 (see Appendix 3) 

 

ANNEX 1Page 364



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  165 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Policy justification for safeguarding of Potash and Polyhalite Resources 

 
8.25 Underground mineral resources are not at direct risk of sterilisation through non-

mineral surface development in the same way as surface resources and there is no 
specific requirement in national policy to safeguard them within protected areas. 
However, certain forms of surface development, particularly large structures or those 
with sensitive processes taking place in them, may be particularly vulnerable to 
subsidence damage. 

 
8.26 Potash, including polyhalite resources in the Plan area are considered to be of 

strategic significance, as the potash and polyhalite deposits are the only known 
potentially workable resources in the country and planning permission currently 
exists for their extraction.  Whilst remaining resources associated with the Boulby 
Mine are understood to be located offshore, resources permitted for extraction 
through the new Woodsmith Mine, currently under construction, underlie the eastern 
part of the National Park. Diagram (Figure 19) shows the location of the potential 
sources of potash and polyhalite in relation to the Woodsmith Mine permission area, 
the National Park Boundary, the remainder of the Plan area and adjacent areas of 
East Yorkshire.  The permitted life of mineral extraction at the Mine is approximately 
100 years.  It is therefore considered that there is particular justification to safeguard 
appropriate resources for the future. 

 

  
   Figure 19: Potash minerals map:  
 
8.27 Extensive resources of potash and polyhalite exist in the north-eastern part of the 

Plan area and also extend southwards beyond the Plan area boundary, into the East 
Riding of Yorkshire down to Kingston upon Hull, as shown in Figure 19. Available 
information suggests that the resource, which is already at a very substantial depth 
below ground level, gets significantly deeper to the south, beyond the National Park 
boundary, and is also extensively faulted in the Vale of Pickering area, to the extent 
that extraction is not expected to be technically feasible or economically viable within 
the current Plan period.  Furthermore, a large area of the resource within the Plan 
area is located beneath the North York Moors National Park, where the risk of 

ANNEX 1Page 365



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  166 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

sterilisation as a result of significant surface development is relatively low as a 
consequence of national and local policies restraining major development. However, 
notwithstanding this position, it is appropriate to safeguard an area of resource 
expected to be sufficient to cover the duration of the permission that has been 
granted. The extent of the area identified on the Policies Map for safeguarding 
includes those resources that have been identified with a higher degree of 
confidence (i.e. the indicated and inferred resources) as well as adjacent areas 
expected to be required to sustain the Mine over its permitted life. This will help to 
ensure that, where certain types of surface development, sensitive to subsidence,  
are proposed within the safeguarded area, the presence of the underground resource 
is taken into account. In this respect, the purpose of safeguarding underground 
resources is not to prevent surface development in the relevant area but to ensure 
that the potential implications for sterilisation of potash or polyhalite are taken into 
account.  The Authorities acknowledge that it will be appropriate to keep under 
review the extent of the area necessary to provide adequate safeguarded resources 
over the permitted life of the Mine and will address this through subsequent reviews 
of the Plan where necessary. In the meantime, the Policies Map accompanying the 
Plan shows the overall extent of potential potash resources within the Plan area, as 
well as the area currently subject to safeguarding. Prospective developers should 
refer to this map for information on the distribution of the overall potash resource and 
seek further advice from the relevant mineral planning authority if there is any doubt 
about how a potential development may be impacted by the potash and polyhalite 
safeguarding requirements included in the Plan.  Types of surface development 
which are considered relevant for the purposes of safeguarding underground potash 
and polyhalite are identified in Policy S03 (part one).  

 
8.30 Extraction of gas in proximity to underground mining operations can give rise to 

particular concerns including the potential for gas to migrate towards, or accumulate 
in, mine tunnels. This could be a particular issue where hydraulic fracturing 
(‘fracking’) techniques are involved. Similar considerations could apply where 
proposals are brought forward for the underground storage of gas or carbon, for 
example in depleted natural gas reservoirs. The presence of a hydrocarbons well 
could in itself lead to a direct local sterilisation of potash and polyhalite resources, 
and also act as a constraint to the driving of access tunnels towards target areas of 
more viable resources. The long term sterilising effect of such constraints may be 
difficult to foresee during the early stages of Mine development. 

 
8.31 To ensure that consideration is given to protecting reserves and resources of potash,  

including polyhalite from the potential effects of sub-surface hydrocarbons 
development or storing gas, safeguarding is considered appropriate. The 
safeguarding area, identified on the Policies Map, is considered to provide for 
safeguarding of resources sufficient to cover the permitted life of the Woodsmith 
Mine and offers a reasonable balance between protection of the resource and 
providing flexibility for other development to take place where appropriate and 
consistent with other policies in the Plan, recognising that PEDLs are located within 
the southern part of the National Park. Whilst there are no current PEDLs in the 
safeguarded area., a number, including some recent PEDL’s awarded during the 14th 
onshore licensing round, overlap with the southern part of the Woodsmith Mine 
permission area. The effect of national policy and other policies in the Plan, 
particularly Policy M16, would act as a major constraint to most forms of surface 
hydrocarbons development in this area. As noted in paragraph 8.17, the Authorities 
acknowledge that it will be appropriate to keep under review the extent of the area 
necessary to provide adequate safeguarding of potash, including polyhalite, 
resources over the permitted life of the Mine and will address this through 
subsequent reviews of the Plan where necessary. This will allow further 
consideration to be given to safeguarding issues in the event of any further PEDL 

ANNEX 1Page 366



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  167 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

rounds, or any new information on the extent and distribution of viable potash and 
polyhalite resources following commencement of extraction at Woodsmith Mine 
which is expected to commence in the first few years following adoption of the 
MWJP.    As with other forms of safeguarding, the purpose is not to prevent other 
forms of development from taking place under any circumstances, but to ensure that 
the presence of the safeguarded resource is taken into account, and given priority 
where appropriate. In some circumstances it may be practicable to take measures, 
such as through appropriate phasing of activity, to enable extraction of more than 
one underground resource in the same area. Where underground conflict could arise, 
applicants will need to demonstrate, including through use of Interaction Agreements 
where appropriate, that measures can be implemented to ensure that the 
safeguarded resource is adequately protected. 

 
8.32 Planning guidance and case law makes clear that Minerals Planning Authorities do 

not need to carry out their own assessments of potential impacts which are controlled 
by other regulatory bodies. It states that they can determine applications having 
considered the advice of those bodies without having to wait for the other approval 
processes to be concluded. The Mineral Planning Authorities will therefore carry out 
consultation with other appropriate regulatory bodies (such as the Environment 
Agency, Health and Safety Executive, Oil and Gas Authority and Mines Inspector) on 
planning applications which might impact on the safeguarded underground minerals 
resource, to ensure that the Authorities can be satisfied that sub-surface issues can 
and will be adequately addressed by other complementary regulatory regimes where 
relevant. 

 

Waste Management Facility Safeguarding 
 

8.33 National waste planning policy requires all planning authorities, including district and 
borough Councils in two-tier planning areas, to ensure that the impact of proposed, 
non-waste related development on existing waste management facilities and on sites 
and areas allocated for waste management is acceptable and does not prejudice the 
implementation of the waste hierarchy.   

 
8.34 As not all waste management facilities are the subject of planning permissions 

granted by the waste planning authority (for example they may be operating under 
lawful use rights or as uses permitted under the Use Classes Order), comprehensive 
information on the full extent of the facility network in the Plan area is not available.  
Also, it is likely that there will be significant changes to the network over the life of the 
Joint Plan.  It is not therefore practicable to identify all facilities for safeguarding in the 
Plan. 

 
8.35 However, certain facilities or sites which are considered to be particularly important 

should be the subject of specific safeguarding and site allocations for new waste 
development.  More information about the approach to identifying relevant waste 
infrastructure for safeguarding can be found in the evidence base for the Joint Plan. 

 

Policy S04: Waste management facility safeguarding 
Waste management sites identified on the Policies Map and in Appendix 2, with a 
250m buffer zone, will be safeguarded against development which would prevent 
or unduly restrict the use of the site for waste development, unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of 
retaining the site; and 

ii) Where the site is in active use for waste management purposes, a suitable 
alternative location can be provided for the displaced infrastructure; or 

ANNEX 1Page 367



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  168 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

iii) The site is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it being used 
for waste management in the foreseeable future; 

iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 
 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the 
Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, as set out in paragraph 8.55 is proposed 
within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where adequate 
mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing 
or proposed adjacent waste uses to an acceptable level, and the benefits of the 
proposed use outweigh any safeguarding considerations.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, CYC, NYMNPA and Waste 
Industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

W02, W11, S04, S06, D01, W10 Objectives 2, 6, 7  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 42 (see Appendix 3) 
 

Policy Justification 

 

8.36 Waste facilities are an essential part of the total infrastructure of an area and it is 
important that key facilities are protected in order to ensure their continued 
availability.  Certain forms of waste infrastructure are relatively specialised or of 
strategic scale, or are in other ways particularly important in terms of the contribution 
they make to the overall network.  In combination they contribute to delivering the 
objectives of moving waste up the hierarchy and enabling communities to take 
responsibility for waste arising in their area, in line with local, national and European 
policy and legislation. 

 
8.37 As some waste uses are relatively low-value developments, they are at risk of being 

replaced by competing, higher-value land uses.  Safeguarding facilities can help to 
guard against this.  The purpose of safeguarding certain waste facilities is not to 
prevent other development from taking place but to ensure that the need to maintain 
important waste infrastructure is factored into decision-making for other forms of 
development. Where a site is not in use, viability issues will be relevant to 
considering wherther there is a reasonable prospect of the site being used for waste 
management in the foreseeable future.  This will be particularly important in the two-
tier parts of the Plan area, where many development decisions are not taken by the 
waste planning authority.   

 
8.38 In some cases, the introduction of other forms of development in close proximity to 

established or allocated waste uses, can lead to conflict given the potential for 
impacts on local amenity due, for example, to noise, dust, odour or bioaerosols.  
Whilst it is not possible to identify all such forms of development exhaustively, they 
include residential uses and also commercial and industrial uses that depend on a 
high quality local environment (for example within the food and health care sectors). 
The identification of a buffer zone around safeguarded waste facilities ensures that 
the potential for such impacts can be properly taken into account, whilst also 
recognising the importance of allowing the waste facility to continue to operate.  As a 
range of types and scales of development could be associated with waste 
management activity, it is not practicable to define individual buffer zones for each 
facility.  A 250m buffer zone reflects a balance between ensuring that the potential for 
significant impacts arising from some waste uses is allowed for, whilst limiting the 
extent to which consultation for safeguarding purposes is required.  It is also 
consistent with the Environment Agency’s restrictions on open composting of waste 
taking place within 250m of residential property.  Where proposals for non-exempt 
development in these zones would not be compatible with the safeguarded use then 
permission will be refused unless suitable mitigation can be provided as part of the 

ANNEX 1Page 368



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  169 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

proposals for the encroaching development or there are other overriding benefits.. In 
these circumstances the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority will seek to work 
constructively with the relevant local planning authority and developers to ensure that 
a proportionate approach to implementing safeguarding of minerals and waste 
infrastructure requirements is taken. 

 
8.39 As a two-tier planning system exists in the NYCC area, it is the District and Borough 

Councils that are responsible for ensuring that relevant non-waste related 
development proposals are assessed in line with this policy.  Consultation with the 
County Planning authority will be required on any non-exempt development on a 
safeguarded waste site, or accompanying buffer zone before any decision can be 
made on the application.  Exempt development is identified later in this Chapter in 
para. 8.55.  

 

Minerals and Waste Transport Infrastructure Safeguarding 
 
8.40 In order to ensure that opportunities for the sustainable transport of minerals or waste 

are protected for the future, it is important to safeguard relevant transport 
infrastructure sites in the Plan.  The NPPF encourages the safeguarding of minerals 
transport infrastructure and states that mineral planning authorities should safeguard 
existing, planned and potential railheads, rail links to quarries, wharfage and 
associated storage, handling and processing facilities for the bulk transport by rail, 
sea or inland waterways of minerals.  In the interests of sustainable development, 
similar principles should apply to infrastructure with the potential for transport of 
waste. 

 

Policy S05: Transport infrastructure safeguarding 
Railheads, rail links and wharves identified on the Policies Map and in Appendix 2, 
with a 100m buffer zone, will be safeguarded against development which would 
prevent or unduly resrict the use of the infrastructure for minerals or waste 
transport purposes, unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of 
retaining the facility;  and 

ii) Where the minerals or waste transport infrastructure is in active use on the 
land, a suitable alternative location can be provided for the displaced 
infrastructure; or 

iii) The infrastructure is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it 
being used for minerals or waste transport in the foreseeable future; 

iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 
 

Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the 
Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, as set out in paragraph 8.55 is proposed 
within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where adequate 
mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing 
or proposed adjacent minerals or waste transport infrastructure uses to an 
acceptable level, and the benefits of the proposed use outweigh any safeguarding 
considerations. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
District and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I01, S01, S03, S06, D01,  Objectives 3, 7, 8  

Monitoring: Monitoring indicator 43 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

ANNEX 1Page 369



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  170 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

8.41 Transport infrastructure includes facilities or sites which are used, or which may 
provide potential for, non-road transport of minerals or waste, such as rail heads, 
sidings, and canal or river wharves.  Some minerals, but not waste, are currently 
transported by rail via rail heads located in the Plan area, including potash from 
Boulby Mine and the importation of aggregate into two rail-linked sites in Selby 
District.  There are a number of known facilities in the area, such as the rail link at the 
former Gascoigne Wood Mine site and the rail link at Kellingley Colliery, which has 
now closed, which have previously played a role in the transport of minerals, and 
where future potential may still exist.  It is recognised that rail transport infrastructure 
at former mine sites in the Plan area are important for their potential to serve other 
existing or proposed rail-linked uses. It is not the intention in safeguarding them for 
minerals and waste transport to prevent other such beneficial uses from taking place 
but to ensure that their potential significance in providing opportunities for modal shift 
in transport of minerals and waste is taken into account in other development 
decisions.  In these circumstances the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority will 
seek to work constructively with the relevant local planning authority and developers 
to ensure that a proportionate approach to implementing safeguarding of minerals 
and waste infrastructure requirements is taken. 

 
8.42 Transport of coal by barge has previously occurred in the Selby area, and some 

infrastructure remains but needs repair if it is to be used again.  Growing interest in 
the potential for increased supply of marine aggregate into the Yorkshire and Humber 
area may increase the significance of both water and rail transport of minerals in 
future, adding to the justification for safeguarding wharfs and railheads42. The East 
Coast marine Plan (Policy PS3) supports the protection and expansion of port and 
harbour capacity. Where a site is not in use, viability issues will be relevant to 
considering whether there is a reasonable prospect of the site being usedfor minerals 
or waste transport in the foreseeable future. 

 
8.43 In order to protect safeguarded facilities from encroachment by other non-compatible 

development which may compromise the continued use of the facility for the 
transport of minerals or waste, for example development which may be sensitive to 
disturbance from noise or dust, a buffer zone around safeguarded facilities has also 
been identified.  A 100m buffer zone is considered to be adequate to ensure that the 
potential for significant impacts is taken into account for these forms of development.  
Where proposals for non-exempt development in these zones would not be 
compatible with the safeguarded use then permission will be refused unless suitable 
mitigation can be provided as part of the proposals for the encroaching development 
or there are other overriding benefits. 

 
8.44 In those parts of the Plan area covered by both County and District tier planning 

authorities, District Councils should consult with the County Council as minerals and 
waste planning authority before granting permission for non-exempt development in 
an area safeguarded for transport infrastructure.  Exemption criteria are set out in the 
sections dealing with Safeguarding and Consultation, later in this Chapter in para. 
8.55. 

 

Minerals Ancillary Infrastructure Safeguarding 
 

8.45 National planning policy encourages the safeguarding of minerals ancillary 
infrastructure and states that mineral planning authorities should safeguard existing, 
planned and potential sites for concrete batching, the manufacture of coated 

                                                
42 As referred to in the Yorkshire and Humber Marine Aggregate Study 2014 

ANNEX 1Page 370



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  171 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

materials and other concrete products and the handling, processing and distribution 
of substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate material.  

 
 

Policy S06: Minerals ancillary infrastructure safeguarding 
Minerals ancillary infrastructure sites identified on the Policies Map and in 
Appendix 2, with a 100m buffer zone, will be safeguarded against development 
which would prevent or unduly resrict the use of the site for minerals ancillary 
infrastructure purposes, unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of 
retaining the site; and 

ii) Where minerals ancillary infrastructure is in active use on the land, a 
suitable alternative location can be provided for the displaced 
infrastructure; or 

iii) The site is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it being used 
for minerals ancillary infrastructure in the foreseeable future; 

iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 
 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the 
Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, as set out in paragraph 8.55 is proposed 
within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where adequate 
mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing 
or proposed adjacent minerals ancillary infrastructure uses to an acceptable level, 
and the benefits of the proposed use outweigh any safeguarding considerations.   

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
District and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I02, D01, S03, S06  Objectives 3, 6, 7 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 44 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

8.46 In many cases, ancillary infrastructure is located at the site where the minerals that 
they wholly or partly depend upon are produced.  In these circumstances they are 
protected from being replaced by alternative forms of development by the associated 
minerals extraction permission and specific safeguarding is not required.  As 
minerals extraction sites tend to be located outside urban areas, the risk of 
encroachment by other conflicting development is also relatively low. 

 

8.47 In other cases, ancillary minerals infrastructure is located at free-standing sites which 
do not receive similar protection.  Such sites are typically on industrial estates where 
there may be a greater risk of competition from, or encroachment by, other forms of 
development which, if located in close proximity to the ancillary infrastructure, could 
impact on its future operation. 

 

8.48 In order to ensure that sites for minerals ancillary infrastructure are protected for the 
future, known free-standing ancillary infrastructure sites are therefore safeguarded in 
the Joint Plan.  Applicants for development which would result in the loss of a 
safeguarded facility should include information in their application to demonstrate 
how the safeguarded use will be protected, or why it is no longer appropriate for 
safeguarding, in line with the criteria in the policy.   

 

8.49 To protect safeguarded facilities from encroachment by other non-compatible 
development which may compromise the continued use of the site minerals ancillary 
infrastructure, for example development which may be sensitive to disturbance from 
noise or dust, a buffer zone around safeguarded facilities has also been identified.  A 

ANNEX 1Page 371



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  172 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

100m buffer zone is considered to be adequate to ensure that the potential for 
significant impacts is taken into account for these forms of development.  Where 
proposals for non-exempt development in these zones would not be compatible with 
the safeguarded use then permission will be refused unless suitable mitigation can 
be provided as part of the proposals for the encroaching development or there are 
other overriding benefits.  Where a safeguarded site is not in use, viability issues will 
be relevant in considering whether there is a reasonable prospect of the site being 
used for minerals ancillary infrastructure in the foreseeable future. 

8.50 In those parts of the Plan area covered by both County and District planning 
authorities, District Councils should consult with the County Council as minerals and 
waste planning authority before granting permission for non-exempt development in 
an area safeguarded for ancillary infrastructure.  Exemption criteria are set out later 
in this section 

 

Consultation Areas 
 
8.51 The following policy addresses the consultation process between the District and 

Borough Councils and the County Council within that part of the Plan area falling 
within NYCC, where development within the jurisdiction of the District or Borough is 
proposed in safeguarding areas identified in the Joint Plan.  This consultation 
process does not apply to all forms of development dealt with by District and Borough 
Councils.  A list of forms of development which are exempt from the process is 
provided later in this Chapter in para. 8.55. 

 

Policy S07: Consideration of applications in Consultation Areas 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the 
Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, as set out in paragraph 8.55, is proposed in 
an area safeguarded on the Policies Map for minerals resources, minerals 
transport infrastructure, minerals ancillary infrastructure and waste infrastructure, 
and the proposed development site is located outside the City of York and North 
York Moors National Park areas, consultation with North Yorkshire County Council 
will be required before permission is granted. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
and District and Borough Councils 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

S01, S02, S03, S04, S05  Objective 3 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 45 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
8.52 This policy only applies in those parts of the Plan area outside the City of York and 

North York Moors National Park unitary planning authority areas.  National policy 
states that Minerals Consultation Areas (MCAs) should be identified based upon 
areas defined as Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSA).  Within those areas District and 
Borough councils should consult the MPA and take account of any local minerals 
plan before determining a planning application for relevant non-minerals 
development within it. 

 

8.53 As well as safeguarding minerals resources, the Joint Plan safeguards minerals 
transport infrastructure and ancillary development, as well as important waste 
management infrastructure, in line with national policy.  It is therefore appropriate to 
identify, within the NYCC area, corresponding consultation areas for these 
safeguarded areas too.  Consultation will not be required where the development 
proposed is included in the list of exempt forms of development in para. 8.55 below.  

ANNEX 1Page 372



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  173 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

As with minerals resource safeguarding, the purpose of consultation is to help to 
ensure the implementation of the safeguarding policy requirements in those parts of 
the Plan area where there is a ‘two-tier’ planning structure. 

 
8.54 It is intended that consultation areas will be updated when the Joint Plan is reviewed, 

in order to ensure that it reflects the distribution of any new resources, sites or 
infrastructure that may be identified. 

 

Safeguarding Exemption Criteria 
 
8.55 The following application types will be regarded as ‘exempt’ development and, where 

proposed within an area safeguarded in the Joint Plan for surface minerals 
resources, minerals ancillary infrastructure, minerals transport infrastructure or waste 
infrastructure, do not require consideration under relevant safeguarding policies in 
the Plan: 

 Infilling in an otherwise built up frontage within a settlement 

 Householder applications within the curtilage of a property 

 Advertisement applications 

 Reserved matters applications 

 Applications for new or improved accesses 

 ‘Minor’ extensions/alterations to existing uses/buildings which do not 
fundamentally change the scale and character of the use/building 

 ‘Temporary’ development (for up to five years) 

 Agricultural buildings adjacent to existing farmsteads 

 ‘Minor’ works such as fences, bus shelters, gates, walls, accesses. 

 Amendments to current permissions (with no additional land take involved) 

 Changes of use 

 Applications for development on land which is already allocated in an adopted 
local plan where the plan took account of minerals, waste and minerals and 
waste transport infrastructure safeguarding requirements, or, in the case of 
emerging local plan allocations, where the Minerals and Waste Planning 
Authority has raised no safeguarding concerns during consultation on the 
emerging plan allocation. 

 Listed Building Consent and applications for planning permission for 
demolition in a conservation area 

 Applications for work on trees or removal of hedgerows  

 Prior notifications for telecommunications, forestry, agriculture and demolition 

 Redevelopment of previously developed land not increasing the footprint of 
the former development 

 Certificates of Lawfulness of Existing Use of Development and 

 Certificates of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or Development. 
 

Sites proposed for safeguarding 
 
8.48 Policies S04, S05 and S06 deal with the safeguarding of individual waste sites, 

transport infrastructure, (rail and wharves), and stand-alone minerals ancillary 
infrastructure.  The aim of safeguarding the sites is to protect them from replacement 
or from the encroachment of unsuitable development which could limit or stop the 
use of the site for minerals and waste activities. 

 
8.49 Location details and plans of the sites which are safeguarded under these policies 

are included in Appendix 2.  The individual plans in the appendix do not include the 
buffer zones referred to in the policies, but the relevant buffer zone for each site is 

ANNEX 1Page 373



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  174 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

shown on the Policies Map, which can be viewed at 
www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwconsult . 

 
Chapter 9: Development Management  

 
9.1 The following sections deal with a range of issues relevant to consideration of 

planning applications for minerals or waste development in the Plan area. 
 

Presumption in favour of sustainable minerals and waste 
development 
 

9.2 At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is the principle of sustainable 
development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through both plan 
making and decision-making.  This forms the basis of the Government’s ‘model 
policy’ on the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

 

Policy D01: Presumption in favour of sustainable minerals and 
waste development 
When considering development proposals the Authorities will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
contained in the NPPF.  The Authorities will always work proactively with 
applicants to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever 
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area. 
 
Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out 
of date then the Authority will grant permission unless: 

 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted 
such as policies relating to National Parks and AONBs.  Where proposals 
constitute major development in the National Park and AONBs they will be 
assessed against the requirements for major development in designated 
areas set out in Policy D04 of this Joint Plan. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

D02, D04  Objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 
7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 46 (see Appendix 3) 
 

Policy Justification 
 

9.3 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development does not apply where specific policies in the NPPF indicate that 
development should be restricted.  A footnote indicates that this includes National 

ANNEX 1Page 374

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/mwconsult


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  175 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Parks and AONBs, as well as certain other designations43.  The fact that around a 
third of the Plan area is within either the North York Moors National Park or one of 
the AONBs makes it appropriate to refer to these specifically in the Policy. 

 

9.4 In the National Park and AONBs, proposals for ‘major development’ (which is not 
defined in legislation or guidance) should be refused except in exceptional 
circumstances and where it can be demonstrated they are in the public interest.  
Within these parts of the Plan area, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development will need to be applied in the context of this clear policy.  As there is 
potential for minerals and waste development to constitute major development, it is 
considered appropriate to refer to this in the Policy.  

 

Development Management Criteria 
 
9.5 Planning law requires that planning applications be determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The NPPF 
states that local plans should contain development management policies for minerals 
development.  

 
9.6 There are a range of matters which need to be considered in determining planning 

applications for minerals and waste developments, in addition to the specific 
considerations relating to particular types of minerals and waste development and 
related infrastructure addressed in the preceding Chapters.  These include matters 
such as the protection of the environment and local communities and, where 
applicable, reclamation and aftercare requirements. 

 
9.7 The NPPF requires minerals plans to ‘set out environmental criteria to ensure that 

minerals operations do not have unacceptable impacts on the natural and historic 
environment or human health including from noise, dust, visual intrusion, traffic, tip 
and quarry slope stability, differential settlement of quarry backfill, mining 
subsidence, increased flood risk, impacts on the flow and quantity of surface and 
groundwater and migration of contamination from the site; and take into account the 
cumulative effects of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or a number of sites in 
a locality’.  National Waste Planning Policy requires planning authorities to give 
consideration to a range of effects including on water resources, land stability, visual 
intrusion, nature conservation, the historic environment, traffic and access, air 
emissions, dust, odour, vermin and birds, noise and vibration and litter. 

 
9.8 The following sections present a range of development management policies for 

minerals and waste development.  These policies operate alongside any other 
policies in the Joint Plan that are contained in the preceding Chapters.  

 
 

Local Amenity Issues 
 

9.9 Although essential forms of activity, minerals and waste developments can, as a 
result of the nature and sometimes scale of activity, have the potential to cause 
adverse impacts on the amenity of local communities (including residents, visitors 
and local businesses operating in those communities).  A key role for the Joint Plan 
is to help ensure that, where development does need to take place, it can be 
managed and controlled to ensure that unacceptable impacts on amenity do not 
arise. 

 

                                                
43 These include sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives, Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 
Green Belt, Local Green Space, Heritage Coast 

ANNEX 1Page 375



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  176 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy D02: Local amenity and cumulative impacts 
1)  Proposals for minerals and waste development, including ancillary 

development and minerals and waste transport infrastructure, will be permitted 
where it can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable impacts on the 
amenity of local communities and residents, local businesses and users of the 
public rights of way network and public open space including as a result of:  

 noise, 

 dust, 

 vibration, 

 odour, 

 emissions to air, land or water 

 visual intrusion, 

 site lighting 

 vermin, birds and litter  

 subsidence and land instability 

 public health and safety 

 disruption to the public rights of way network 

 the effect of the development on opportunities for enjoyment and 
understanding of the special qualities of the National Park 

 cumulative effects arising from one or more of the above at a single site 
and/or as a result of a number of sites operating in the locality 
 

Proposals will be expected as a first priority to prevent adverse impacts through 
avoidance, with the use of robust mitigation measures where avoidance is not 
practicable. 
 
2)  Applicants are encouraged to conduct early and meaningful engagement with 

local communities in line with Statements of Community Involvement prior to 
submission of an application and to reflect the outcome of those discussions in 
the design of proposals as far as practicable. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic policies in Chapter 5, 6 and 7, D02, D03, D06, D07, 
D08, D09, D10, D11 

Objectives 9, 10, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 47 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.10 The potentially harmful impacts of minerals and waste proposals can often be 

avoided or minimised through careful siting, design and operational practices.  This 
can include use of mitigation measures such as acoustic and screening bunds, 
screen planting, dust suppression systems and sensitive placement of site lighting. 
Applicants should give careful consideration to these and other relevant matters 
when bringing forward proposals, having regard also to any relevant national 
guidance and standards.  Minerals development, which often takes place in rural 
areas, can involve the extensive development of land and in some instances can 
impact directly or indirectly on the public rights of way network or use of public open 
space.  Proposals should, where relevant, provide for the protection of the rights of 
way network and the amenity of users of the network and open space including, 
where necessary, through the provision of suitable temporary or permanent 
alternatives.  Some impacts may have a cumulative effect alongside other impacts 
associated with the proposed development, or in association with impacts from other 
nearby development.  In some cases such effects may be ‘synergistic’ (i.e. in 

ANNEX 1Page 376



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  177 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

combination the effects amount to more than the sum of the individual effects).  Such 
effects will also need to be taken into account by applicants bringing forward 
development proposals and by the Planning Authorities in taking decisions.  Where it 
is not practicable to avoid an unacceptable level of impact, permission for new 
development will need to be refused.  The requirements of this Policy apply 
alongside any more specific local amenity considerations identified in the minerals 
and waste specific policies in Chapters 5 and 6.  Impacts on local amenity as a result 
of minerals and waste transport are addressed in Policy D03. Other policies in this 
Chapter deal with a range of impacts on matters such as the historic environment 
and landscape and will be applied, where relevant, when proposals are being 
considered. 

 
9.11 Some activities, which may otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, may be 

necessary in the short-term to facilitate minerals extraction, including some noisy 
short-term operations such as soil and overburden stripping and therefore some 
flexibility will be required when setting noise limits.  Regard will be had to any 
national guidance and standards in establishing such limits, with the objective of 
establishing a high standard of protection. 

 
9.12 In many cases, particularly for larger scale development, it is beneficial for 

developers to have early discussions with local communities in the vicinity of the 
proposed development site.  This can help to ensure that local concerns and 
opportunities are taken into account in the design of the scheme, including any 
mitigation measures proposed.  Early communication between potential applicants 
and local communities is supported in the Statements of Community Involvement 
adopted by the three Authorities and is also supported by national policy and 
guidance.  Prospective applicants for planning permission are therefore strongly 
encouraged to carry out consultation with local communities in advance of 
submission of an application and, where practicable, reflect the outcome of that 
consultation in the design and implementation of the scheme.  

 
9.13 Planning authorities are advised in national Planning Practice Guidance not to 

duplicate other statutory means of pollution control.  Examples include the issuing of 
environmental permits for waste operations and crushing plant, and the control of 
statutory noise nuisance. The Authorities will liaise with other agencies including the 
Environment Agency and, where applicable, District Council Environmental Health 
Departments, on such matters.    However, certain pollution control matters can also 
be relevant when determining minerals and waste planning applications, particularly 
where they are relevant to the use and development of land for example, those 
impacting on public health.  Applicants are advised to have early discussions with the 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority other relevant regulatory authorities to ensure 
a coordinated approach. With regard to development that is required by The Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 to be 
accompanied by an environmental statement, a developer needs to include in the 
statement a description of the likely significant effects of the development resulting 
from, inter alia, the risk to human health.  In determining such applications 
consideration will be given, where appropriate to the case, as to whether specific 
monitoring measures may be required, as part of a decision granting planning 
permission, by means of a planning condition or planning obligation (as applicable), 
to monitor identified significant adverse effects on the environment arising from 
proposed EIA development (which may include health effects if applicable). 

 

Transport of minerals and waste and associated traffic impacts 
 
9.14 The provision and safeguarding of transport infrastructure, to encourage a shift away 

from road transport towards greater use of alternative forms of transport, has been 

ANNEX 1Page 377



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  178 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

considered earlier in the Joint Plan (see chapters 7 and 8).  This section considers 
potential impacts associated with transport of minerals and waste. 

9.15 Impacts from road haulage associated with waste and minerals development can 
include adverse effects on traffic congestion and highway safety and impacts on local 
amenity including through increased noise, dust and vibration where heavy vehicles 
pass through local communities or other sensitive locations.  Air quality can also be 
affected e.g. through the use of heavy diesel fuels.  It will therefore be important for 
any proposals involving additional traffic generation to address potential impacts and 
for adequate control measures to be used if necessary. 

Policy D03: Transport of minerals and waste and associated 
traffic impacts 
1)  Where practicable minerals and waste movements should utilise alternatives to 

road transport including rail, water, pipeline or conveyor. 
 
     Where road transport is necessary, proposals will be permitted where: 

 There is capacity within the existing network for the level of traffic proposed 
and the nature, volume and routing of traffic generated by the development 
would not have an unacceptable impact on local communities, businesses 
or other users of the highways network, or any such impacts can be 
appropriately mitigated, for example by traffic controls, highway 
improvements and traffic routing arrangements; and 

 Access arrangements are appropriate to the volume and nature of any road 
traffic generated and safe and suitable access can be achieved for all users 
of the site, including the needs of non-motorised users, where relevant; and 

 There are suitable arrangements in place for on-site manoeuvring, parking 
and loading/unloading. 

 
Where access infrastructure improvements are needed to ensure that the 
requirements above can be compiled with, information on the nature, timing 
and delivery of these should be included within the proposals. 

 
2)  For all proposals generating significant levels of road traffic, a transport 

assessment and green travel plan will also be required to demonstrate that 
opportunities for sustainable transport and travel have been considered and 
will be implemented where practicable.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, CYC and NYMNPA and 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic policies in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 and Policies D03, 
D06, D07, D08 

Objectives 6, 7, 8, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 48 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.16 Whilst national policy encourages greater use of alternatives to road transport it is 

recognised that, in the Plan area, sources of supply and demand for minerals are 
relatively dispersed, as are locations of waste arisings and management. 
Furthermore, use of alternative modes of transport may not always represent a more 
sustainable option, depending on the circumstances in any individual case.  These 
factors, together with a relative absence of existing infrastructure in many parts of the 
Plan area to support the use of alternatives to road transport, suggests that road 
haulage will remain the main means of transport for the foreseeable future.  Whilst 
use of alternative modes where practicable is therefore encouraged, it is also 

ANNEX 1Page 378



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  179 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

important to ensure that road transport is as sustainable as possible and controlled 
so as to minimise any adverse impacts.  Vehicle movements can have a range of 
impacts, including cumulative impacts, such as on local amenity and in some cases 
on the landscape and tranquillity. Air quality can also be adversely affected, 
particularly in locations where Air Quality Management Areas have been identified 
and other development management policies in the Joint Plan will therefore also be 
relevant in some circumstances. 

 
9.17 It will be important for any proposals involving additional traffic generation to address 

potential impacts and for adequate control measures to be applied if necessary.  
Where additional movements are likely to be significant, applications should be 
accompanied by a transport assessment including a green travel plan.  The purpose 
of these assessments is to help to give full consideration to measures that will ensure 
that the proposed transport arrangements for the minerals or waste involved, and the 
means of access to the site by staff and visitors, are as sustainable as possible.  
Prospective applicants are advised to contact the relevant planning authority at an 
early stage to establish whether a transport assessment and green travel plan is 
likely to be required in support of a particular proposal.   

 
Protection of Important Assets 
 

National Parks and AONBs 
 
9.18 National Parks are designated under the National Parks and Access to the 

Countryside Act 1949.  The North York Moors National Park was designated 
primarily for its landscape quality and diversity, and also hosts a variety of important 
habitats and thousands of historic assets, as well as providing opportunities for 
outdoor recreation, enjoying impressive views and experiencing peace and 
tranquillity.   

 
9.19 The statutory purposes of National Parks, as set out in the Environment Act 1995 

are:  

 To ‘conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of 
the Park’; and 

 To ‘promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the Park by the public’. 

 

In pursuing these two purposes the 1995 Act also places a duty on National Park 
Authorities ‘to seek to foster the economic and social well-being of local 
communities’.  
 

9.20 The North York Moors National Park Authority Core Strategy and Development 
Policies document, which provides the overarching planning policy for the National 
Park, is framed around delivering these National Park purposes and achieving 
sustainable development within that context. The North York Moors National Park 
Management Plan sets out the long-term vision for the National Park and promoting 
the special qualities of the National Park. 

 
9.21 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are also established under the National Parks 

and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 and are designated for the quality of their 
flora, fauna, historical and cultural associations as well as scenic views.  The 
landscapes of AONBs are defined as having the same value and level of protection 
as those of National Parks.  The Nidderdale AONB is recognised for its heather 
moorland to the west, where it abuts the Yorkshire Dales National Park, and its 

ANNEX 1Page 379



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  180 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

rolling farmland landscapes to the east.  The Howardian Hills AONB is recognised for 
its woodland, rolling agricultural landscapes and parkland.  Small parts of the Forest 
of Bowland AONB, characterised by upland fells and vast tracts of heather moorland, 
and the North Pennines AONB, characterised by extensive and remote high 
moorland and upland dales, are within the Plan area.  The primary purpose of ANOB 
designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty. In pursuing the primary 
purpose of designation, account should be taken of the needs of agriculture, forestry 
and other rural industries and of the economic and social needs to communities. 
Particular regard should be paid to promoting sustainable forms of social and 
economic development that in themselves conserve and enhance the environment. 
Recreation is not an objective of designation, but the demand for recreation should 
be met so far as it is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty and the needs 
of agriculture, forestry and other uses. 

 
9.22 Around a third of the Plan area is within either the North York Moors National Park or 

one of the area’s AONBs, and its western boundary adjoins the Yorkshire Dales 
National Park.  The NPPF requires great weight to be given to conserving landscape 
and scenic beauty in the National Parks and AONBs.  In the National Park the 
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations and 
should be given great weight.  The NPPF also states that in determining planning 
applications, local planning authorities should, as far as practicable, provide for the 
maintenance of landbanks for non-energy minerals from outside National Parks and 
AONBs (as well as outside World Heritage sites, Scheduled Monuments and 
Conservation Areas) and this is considered earlier in the Joint Plan in Chapter 5 . 

 

Policy D04: Development affecting the North York Moors 
National Park and the AONBs 
Part 1) – Major minerals and waste development 
 
Proposals for major development in the National Park, Howardian Hills, 
Nidderdale, North Pennines and Forest of Bowland Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty should be refused except in exceptional circumstances and where it can be 
demonstrated it is in the public interest.  The demonstration of exceptional 
circumstances and public interest will require justification based on the following: 

a) The need for the development, which can include a national need for the 
mineral or the waste facility and the contribution of the development to the 
national economy; and 

b) The impact of permitting it, or refusing, it upon the local economy which 
includes that of the National Park or AONB; and 

c) Whether,in terms of cost and scope the development can viably and 
technically be located elsewhere outside the designated area, or the need 
for it can be met in some other way; and 

d) The extent to which any detrimental effect on the environment, the 
landscape and recreational opportunities, can be moderated.  

e)  
Where there are exceptional circumstances and the proposal is considered to be 
in the public interest, every effort to avoid adverse effects will be required. 
Particular consideration will be given to the extent to which the proposal may 
affect the qualities which contributed to the designation of the landscape.  Where 
adverse effects cannot be avoided, harm should be minimised through appropriate 
mitigation measures.  Appropriate and practicable compensation will be required 
for any unavoidable effects which cannot be mitigated. 
 
Part 2) – All other developments 
 

ANNEX 1Page 380



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  181 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Planning permission will be supported where proposals contribute to the 
achievement of, or are consistent with, the aims, policies and aspirations of the 
relevant Management Plan and are consistent with other relevant development 
management policies in the Joint Plan.  
 
Part 3) – Proposals which impact the setting of Designated Areas 
 
Proposals for development outside of the National Parks and AONBs will not 
usually be permitted where it would have an unacceptable harmful effect on the 
setting of the designated area.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC and NYMNPA and 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, D01, D06, D07, D08, D11 Objectives 6, 9, 10  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 49 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 

 
9.23 The NPPF states that great weight should be given to conserving the landscape and 

scenic beauty in National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which 
have the highest status of protection in relation to these matters. 

 
9.24 Major development in or adjacent to the boundary of a National Park or AONB can 

have a significant impact on the qualities for which the area was designated.  
National planning guidance states that what constitutes major development in 
National Parks and AONBs is a matter for the decision maker.  Whether an 
application is considered as major development will depend on its nature, scale and 
location and the extent to which it has more than a local impact.  It should be noted 
that major development in terms of paragraph 116 of the NPPF is not the same as 
that defined under the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order  2015.  For this reason, Policy D04 seeks to give further 
local guidance on the approach to be taken to this issue. 

 
9.25 For major development in the National Park and AONBs, the four strands of the 

major development test need to be addressed in order to determine whether the 
proposal represents an exceptional circumstance and is in the ‘public interest’.  One 
of the main considerations in this assessment, where relating to proposals for 
minerals extraction, should be the need for the resource itself, including at a national 
level, and whether there are alternative sources available to meet any national need. 
The potential for a specific mineral to be extracted on a national basis only from 
within the National Park or AONB will be a relevant consideration when assessing 
need. The outcome of these considerations will then, where relevant, need to be 
assessed in accordance with the Habitats Regulations and other relevant policies 
contained in this Joint Plan and the NPPF.  Applicants will be expected to supply 
sufficient information to demonstrate robustly that proposals fulfil the requirements of 
the major development test. Proposals should be designed to avoid adverse impacts 
(including cumulative impacts) on the special qualities of the National Park, though 
because of the inherent nature and scale of major development it is unlikely that 
impacts can be moderated to a level where significant adverse effects can be 
completely avoided.  A proposal that is likely to harm a National Park or AONB to the 
extent that it compromises the reason for its designation is unlikely to be regarded as 
being in the public interest. The North York Moors has an existing potash mine and a 
second mine is under construction which in terms of volume of production is stated to 
become the largest potash mine in the world. Other significant major developments 
have also been located in the National Park such as RAF Fylingdales and there is 

ANNEX 1Page 381



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  182 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

growing pressure on the southern part of the Park from the hydrocarbons industry. 
Cumulatively it is considered that the impact of these large scale developments of an 
industrial nature are starting to impact on the special qualities of the National Park, 
particularly in terms of far reaching open moorland views, remoteness and a sense of 
wildness and tranquillity which were important reasons for its designation.  

9.26 Section 11A(2) of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, 
Section 17A of the Norfolk and Suffolk Broads Act 1988 and Section 85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 require that ‘in exercising or performing any 
functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land’ in National Parks and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, relevant authorities ‘shall have regard’ to their purposes. 
The duty applies to all public bodies, not just National Park Authorities.  Planning 
guidance states that this duty is relevant when considering development proposals 
situated outside National Parks or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty boundaries, 
but which might have an impact on and implementation of, the statutory purposes of 
these protected areas.  

9.27 When considering the setting of National Parks and AONBs the issue is not whether 
the proposal will be seen but whether its scale, nature and location will detract from 
the special qualities of the area.  One of the purposes of National Park designation is 
to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities 
of the Park by the public.  This purpose can be significantly eroded by development 
located outside the National Park boundary, especially where the development would 
be prominent in the context of the views into and out of the Park, particularly from 
important public rights of way, or where it would harm tranquillity and impact on the 
dark night skies.  Applicants will be expected to demonstrate that proposals will not 
harm the special qualities of the AONBs and the North York Moors National Park.  
Although the Yorkshire Dales National Park is producing its own development plan 
for minerals and waste, consideration also needs to be given to the potential for any 
impact on the setting of this National Park as a result of proposals in the Plan area.  

 

Green Belt 

 
9.28 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts.  The NPPF advises that 

when considering planning applications for development in such areas, substantial 
weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt.   

Policy D05: Minerals and waste development in the Green Belt 
Part 1) - Minerals 
 
Proposals for minerals development within the York and West Yorkshire Green 
Belts will be supported where it would be consistent with the purposes of Green 
Belt identified in national policy and  the openness of the Green Belt and, where 
the proposed development is located within the York Green Belt, it would preserve 
the historic character and setting of York.  Where minerals extraction in the Green 
Belt is permitted, reclamation and afteruse will be required to be compatible with 
Green Belt objectives.   
 
Part 2) - Waste 
 
Proposals for waste development that include the construction of new buildings in 
the Green Belt will be considered inappropriate. 
Substantial weight will be given to any harm to the Green Belt and very special 
circumstances, will need to be demonstrated by the applicant, in order to outweigh 
harm caused by inappropriateness, and any other harm. 

ANNEX 1Page 382

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/4/section/17A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  183 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Proposals for other forms of waste development which would result in an adverse 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt or on the purposes of including land 
within the Green Belt, including those elements which contribute to the historic 
character and setting of York, will only be permitted in very special circumstances, 
which must be demonstrated by the applicant, in which the harm is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 
 
The following forms of waste development may be permitted in the Green Belt 
provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the 
purposes of including land in the Green Belt, including those elements which 
contribute to the historic character and setting of York: 

i) open windrow composting; 
ii) individual farm-scale on-farm composting and anaerobic digestion; 
iii) recycling of construction and demolition waste in order to produce recycled 

aggregate where it would take place in an active quarry or minerals 
transport site and is linked to the life of the quarry or site; 

iv) short term waste sorting and recycling activity in association with, and on 
the same site as, other permitted demolition and construction activity; 

v) recycling, transfer and treatment activities at established industrial and 
employment sites in the Green Belt where the waste development would be 
consistent with the scale and nature of other activities already taking place 
at the site; 

vi) landfill of quarry voids including for the purposes of quarry reclamation and 
where the site would be restored to an after use compatible with the 
purposes of Green Belt designation; 

vii) small scale deposit of inert waste for agricultural improvement purposes or 
the improvement of derelict or degraded land; and 

viii) continued activities within the footprint of established waste sites in the 
Green Belt. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC and CYC and 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

I01 M16, M17, W03, W04, D10 Objectives 9, 12  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 50 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.29 There are significant areas of Green Belt in the Plan area, including parts of the West 

Yorkshire Green Belt (affecting parts of Selby District and Harrogate Borough) and 
the York Green Belt (affecting parts of Ryedale, Hambleton and Selby Districts as 
well as the City of York area).  A detailed inner Green Belt boundary for York is yet to 
be defined, along with parts of the outer boundary.  The City of York Green Belt is 
different to the West Yorkshire Green Belt in that it is one of only six Green Belts in 
England whose primary purpose is to safeguard the character and setting of a 
historic city.  Although the York Green Belt performs some of the other Green Belt 
functions to some extent, these are not as important as its primary purpose. 

 
9.30 Minerals extraction can only take place where suitable resources occur and there is 

significant overlap between the distribution of some resources (such as Magnesian 
Limestone) and the Green Belt.  There are a number of long established quarries in 
the Green Belt in Selby District.  National policy states that minerals extraction in the 
Green Belt is not inappropriate provided the openness of the Green Belt is preserved 
and where it would not conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt.  
The purposes of the Green Belt as defined in national policy include: 

 to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas; 

ANNEX 1Page 383



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  184 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 

 to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 
other urban land 

 
9.31 It is likely that in many cases suitably designed, landscaped and restored minerals 

workings can be accommodated in the Green Belt.  Where proposals for extraction in 
the Green Belt are made, applicants should ensure that careful consideration has 
been given to the potential impact of the development on the openness of the Green 
Belt and the purposes of the relevant Green Belt designation, including the impact 
from any associated plant and infrastructure.  Particular consideration should be 
given to the impact of proposals for the exploration, appraisal and development of 
hydrocarbons, including unconventional gas resources in the Green Belt, owing to 
the particular characteristics of, and potential impacts associated with, this form of 
development.  These can include the need for tall structures associated with drilling 
and related appraisal activity and, potentially, the need for multiple well pads to 
access the resource.  In all cases appropriate design and mitigation measures should 
be incorporated, where necessary and it will also be necessary to ensure that any 
proposed reclamation and afteruse is compatible with Green Belt objectives.  

 
9.32 In this regard, it should be noted that mineral workings subject to a restoration 

condition are specifically excluded from the definition of Previously Developed Land 
in the NPPF (Annex 2) and therefore do not benefit from any additional flexibility 
afforded to previously developed land in the Green Belt, in terms of any further uses 
that may be acceptable.  The primary aim of the restoration and aftercare of sites in 
the Green Belt should be to ensure that the site remains in an undeveloped state and 
returned to the condition and use that existed prior to minerals development or other 
use compatible with Green Belt objectives. 

9.33 Waste management activities are generally not constrained by geology in the same 
way as minerals extraction and there is therefore more locational flexibility.  However, 
other national policy has a bearing on the choice of locations for waste management,  
including the need to promote community responsibility in the management of waste 
and to reduce travel.  As a result there can be benefits in ensuring that waste 
facilities are well-located in relation to main sources of arisings, which tend to be in 
the more urbanised parts of the Plan area, to help to reduce the need for transport.  
There can also be benefits in using established infrastructure effectively.  As Green 
Belt is designated in association with larger urban areas there can be some conflict 
between identifying suitable locations for waste facilities, and protection of the Green 
Belt.   

 
9.34 National waste planning policy indicates that planning authorities should first look for 

suitable sites and areas outside the Green Belt for waste management facilities that, 
if located in the Green Belt, would be inappropriate development and local planning 
authorities should recognise the particular locational needs of some types of waste 
management facilities when preparing their Local Plan.  This suggests that some 
forms of waste development might be permissible in the Green Belt, in the 
circumstances of a particular case. 

 
9.35 In order to provide local guidance on this matter, the policy identifies a number of 

types of waste management activities and types of locations where waste 
development may be permitted, provided that openness is maintained and the 
development would be consistent with the purposes for which the land is included in 
the Green Belt.  

 

ANNEX 1Page 384



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  185 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.36 The Harewood Whin (WJP11) site in the City of York is a well-established waste 
facility in the general extent of York’s Green Belt, where a range of waste 
management activities are taking place.  The site plays an important strategic role in 
the management of waste arising in York and North Yorkshire and is located in close 
proximity to York as the largest urban centre in the Plan area.  It is considered that 
further development within the footprint of existing sites such as this could be 
appropriate in principle provided that any existing impact on openness, or extent of 
conflict with the purposes of Green Belt designation associated with the site would 
not be significantly increased.  

 
9.37 The North Selby Mine (WJP02) site is also allocated within the general extent of 

York’s Green Belt. This site holds an unimplemented permission for a substantial 
anaerobic digestion facility, which was approved as it was considered compatible 
with the site’s continued location within the Green Belt.  

 
9.38 Land to the west of Newlands Lane (WJP05) is also allocated within the Green Belt 

as a site for waste disposal to support the restoration of the site following the 
extraction of engineering clay.  A number of other established waste management 
sites are also located in the West Yorkshire Green Belt within Selby District. 

 
9.39 As with minerals development, where proposals for waste development in the Green 

Belt are made, applicants should ensure that careful consideration has been given to 
the design of the development and that mitigation measures are incorporated where 
necessary. 

 

Landscape 
 
9.40 The Plan area has a rich and varied landscape ranging from moorland to rolling 

farmland to low-lying areas, and seascapes characterised by high cliffs.  Landscape 
is defined by the European Landscape Convention as ‘An area as perceived by 
people, whose character is the result of the action and interaction of natural and/or 
human factors’.  

Policy D06: Landscape 
1)  All landscapes will be protected from the harmful effects of development. 

Proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no 
unacceptable impact on the quality and/or character of the landscape, having 
taken into account any proposed mitigation measures. 

 
2)  For proposals which may impact on nationally designated areas including the 

National Park, AONBs, and the adjacent Yorkshire Dales National Park, a very 
high level of protection to landscape will be required.  Development which 
would have an unacceptable landscape impact on these areas will not be 
permitted. 

 
3)  Protection will also be afforded to the historic character and setting of York and 

to areas defined as Heritage Coast.  Permission will only be granted where it 
would not lead to an unacceptable impact on the historic character or setting of 
York or on the undeveloped character of Heritage Coast, unless the need for, or 
benefits of, the development outweigh the harm caused.  

 
4) Where proposals may have an adverse impact on landscape, tranquillity or 

dark night skies, schemes should provide for a high standard of design and 
mitigation, having regard to landscape character, the wider landscape context 
and setting of the site and any visual impact, as well as for the delivery of 
landscape enhancement where practicable. 

ANNEX 1Page 385



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  186 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste Industry and Natural England 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic policies in Chapters 5, 6, and 7 Objectives 9, 12  

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 51 (see Appendix 3) 

 

Policy Justification 
 
9.41 The variety of landscapes in the area adds much to its overall distinctiveness.  A 

large part of the area is designated or defined nationally (as either National Park or 
AONB or Heritage Coast) for the quality of its landscape, and some District and 
Borough Councils have identified local areas of landscape value in their own local 
plans.  A range of other designations are of relevance to landscape considerations, 
including heritage land which is conditionally exempt from inheritance tax because of 
its national significance44.  Unlike National Parks and AONBs, Heritage Coast is not 
classed as a nationally designated landscape.  Its definition is non-statutory, and can 
only be made with the agreement of local authorities and landowners, and agreed by 
Natural England.  The North Yorkshire and Cleveland Heritage Coast falls mainly 
within the Plan area, with approximately 70% of the defined area falling within the 
North York Moors National Park.  However, the southern and northern parts do not 
benefit from protection via National Park designation.  A small part of the 
Flamborough Head Heritage Coast also falls within the Plan area.  The NPPF (para 
114) requires local planning authorities to ‘maintain the character of the undeveloped 
coast, protecting and enhancing its distinctive landscapes, particularly in areas 
defined as Heritage Coast, and improve public access and enjoyment of the coast’.  
Such areas are therefore afforded a relatively high level of significance in national 
policy terms.  Maintaining the setting of the historic City of York is also an important 
landscape consideration as it is not the subject of specific statutory protection yet is a 
distinctive and important part of the Plan area.  The Vale of York has a flat and low 
lying landscape with historic views of York Minster tower, Terry’s clock tower and 
other landmark structures45 and this setting within the landscape forms an intrinsic 
part of the city’s historical significance.  In considering impact on landscape setting, 
regard will be had to factors including the scale and character of the development 
proposed, any inter-visibility between the development site and the protected asset 
and the duration of the proposed development.   

 
9.42 Although areas afforded specific protection through designations are of particular 

significance, all landscapes are important in their own right.  Due to their nature and 
sometimes scale, minerals and waste developments can have significant impacts on 
the landscape.  It is therefore important that, in bringing forward proposals, applicants 
give careful consideration to potential landscape impacts.  In some parts of the Plan 
area, areas of locally important landscapes have been identified in other local plans.  
Where these continue to form part of the statutory development plan, and are 
relevant to a proposal which fails to be determined by the relevant minerals and 
waste planning authority, regard will be had to the requirements of any associated 
local plan policy. 

 
9.43 There are a number of Landscape Character Assessments (LCAs) covering the Plan 

area, including those produced by District and Borough councils, which provide a 
useful source of information relating to the various landscapes in the area.  In 

                                                
44 These areas are not identified under planning legislation but may be material considerations relevant to 
planning.  A number of such areas have been designated in the Plan area.  They largely coincide with areas 
already designated as National Park and AONB, where a high level of policy protection already exists. However 
some are found elsewhere in the Plan area.  Areas currently so designated can be viewed at 
https://www.gov.uk/tax-relief-for-national-heritage-assets . 
45 Further information can be found in the City of York Council Heritage Topic Paper update 2013 

ANNEX 1Page 386

https://www.gov.uk/tax-relief-for-national-heritage-assets


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  187 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

addition to the LCAs, a Historic Seascape Characterisation for the Scarborough to 
Hartlepool coastline is currently being undertaken by Historic England and a North 
Yorkshire and Lower Tees Valley Historic Landscape Characterisation programme 
has been produced.  Within the National Park and AONBs relevant information may 
also be available in their respective Management Plans.  Applicants should use any 
available local landscape studies and other relevant information to assist in 
identifying any potential landscape impacts and mitigation. 

 
9.44 In particular, such studies can assist in gaining a wider understanding of the 

significance of a location or settlement in landscape terms, and how a development 
proposal may impact not just on the immediate site but on any wider area it may 
influence.  Careful consideration should therefore be given to the wider landscape 
setting and context of the site, both designated and undesignated, when designing 
schemes (including any mitigation).  In some cases there may be opportunities to 
enhance local landscape character and quality, for example through landscape 
planting both on and offsite and as part of minerals site reclamation and applicants 
should look for opportunities to provide these as part of any proposals. 

 
9.45 A study commissioned by NYCC with funding from Historic England in 2010 

suggested that landscape provides an important context within which other important 
assets are found, particularly those relating to biodiversity and the historic 
environment.  It is therefore important to ensure that proposals are informed by a 
good understanding of any such interactions, as this can lead to a more integrated 
approach when considering overall impacts and opportunities.  The report also 
highlights the need for effective mitigation and management of any landscape 
impacts, and the need to ensure that connections between landscape and the natural 
and historic environment are considered and reflected in the design and 
implementation of proposals.  For major schemes this is likely to require detailed pre-
application research and discussion with relevant organisations.  More information on 
the study can be found in the summary report 
http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/article/26667/Local-core-documents---managing-
landscape-change-project-April-2012 . 

 
9.46 An important aspect of the environment of the Plan area, of relevance when 

considering landscape impact, is the concept of tranquillity.  Tranquillity mapping 
undertaken for CPRE in 2007 indicated that North Yorkshire was the 7th most tranquil 
of 117 County and Unitary authority areas, with a high degree of tranquillity 
particularly in the National Parks and AONBs and other less developed parts of the 
Plan area.  A more recent survey by CPRE indicated that 72% of respondents 
identified tranquillity as the characteristic they valued most about the countryside, 
and protection of tranquil areas is an objective of the Management Plan for the 
NYMNP.  Although tranquillity cannot be measured in any definitive way, the 
potential for a development proposal to impact adversely on tranquillity will be a 
matter to be taken into account when considering applications, particularly those 
located within or in close proximity to the National Park and AONBs.  

 
9.47 A further consideration related to landscape, and which could potentially be impacted 

by minerals or waste development, particularly in the more rural areas, is the 
maintenance of dark night skies.  The relatively undeveloped nature of large parts of 
the Plan area, particularly within the National Park and AONBs, mean that there are 
substantial areas with low levels of light pollution, leading to high-quality starscapes 
at night which are increasingly rare in England.  Proposals for minerals or waste 
development, particularly those with a requirement for significant amounts of external 
lighting and which are situated in rural locations should ensure that the impact of 
development on dark night skies is considered and that mitigation in the form of 
carefully designed and controlled site lighting is provided where necessary. 

ANNEX 1Page 387

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/article/26667/Local-core-documents---managing-landscape-change-project-April-2012
http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/article/26667/Local-core-documents---managing-landscape-change-project-April-2012


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  188 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
9.48 In those parts of the Plan area designated as National Park or AONBs, any proposals 

for major development will also need to satisfy the major development test.  Effects 
on the landscape are a specific consideration under the test. 

 

Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 
9.49 The NPPF requires protection and enhancement of biodiversity by ‘minimising 

impacts and providing net gains where possible, contributing to the Government’s 
commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing 
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures’.  
The NPPF also requires planning authorities to set criteria-based policies against 
which proposals for any development on or affecting protected wildlife sites will be 
judged.  Plans should also be positive for the creation, protection, enhancement and 
management of networks of biodiversity and green infrastructure at a landscape 
scale.  Protection of geodiversity is also an objective of national planning policy. 

 

Policy  D07: Biodiversity and geodiversity 
1)  Proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that, having taken 

into account any proposed mitigation measures, there will be no unacceptable 
impacts on biodiversity or geodiversity. The level of protection provided to 
international, national and locally designated sites are outlined in parts 2) to 8) 
below. 

 
2)  A very high level of protection will be afforded to sites designated at an 

international level, including SPAs, SACs and RAMSAR sites.  Development 
which would have an unacceptable impact on these sites will not be permitted. 

 
3) Development, whether inside or outside of a SSSI  which is likely to have an 

adverse effect on the notified special interest features of a SSSI or a broader 
impact on the national network of SSSIs will only be permitted where the 
benefits of the development at that location clearly outweigh the impact to the 
SSSI features and the broader SSSI network. The loss or deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats including ancient woodland or aged or veteran trees, will 
only be permitted where both the need for, and the benefits of the development 
at the proposed location clearly outweigh the impact or loss. 
 

4) Where development would be located within an Impact Risk Zone defined by 
Natural England for a SPA, SAC, RAMSAR site or SSSI, or at any other location 
at which it could have an adverse impact on the SPA, SAC, RAMSAR site or 
SSSI,  and the development is of a type identified by Natural England as one 
which could potentially have an adverse impact on the designated site, 
proposals should be accompanied by a detailed assessment of the potential 
impacts and include proposals for mitigation and enhancement where relevant. 

 
5)  Locally important sites and assets include: 

i. Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (including candidate sites); 
ii. Local Nature Reserves; 

iii. Local Geological Sites; and  
iv. Habitats and species of principal importance or other sites of geological or 

geomorphological importance.  
 
Development will not be permitted that will result in an unacceptable impact to 
locally important sites and assets unless it can be demonstrated that: 

ANNEX 1Page 388



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  189 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 the benefits of development clearly outweigh the nature conservation value or 
scientific interest of the site and its contribution to wider biodiversity 
objectives and connectivity; and  

 the proposed mitigation or compensatory measures are equivalent to the 
value of the site/asset. 

 
6) Through the design of schemes, including any proposed mitigation and or 

compensation measures, proposals should seek to contribute positively 
towards the delivery of agreed biodiversity and/or geodiversity objectives, 
including those set out in agreed local Biodiversity or Geodiversity Action 
Plans, or in line with agreed priorities of any relevant Local Nature Partnership, 
with the aim of achieving net gains for biodiversity or geodiversity and 
supporting the development of resilient ecological networks.  

 
7) In exceptional circumstances, and where the development site giving rise to the 

requirement for offsetting is not located within a SPA, SAC, RAMSAR or SSSI, 
the principle of biodiversity offsetting to fully compensate for any losses will be 
supported on a site by site basis and as a last resort in accordance with the 
mitigation hierarchy.  These circumstances specifically include where: 
i)      It has been demonstrated that it is not possible to fully avoid or mitigate 

against adverse impacts; and 
ii) The provision of compensatory habitat within the site would not be feasible; 

and 
iii) The need for and the benefits of the development in the proposed location 

outweigh the need to protect the site; and 
iv) Any compensatory gains would be delivered within the minerals or waste 

planning authority area in which the loss occurred, unless otherwise agreed 
by the planning authority. Compensatory gains outside of the planning 
authority area will only be deemed as acceptable where it is clearly 
demonstrable that the approach will lead to greater biodiversity and/or 
geodiversity benefits than alternative options within the planning authority 
area. 
 

8)  Proposals must consider the cumulative impacts as a result of a combination 
of individual impacts from the same development and/or through combinations 
of impacts in conjunction with other development. Proposals will only be 
permitted where it would not give rise to unacceptable cumulative impacts. 

 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry, District and Borough Councils Local Nature Partnerships, 
Local Geodiversity Partnerships. 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapters 5, 6,and 7, D02, D04, D05, 
D08, D09, D10, D12 

Objectives 9, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 52 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.50 The biological and geological diversity of the Plan area is an integral part of its 

natural environment.  A large proportion of the Plan area’s natural environment is 
designated or protected at European, national or local level for the importance of its 
habitats and/or species.  There are also many non-designated areas that 
nevertheless provide valuable habitats or form important parts of wider ecological 
networks.  Protected species may live outside designated areas and many of these 
are also protected by law.  Whilst there are many biodiversity sites and assets in the 

ANNEX 1Page 389



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  190 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

area, there are also a smaller number of geological SSSIs and regionally important 
geological sites which are protected. In addition to the protection afforded directly to 
important designated sites, Natural England have identified Impact Risk Zones as a 
GIS tool to allow initial assessment of the potential risks posed by development 
proposals to SSSIs, SACs, SPAs and Ramsar sites.  These define zones around 
each designated site which reflect the particular sensitivities of the features for which 
it is notified and indicate the types of development proposals, which in some cases 
include applications for oil and gas exploration and extraction, quarrying, waste 
development and composting, which could potentially have adverse impacts.  
Applicants for relevant forms of development which would be located in an Impact 
Risk Zone will need to ensure that potential impacts are carefully assessed and, if 
necessary, are accompanied by proposals for mitigation.  More information on the 
location of Impact Risk Zones can be found via https://data.gov.uk/dataset/sssi-
impact-risk-zones. 

 
9.51 The protection and enhancement of ecological networks is becoming increasingly 

important due to changes in the climate.  There are important links between 
biodiversity and the water environment, such as water quality issues for example, 
and with matters such as food production.  The natural environment in effect provides 
a range of ‘services’ (known as ecosystems services) which it is important to 
maintain and enhance.  Biodiversity and geodiversity assets also form an important 
element of the green infrastructure46 of the area and contribute to overall quality of 
life. 

9.52 Minerals and waste developments have the potential to impact adversely on 
biodiversity and geodiversity.  In addition, minerals development, particularly through 
the process of quarry reclamation, is well placed to provide longer term enhancement 
of both biodiversity and geodiversity. 

 
9.53 Applicants will need to demonstrate, when bringing forward proposals, that any 

potential impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity have been identified and 
addressed through avoidance or mitigation where necessary.  Opportunities should 
also be sought to deliver longer term enhancement, including through contributing to 
the development of enhanced ecological networks to improve resilience and help to 
mitigate effects of climate change.  Proposals should be directed towards the delivery 
of any priorities already agreed for the area in which the site is situated, as set out in 
local Biodiversity Action Plans, Geodiversity Action Plans or through any strategy 
produced by the relevant Local Nature Partnership. 

 
9.54 In some cases, it may be possible to deliver greater overall benefits through 

delivering a coordinated approach in combination with other proposed development.  
This may particularly be the case for minerals extraction, where there are a number 
of workings taking place in the same area, for example in the corridors of the Rivers 
Swale and Ure and opportunities may arise at a landscape scale.  The RSPB have 
indicated that the greatest opportunities can arise in relation to schemes with an area 
in excess of 200ha.  Where as a result of the scale, nature or location of the 
development proposed, there are opportunities to deliver enhancement of 
biodiversity or geodiversity, including the provision of green infrastructure, applicants 
are encouraged to discuss their proposal with the relevant planning authority at an 
early stage to ensure that a coordinated approach, and maximum overall benefits, 
taking into account existing permitted schemes and other relevant proposals, can be 
achieved where practicable. 

 

                                                
46 Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space, both new and existing, both rural and urban, 
which supports the natural and ecological processes and is integral to the health and quality of life of sustainable 
communities.  It includes parks, open space, playing fields, woodlands, allotments and private gardens. 

ANNEX 1Page 390



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  191 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.55 In some limited circumstances if may be appropriate for compensatory provision to 
be made elsewhere for habitat losses resulting from development.  Such ‘offsetting’ 
should be viewed as a last resort measure where the need for, or benefits of, the 
development outweigh the need to protect the site and no other suitable location is 
available.  It will generally be preferable for mitigation or compensation measures, if 
necessary, to be delivered at the development site rather than through offsetting at 
an alternative location. 

 
9.56 Where development requiring offsetting is proposed, the arrangements for provision 

of the offsetting biodiversity gain should be set out as part of the proposals, and the 
location where the offsetting provision is to be made should be within the same 
minerals or waste planning authority area as the development giving rise to the need 
for offsetting.  This is to ensure that biodiversity assets are not displaced out of the 
local area.  Offsetting proposals may only be permitted outside of the plan area with 
written agreement from the planning authority, and only where sufficient evidence 
could be provided to demonstrate the biodiversity/geodiversity benefits of 
undertaking offsetting outside of the Plan area.  For example, if a site was on the 
plan area boundary and sufficient evidence could be provided to demonstrate the 
biodiversity benefits of undertaking an offset outside of the Plan area. A further 
consideration is that, in developing proposals for offsetting, consideration should be 
given to replacing the community and climate regulation value attached to the 
biodiversity of the site to be developed, to ensure an appropriate overall level of gain 
in the interests of sustainability.  In practice it is considered that circumstances 
necessitating offsetting in the Plan area are likely to be very rare.  The need to 
maintain a policy on offsetting will be kept under review in the light of any further 
national policy or guidance. 

 

Historic environment  
 
9.57 ‘Heritage assets’ are buildings, monuments, places, areas or landscapes identified as 

having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions.  They 
include both designated and non-designated assets and those which exist on any 
local list maintained by local authorities.  National planning policy requires any effects 
on heritage assets to be assessed in terms of the significance of the asset, and 
states that substantial harm should usually be avoided.  For all assets, the desirability 
of sustaining and enhancing significance should be taken into account.  

 
9.58 The setting of a heritage asset is also an important consideration.  The NPPF defines 

the setting as ‘The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced.  Its extent 
is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve.  Elements of a 
setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, 
may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral’. 
 

9.59 The Plan area contains tens of thousands of designated and undesignated heritage 
assets including Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments, a World Heritage Site, 
Registered Parks and Gardens, Registered Battlefields and Conservation Areas and 
assets which are not yet identified or designated.   

 
9.60 Surface minerals extraction, which may involve the large scale physical disturbance 

of land, may have a direct impact on heritage assets, including the potential for their 
physical destruction, and both surface and underground minerals and waste 
development can lead to other direct and indirect impacts, including on the setting of 
heritage assets, which can be important in contributing to their overall significance.  

 

Policy D08: Historic environment 

ANNEX 1Page 391



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  192 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

1)  Minerals or waste development proposals will be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that they will conserve and, where practicable, enhance those 
elements which contribute to the significance of the area’s heritage assets 
including their setting. 

 
2)  Particular regard will be had to the benefits of conserving those elements which 

contribute most to the distinctive character and sense of place of the Plan area 
including: 

 The World Heritage Site at Fountains Abbey/Studley Royal; 

 The historic character and setting of York; 

 The archaeological resource of the Vale of Pickering, the Yorkshire Wolds, 
the North York Moors and Tabular Hills, and the Southern Magnesian 
Limestone Ridge. 

 
3)  Proposals that would result in less than substantial harm to the significance of 

a designated heritage asset (or an undesignated archaeological site of national 
importance) will be permitted only where this is outweighed by the public 
benefits of the proposal.  Where proposals would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of the significance of a designated heritage asset (or an undesignated 
archaeological site of national importance), planning permission will be refused 
unless it can be shown that the substantial harm or loss is necessary to 
achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm or loss, or all of the 
following apply: 

      i)    The nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; 
and 
      ii)   No viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term   

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
      iii)  Conservation by grant funding or some form of charitable or public 

ownership is demonstrably not possible; and 
      iv)  The harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into 

use.  
 
Proposals affecting an archaeological site of less than national importance will be 
permitted where they would conserve those elements which contribute to its 
significance in line with the importance of the remains.  In those cases where 
development affecting such sites is acceptable in principle, mitigation of damage 
will be ensured through preservation of the remains in situ as a preferred solution.  
When in situ preservation is not justified, adequate provision should be made for 
excavation and recording and subsequent analysis, publication and archive 
deposition before or during development. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry and Historic England. 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 and Policy D10 Objective 9 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 53 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.61 The Studley Royal including the ruins of Fountains Abbey World Heritage Site is a 

particularly important heritage asset as the only World Heritage Site in the Plan area, 
and in 2012 an additional buffer zone was identified by the World Heritage Site 
Committee in order to help protect certain aspects of the visual setting and designed 
landscapes of the Site.  The buffer zone is identified in the Harrogate Borough 
Council Plan and is also shown on the Policies Map for the Joint Plan.  Regard will 

ANNEX 1Page 392



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  193 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

be had to the purposes of the buffer zone when considering proposals which may 
impact on the WHS. 

  
9.62 Evidence produced by City of York Council in 201347 identifies six principal defining 

characteristics which are strategically important to the historic character and setting 
of York, that set York apart from other similar cities in England.  These characteristics 
are: 

 The City’s strong urban form, townscape, layout of streets and squares, 
building plots, alleyways, arterial routes, and parks and gardens; 

 The City’s compactness; 

 The City’s landmark monuments, in particular the City Walls and Bars, the 
Minster, churches, guildhalls, Clifford’s Tower, the main railway station and 
other structures associated and chocolate manufacturing heritage; 

 The City’s architectural character, this rich diversity of age and construction 
displays variety and order and is accompanied by a wealth of detail in 
windows and door openings; bay rythms; chimneys and roofscapes; brick; 
stone; timber; ranges; gables; ironwork; passageways; and rear yards and 
gardens; 

 The City’s archaeological complexity: the extensive and internationally 
important archaeological deposits beneath the City; 

 The City’s landscape and setting within its rural hinterland and the open green 
strays and river corridors and Ings, which penetrate into the heart of the urban 
area, breaking up the City’s built form. 

 
9.63 York is particularly significant as a result of the nature and concentration of heritage 

assets it contains and because of the significance of long-distance views of landmark 
buildings such as the York Minster tower and Terry’s clock tower from the wider Vale 
of York.  Maintaining the wider setting of York is also important because of the 
significance of the City to the tourism and wider economy of the Plan area, with the 
City receiving around 7 million visitors annually.  The City as a whole is not the 
subject of specific protection through any designations and it is therefore considered 
appropriate to provide a degree of protection from any adverse impacts on its setting 
from minerals or waste development.   

 
9.64 The Vale of Pickering is also of particular significance.  Evidence indicates a 

concentration of heritage assets, many of which are currently undesignated and in 
this part of the Plan area there is a close association between minerals resources 
and significant heritage assets.   

 
9.65 Discussion with Historic England has identified a number of other areas, based partly 

on National Character Area Profiles developed by Natural England 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-
for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles , within which 
archaeological resources are likely to be particularly significant, including the 
Yorkshire Wolds, the North York Moors and Tabular Hills and the Southern 
Magnesian Limestone Ridge.  These are areas of known and well-documented 
archaeological potential which contain some of the highest concentrations of 
archaeological features in the country.  Much of this is likely to be of national 
importance.  There is a relatively close correlation between these areas and some 
mineral resources.  However, for the most part, the archaeology within these 
landscapes is largely undesignated.  In these areas in particular and other locations 
where evidence points to the existence of significant heritage assets, it will be 
particularly important that the extent, siting, design and implementation of any 

                                                
47 City of York Council Heritage Topic Paper update 2013 

ANNEX 1Page 393

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles


Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  194 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

mineral working and reclamation proposals are informed by a detailed understanding 
of the wider historic and landscape context of the area. 

 
9.66 Where necessary, proposals should include comprehensive mitigation and 

management measures aimed at minimising adverse impacts and delivering 
enhancements, including to the longer term setting and the enjoyment and 
understanding of heritage assets where appropriate.  

 
9.67 The Managing Landscape Change project, commissioned by North Yorkshire County 

Council with funding from Historic England, highlighted that the absence of formal 
designations within an area should not be used to imply an absence of 
archaeological significance.  It could simply mean that heritage assets have not yet 
been discovered or have not previously been recognised.  It suggests that by looking 
at the potential development site in its wider context it is possible to establish a more 
complete picture of the potential significance of a site and any heritage assets which 
could be affected, thus informing the most appropriate strategy for field evaluation of 
the site or area, in line with paragraph 128 of the NPPF.  Interested parties bringing 
forward development proposals, particularly for minerals extraction in the NYCC 
area, are advised to review relevant advice in the report of the Managing Landscape 
Change Study, which is available on the NYCC website. 

 
9.68 In all cases, applicants for minerals or waste development are advised to seek 

information from the relevant Historic Environment Record when bringing forward 
proposals, and to discuss schemes with the relevant minerals and waste planning 
authority at an early stage where an initial review of available information suggests 
that there is potential for heritage assets to be impacted by a particular proposal. 
National policy provides a high degree of protection to designated heritage assets, or 
archaeological sites of national importance, that are at risk of substantial harm to, or 
total loss of, significance.  In cases where the partial or total loss of the significance 
of heritage assets is accepted as being consistent with the criteria in the Policy, 
leading to the grant of planning permission for the development, developers will be 
required to record and advance the understanding of the significance of the asset/s 
to be lost and to make this information publicly available. 

 
Water Environment 
 
9.69 Both minerals and waste development have the potential to impact on water 

resources and quality and can contribute to, or be at risk from, flooding.  For 
example, waste management activities may have the potential to cause pollution as a 
result of the nature of the processes taking place or the wastes being handled.  
Mineral sites, as well as landfill and land raise activities, for example through the 
presence of screening bunds or other alterations to landform, can impact on the flow 
of water during flood events.  The NPPF requires that proactive strategies to mitigate 
and adapt to climate change should be put in place taking account of, amongst other 
matters, water supply and demand.  It requires that environmental criteria be set out 
against which planning applications will be assessed, so as to ensure that permitted 
operations do not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the flow and quantity of 
surface and groundwater and water habitats in terms of biodiversity.  Furthermore, 
the NPPF requires that both new and existing development should be prevented from 
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from water pollution.  A further 
important consideration is the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD), which sets out 
a range of obligations to which planning authorities should have regard when 
exercising their planning functions.  The Directive (2000/60/EC) introduced a 
comprehensive river basin management planning system to protect and improve the 
ecological health of rivers, lakes, estuaries and coastal and groundwaters.  This is 

ANNEX 1Page 394



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  195 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

underpinned by the use of environmental standards to assess risks to the ecological 
quality of the water environment and to identify the scale of improvements that would 
be needed to bring waters under pressure back into good condition. 

 

Policy D09: Water environment 
1) Proposals for minerals and waste development will be permitted where it can 

be demonstrated that no unacceptable impacts will arise, taking into account 
any proposed mitigation, on surface or groundwater quality and/or surface or 
groundwater supplies and flows. 

 
2) In relation to surface and groundwater quality and flows, a very high level of    

protection will be applied to principal aquifers and groundwater Source 
Protection Zones.  Development which would lead to an unacceptable risk of 
pollution, or harmful disturbance to groundwater flow, will not be permitted. 
 

3)  Permission for minerals and waste development on sites not allocated in the 
Joint Plan will, where relevant, be determined in accordance with the Sequential 
Test and Exception Test for flood risk set out in national policy.  Development 
which would lead to an unacceptable risk of, or be at an unacceptable risk from, 
all sources of flooding (i.e. surface and groundwater flooding and flooding from 
rivers and coastal waters) will not be permitted.   

 
4)  Proposals for minerals and waste development should, where necessary or  

practicable taking into account the scale, nature and location of the 
development proposed, include measures to contribute to flood alleviation and 
other climate change mitigation and adaptation measures including use of 
sustainable urban drainage systems. 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 and Policies D07, 
D10, D11 

Objectives 9, 10, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 54 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.70 Large parts of the Plan area, particularly within the City of York area and lower lying 

parts of the NYCC area are at risk of flooding, as demonstrated in the Strategic Flood 
Risk assessment that has been prepared alongside the Joint Plan.  Flood risk maps 
are available on the Environment Agency’s website.  There are also substantial areas 
which are underlain by principal aquifers, including the Magnesian Limestone 
resource and some rocks of Jurassic age in the eastern part of the Plan area.  Some 
of these areas also contain groundwater Source Protection Zones, which are 
identified by the Environment Agency to protect public drinking water supplies and 
certain supplies used for commercial purposes.  In some cases, commercial users of 
water in the Plan area, such as the brewing industry, are reliant on the availability of 
water with particular qualities, for example in terms of its chemical and minerals 
balance.  Where development is proposed which has the potential to impact on such 
sources of supply then this will be a relevant consideration under the Policy, in order 
to ensure an appropriate degree of protection.  Some aspects of the natural 
environment are also dependent on water of a particular quality being available.  The 
potential for impact on any such receptors will also be a matter to be taken into 
account where relevant under the terms of this Policy. 

9.71 The Environment Agency has prepared a number of Position Statements setting out 
their likely approach to environmental permitting of various forms of development 
which may present a pollution hazard to groundwater.  A number of these 

ANNEX 1Page 395



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  196 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Statements are relevant to minerals and waste development, including those relating 
to conventional and unconventional oil and gas, landfill, non-landfill waste activities 
and mining, quarrying and gravel extraction.  To ensure a general consistency of 
approach, the planning authorities will, when implementing this Policy, have regard to 
any relevant EA Position Statements in determining the acceptability of any proposal 
which has the potential to cause groundwater pollution.  Consideration will also be 
given to the aims and objectives of the Water Framework Directive.  Under the WFD, 
developers and planning authorities should take all measures necessary to ensure 
that no deterioration of any water bodies including non-main rivers, lakes and 
groundwater is caused by a development.  Development that cannot provide 
appropriate mitigation to prevent deterioration of surface water or groundwater 
bodies would be contrary to the objectives of the WFD and should not be permitted.  
In order to comply with obligations under the WFD, development proposals should 
seek to improve the water body status of any waters that could be affected by the 
development.  Supporting the achievement of water status objectives outlined in 
River Basin Management Plans is important in meeting obligations under the WFD 
but is not necessarily, in itself, sufficient to demonstrate compliance with WFD 
objectives.  A range of other regulatory regimes may also be relevant depending on 
the circumstances.  

 
9.72 National planning policy places considerable emphasis on the need to address flood 

risk, water pollution and water availability in planning decisions and includes specific 
national policy tests in relation to flood risk that are required to be met, in the form of 
a Sequential Test for flood risk and an Exception Test.  The Sequential Test involves 
a risk-based approach to locating development.  The aim of the Sequential Test is to 
steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding.  It operates 
together with a strategic level flood risk assessment which has been prepared 
alongside the Joint Plan, to ensure that decisions made on policies and site 
allocations give appropriate consideration to flood risk.  If, following application of the 
Sequential Test, it is not possible, consistent with wider sustainability objectives, for 
the development to be located in zones with a lower probability of flooding, the 
Exception Test can be applied if appropriate. 

 
9.73 Full details of the tests can be found in the national Planning Practice Guidance 

dealing with flood risk.  Applicants are advised to consider the Guidance and national 
policy on flood risk at an early stage in developing proposals. 

 
9.74 In some cases it may be necessary for a site-specific flood risk assessment to be 

carried out in support of an application.  A site specific flood risk assessment is 
required for proposals of 1 hectare or greater in flood zone 1 and for all proposals for 
new development (including minor development and change of use) in flood zones 2 
and 3.  Further guidance is available in the national Planning Practice Guidance.  
Applicants should also consider the ‘standing advice’ on flood risk produced by the 
Environment Agency when preparing a site-specific flood risk assessment for lower 
risk development. 

 
9.75 Different types of development have different vulnerabilities to flooding and some are 

considered to be ‘water-compatible’.  Water-compatible development includes some 
forms of development which fall within the scope of the Joint Plan, specifically sand 
and gravel extraction and sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations.  
These forms of development are appropriate within all flood zones.  Most other forms 
of development within the scope of the Joint Plan, such as other types of mineral 
working and processing as well as waste development (except landfill and hazardous 
waste facilities) are classed as ‘less vulnerable’.  These may be acceptable in all 
flood risk zones except Zone 3b (functional floodplain).  Landfill and sites used for 
managing hazardous waste are ‘more vulnerable’ and should not take place in Zone 

ANNEX 1Page 396



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  197 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

3b and would only be acceptable in Zone 3a if they meet the Exception Test.  This 
Test requires it to be demonstrated that the development provides wider 
sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, informed by a 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment where one has been prepared, and a site-specific 
flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the development will be safe for its 
lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall. 

 
9.76 Increased risk of flooding is one of the predicted impacts of climate change and 

should be taken into account in the preparation of flood risk assessments, in 
accordance with the PPG.  The Environment Agency published updated guidance in 
February 201648 on when and how to make allowances for climate change in flood 
risk assessments and this should be used as a source of information when assessing 
proposals in relation to flood risk.  Minerals extraction, particularly water-compatible 
sand and gravel working, can also provide opportunities to contribute to flood 
alleviation, for example through the provision of increased flood storage capacity 
where working is taking place in flood plains.  Within the Plan area there is an 
overlap between sand and gravel resources and flood plains and some mineral 
extraction is already taking place in these locations.  Where proposals are brought 
forward for sand and gravel working, consideration should be given at an early stage 
in preparing the scheme to the potential to incorporate flood alleviation measures into 
the design, particularly as part of site reclamation. 

 
9.77 Consideration should also be given to the use of sustainable drainage systems for 

the management of surface water drainage.  These are designed to control surface 
water run-off close to where it falls and to mimic natural drainage as closely as 
possible.  This matter is addressed in Policy D11 dealing with sustainable design.   

 
Reclamation and afteruse of minerals and waste sites 

 
9.78 The nature of minerals development, which often involves permanent or long-term 

physical change to land, sometimes on a substantial scale, means that it is important 
that consideration is given to how sites are reclaimed and used once workings have 
finished.  In contrast, many waste developments, particularly modern developments 
not involving landfill, are permanent or long-term built developments, which do not 
give rise to similar considerations of reclamation and afteruse, although in some 
cases, such as those involving landfill and proposals for temporary plant and 
buildings, such issues can arise.  Whilst the main focus of this section is on minerals 
development, the policy it contains is also intended to be applied to relevant forms of 
waste development.  

 
9.79 The NPPF states that land worked for minerals should be reclaimed at the earliest 

opportunity, taking account of aviation safety, and that high-quality restoration and 
aftercare of mineral sites should take place, including for agriculture (safeguarding 
the long-term potential of best and most versatile agricultural land and conserving 
soil resources), geodiversity, biodiversity, native woodland, the historic environment 
and recreation.  It also states that bonds and other financial guarantees to underpin 
planning conditions should only be sought in exceptional circumstances. 

 
9.80 Several parts of the Plan area (particularly the Swale and Ure valleys and parts Selby 

District) have over the years developed concentrations of mineral sites which can 
give rise to a number of issues regarding the long-term impact of working and 
reclamation, including progressive landscape change (particularly where lakes are 

                                                
48 Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances (Environment Agency February 2016) 

ANNEX 1Page 397



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  198 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

created following minerals extraction) as well as impact on other environmental 
assets such as the historic environment, loss of good-quality agricultural land, and 
impact on the setting and amenities of local communities.  Some of these effects can 
be cumulative in nature, either over extended periods of time or through a number of 
simultaneous effects.  

 
9.81 Reclamation also provides potential opportunities for delivering benefits to the 

environment or amenity.  For example, reclaimed sites can provide biodiversity or 
geodiversity gain in line with biodiversity and geodiversity action plans, opportunities 
for informal or formal recreation.  In certain areas, reclaimed sites may be able to 
play a role in flood risk reduction, or in supplying water for agriculture, or in 
recharging rivers. 

 
9.82 Pressure to divert waste away from landfill means that the traditional link between 

mineral working, and reclamation back to original ground levels through landfill, has 
now been largely broken.  There has been a reduction in landfill of biodegradeable 
waste, and this is likely to continue as new arrangements for managing residual 
waste arising in the Plan area are implemented.  Increasingly, inert material is also 
being diverted away from landfill as it is subject to more re-use and recycling (such 
as is occurring with construction and demolition waste). 

 
9.83 As a result, forms of low-level (i.e. below original ground level) reclamation are likely 

to be increasingly common.  For hard rock quarries this means that sites will often be 
reclaimed to a landform significantly different to that which preceded the workings, 
and for sand and gravel quarries in river valleys where the water table is high, it 
would mean a continuing likelihood of reclamation involving the creation of 
substantial lakes.  As well as providing opportunities (e.g. for habitat creation, 
geodiversity and recreation opportunities), this can create impacts such as those 
referred to in para. 9.80 and, for reclamation involving lakes, potential conflict with 
airfield safeguarding requirements due to the attractiveness of lakes to flocks of 
birds. 

 
9.84 Large parts of a zone running north-south through the central part of North Yorkshire 

are affected by airfield safeguarding areas, and there is a large degree of overlap 
between such safeguarding areas and the overall distribution of sand and gravel 
resources.  This can impact on opportunities for and design of water-based 
restoration, particularly for biodiversity, given the importance of ensuring that any risk 
to aircraft from birdstrike49 can be managed. 

 

                                                
49 Birds can be ingested in aircraft engines or cause other damage which presents a risk to an aircraft in flight.   
Larger birds, particularly those which congregate in flocks, tend to present the greatest hazard. 

ANNEX 1Page 398



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  199 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Figure 19: Airfield safeguarding zones 

Policy D10: Reclamation and afteruse 
Part 1) 
 

Proposals which require restoration and afteruse elements will be permitted 
where it can be demonstrated that they would be carried out to a high standard 
and, where appropriate to the scale and location of the development, have 
demonstrably:  
i) Applicants are encouraged to discuss proposals at an early stage with local 

communities and other relevant stakeholders and where practicable reflect 
the outcome of those discussions in submitted schemes. 

ii) Taken into account the location and context of the site, including the 
implications of other significant permitted or proposed development in the 
area and the range of environmental and other assets and infrastructure 
that may be affected, including any important interactions between those 
assets and infrastructure; 

iii) Reflected the potential for the proposed restoration and/or afteruse to give 
rise to positive and adverse impacts, including cumulative impacts, and 
have sought where practicable to maximise potential overall benefits and 
minimise overall adverse impacts; 

iv) Taken into account potential impacts on and from climate change factors;  
v) Made best use of onsite materials for reclamation purposes and only rely on 

imported waste where essential to deliver a high standard of reclamation; 
vi) Provided for progressive, phased restoration where appropriate, providing 

for the restoration of the site at the earliest opportunity in accordance with 
an agreed timescale; 

vii) Provided for the longer term implementation and management of the agreed 
form of restoration and afteruse (except in cases of agriculture or forestry 
afteruses where a statutory 5 year maximum aftercare period will apply).  

 

ANNEX 1Page 399



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  200 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Part 2) 
 

In addition to the criteria in Part 1) above, proposals will be permitted which 
deliver a more targeted approach to minerals site restoration and afteruse by 
contributing towards objectives, appropriate to the nature, scale and location of 
the site, including where relevant:  
i) In areas of best and most versatile agricultural land, prioritising the 

protection and enhancement of soils and the long term potential to create 
areas of best and most versatile land during reclamation of the site; 

ii) Where opportunities allow, particularly for sand and gravel extraction in the 
flood plains of the rivers Swale and Ure, providing additional flood storage 
capacity to help to minimise flooding in upstream and downstream 
locations;  

iii) Within the National Park and AONBs, enhancing the special qualities of the 
designated area and/or providing opportunities for the enjoyment and 
understanding of those special qualities;  

iv) Within airfield safeguarding zones, particularly where reclamation for 
biodiversity is involved, ensuring that reclamation and afteruse proposals 
respect safeguarding constraints whilst maximising the potential 
restoration and afteruse benefits delivered by the site; 

v) In proximity to important heritage assets, ensuring that the significance of 
assets and their settings is sustained and where practicable enhanced and, 
also where practicable, that opportunities to facilitate enjoyment of the 
asset are provided;  

vi) Where the development is located within or adjacent to identified green 
infrastructure corridors, reflecting any locally agreed priorities for delivery 
of additional or enhanced green infrastructure and ecosystems services;  

vii) In proximity to major settlements within and adjacent to the Plan area, and 
subject to local amenity considerations, providing enhanced opportunities 
for informal and formal public access and recreation;  

viii) Achieving significant net gains for biodiversity which help create coherent 
and resilient ecological networks. Where practicable, proposals should 
contribute significantly to the creation of the habitats of particular 
importance in the local landscape seeking to deliver benefits at a landscape 
scale. This includes wet grasslands and fen in the Swale and Ure valleys 
and species-rich grassland on the Magnesian ridge; 

ix) Creating geodiversity benefits where appropriate including contributing 
towards the delivery of priorities identified in any relevant Geodiversity 
Action Plan.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 and Policies D02, 
D04, D06, D07, D08, D09, D11, D12 

Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 55 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.85 National planning guidance defines restoration as ‘operations associated with the 

winning and working of minerals and which are designed to return the area to an 
acceptable environmental condition, whether for the resumption of former land use or 
a new use’.  The process of restoring a site may also involve a period of aftercare, 
required to ensure the proposed use is implemented.  The term ‘reclamation’ refers 
to the combined process of restoration and, where relevant, aftercare. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 400



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  201 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.86 A high standard of reclamation is essential to ensure that development is 
sustainable.  Applicants for minerals or waste development where reclamation is 
required will need to demonstrate, as part of their initial proposals, how this can be 
achieved and the intended timescale for delivery, which should be as soon as 
practicable.  Proposals should include provision for phased reclamation where this 
would assist in minimising the overall impacts of the development.  In bringing 
forward proposals, applicants should have regard to the national Planning Practice 
Guidance on Flood Risk and Coastal Change.  

 
9.87 Particularly for proposals which are large in scale, or which would lead to restoration 

for a use other than the original (pre-development) use, or which are located in close 
proximity to local communities or in other sensitive locations, applicants should liaise 
with host communities and other relevant stakeholders, including statutory bodies, at 
pre-application stage when developing restoration and afteruse proposals.  This can 
ensure that local views are taken into account at an early stage in the design of the 
scheme and that the proposals receive a higher level of local support.  

 
9.88 It is also important, particularly for larger scale development, to ensure that the wider 

context of a development site, beyond its immediate boundaries, is taken into 
account, such as other permitted or proposed development in the local area and any 
potential for local cumulative impacts (both positive and adverse) on other relevant 
environmental, social or economic matters.  By following such an approach it is likely 
that the overall potential of the reclamation proposals can be maximised, at the same 
time as any adverse impacts are minimised.  Information to demonstrate how the 
wider context has been taken into account should be included in reclamation 
schemes and in most cases should be the subject of pre-application discussion with 
the relevant planning authority.  Where reclamation proposals involve the import of 
waste materials in order to achieve a suitable landform, this should be justified in 
terms of the benefits to the standard of reclamation that would be achieved and will 
be assessed in the context of any additional adverse impacts resulting from the 
importation activity. 

9.89 The very varied nature of the Plan area means that there are a wide range of 
contextual factors, constraints and opportunities that could be relevant to the 
reclamation of sites.  To help ensure that, across the Plan area, maximum overall 
benefits are delivered, it is considered appropriate to encourage a more targeted 
approach to reclamation of sites.  This can avoid any tendency to seek to deliver a 
range of types of restoration and afteruse within a single site, which may undermine 
the overall potential of the reclaimed site to deliver positive sustainability benefits.  
This approach does not mean that all sites should only be restored to a single type of 
afteruse.  It means that proposals should be directed towards specific objectives, 
relevant to the circumstances of the site and its location and taking into account the 
wider context of the area.  In all cases, early discussion with the relevant planning 
authority is recommended when consideration is being given to restoration and 
afteruse proposals. 

 
9.90 Proposals for reclamation should be included as part of the initial planning 

application.  For longer term but temporary development, it may be appropriate for 
full details to be reserved for later approval, although the overall concept will need to 
be established at the outset.  Whatever forms of reclamation are agreed, it will be 
necessary to ensure that appropriate safeguards and controls are in place to ensure 
the satisfactory long term afteruse of the land.  Some afteruses, such as formal 
recreation, will need to be resolved through the submission of a separate planning 
application which, in some instances in the NYCC area, would need to be determined 
by the relevant District/Borough Council. 

 

ANNEX 1Page 401



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  202 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.91 For reclamation to agriculture and forestry, the statutory 5 year maximum aftercare 
period, which can be required via the imposition of conditions on any relevant 
planning permission, will be sufficient to achieve the required standard.  Some forms 
of reclamation, particularly where the afteruse involves the creation of wildlife 
habitats, or where required in order to provide a degree of continuing control over 
certain types of afteruse, such as informal recreation, may need to be the subject of a 
longer term management agreement between the developer and/or landowner and 
the planning authority.  Where such a requirement has been identified in any pre-
application discussions with the planning authority, applicants should include details 
of proposed longer term management measures within their proposals.  The use of 
section 106 agreements will, where necessary, be used to ensure implementation of 
agreed longer term management arrangements.  Policy M18 sets out specific further 
local policy in relation to restoration of sites for hydrocarbons development. 

 
9.92 In bringing forward proposals for minerals development giving rise to a requirement 

for reclamation, applicants should also refer to the good practice recommendations 
contained in the ‘Managing Landscape Change’ study commissioned by NYCC with 
funding from Historic England (available via the NYCC website).  Applicants are 
encouraged to reflect relevant recommendations in their proposed approach. 

 
Sustainable design, construction and operation of 
development  
 
9.93 Delivering a high standard of design, construction and operation for minerals and 

waste development is important because of the role this can play in contributing to 
factors such as: 

 a high quality environment 

 minimisation and mitigation of adverse impacts from new development 

 efficient use of resources, including minimisation of waste 

 minimisation and where necessary mitigation of climate change causes and 
effects 

 
9.94 National planning policy gives priority to achieving high design standards as an 

important element of delivering sustainable development.  As also set out in the 
NPPF, planning has a role in sustainable development through the need to mitigate 
and adapt to climate change and helping the country move towards a low carbon 
economy.  Matters such as flood risk, coastal change and water supply are also 
relevant, with many parts of the area being vulnerable to flooding both from rivers 
and from surface water runoff. 

9.95 Minerals deposits themselves can help to mitigate the effects of climate change.  For 
example, the presence in the ground of mineral resources, such as sand and gravel, 
can help to slow throughflow of water and therefore help contribute to flood 
attenuation or alleviation.  However, minerals developments can also help adaption 
to climate change, particularly where minerals site reclamation and afteruse include 
provision flood water storage, habitat restoration and other forms of green 
infrastructure.  

9.96 The movement of material up the waste hierarchy50 can help to mitigate climate 
change impacts.  For example, recycling waste can save CO2 by conserving virgin 

                                                
50 See waste context section in Chapter 2 for further information 

ANNEX 1Page 402



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  203 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

materials that would otherwise be used in production, and by reducing landfill, which 
can lead to the emission of greenhouse gases. 

9.97 The NPPF supports policies which promote the sustainability of a building.  The North 
York Moors National Park Authority has, since 2008, been operating a policy which 
requires 10% of predicted CO2 emissions to be off-set by requiring developments of 5 
or more houses or other uses over 200sqm, to generate energy on-site from 
renewable resources.  The emerging City of York Local Plan is proposing to require 
that new developments are in line with the 2013 Building Regulations by having a 
19% reduction in Dwelling Emission Rate and a reduced water consumption rate. 

Policy D11: Sustainable design, construction and operation of 
development 
Part 1) 
 
Proposals for minerals and waste development will be permitted where it has been 
demonstrated that measures appropriate and proportionate to the scale and nature 
of the development have been incorporated in its design, construction and 
operation in relation to:  

i) Minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions by incorporating energy-
efficient siting, design and operational practices including those relating 
to bulk transport of materials; 

ii) Minimisation of waste generated by new minerals and waste development;  
iii) Generation and utilisation of renewable or low carbon energy where 

practicable and in a manner appropriate to the character and location of 
the development;  

iv) Minimisation of water consumption by incorporating water efficiency 
measures including. where practicable, the re-use of waste water arising 
from the development; 

v) Measures to minimise flood risk associated with the development 
including use of Sustainable Drainage Systems and permeable surfacing;  

vi) A requirement for the relevant built or civil engineering elements of new 
minerals and waste developments in excess of 1000m2  floor space to 
meet a minimum ‘Very Good’ BREEAM or CEEQUAL standard as 
appropriate;  

vii) For energy-from-waste development, the efficient generation of energy 
including, for development with the potential to generate combined heat 
and power, the beneficial use of heat either on site or incorporating 
measures to  enable provision of heat to other existing or proposed 
development in the vicinity of the site;  

viii) Implementation of landscape planting comprising native species able to 
successfully adapt to climate change and, where practicable, 
incorporating areas of new wildlife habitat that would help to improve 
habitat connectivity; 

ix) Mitigation of the impacts on the development arising from any predicted 
mining subsidence or land instability; 

x) For minerals workings and mineral working deposits, consideration of tip 
and quarry slope stability, the impacts of any dewatering activity and 
incorporating appropriate mitigation in the design of tips and slopes to 
minimise any hazard to people and property.  

 
Proposals for substantial new minerals extraction and for the large-scale 
treatment, recovery or disposal of waste, as well as for hydrocarbon development, 
should be accompanied by a climate change assessment, as appropriate, showing 
how the proposals have taken into account impacts from climate change and 
include mitigation and adaptation measures where necessary. 

ANNEX 1Page 403



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  204 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Part 2) 
 
Proposals for new built development should demonstrate how the development 
would be designed, constructed and operated in order to: 

i) Minimise waste generated during construction of the development, and 
incorporate measures to encourage or facilitate the re-use and recovery of 
any waste generated during construction of the development;  

ii) Incorporate appropriate space to enable waste arising during use of the 
development to be separated and stored prior to being collected for 
recycling or re-use;  

iii) Use sustainable construction materials where practicable, including use 
of alternatives to primary land-won aggregate.  

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapter 5, 6 and 7 and Policies D07, 
D09, D10, D13 

Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 56 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.98 Minerals and waste developments can be large in scale and sometimes give rise to 

significant impacts.  The fact that minerals can only be worked where they occur also 
means that development sometimes needs to take place in sensitive locations.  They 
can also be energy intensive, as a result of transport requirements and the 
operational processes involved.  Careful design and a comprehensive approach to 
minimisation and mitigation of impacts can make acceptable developments that 
would otherwise be unacceptable, as well as helping to reduce overall adverse 
impacts.  The incorporation of sustainable design measures such as sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDs), water consumption efficiency measures, use of 
sustainable transport modes such as conveyors and pipelines to move minerals 
within and between sites, can all help conserve natural resources and reduce 
pollution. 

 
9.99 Particular design considerations can apply to quarries and mining waste tips.  In 

particular, there is a need to ensure that quarry faces and any waste tips are 
designed to ensure the stability of slopes, to ensure the safety of the public and of 
employees.  It is therefore important that proposals for new mineral working and/or 
the construction of mining waste tips are supported by information about any 
potential hazard to people and property, that the significance of any potential hazard 
is assessed, and that any features which could adversely affect the stability of the 
working are identified.  In some cases extraction of mineral, particularly aggregate, 
can involve pumping to reduce local groundwater levels to facilitate access to the 
deposit.  In most cases, any impacts are likely to be confined to the near vicinity of 
the quarry site.  However, there may be circumstances where there is potential for 
more significant effects and in these cases it is particularly important that proposals 
include an adequate assessment of potential effects and, where necessary, that 
appropriate mitigation and monitoring are provided. 

 
9.100 Some parts of the area are likely to be at greater potential risk of land instability as a 

result of ground subsidence.  Instability arising from the presence of former mine 
workings is addressed in Policy D13.  In the Ripon area there is a history of ground 
subsidence as a result of the dissolution of gypsum deposits underlying parts of the 
City and adjacent areas.  More information about this can be found in the Harrogate 

ANNEX 1Page 404



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  205 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Local Plan (Saved policies).  Where new built waste management facilities or 
ancillary infrastructure is proposed in areas that may be at risk, advice should be 
sought from relevant specialists about any additional design measures that may be 
required.  Additionally, minerals or waste development that could lead to significant 
impacts on groundwater movements in this area may require more detailed 
assessment, as these may have potential to impact on subsidence.  

 
9.101 National planning policy gives high priority to achieving high design standards as an 

important element of sustainable development.  With regard to waste, it seeks 
provision for waste management to be incorporated in the design of other forms of 
development, as well as the use of design measures to ensure that waste arising 
from construction and operation of development is handled to maximise reuse and 
recovery opportunities and that the need for off-site disposal is minimised.  Using 
materials sustainably in new development and in repair and refurbishment provides 
opportunities to help to conserve natural resources and move waste up the hierarchy.  
The sustainable design of buildings can also help to address energy consumption 
through the provision of passive heating and cooling.  Whilst many built structures 
associated with minerals and waste development are specialised structures, where 
they fall within the scope of the BREEAM sustainability criteria or the equivalent 
CEEQUAL51 rating criteria for civil engineering and infrastructure works then 
proposals in excess of 1000m2  floor space should seek to meet a minimum ‘Very 
Good’ standard.  Increased energy efficiency can also be secured by ensuring that, 
where practicable, proposals involving the generation of energy from waste are 
located where heat output from the facility can be utilised, as this is often more 
efficient than electrical power generation. 

 
9.102 Planning has an important role in delivering sustainable development, mitigating and 

adapting to climate change and helping the country to move towards a low carbon 
economy.  This includes working towards a radical reduction in greenhouse gas 
emissions, minimising vulnerability and creating resilience to climate change impacts 
(such as increased flood risk), supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure.  Where practicable, developers should 
incorporate measures to ensure that development (other than short-term 
development) is resilient to the predicted impacts of climate change.  Proposals for 
new mineral extraction at a rate in excess of 75,000 tonnes per annum and for the 
treatment, recovery or disposal of more than 75,000 tonnes per annum of waste 
should be accompanied by an assessment showing how the design for the proposal 
has taken into account the need for resilience to climate change factors.  These 
thresholds are based on the 75,000 tonnes per annum threshold for strategically 
significant waste facilities used in the Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position 
Statement, which has been applied also to minerals output for the purposes of Policy 
D11.    

9.103 Within the City of York and the North York Moors National Park the relevant planning 
authority has responsibility for all forms of development proposals, not just minerals 
and waste.  Within the NYCC area many forms of development are the responsibility 
of the District and Borough Councils.  The incorporation of measures to help ensure 
the minimisation of waste and the appropriate use of materials in built development is 
necessary to make development more sustainable.  Proposals for all forms of built 
development, other than householder development, should therefore include 
information on how waste will be minimised, recycled or reused where relevant as 
part of the proposals, how alternatives to primary minerals may be able to be 
substituted for primary minerals in the development, and where relevant, incorporate 

                                                
51 CEEQUAL is a sustainability rating and assessment scheme for civil engineering and infrastructure projects, 
similar to the BREEAM rating system for buildings. 

ANNEX 1Page 405



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  206 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

space in designs to facilitate the separation and storage of waste arising during the 
operational life of the development.  

 
Protection of agricultural land and soils 
 
9.104 The agricultural economy is very important within the Plan area, which is    

predominantly rural in character.  It is therefore also important that, so far as 
possible, good quality agricultural land and soils are protected from impacts from 
minerals and waste development.   

 

Policy D12: Protection of agricultural land and soils 
Best and Most Versatile agricultural land will be protected from unnecessary and 
irreversible loss.  Where development of best and most versatile agricultural land 
is justified proposals should prioritise the protection and enhancement of soils 
and the long term potential to recreate areas of best and most versatile land.  
Where relevant, development will be subject to aftercare requirements to ensure 
that a high standard of agricultural restoration can be achieved.  
 
Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that all practicable steps 
will be taken to conserve and manage on-site soil resources, including soils with 
environmental value, in a sustainable way.  Development which could lead to 
irreversible damage to blanket peat or other soil contributing to ecological 
connectivity or carbon storage will not be permitted. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

Strategic Policies in Chapters 5, 6 and 7 and Policies D07, 
D10 

Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 57 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.105 The Plan area contains very large areas of land in use for agriculture, particularly 

within the NYCC area.  A substantial proportion of this land, particularly in the lower 
lying areas, is of best and most versatile quality (i.e. it meets the requirements for 
classification as Grades, 1, 2 or 3a quality in the Defra agricultural land classification 
system).  National planning policy requires that local planning authorities should take 
into account the economic and other benefits of best and most versatile agricultural 
land and that, where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to 
be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be used in preference to that of 
higher quality. 

 
9.106 Whilst it is unlikely that there will be a need to develop substantial areas of 

agricultural land for waste management purposes during the Plan period, the nature 
of mineral working means that, in the large majority of cases, disturbance of 
agricultural land is involved.  There is a relatively close association between areas of 
high-quality agricultural land and minerals resources, for example in the Vales of 
Mowbray, York and Pickering and in Selby District.  To meet future needs for 
minerals it is expected that development of agricultural land, including some land of 
best and most versatile quality, will be necessary as a result of the wide range of 
other constraints that apply in identifying suitable locations for mineral working, 
including the fact that minerals can only be worked where they occur.   

 

ANNEX 1Page 406



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  207 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.107 Proposals involving development of more than 1ha of agricultural land should be 
accompanied by sufficient information to demonstrate the quality of the land within 
the site, in accordance with the national agricultural land classification system.  
Where disturbance of agricultural land is justified, particularly best and most versatile 
land, it will be important to ensure that soils are stripped, handled, stored and 
conserved at the site in a manner which maintains their longer term potential.  This 
will allow their eventual reuse to recreate land of best and most versatile quality or, in 
some cases, to enhance the quality of land of previously lower quality.  Where 
practicable, soils removed to allow minerals extraction should be directly replaced as 
part of progressive restoration of the site.  Where this is not practicable, soils can be 
stored in screening mounds as part of landscaping proposals.  In all cases it is 
important to avoid repeated handling of soils as this can result in a progressive 
degradation in quality.  It is also important to ensure that soils are only stripped, 
handled and replaced when in a relatively dry condition, to prevent damage to the 
soil structure.  Where permission is granted for development which involves stripping, 
handling or replacement of soil, conditions will be attached to ensure best practice in 
the interests of protecting the soil resource.  Short term relaxations of usual noise 
limits may be incorporated in any permission to allow short-term noisy activities, such 
as soil-stripping and bund formation. 

 
9.108 Where reclamation of mineral workings to agriculture is proposed, an aftercare period 

will be required (usually for 5 years) to ensure that the site is capable of beneficial 
afteruse for agriculture and this will also be a requirement of conditions imposed on 
any permission. 

 
9.109 In some cases, soils may have particular qualities which mean they are important for 

biodiversity, even if they are not suitable for formation of best and most versatile 
agricultural land.  Such soils are also a valuable resource and should be retained and 
used effectively as part of site restoration to ensure that their value is preserved for 
the future. 

 

Coal Mining Legacy 
 
9.110 An issue associated with coal mining is the legacy of large numbers of disused mines 

in the Plan area.  Across the whole of North Yorkshire (including the two National 
Parks) there are approximately 13,500 recorded mine entries.  These can give rise to 
land stability issues and other hazards. 

 
9.111 It is the responsibility of the Coal Authority to map and monitor old and disused mines 

and also highlight the public safety hazards and risk associated with them, but the 
Authorities, and the District and Borough Councils in the NYCC area, must take them 
into consideration when dealing with planning applications and development 
proposals.   

 

Policy D13: Consideration of applications in Development High 
Risk Areas 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the 
Development High Risk Exemptions list, as set out in paragraphs 9.116 and 9.117, 
is proposed within Development High Risk Areas identified by the Coal Authority 
as shown on the interactive Policies Map and on page 4 of the paper version of the 
Policies Map, proposals should be accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment and where necessary incorporate suitable mitigation measures in 
relation to land stability.  Permission will be granted where it can be demonstrated, 
through the Coal Mining Risk Assessment, that the development will not be at 
unacceptable risk. 

ANNEX 1Page 407



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  208 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  and The Coal Authority 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

D11 Objectives 9, 10 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 58 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 

9.112 National planning policy and guidance indicates that Planning Authorities should be 
concerned about land stability as failure to deal with the issues could cause harm to 
human health, local property and associated infrastructure and the wider 
environment.  The planning system has an important role in considering land stability 
by: 

 Minimising the risk and effects of land stability on property, infrastructure and 
the public. 

 Ensuring that development should not be placed in unstable locations without 
various precautions, and  

 Bringing unstable land back into productive use, wherever possible. 
 
9.113 The Coal Authority has identified Development High Risk Areas (formally known as 

Coal Mining Development Referral areas).  These are most likely to be subject to 
land stability and other public safety hazards associated with old mine entries.  They 
occur mainly within Selby District and more limited locations in the North York Moors 
National Park and in the western part of the Plan area.  Low Risk Development Areas 
are more extensive. 

 
9.114 Within Development High Risk Areas, the Coal Authority will expect all new 

development proposals that require planning permission, except certain types of 
development that are exempt, to be accompanied by a Coal Mining Risk Assessment  
when submitted to the relevant local planning authority.  Proposals in Development 
High Risk Areas for the types of development identified in the Development High 
Risk exemptions lists in paragraphs 9.116 and 9.117 below, as well as proposals in 
Development Low Risk Areas, will not require a Coal Mining Risk Assessment but 
the Coal Authority’s standing advice will apply and the local planning authority will 
include an informative note within the decision notice when granting planning 
permission.  

 
9.115 The exemption list is divided into two parts.  The first part is based on type of 

application and the second on the nature of the development proposed.  Proposals 
only need to meet a criterion on one of the lists in order to be exempt.  

 
9.116 Exemptions based on type of application: 

 Reserved matters/reserved details, approval of matters specified in 
conditions, 

 Householder development, 

 Extension of time, 

 Change of use, 

 Variation or removal of condition, 

 Heritage consents, (listed building or conservation areas), 

 Advertisement consents, 

 Lawful development certificates, 

 Prior notification, (any type), 

 Hazardous substances consent, 

 Tree or hedgerow works, (TPO or in conservation area), 
 

ANNEX 1Page 408



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  209 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

9.117 Exemptions based on nature of development: 

 Change of use, (land or buildings) – where no other built development is 
proposed, 

 Temporary structures with no ground works, 

 Means of enclosure, 

 Street type furniture, 

 Alterations to existing non-residential buildings that create no new floor space, 

 Non-commercial private/domestic stables. 
 

Air Quality 
 

Policy D14: Air Quality 
Proposals for mineral and waste development will be permitted provided that: 

(a) there are no unacceptable impacts on the intrinsic quality of air; and, 

(b) there are no unacceptable impacts on the management and protection of air 
quality, including any unacceptable impacts on Air Quality Management Areas. 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

M01, M11, M17, M20, W10, W11, I01, I02, D02, D03, D11 Objectives 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 
11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 59 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.118 The chapter in the PPG on Air Quality provides guiding principles on how planning 

can take account of the impact of new development on air quality. It states that ‘Local 
Plans can affect air quality in a number of ways, including through what development 
is proposed and where, and the encouragement given to sustainable transport. 
Therefore, in plan making, it is important to take into account air quality management 
areas (AQMAs) and other areas where there could be specific requirements or 
limitations on new development because of air quality.’ 

 
9.119 Planning guidance and case law makes clear that just as environmental impacts are 

material considerations, so too is the existence of regulatory regimes which seek to 
control such impacts. There exist a number of issues which are covered by other 
regulatory regimes and mineral planning authorities should assume that these regimes 
will operate effectively. Whilst these issues may be put before mineral planning 
authorities, they should not need to carry out their own assessment as they can rely 
on the assessment of other regulatory bodies. However, before granting planning 
permission they will need to be satisfied that these issues can or will be adequately 
addressed by taking the advice from the relevant regulatory body. The Mineral 
Planning Authorities will therefore carry out consultation with other appropriate 
regulatory bodies (such as the Environment Agency, Health and Safety Executive and 
the Oil and Gas Authority in this context. 

 
9.120 Where air quality is a particular issue, the Authorities will consider: 

•  where air pollution arises; 
•  measures that can be taken to ensure that developments in areas of particular 
concern with regards air quality do not give rise to additional unacceptable air quality 
impacts; and, 

ANNEX 1Page 409



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  210 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

• the potential for cumulative impacts arising from both smaller developments as well 
as the effects of more substantial developments. 

 
 
Planning Obligations 
 
9.121 Development of land will, to varying degrees depending on its nature and location, 

impact on the environment, communities, amenities and physical infrastructure of the 
Plan area. As such the authorities will, where there is appropriate justification, expect 
development to mitigate or compensate for the extent of this impact through the use 
of planning obligations on the granting of planning permissions. Planning obligations 
also known as Section 106 agreements under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended), are benefits that may be in kind or take the form of financial 
contributions. Section 106 agreements are legally binding undertakings which seek to 
secure that development is acceptable, by securing contributions to offset negative 
consequences of development. 

 
9.122 Prior to the submission of relevant applications within the Plan area, 

developers/applicants are encouraged to engage in the pre-application process to 
determine whether there is likely to be a requirement for a Section 106 agreement in 
respect of a particular proposal. 

 

Policy D15: Planning Obligations 
Developer contributions will be sought to eliminate or mitigate the potential 
adverse effects of new development on site or on the surrounding area, and to 
ensure the provision of any necessary and adequate improvements to 
infrastructure to support the functioning of the development.  
 
The level of contributions required will be negotiated as part of a Section 106 
agreement, or set out in any adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 
Schedule or successor framework.  
 
Contributions will only be sought where they are necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and where they are fairly and 
reasonably related to the development in scale and kind. 
 

Main responsibility for implementation of policy:  NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, 
Minerals and Waste industry  

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 

D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, D10, D11, 
D12 

Objectives 9, 10, 11 

Monitoring:  Monitoring indicator 60 (see Appendix 3) 

 
Policy Justification 
 
9.123 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides a mechanism for 

planning obligations, in order to make development acceptable in planning terms 
which would otherwise not be acceptable.  This can include the making of a financial 
contribution towards measures (which may be off-site in some circumstances) where 
needed to mitigate against or compensate for the impacts of the development.  Such 
contributions should be proportionate to the scale and nature of the development and 
the matters which need to be dealt with.  The minerals and waste planning authorities 

ANNEX 1Page 410



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  211 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

will seek such agreements where justified and where they would be in accordance 
with relevant legislation and guidance. 

 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning Performance 
Agreements 
 
9.124 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a planning charge, introduced by the 

Planning Act 2008 as a tool for local authorities in England and Wales to deliver 
infrastructure to support the development of their area.  It came into force on 6 April 
2010 through the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.  NYCC is not a 
CIL-charging authority.  City of York Council and the North York Moors National Park 
Authority have not yet adopted any CIL policy.  However, should CIL be introduced in 
either of these areas any relevant obligations relating to minerals and waste 
development would need to be met. 

 
9.125 A Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) is defined as an agreement between the 

local planning authority (or minerals and waste planning authority in the context of 
this Joint Plan) and an applicant to provide a project management framework for 
handling a planning application.  A PPA enables the planning authority and the 
applicant to agree timescales, actions and resources for handling a particular 
application.  It should cover the pre-application stages but may also extend through 
to the post-application stage.  PPAs can be particularly useful in setting out an 
efficient and transparent process for determining large and/or complex planning 
applications.  They encourage joint working between the applicant and the planning 
authority and can also help to bring together other parties such as statutory 
consultees.  Their form can vary in type from a detailed legal document through to a 
much simpler memoranda of understanding.  Due to the scale and complexity of 
some minerals and waste developments, it may be appropriate for a planning 
application to be dealt with through a PPA. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX 1Page 411



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  212 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Chapter 10: Introduction to Site 
Allocations 
 
10.1 In order to help support delivery of the policies in the Joint Plan, a range of sites are 

identified as allocated sites in Appendix 1.  These are sites which have been 
submitted to the Authorities for consideration for allocation during preparation of the 
Joint Plan and which are considered suitable in principle for the forms of 
development proposed, following application of a site selection process, including 
sustainability appraisal.  In a small number of instances Preferred Areas have been 
identified.  These are broader areas within a defined boundary in which it is 
considered that there is likely to be potential to develop a suitable site, for example in 
order to meet longer term requirements for a particular mineral.  Planning permission 
would need to be granted, following submission and consideration of a detailed 
planning application, before any development of the site for the proposed use/s could 
take place.  The information accompanying each site allocation also identifies a 
range of key matters, identified as part of the site assessment process, to inform the 
content of such an application. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEX 1Page 412



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  213 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Appendices 
 
 
 
 
The following appendices form part of the Joint Plan. 
 
APPENDIX 1 -  ALLOCATED SITES AND AREAS OF SEARCH 

APPENDIX 2 -  SAFEGUARDED SITES 

APPENDIX 3 - MONITORING FRAMEWORK 

APPENDIX 4 - SAVED POLICIES TO BE REPLACED BY THE MINERALS AND WASTE 

JOINT PLAN POLICIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNEX 1Page 413



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  214 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Glossary 

Term Description 

Aggregates 
Sand and gravel, crushed rock and other bulk materials used in 
the construction industry for purposes such as the making of 
concrete, mortar, asphalt or for roadstone, drainage or bulk filling. 

Agricultural waste 

Includes a variety of substances such as pesticides containers, oil 
and silage wrap, as well as slurry which result from activities 
including horticulture, fruit growing, dairy farming, livestock 
breeding, seed growing, grazing and nurseries. 

Airfield (Aerodrome) 
Safeguarding 

Aerodromes need to take measures necessary to ensure safety of 
aircraft while flying in the vicinity of an aerodrome.  Planning 
applications should meet certain criteria relating to height and 
location of proposed development to the aerodrome.  Any 
proposed development with bird attractant properties within 13km 
of an aerodrome needs to be consulted upon. 

Air Quality 
Management Areas 
(AQMA) 

Locations where national targets for air quality are not being met.  
Each local authority is responsible for measuring their air quality 
and trying to predict how it may change over several years.  The 
aim of the review is to make sure that the national air quality 
objectives will be achieved across the UK by the relevant 
deadlines.  These objectives have been put in place to protect 
people's health and the environment.  If objectives are not 
achieved an AQMA with an accompanying plan is produced in 
order to improve air quality. 

Anaerobic digestion 

Organic matter broken down by bacteria in the absence of air, 
producing a gas (methane) and solid (digestate).  The by-products 
can be useful, for example biogas can be used in a furnace and 
digestates can be re-used on farms as a fertiliser. 

Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty AONB 

Area designated under the National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act 1949 where the primary purpose is the 
conservation and enhancement of natural beauty including flora, 
fauna, geology and landscape.  Each AONB has a Statutory 
Management Plan. 

Appropriate 
Assessment  

Process for assessing impacts on European sites, habitats or 
species.  It is a decision making tool. 

Aquifers 
An aquifer is an underground layer of water-bearing permeable 
rock or unconsolidated materials (gravel, sand, or silt) from which 
groundwater can be extracted. 

Area of Search 
An area identified as having minerals resources potentially 
suitable for extraction and where working may be acceptable 
subject to more detailed assessment at project stage. 

Authorities 
Monitoring Report 
(AMR) 

A report containing information on how plan production is 
progressing and once the Plan is adopted the extent to which 
policies set out in the Plan being achieved. 

ANNEX 1Page 414



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  215 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Best and Most 
Versatile Agricultural 
Land (BMVL) 

Defined as Grades 1, 2 and 3a by Agricultural Land Classification 
methodology.  BMVL is the land which is most flexible, productive 
and effective in response to inputs and which can best deliver 
future crops for food and non-food uses.  

Biodegradable waste 
Includes food waste, garden waste and cardboards which can 
decompose without any assistance. 

Biodiversity 
Simply means biological diversity. It is the degree of variation 
amongst living organisms within a given area.  

Biodiversity Action 
Plan 

Produced in response to UN Convention on Biological Diversity 
(1992) and lists priority habitats and species. 

Borrow pits 
Site where mineral (often aggregate) is excavated specifically for 
a construction project nearby.  

British Geological 
Survey (BGS) 

The BGS provides geological maps and advice to the public, local 
authorities, academics and industry. 

Brownfield site 
Land which has been previously developed, excluding mineral 
workings or other temporary uses.  

Building stone 

Hard rock types suitable for use directly for construction in the 
form of walling, roofing, flagstones or for ornamental purposes.  In 
the Plan area the principle rock types used as building stone 
include Carboniferous sandstones, Permian dolomitic limestones 
and Jurassic limestones and sandstones.   

Carbon Capture and 
Storage (CCS) 

Involves capturing carbon dioxide, either before or after burning, 
transporting it in pipelines and permanently storing it underground 
in suitable geological formations. 

CEEQUAL 

A sustainability rating and assessment scheme for civil 
engineering and infrastructure projects, similar to the BREEAM 
rating system for buildings. 
 

Climate change  
Is a change in the statistical distribution of weather over periods of 
time that range from decades to millions of years. 

Coal bed methane  Extracted by drilling into unmined coal seams to release the gas. 

Coal mine methane  Extraction of methane from active and abandoned coal mines. 

Coal mining legacy 
Disused mines which give rise to land stability issues and other 
hazards.  The Coal Authority map and monitor the mines and 
highlight public safety hazards and risk associated with them. 

Coal mining risk 
assessment 

Needs to be carried out by applicant in Development High Risk 
Areas and submitted alongside a planning application. 

Colliery spoil  By product of coal mining, can be used as secondary aggregate. 

Co-location  
Having complementary industries or facilities sharing the same 
area of land. 

ANNEX 1Page 415



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  216 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Commercial and 
industrial waste (C&I) 

Produced by a range of sectors which can be separated into 
commercial groups (including Retail & Wholesale, Public Services 
and other services) and industrial groups (including food, drink & 
tobacco, chemical/non-metallic minerals, power and utilities, metal 
manufacturing, machinery and equipment and textiles, wood and 
paper publishing). 

Composting 
Aerobic processing of biologically degradable organic wastes to 
produce an end product of compost. 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) 

A new levy that local authorities in England and Wales can 
choose to charge on new developments in their area.  The 
charges are based on the size and type of the new development.  
The money raised from the community infrastructure levy can be 
used to support development by funding infrastructure that the 
council, local community and neighbourhoods want, like new or 
safer road schemes, park improvements or a new health center. 

Conservation Areas 

Those areas which represent ‘an area of special architectural or 
historic interest, the character and appearance of which it is 
desirable to preserve or enhance under the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990’.  Also includes 
Nature Conservation Areas. 

Construction, 
demolition and 
excavation waste 
(CD&E) 

Waste which arises from activities such as construction, 
refurbishment, demolition or excavation.  It includes items such as 
plasterboard, bricks, soils, minerals, glass, metals and tiles. 

Conventional 
hydrocarbons 

Oil and gas where the reservoir is in porous rock such as 
sandstone or limestone and can be extracted using traditional 
drilling techniques. 

Crushed rock 
Hard rock (such as limestone) which has been quarried, 
fragmented and graded for use as aggregate. 

Designated heritage 
asset 

A World Heritage Site, Scheduled monument, Listed Building, 
Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered 
Battlefield or Conservation Area designated under the relevant 
legislation. 

Derelict land 
Land so damaged by development that it is incapable of beneficial 
use without treatment. 

Development High 
Risk Areas 
(previously Coal 
Mining Development 
Referral Areas) 

Identified by the Coal Authority mining areas most likely to be 
subject to land stability and other public safety hazards. 

Ecology The study of living organisms in relation to their surroundings. 

Ecosystems services  

Can be simply described as the benefits people obtain from 
ecosystems.  These include: provisioning services (food and 
water); regulating services (flood and disease control); cultural 
services (such as spiritual and cultural benefits); and supporting 

ANNEX 1Page 416



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  217 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

services (such as nutrient cycling that maintains conditions for life 
on Earth). 

Energy from waste 
(EfW) 

The conversion of waste into a useable form of energy, often 
electricity and/or heat. 

 

Environmental assets 
Naturally occurring entities that provides environmental “functions” 
or services. 

Environmental Impact 
Assessment 

Formal process used to predict the environmental consequences 
(positive and negative) of a plan, policy, program or project prior 
to moving forward with the proposal. 

Exception Test for 
flood risk 

This is undertaken for locations where the sequential test alone 
cannot deliver acceptable locations and where development is 
necessary for social or economic reasons. 

Flood alleviation 
Measures put in place to lower or eliminate the risk of flooding in 
developed areas. 

Flood Zones 

These Flood Zones refer to the probability of river and sea 
flooding, ignoring the presence of defences, and are classified 
into different categories.  The Environment Agency has a map of 
the different flood zones on their website. 

Furnace Bottom Ash 

Is the coarse ash fraction produced by coal-fired power stations 
when pulverized fuel is burned at high temperatures and 
pressures.  It has similar chemical properties to PFA, consisting 
predominantly of oxides of silica, aluminium and iron, but has a 
sand-like gritty texture and can be used as secondary aggregate. 

Gasification 
A chemical or heat process to convert a waste to a gaseous form 
of energy. 

Geodiversity 
The variety of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils, landforms and natural 
processes. 

Geodiversity Action 
Plan 

Used for the conservation and enhancement of geodiversity 
across an area or region. 

Green Belt  

Specially designated area protected from most forms of 
development in order to stop urban sprawl and the coalescence of 
settlements, preserve the character of existing settlements and 
encourage development to locate within existing built-up areas. 

Green infrastructure  

‘Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space, 
both new and existing, both rural and urban, which supports the 
natural and ecological processes and is integral to the health and 
quality of life of sustainable communities.  Green Infrastructure 
includes parks, open spaces, playing fields, woodlands, 
allotments and private gardens. 

Groundwater Source 
Protection Zones  

Protection zones for groundwater supplies such as wells, 
boreholes and springs including those used for used for public 

ANNEX 1Page 417



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  218 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

drinking water supply.  Displayed on maps and used to help 
prevent contamination of the water. 

 

Groundwater 

Is the water located beneath Earth's surface in soil pore spaces 
and in the fractures in rock formations.  A unit of rock or an 
unconsolidated deposit is called an aquifer when it can yield a 
usable quantity of water. 

Gypsum 

Gypsum is a product of the evaporation of seawater and is used 
mainly in the manufacturing of plaster, plasterboard and cement.  
Synthetic gypsum is produced at power stations as a by-product 
of the process of flue gas desulphurisation.   

Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) 

Is founded in European legislation and regulations which 
introduced a need to carry out Habitat Regulations Assessments 
(and the associated appropriate assessment) for any plans or 
projects which may affect European sites of significance (Natura 
2000 sites). 

Hazardous waste 
Waste that may case particular harm to human health or the 
environment. 

Heritage asset 

A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as 
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning 
decisions, because of its heritage interest.  Heritage asset 
includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the 
local planning authority (including local listing). 

Historic environment 

All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction 
between people and places through time, including all surviving 
physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, buried or 
submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora. 

Historic environment 
record 

Information services that seek to provide access to 
comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the historic 
environment of a defined geographic area for public benefit and 
use. 

Historic Parks & 
Gardens 

The Register of historic parks and gardens of special historic 
interest in England is a record of nationally significant historic 
parks and gardens managed by English Heritage.  As with listed 
buildings they are graded as I, II* or II.  Local authorities and 
County Gardens Trusts may have local registers or local lists of 
historic parks and gardens of local significance.  

Hydraulic fracturing 
(fracking) 

Fracking is the fracturing of rock by injecting a pressurized liquid 
in order to extract oil or gas. 

Incineration with 
energy recovery  

Burning of waste in an incinerator and using the energy produced 
as heat or as electrical energy. 

Incinerator Bottom 
Ash (IBA) 

Ash produced during burning waste in an incinerator. It has the 
potential to be processed and used as a secondary aggregate. 

ANNEX 1Page 418



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  219 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Landbanks 
A landbank is a stock of land with planning permissions for the 
winning and working of minerals, usually expressed in terms of 
assumptions about annual production rates.   

Landfill 
Disposal of waste into the land.  Usually involves the infill of pre-
existing voids.  Land raise involves the disposal of waste where 
there is no pre-existing void. 

Landscape 
An area, as perceived by people, the character of which is the 
result of the action and interaction of natural and/or human 
factors. 

Landscape character 
A distinct, recognisable and consistent pattern of elements in the 
landscape that makes one landscape different from another, 
rather than better or worse. 

Landscape character 
assessment (LCA) 

The process of identifying and describing variation in the 
character of the landscape, and using this information to assist in 
managing change. The assessment seeks to identify and explain 
the unique combination of elements and features that make 
landscapes distinctive. The process results in the production of a 
Landscape Character Assessment (also shortened to LCA). 

Landscape strategy 

The overall vision and objectives for what the landscape should 
be like in the future, and what is thought to be desirable for a 
particular site, landscape type or area as a whole, usually 
expressed in formally adopted plans and programmes or related 
documents. 

Listed Buildings  

Are buildings that have been placed on the Statutory List of 
Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest, under the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  A 
listed building may not be demolished, extended or altered without 
special permission from the local planning authority. 

Local Aggregates 
Assessment  (LAA) 

An annual assessment, prepared by mineral planning authorities, 
of aggregate minerals supply requirements in a planning area or 
areas. 

Local Authority 
Collected Waste 
(LACW) 

Household waste plus other similar waste collected and managed 
by local authorities. 

Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) 

Are locally-owned partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses.  They aim to determine local economic priorities and 
undertake activities to drive economic growth and create jobs. 

Low level (non-
nuclear) radioactive 
waste (LLR waste) 

Waste, not derived from the nuclear industry and having a 
radioactive content not exceeding four gigabecquerels per tonne 
(GBq/te) of alpha or 12 GBq/te of beta/gamma activity. 

Local Nature 
Partnership 

Partnerships of a broad range of local organisations, businesses 
and people who aim to manage and bring about improvements in 
their local natural environment. 

Major development 
test 

The NPPF states that planning permission should be refused for 
major developments in National Parks and AONBs except in 
exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated they 

ANNEX 1Page 419



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  220 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

are in the public interest. These applications should include 
assessment of: 

- The need for the development, including in terms of any 
national considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or 
refusing it, upon the local economy. 

- The cost and scope for having the development outside 
the designated area, or meeting the need in another way 

- Any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape 
and recreational opportunities, and extent to which that 
could be moderated. 

Major development in the context of the major development test is 
not defined and is determined on a case-by-case basis. 

Mechanical biological 
treatment 

Involves processing residual waste by a combination of both 
mechanical and biological treatment methods. 

Mechanical recovery 
facility (MRF) 

Actively alters the composition of waste in order to produce an 
end product that can be utilised. 

Mineral and Waste 
Joint Plan (MWJP) 

Is the planning policy document which will set out a local basis for 
minerals and waste planning for the area comprising North 
Yorkshire, City of York and North York Moors National park 
planning authority areas.  Forms part of the statutory 
Development Plan. 

Mineral consultation 
areas (MCAs) 

An area identified in order to ensure consultation between the 
relevant minerals planning authority and lower tier planning 
authority areas before the determination of non-mineral 
applications. 

 

Mineral safeguarding 
areas (MSAs) 

Areas defined by mineral planning authorities to protect potentially 
economic resources of minerals from other forms of development 
which may prevent future extraction of the mineral. 

Municipal waste  

Comprises mainly household and some other waste for which the 
waste collection and disposal authorities have responsibility forms 
an element of LACW, which includes similar C&I waste collected 
by local authorities. 

Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy  

Strategy produced by waste management authorities which 
outlines targets for dealing with municipal waste within their area. 

National Park  

Areas designated to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 
wildlife and cultural heritage of the area; and to promote 
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park by the public.  Two National Parks 
are located within North Yorkshire: the North York Moors National 
Park and the Yorkshire Dales National Park.   

National Planning 
Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

Simplified planning document which acts as guidance for local 
planning authorities and decision-takers, both in drawing up plans 
and making decisions about planning applications. 

ANNEX 1Page 420



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  221 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Planning Practice 
Guide (PPG) 

More detailed advice to be used in conjunction with the NPPF. 

Naturally Occurring 
Radioactive Material 
(NORM) 

Found everywhere in low concentrations, can be released during 
mineral extraction and processing when it is concentrated and 
becomes a waste. 

Neighbourhood Plan 
Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to 
develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and shape the 
development and growth of their local area. 

Oil and Gas Authority Oil and gas regulator in the UK 

Petroleum exploration 
and Development 
Licence (PEDL ) 

PEDLs cover the three main stages of petroleum activity which 
are exploration, appraisal and development.  The licence provides 
exclusivity to the holder to undertake seismic investigations, drill 
wells and develop discoveries.  PEDLs are issued by the Oil and 
Gas Authority, an Executive Agency of DBEIS.   

Potash 

There are various forms of potassium bearing minerals which can 
be mined for potash including sylvinite, polyhalite and carnalite.  
Potash is mainly used as a fertiliser and rock salt may occur in 
association with potash and this is used to grit the roads in winter.  

Power station ash 
Ash produced as a by-product by coal fired or biomass power 
stations.  Can sometimes be used as an alternative source of 
aggregate. 

Preferred area 
An area identified as having policy support for development but 
where it is not practicable to define a specific development 
boundary. 

Proximity Principle Dealing with waste close to where it arises. 

Pulverised fuel ash 

Pulverised fuel ash (pfa) is the ash resulting from the burning of 
pulverised coal in coal-fired electricity power stations. The ash is 
very fine and it is removed from the flue gases and can be used 
as a secondary aggregate. 

Pyrolysis  

The combustion of waste, at temperatures in the range of 400 – 
800c, in the absence of oxygen. The result is the production of 
liquid, gas and char, whose after-use depends on the type of 
waste. The most common usage is as a fuel for energy 
production.  

RAMSAR site 
Internationally important wetlands which are treated as European 
sites. 

Reclamation 
Restoring land that was once used for mineral extraction or as a 
landfill, in order to return it to a condition suitable for some other 
beneficial use. 

Registered 
Battlefields 

Designated battlefields which are monitored by Historic England 
and if required put on the ‘at risk’ register. 

ANNEX 1Page 421



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  222 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Registered Parks and 
Gardens 

Designated parks and gardens which are monitored by Historic 
England and if required put on the ‘at risk’ register. 

Reserves 
Mineral reserves are resources which are economically viable for 
extraction and have the benefit of planning permission. 

Residential buildings 

For the purposes of the Plan this includes any permanent building 
which is normally occupied by people or would be so occupied, if 
it were in use for purposes for which it is designed. 

Residual waste  
Waste which cannot be recycled or otherwise dealt with further up 
the waste hierarchy. 

Safeguarding 
Protection of specific resource or site from being adversely 
impacted by alternative or encroaching development. 

Scheduled 
Monuments  

'Scheduling' is the process through which nationally important 
sites and monuments are given legal protection by being placed 
on a 'schedule', under the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological 
Areas Act 1979.  Scheduling is the only legal protection 
specifically for archaeological sites.  Only deliberately created 
structures, features and remains can be scheduled. 

Secondary/recycled 
aggregate (RSA) 

Includes materials such as waste and by-products with properties 
which enable them to be used as an alternative source of 
construction aggregate.  Common examples are power station 
ash, spoil and recycled construction materials such as concrete 
and bricks. 

Sequential Test 
A sieving process which seeks to direct development away from 
areas more likely to flood. 

Setting 
The surroundings in which a valued area, site, building or feature 
is experienced.  Its extent is not fixed and may change as the 
asset and its surroundings evolve. 

Shale gas 
Gas contained within small pores in fine grained rocks which can 
only be extracted using certain techniques (see Hydraulic 
fracturing). 

Silica sand  
Sandstone which contains a high proportion of silica (99% SiO2) 
in the form of quartz.  Low levels of impurities are important as 
well as grain size. 

Site Allocations 
Identified sites with a specific boundary which could deliver the 
policies within the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan. 

Sites of Importance 
for Nature 
Conservation (SINCs) 

A site may qualify as a SINC due to the presence of notable 
species or an important habitat.  SINCs form part of a wider 
national network of non-statutory locally valued wildlife sites and 
are generally administered by local authorities in partnership with 
conservation organisations. At a local level SINCs are also known 
as Local Geographical Sites (LGS) and Local Wildlife Sites 
(LWS). 

ANNEX 1Page 422



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  223 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Sites of Special 
Scientific Importance 
(SSSIs) 

SSSIs are the country's very best wildlife and geological sites. 
There are over 4,000 SSSIs in England, covering around 7% of 
the country's land area.  Over half of these sites are 
internationally important for their wildlife, and also designated as 
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas 
(SPAs) or Ramsar sites. 

Source Protection 
Zones  

Environment Agency defined zones which include boreholes, 
springs and wells used for public drinking supply and certain 
commercial uses and so need protection from pollution. 

Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) 

These are areas that have been given special protection under 
the European Union’s Habitats Directive.  They provide increased 
protection to a variety of wild animals, plants and habitats and are 
a vital part of global efforts to conserve the world’s biodiversity. 

Special Protection 
Area (SPA) 

For rare and vulnerable birds as listed in Annex 1 to the European 
Union’s Birds Directive. 

Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) 

The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 (which transposed the SEA Directive into law in 
England). 

Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) 

An assessment usually undertaken by a local authority or group of 
local authorities to consider flood risk and examine the risks 
involved in developing certain areas within the County. 

Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 

Produced by local authorities as part of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to explain to the public how they 
can be involved in the preparation of local development 
documents. 

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) 

This is a formal systematic and iterative assessment of local 
planning policy documents during their preparation in order to 
assess the extent to which they encompass the aim of working 
towards sustainable development. 

Sustainable 
Communities Strategy 
(SCS) 

The SCS creates a long-term vision for an area to tackle local 
needs and is prepared by the Local Strategic Partnership. 

Sustainable 
development 

Is a pattern of resource use that aims to meet human needs while 
preserving the environment so that these needs can be met not 
only in the present, but also for future generations.  Delivery of 
sustainable development is an overarching objective of the 
planning system. 

Sustainable Urban 
Drainage (SuDs) 

SuDS are an approach to managing rainwater falling on roofs and 
other surfaces through a sequence of actions. The key objectives 
are to manage the flow rate and volume of surface runoff to 
reduce the risk of flooding and water pollution. SuDS also reduce 
pressure on the sewerage network and can improve biodiversity 
and local amenity. 

Two tier structure 
Where 2 or more Local Authorities cover the same area each with 
responsibility for different functions, including different aspects of 
planning. 

ANNEX 1Page 423



Adopted Plan  

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan  224 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Unconventional 
hydrocarbons 

Oil or gas which cannot be extracted using traditional drilling 
techniques and include underground coal gasification, coal bed 
and coal mine methane and shale gas. 

Underground coal 
gasification  

The burning of coal underground and extracting the gasification 
products which can be processed to provide fuel. 

Vein minerals 
Vein minerals are layers of ore between layers of rock and can 
include fluorspar, barytes and lead. 

Waste hierarchy 

Is a guiding theme for waste policy at all levels and seeks the 
sustainable management of waste  by giving preference to waste 
management methods towards the top of the hierarchy (such as 
prevention, re-use and recycling) over methods lower down the 
hierarchy (such as recovery and disposal).  

Waste recovery 
Processing waste to prevent it going to landfill.  Recovery 
processes include incineration with energy recovery, advanced 
thermal treatment, anaerobic digestion and composting. 

Waste Water 
Water which is disposed of at domestic properties or through 
commercial and industrial activities. 

World Heritage Sites 
World Heritage Sites (WHS) are protected areas that are 
internationally recognised for their outstanding global value 

Zero waste economy 
Where material resources are re-used, recycled or recovered 
wherever possible, and only disposed of as the option of very last 
resort 

 

ANNEX 1Page 424



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

1 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
 
 
 

1 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Report to North Yorkshire County Council, 

City of York Council and North York Moors 
National Park Authority 

 

 

by Elizabeth C Ord LLB(Hons) LLM MA DipTUS  

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State   

Date: 4 February 2022 
 

 

 

 

 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 
(as amended) 

 

Section 20 
 

 

Report on the Examination of the 
North Yorkshire, City of York and North York 

Moors National Park Authority Minerals and 
Waste Joint Local Plan 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
The Plan was submitted for examination on 28 November 2017 

ANNEX 2Page 425



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

2 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

The examination hearings were held between 27 February 2018 and 25 January 2019 

 

File Ref: PINS/P2745/429/10 

ANNEX 2Page 426



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

2 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Abbreviations used in this report 

 
 

BGS British Geological Survey 
AA Appropriate Assessment 
ha hectare 

HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 
HWRC Household Waste Recycling Centre 

LAA Local Aggregate Assessment 
LDS Local Development Scheme 

MWJP North Yorkshire County Council, City of York Council and North 
York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste Joint 
Plan 

MWPAs North Yorkshire, City of York and North Moors National Park 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authorities 

MM Main Modification 
MSA Mineral Safeguarding Area 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 

NPPW National Planning Policy for Waste October 2014 
PPG Planning Practice Guidance 

SA Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 
tpa tonnes per annum 

WMS Written Ministerial Statement 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

ANNEX 2Page 427



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

3 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Non-Technical Summary 
 
This report concludes that the North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and 

North York Moors Minerals and Waste Joint Plan provides an appropriate basis for 
the planning of minerals and waste provision provided that a number of main 

modifications [MMs] are made to it.  North Yorkshire County Council, the City of 
York Council and the North York Moors National Park Authority [M&WPAs] have 
specifically requested me to recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to 

be adopted. 
 

The MMs all relate to matters that were discussed at the examination hearings and 
were proposed by the M&WPAs.  Following the hearings, the MWPAs prepared a 

schedule of the proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal and habitats 
regulation assessment on them.  The MMs were subject to public consultation from 
21 July 2021 to 15 September 2021. I have recommended their inclusion in the 

Plan after considering all the representations made in response to consultation on 
them. 

 
The MMs can be summarised as follows: 

 Amending and adding trigger points for review; 

 Updating minerals reserve and requirement figures and splitting the figures 
for the different types of crushed rock; 

 Adding policy provisions for non-allocated mineral sites coming forward; 
 Clarifying and expanding building stone provision; 
 Amending hydrocarbon strategies to reflect various changes to national 

policy and to provide more precise guidance; 
 Clarifying relationship to and interaction with other regulatory authorities; 

 Updating capacity and requirement figures for waste; 
 Amending policies to ensure they fully reflect national policy and provide 

sufficient flexibility; 

 Adding new development management policies on air quality and planning 
obligations; 

 Strengthening nature conservation provisions in accordance with the 
Habitats Regulations; 

 Clarifying safeguarding provisions and inserting an additional policy; 

 Inserting additional allocations and development requirements to some 
allocations; 

 Adding further monitoring provisions for additional policies. 
 

ANNEX 2Page 428



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

4 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Introduction 

1. This report contains my assessment of the North Yorkshire County Council, 
City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 

Joint Plan [MWJP] in terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  It considers first whether the Plan’s 
preparation has complied with the duty to co-operate.  It then considers 

whether the Plan is sound and whether it is compliant with the legal 
requirements.   

2.  At the time of submission, the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
[NPPF] was in force and the MWJP was prepared with its provisions in mind.  
The NPPF made it clear that in order to be sound, a Local Plan should be 

positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  A 
revised National Planning Policy Framework was published in July 2018.  It 

included a transitional arrangement in paragraph 214 which stated that, for 
the purpose of examining plans, where those plans were submitted on or 
before 24 January 2019, the 2012 NPPF would apply. Further revisions were 

made to the NPPF in February 2019 and July 2021, although they did not 
impact on this plan.  The public consultation took place after these revisions 

and there was opportunity for comment on them. In short, therefore, for the 
purpose of examining this Plan, the policies in the 2012 Framework apply.  
Unless stated otherwise, references in this report are to the 2012 Framework.  

3.  The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the North 
Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park 

authorities [MWPAs] have submitted what they consider to be a sound plan. 
The basis for my examination is The North Yorkshire County Council, City of 
York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste Joint 

Plan, November 2016, plus the Addendum of Proposed Changes July 2017, 
both submitted in November 2017.  These are the same documents that were 

published for consultation in November 2016 and July 2017 along with 
Sustainability Appraisals [SA] on each.  

Main Modifications 

4.  In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the MWPAs requested that I 
recommend any main modifications [MMs] necessary to rectify matters that 

make the Plan unsound and/or not legally compliant and thus incapable of 
being adopted. My report explains why the recommended MMs, all of which 
relate to matters that were discussed at the examination hearings, are 

necessary. The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM1, 
MM2, MM3 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 

5.  Following the examination hearings, the MWPAs prepared several schedules of 
proposed MMs over time, culminating with a finalised schedule in July 2021. 

They also carried out sustainability appraisal and habitats regulation 
assessment of the modifications.  The finalised MM schedule was subject to 
public consultation from 21 July 2021 to 15 September 2021. I have taken 

account of the consultation responses in coming to my conclusions in this 
report. 

ANNEX 2Page 429



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

5 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policies Map  

6.  The MWPAs must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 
geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the MWPAs are required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 
map that would result from the proposals in the submitted plan. In this case, 

the submission policies map comprises the set of plans identified as “Policies 
Map, October 2016” as set out in CD23. 

7.  The policies map is not defined in statute as a development plan document 

and so I do not have the power to recommend modifications to it. However, a 
number of the published MMs to the Plan’s policies require corresponding 

changes to be made to the policies map. In addition, there are some instances 
where the geographic illustration of policies on the submission policies map is 

not justified and changes to the policies map are needed to ensure that the 
relevant policies are effective. 

8.  These changes to the policies map were published for consultation alongside 

the MMs and can be found at document LPA 126, July 2021 (the link to the 
Authorities’ website is https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/minerals-and-waste-

joint-plan-examination). 

9.  When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give 
effect to the Plan’s policies, the MWPAs will need to update the adopted 

policies map to include all the changes proposed in LPA 126 July 2021 and the 
further changes published alongside the MMs. 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

10.  Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires me to consider whether the MWPAs 
complied with the duty imposed on them by section 33A in respect of the 
Plan’s preparation and how the authorities engaged with relevant bodies. This 

includes cross boundary interactions with organisations outside the Plan area 
and also co-operation across the two tiers of planning authorities within the 

Plan area. 

11.  The Duty to Co-operate Statements identify strategic cross boundary issues 
relating to a range of matters including waste infrastructure and capacity, and 

cross boundary movements of minerals and waste. Several cross-boundary 
evidence base documents have been produced with other bodies such as a 

Local Aggregate Assessment for the North Yorkshire sub region, Marine 
Aggregates Study for the Yorkshire and Humber area, and Quarrying of 
Magnesian Limestone for Aggregate in the Yorkshire and Humber Regions. 

12.  Memoranda of Understanding have been agreed between the waste disposal 
authorities covering the Plan area, namely the MWJP authorities, Redcar and 

Cleveland Borough Council and the Yorkshire Dales National Park Authority. 
With respect to waste exports, a Waste Position Statement has been produced 

in collaboration with other waste planning authorities in Yorkshire and 
Humber. Cross-boundary movements of aggregates have also been addressed 
in a memorandum of understanding with the Yorkshire Dales National Park 

Authority. 

ANNEX 2Page 430



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

6 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

13.  Furthermore, North Yorkshire County Council has had significant involvement 

with the Yorkshire and Humber Aggregate Working Party and Waste Technical 
Advisory Group and has chaired their meetings. In addition, consultation has 
taken place with a wide range of organisations and bodies as part of the 

formal consultation process.  The MWPAs have been responsive to discussions 
and suggestions, which have been taken into account, and have often 

influenced the content of the Plan. 

14.  Overall, I am satisfied that where necessary the MWPAs have engaged 
constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation of the Plan 

and that the duty to co-operate has therefore been met. 

Assessment of Soundness 

Main Issues  

15.  Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 
discussions that took place at the examination hearings I have identified five 

main issues upon which the soundness of the Plan depends.  Under these 
headings my report deals with the main matters of soundness rather than 
responding to points raised by representors.  

Issue 1 – Whether the Plan seeks to provide a sufficient supply of locally 
and nationally important minerals in an efficient and sustainable 

manner and whether the proposed allocations are appropriate. 

16.  This part of the report deals with the part of the MWJP relating to strategic 
policies for minerals, and their corresponding allocations.  

Aggregates in general 

17.  National policy requires planning authorities to provide for a steady and 

adequate supply of aggregates.  The Local Aggregates Assessment [LAA] sets 
out the scale of provision required to be made in the Plan, appropriately using 
10 years average sales as a baseline and adjusting for local factors such as 

growth in housebuilding and supply constraints elsewhere in the region.  

  Concreting sand and gravel; building sand 

18.  For concreting sand and gravel resources, the LAA suggests that demand will 
be significant and there will be a continuing requirement for exports into 
adjacent areas where there are limitations on the availability of similar 

resources.   

19.  Based upon key markets and sources of supply of sand and gravel, the MWJP 

divides the Plan area into two areas, thereby helping to maintain supply in 
proximity to markets and reduce overall transport distances. Consequently, a 
northern distribution area mainly supplies the North East region, and a 

southern distribution area mainly supplies the south and west. 

20.  Plan Tables 1 and 2 set out numerical requirements for concreting sand and 

gravel and building sand, Policy M03: Overall distribution of sand and gravel 
provision shows the overall percentage distribution of supply, and the Minerals 

ANNEX 2Page 431



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

7 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Key Diagram depicts the division. However, despite their inter-relationship, 

none of these provisions are signposted to the other and this makes them 
ineffective.  Consequently, MM06 is required to link the policy to the tables 
and diagram. 

21.  The LAA identifies an annual requirement for each of the northern and 
southern concreting sand and gravel distribution areas, and for building sand. 

This is based on maintaining at least a 7 year landbank for each throughout 
the Plan period, in accordance with the NPPF. However, the wording in Policy 
M04: Landbanks for sand and gravel is not consistent with the NPPF and 

consequently MM05, MM08 and MM20 are needed to insert the words “at 
least” into the policy, and also into the Justification texts for Policies M04 and 

M08: Meeting building sand requirements.  

22.  The overall requirement for sand and gravel is set out in Policy M02: Provision 

of sand and gravel, with further detail in Table 1.  The current requirement for 
building sand is set out in Table 2. However, there is no reference in 
Policy M02 to Tables 1 and 2, rendering it ineffective. Furthermore, the 

requirements are likely to change over the Plan period, and will be monitored 
through the annual LAAs, which will identify future needs.  Consequently, the 

Plan must be reviewed periodically. The Policy provides for a mid-term review, 
although this does not accord with recent legislation which requires five yearly 
reviews (Reg 10A of The Town and County Planning (Local Planning)(England) 

Regulations 2012). Therefore, the Policy and Justification text need modifying 
to link Tables 1 and 2, amend the review period and explain the role of the 

LAA. This is achieved by MM04, MM05, and MM18.  

23.  Also, Table 1 requires amendment to take account of changes in allocations 
and tonnage provision, so as to make it effective. These modifications are set 

out in MM17. 

24.  Policy M07: Meeting concreting sand and gravel requirements demonstrates 

how need is planned to be met for concreting sand and gravel, and includes 
the allocation of specific sites, Preferred Areas, and Areas of Search. Policy 
M08: Meeting building sand requirements does similar for building sand, by 

allocating specific sites. However, whilst the allocations are named, there is no 
indication of which district they are located in, and there is no reference to 

Tables 1 and 2 (numerical requirements) or the Policies Map.  

25.  Furthermore, whilst the specific sites/Preferred Areas are linked in Policy M07 
to Appendix 1 of the Plan (setting out allocation details), the Areas of Search 

are not. Also, unlike the specific sites/Preferred Areas, the policy does not 
direct that key sensitivities/mitigation measures in Appendix 1 be taken into 

account for Areas of Search.  

26.  Moreover, an additional Preferred Area must be included to reflect an area in 
MJP17 (Land to South of Catterick) that was allocated in the Publication Draft 

of the Plan but unjustifiably removed in the Addendum of Proposed Changes to 
Publication Draft (see paragraph 82 below). 

27.  All the above omissions render Policies M07 and M08 ineffective. 
Consequently, MM14 and MM19 are needed to insert the additional 

ANNEX 2Page 432



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

8 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

information into the policies and make the identified links.  MM07 is similarly 

required to amend the Justification text. 

28.  There is no provision within the Plan for unallocated sand and gravel sites 
(apart from extensions) to come forward, and this makes it inflexible and 

unjustified as situations could arise which warrant additional sites. Therefore, 
MM14 and MM19 rectify this by introducing criteria-based provisions into 

Policies M07 and M08 against which non-allocated proposals may be tested. 
MM16 and MM21 insert corresponding details into the Justification text. 

Crushed rock 

29.  There are three types of crushed rock in the Plan area, each with different 
properties, namely Carboniferous Limestone, Jurassic Limestone and 

Magnesian Limestone. The LAA identifies an annual requirement for each type 
based on maintaining at least a 10 year landbank throughout the Plan period, 

in accordance with the NPPF. However, the wording in the Plan is not 
consistent with the NPPF and consequently MM09, MM10, MM11, MM12, 
MM13 and MM23 are needed to insert the words “at least” into Policies 

M05: Provision of crushed rock and M06: Landbanks for crushed rock and their 
Justification texts. 

30.  Table 3 sets out the details of crushed rock provision. However, it only deals 
with Magnesian Limestone and omits the other two types. This is unjustified as 
the Plan must show how all types are planned to be provided for.  

Furthermore, the figures in Table 3 need updating to be effective. Therefore, 
MM24 is required, which sets out what the overall crushed rock need is and 

how it is proposed to be met, breaking this down by type and updating the 
figures. Corresponding amendments to the Justification text are provided by 
MM23. 

31.  Amended Table 3 shows that the need for Carboniferous Limestone will be 
completely met through existing permitted reserves, whilst the need for 

Magnesian Limestone and Jurassic Limestone, besides drawing on reserves, 
will also require sites to be allocated. 

32.  The overall requirement for crushed rock and for Magnesian Limestone is set 

out in Policy M05: Provision of crushed rock.  However, unjustifiably, there is 
no reference to the Jurassic lime stone requirement. Furthermore, there is no 

link to Table 3, and the figures need updating, thereby rendering it ineffective. 
Also, the requirements are likely to change over the Plan period, and will be 
monitored through the annual LAAs, which will identify future needs.  

Consequently, the Plan must be reviewed periodically. The Policy provides for 
a mid-term review, although this does not accord with recent legislation which 

requires five yearly reviews (Reg 10A of The Town and County Planning (Local 
Planning)(England) Regulations 2012). Consequently, the Policy and 
Justification text need modifying to rectify these matters. This is achieved by 

MM09, MM10 and MM25.  

33.  Policy M09: Meeting crushed rock requirements demonstrates how need is 

planned to be met for crushed rock and includes the allocation of specific sites. 
However, whilst the allocations are named, there is no indication of which 

ANNEX 2Page 433



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

9 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

district they are located in, and no reference to Table 3 (numerical 

requirements) or the Policies Map is made, rendering the Policy ineffective. 

34.  The figures show that there is a modest shortfall in the supply of Jurassic 
Limestone during the Plan period. Whilst one allocation has been made for 

Jurassic Limestone (Settrington Quarry), to justify the policy, the omission site 
at Whitewall Quarry in Ryedale must also be allocated (see paragraph 85 

below) for geographical reasons and to ensure security of supply. 
Consequently, MM22 is needed to allocate Whitewall Quarry and insert the 
additional information and identified links into Policy M09. MM25 is similarly 

required to amend the Justification text. 

35.  There is no provision within the Plan for unallocated crushed rock sites (apart 

from extensions) to come forward, and this makes it inflexible and unjustified 
as situations could arise which warrant additional sites. Therefore, MM22 

rectifies this by introducing a criteria-based provision into Policy M09 against 
which non-allocated proposals may be tested. MM26 inserts corresponding 
detail into the Justification text. 

36.  Policy M06 requires new reserves of crushed rock to be sourced from outside 
the National Park and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  However, this 

blanket ban is inflexible and therefore unjustified.  Therefore, to add flexibility 
the words “as far as practical” must be added to the policy, and similar 
wording inserted into the Justification text. This is done by MM11 and MM13. 

Silica sand 

37.  Policy M12: Continuity of supply of silica sand supports potential development 

at Blubberhouses Quarry in order to maintain a minimum 10 year reserve.  
However, the wording used is not consistent with national policy. Neither is 
any reference made to the need to maintain a 15 year stock of silica where 

significant capital investment is required, as is the case for Blubberhouses. 
Again, this is inconsistent with national policy. Furthermore, Blubberhouses 

Quarry is not allocated and this is unjustified (see paragraph 84 below), 
particularly given its development support in the Plan. Consequently, 
amendments are required to the policy and Justification text as set out in 

MM27, MM28. 

38.  Blubberhouses Quarry is partly located within internationally important nature 

conservation designations. Consequently, to ensure that these conservation 
sites are adequately protected, Policy M12 makes reference to compliance with 
the Habitats Regulations. However, given the competing importance of the 

rare silica sand under consideration and the high level of protection that is 
required for the nature conservation designations, to make the policy 

effective, reference needs to be made to “Imperative Reasons of Overriding 
Public Interest” and compensatory measures/overall coherence of the Natura 
2000 network. This is achieved by inserting additional Justification text into 

the Plan as set out in MM29. 

Building stone 

39.  Policy M15: Continuity of supply of building stone is a criteria-based policy 
designed to provide opportunity for proposals to come forward to secure an 

ANNEX 2Page 434



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

10 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

adequate supply of building stone. However, there are many types of stone, 

and the Plan gives no indication of what types are present in the Plan area.  
Therefore, in order to effectively support a sufficient supply of available stone 
for various uses, as required by national policy, an indication of the types of 

stone present in the Plan area is needed. MM30 does this by inserting a table 
of stone types and their uses. 

40.  In order to support the various stages of winning, working and processing of 
building stone, Policy M15 must make provision for stone products and 
processing activities that are functionally linked to a quarry to come forward. 

M15 unjustifiably omits to do so. Furthermore, for stone destined for outside 
the Plan area, the policy imposes a criterion that requires a proposal to 

demonstrate that it would meet an important building stone requirement. This 
is too restrictive and hence is unjustified. Consequently, the provision needs 

more flexibility by removing the word “important” and simply referring to 
proposals meeting a particular building stone requirement, such as geological 
matching. These modifications are achieved by MM31. 

41.  Policy M15 also imposes restrictions on proposals within the National Park and 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. For stone destined for outside these 

areas, the policy is too restrictive and requires more flexibility to be justified.  
This is rectified by removing the limitation of requiring stone to be destined for 
“important designated or undesignated” buildings that need repair, and by 

expanding development opportunities to situations where stone may be sold 
outside these areas to preserve the overall economic viability of the source 

quarry. Accordingly, MM31 amends the policy and MM33 modifies the 
Justification text. 

42.  To support provision of additional reserves, Policy M15 makes a site allocation.  

However, there is no reference to it being shown on the Policies Map and no 
indication of what district it is in, thereby making it ineffective. This is rectified 

by MM31. 

43.  Moreover, the Plan must support stone processing as a rural enterprise in 
accordance with national policy. However, it does not do this adequately.  

Therefore, MM32 and MM34 are needed to include appropriate provision for 
this within the Plan. 

Hydrocarbons  

44.  During the course of the examination, there have been changes to national 
hydrocarbons policy and High Court judicial reviews, which impact on the 

Plan’s provisions. Most recently, the WMS of 4 November 2019 from the 
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy created a 

presumption against issuing Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, although no 
similar presumption emerged against granting planning permissions.  
Nonetheless, all relevant changes must be reflected in the Plan in the interests 

of clarity and effectiveness and to ensure consistency with national policy. This 
has resulted in several main modifications. 

45.  To be effective, the Plan needs to provide some background on the recent 
national policy changes and how they have impacted on the Plan. Besides 

mentioning the WMS of September 2015, the Plan must reference the WMSs 

ANNEX 2Page 435



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

11 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

of May 2018, May 2019 and November 2019 to add context and clarity. This is 

done through MM03, MM36, MM37, MM38 and MM42. 

46.  Similarly, the quashing of paragraph 209a) of the NPPF of February 2019 by 
the High Court in Claire Stephenson v Secretary of State for Housing and 

Communities and Local Government [2019] EWHC 519 (Admin), together with 
brief accompanying reasoning, need to be set out. MM37 inserts the 

appropriate text. 

47.  Other matters require amendment in the interests of effectiveness. The 
Justification text that specifies a need to demonstrate the non-hazardous 

nature of chemicals used in the process must clarify that such chemicals must 
be non-hazardous to groundwater. Appropriate additional wording is inserted 

by MM39. Furthermore, in setting out the range of issues to consider in an 
application, external lighting and flaring has been omitted and must be added.  

MM40 does this. Moreover, in explaining the interaction with other regulatory 
regimes, the function of the Oil and Gas Authority in regulating drilling must 
be included. As this has been omitted, MM41 is required to make this 

addition. 

48.  Policy M16: Key spatial principles for hydrocarbon development at paragraph 

b)ii) talks about sub-surface proposals and states that lateral drilling beneath 
a National Park or AONB for the purposes of appraisal or production will be 
considered to be major development. However, exploratory development could 

also have significant impacts on these designations and consequently, to be 
effective, the provision needs to be expanded to include all lateral drilling. 

MM43 achieves this. 

49.  Paragraph d)i) of Policy M16 makes provision for a 3.5km buffer zone around 
the National Park and AONB, where proposed surface development must be 

supported by a detailed assessment of potential impacts. This requirement is 
too restrictive in that it fails to take account of particular locational 

circumstances that affect visibility both within this zone and outside it. For 
instance, it could be that development within the buffer would be adequately 
screened by topography, rendering a detailed assessment excessive, whereas 

other development outside the buffer might have the opposite impact and 
require more detailed supporting evidence. 

50.  Therefore, as written, the provision is unjustified and MM44 is needed to add 
flexibility.  This is achieved by clarifying that the 3.5km buffer is a visual 
sensitivity zone where the need for detailed assessment takes into account the 

particular locational circumstances of the proposed site relative to the 
designated area. A corresponding amendment to the Justification text is made 

by MM49. 

51.  The Justification text to Policy M16 sets out the reasons for requiring the 
highest status of protection in the National Park and AONBs. However, when 

listing the qualities to be protected, remoteness and dark night skies have 
been omitted and must be added. For effectiveness MM45 inserts the relevant 

text.  

52.  Also, where hydraulic fracturing is proposed in association with conventional 

hydrocarbons, there may be circumstances which merit a departure from the 

ANNEX 2Page 436



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

12 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

more restrictive approach set out in Policy M16b). The Plan does not provide 

for exceptions being made in these cases, and this is unjustified.  
Consequently, MM46 is needed to add flexibility. 

53.  Where straddling applications are made to two planning authorities for 

horizontal drilling emanating from outside the National Park but extending 
under it, the development is likely to fall under the Environmental Impact 

Assessment regulations and be classed under the Plan as major development. 
Given the sensitivity of this area and the potential for impacts on the Park’s 
Special Protection Areas and Special Conservation Areas, for effectiveness 

more contextual explanation is required to guide developers. This is achieved 
by MM48. 

54.  Turning to the definition of hydraulic fracturing, there are different definitions 
that the MWPAs must consider. The statutory definition1 refers to “associated 

hydraulic fracturing”, which only applies to hydraulic fracturing using high 
volumes of fluid as set out in the Act, whereas the Planning Practice Guidance2 
uses a wider meaning without volumetric bars. The statutory definition is 

written in the context of well consents and the environmental permitting 
regime, as opposed to the PPG which is specifically directed at land-based 

planning. Accordingly, the Plan relies on the PPG advice. 

55.  The WMS of 17 May 2018 states that mineral planning authorities are 
expected to recognise the statutory definition of hydraulic fracturing, whilst 

having due regard to the PPG. In its 5 July 2018 report3 the Housing 
Communities and Local Government Select Committee said that there was a 

conflict between the two definitions. The Committee also commented that the 
advice in the WMS that plan-makers and decision-takers were expected to 
recognise the statutory definition gave rise to a lack of clarity and to 

uncertainty. 

56.  The matter was considered by Mr Justice Holgate in the High Court4 who 

indicated that planning authorities do not have to adhere to either definition 
and the WMS only requires them to have due regard to those definitions when 
drawing up their plans. Consequently, as the MWPAs have complied with this 

requirement, there is nothing unlawful or unsound about the approach they 
have taken in the Plan. 

57.  Nonetheless, to be consistent with national policy, the Plan must make 
reference to the fact that the statutory definition has been recognised. 
Similarly, it needs to be clear about its use of the PPG definition. 

                                       
1 Section 50 of the Infrastructure Act 2015, which inserts section 4B into the Petroleum Act 

1998 
2 PPG Minerals, Annex A, Paragraph 129 Reference ID: 27-129-20140306 
3 Report on the Housing Communities and Local Government Select Committee inquiry on 

whether the guidance on fracking and the existing planning regime are fit for purpose. 
4 Andrews v Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy [2018] 3775 

(Admin) 

 

ANNEX 2Page 437



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

13 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Consequently, the Plan requires clarification in this regard and MM46 is 

needed to address these matters. 

58.  Turning to the production of coal mine methane, Policy M16c) provides support 
for this in accordance with national policy. Extraction currently takes place at 

Kellingley Colliery and within the Selby Coalfield to generate electricity, but 
there is little guidance in the Plan on the types of location that might be 

appropriate for future applications and this makes it ineffective. Consequently, 
MM50 is required to deal with this. 

59.  Moving on to Policy M17: Other spatial and locational criteria applying to 

hydrocarbon development, Part 1 sets out provisions relating to accessibility 
and transport, requiring gas to be transported by underground pipeline, and 

hydraulic fracturing development to be located close to an available, adequate 
water supply. This is too restrictive and requires modification to be justified. 

Therefore, MM51 is needed to add the words “where practicable” to make it 
more flexible. 

60.  Part 2 i) deals with cumulative impact but does not mention climate change or 

the possible need for mitigation and adaptation measures. This is unjustified. 
Accordingly, MM51 inserts text addressing these issues. 

61.  Part 3 concerns the economy and seeks to avoid or minimise high volumes of 
heavy vehicle movements during local school holidays. However, there is 
inadequate justification for treating this narrow time period differently, and a 

more generic provision is needed relating to consideration of seasonal 
variations and peaks in traffic movements. Therefore, for justification reasons 

MM52 is required. 

62.  Part 4 i) seeks to protect local communities by establishing a 500m buffer 
zone around residential buildings and other sensitive receptors. This is 

contrary to the PPG which only supports buffer zones in appropriate specific 
instances based on site specific circumstances. Furthermore, the WMS of May 

2018 re-iterates the requirement that applications be assessed on a site by 
site basis, and states that plans should not set restrictions or thresholds across 
their plan area that limit shale gas development without proper justification. 

The area covered by the buffer zones would extend over a substantial part of 
the Petroleum Exploration and Development Licence areas, thereby setting 

restrictions that would limit shale gas development.   

63.  The question therefore arises as to whether the MWPAs can robustly justify the 
buffer zones so as to soundly depart from national policy, and whether the 

restrictions set are properly justified.  

64.  Shale gas is a nascent industry in England and much remains unknown about 

its potential impacts. The case of Claire Stephenson v Secretary of State for 
Housing and Communities and Local Government [2019] EWHC 519 (Admin) 
highlights some of these uncertainties.  For example, the differing scientific 

evidence on matters such as methane gas emissions to air, including the 
potential for fugitive emissions, renders uncertain the potential effects on air 

quality and health in the vicinity of nearby residences.  

ANNEX 2Page 438



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

14 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

65.  Moreover, the WMS of 4 November 2019 from the Secretary of State for 

Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy indicates that Government and 
regulators should regularly review whether the regulatory and legal framework 
for shale gas activities remains fit for purpose in the light of further evidence 

from shale gas operations. It continues by referencing a seismic event in 
August 2019 caused by hydraulic fracturing at a Cuadrilla operated site on the 

Fylde in Lancashire, which impacted local communities and was “clearly 
unacceptable”. The WMS also noted that “An event of this significance was 
considered highly unlikely in the detailed plan that Cuadrilla provided to the 

regulator before their activities began”. As a result, the Oil and Gas Authority 
suspended site operations. 

66.  Recently, the Government received a series of expert reports which were 
commissioned to better understand and learn from other induced seismicity 

observed in 2018. In drawing from the reports’ conclusions, the WMS said that 
“....the limitations of current scientific evidence mean it is difficult to predict 
the probability and maximum magnitude of any seismic events, either in the 

Fylde or in other locations.” Consequently, the Government indicated it was 
taking a precautionary approach, and on the basis of current scientific 

evidence, it introduced a presumption against issuing any further Hydraulic 
Fracturing Consents. Whilst this presumption applies to the consenting regime 
rather than to planning applications, the above issues are also relevant to 

planning and therefore the WMS is a material consideration for the MWPAs. 

67.  Returning to the PPG and the May 2018 WMS, it is clear that the potential 

impacts of shale gas development on nearby local communities are uncertain.  
Consequently, in principle, the MWPAs have a robust and proper justification 
for imposing a 500m separation distance between sensitive receptors and 

shale gas developments despite its limiting effect on the industry. 

68.  However, there could be instances where shale gas development would be 

acceptable within the buffer zone and, whilst the policy provides for such 
eventualities in exceptional circumstances, this is too restrictive and is 
therefore unjustified. Consequently, MM53 is needed to broaden the scope for 

development to circumstances where supporting information robustly 
demonstrates how unacceptable impacts can be avoided. Also, to be effective, 

the wording of the policy needs amending to prevent ambiguity and to clarify 
the type of impacts targeted. This is also addressed by MM53. 

69.  To be effective, the Justification text relating to Policy M17, 4)i) also requires 

amendment to better explain the reasons for the 500m separation distance 
and to reflect the Policy changes including concerns relating to induced 

seismicity. Similarly, guidance needs to be added, which gives direction on 
where the 500m will be measured from. MM55 deals with this. 

70.  Furthermore, to control the impacts of waste gas emissions, the policy should 

provide for its management, including by way of its capture and use where 
practicable. As this has not been addressed, for effectiveness, MM54 is 

required, which inserts such a provision as Part 4 iv).  A corresponding 
amendment is required to the Justification text as set out in MM57. 

71.  Also, to be effective, it is necessary to ensure that the risks of seismic events 
are adequately covered. Whilst the Plan mentions seismicity, it does not reflect 

ANNEX 2Page 439



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

15 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the concerns set out in the WMS of November 2019.  Neither does it reference 

the potentially greater risk from development in the vicinity of former 
underground workings or the vulnerability of important historical buildings. 
MM56 adds appropriate text to address these matters. 

72.  Policy M18: Other specific criteria applying to hydrocarbon development in Part 
1 i) deals with waste water.  However, it makes no mention of the need to 

demonstrate that adequate capacity exists for managing returned water from 
the development, and this is unjustified. Therefore, MM58 is needed to 
provide clarification. 

73.  In dealing with the various regulatory aspects of decommissioning and 
restoration following hydrocarbon development, the Plan must be clear about 

the MWPAs’ roles and how they interact with other regulatory bodies. To be 
effective, more explanation is required, particularly to clarify that the planning 

regime only deals with restoration of the site surface, leaving subsurface 
matters to other regulatory regimes. This is accordingly addressed by MM59, 
MM60 and MM61. 

Coal 

74.  Policy M20: Deep coal and disposal of colliery spoil permits deep coal mining 

subject to certain criteria. Given that coal is a fossil fuel, to be justified its 
impact on climate change must be considered when proposals come forward. 
As the policy omits this, MM62 is required to add this criterion. 

75.  Similarly, for Policy M21: Shallow coal, to be justified, a climate change 
criterion much be added along with robust criteria on the protection of 

National Parks, AONBs, nature conservation designations and Green Belt, as 
well as proximity to the highway network. As this is omitted, MM63 is needed. 

Potash, Polyhalite and Salt 

76.  Policy M22: Potash, polyhalite and salt supply is a criteria-based policy dealing 
with proposals both within and outside the National Park. However, one 

criterion relating to protection of the National Park requires there to be no 
detraction from the Park’s special qualities. This is unjustifiably restrictive, 
thereby requiring a change of wording to no “unacceptable harm”.  MM64 

addresses this.  Also, to be effective, MM64 adds wording to emphasise the 
need for major development to comply with the Plan’s relevant development 

management policy. 

77.  The North Yorkshire Polyhalite Project is huge with potential benefits extending 
beyond the Plan area.  Consequently, in the interests of clarity and to ensure 

the effectiveness of the policy, the Justification text needs to explain the 
context of the project. As there is no such explanation in the Plan, MM65 is 

required to insert the relevant details. 

  Minerals allocations 

78.  The minerals allocations, as set out in Appendix 1 to the Plan, are sound 

subject to the following modifications. 

ANNEX 2Page 440



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

16 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

79.  For health and safety reasons, the Ministry of Defence has requested that it be 

consulted if structures over certain heights are proposed on some allocations. 
Similarly, they need to be consulted on allocations where open water bodies, 
wetland habitat or refuse/landfill sites are proposed within bird-strike 

safeguarding zones. Consequently, to justify the relevant allocations, these 
requirements need to be included within the guidelines set out for each of the 

affected sites and areas of search.  

80.  The following modifications address these issues: MM108 for MJP06 (Langwith 
Hall Farm); MM109 for MJP07 (Oaklands); MM110 for MJP33 (Settrington 

Quarry); MM111 for MJP11 (Gebdykes Quarry); MM112 for MJP21 (Land at 
Killerby); MM114 for MJP17 (Land to South of Catterick); MM116 for MJP14 

(Land in vicinity of Ripon Quarry); MM117 for MJP10 (Potgate Quarry); 
MM123 for MJP08 (Settrington Quarry); MM126 for MJP30 (West Heslerton 

Quarry); MM127 for MJP63 (Brows Quarry); MM129 for MJP45 (Land to 
North of Hemingbrough); MM130 for MJP55 (Land adjacent to former Escrick 
Brickworks); MM131 for MJP28 (Barnsdale Bar Quarry); MM132 for MJP29 

(Went Edge Quarry); MM133 for MJP23 (Jackdaw Crag); MM134 for MJP22 
(Hensall Quarry); MM135 for MJP54 (Mill Bank Quarry); MM136 for MJP09 

(Barlby Road); MM137 for MJP24 (Darrington Processing Plant Site and Haul 
Road);MM138 for MJP27 (Darrington Quarry – Recycling); MM139 for MJP26 
(Barnsdale Bar – recycling); MM147 for MJP52 (Field to North of Duttons 

Farm); MM151 for Areas of Search A; and MM152 for Area of Search C. 

81.  Both sites MJP17 (Land to South of Catterick) and MJP21 (Land at Killerby) 

were reduced in size by the Addendum of Proposed Changes to Publication 
Draft (CD09) from what was in the submitted Publication version of the Plan 
(CD17). This was because of concerns raised by Historic England over 

potential impacts on the setting of certain heritage assets.  However, those 
concerns relate to matters that should be considered as part of the planning 

balance at the application stage, and do not justify the changes brought about 
by the Addendum at the plan making stage.  

82.  Consequently, the areas covered by the sites must revert to what they were in 

the Publication version of the Plan. However, more guidance is required in the 
key sensitivities of Appendix 1 to ensure that full account is taken of the 

relevant heritage assets. Also, in the interests of effectiveness, the restored 
area in MJP17 is now allocated as a Preferred Area rather than a site allocation 
to reflect the importance of the historic environment and the need for further 

assessment to determine whether there are parts of the area that should be 
excluded from development. These changes are brought about by MM112, 

MM113, MM114 and MM115. 

83.  With respect to site allocation MJP14 (Land in vicinity of Ripon Quarry), a 
factual error must be corrected, and additional information inserted on 

ecological sensitivities and development requirements for the allocation to be 
effective. MM116 addresses these issues. 

84.  As commented upon in paragraph 37 above, development of the omission site 
MJP15 (Blubberhouses Quarry) is given support in the Plan, yet it is not 

allocated and therefore modifications are required to include it as an 
allocation. Corresponding amendments are also needed to Appendix 1 to 
provide developer guidance in the interests of effectiveness. These must set 

ANNEX 2Page 441



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

17 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

out relevant details of the site, including key sensitivities such as traffic 

impacts incorporating those associated with the potential realignment of the 
A59, as well as ecological and historic heritage impacts.  In order to protect 
European sites and protected species, the need for an Appropriate Assessment 

must be clear.  The reasons for allocation must explain the national scarcity of 
this resource for glassmaking and indicate that there are no overriding 

constraints and no significant issues raised by statutory consultees. This is 
dealt with by MM118. 

85.  To be effective, the allocation of omission site MJP12 at Whitewall Quarry in 

Ryedale (see paragraph 34 above) needs corresponding details to be added to 
Appendix 1, including key sensitivities and development requirements. The 

reasons for allocation must also be summarized. Whilst the reasons for non-
allocation were the lack of overall need and the potential for adverse traffic 

impacts on communities, it has been demonstrated that there is local need 
which the site could meet, thereby reducing more long-distance lorry journeys 
and overall traffic emissions. Whilst some local traffic impact is likely, this is 

not sufficient to omit the site and can be dealt with at application stage. 
Similarly, any local air quality issues can be considered at application stage. 

Furthermore, the site is an extension to an existing operating quarry and 
without the allocation there would be significant economic impacts associated 
with closure of the quarry. In summary, there are no overriding constraints 

which would prevent allocation in principle and there is a demonstrable need 
for the mineral. Accordingly, the site should be allocated. MM124 adds the 

site as an allocation and provides comprehensive planning guidance and 
directions, which need to be adhered to before granting planning permission. 
There were two errors in the publicized MM schedule in that the permitted 

lifespan of the existing quarry is to 2031, not 2023, and the two-way daily 
lorry movements are 4 not 25. These errors have been corrected. 

Conclusion 

86.  Subject to the identified modifications, the Plan seeks to provide a sufficient 
supply of locally and nationally important minerals in an efficient and 

sustainable manner and the proposed allocations are appropriate. Therefore, 
the Plan is sound in this respect. 

Issue 2 – Whether the Plan seeks to manage waste sustainably and 
provide sufficient and appropriate waste management capacity in 
appropriate locations. 

87.  This part of the report deals with the part of the MWJP relating to strategic 
policies for waste, and their corresponding allocations.  

88.  In accordance with national policy, the Plan overall supports the movement of 
waste up the waste management hierarchy, respects the proximity principle, 
and seeks net self-sufficiency in capacity. Whilst the evidence suggests a 

reasonably high degree of self-sufficiency in the Plan area, there is inevitably 
some cross-border movement. This occurs particularly with hazardous and 

Low Level Radioactive waste, which need specialist facilities that usually serve 
a wider than local area. 

ANNEX 2Page 442



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

18 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

89.  Whilst the Plan provides some information on cross-border movements, this is 

inadequate, and more is required to understand the position on imports and 
exports and to justify the policies. In this regard, where just one year’s data is 
recorded, the Plan needs to give figures for several previous years. Therefore, 

MM66 is needed to insert the additional information into the Justification text.  

90.  Furthermore, Policy W02: Strategic role of the Plan area in the management of 

waste makes provision for facilities proposed to accommodate imported waste. 
However, the Policy does not make it clear that, in general, it seeks to cover 
specialist waste, such as hazardous waste, thereby making it ineffective. 

Consequently, MM67 is required to address this.  

91.  Waste capacity requirements over the Plan period are appropriately forecast 

from a range of assumptions about the scale of future arisings, and likely 
future waste management practices such as the extent of recycling and 

landfill. By comparing these requirements against existing operational waste 
management capacity and other information such as facility lifespans, 
potential capacity gaps have been identified. 

92.  Table 6 of the Plan sets out actual and projected operating waste management 
capacity within the Plan area. However, recently released waste capacity data 

provides updated information and, therefore, to be effective the new figures 
need to be substituted into the table. This is done by MM68. 

93.  Consequently, taking account of the updated figures, Table 8 on main 

projected capacity gaps and surpluses also needs amending to make it 
effective. MM69 achieves this. 

94.  Policy W03: Meeting waste management capacity requirements – Local 
Authority Collected Waste shows how the Plan seeks to meet the capacity 
requirements for this waste type, including through the allocation of sites. 

However, not all proposed allocations are listed, those that are do not state 
what district they are in, and there is no reference to the Policies Map, rending 

the Policy ineffective. This is rectified by MM70. 

95.  Policy W04: Meeting waste management capacity requirements – Commercial 
and Industrial waste (including hazardous C&I waste) shows how the Plan 

seeks to meet the capacity requirements for this waste type, including through 
the allocation of sites. However, the listed allocations do not state what district 

they are in and there is no reference to the Policies Map, rendering the Policy 
ineffective. Moreover, the omission site, Hillcrest recycling (see paragraph 103 
below), could help meet capacity requirements and must be allocated to 

justify the Policy. MM71 addresses these issues. 

96.  There are sites within the Plan area that have been granted planning 

permission to handle Commercial and Industrial waste but have not yet been 
implemented. Consequently, the situation needs to be monitored to ensure 
that sufficient capacity comes on stream. As this is not referred to in the Plan, 

to make it effective, MM72 is needed to add a monitoring provision to the 
Justification text.   

97.  To reflect the changes to capacity gaps/surpluses for Construction, Demolition 
and Excavation waste within Table 8, the capacity gap figures within the 

ANNEX 2Page 443



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

19 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Justification text also need amending for consistency and effectiveness. MM73 

and MM74 do this. 

98.  Policy W05: Meeting waste management capacity requirements – 
Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste (including hazardous CD&E 

waste) shows how the Plan seeks to meet the capacity requirements for this 
waste type, including through the allocation of sites. However, the listed 

allocations do not state what district they are in and there is no reference to 
the Policies Map, rendering the Policy ineffective. Also, to justify the policy, a 
new allocation for recycling at Whitewall Quarry must be added to help meet 

capacity requirements for construction, demolition and excavation waste (see 
paragraph 106 below). Therefore, MM75 is needed. 

99.  Policy W08: Managing waste water and sewage sludge is not intended to 
include waste water from hydrocarbon facilities, yet the policy does not 

specifically exclude it.  Therefore, to be effective this must be addressed as set 
out in MM76.  Furthermore, the provision for siting waste water treatment 
capacity is intended to include hazardous waste, yet does not do so, rendering 

it ineffective. Consequently, MM77 is required to rectify this matter. 

Waste management allocations 

100. The waste management allocations, as set out in Appendix 1 to the Plan, are 
sound subject to the following modifications to the development guidelines and 
the inclusion of additional allocations. 

101. For health and safety reasons, the Ministry of Defence has requested that it be 
consulted if structures over certain heights are proposed on some allocations. 

Similarly, they need to be consulted on allocations where open water bodies, 
wetland habitat or refuse/landfill sites are proposed within bird-strike 
safeguarding zones. Consequently, to justify the affected allocations, these 

requirements need to be included within the guidelines set out for each of the 
relevant sites and areas of search.  

102. The following modifications address these issues: MM106 for WJP13 (Halton 
East); MM107 for WJP17 (Skibeden); MM119 for WJP08 (Allerton Park); 
MM120 for WJP24 (Potgate); MM122 for WJP18 (Tancred); MM128 for 

WJP15 (Seamer Carr); MM140 for WJP10 (Went Edge Quarry); MM141 for 
WJP16 (Common Lane); MM142 for WJP06 (Land adjacent to former Escrick 

Brickworks; MM143 for WJP22 (Land on former Pollington Airfield); MM143 
for WJP03 (Southmoor Energy Centre, former Kellingley Colliery); MM145 for 
WJP25 (Former Arbre Power Station); MM146 for WJP19 (Fairfield Road); 

MM148 for WJP02 (Former North Selby Mine Site); MM149 for WJP05 (Field 
to North of Duttons Farm); MM150 for WJP11 (Harewood Whin). 

103. Moreover, the omission site, WJP01 Hillcrest recycling in Richmondshire, must 
be allocated for general recycling, transfer and treatment of commercial and 
industrial waste to justify the Plan’s commercial and industrial waste 

management provisions (see paragraph 95 above). Besides helping to meet 
capacity requirements in this part of the Plan area, it would also contribute 

infrastructure to move waste up the waste management hierarchy. 

ANNEX 2Page 444



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

20 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

104. The reason for non-allocation was because the site assessment indicated that 

allocation would result in the loss of an end-of-life vehicles facility. However, 
the evidence indicates that no end-of-life vehicles operations have taken place 
for some time due to lack of viability.  Furthermore, the site is not 

safeguarded for this purpose. No constraints have been identified which would 
prevent allocation, and no significant issues have been raised by consultees.  

105. To be effective, the policy allocation requires a corresponding addition to 
Appendix 1 to set out the relevant details, including site sensitivities, 
development requirements and reasons for allocation.  This is done by 

MM121. 

106. Moreover, to justify the Plan’s construction, demolition and excavation waste 

provisions and to further promote recycling, the omission site MJP13, 
Whitewall Quarry recycling in Ryedale, must be allocated (see paragraph 98 

above).  Whilst it was discounted for reasons of potential local traffic impact, 
this can be dealt with at application stage. There are no overriding constraints 
which would prevent allocation and no significant issues have been identified 

by statutory consultees. Recycling is already an established activity at the 
existing site, and the allocation would contribute to infrastructure for moving 

waste up the waste management hierarchy and help achieve self-sufficiency. 

107. To be effective, the policy allocation requires a corresponding addition to 
Appendix 1 to set out the relevant details, including site sensitivities, 

development requirements and reasons for allocation.  This is done by 
MM125. 

Conclusion 

108. Subject to the identified modifications, the Plan seeks to manage waste 
sustainably and provide sufficient and appropriate waste management 

capacity in appropriate locations.  It is therefore sound in this respect. 

Issue 3 – Whether the Plan seeks to provide appropriate direction for 

transport and infrastructure development and safeguarding. 

109. This part of the report deals with the part of the MWJP relating to Minerals and 
waste supporting infrastructure policies and Minerals and waste safeguarding 

policies. Apart from what is addressed below, these sections of the Plan are 
sound. 

110. Within Policy I02: Locations for ancillary minerals infrastructure, the siting of 
ancillary minerals infrastructure within the North York Moors National Park is 
overly restrictive, limiting it to certain named sites.  This is unjustified and 

needs amendment to make the policy more flexible.  Therefore, MM79 is 
required to broaden potential locations to all existing operational surface sites, 

other industrial land and also to places where there is overriding justification. 

111. The Justification text refers to support for infrastructure associated with 
minerals workings and deals with potential permitted development. However, 

it gives no direction on how a developer should respond to development that 
requires a planning application, rendering it ineffective. Therefore, additional 

text dealing with this matter is inserted by MM78. 

ANNEX 2Page 445



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

21 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

112. Policy S01: Safeguarding mineral resources and Policy S02: Developments 

proposed within Minerals Safeguarding Areas cover both surface minerals and 
deep minerals resources (potash and polyhalite). However, these two aspects 
need separating into distinct policies for clarity and effectiveness. This is done 

by MM80 and MM81, which delete the deep minerals provisions from Policies 
S01 and S02, and MM83, which creates a new Policy S03: Safeguarded Deep 

Minerals Resource areas. A corresponding amendment is made to the 
Justification text by MM82. 

113. Also, the surface provisions, to be consistent with national policy, must make 

clear that it is safeguarding from “non-minerals” development that is required.   
As this is omitted, MM80 is needed. Furthermore, to be effective and to reflect 

the Minerals Safeguarding Practice Guidance of April 2019, the text must make 
reference to the need for a Minerals Resource Assessment, which is currently 

missing. MM82 achieves this.  Moreover, the list of developments exempted 
from the restrictions within Policy S02 needs to be better signposted to the 
relevant paragraph in the justification text to be effective. This is covered by 

MM81. 

114. To be effective, Policy S03 has been more specifically drafted than the deleted 

texts in Policies S01 and S02 (deep minerals), as set out in MM83. This 
modification replaces vaguer text in Policy S02, and clearly sets out in Policy 
S03 Part 1 that Potash resources connected to Woodsmith Mine and identified 

on the Policies Map will be safeguarded from a list of non-minerals 
developments. Within that list, the reference to sensitive processes is clarified. 

115. Flexibility is ensured by adding a paragraph permitting non-minerals 
development where it can be demonstrated that a significant risk of 
sterilisation would not occur, or where the need for the non-minerals 

development demonstrably outweighs the need to safeguard the mineral.  

116. Unlike the deleted text of Policy S02, Policy S03 Part 2 clearly provides 

protection for potash and polyhalite from sterilization by other forms of 
underground mineral extraction, including underground gas resources. 
Furthermore, it contains a more flexible balancing provision, not only allowing 

the extraction of other minerals where no harm to the potash/polyhalite can 
be demonstrated, but also where the benefits of the other mineral 

demonstrably outweigh the need to safeguard.  

117. In the interests of effectiveness, a Potash minerals map is inserted into the 
Plan by MM85 which, amongst other things, shows the extent of the 

potash/polyhalite resource and the safeguarded area. With respect to the 
Policies Map, as the safeguarded area has been amended, the map will need 

consequential changes to ensure the soundness of the Plan.  

118. MM84 restructures and modifies the Justification text to the safeguarding 
policies to reflect the policy changes and amendment to the potash/polyhalite 

safeguarded area on the Policies Map. Additional detail has also been inserted 
to provide background, guidance and flexibility to justify the policies. This 

includes a section on the potential conflict with hydrocarbon extraction and 
how the minerals authorities will interact with other regulators (Environment 

Agency, Health and Safety Executive, Oil and Gas Authority and Mines 
Inspector) to resolve sub-surface issues. Moreover, as only part of the 

ANNEX 2Page 446



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

22 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

potash/polyhalite is safeguarded (mainly for economic and viability reasons), 

the modification introduces a commitment to keep the safeguarded area under 
review to ensure adequate resources for the Woodsmith Mine. 

119. Renumbered Policy S04: Waste management facility safeguarding (formerly 

Policy S03) seeks to protect the waste management sites identified on the 
Policies Map and shown in Appendix 2 of the Plan. However, the policy makes 

no reference to Appendix 2 and this is ineffective. Moreover, as the aim of the 
policy is to prevent proposed development from having a restricting impact on 
the use of the site as a waste facility (subject to exceptions), to be effective it 

should clearly say so. This necessitates the replacement of the ambiguous 
reference to “frustrate” with “unduly restrict”. Also, to justify the policy and 

make it more flexible, an additional criterion must be added to the excepted 
circumstances, namely, where the waste site is not viable or capable of being 

made viable. Moreover, whilst reference is made to exempted development in 
an exemption list, that list is not properly signposted, rendering the policy 
ineffective. Amendments to rectify these matters within the Policy are made 

by MM86, and corresponding flexibility is added to the Justification text by 
MM87. 

120. Furthermore, flexibility is needed to justify the policy so that proposed 
encroaching development is not prevented where suitable mitigation is 
provided or where there are other overriding benefits. As this is not clearly set 

out, MM88 is required to the Justification text to provide appropriate 
guidance.  

121. Renumbered Policy S05: Transport infrastructure safeguarding (formerly S04) 
seeks to protect the railheads, rail links and wharves identified on the Policies 
Map and shown in Appendix 2 of the Plan. However, the policy makes no 

reference to Appendix 2 and this is ineffective. Moreover, as the aim of the 
policy is to prevent proposed development from having a restricting impact on 

the use of the infrastructure for minerals and waste transport purposes 
(subject to exceptions), to be effective it should clearly say so. This 
necessitates the replacement of the ambiguous reference to “frustrate” with 

“unduly restrict”. Also, to justify the policy and make it more flexible, an 
additional criterion must be added to the excepted circumstances, namely, 

where the infrastructure is not viable or capable of being made viable. 
Moreover, whilst reference is made to exempted development in an exemption 
list, that list is not properly signposted, rendering the policy ineffective. 

Amendments to rectify these matters within the Policy are made by MM89, 
and corresponding flexibility is added to the Justification text by MM90. 

122. Renumbered Policy S06: Minerals ancillary infrastructure safeguarding 
(formerly S05) seeks to protect the minerals infrastructure identified on the 
Policies Map and shown in Appendix 2 of the Plan. However, the policy makes 

no reference to Appendix 2 and this is ineffective. Moreover, as the aim of the 
policy is to prevent proposed development from having a restricting impact on 

the use of the infrastructure for minerals purposes (subject to exceptions), to 
be effective it should clearly say so. This necessitates the replacement of the 

ambiguous reference to “frustrate” with “unduly restrict”. Also, to justify the 
policy and make it more flexible, an additional criterion must be added to the 
excepted circumstances, namely, where the minerals site is not viable or 

capable of being made viable. Moreover, whilst reference is made to exempted 

ANNEX 2Page 447



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

23 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

development in an exemption list, that list is not properly signposted, 

rendering the policy ineffective. Amendments to rectify these matters within 
the Policy are made by MM91, and corresponding flexibility is added to the 
Justification text by MM92. 

Conclusion 

123. Subject to the identified modifications, the Plan seeks to provide appropriate 

direction for transport and infrastructure development and safeguarding.  It is 
therefore sound in this respect. 

Issue 4 – Whether the development management policies strike a sound 

balance between seeking to provide appropriate development and 
protecting the environment and sensitive receptors. 

 
124. This part of the report deals with the part of the MWJP relating to 

Development management policies. Apart from what is addressed below, this 
section of the Plan is sound. 

125. Policy D02: Local amenity and cumulative impacts does not explicitly provide 

protection for local communities and residents, making it ineffective. 
Therefore, MM93 is required to address this. Also, to be effective, an addition 

is needed to the Justification text to explain how the MWPAs interact with 
other agencies such as the Environment Agency and to explain the 
requirement for environmental statements. This is achieved by MM94. 

126. Policy D04: Development affecting the North York Moors National Park and the 
AONBs is overly restrictive and unjustified. Also, to be effective, clarity is 

needed to show that viability relates to cost and scope, and other wording 
needs amendment to properly reflect the intention behind the policy and to 
correct an error. Consequently, MM95 is necessary to provide this flexibility 

and clarity. 

127. Furthermore, for reasons of effectiveness, the Justification text requires 

amendment to indicate that the national importance of a mineral is a factor to 
consider in a needs assessment. Again, to be effective, additional text is 
required to explain how cumulative impacts and effects on the reasons for 

designation, such as remoteness and tranquillity, will be dealt with. All this is 
addressed by MM96. 

128. Policy D05: Minerals and waste development in the Green Belt does not reflect 
national policy. Consequently, restructuring and rewording is required for 
consistency with national policy. This is achieved by MM97. A corresponding 

change is also required to the Justification text as dealt with in MM98. 

129. Policy D07: Biodiversity and geodiversity does not fully reflect national policy 

in that it does not completely distinguish the hierarchy of international, 
national and locally designated sites to ensure that protection is 
commensurate with status. Moreover, it does not set out what type of site is 

locally important, resulting in ineffectiveness. Neither does it require 
development to enhance biodiversity or provide compensatory measures as 

required by national policy. The level of protection, the types of habitats 
covered, and other sundry directions, including on compensatory gains outside 

ANNEX 2Page 448



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

24 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the Plan area, are also required in the interests of effectiveness. To be 

justified, the Policy must also address cumulative effects, which it fails to do.  
Consequently, all these matters need addressing and this is done by MM99. 

130. Furthermore, the Justification text requires more direction on cross boundary 

offsetting measures to be effective.  This is done by MM100. 

131. With respect to design, the preamble to Policy D11: Sustainable design, 

construction and operation of development refers to BREEAM and the Code for 
Sustainable Homes standards. This is inconsistent with national policy and 
therefore MM101 is needed to remove this reference and replace it with text 

relating to the Building Regulations. 

132. Policy D11 requires a climate change assessment for certain minerals and 

waste development. However, it does not specifically include hydrocarbon 
development and this is unjustified. Also, to be justified, it needs to be more 

flexible.  Both these matters are addressed by MM102. 

133. Policy D12: Protection of agricultural land and soils is too restrictive by 
disallowing development that causes any disturbance or damage to high 

environmental value soils. Therefore, it is unjustified. Consequently, MM103 
is needed to specify more precisely the types of soil and peat that are covered 

and to clarify that it is irreversible damage that is not permitted. 

134. The Development Management chapter does not include a policy on air 
quality. This is unjustified, as some minerals and waste development could 

adversely impact on air quality and this needs to be properly controlled. 
Consequently, a new policy is required, Policy D14: Air Quality, which 

introduces protective measures.  Corresponding Justification text is also 
needed to set out the reasons for the policy and how it will be implemented. 
These additions are achieved by MM104. 

135. The chapter has a section on planning obligations and performance 
agreements, some of the provisions of which read as policy. However, there is 

no actual policy and this is unjustified. Consequently, a new policy is needed, 
Policy D15: Planning Obligations, which sets out when developer contributions 
will be sought and how the level of contributions will be determined. A 

corresponding preamble to the policy is also required to provide context. 
These matters are dealt with by MM105. 

Conclusion 

136. Subject to the identified modifications, the development management policies 
strike a sound balance between seeking to provide appropriate development 

and protecting the environment and sensitive receptors. The plan is therefore 
sound in this regard. 

Issue 5 – Whether there are any other matters that make the Plan 
unsound. 

137. Whilst the monitoring and review provisions are generally sound, there are 

certain additions and amendments that are required as follows. 

ANNEX 2Page 449



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

25 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

138. As a consequence of the new Plan policies referenced above, to be effective, 

corresponding monitoring provisions need inserting into Appendix 3. This is 
done by MM153 for Policy S03, MM154 for Policy D14, and MM155 for Policy 
D15. 

139. Also, the review provisions need amending to accord with recent legislation, 
which requires five yearly reviews (Reg 10A of The Town and County Planning 

(Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012). MM02 deals with this. 

140. Moreover, to be effective, the shale gas trigger for review needs to expand on 
the uncertainty of impacts, leading to a precautionary approach being taken. 

Similarly, in the list of matters which may trigger a review, impacts from 
greenhouse gas emissions and on climate change should be included, as well 

as significant challenges to the capacity and capability of waste water 
treatment facilities. This is all achieved by MM03. 

141. Finally, for effectiveness, the Waste Key Diagram needs to correct an omission 
by adding a safeguarded waste site which was erroneously missed out. MM01 
does this. 

142. Subject to these modifications, there are no other matters that make the Plan 
unsound. 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

143. My examination of the legal compliance of the Plan is summarised below.  

144. The MWJP has been prepared in accordance with the MWPAs’ Local 
Development Schemes. 

145. Consultation on the MWJP and the MMs was carried out in compliance with the 
MWPAs’ Statements of Community Involvement.  

146. Sustainability Appraisal of the MWJP, the Addendum of Proposed Changes to 
the Publication Draft, and the MMs has been carried out and is adequate. 

147. The Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report of October 2016 and 

Addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment of November 2017 set out 
why an Appropriate Assessment [AA] was not necessary. A post hearing 

Updated Habitat Regulations Assessment was undertaken in November 2019, 
followed in November 2020 by an AA of the additional sites added to the plan 
allocations.  A further AA was carried out in July 2021 on the Blubberhouses 

site.  In response, additional text was inserted in MM29 and MM118 to make 
clear what tests were to be applied, and that the mitigation measures 

referenced in the July 2021 AA were requirements of any future development 
at Blubberhouses. 

148. The MWJP includes policies designed to secure that the development and use 

of land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, 
and adaptation to, climate change.  

149. The MWJP complies with all relevant legal requirements, including those in the 
2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations.  

ANNEX 2Page 450



North Yorkshire County Council, City of York and North York Moors National Park Authority Minerals and Waste 
Joint Plan, Inspector’s Report 4 February 2022 

 
 

26 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

150. I have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 

2010.   

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

151. The MWJP has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the 

reasons set out above, which mean that I recommend non-adoption of it as 
submitted, in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act.  These 
deficiencies have been explored in the main issues set out above. 

152. The MWPAs have requested that I recommend MMs to make the Plan sound 
and/or legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I conclude that with the 

recommended MMs set out in the Appendix the MWJP satisfies the 
requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for 
soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Elizabeth C Ord 

Inspector 

 

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications. 

 

ANNEX 2Page 451



This page is intentionally left blank



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                1 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft – Post hearing on 13.4.18 and 25 

January 2019 and following consultation on Written Ministerial Statement 2018, Select 

Committee Report, quashing of NPPF para. 209a and Written Ministerial Statement 

November 2019 – Produced July 2021 

 

Introduction 

1. It has been accepted by the Inspector that the changes suggested in the “Addendum of Proposed Changes” (July 2017)(CD09) be 

treated as part of the Plan as submitted for examination, along with the Publication Draft and its Appendices (CD17-21).  
 

2. The document sets out further modifications which have emerged since the addendum. The changes identified in this document include 

those identified in the “Schedule of Further Proposed changes to Publication Draft” (November 2017)(SD01), which were incorporated 

into “Suggested Main Modifications between Submission and MIQs” (February 2018)(LPA37). LPA37 also included amendments to 

Tables and other supporting text in the draft plan which arose from the document “Implication of any changes resulting from the North 

Yorkshire sub region LAA 2017 and Addendum of Proposed Changes to Publication Draft July 2017”(January 2018)(LPA06). Some 

further changes need to be made to those Tables and supporting text (see the Note LPA/68) and these are incorporated into this 

Schedule.  

 

3. Also included in this Schedule are modifications identified in the Authorities responses to the MIQs and discussed at the examination 

hearings in Spring 2018 along with extra modifications suggested by the Inspector during the Hearings. It also includes further 

modifications which have arisen in relation to recent MIQs December 2018 (INS/11) and the hearings on 24th and 25th January 2019.  
 

4. Two types of change/modification have been identified; 

 Additional Changes (AC) – this will include corrections to text, typographical errors and any changes which will not influence the 

policies in the Plan 

 Main Modifications (MM) – this will include any changes to Policy or supporting text which will have an influence on the Policy. 

 

This document only includes the Main Modifications; the Additional Changes are included in a separate document which can be viewed 

on the website.  

ANNEX 3
P

age 453



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                2 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Key 
Example: New Text 

Example: Deleted Text 

Example: Text in bold is Policy wording 

  
 

MM 
number 

Page 
No. 

Policy 
Ref/Paragraph 
Number/Refer
ence point 

Change proposed 

MM01 45 Waste Key 
Diagram 

Amend plan to reflect the additional safeguarded waste site detailed at ‘Addendum of Proposed Changes to 
Publication Draft Plan’: 

1) Showfield Lane, Malton 
 

MM02 46 4.10 National legislation and planning policy requires that development plans be kept under reviewed every five years 
from adoption. It is also possible that matters justifying a review may arise over a timeframe of less than five 
years. The need for review may arise as a result of factors such as a significant change in circumstances, including 
the availability of important new evidence, or a major change to national policy, or as a result of changing and 
unforeseen development pressures in an area. 

MM03 46 4.11 Add additional text and trigger point under 3rd bullet point 
 

 To respond to new issues arising out of any further exploration activity for shale gas in the area. Around 
the time of finalisation of the Joint Plan, in November 2019, the Government imposed an effective 
moratorium on hydraulic fracturing by introducing a presumption against the issuing of any further 
Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new evidence is provided which would address concerns 
about the prediction and management of induced seismicity. A written Ministerial Statement 
accompanying the introduction of the moratorium emphasised the Government’s view that natural gas 
remains an important source of secure and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in 
this. As the Joint Plan is intended to cover the period to 2030, the Authorities take the view that it is 
important to maintain local policy for shale gas development, so as to ensure that local policy coverage is 
in place should the moratorium be lifted, but it will be necessary to keep under review both the need for, 
and scope of, these policies. At present there is substantial uncertainty over the extent and geographical 

ANNEX 3
P

age 454



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                3 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

distribution of any commercially recoverable gas and this factor leads to lack of clarity over the scale of 
development pressure the area could be facing. There is also some uncertainty over the specific 
development ‘model’ that may be followed by industry in the UK with respect to shale gas, and how this 
might influence the scale and nature of planning impacts that could arise. Such impacts might include 
those affecting a localised area only, whereas other effects, particularly those relating to greenhouse gas 
emissions for example, could have wider implications in terms of climate change considerations. Whilst 
the policies in the Joint Plan set out a comprehensive range of criteria to deal with proposals for 
hydrocarbon development, based on available information, and represent a precautionary approach 
reflecting this uncertainty, it may be practicable to develop these further in future. This could require, in 
due course, provision of more detailed spatial guidance on the location and scale of new development 
which may be acceptable, as well as updated criteria on relevant operational issues which may arise. The 
MPAs will therefore initiate a review of these policies where this would be justified by significant new 
evidence emerging on relevant matters including: 

a) the scale and distribution of proposals for commercial production that could come forward following 
further exploration and appraisal activity; 

b) the environmental, economic, amenity or public health impacts of hydrocarbon development 
(including impacts from greenhouse gas emissions and on climate change, and as a result of induced 
seismicity); 

c) the award of any further Petroleum Exploration, Production and Development Licences in the Plan area 
or other significant regulatory changes relevant to the development of local planning policy; 

d)    where the capacity and capability of existing treatment facilities to deal with waste water arisings may 
be significantly challenged. 

 

MM04 50 M02  Change reference of “mid-term review” to “5 yearly review” and link to Table 1 
 
Total provision for sand and gravel over the 15 year period 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2030 will be 36.6 
million tonnes, at an equivalent annual rate of 2.44 million tonnes as indicated in Table 1 and Table 2. 
 
Additional provision shall be made, through a mid-term  5 yearly review of provision in the Plan, if necessary 
to maintain a landbank of at least 7 years for sand and gravel at 31 December 2030 and/or to meet additional 
requirements identified through updates to the Local Aggregate Assessment, based on an annual rate of 
provision to be determined through the review. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 455



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                4 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM05 51 5.15 Revise paragraph: 
 
To ensure that an adequate supply (i.e. to maintain a landbank of at least 7 years) is available at the end of 2030, 
additional resources may be needed to deliver this, depending on the actual scale of demand that arises.  As it is 
intended that the Local Aggregates Assessment will be updated regularly, and that it may be expected that the 
demand forecast may change over the Plan period in response to new information, it is not considered 
appropriate to specify, at this stage, the precise level of further provision that may be needed in order to 
maintain a minimum landbank of at least 7 years landbank at 31 December 2030.  This is a matter which can be 
addressed in monitoring of the Joint Plan and via a mid-term 5 yearly review, at which time the level of 
additional provision which may be needed can be the subject of updated assessment, through the annual review 
of the Local Aggregates Assessment, with additional site allocations brought forward if necessary.  A 
commitment to maintaining a landbank of at least 7 years is set out in Policy M04 and Policies M07 and M08 
identify sites which could be brought forward to meet landbank requirements for sand and gravel in the later 
part of the Plan period. 
 

MM06 51 M03 Add in additional paragraph and link 
 
Overall provision of sand and gravel will be allocated in the following proportions: 

 Concreting sand and gravel (Southwards distribution area): 50% 

 Concreting sand and gravel (Northwards distribution area): 45% 

 Building sand: 5% 
in accordance with the numerical requirements identified in Tables 1 and 2 and based on the indicative 
location of the Northwards and Southwards distribution areas as shown in the Minerals Key Diagram on page 
44. 
 
If it is not practicable to make overall provision in accordance with this ratio, through grant of permission on 
allocated sites, provision for concreting sand and gravel shall be made across both areas in combination.   
 
Add additional text into Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 
 
M01, M02, M04, M07, M08, S01, S04, S05, D01, Minerals Key Diagram (page 44) 

MM07 52 5.18 Revise last sentence 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 456



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                5 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

The division between the concreting sand and gravel northwards and southwards distribution areas is shown 
indicatively on the minerals key diagram (see page 44 of the Plan).  Specific requirements for sand and gravel in 
order to maintain an adequate supply throughout the Plan period are set out in Policies M07 and M08 and 
Tables 1 and 2. 
 

MM08 52 M04 Revise wording of the Policy: 
 
A minimum landbank of at least 7 years landbank for concreting sand and gravel will be maintained 
throughout the Plan period for each of the northwards and southwards distribution areas identified on the key 
diagram.   
 
A separate minimum 7 year landbank of at least 7 years will be maintained throughout the Plan period for 
building sand. 
 

MM09 53 M05 Revise wording of Policy: 
 
Total provision for crushed rock over the 15 year period 1st January 2016 to 31st December 2030 shall be 56.3 
51.75 million tonnes, in accordance with the numerical requirements identified in Table 3, at an equivalent 
annual rate of 3.745 million tonnes, within which specific provision for a total of 22.5 18 million tonnes at an 
equivalent annual rate of 1.520 million tonnes per annum shall be for Magnesian Limestone and 6.8 million 
tonnes at an equivalent annual rate of 0.45 million tonnes per annum shall be for Jurassic Limestone. 
 
Additional provision shall be made through a mid-term 5 yearly review of provision in the Plan, if necessary, in 
order to maintain a minimum at least a 10 year landbank of crushed rock, including a separate minimum 10 
year landbank of at least 10 years for Magnesium Magnesian Limestone, at 31 December 2030 and/or to meet 
additional requirements identified through updates to the Local Aggregates Assessment, based on annual rate 
of provision to be determined through the review. 
 

MM10 54 - 55 5.30 Revise the paragraph: 
 
To ensure that an adequate supply of crushed rock (i.e. a minimum 10 year landbank of at least 10 years) is 
available at the end of 2030, it may also be necessary to identify some additional resources towards the end of 
the Plan period, depending on the actual scale of demand and the extent to which any reserves are permitted as 

ANNEX 3
P

age 457



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                6 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

a result of implementing the Joint Plan.  As it is intended that the Local Aggregates Assessment will be updated 
regularly, and that changes to the demand forecast may be expected over the Plan period, it is not considered 
appropriate to specify, at this stage, the level of further provision that may be needed to maintain a minimum 10 
year landbank of at least 10 years at 2030.  This is a matter which can be addressed in monitoring of the Joint 
Plan and via a mid-term 5 yearly review, at which time the level of additional provision which may be needed can 
be the subject of an updated assessment, and additional provision made if necessary.  A commitment to 
maintaining a minimum 10 year landbank of at least 10 years of crushed rock throughout the Plan period, 
including a separate minimum 10 year landbank of at least 10 years for Magnesium Magnesian Limestone, is set 
out in the following policy. 
 

MM11 55 M06 Revise the wording of the Policy: 
 
A minimum An overall landbank of at least 10 years will be maintained for crushed rock throughout the Plan 
period. A separate minimum landbank of at least 10 years landbank will be identified and maintained for 
Magnesium Magnesian Limestone crushed rock.  
 
Where new reserves of crushed rock are required in order to maintain the an overall landbank above the of at 
least 10 years minimum period these will, as far as practical, be sourced from outside the National Park and 
Areas of Outstanding National Natural Beauty. 
 

MM12 55 5.32 Revise 1st sentence: 
 
National Planning Policy requires a landbank of crushed rock sufficient for a minimum of at least 10 years based 
on the anticipated rate of supply 
 

MM13 55 5.33 Revise text to reflect modification to Policy M06 
 
National policy supports the maintenance of landbanks of aggregate minerals from locations outside National 
Parks and AONBs, so far as practical.  Crushed rock resources occur within highly protected parts of the plan 
area, including the National Park and in both the Howardian Hills and Nidderdale AONBs. There are no current 
crushed rock workings in the National Park and the release of crushed rock in the Park to maintain the landbank 
would not be supported by national policy, unless it is not practical to make provision outside the designated 
area. Both AONBs currently contribute to the supply of crushed rock and therefore the overall landbank of 

ANNEX 3
P

age 458



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                7 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

reserves. The minerals supply policies in the Joint Plan support the limited working of additional resources at 
these sites. However, such support is provided in order to maintain the benefits that these established sites bring 
to the local employment and economy rather than the contribution they may make to the landbank. It therefore 
follows that the release of additional reserves in the AONBs, specifically in order to maintain the landbank of at 
least 10 years, over the 10 year minimum period will not be supported under this policy, unless it is not practical 
to make provision outside the designated area. 
 

MM14 56 M07 Revise wording of the Policy: 
 
Requirements for concreting sand and gravel will be met through existing permissions and the grant of 
permission on sites and areas identified in the Joint Plan and shown on the Policies Map for working., as 
shown on the Policies Map and as indicated in Table 1. 
 
Part 1) Sand and gravel (northwards distribution) site allocations: 
 

i) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan period: 
 

Land at Killerby (MJP21), in Hambleton and Richmondshire Districts 
 

ii) Allocations potentially required to contribute to maintenance of an adequate landbank at 31 
December 2030.  Permission will not be granted for development of these allocations prior to 
2025, unless there is a shortfall in the sand and gravel landbank in the northwards distribution 
area or there is a shortfall in production capacity in the northwards distribution area requiring the 
release of additional sites for working: 

 
Land at Home Farm, Kirkby Fleetham (MJP33), in Hambleton District 
Land South of Catterick (MJP17), in Hambleton and Richmondshire Districts 
Additional Preferred Area on Land South of Catterick, in Hambleton and Richmondshire Districts 

 
Proposals for development of these sites will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and 
incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 
 
Part 2) Sand and gravel (southwards distribution) site allocations and Areas of Search: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 459



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                8 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
i) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan period: 
 

Land at Langwith Hall Farm (MJP06), in Hambleton District 
Land at Pennycroft and Thorneyfields, Ripon (MJP14), in Harrogate Borough  
A Preferred Area on land at Oaklands (MJP07), in Hambleton District 

 
Proposals for development of these sites will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and 
incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
ii)   Areas of Search for concreting sand and gravel are identified as shown on the key diagram. Areas 

of Search A and C for concreting sand and gravel are identified as shown on the key diagram on 
page 44 and are set out in Appendix 1 as Area of Search A (in Harrogate Borough with a small part 
in Hambleton District) and Area of Search C (in Harrogate Borough).   Planning permission will be 
granted for development of sites within an Area of Search where necessary in order to maintain 
an adequate landbank at 31 December 2030 in the southwards distribution area and the need 
cannot be met through development of allocated sites or preferred areas.  Permission will not be 
granted for development within these Areas of Search prior to 2025, unless there is a need for the 
earlier release of further reserves in order to maintain an adequate landbank or there is a 
shortfall in production capacity in the southwards distribution area requiring the release of 
additional sites for working. 

 
Proposals for development of site(s) in the Areas of Search A and C will be required to take account of the key 
sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
Part 3)     Permission will be granted outside allocated sites, Preferred Areas and Areas of Search where the 

development would contribute to maintenance of an adequate and steady supply of concreting sand 
and gravel that cannot be met through reserves on sites or areas identified in the Plan, and/or the 
development would support the maintenance of adequate production capacity or an effective 
geographical distribution of sources of supply in the Plan area.  Proposals will also need to be 
consistent with the development management policies in the Plan. 

 
Key Links to other relevant policies and objectives 

ANNEX 3
P

age 460



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                9 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
M02, M03, M04, S01, Minerals Key Diagram (page 44) 
Objectives 5, 6, 7 
 

MM15 57 5.38 Revise 1st sentence  
 
Proposed site allocations in the southwards distribution area contain an indicative 6.6 5.8mt. This does not …. 
 

MM16 57 New para after 
existing 5.38 

Insert new paragraph 

Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing permitted reserves, is expected to 
be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate supply of concreting sand and gravel over the Plan period, it is 
possible that, for a range of reasons, reserves in these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the expected 
supply, or demand may be higher than expected.   It is also recognised that circumstances could arise where the 
release of further reserves for working could help deliver clear sustainability benefits. This could include benefits 
arising through proposals which would ensure that  adequate overall production capacity within the Plan area 
can be maintained, or an effective overall geographical distribution of sources of supply of concreting sand and 
gravel (for example through reducing reliance on imports from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific 
and more localised demands, not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a local supply 
source would deliver demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with reliance on established supply 
sources).     Any proposals for release of further reserves on land not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within 
the scope of Policy M10 Unallocated extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with evidence 
of the claimed sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with relevant development management 
policies set out in Chapter 9 of the Plan.   

MM17 58 Table 1 Revise figures in Table 1: 
 

Summary of concreting sand and gravel requirements and proposed 
allocations 

 Northwards 
Distribution 

Southwards 
Distribution 

Total estimated 
requirement over the 

 
16.5 

 
18.3 

ANNEX 3
P

age 461



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                10 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

period 1 January 2016 to 
31 December 2030 (million 
tonnes) 

Estimated shortfall 
(balance between 
permitted reserves at 1 
January 2016 and total 
requirement to 31 
December 2030) (million 
tonnes) 

 
10.3 

 
5.9 

Additional reserves 
required to provide a 7 
year landbank at 31 
December 2030 (million 
tonnes) 

 
7.7 

 
8.5 

Total estimated reserves 
available in sites proposed 
for allocation in Part 1(i) of 
Policy M07 (million tonnes) 

 
11.4 
Comprising: 
Killerby site MJP21) 

6.6 5.8 
Comprising:  
2.3mt (Langwith Hall 
Farm site MJP06)  
4.3 3.5mt (Land at 
Pennycroft and 
Thorneyfields, Ripon 
site MJP14)  
Oaklands site 
Preferred Area 
MJP07 (tonnage 
estimate not 
available) 

Total estimated reserves 
available in sites proposed 
for allocation in Part 1(ii) 
of Policy M07 in order to 
contribute to longer term 

6.7 5.67 
Comprising: 
3.5mt (Home Farm 
site MJP33) 

Estimated 
requirement to be 
provided from Areas 
of Search in the 
southwards 

ANNEX 3
P

age 462



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                11 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

landbank requirements 
(million tonnes) 

3.2 2.17mt (Land 
south of Catterick site 
allocation MJP17) 
and 
Land south of 
Catterick additional 
Preferred Area 
(tonnage estimate 
not available) 

distribution area: 6-
8mt depending on 
scale of any reserves 
delivered via the 
Oakland Preferred 
Area (MJP07) 

 

Sites with permitted 
reserves of concreting 
sand and gravel as at 30 
June 2016 (excludes 
dormant sites) 

Scorton Quarry, 
Bridge Farm (Pallet 
Hill) Quarry, Manor 
House Farm Quarry 

Marfield Quarry, 
Ripon Quarry, Ripon 
City Quarry, 
Nosterfield Quarry, 
Wykeham Quarry, 
Ings Farm 

 

MM18 58 5.39 Change reference of “mid-term review” to “5 yearly review” as following: 
 
Additional provision, if required in order to meet longer term concreting sand and gravel landbank requirements, 
will be met through a mid-term 5 yearly review of the Joint Plan in line with Policy M02. 
 

MM19 59 M08 Revise wording of Policy: 
 

1) Requirements for building sand will be met through existing permissions and the grant of permission 
on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for working and shown on the Policies Map as indicated in Table 2 

 
Land at Hensall Quarry (MJP22), in Selby District 
Land at West Heslerton Quarry (MJP30), in Ryedale District 
Land adjacent to Plasmor blockworks, Great Heck (MJP44), in Selby District 
Land at Mill Balk Quarry, Great Heck (MJP54), in Selby District 

 
Proposals for the development of these sites will be required to take account of the key sensitivities 
and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 463



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                12 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
2) Permission will be granted outside allocated sites where the development would contribute to 

maintenance of an adequate and steady supply of building sand that cannot be met through reserves 
on sites identified in the Plan, and/or the development would support the maintenance of adequate 
production capacity or an effective geographical distribution of sources of supply in the Plan area.  
Proposals will also need to be consistent with the development management policies in the Plan. 

 
Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 
M02, M03, M04, S01 
Objectives 5, 6, 7 
 

MM20 59 5.41 Revise text: 
 
Evidence suggests that the scale of additional provision for building sand needed to meet requirements over the 
Plan period is relatively small (amounting to around 0.9 million tonnes (mt) over the period to 31 December 
2030). A further 0.8mt would be required in order to provide a minimum 7 year landbank of at least 7 years at 31 
December 2030. Although there is only very limited evidence available on the distribution of potentially suitable 
building sand resources, a range of specific locations have been put forward by industry for consideration during 
preparation of the Joint Plan and these have been assessed. Requirements for building sand during the Plan 
period can be met through the release of reserves on specific sites put forward for consideration, which contain 
an estimated 2.5mt of reserves and therefore would also be sufficient to maintain a 7 year landbank of at least 7 
years for of building sand at 31 December 2030. The following table summarises requirements and proposed site 
allocations for building sand, as well as sites with existing permitted reserves expected to be able to contribute 
to supply. 
 

MM21 59 New paragraph 
after existing 
5.41 

Insert new paragraph: 
 
Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing permitted reserves, is expected to 
be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate supply of building sand over the Plan period, it is possible that, 
for a range of reasons, reserves in these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the expected supply, or demand 
may be higher than expected.   It is also recognised that circumstances could arise where the release of further 
reserves for working could help deliver clear sustainability benefits. This could include benefits arising through 
proposals which would ensure that  adequate overall production capacity within the Plan area can be 

ANNEX 3
P

age 464



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                13 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

maintained, or an effective overall geographical distribution of sources of supply of building sand (for example 
through reducing reliance on imports from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific and more localised 
demands, not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a local supply source would deliver 
demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with reliance on established supply sources).     Any proposals for 
release of further reserves on land not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within the scope of Policy M10 
Unallocated extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with evidence of the claimed 
sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with relevant development management policies set out in 
Chapter 9 of the Plan.   
 

MM22 60 M09 Revise wording Policy: 
 
Requirements for Magnesian Limestone crushed rock over the Plan period will be met through existing 
permissions and the grant of permission on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for working shown on the Policies 
Map, and as indicated in Table 3. 
 
Magnesian Limestone allocations: 
 

Part 1) Allocations required in order to meet requirements during the Plan period: 
 

Land at Jackdaw Crag South, Stutton (MJP23), in Selby District 
Land at Barnsdale Bar Quarry (MJP28), in Selby District 
Land at Went Edge Quarry, Kirk Smeaton (MJP29), in Selby District 

 
Part 2) Allocations required to contribute to maintaining an adequate landbank at 31 December 2030: 

 
Land at Gebdykes Quarry (MJP11), in Hambleton District and Harrogate Borough 
Land at Potgate Quarry (MJP10), in Harrogate Borough 

 
Maintenance of supply of crushed rock is also supported through the identification of allocated sites at: 
 

Land at Settrington Quarry (MJP08) (Jurassic Limestone), in Ryedale District 
Land at Whitewall Quarry (MJP12) (Jurassic Limestone), in Ryedale District 

ANNEX 3
P

age 465



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                14 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Land at Darrington Quarry (MJP24) (retention of processing plant site and haul road), in Selby 
District 

 
Proposals for the development of sites identified in this Policy will be required to take account of the key 
sensitivities and incorporate the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
Part 3)  Permission will be granted outside allocated sites where the development would contribute to 

maintenance of an adequate and steady supply of Carboniferous Limestone, Magnesian 
Limestone and Jurassic Limestone crushed rock that cannot be met through reserves on sites 
identified in the Plan, and/or the development would support the maintenance of adequate 
production capacity or an effective geographical distribution of sources of supply in the Plan area.  
Proposals will also need to be consistent with the development management policies in the Plan. 
 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives 
M05, M06, S01 
Objectives 5, 6, 7 

 

MM23 61 5.43 Revise text in paragraph: 
 
Evidence indicates that a further 8.166.9 million tonnes (mt) of reserves of Magnesian Limestone are needed in 
order to meet requirements over the period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030, based on permitted reserves 
at the end of 2015. Permission was granted in early 2016 for working of 0.7mt of Magnesian Limestone within an 
area submitted for allocation at Barnsdale Bar (North area), reducing the remaining requirement to 7.46.2mt. 
Sites expected to be able to contribute to supply of Magnesian Limestone during the Plan period are identified in 
Table 3 below. A further 1512mt of reserves would be required in order to maintain a minimum 10 year 
landbank of at least 10 years for Magnesian Limestone at 31 December 2030. 

MM24 61 Table 3 Revised Table 3: 
 

Summary of crushed rock requirements and allocations 

Rock Type Million Tonnes 

a) Crushed rock (total)  

ANNEX 3
P

age 466



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                15 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Total estimated requirement over the Plan 
period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030 
at 3.45 million tonnes per annum. 

51.8 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year 
landbank at 31 December 2030 

34.5 

Total  86.3 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 91.9 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan Nil 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via 
Policy M09 

18.2 (sites MJP08, MJP10, 
MJP11, MJP12, MJP23, 
MJP28 and MJP29). 

 

b) Carboniferous Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan 
period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030 
at 1.76 million tonnes per annum. 

26.4 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year 
landbank at 31 December 2030 

17.6 

Total requirement 44.0 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 71.5 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan Nil 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via 
Policy M09 

Nil 

 

c) Magnesian Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan 
period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030  
(million tonnes) at 1.20 million tonnes per 
annum. 

22.5  18.0 

Estimated shortfall (balance between 
permitted reserves at 1 January 2016 and 

7.4 

ANNEX 3
P

age 467



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                16 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

total requirement to 31 December 2030 
(million tonnes) 

Additional reserves required to provide a 10 
year landbank at 31 December 2030 (million 
tonnes) Additional requirement to maintain 
10 year landbank at 31 December 2030 

15.0 12.0 

Total requirement 30.0 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 11.1 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan 18.9 

Total estimated reserves available in sites 
proposed for allocation in Part 1 of Policy 
M09 (million tonnes) 

7.0 
Comprising: 
3.0mt (Jackdaw Crag Quarry 
(south) site MJP23) 
2.0mt (Barnsdale Bar Quarry 
site MJP28 North west area) 
2.0mt (Went Edge Quarry 
site MJP29) 

Total estimated reserves available in sites 
proposed for allocation in Part 2 of Policy 
M09 in order to contribute to longer term 
landbank requirements (million tonnes) 

7.5 
Comprising: 
3.8mt (Gebdykes Quarry site 
MJP11) 
3.7mt (Potgate Quarry site 
MJP10) 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via 
Policy M09 

14.5 comprising: 7.0 part 1 
(sites MJP23, MJP28 and 
MJP29)  
7.5 part 2 (sites MJP10 and 
MJP11) 

 

d) Jurassic Limestone  

Total estimated requirement over the Plan 
period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2030 
at 0.45 million tonnes per annum. 

6.8 

ANNEX 3
P

age 468



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                17 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Additional requirement to maintain 10 year 
landbank at 31 December 2030 

4.5 

Total requirement 11.3 

Permitted reserves at  1 January 2016 9.5 

Residual shortfall to be met through the Plan 1.8 

Total volume of reserves in allocations via 
Policy M09 

3.7 (MJP08 and MJP12) 

 

Sites with permitted reserves of crushed rock as at 30 June 2016 (excludes 
dormant sites) 

Carboniferous 
Limestone: 
Skipton Rock Quarry 
Pateley Bridge 
Quarry 
Barton Quarry 
Forcett Quarry 
Leyburn Quarry 
Wensley Quarry 
Low Grange Quarry 
 

Magnesian Limestone: 
Gebdykes  Quarry 
Potgate Quarry 
Jackdaw Crag Quarry 
Brotherton Quarry 
Newthorpe Quarry 
Went Edge Quarry 
Barnsdale Bar Quarry 
 

Jurassic Limestone: 
Newbridge Quarry 
Settrington Quarry 
Wath Quarry 
Whitewall Quarry 
Hovingham Quarry 

Table 3: Summary of Magnesian Limestone crushed rock requirements, and proposed allocations and existing 
sites with existing permitted reserves 

MM25 62 5.46 Revise text 
 
During preparation of the Joint Plan, sites for working other crushed rock resources (Carboniferous Limestone 
and Jurassic Limestone) were put forward for consideration1.  No specific requirement has been identified for 
the release of further reserves of these types of crushed rock in order to meet requirements over the period to 
31 December 2030 and it is not considered that identifying allocations for these is a priority for the Joint Plan.  
However, a small volume of further reserves of Jurassic Limestone (estimated at 1.8mt) could be needed to 
maintain a 10 year landbank at 31 December 2030.  Of the four sites put forward, only one is two are considered 

                                                           
1 Site MJP03 for working Carboniferous Limestone from land at Scarborough Field, Forcett, was subsequently withdrawn. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 469



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                18 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

suitable for allocation.  The reserves in this these sites (13.7mt) could help to sustain security of supply of 
Jurassic Limestone in this part of the Plan area.  Should proposals come forward for extensions to other existing 
Carboniferous or Jurassic Limestone sites these will be assessed under the requirements of Policy M10 
Unallocated extensions to existing quarries and, if the site is located in an AONB, Policies M01 and D04.  
 

MM26 62 New paragraph 
after existing 
5.46 

Insert new paragraph: 
 
Whilst overall provision made through the Plan, in combination with existing permitted reserves, is expected to 
be sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate supply over the Plan period, it is possible that, for a range of 
reasons, reserves in these sites or areas may not be able to deliver the expected supply, or demand may be 
higher than expected.   It is also recognised that circumstances could arise where the release of further reserves 
for working could help deliver clear sustainability benefits. This could include benefits arising through proposals 
which would ensure that  adequate overall production capacity within the Plan area can be maintained, or an 
effective overall geographical distribution of sources of supply of the three main types of crushed rock worked in 
the area (for example through reducing reliance on imports from outside the Plan area, or the meeting of specific 
and more localised demands, not foreseen at the time of preparation of the Plan, and where a local supply 
source would deliver demonstrable sustainability benefits compared with reliance on established supply 
sources).     Any proposals for release of further reserves on land not allocated in the Plan, and not falling within 
the scope of Policy M10 Unallocated extensions to existing quarries, would need to be supported with evidence 
of the claimed sustainability benefit and demonstrate compliance with relevant development management 
policies set out in Chapter 9 of the Plan.   

MM27 67 M12  Revise Policy text: 
 

1)  Proposals for the continuing extraction of silica sand at Burythorpe Quarry, including proposals for 
lateral extensions or deepening, will be supported in principle where necessary to maintain reserves 
during the period to 31 December 2030 and a minimum 10 year stock landbank for the site. 

 

2) In order to secure an adequate supply of silica sand of at least 15 years where significant new capital is 
required reserves are provided through a site allocation Proposals for development of silica sand 
resources at Blubberhouses Quarry (MJP15)., including p Proposals to extend time to complete existing 
permitted development or proposals for lateral extensions or deepening, will be supported in principle 
subject, where relevant, to compliance with the requirements for major development in Policy D04, 

ANNEX 3
P

age 470



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                19 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

compliance with the Habitats Regulations and compliance with other relevant development 
management policies. Any proposals will need to demonstrate a very high standard of mitigation of 
any environmental impacts and high quality restoration, including protection of peat resources.  

 

MM28 67 5.66 Revise 2nd and 3rd sentences: 
 
…of peat.  The site has been dormant since 1991 and the original permission has now expired, although prior to 
expiry an application (ref. NY/2011/0465/73) for an extension of time was submitted, which is currently 
undetermined.  The national policy requirement for available reserves at the Blubberhouses site would be met in 
the event that the current planning application for an the extension of time is granted and the allocation of the 
site reflects that, for extraction at the site to occur, significant new capital investment would be required.  The 
location of the site … 
 

MM29 68 5.67 Revise paragraph: 
 
The proximity of designated internationally important nature conservation sites also means that Appropriate 
Assessment under the Habitats Regulations will be needed. Where applicable to the location, any planning 
application for future development will need to consider appropriately the impacts on the integrity of the 
internationally important nature conservation designations in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017. This may include the need to demonstrate potential “Imperative Reasons of 
Overriding Public Interest” (IROPI) subject to securing compensatory measures that ensure the overall coherence 
of the Natura 2000 network. Any development that would be likely to have a significant effect on a European 
site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, will be subject to assessment under the Habitats 
Regulations at project application stage. If it cannot be ascertained that there would be no adverse effects on 
site integrity the project will have to be refused or pass the tests of regulations 63 and 64, in which case any 
necessary compensatory measures will need to be secured in accordance with regulation 68.  As a result of these 
major constraints, the acceptability of future development at Blubberhouses Quarry can only will be fully tested 
if specific proposals are brought forward in a when the planning application (ref. NY/2011/0465/73) or any other 
relevant applications are determined. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 471



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                20 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM30 72 5.83 Add additional sentence and table to end of Para: 
 
The following table identifies active building stone sites in the Joint Plan area and the details of the stone 
extracted and uses. 
 

Site name Type of 
stone 

Details of stone Uses 

Gatherley Moor 
Permitted  
Until 28th 
February 2020 

Sandstone Alston sandstone – 
generally fine to 
medium grained, iron 
rich which gives an 
orange colour tinged 
with grey. 

Building 
stone and 
used for flags 
and roofing 
tiles. 

Grey Yaud 
Permitted until 
20 December 
2036 

Sandstone Lower follifoot grit – 
coarse grain buff 
coloured sandstone 

Repair and 
renovation 
of local 
buildings 

Carkin Moor 
Permitted until 
31 July 2036 

Sandstone Alston sandstone – 
generally fine to 
medium grained, iron 
rich which gives an 
orange colour tinged 
with grey. 

Building 
stone and 
used for flags 
and roofing 
tiles. 

Melsonby 
Permitted until 3 
December 2032  

Limestone Underset limestone – 
grey base containing 
white or crystalline 
fossils, also known as 
Swaledale Fossil 
Limestone 

Building 
stone 

Highmoor 
Permitted until 
28 July 2021 

Limestone Lower magnesian 
limestone – fine to 
coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Quality 
building 
stone 

ANNEX 3
P

age 472



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                21 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Low Grange 
Permitted until 
22 February 2042 

Limestone Underset limestone – 
grey base containing 
white or crystalline 
fossils, also known as 
Swaledale Fossil 
Limestone 

Building 
stone 

Went Edge 
Permitted until 
September 2023 

 Lower magnesian 
limestone – fine to 
coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Quality 
building 
stone 

Brotherton 
Permitted until 
31 December 
2020 

Limestone Upper magnesian 
limestone – Fine to 
coarse grained, pale 
yellow-white 

Field walls 
and farm 
buildings, 
also used as 
a source of 
lime. 

Aislaby 
(Does not have a 

time limit, but has 
a resource limit 
instead) 

Sandstone Aislaby stone – medium 
to coarse grained, buff, 
yellow and brown in 
colour 

Building 
stone, 
freestone, 
ashlar, farm 
buildings, 
walls and 
monumental 
sculptures 

Lowther’s Crag 
Permitted until 6 
December 2022 

Sandstone Saltwick sandstone - 
medium to coarse 
grained, buff, yellow 
and brown 

Slabs, 
freestone, 
ashlar, 
quoins, 
walling stone 
and rubble 
fill 

ANNEX 3
P

age 473



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                22 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Whitewall Quarry Limestone Coralline Oolite 

Formation  

 

Building 
stone 

 

MM31 72 M15 Provide additional text in Policy: 
 
1) In order to secure an adequate supply of building stone, proposals will, where consistent with other policies 
in the Joint Plan, be permitted for:- 

i. the extension of time for completion of extraction at permitted building stone extraction sites; 
ii. the lateral extension and/or deepening of workings at permitted building stone extraction sites; 

iii. the re-opening of former building stone quarries; 
iv. the opening of new sites for building stone extraction, including the small- scale extraction of building 

stone at new sites adjacent to existing historic buildings or structures where the use is specifically for 
their repair; 

v. the incidental production of building stone in association with the working of crushed rock; 
vi. the grant of permission on sites allocated in the Joint Plan for working of building stone; 

vii. development for building stone products and processing activities including at appropriate locations 
functionally but not physically linked to an existing quarry;  

vii) W where development is proposed in the National Park or an AONB under criteria i) to iv) above, and 
where the development comprises major development due to its scale and nature, proposals will need 
to meet the requirements for major development set out in Policy D04. 

 
2) Proposals for the supply of building stone should be supported by evidence to demonstrate the contribution 
that the stone proposed to be worked would make to the quality of the built and/or historic environment in 
the Plan area and/or to meeting important particular requirements for building stone outside the area, such as 
geological matching. The scale of the proposal should be consistent with the identified needs for the stone. 
 
3) For proposals Proposals for the supply of building stone from locations within the National Park or AONBs, 
it will need to be demonstrated that the stone is required primarily to meet requirements arising from new 
build or repair work within the National Park and/or AONBs, or for the repair of important designated or 

ANNEX 3
P

age 474



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                23 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

undesignated buildings or structures which rely on the proposed source of stone as the original source of 
supply, or provide a directly equivalent product which can no longer be provided from the original source 
supply, or is required to be sold out of the National Park or AONB so as to preserve the overall economic 
viability of the source quarry . 
 
4) Additional reserves to help to maintain the supply of building stone are also provided through a site 
allocation as shown on the Policies Map for: 
 

 Land at Brows Quarry (MJP63) in Ryedale District. 
 
Proposals for development at this site will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate 
the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 
 
Revise ‘Key links to other relevant policies and objectives’ table: 
 
M10, I02, S01, D04, D08 
 

MM32 73 5.86 Add additional sentence to end of paragraph: 
 
Building stone quarries are typically relatively small in scale but, as a result of the need to source stone of 
particular technical or aesthetic properties, may sometimes be proposed in sensitive locations with the potential 
for impacts on the environment or local communities.  It is therefore important that proposals can demonstrate 
compliance with other relevant policies in the Joint Plan.  Proposals for sustainable stone processing at a quarry 
or at an existing stone recycling facility including; sawing, tooling and screening would need to demonstrate 
compliance with the development management and other infrastructure policies in the Joint Plan. 
 

MM33 73 5.88 Add additional text: 
 
It is nevertheless recognised that in some instances it may be appropriate for high quality building stone worked 
in the Plan area to serve wider markets, including in cases where stone from the Plan area has been used in 
important buildings and structures elsewhere or can provide a similar match to stones which are no longer 
available elsewhere. It is therefore important that applications for working of high quality stone such as ashlar 
are accompanied by supporting information on requirements for the stone, including, for example, reference to 

ANNEX 3
P

age 475



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                24 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the Strategic Stone Study (a national study led by Historic England working with the British Geological Survey 
which identifies the most significant building stone resources as well as, in some cases, the original sources of 
stone for particular buildings or settlements). Existing quarries in designated areas are important in terms of 
preserving and enhancing the built character of the protected areas by providing geologically matching stone. 
Where it can be demonstrated that sale of stone outside the designated area is necessary to preserve the 
economic viability of an existing quarry which primarily supplies stone to the designated area, such sales to 
preserve economic viability will be supported.  
 

MM34 74 5.90 Add additional text: 
 
There may be occasions where suitable stone resources are available immediately adjacent to the site where 
they will be utilised and, as this can represent a sustainable option, limited extraction specifically to serve repair 
needs for adjacent existing historic structures or buildings will be supported in principle. There may be sites 
dealing with stone products that are not at existing quarries, which are nevertheless important for the supply of 
stone products to the plan area. It is therefore appropriate to support their ongoing development where there is 
compliance with the development management and other infrastructure policies in the Joint Plan. 
 

MM35 75 5.93 Add in text 
 
Since work started on the Joint Plan, there has been increasing public and commercial interest in issues 
associated with developing onshore shale gas resources.  This is a highly relevant issue for the Plan area 
following the announcement by Government in late 2015 of new oil and gas exploration and development 
licences (PEDLs) in the eastern part of the area (see fig. 12), as well as the approval in 2016 of proposals for 
hydraulic fracturing for shale gas at an existing well site near Kirby Misperton, in Ryedale District.  Nevertheless, 
substantial uncertainties remain about the scale and distribution of any future proposals that could come 
forward. Around the time of finalisation of the Joint Plan, in November 2019, the Government imposed an 
effective moratorium on hydraulic fracturing by introducing a presumption against the issuing of any further 
Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new evidence is produced which would address concerns about 
prediction and management of induced seismicity. A Written Ministerial Statement of 4 November 2019, 
accompanying the introduction of the moratorium, emphasised the Government’s view that natural gas remains 
an important source of secure and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in this. As the Joint 
Plan is intended to cover the period to 2030, the Authorities take the view that it is important to maintain local 
policy for shale gas development, so as to ensure that policy coverage is in place should the moratorium be 

ANNEX 3
P

age 476



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                25 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

lifted, but it will be necessary to keep under review both the need for, and scope of, these policies as explained 
in more detail in para 4.11. 
 

MM36 78 5.106 Add new final sentence 
 
More, recently, in September 2015, a Written Ministerial Statement by Government indicated that there is a 
national need to explore and develop shale gas in a safe, sustainable and timely way. A further Ministerial 
Statement on Energy Policy, published in May 2018, reaffirmed Government’s view on the national importance 
of shale gas and their support for the principle of shale gas development, and signalled an intention to create the 
world’s most environmentally robust onshore shale gas sector. Government subsequently advised, in a further 
Written Ministerial Statement of May 2019, that policy for onshore oil and gas, including references to the local 
and national importance of unconventional oil and gas and the need to give weight to the benefits of minerals 
extraction, contained in the Statements of September 2015 and May 2018, remain extant. A Written Ministerial 
Statement in November 2019 reiterated the Government’s view that natural gas remains an important source of 
secure and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role in this. The context to the Statements of 
May and November 2019 is explained in more detail in the next paragraph. 
 

MM37 78 After 5.106 New paragraph after 5.106 
 
National planning policy for shale gas has continued to evolve during the later stages of preparation of the Plan.  
NPPF 2018 paragraph 209a indicated that MPAs should recognise the benefits of onshore oil and gas 
development, including unconventional hydrocarbons, for the security of energy supplies and supporting a 
transition to a low carbon economy; and put in place policies to facilitate their extraction.  This paragraph was 
subsequently quashed following legal proceedings.  The High Court judgment leading to the quashing of NPPF 
209a made reference to the failure by Government to consider the implications of evidence produced in 
objection to the proposed policy, which contended that the evidence on greenhouse gas emissions from shale 
gas development relied upon to support the policy was flawed.  The MPAs take the view that the evolving 
national policy position and the evolving evidential basis for the claimed carbon benefits of shale gas 
development, justify a precautionary approach to relevant local planning policies for this form of development, 
and reinforce the justification for their commitment to keep this matter under close review, as referenced in 
paragraphs. 4.10 and 4.11 of the Plan.  
 

MM38 78 Before 5.107 New paragraph before 5.107 

ANNEX 3
P

age 477



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                26 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
Further significant developments in the wider regulatory context to shale gas development took place in 
November 2019, with the announcement by Government of a presumption against the issuing of any further 
Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new evidence is provided which would address concerns around 
the prediction and management of induced seismicity.  Nevertheless, an Energy Update Written Statement of 4 
November 2019, accompanying the introduction of the moratorium, emphasised the Government’s view that 
natural gas remains an important source of secure and affordable energy and that shale gas has a potential role 
in this. 
 

MM39 79 5.109 Revise 2nd last sentence 
 
Although typically 98-99% of the liquid is water, small quantities of chemicals are often added.  Operators must 
demonstrate to the Environment Agency that all the chemicals used in the process are non-hazardous to 
groundwater.   

MM40  5.111 Add in additional text 
 
A range of issues are likely to be relevant when considering planning applications for hydrocarbon development. 
For example, there is the potential for landscape and visual impact, impacts from noise, vibration, external 
lighting, flaring and traffic, and impacts on the natural environment. 
 

MM41 81 5.115 Add additional text: 
 
All drilling operations are subject to notifying the Health and Safety Executive, which will check operators’ plans, 
assess engineering designs and reports and be responsible for checking sites to ensure they meet the 
requirements of the relevant legislation.  The Health and Safety Executive requires that an independent well 
examiner reviews the design of the well before drilling begins and subsequently monitors its’ construction and 
operation. The drilling operations are also regulated by the Oil and Gas Authority who will approve each stage of 
the progression of the well through their WONS system (Well Operations Notification System). 
 

MM42 82 5.117 Add additional text 
 
In 2012 DECC (now DBEIS) introduced measures to control seismic risks from   fracking.  Operators are now 
required to assess the location of any relevant faults before fracking operations can take place.  Operators must 

ANNEX 3
P

age 478



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                27 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

submit to DBEIS a plan of operations, starting with small test fractures before main operations and install real-
time monitoring based on a traffic light system.  Operators must stop and investigate if they detect tremors 
above the normal range.  Further guidance on the regulation of hydrocarbons proposals is set out in the DECC 
publication ‘Onshore Oil and Gas Exploration in the UK: regulation and best practice (England) (December 2015).  
A diagram illustrating the ‘traffic light’ system is provided below.  Notwithstanding the introduction of this 
system, in 2018 and 2019 hydraulic fracturing of wells at the Preston New Road Site, also near Blackpool, gave 
rise to further induced seismicity, culminating in a magnitude 2.9 event in August 2019 which was widely felt, 
and reportedly caused damage to property in the area.  An interim report by the Oil and Gas Authority into the 
2018 seismic activity at Preston New Road concluded that, on the basis of current evidence, it cannot evaluate 
with confidence whether a proposal to resume hydraulic fracturing in the area, or to start operations elsewhere, 
will not cause unacceptable levels of seismicity.  This led to the announcement by Government in November 
2019 of the introduction of a presumption against issuing any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until 
compelling new evidence is provided which addresses the concerns around the prediction and management of 
induced seismicity. 
 

MM43 84 M16 b) ii) Revise text Part b) ii) 
 

ii)  Sub-surface proposals for these forms of hydrocarbon development, including lateral drilling, 
underneath the designations referred to in i) above, will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that significant harm to the designated asset will not occur. Where lateral drilling 
beneath a National Park or AONBs is proposed for the purposes of appraisal or production and is also 
this will be considered to comprise major development it and will be subject to the requirements of 
Policy D04.  

 

MM44 84 M16, d) i) Revise text of Part d): 
 
d) All Additional criterion applying to surface hydrocarbon development:  
  

i) Where proposals for surface hydrocarbon development meet other locational criteria set out in this 
policy but fall within a National Park or an AONB or the associated 3.5km visual sensitivity zone around 
these areas, as 3.5km buffer zone identified on the Policies map, or where located beyond this zone, are 
otherwise considered to have the potential to cause significant harm to a National Park and/or AONB, 
applications should must be supported by a detailed assessment of the potential impacts on the 

ANNEX 3
P

age 479



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                28 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

designated area(s).,  unless it can be demonstrated that such an assessment is not required taking into 
account the particular locational circumstances of the proposed site relative to the designated area/s. 
Where detailed assessment is required this should include an assessment of views of and from the 
designated area/s This includes views of and from the associated landscapes from significant viewpoints 
and an assessment of the cumulative impact of development in the area. Permission will not be granted 
for such proposals where they would result in unacceptable harm to the special qualities of the 
designated area(s) or are incompatible with their statutory purposes in accordance with Policy D04.  

 

MM45  5.121 Add text: 
 
The NPPF indicates that great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National 
Parks and AONBs, which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. The 
Infrastructure Act 2015 has introduced a ban on hydraulic fracturing activity taking place anywhere at a depth 
less than 1000m below the ground surface. The Government has also set out through secondary legislation to 
the Infrastructure Act, which came into force on 6 April 2016, that high volume hydraulic fracturing will not be 
supported beneath National Parks, AONBs, protected groundwater source areas and World Heritage sites, unless 
it would take place at a depth in excess of 1,200m below the surface. These controls do not remove the potential 
for lateral hydraulic fracturing at a greater depth under the National Park, AONBs or other protected areas, from 
surface locations beyond their boundary, or expressly prevent the possibility of surface development for the 
purposes of shale gas development, or development for other forms of unconventional hydrocarbons, in these 
areas. When considering the potential impact of a development on the special qualities of a National Park or 
AONB, reference to their special qualities can be found in the relevant management plan for the area. Whilst the 
specific qualities relevant to each protected landscape may differ from one another, they will all include qualities 
relating to such as landscape and views, tranquillity, remoteness, dark night skies, biodiversity and geodiversity 
and rare species and heritage, and it is the combination of these qualities that led to these areas being 
designated and protected as National Parks and AONBs. As such, development which would result in significant 
harm to the special qualities of a National Park or AONB will generally be resisted. 
 

MM46 86 5.124 Revise last sentence of para. 5.124 and add new text at end (beyond change of PC66):  
 
An additional consideration is that the new Regulations and surface restrictions will only apply to high volume 
hydraulic fracturing “associated hydraulic fracturing”. The Authorities have taken into account the WMS of May 
2018 and recognise this statutory definition, and have paid due regard to Planning Practice Guidance. It is 

ANNEX 3
P

age 480



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                29 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

considered that whereas the definition in the Regulations applies to high volume hydraulic fracturing as defined, 
whereas in terms of land use and the potential impacts on the environment, local amenity and other relevant 
planning matters , impacts could occur at lower levels of activity. It is not therefore considered appropriate to 
distinguish in the Policy between high-volume hydraulic fracturing and fracking involving lower volumes of 
fracture fluid. This approach is reflected in the broader definition of hydraulic fracturing contained in paragraph 
5.119 f) of the Plan. The definition of hydraulic fracturing used in the Plan is related to the PPG definition in that 
it does not rely on a minimum volumetric threshold.  Similarly, it is considered that where hydraulic fracturing is 
proposed for the purposes of supporting the production of conventional gas resources, there is potential for this 
to give rise to a generally similar range of issues and potential impacts, although it is acknowledged that 
fracturing for stimulation of conventional gas production would be likely to involve generally lower volumes 
and/or pressures.  In these circumstances, whilst it is therefore appropriate that such development is subject to 
the same policy approach. However, it is not the intention of the Mineral Planning Authorities to unreasonably 
restrict activity typically associated with production of conventional resources, which is a well-established 
industry in the Plan area. Where hydraulic fracturing is proposed in association with development of 
conventional hydrocarbons, the authorities will consider exceptions to the more restrictive approach set out in 
Policy M16 part b) where it is satisfied that, based on the circumstances of the specific proposal, it would not 
result in unacceptable impact on the protected area and full compliance with other relevant elements of the Plan 
can be demonstrated.  and they will therefore apply the policy accordingly and reasonably based on the specific 
circumstances of the proposal under consideration  
 

MM47 86 5.125 Add text after to 1st sentence: 
 
In view of the limited protection provided by existing and proposed legislation, as well as current uncertainty 
about the potential scale and geographical distribution of any commercial gas production that may be sought by 
industry, it is considered important that a comprehensive range of key environmental and other designations in 
the Plan area are afforded an appropriate degree of protection as a matter of local planning policy. The local 
policy needs to align with express Government policy on meeting national need and ensure that the exploration 
and development of shale gas and oil resources is carried out in a safe and sustainable way meeting the highest 
environmental standards. 
 

MM48 87 5.126 Revise text: 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 481



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                30 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Mining operations and drilling at any depth would constitute “development” as defined in the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (“development” means the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations 
in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or other land). Where 
horizontal drilling beneath a National Park is proposed from a location outside the Park, a ‘straddling’ application 
to both mineral planning authorities will be required in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, Schedule 1, paragraph 1(1)(i). Such a development, which is likely to fall under EIA regulations, involves 
mineral extraction from a protected landscape and may be regarded as major development in combination with 
the wider surface development activity associated with it which could impact on the National Park environment 
itself. For example, emissions to air and ground and surface water close to the National Park could in turn result 
in ecological impacts in such a sensitive area, where there are important interactions between ground and 
surface waters and the heath and moor habitats, which are designated as Special Protection Areas and Special 
Areas of Conservation for both their vegetation and specific bird species they support.. As the sub-surface 
protections in the Infrastructure Act and the Onshore Hydraulic Fracturing (Protected Areas) Regulations only 
refer to high-volume hydraulic fracturing, it is considered that the starting point in local policy is that all 
applications for appraisal or production of unconventional hydrocarbons within the National Park and AONBs will 
be considered as major development and should be steered away from these highly protected areas. Further 
details on how proposals are assessed in terms of the major development test are set out in Policy D04.  
 

MM49 88 5.128 Revise text:  
 
In order to ensure that National Parks and AONBs are provided with a degree of protection commensurate with 
their significance to the landscape and overall quality of the environment within the Plan area, proposals for 
surface hydrocarbons development within the visual sensitivity zone of the National Park or AONB a 3.5km zone 
around a National Park or AONB should be supported by detailed information assessing the impact of the 
proposed development, including views into and out of on the designated area, including views into and out 
from the protected area. The Authorities consider that, for development outside the boundary of the designated 
area, such a requirement is most likely to apply within a 3.5km zone around the boundary, as defined on the 
Policies Map. This 3.5km zone This distance is based on typical standard planning practice relating to assessment 
of landscape and visual impact for EIA purposes, where it may be justified to ‘screen out’ consideration of a 35m 
tall and relatively linear structure beyond a distance of 3.5km from the receptor.  Whilst it is considered that a 
3.5km zone is likely to be adequate to ensure that, in the large majority of cases, the potential for significant 
impacts is identified and considered, there may be particular circumstances, for example as a result of the local 
topography, that mean that similar information will be required in respect of proposals beyond the 3.5km zone. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 482



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                31 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Similarly, the particular topography of the landscape surrounding the designated area in places may, within this 
3.5km zone, effectively screen the development in views from or towards the designated area and in such cases, 
as well as cases involving small scale surface hydrocarbon development such as monitoring equipment, 
additional assessment and supporting information may not be required. Prospective applicants should seek 
advice from the relevant Mineral Planning Authority on this matter at pre-application stage. 
 

MM50 88 Add new 
paragraph after 
existing 5.130 

Add new paragraph to support Policy M16 
 
Coal mine methane from former mine workings at Kellingley Colliery and within the Selby Coalfield is currently 
extracted in the Plan area and used to generate electricity.  National planning policy encourages capture and use 
of this resource and it is appropriate to provide corresponding support in the Plan, through Policy M16 part c).   It 
is likely that such development, which is small in scale, can be accommodated within surface sites associated 
with the former mine workings, or on industrial estates or employment land, and these are likely to remain the 
most appropriate locations for this form of development.  However, where it is not practicable to access the 
resource from such a location then proposals in other locations will be considered in relation to the development 
management policies in Chapter 9 of the Plan. 

MM51 89 M17 M17 1) iii) revise wording to read and add reference to climate change to 2) i) 
 

iii) Where produced gas needs to be transported to facilities or infrastructure not located at the 
point of production, including to any remote processing facility or the gas transmission system, 
this should be via underground pipeline where practicable, with the routing of pipelines selected 
to have the least practicable environmental or amenity impact.   

iv) Where hydraulic fracturing is proposed, proposals, where practicable, should also be located 
where an adequate water supply can be made available without the need for bulk road transport 
of water. 

 
2) Cumulative impact 

 
i) Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where it would not give rise to 

unacceptable cumulative impact, as a result of a combination of individual impacts from the same 
development and/or through combinations of impacts in conjunction with other existing, planned 
or unrestored hydrocarbon development. Applications for appraisal and production activities 

ANNEX 3
P

age 483



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                32 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

should specifically address the potential for cumulative impacts of development upon climate 
change and, where appropriate, propose such mitigation and adaptation measures as may be 
available and are consistent with Policy D11 and the requirements of other relevant regulators. 

 

MM52 90 M17 M17 3) 
 
Local economy 
 
Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where a high standard of protection can be provided 
to environmental, recreational, cultural, heritage or business assets important to the local economy including, 
where relevant, important visitor attractions.  The timing of short term development activity likely to generate 
high levels of noise or other disturbance, or which would give rise to high volumes of heavy vehicle 
movements, should be planned to avoid or, where this is not practicable minimise, impacts during local school 
holiday periods and take into account seasonal variations and peaks in traffic movements.  
 

MM53 88 M17 4) i) Revise text in 4) i) 
 

i) Hydrocarbon development will be permitted in locations where it would not give rise to 
unacceptable impact on local communities or public health.  Adequate separation distances should 
be maintained between hydrocarbon development and residential buildings and other sensitive 
receptors in order to protect against unacceptable ensure a high level of protection from adverse 
individual and cumulative impacts on amenity and public health, from noise, light pollution, 
emissions to air or ground and surface water and induced seismicity, including in line with the 
requirements of Policy D02.  Proposals for surface hydrocarbon development, particularly those 
involving hydraulic fracturing, within 500m of residential buildings and other sensitive receptors, 
are unlikely to be consistent with this requirement and will only be permitted following the 
particularly careful scrutiny of supporting information which robustly demonstrates how in site 
specific circumstances an unacceptable degree of adverse impact can be avoided. in exceptional 
circumstances. 

 

MM54 90 M17 Add additional bullet point to M17 4) : 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 484



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                33 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

iv) Proposals should include measures appropriate and proportionate to the development to 
manage waste gas emissions, including the capture and use of the gas where practicable, to 
ensure there is not an unacceptable impact on local communities or public health and to make 
practical use of any waste gas available. 
 

MM55 94 5.146 Revise text to reflect M17 
 
Unlike other forms of minerals development currently taking place or expected in the Plan area, some phases of 
hydrocarbon development, such as the drilling of a well, require 24-hour operations.  Such operations have acute 
potential to impact on local residents communities adversely, for example due to noise and light intrusion.  This 
potential exists over much of the area that is currently subject to PEDLs, which is rural in nature, often with 
relatively low background noise levels, and relatively dark night skies.  It is therefore important that locations for 
development are selected which will ensure adequate separation distances from residential property and other 
sensitive receptors.  This would also help to ensure adequate protection from other potential impacts, such as 
emissions to air or water or induced seismicity. The significance of this latter issue has increased following the 
announcement by Government in November 2019 of an effective moratorium on hydraulic fracturing by 
introducing a presumption against the issuing of any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents, until compelling new 
evidence is provided which would address concerns around the prediction and management of induced 
seismicity.  The adequacy of separation distances to properties and other receptors will need to be determined 
by the Mineral Planning Authority on a case by case basis, but in all cases a robust rigorous assessment of 
potential impacts is required and a high standard of effective mitigation provided where necessary. The 
Authorities consider that the potential for adverse impacts to arise will tend to increase with greater proximity to 
sensitive receptors and that proposals within 500m of sensitive receptors are generally likely to create higher 
risks of harmful impacts on amenity. Such development will generally require especially careful scrutiny of 
existing conditions, potential impacts and the effectiveness of proposed mitigation measures during 
consideration of any planning application. The Authority will accordingly expect applications to be supported by 
more detailed and rigorous information in all these cases, which demonstrates that development can take place 
acceptably within this distance from sensitive receptors.   In order to ensure that an appropriately high standard 
of protection can be maintained, and to help to provide clarity on the approach to be followed by the Mineral 
Planning Authorities, it is considered that a minimum horizontal separation distance of 500m should be 
maintained between the proposed development and occupied residential property or other sensitive receptors, 
unless there are exceptional circumstances.  A 500m distance from the well pad boundary (excluding site access) 
is considered to represent a reasonable distance of immediate sensitivity taking into account the potential for a 

ANNEX 3
P

age 485



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                34 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

complex range of individual and cumulative impacts including on amenity and public health, comprising noise, 
vibration, lighting and light pollution and visual impact, including impacts arising from potential mitigation 
measures. Disturbance during the night time periods (23:00 – 7:00) has the potential for a greater degree of 
perceived impact. To the extent that other factors, relating to emissions to air or ground and surface water, or 
and other emissions, as well as the potential for some forms of hydrocarbon development to generation of 
induced seismic activity, are relevant, these will also be taken into account. generate disturbance during night 
time periods, when there is potential for a greater degree of perceived impact.  For the purpose of interpreting 
this approach, the term ‘sensitive receptor’ includes comprises residential dwellings and institutions such as 
residential care homes, children’s homes, social services homes, hospitals and non-residential institutions such as 
schools.  
 

MM56 94 5.148 Revise paragraph 
 
A further specific consideration associated with hydraulic fracturing is the possibility of induced seismicity.  This 
has the potential to impact local amenity adversely and can be a significant concern to local communities. 
Furthermore, the Plan area contains a wide range of historically important buildings, which may be more 
vulnerable to damage from induced seismicity than more modern structures.    Although evidence suggests that 
any earth tremors that could be induced are likely to be of very low magnitude, it will be important to ensure 
that development which could give rise to induced seismicity is located in areas of suitable geology.  Government 
indicated in an Energy Update Written Statement in November 2019 that the causes of seismicity are highly 
dependent on local geology and that the limitations of current scientific evidence means it is difficult to predict 
the probability and maximum magnitude of any seismic events. Proposals should therefore be supported by 
compelling evidence which demonstrates that induced seismicity can be managed and mitigated to an 
acceptable level. This should include information which demonstrates the known location of any faults, including 
any information available as a result of former underground workings in the vicinity, and an assessment of the 
potential for induced seismicity to occur as a result of the proposed development.  Operators will be expected to 
apply the DBEIS traffic light system (see Fig.15) during their operations. 

MM57 95 5.150 Add a sentence to the end of paragraph: 
 
This should include measures to manage waste gas emissions and include the capture and use of the gas as 
energy, so as to achieve a green completion where practicable. 

MM58 95 M18 Provide additional text to M18 1) i)  
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 486



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                35 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Proposals for hydrocarbon development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated, through the 
submission of details relating to the a waste water management plan of waste water, that adequate capacity 
exists and adequate arrangements can be made for the management or disposal of any returned water and 
Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials arising from the development. Proposals should, where practicable 
and where a high standard of environmental protection can be demonstrated, provide for on-site 
management of these wastes through re-use, recycling or treatment. Where off-site management or disposal 
of waste is required, proposals should demonstrate that adequate arrangements can be made for this. Where 
new off-site facilities are proposed in the Plan area for the management or disposal of waste arising from 
hydrocarbon development, these should be located in accordance with the principles identified in Policies 
W10 and W11 
 

MM59 96 M18 Additional text to M18 2) i)  
 
i) Following completion of the operational phase of development, or where wells are to be suspended pending 
further hydrocarbon development, notwithstanding the requirements and obligations under any  other 
regulatory regimes, any wells will be decommissioned, insofar as this involves the complete removal of any 
associated surface development, so as to both prevent the risk of any contamination of ground and surface 
waters and emissions to air and ensure the proper restoration and after-care of the site; 
 

MM60 97 5.157 Insert revised text 
 
This should include information about the dismantling of equipment and clearance of the site surface, the 
decommissioning of any wells to prevent the risk of contamination of ground or surface waters or any emissions 
to air; and how the site surface will be restored…. 
 
As stated above oOther regulators also pay a role in ensuring that decommissioned sites would not pose a risk as 
a result of pollution of ground or sub surface waters or emissions to air. 

MM61 98 New paragraph 
after existing 
5.159 

New paragraph to explain that waste water management is subject to other regulatory controls and that the LPA 
will work with those other bodies. 
 
In applying policy the Authorities will have regard to other regulatory regimes and will work effectively with 
other regulatory bodies as explained in paragraph 5.151. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 487



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                36 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

MM62 100 M20 Add wording to M20 1)  
 
1) Proposals for surface and underground development for the mining of deep coal will be permitted where 

all the following criteria are met: 
i) the location, siting and design of the surface development would ensure a high standard of 

protection for the environment and local communities in line with the development management 
policies in the Joint Plan; 

ii) the proposals would enable coal to be transported in a sustainable manner; 
iii) where located in the Green Belt, the proposals would comply with national policy on Green Belt; 
iv) the effects of subsidence upon land stability and important surface structures, infrastructure 

(including flood defences) and the natural and historic environment, will be monitored and 
controlled so as to prevent unacceptable impacts; 

v) that opportunities have been explored, and will be delivered where practicable, to maximise the 
potential for reuse of any colliery spoil generated by the development and that proposed 
arrangements for any necessary disposal of mining waste materials arising from the development 
are acceptable in line with Part 3 below;  

vi) the proposal’s impact upon climate change has been considered. 
 

MM63 101 M21 Add wording to M21 2)  
 

2) Other proposals for the working of shallow coal will be permitted where the following criteria are 
met: 
i) Where located in the National Park or an AONB the development would be consistent with Policy 

D04 or, where the development would be located outside the National Park or AONB, would 
provide a high standard of protection to the designated area; 

ii) A high standard of protection would be provided to internationally and highly important nature 
conservation designations; 

iii) Where located in the Green Belt, the working, reclamation and afteruse of the site would be 
compatible with Green Belt objectives in line with national Policy on Green Belt; 

iv) The site is well located in relation to the highway network and intended markets; 
v) The proposal’s impact on climate change has been considered. 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 488



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                37 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM64 102 M22 Insert revised text 
 
Policy M22: Potash and Salt 
 
Proposals for the extraction of potash, and salt sites within the North York Moors National Park and renewed 
applications for the existing sites at Boulby Mine and Doves Nest Farm Woodsmith Mine beyond their current 
planning permissions will be assessed against the criteria for major development set out in Policy D04. 
 
Proposals for new surface development and infrastructure associated with the existing permitted potash and 
salt mine sites in the National Park, or their surface expansion, which are not considered to be major 
development, will be permitted provided they meet the requirements of Policy D11 and Policy I02 and that no 
unacceptable impact would be caused to the special qualities of the National Park, its environment or 
residential or visitor amenity in the context of any need for the development. Proposals for new surface 
development and infrastructure which are considered to represent major development will be assessed 
against the criteria for major development set out in Policy D04.  
 
Proposals for increased volume of potash extraction, the extraction of other forms of potash not included in 
existing permissions, or sub-surface lateral extensions to the permitted working area in locations accessible 
from the existing sites at Boulby Potash Mine and the Doves Nest FarmWoodsmith Mine site as well as 
proposals for new sites outside of the National Park, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the 
following criteria are met: 
 

i. The proposals would not result in unacceptable harm to detract from the special qualities of the 
National Park, taking account of any mitigation measures proposed; 

ii. The effects of subsidence upon land stability, coastal erosion and important surface structures, 
infrastructure (including flood defences) and environmental and cultural designations, can be 
monitored and controlled so as to prevent unacceptable impacts; 

iii. The proposed arrangements for disposing of mining waste materials arising from the development are 
acceptable; and 

iv. The requirements of Policy I01 for transport and infrastructure have been fully considered. 
 

MM65 103 5.173 Add text to the end of Para: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 489



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                38 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

… in 2016 under the NSIP process. The “North Yorkshire Polyhalite Project” was approved by the North York 
Moors National Park Authority when it concluded that the potential economic benefits from the proposal 
represented a transformational economic opportunity at a regional and local level. At the same time it was 
concluded that the innovative nature of the mine design and associated landscaping would result in an 
acceptable reduction in the long term environmental impacts of the development. It was also recognised that 
there was no realistic scope for locating the development elsewhere outside the National Park. (It is important to 
note that the need for the mineral was not considered to represent exceptional circumstances as this form of 
potash did not have any established market globally, and in any case was available in significant volumes at the 
nearby Boulby Potash mine).  Construction of the mine began formally on the 4th May 2017.  At the time of 
commencement of the MWJP Hearings, site preparation works at both the mine site and the Lockwood Beck 
intermediate tunnel site (located just outside the National Park in the Redcar & Cleveland BC area) were 
substantially complete and construction of the project is continuing, with first Polyhalite production currently 
expected to commence in the first few years following adoption of the MWJP. 

 

MM66 114 6.26 Revise Para: 
 
Environment Agency data indicates that in 2014 the North Yorkshire sub-region imported a minimum of 212,000 
tonnes of waste (251,000 tonnes in 2012 and 193,000 tonnes in 2013).  However, the actual figure is likely to be 
higher due to the lack of detail on the origin of some waste arisings.  In the same yearIn each year, from 2012-
2014, the sub-region is known to have exported over 300,000 tonnes of waste.  The majority of import and 
export movements were from or to other locations in Yorkshire and Humber or the North East.  However, as 
indicated above, data suggests that there are significant annual variations in the scale of movements between 
particular areas and this limits the potential to establish a comprehensive understanding of current and likely 
future waste flows. 

 

MM67 115 W02 Add additional text to W02 3)  
 

3) Except as provided for in 2) above, where a facility is proposed specifically to manage waste arising 
outside the Plan area, including specialist facilities such as those accommodating hazardous waste, it 
will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that the facility would represent the nearest 
appropriate installation for the waste to be managed. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 490



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                39 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

MM68 118 Table 6 Revise figures in Table 6: 
 

Waste 
Managemen
t Method 

Capacity 
2016 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 
2020 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 
2025 

(tonnes) 

Capacity 
2030 

(tonnes) 

Recycling  
(C&I, LACW, 
Agricultural) 

644,338 
734,450 

889,639 
979,751 

864,639 
945,230 

814,639 
895,230 

Recycling  
(CD&E) 

279,160 
315,920 

204,160 
240,920 

151,990 
177,482 

151,990 
177,482 

Recycling 
(Specialist 
Material) 

105,049 
106,200 

105,049 
106,200 

105,049 
106,200 

105,049 
106,200 

Treatment 
Plant 

198,226 
272,935 

184,780 
381,949 

177,756 
374,925 

177,756 
374,925 

Composting 
317,877 
163,171 

357,877 
163,171 

342,877 
148,171 

329,541 
134,835 

Energy from 
Waste 

0 320,000 320,000 320,000 

Landfill  
(C&I, LACW, 
Agricultural) 

478,822 
525,927 

103,822 
148,563 

85,075 
56,816 

37,140 
0 

Landfill 
(CD&E) 

559,961 
658,444 

289,312 
300,406 

53,637 
131,340 

53,637 
131,340 

Landfill (Haz) 610 0 0 0 

TOTAL 
2,583,433 
2,777,657 

2,454,639 
2,640,960 

2,101,023 
2,260,164 

1,989,752 
2,140,012 

Table 6: Total actual (2016) and projected (2020, 2025 and 2030) operating waste management capacity in the North 
Yorkshire sub-region (tonnes per annum) 

 

MM69 120 Table 8 Revise figures in Table 8: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 491



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                40 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Waste 
Management 
Method 

Projected 
Capacity 

Gap/Surplu
s 2016 

(tonnes) 

Projected 
Capacity 

Gap/Surplu
s 2020 

(tonnes) 

Projected 
Capacity 

Gap/Surplu
s 2025 

(tonnes) 

Projected 
Capacity 

Gap/Surplu
s 2030 

(tonnes) 

Recycling  
(C&I, LACW, 
Agricultural) 

-228,319  
-318,261 

-442,284  
-532,226 

-405,451 
-477,369 

-342,710 
-414,655 

Recycling 
(CD&E) 

16,672  
-20,088 

386,458  
349,698 

456,283  
422,315 

471,418 
437,450 

Treatment 
Plant 

52,534  
135,378 

90,615  
90,959 

111,350  
111,694 

124,564  
124,908 

Composting 
-134,199 
-136,992 

-133,483 
-136,276 

-117,558 
-120,351 

-103,265 
-106,058 

Energy from 
Waste 

46,386 -102,961 -95,418 -89,631 

Incineration 
(Specialist High 
Temp) 

13,632 13,632 13,632 13,632 

Landfill  
(C&I, LACW, 
Agricultural) 

-261,451 
-308,556 

-64,585 
-109,326 

-44,356 
-16,097 

4,983 
42,123 

Landfill 
(Hazardous) 

7,252 
6,642 

23,464 24,379 25,266 

Landfill (CD&E) 
-75,841 

-159,364 
-20,927 
-32,021 

179,749 
102,046 

185,642 
107,939 

Table 8: Main projected capacity Gaps/Surplus in the North Yorkshire sub-region (tonnes per annum). Please note that 
capacity gaps are positive figures and capacity surplus are negative. 

 

MM70 121 W03 Insert relevant District/Borough/National Park/City to site and cross reference to Policies Map: 
 
In Part 1) of the Policy: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 492



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                41 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

1) Identification of the Allerton Park (WJP08), in Harrogate Borough, and Harewood Whin (WJP11), in the 
City of York, sites as strategic allocations over the Plan period for the management of LACW.  Proposals to 
extend the time period for continued waste management operations at these sites over the Plan period 
and the development of other appropriate waste management infrastructure will be permitted subject, in 
the case of the Harewood Whin site, to compliance with relevant national and local Green Belt policy. 

 
Insert a new Part 4) of the Policy and renumber the existing Part 4) to Part 5): 

4)      Provision of capacity for management of LACW is also supported through site allocations for recycling, 
recovery of energy, transfer and treatment of LACW, as applicable, at:  

 

North Selby Mine Anaerobic Digestion (WJP02), in the City of York  
Southmoor Energy Centre (WJP03), in Selby District 
Land at Halton East, near Skipton (WJP13), in Craven District 
Land at Seamer Carr, near Scarborough (WJP15), in Scarborough Borough 
Land at Skibeden, near Skipton (WJP17), in Craven District   
Land at Tancred, near Scorton (WJP18), in Richmondshire District 
Land at Fairfield Road, Whitby (WJP19), in the North York Moors National Park 
Former ARBRE Power Station (WJP25), in Selby District   

 

4) 5) Proposals for development at the allocated sites referred to in 1), and 2) and 4) above, and as shown on 
the Policies Map, will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary 
mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
MM71 124 W04 Revise text: 

 
In Part 1) iii) of the Policy: 
 

iii) Providing large scale capacity for recovery of energy and anaerobic digestion for C&I waste through a 
combination of spare capacity within the Allerton Waste Recovery Park facility and the Southmoor Energy 
Centre (WJP03), in Selby District, former ARBRE Power Station (WJP25), in Selby District, and North Selby 

ANNEX 3
P

age 493



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                42 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Mine anaerobic digestion (WJP02), in the City of York, sites, which are identified in the Plan as allocated 
sites for these uses.  The development of the WJP02 site will only be permitted where it would be 
consistent with the principles of including land in the York Green Belt; 

 
In Part 2) of the Policy: 
 
2) Provision of capacity for management of C&I waste is also supported through site allocations for 

recycling, transfer and treatment of C&I waste at: 
 

Land at Halton East, near Skipton (WJP13), in Craven District 
Hillcrest, Harmby (WJP01), in Richmondshire District 
Land at Tancred, near Scorton (WJP18), in Richmondshire District 
Land at Skibeden, near Skipton (WJP17), in Craven District 
Land at Allerton Park, near Knaresborough (WJP08), in Harrogate Borough 
Land at Seamer Carr, near Scarborough (WJP15), in Scarborough Borough 
Land at Common Lane, Burn (WJP16), in Selby District 
Land at Pollington (WJP22), in Selby District 
Land at Fairfield Road, Whitby (WJP19), in the North York Moors National Park 
Land at Harewood Whin, Rufforth (WJP11), in the City of York 
 

In Part 3) of the Policy: 

 

3) Proposals for development of the allocated sites referred to in 1) and 2) above, and as shown on the 
Policies Map, will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate the necessary 
mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 

MM72 125 6.64 Add additional text: 
 
In these circumstances it is not considered appropriate to support the principle of further large-scale recovery 
capacity in the area where the waste proposed to be managed would arise mainly outside the Plan area, unless it 
can be demonstrated that the facility would represent the nearest appropriate installation for recovery of the 
waste, in line with relevant legislation.  Any such proposals will also be expected to provide for utilisation of heat 

ANNEX 3
P

age 494



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                43 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

in accordance with Policy W01 and be consistent with the requirements of Policies W10 and W11 in order to 
meet needs arising within it.  For the purposes of this policy it is considered appropriate to use a threshold of 
75,000tpa as an indicator of large scale, in line with the threshold used to identify strategically significant 
facilities in the Waste Position Statement for Yorkshire and Humber2.  The following will form part of the annual 
monitoring associated with this Policy: implementation of committed capacity, capacity requirements and 
decisions on all C&I planning applications that would provide additional commercial and industrial waste 
(including hazardous C&I waste) capacity. 
 

MM73 127 6.70 Revise 5th sentence: 
 
However, the Waste Arisings and Capacity Assessment (2016) (updated March 2017) identifies an expected 
capacity gap for recycling under all scenarios considered, up to a maximum of approximately 470,000 437,000 
tonnes per annum in the highest case scenario, based on available capacity for managing CD&E waste only.   
 

MM74 127 6.73 Revise 1st sentence: 
 
There is a forecast shortfall in capacity for landfill of non-hazardous CD&E waste, particularly from around 2022, 
as a result of the expiry of a number of time limited permissions, with a maximum annual gap of around 186,000 
108,000 tonnes per annum by 2030 in the highest case scenario.   
 
Revise 3rd sentence: 
 
If rates of recycling nearer to that modelled in the higher recycling scenario included in the waste arisings and 
capacity assessment are achieved, then the requirement for capacity for landfill of non-hazardous CD&E waste 
could be significantly less, reaching a maximum of around 96,000 18,000 tonnes per annum by 2030.   
 
 

MM75 128 W05 Revise text in part 2 and 3: 
 

2) Provision of capacity for management of CD&E waste is also supported through site allocations for: 
 

                                                           
2 Yorkshire and Humber Waste Position Statement (Feb 2016) 

ANNEX 3
P

age 495



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                44 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

i) Allocations for recycling of CD&E waste: 
 

Land at Potgate Quarry, North Stainley (WJP24), in Harrogate Borough 
Land at Allerton Park, near Knaresborough (WJP08), in Harrogate Borough 
Land at Darrington Quarry, Darrington (MJP27), in Selby District 
Land at Barnsdale Bar, Kirk Smeaton (MJP26), in Selby District 
Land at Went Edge Quarry, Kirk Smeaton (WJP10), in Selby District 
Land to the west of Newlands Lane, Upper Poppleton (WJP05)Land to the north of at Duttons Farm, 
Upper Poppleton (WJP05), in the City of York 
Whitewall Quarry, near Norton (MJP13), Ryedale District 

 
ii) Allocations for landfill of CD&E waste: 

 
Land at Brotherton Quarry, Burton Salmon (WJP21), in Selby District 
Land to the west of Newlands Lane, Upper Poppleton (WJP05)Land to the north of at Duttons Farm, 
Upper Poppleton (WJP05), in the City of York 
Land adjacent to former Escrick Brickworks, Escrick (WJP06), in Selby District 

 

3) Proposals for development of the allocated sites for recycling or landfill referred to in 2) above, and as 
shown on the Policies Map, will be required to take account of the key sensitivities and incorporate 
the necessary mitigation measures that are set out in Appendix 1. 

 

MM76 133 W08 Add additional text: 
 
1)  Proposals for the development of new infrastructure and increased capacity for the management of waste 

water and sewage sludge, not including waste water from hydrocarbon activities, will be permitted in line 
with requirements identified in asset management plans produced by waste water infrastructure providers 
active in the Plan area.  Preference will be given to the expansion of existing infrastructure in appropriate 
locations rather than the development of new facilities.  Where it is not practicable to provide required 
additional capacity at existing sites, support will be provided for the development of new sites for the 
management of waste water and sewage sludge in line with the requirements of Policies W10 and W11. 

 

MM77 140 W11 Add additional text: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 496



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                45 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

5) Siting facilities to provide additional waste water treatment capacity, including for waste water 
containing Naturally Occurring Radioactive Materials and hazardous waste, at existing waste water 
treatment works sites as a first priority.  Where this is not practicable, preference will be given to use 
of previously developed land or industrial and employment land.  Where development of new capacity 
on greenfield land is necessary then preference will be given to sites located on lower quality 
agricultural land.  Siting of facilities for management of waste water from hydrocarbons development 
will also be considered under the requirements of Policy M18 where relevant; 

 

MM78 145 7.12 Add text: 
 
In addition to transport infrastructure, supply of minerals is supported by a range of other associated 
infrastructure. This includes facilities such as plant and equipment for routine processing or preparing for sale of 
minerals extracted at the site. In certain circumstances these ancillary routine processing activities, together with 
their associated plant and buildings, may constitute permitted development under the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended).  Where they do not, and a planning 
application is required to be submitted, this will be considered against the development management policies in 
Chapter 9. 
 

MM79 146 I02 Revise text:  
 
3    In addition to the requirements of Part 1), within the North York Moors National Park Tthe siting of 

ancillary minerals infrastructure within the North York Moors National Park will only be supported where it 
would be located within the Boulby mine existing operational surface site or Doves Nest Farm mine surface 
site if developed, on other existing industrial land, or within the Whitby Business Park or is constrained to a 
particular location for which there is sufficient overriding justification identified on the Policies Map. 

 

MM80 149 S01 Policy S01: Safeguardinged Surface Mineral Resources 
 
Part 1) - Surface mineral resources: 
 
The following surface minerals resources and associated buffer zones identified on the Policies Map will be 
safeguarded from other forms of surface non-mineral development to protect the resource for the future: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 497



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                46 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

i. All crushed rock and silica sand resources with an additional 500m buffer; 
ii. All sand and gravel, clay and shallow coal resources with an additional 250m buffer; 

iii. Building stone resources and active and former building stone quarries with an additional 250m buffer. 
 
Part 2) - Deep mineral resources: 
 
Potash and (including polyhalite) resources within the Boulby Mine licensed permitted area and Doves Nest 
Farm indicated and inferred resource area, identified on the Policies Map, will be safeguarded from other 
forms of surface development to protect the resource for the future. 
 
Reserves and resources of potash and polyhalite identified on the Policies Map, including a 2km buffer zone, 
will also be protected from sterilisation by other forms of underground minerals extraction, deep drilling and 
the underground storage of gas or carbon in order to protect the resource for the future. 
 

MM81 152 S02 Policy S02: Developments proposed within Minerals Safeguarding Areas Safeguarded Surface Mineral 
Resource areas  
 
Part 1) - Surface mineral resources: 
 
Within the Safeguarded Surface Minerals Resource Safeguarding Aareas shown on the Policies Map, 
permission for development other than minerals extraction will be granted where: 

 It would not sterilise the mineral or prejudice future extraction; or 

 The mineral will be extracted prior to the development (where this can be achieved without 
unacceptable impact on the environment or local communities), or 

 The need for the non-mineral development can be demonstrated to outweigh the need to safeguard 
the mineral; or 

 It can be demonstrated that the mineral in the location concerned is no longer of any potential value 
as it does not represent an economically viable and therefore exploitable resource; or 

 The non-mineral development is of a temporary nature that does not inhibit extraction within the 
timescale that the mineral is likely to be needed; or 

 It constitutes ‘exempt’ development (as defined in the Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, as set out 
in paragraph 8.47). 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 498



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                47 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Applications for development other than mineral extraction in Minerals Safeguardeding Surface Minerals 
Resource Aareas should include an assessment of the effect of the proposed development on the mineral 
resource beneath or adjacent to the site of the proposed development. 
 
Part 2) - Deep minerals resources: 
 
In areas identified as Underground Mineral Safeguarding Areas on the Policies Map, proposals for the 
following types of development should be accompanied by information about the effect of the proposed 
development on the potential future extraction of the safeguarded underground resource, as well as on the 
potential for the proposed surface development to be impacted by subsidence arising from working of the 
underlying minerals resource: 

 Large institutional and public buildings; 

 Major industrial buildings including those with sensitive processes and precision equipment vulnerable 
to ground movement; 

 Major retail complexes; 

 Non-residential high rise buildings (3 storeys plus); 

 Strategic gas, oil, naphtha and petrol pipelines; 

 Vulnerable parts of main highways and motorway networks (e.g. viaducts, large bridges, service 
stations and interchanges); 

 Security sensitive structures; 

 Strategic water pumping stations, waterworks, reservoirs, sewage works and pumping stations; 

 Ecclesiastical property; 

 Power stations; and 

 Wind turbines 
 

Permission will be granted where the assessment demonstrates that a significant risk of adverse impact on the 
development from mining subsidence will not arise or that the criteria in Part 1) of the Policy (other than the 
final criterion) are met. 
 
Part 3) – Protecting potash and polyhalite resources from other underground minerals development: 
 
Where proposals for deep drilling or development of underground gas resources or the underground storage 
of gas or carbon are located within the area safeguarded for potash, salt and polyhalite shown on the Policies 

ANNEX 3
P

age 499



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                48 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Map, permission for development will only be granted where it can be demonstrated that the proposed 
development will not adversely affect the potential future extraction of the protected mineral. 
 

MM82 153 8.22 Revise text: 
 
The purpose of safeguarding is not to protect the minerals resource in all circumstances, but to ensure that the 
presence and potential significance of the resource is taken into account when other proposals in a safeguarded 
area are under consideration, and that sterilisation of the resource only takes place where there is appropriate 
justification.  In some cases, it may be practicable for prior extraction of the resource to take place, where this 
can be done without unacceptable impacts on local communities or the environment, in line with the 
development management policies in the Joint Plan.  In other cases, the need for the sterilising development 
may outweigh the need to protect the resource, or it may be possible to demonstrate that the safeguarded 
resource is no longer justified for safeguarding.  Where non-exempt development (see Safeguarding Exemptions 
Criteria list in para. 8.47) is proposed in a safeguarded area for surface mineral resources, or where development 
of the forms identified in Policy S02 (part two) is proposed in an area safeguarded for underground resources, 
applicants should consider at an early stage any implications that the presence of the safeguarded resource may 
have for their proposals and include information in any application, via a minerals resource assessment, about 
measures that would be implemented to avoid unnecessary sterilisation, or to demonstrate that the need for 
the sterilising development outweighs the need to protect the resource.   
 

MM83 154 New S03 POLICY S03: Safeguarded Deep Minerals Resource areas 
 
Part 1) – Safeguarding potash from surface development vulnerable to subsidence: 
 
Potash (including polyhalite) resources expected to be recovered by the Woodsmith Mine over its permitted 
life are identified on the Policies Map for safeguarding, and will be safeguarded from the following forms of 
non-mineral surface developments to protect the resource for the future; 

 Large institutional and public buildings; 

 Major industrial buildings and other industrial buildings and infrastructure with sensitive processes 
and precision equipment vulnerable to ground movement; 

 Major retail complexes; 

 Non-residential high rise buildings (3 storeys plus); 

 Strategic gas, oil, naphtha and petrol pipelines; 

ANNEX 3
P

age 500



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                49 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Vulnerable parts of main highways and motorway networks (e.g. viaducts, large bridges, service 
stations and interchanges); 

 Security sensitive structures; 

 Strategic water pumping stations, waterworks, reservoirs, sewage works and pumping stations; 

 Ecclesiastical property; 

 Power stations;  

 Wind turbines; 
 

Permission for the above forms of development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that a 
significant risk of sterilisation of the safeguarded mineral deposits would not arise, or the need for the surface 
development would demonstrably outweigh the need to safeguard the mineral deposit. 
 
Part 2) – Protecting potash (including polyhalite) resources from other underground minerals development: 
 
Potash (including polyhalite) resources expected to be recovered by the Woodsmith Mine over its permitted 
life, identified on the Policies Map for safeguarding, will also be protected from sterilisation by other forms of 
underground minerals extraction, deep drilling and the underground storage of gas or carbon in order to 
protect the resource for the future. 
 
Where proposals for deep drilling or development of underground gas resources or the underground storage 
of gas or carbon are located within the area safeguarded for potash, (including polyhalite) shown on the 
Policies Map, permission for development will be granted where it can be demonstrated that the proposed 
development will not adversely affect the potential future extraction of the protected mineral, or the benefits 
of the proposed development would demonstrably outweigh the need to safeguard the resource. 
 

MM84 154 8.15 – 8.19 (old 
para ref. moved 
to after new 
Policy S03 

Policy justification for safeguarding of Potash and Polyhalite Resources (lifted from S01 and added to new 
Policy S03) 
 
8.15 Underground mineral resources are not at direct risk of sterilisation through non-mineral surface 
development in the same way as surface resources and there is no specific requirement in national policy to 
safeguard them within protected areas. However, certain forms of surface development, particularly large 
structures or those with sensitive processes taking place in them, may be particularly vulnerable to subsidence 
damage. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 501



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                50 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
8.16 Potash, salt and including polyhalite resources in the Plan area are considered to be of strategic significance, 
as the potash and polyhalite deposits are the only known potentially workable resources in the country and 
planning permission currently exists for their extraction.  Whilst remaining resources associated with the Boulby 
Mine are understood to be located offshore, resources permitted for extraction through the new Woodsmith 
Mine, currently under construction, underlie the eastern part of the National Park. Diagram (Figure 19) shows 
the location of the potential sources of potash and polyhalite in relation to the Woodsmith Mine permission 
area, the National Park Boundary, the remainder of the Plan area and adjacent areas of East Yorkshire.  The 
permitted life of mineral extraction at the Mine is approximately 100 years.  It is therefore considered that there 
is particular justification to safeguard them appropriate resources for the future. 
 
8.17 These Extensive resources cover a relatively large area of potash and polyhalite exist in the north-eastern 
part of the Plan area and also extend southwards beyond the Plan area boundary, into the East Riding of 
Yorkshire down to Kingston upon Hull, as shown in Figure 19. Available information suggests that the resource, 
which is already at a very substantial depth below ground level, gets significantly deeper to the south, beyond 
the National Park boundary, and is also extensively faulted in the Vale of Pickering area, to the extent that 
extraction is not expected to be technically feasible or economically viable within the current Plan period.  it is 
not considered necessary or proportionate to safeguard the whole of the potential resource area. Furthermore, 
a large area of the resource within the Plan area is located beneath the North York Moors National Park, where 
the risk of sterilisation as a result of significant surface development is relatively low as a consequence of 
national and local policies restraining major development. However, notwithstanding this position, it would be is 
appropriate to safeguard reserves and resources within the area licensed for extraction from Boulby Mine (the 
only active potash mine in the Plan area) along with those resources forming part of the York Potash project 
thathavebeen identified with a higher degree of confidence   an area of resource expected to be sufficient to 
cover the duration of the permission that has been granted. The extent of the area identified on the Policies Map 
for safeguarding includes those resources forming part of the York Potash project that have been identified with 
a higher degree of confidence (i.e. the indicated and inferred resources) as well as adjacent areas expected to be 
required to sustain the Mine over its permitted life. This will help to ensure that, where certain types of surface 
development, sensitive to subsidence,  are proposed within the licensed safeguarded area, the presence of the 
underground resource is taken into account. In this respect, the purpose of safeguarding underground resources 
is not to prevent surface development in the relevant area but to ensure that the potential implications for 
sterilisation of potash or polyhalite are taken into account.  The Authorities acknowledge that it will be 
appropriate to keep under review the extent of the area necessary to provide adequate safeguarded resources 

ANNEX 3
P

age 502



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                51 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

over the permitted life of the Mine and will address this through subsequent reviews of the Plan where 
necessary. In the meantime, the Policies Map accompanying the Plan shows the overall extent of potential 
potash resources within the Plan area, as well as the area currently subject to safeguarding. Prospective 
developers should refer to this map for information on the distribution of the overall potash resource and seek 
further advice from the relevant mineral planning authority if there is any doubt about how a potential 
development may be impacted by the potash and polyhalite safeguarding requirements included in the Plan.  
Types of surface development which are considered relevant for the purposes of safeguarding underground 
potash and polyhalite are identified in Policy S023 (part two one).  A surface safeguarding buffer zone has not 
been identified due to the scale of the area and the extremely low risk of sterilisation by surface development in 
this part of the Plan area. 
 
8.18 Extraction of gas in proximity to underground mining operations can give rise to particular concerns 
including the potential for gas to migrate towards, or accumulate in, mine tunnels. This could be a particular 
issue where hydraulic fracturing (‘fracking’) techniques are involved. Similar considerations could apply where 
proposals are brought forward for the underground storage of gas or carbon, for example in depleted natural gas 
reservoirs. The presence of a hydrocarbons well could in itself lead to a direct local sterilisation of potash and 
polyhalite resources, and also act as a constraint to the driving of access tunnels towards target areas of more 
viable resources. The long term sterilising effect of such constraints may be difficult to foresee during the early 
stages of Mine development. 
 
8.19 To ensure that consideration is given to protecting reserves and resources of potash, salt and including 
polyhalite from the potential effects of sub-surface hydrocarbons development extracting  or storing gas, 
safeguarding is considered appropriate., including an underground buffer zone in addition to the area proposed 
to be safeguarded on the surface. A buffer zone of 2km is considered to offer a reasonable balance between 
protection of the resource and providing flexibility for other development to take place where appropriate, 
representing a horizontal distance which is readily achievable with current technology for horizontal drilling of oil 
and gas wells.  The safeguarding area, identified on the Policies Map, is considered to provide for safeguarding of 
resources sufficient to cover the permitted life of the Woodsmith Mine and offers a reasonable balance between 
protection of the resource and providing flexibility for other development to take place where appropriate and 
consistent with other policies in the Plan, recognising that PEDLs are located within the southern part of the 
National Park. Whilst Tthere are no current PEDLs in the area covered by the safeguarded area., a number, 
including some recent PEDL’s awarded during the 14th onshore licensing round, overlap with the southern part of 
the Woodsmith Mine permission area. The effect of national policy and other policies in the Plan, particularly 

ANNEX 3
P

age 503



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                52 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy M16, would act as a major constraint to most forms of surface hydrocarbons development in this area. As 
noted in paragraph 8.17, the Authorities acknowledge that it will be appropriate to keep under review the extent 
of the area necessary to provide adequate safeguarding of potash, including polyhalite, resources over the 
permitted life of the Mine and will address this through subsequent reviews of the Plan where necessary. This 
will allow further consideration to be given to safeguarding issues in the event of any further PEDL rounds, or any 
new information on the extent and distribution of viable potash and polyhalite resources following 
commencement of extraction at Woodsmith Mine which is expected to commence in the first few years 
following adoption of the MWJP. and buffer zone.   As with other forms of safeguarding, the purpose is not to 
prevent other forms of development from taking place under any circumstances, but to ensure that the presence 
of the safeguarded resource is taken into account, and given priority where appropriate. In some circumstances 
it may be practicable to take measures, such as through appropriate phasing of activity, to enable extraction of 
more than one underground resource in the same area. Where underground conflict could arise, applicants will 
need to demonstrate, including through use of Interaction Agreements where appropriate, that measures can be 
implemented to ensure that the safeguarded resource is adequately protected. 
 
8.20 Planning guidance and case law makes clear that Minerals Planning Authorities do not need to carry out 
their own assessments of potential impacts which are controlled by other regulatory bodies. It states that they 
can determine applications having considered the advice of those bodies without having to wait for the other 
approval processes to be concluded. The Mineral Planning Authorities will therefore carry out consultation with 
other appropriate regulatory bodies (such as the Environment Agency, Health and Safety Executive, Oil and Gas 
Authority and Mines Inspector) on planning applications which might impact on the safeguarded underground 
minerals resource, to ensure that the Authorities can be satisfied that sub-surface issues can and will be 
adequately addressed by other complementary regulatory regimes where relevant.  
 

MM85 154 8.16 Insert after para 8.16 

ANNEX 3
P

age 504



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                53 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
 
Figure 19: Potash minerals map 

MM86 154 S03 (Policy will 
change to S04) 

Revise Policy text: 
 
Waste management sites identified on the Policies Map and in Appendix 2, with a 250m buffer zone, will be 
safeguarded against development which would prevent or frustrate unduly restrict the use of the site unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of retaining the site; and 
ii) Where the site is in active use for waste management purposes, a suitable alternative location can be 

provided for the displaced infrastructure; or 
iii) The site is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it being used for waste management in the 

foreseeable future; 
iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 

 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, 
as set out in paragraph 8.47, is proposed within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where 
adequate mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing or proposed 

ANNEX 3
P

age 505



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                54 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

adjacent waste uses to an acceptable level, and the benefits of the proposed use outweigh any safeguarding 
considerations. 
 

MM87 155 8.29 Revise Para: 
 
As some waste uses are relatively low-value developments, they are at risk of being replaced by competing, 
higher-value land uses. Safeguarding facilities can help to guard against this. The purpose of safeguarding certain 
waste facilities is not to prevent other development from taking place but to ensure that the need to maintain 
important waste infrastructure is factored into decision-making for other forms of development. Where a site is 
not in use, viability issues will be relevant to considering whether there is a reasonable prospect of the site being 
used for waste management in the foreseeable future. This will be particularly important in the two-tier parts of 
the Plan area, where many development decisions are not taken by the waste planning authority. 
 

MM88 155 Para. 8.30  
(Italics: PC85 in 
the Addendum 
of Proposed 
Changes to 
Publication 
Draft (July 
2017)) 

Revise Para: 
 
In some cases, the introduction of other forms of development in close proximity to established or allocated 
waste uses, can lead to conflict given the potential for impacts on local amenity due, for example, to noise, dust 
odour or bioaerosols. Whilst it is not possible to identify all such forms of development exhaustively, they include 
residential uses and also commercial and industrial uses that depend on a high quality local environment (for 
example within the food and health care sectors). The identification of a buffer zone around safeguarded waste 
facilities ensures that the potential for such impacts can be properly taken into account, whilst also recognising 
the importance of allowing the waste facility to continue to operate. As a range of types and scales of 
development could be associated with waste management activity, it is not practicable to define individual 
buffer zones for each facility. A 250m buffer zone reflects a balance between ensuring that the potential for 
significant impacts arising from some waste uses is allowed for, whilst limiting the extent to which consultation 
for safeguarding purposes is required. It is also consistent with the Environment Agency’s restrictions on open 
composting of waste taking place within 250m of residential property. Where proposals for non-exempt 
development in these zones would not be compatible with the safeguarded use then permission will be refused 
unless suitable mitigation can be provided as part of the proposals for the encroaching development or there are 
other overriding benefits. It is acknowledged that in some cases, including at the former mine sites in the Plan 
area, there are other extant proposals for redevelopment which are matters for determination by the relevant 
local planning authority and that such proposals could overlap with land proposed for safeguarding in the Joint 
Plan. In these circumstances the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority will seek to work constructively with the 

ANNEX 3
P

age 506



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                55 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

relevant local planning authority and developers to ensure that a proportionate approach to implementing 
safeguarding of minerals and waste infrastructure requirements is taken.  
 

MM89 155 S04 (Policy will 
change to S05) 

Revise text of Policy: 
 
Railheads, rail links and wharves identified on the Policies Map and in Appendix 2, with a 100m buffer zone, 
will be safeguarded against development which would prevent or frustrate unduly restrict the use of the 
infrastructure for minerals or waste transport purposes, unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of retaining the facility; and 
ii) Where the minerals or waste transport infrastructure is in active use on the land, a suitable alternative 

location can be provided for the displaced infrastructure; or 
iii) The infrastructure is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it being used for minerals or 

waste transport in the foreseeable future; 
iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 

 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, 
as set out in paragraph 8.47, is proposed within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where 
adequate mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing or proposed 
adjacent minerals or waste infrastructure uses to an acceptable level, and the benefits of the proposed use 
outweigh any safeguarding considerations. 
 

MM90 156 8.34 Revise Para: 
 
Transport of coal by barge has previously occurred in the Selby area, and some infrastructure remains but needs 
repair if it is to be used again. Growing interest in the potential for increased supply of marine aggregate into the 
Yorkshire and Humber area may increase the significance of both water and rail transport of minerals in future, 
adding to the justification for safeguarding wharfs and railheads42. Where a site is not in use, viability issues will 
be relevant to considering whether there is a reasonable prospect of the site being used for minerals or waste 
transport in the foreseeable future. 
 

MM91 157 S05 (Policy will 
change to S06) 

Revise text of Policy  
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 507



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                56 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Minerals ancillary infrastructure sites identified on the Policies Map and in Appendix 2, with a 100m buffer 
zone, will be safeguarded against development which would prevent or frustrate unduly restrict the use of the 
site for minerals ancillary infrastructure purposes, unless: 

i) The need for the alternative development outweighs the benefits of retaining the site; and 
ii) Where minerals ancillary infrastructure is in active use on the land, a suitable alternative location can 

be provided for the displaced infrastructure; or 
iii) The site is not in use and there is no reasonable prospect of it being used for minerals ancillary 

infrastructure in the foreseeable future; 
iv) The site is not viable or capable of being made viable. 

 
Where development, other than exempt development as defined in the Safeguarding Exemption Criteria list, 
as set out in paragraph 8.47, is proposed within an identified buffer zone permission will be granted where 
adequate mitigation can, if necessary, be provided to reduce any impacts from the existing or proposed 
adjacent minerals ancillary infrastructure uses to an acceptable level, and the benefits of the proposed use 
outweigh and safeguarding considerations. 
 

MM92 157 8.41 Revise Paragraph: 
 
To protect safeguarded facilities from encroachment by other non-compatible development which may 
compromise the continued use of the site minerals ancillary infrastructure, for example development which may 
be sensitive to disturbance from noise or dust, a buffer zone around safeguarded facilities has also been 
identified.  A 100m buffer zone is considered to be adequate to ensure that the potential for significant impacts 
is taken into account for these forms of development.  Where proposals for non-exempt development in these 
zones would not be compatible with the safeguarded use then permission will be refused unless suitable 
mitigation can be provided as part of the proposals for the encroaching development or there are other 
overriding benefits. Where a safeguarded site is not in use, viability issues will be relevant in considering whether 
there is a reasonable prospect of the site being used for minerals ancillary infrastructure in the foreseeable 
future. 
 

MM93 161 D02 Revise Part 1) of the Policy: 
 
1)  Proposals for minerals and waste development, including ancillary development and minerals and waste 

transport infrastructure, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no 

ANNEX 3
P

age 508



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                57 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

unacceptable impacts on local amenity the amenity of local communities and residents, local businesses 
and users … 

 

MM94 161 9.13 Revise wording in paragraph 
 
Planning authorities are advised in national Planning Practice Guidance not to duplicate other statutory means of 
pollution control.  Examples include the issuing of environmental permits for waste operations and crushing 
plant, and the control of statutory noise nuisance. The Authorities will liaise with other agencies including the 
Environment Agency and, where applicable, District Council Environmental Health Departments, on such 
matters.  However, certain pollution control matters can also be relevant when determining minerals and waste 
planning applications, particularly where they are relevant to the use and development of land, for example, 
those impacting on public health.  Applicants are advised to have early discussions with the Minerals and Waste 
Planning Authority and other relevant regulatory authorities to ensure a coordinated approach. With regard to 
development that is required by The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 to be accompanied by an environmental statement, a developer needs to include in the 
statement a description of the likely significant effects of the development resulting from, inter alia, the risk to 
human health.  In determining such applications consideration will be given, where appropriate to the case, as to 
whether specific monitoring measures may be required, as part of a decision granting planning permission, by 
means of a planning condition or planning obligation (as applicable), to monitor identified significant adverse 
effects on the environment arising from proposed EIA development (which may include health effects if 
applicable). 
 

MM95 166 D04 Revise Policy wording: 
 
Part 1) – Major minerals and waste development 
 
Proposals for major development in the National Park, Howardian Hills, Nidderdale, North Pennines and 
Forest of Bowland Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty will should be refused except in exceptional 
circumstances and where it can be demonstrated it is in the public interest. The demonstration of exceptional 
circumstances and public interest will require justification based on the following: 

a) The need for the development, which can will usually include a national need for the mineral or the 
waste facility and the contribution of the development to the national economy; and 

ANNEX 3
P

age 509



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                58 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

b) The impact of permitting it, or refusing, it upon the local economy which includes that of the National 
Park or AONB; and 

c) Whether, in terms of cost and scope, the development can viably and technically and viably be located 
elsewhere outside the designated area, or the need for it can be met in some other way; and 

d) Whether The extent to which any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and 
recreational opportunities, can be moderated. to a level which does not significantly compromise the 
reason for the designation. 

Where there are exceptional circumstances and the proposal is considered to be in the public interest, every 
effort to avoid adverse effects will be required. Particular consideration will be given to the extent to which 
the proposal may affect the qualities which contributed to the designation of the landscape. Where adverse 
effects cannot be avoided, harm should be minimised through appropriate mitigation measures. Appropriate 
and practicable compensation will be required for any unavoidable effects which cannot be mitigated. 
 
Part 2) – All other developments 
Planning permission will be supported where proposals contribute to the achievement of, or are consistent 
with, the aims, policies and aspirations of the relevant Management Plan and are consistent with other 
relevant development management policies in the Joint Plan. 
 
Part 3) – Proposals which impact the setting of Designated Areas 
Proposals for development outside of the National Parks and AONBs will not usually be permitted where it 
would have an unacceptable harmful effect on the setting of the designated area. 
 

MM96 167 9.25 Add additional text to paragraph 9.25 and add an additional paragraph after 9.25: 
 
9.25 For major development in the National Park and AONBs, the four strands of the major development test 
need to be addressed in order to determine whether the proposal represents an exceptional circumstance and is 
in the ‘public interest’. One of the main considerations in this assessment, where relating to proposals for 
minerals extraction, should be the need for the resource itself, including at a national level, and whether there 
are alternative sources available to meet any national need. The potential for a specific mineral to be extracted 
on a national basis only from within the National Park or AONB will be a relevant consideration when assessing 
need. The outcome of these considerations will then, where relevant, need to be assessed in accordance with 
the Habitats Regulations and other relevant policies contained in this Joint Plan and the NPPF. Applicants will be 

ANNEX 3
P

age 510



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                59 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

expected to supply sufficient information to demonstrate robustly that proposals fulfil the requirements of the 
major development test. 
 
Proposals should be designed to avoid adverse impacts (including cumulative impacts) on the special qualities of 
the National Park, though because of the inherent nature and scale of major development it is unlikely that 
impacts can be moderated to a level where significant adverse effects can be completely avoided.  A proposal 
that is likely to harm a National Park or AONB to the extent that it compromises the reason for its designation is 
unlikely to be regarded as being in the public interest. The North York Moors has an existing potash mine and a 
second mine is under construction which in terms of volume of production is stated to become the largest 
potash mine in the world. Other significant major developments have also been located in the National Park such 
as RAF Fylingdales and there is growing pressure on the southern part of the Park from the hydrocarbons 
industry. Cumulatively it is considered that the impact of these large scale developments of an industrial nature 
are starting to impact on the special qualities of the National Park, particularly in terms of far reaching open 
moorland views, remoteness and a sense of wildness and tranquillity which were important reasons for its 
designation.  
 

MM97 169 D05 Revise Part 2) of the Policy  
 
Part 2) - Waste 
 
Proposals for waste development in the Green Belt, including new buildings or other forms of development 
which would result in an adverse impact on the openness of the Green Belt or on the purposes of including 
land within the Green Belt, including those elements which contribute to the historic character and setting of 
York, that include the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt will be considered inappropriate. 
 
Substantial weight will be given to any harm to the Green Belt and inappropriate waste development in the 
Green Belt will only be permitted in very special circumstances, which must will need to be demonstrated by 
the applicant, in which the harm by reason of inappropriateness, or any other harm, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations order to outweigh harm caused by inappropriateness, and any other harm. 
 
Proposals for other forms of waste development which would result in an adverse impact on the openness of 
the Green Belt or on the purposes of including land within the Green Belt, including those elements which 
contribute to the historic character and setting of York, will only be permitted in very special circumstances, 

ANNEX 3
P

age 511



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                60 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

which must be demonstrated by the applicant, in which the harm is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. 
 
The following forms of waste development will be appropriate may be permitted in the Green Belt provided 
they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in the 
Green Belt, including those elements which contribute to the historic character and setting of York: 

i) open windrow composting; 
ii) individual farm-scale on-farm composting and anaerobic digestion; 
iii) recycling of construction and demolition waste in order to produce recycled aggregate where it would 

take place in an active quarry or minerals transport site and is linked to the life of the quarry or site; 
iv) short term waste sorting and recycling activity in association with, and on the same site as, other 

permitted demolition and construction activity; 
v) recycling, transfer and treatment activities at established industrial and employment sites in the Green 

Belt where the waste development would be consistent with the scale and nature of other activities 
already taking place at the site; 

vi) landfill of quarry voids including for the purposes of quarry reclamation and where the site would be 
restored to an after use compatible with the purposes of Green Belt designation; 

vii) small scale deposit of inert waste for agricultural improvement purposes or the improvement of 
derelict or degraded land; and 

viii) continued activities within the footprint of established waste sites in the Green Belt. 
 

MM98 170 9.35 Revise text 
 
In order to provide local guidance on this matter, the policy identifies a number of types of waste management 
activities and types of locations where waste development may be appropriate permitted, provided that 
openness is maintained and the development would be consistent with the purposes for which the land is 
included in the Green Belt. 
 

MM99 173 D07 Revise Policy 
 
1) Proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that, having taken into account any proposed 

mitigation measures, there will be no unacceptable impacts on biodiversity or geodiversity., including on 
statutory and non-statutory designated or protected sites and features, Sites of Importance for Nature 

ANNEX 3
P

age 512



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                61 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Conservation, Sites of Local Interest and Local Nature Reserves, local priority habitats, habitat networks 
and species, having taken into account any proposed mitigation measures.  The level of protection 
provided to international, national and locally designated sites are outlined in parts 2) to 8) below. 

 
2) A very high level of protection will be afforded to sites designated at an international level, including SPAs, 

SACs and RAMSAR sites.  Development which would have an unacceptable impact on these sites will not 
be permitted. 

 
3) Development, whether inside or outside of a SSSI  which would is likely to have an unacceptable impact 

adverse effect on the notified special interest features of a SSSI or a broader impact on the national 
network of SSSIs will only be permitted where the benefits of the development at that location clearly 
outweigh the impact to the SSSI features and the broader SSSI network., or the The loss or deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats including ancient woodland or aged or veteran trees, will only be permitted where 
both the need for, and the benefits of the development at the proposed location would clearly outweigh 
the impact or loss. 
 

4) Where development would be located within an Impact Risk Zone defined by Natural England for a SPA, 
SAC, RAMSAR site or SSSI, or at any other location at which it could have an adverse impact on the SPA, 
SAC, RAMSAR site or SSSI,  and the development is of a type identified by Natural England as one which 
could potentially have an adverse impact on the designated site, proposals should be accompanied by a 
detailed assessment of the potential impacts and include proposals for mitigation and enhancement where 
relevant. 

 
5)  Locally important sites and assets include: 

i. Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation (including candidate sites); 
ii. Local Nature Reserves; 

iii. Local Geological Sites; and  
iv. Habitats and species of principal importance or other sites of geological or geomorphological 

importance.  
 

Development will not be permitted that will result in an unacceptable impact to locally important sites and 

assets unless it can be demonstrated that: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 513



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                62 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 the benefits of development clearly outweigh the nature conservation value or scientific interest of the 
site and its contribution to wider biodiversity objectives and connectivity; and  

 the proposed mitigation or compensatory measures are equivalent to the value of the site/asset. 
 
6) 5) Through the design of schemes, including any proposed mitigation and or compensation measures, 

proposals should seek to contribute positively towards the delivery of agreed biodiversity and/or 
geodiversity objectives, including those set out in agreed local Biodiversity or Geodiversity Action Plans, or 
in line with agreed priorities of any relevant Local Nature Partnership, with the aim of achieving net gains 
for biodiversity or geodiversity and supporting the development of resilient ecological networks.  

 
7) 6) In exceptional circumstances, and where the development site giving rise to the requirement for 

offsetting is not located within a SPA, SAC, RAMSAR or SSSI, the principle of biodiversity offsetting to fully 
compensate for any losses will be supported on a site by site basis and as a last resort in accordance with 
the mitigation hierarchy.  These circumstances specifically include where: 
i) It has been demonstrated that it is not possible to fully avoid or mitigate against adverse impacts; and 
ii) The provision of compensatory habitat within the site would not be feasible; and 
iii) The need for and/or the benefits of the development in the proposed location outweigh override the 

need to protect the site; and 
iv) Any compensatory gains would be delivered within the minerals or waste planning authority area in 

which the loss occurred., unless otherwise agreed by the planning authority. Compensatory gains 
outside of the planning authority area will only be deemed as acceptable where it is clearly 
demonstrable that the approach will lead to greater biodiversity and/or geodiversity benefits than 
alternative options within the planning authority area. 

 
8)  Proposals must consider the cumulative impacts as a result of a combination of individual impacts from the 

same development and/or through combinations of impacts in conjunction with other development. 
Proposals will only be permitted where it would not give rise to unacceptable cumulative impacts. 

 

MM100 175 9.56 Insert new text after 2nd sentence of paragraph 9.56: 
 
Where development requiring offsetting is proposed, the arrangements for provision of the offsetting 
biodiversity gain should be set out as part of the proposals, and the location where the offsetting provision is to 
be made should be within the same minerals or waste planning authority area as the development giving rise to 

ANNEX 3
P

age 514



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                63 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

the need for offsetting. This is to ensure that biodiversity assets are not displaced out of the local area. Offsetting 
proposals may only be permitted outside of the plan area with written agreement from the planning authority, 
and only where sufficient evidence could be provided to demonstrate the biodiversity/geodiversity benefits of 
undertaking offsetting outside of the Plan area.  For example, if a site was on the plan area boundary and 
sufficient evidence could be provided to demonstrate the biodiversity benefits of undertaking an offset outside 
of the Plan area. A further consideration is… 
 

MM101 187 9.97 Revise last sentence of Para: 
 
The emerging City of York Local Plan is proposing to require that new developments are meet the relevant 
BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes standards in line with the 2013 Building Regulations by having a 19% 
reduction in Dwelling Emission Rate and a reduced water consumption rate. 
 

MM102 188 D11 Add additional text in final paragraph of Part 1 
 
Proposals for substantial new minerals extraction and for the large-scale treatment, recovery or disposal of 
waste, as well as for hydrocarbon development, should be accompanied by a climate change assessment, as 
appropriate, showing how the proposals have taken into account impacts from climate change and include 
appropriate mitigation and adaptation measures where necessary. 
 

MM103 190 D12 Revise 2nd Para, 2nd Sentence of the Policy:  
 
Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that all practicable steps will be taken to conserve 
and manage on-site soil resources, including soils with environmental value, in a sustainable way.  
Development which would disturb or damage soils of high environmental value such as Development which 
could lead to irreversible damage to blanket intact peat or other soil contributing to ecological connectivity or 
carbon storage will not be permitted. 
 
 

MM104 tbc New Policy D14 – 
Air Quality Policy 

Addition of overarching air quality Policy 
 
Policy D14: Air Quality 
Proposals for mineral and waste development will be permitted provided that: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 515



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                64 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

(a) there are no unacceptable impacts on the intrinsic quality of air; and, 
(b) there are no unacceptable impacts on the management and protection of air quality, including any 
unacceptable impacts on Air Quality Management Areas. 
 
Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, Minerals and Waste industry 
 
Key links to other relevant policies and objectives: M01, M11, M17, M20, W10, W11, I01, I02, D02, D03, D11 
 
Objectives: 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11 
 
Monitoring: Monitoring indicator 58 (see Appendix 3) 
 
Policy Justification 
The chapter in the PPG on Air Quality provides guiding principles on how planning can take account of the impact 
of new development on air quality. It states that ‘Local Plans can affect air quality in a number of ways, including 
through what development is proposed and where, and the encouragement given to sustainable transport. 
Therefore, in plan making, it is important to take into account air quality management areas (AQMAs) and other 
areas where there could be specific requirements or limitations on new development because of air quality.’ 
 
Planning guidance and case law makes clear that just as environmental impacts are material considerations, so 
too is the existence of regulatory regimes which seek to control such impacts. There exist a number of issues 
which are covered by other regulatory regimes and mineral planning authorities should assume that these 
regimes will operate effectively. Whilst these issues may be put before mineral planning authorities, they should 
not need to carry out their own assessment as they can rely on the assessment of other regulatory bodies. 
However, before granting planning permission they will need to be satisfied that these issues can or will be 
adequately addressed by taking the advice from the relevant regulatory body. The Mineral Planning Authorities 
will therefore carry out consultation with other appropriate regulatory bodies (such as the Environment Agency, 
Health and Safety Executive and the Oil and Gas Authority in this context.  
 
Where air quality is a particular issue, the Authorities will consider: 
•             where air pollution arises; 
•             measures that can be taken to ensure that developments in areas of particular concern with regards air 
quality do not give rise to additional unacceptable air quality impacts; and, 

ANNEX 3
P

age 516



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                65 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

•             the potential for cumulative impacts arising from both smaller developments as well as the effects of 
more substantial developments. 
 

MM105 193 New Policy D15 
Introductory text 
and Policy 
wording 

Add new Policy and Introductory text under the ‘Section 106, Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning 
Performance Agreements’ heading: 
 
9.118 Development of land will, to varying degrees depending on its nature and location, impact on the 
environment, communities, amenities and physical infrastructure of the Plan area. As such the authorities will, 
where there is appropriate justification, expect development to mitigate or compensate for the extent of this 
impact through the use of planning obligations on the granting of planning permissions. Planning obligations also 
known as Section 106 agreements under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), are benefits 
that may be in kind or take the form of financial contributions. Section 106 agreements are legally binding 
undertakings which seek to secure that development is acceptable, by securing contributions to offset negative 
consequences of development. 
 
9.119 Prior to the submission of relevant applications within the Plan area, developers/applicants are 
encouraged to engage in the pre-application process to determine whether there is likely to be a requirement for 
a Section 106 agreement in respect of a particular proposal. 
 
Policy D15 – Planning Obligations 
 
Developer contributions will be sought to eliminate or mitigate the potential adverse effects of new 
development on site or on the surrounding area, and to ensure the provision of any necessary and adequate 
improvements to infrastructure to support the functioning of the development.  
 
The level of contributions required will be negotiated as part of a Section 106 agreement, or set out in any 
adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule or successor framework.  
 
Contributions will only be sought where they are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms and where they are fairly and reasonably related to the development in scale and kind. 
 
Main responsibility for implementation of policy: NYCC, NYMNPA, CYC, Minerals and Waste industry 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 517



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                66 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Key links to other relevant policies and objectives: D01, D02, D03, D04, D05, D06, D07, D08, D09, D10, D11, D12 
 
Objectives: 9, 10, 12 
 
Monitoring: Monitoring indicator 57 (see Appendix 3) 
 
Policy Justification 
 
9.120 9.118 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides a mechanism for planning 
obligations, in order to make development acceptable in planning terms which would otherwise not be 
acceptable.  This can include the making of a financial contribution towards measures (which may be off-site in 
some circumstances) where needed to mitigate against or compensate for the impacts of the development.  
Such contributions should be proportionate to the scale and nature of the development and the matters which 
need to be dealt with.  The minerals and waste planning authorities will seek such agreements where justified 
and where they would be in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy and Planning Performance Agreements 
 
9.121 9.119 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a planning charge, introduced by the Planning Act 2008 
as a tool for local authorities in England and Wales to deliver infrastructure to support the development of their 
area.  It came into force on 6 April 2010 through the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.  NYCC is 
not a CIL-charging authority.  City of York Council and the North York Moors National Park Authority have not yet 
adopted any CIL policy.  However, should CIL be introduced in either of these areas any relevant obligations 
relating to minerals and waste development would need to be met. 
 
9.122 9.120 A Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) is defined as an agreement between the local planning 
authority (or minerals and waste planning authority in the context of this Joint Plan) and an applicant to provide 
a project management framework for handling a planning application.  A PPA enables the planning authority and 
the applicant to agree timescales, actions and resources for handling a particular application.  It should cover the 
pre-application stages but may also extend through to the post-application stage.  PPAs can be particularly useful 
in setting out an efficient and transparent process for determining large and/or complex planning applications.  
They encourage joint working between the applicant and the planning authority and can also help to bring 
together other parties such as statutory consultees.  Their form can vary in type from a detailed legal document 

ANNEX 3
P

age 518



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                67 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

through to a much simpler memoranda of understanding.  Due to the scale and complexity of some minerals and 
waste developments, it may be appropriate for a planning application to be dealt with through a PPA. 
 

    

MM106 Appen
dix 1 
page 
11 

WJP13 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection 
with this development 

MM107 Appen
dix 1 
page1
4 

WJP17 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection 
with this development 

MM108 Appen
dix 1 
page 
17 

MJP06 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection 
with this development 

MM109 Appen
dix 1 
page 
21 

MJP07 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Leeming and RAF Topcliffe birdstrike safeguarding zones 

ANNEX 3
P

age 519



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                68 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM110 Appen
dix 1 
page 
25 

MJP33 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Leeming birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM111 Appen
dix 1 
page 
29 

MJP11 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 15.2m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 15.2m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Leeming birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM112 Appen
dix 1 
p33 

MJP21 Additional text to be added 
 

 Retain boundary as shown on plan on page 35 of Appendix 1 (CD18) and do not make revision to boundary 
that was proposed in PC102 (CD09). 

 Revise 3rd bullet point of Key sensitivities on page 33 of Appendix 1 (CD18) as following: ‘Heritage asset issues 
as identified by Historic England, including proximity to and Impact on : World War II fighter pens at 
Catterick, Castle Hills Motte & Bailey Castle, Bainesse settlement, archaeological remains, Listed Buildings 
including the potential for harm to the setting of at: Oran House, Killerby Hall, Hook Car Farmhouse, Kirkby 
Hall, Friars Garth, the stable at Kiplin Hall, Kirkby Fleetham Conservation Area, Hornby Park Registered park 
and garden and Killerby Hall unregistered park and garden  

 Revise 3rd bullet point of Development requirements on page 33 of Appendix 1 (CD18) as following: 
‘Appropriate site design and landscaping of site to mitigate impact on: heritage assets as identified by 
Historic England, (Scheduled Monuments including:  World War II fighter pens at Catterick, Castle Hills Motte 
& Bailey Castle, Bainesse settlement, archaeological remains, Listed Buildings including the potential for 
harm to the elements which contribute to the significance of the listed buildings at: Oran House, Killerby 
Hall, Hook Car Farmhouse, Kirkby Hall, Friars Garth, Kiplin Hall, Kirkby Fleetham Conservation Area, Hornby 

ANNEX 3
P

age 520



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                69 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Park Registered park and garden and the unregistered park and gardens at Killerby Hall), local landscape 
features and their respective settings ‘ 

Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

 The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection 
with this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or 
landfill site within the RAF Leeming birdstrike safeguarding zone 

 

MM113 Appen
dix 1 
p35 

MJP21 Revise site boundary from the boundary changed by PC102 of Addendum of Proposed Changes to the boundary 
submitted in CD18 – Appendix 1 Allocated Sites. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 521



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                70 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 522



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                71 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM114 Appen
dix 1 
p37 

MJP17 Key 
Sensitivities and 
Development 
requirements 

Revise 3rd bullet point of Key sensitivities:  

 Heritage asset issues as identified by Historic England, including proximity to and impact on: Scheduled 
Monuments including Bainesse settlement, WWII fighter pens and round barrow, archaeological remains, 
Listed Buildings including the potential for harm to the settings of both Rudd Hall and Ghyll Hall, Registered 
and unregistered park and gardens, including Hornby Castle Park 

 
Revise 3rd bullet point of Development requirements:  

Appropriate site design and landscaping of site to mitigate impact on: heritage assets as identified by Historic 

England, (Scheduled Monuments including: Bainesse settlement, WWII fighter pens and round barrow, 

archaeological remains, Listed Buildings including the potential for harm to the elements which contribute to 

the significance of the listed buildings at both Rudd Hall and Ghyll Hall, Registered and unregistered park and 

gardens including Hornby Castle Park), Hackforth and East Appleton villages, landscape features and their 

respective settings and users of the A1. Part of the MWP17 site has been identified as a preferred area rather 

than a site allocation to reflect the importance of the historic environment constraints in the western part of 

the combined area in particular.   It is unlikely that development of the whole of the land identified as a 

preferred area will be acceptable but some development, as part of an integrated scheme of working and 

restoration within the combined site allocation/preferred area, may be acceptable subject to detailed testing 

of impacts on historic assets and their settings via a planning application.    

 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

 The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection 
with this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or 
landfill site within the RAF Leeming birdstrike safeguarding zone 
 

Amend 1st paragraph of Reasons for allocating site: 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 523



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                72 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

…in this location. No major issues have been raised by statutory consultees in respect of local amenity, landscape, 
biodiversity, historic and water environments which indicate any significant conflict with other relevant policies in 
the Plan. 
 

MM115 Appen
dix 1 
p39 

MJP17 Revise site boundary from the boundary changed by PC104 of Addendum of Proposed Changes to show 
additional preferred area in consultation with Industry in Examination Library as LPA/75. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 524



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                73 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
MM116 Appen

dix 1  
p41 

MJP14 Key 
sensitivities 

Revise 1st bullet point in key sensitivities:  
Ecological issues, including impacts on: Ripon Parks and River Ure Bank Ripon Parks SSSIs, SINCs, High Batts SSSI 
and Nature Reserve and river Ure Corridor, woodland, protected species, lamprey as an Annex ii species of the 
Humber Estuary SAC and the presence of invasive species including himalayan balsam. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 525



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                74 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Revise 5th bullet point:  
Water issues, including: hydrology, dewatering, flood risk (zones 2 and 3), surface water drainage, and potential 
for flood storage and water quality & geomorphology issues important to the features of the SSSI. 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Revise 1st bullet point Development management requirements criteria:  
 
Mitigation of ecological issues, in particular with regard to avoiding impacts on the Ripon Parks and River Ure 
Bank Ripon Parks SSSIs and the River Ure to demonstrate that minerals extraction at this site will not destroy or 
damage the interest features for which the High Batts Nature Reserve, Ripon Parks and River Ure Bank Ripon 
Parks SSSIs are designated.  This  includes designing the development (including any bunds and discharge 
outfalls) to protect the SSSI ecological features from the impact of haul roads and the impacts of flood events 
and potential erosion by the river that might lead to river encroachment into the quarry and SSSI (to include a 
buffer zone between the north western part of the development and the River Ure), or alterations to the stability 
of the hydrology associated with the SSSI and to protect lamprey as an Annex ii species of the Humber Estuary 
SAC; and, in respect of protected species, including measures to address and control invasive species 
 
Revise last bullet point: 
An appropriate restoration using opportunities for habitat creation, but which is also appropriate to location 
within a birdstrike safeguarding zone and which includes long term management arrangements to ensure the 
protection and enhancement of the SSSI. 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

 The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection 
with this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or 
landfill site within the RAF Leeming and RAF Topcliffe birdstrike safeguarding zones 

 
 

MM117 Appen
dix 1 

MJP10 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height or over 47.5m in height 

ANNEX 3
P

age 526



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                75 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

page 
45 

 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted in respect of RAF Leeming on any structures proposed over 91.4m 
in height at this development; in respect of RAF Topcliffe on any structures proposed over 47.5m in height and 
any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site within the RAF 
Leeming birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM118 Appen
dix 1 
after 
page 
47 

MJP15 Insert MJP15 into Harrogate Borough section of Allocated sites in Appendix 1 (CD18) between MJP10 
text on page 4. And beginning of WJP08 text on page 51 
 
BLUBBERHOUSES QUARRY, WEST OF HARROGATE 

 
Site reference MJP15 

Nature of Planning Proposal 

Extension of time to allow continuation of extraction of silica sand from 

existing site 

Location of Land 
 
 
 
 
(Grid Reference) 
 

Blubberhouses Quarry 
Kex Gill Moor 
Blubberhouses 
Harrogate 
 
(414582 456437) 

District 
 

Harrogate 
 

Mineral and Waste 
Planning Authority 
 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Submitted by 
 

Hanson UK 

Landowner Landowners support submission 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 527



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                76 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Current Use 
 

Mothballed quarry (including areas partly 
excavated and areas of moorland) 
 

Minerals Estimated 
Reserve (tonnes) 
 

4,050,000 
 

Minerals Annual 
Output (tonnes) 
 

250,000 

Waste Annual Tonnage 
import 
 

None proposed 
 

Recycled Materials 
Annual output (tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

Size of Site (hectares) 
 

83.43 of which 38.66 is proposed for 
extraction 

Estimated date of 
commencement 
 

Within next 5 – 10 years 
 

Proposed Life of Site 
 

25 years 
 

Proposed Access Existing Blubberhouses Quarry access 
onto Kex Gill Road (U2478 unclassified 
road) approximately 155m from junction 
with A59, with the use of the existing 
conveyor tunnel under Kex Gill Road to 
the area north-west of Kex Gill Road. 
 
Note: the development involves the 
proposed movement of Kex Gill Road as 
the quarrying progresses to enable 
extraction (application details 
NY/2011/0465/73) 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 528



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                77 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Light vehicles (two-way 
daily movements) 

80 (application details NY/2011/0465/73) 
 

HGVs  
(two-way daily 
movements) 
 

80 (Application details NY/2011/0465/73) 
 

Possible site 
restoration and 
aftercare (if applicable) 
 

Moorland and wet bog 
 

Other information (if 
applicable) 
 

Existing quarry that is subject to an 
application (NY/2011/0465/73) to extend 
the period of time for working the site until 
2036.  That application is awaiting 
determination. 
 

Key Sensitivities identified by Site Assessment 

 Ecological issues including as identified by the RSPB and the 
Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, including impacts on: North Pennine 
Moors SPA and SAC areas, protected species, potential habitats 
such as blanket bog and in combination effects 

 Heritage asset issues as identified by Historic England, including 
proximity to and impact on: Listed Buildings at Redshaw Hall, 
archaeological remains 

 Landscape and visual intrusion issues, including: location within 
the Nidderdale AONB, proximity to the Yorkshire Dales National 
Park 

 Water issues, including: hydrology, flood risk (Zone 1) and surface 
water drainage 

 Impacts on rights of way and PROW access land within and 
adjacent to the site 

 Traffic impact, including: access and potential road diversions 
associated with the proposed quarry and with the realignment of 
the A59 in the Kex Gill area 

ANNEX 3
P

age 529



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                78 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Amenity issues, including: noise, dust 
 

Development requirements identified through Site Assessment 
and Consultation processes 
 

 An Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations and 
mitigation of ecological issues including as identified by the RSPB 
and Yorkshire Wildlife Trust, in particular with regard to avoiding 
impacts on the North Pennine Moors SPA and SAC areas and 
protected species  

 Mitigation to minimise the irreversible loss of high quality soil 
resources (peat) 

 An archaeological field evaluation and suitable mitigation strategy 

 A suitable landscape assessment and appropriate site design and 
landscaping of site to mitigate potential impacts on heritage assets 
as identified by Historic England (Redshaw Hall, archaeological 
remains), the Nidderdale AONB, the Yorkshire Dales National 
Park and local landscape features and their respective settings 
and users of the A59 and rights of way in area 

 A hydrological assessment 

 A suitable flood risk assessment, which to be satisfactory will need 
to include any necessary mitigation such as attenuation and SuDS 
as appropriate 

 An appropriate transport assessment to ensure suitable 
arrangements for access and local roads, including an appropriate 
traffic management plan 

 Suitable arrangements for public rights of way (diversion or 
retention, and associated mitigation as appropriate) 

 Appropriate arrangements for assessment, control of and 
mitigation of effects such as noise and dust 

 Appropriate restoration scheme using opportunities for habitat 
creation. 

ANNEX 3
P

age 530



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                79 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 And any other mitigation measures referenced in the Information 
to Inform Appropriate Assessment – Blubberhouses Quarry 
prepared for the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan July 2021 

 

Reasons for allocating site: 
 
The site could contribute over the Plan period to the supply of silica 
sand suitable for glass manufacture, which is a nationally scarce 
resource (Policy M12). No major issues have been raised by statutory 
consultees in respect of local amenity, landscape, biodiversity, historic 
and water environment which indicate any significant conflict with 
other relevant policies in the Plan. Although there are development 
requirements which have been identified through the Site Assessment 
process, such as Appropriate Assessment, which would need to form 
part of the development proposals for any subsequent planning 
application, no overriding constraints have been identified at this stage 
through the site assessment process to indicate that the site could not 
be developed and operated in an appropriate manner. 
 
Therefore this is an allocated site. 
 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 531



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                80 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 532



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                81 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
 

MM119 Appen
dix 1 
page 
49 

WJP08 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Linton on Ouse birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM120 Appen
dix 1 
page 
53 

WJP24 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height or over 47.5m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted in respect of RAF Leeming on any structures proposed over 91.4m 
in height at this development and in respect of RAF Topcliffe on any structures proposed over 47.5m in height 

MM121 Appen
dix 1 
after 
p57 

WJP01 Insert WJP01 into Richmondshire District section of Allocated sites in Appendix 1 before WJP18 text on page 61. 
 

HILLCREST, HARMBY 
 
Site reference WJP01 

Nature of Submitted Proposal 

Waste Transfer Station (including recycling) for commercial and 
industrial waste including construction and demolition waste 
 

Location of Land 
 
 
 
 
(Grid Reference) 

Hillcrest 
Harmby Main Road 
Harmby 
DL8 5PE 
 
(412700 489800) 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 533



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                82 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

District 
 

Richmondshire 

Waste Planning 
Authority 
 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Submitted by 
 

R and I Heugh 

Landowner Landowner supports submission 
 

Current Use 
 

Scrap Yard including end of life vehicle 
dismantling 

Minerals Estimated 
Reserve (tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

Minerals Annual 
Output (tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

Waste Annual 
Tonnage import 
 

10,000 – 15,000 

Recycled Materials 
Annual output 
(tonnes) 
 

10,000 – 15,000 

Size of Site 
(hectares) 
 

0.64 

Estimated date of 
commencement 
 

2017 

Proposed Life of 
Site 
 

Permanent 

ANNEX 3
P

age 534



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                83 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Proposed Access Existing access onto A684 at Harmby, 
approximately 205m east of the junction 
with the C42 road to Spennithorne 
 

Light vehicles 
(two-way daily 
movements) 
 

1 – 2 (estimate agreed with submitter) 
 

HGVs  
(two-way daily 
movements) 
 

Up to 10 (submitter information) 

Possible site 
restoration and 
aftercare (if 
applicable) 
 

Site proposed as a permanent facility so no 
restoration proposed 

Other information 
(if applicable) 
 

There is no end-date specified by existing 
planning conditions for the existing scrap 
yard facility 
 
WJP01 proposal is likely to include a new 
waste transfer building at east end of site 
and an office facility near the site entrance 
 

Key Sensitivities identified by Site Assessment 

 Ecological issues, including impacts on: Harmby Beck, 
protected species and TPO trees along the southern boundary 
of the site 

 Landscape and visual intrusion issues, including: Harmby 
village, the approach along the A684 and local landscape 
features 

 Water issues, including: hydrology, flood risk (Zone 1) and 
surface water drainage 

ANNEX 3
P

age 535



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                84 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Traffic impact, including: access and HGV use of local roads 

 Amenity issues, including: noise, dust, effects on users of rights 
of way to west and south of site, quality of life 

 

Development requirements identified through Site 
Assessment and Consultation processes 

 Mitigation of ecological issues, in particular with regard to 
avoiding impacts on the TPO trees by the site, Harmby Beck 
and protected species 

 Design of development to be of a scale commensurate with the 
physical constraints of the site and its location adjacent to an 
important access route into the Yorkshire Dales National Park 
with landscaping of site to mitigate impact on Harmby village, 
users of rights of way and users of the A684 and local 
landscape features 

 Surface water runoff should be managed using SUDs where 
appropriate 

 An appropriate transport assessment to ensure suitable 
arrangements for access onto the A684 and local roads 

 Mitigation of impact on right of way users and other recreation 
activities in the vicinity 

 Appropriate arrangements for assessment, control of and 
mitigation of effects such as noise, dust, odour, spillages on 
local residences, businesses, tourism and the community 
 

Reasons for allocating site: 
 
The site could contribute to the provision of infrastructure which 
could help move waste up the waste hierarchy (Policy W01) and 
meet capacity requirements for C & I waste (Policy W04) in this 
part of the Plan area. No major issues have been raised by 
statutory consultees in respect of local amenity, landscape, 
biodiversity, historic and water environment which indicate any 
significant conflict with other relevant policies in the Plan including 

ANNEX 3
P

age 536



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                85 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Policy W10 meeting overall requirements for the provision of waste 
capacity and Policy W11 waste site identification principles. 
Although there are development requirements which have been 
identified through the Site Assessment process which would need 
to form part of the development proposals for any subsequent 
planning application, no overriding constraints have been identified 
at this stage through the site assessment process to indicate that 
the site could not be developed and operated in an appropriate 
matter. 
 
Therefore this site is an allocated site 
 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 537



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                86 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 538



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                87 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM122 Appen
dix 1 
page 
56 

WJP18 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted in respect of RAF Leeming on any structures proposed over 91.4m 
in height at this development. 

MM123 Appen
dix 1 
page 
59 

MJP08 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height  
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM124 Appen
dix 1 
after 
page 
64 

MJP12 Insert MJP12 into Ryedale District section of Allocated sites in Appendix 1 between end of MJP08 text on page 64 
and beginning of MJP30 text on page 62.  
 

WHITEWALL QUARRY, NEAR NORTON 
 
Site reference MJP12 

Nature of Planning Proposal 

Extraction of Jurassic limestone as proposed extension to existing 

quarry 

Location of Land 
 
 
 
 
(Grid Reference) 

Whitewall Quarry 
Welham Road 
Norton 
YO17 9EH 
 
(479108 468996) 
 

District Ryedale 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 539



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                88 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Mineral and Waste 
Planning Authority 
 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Submitted by 
 

W. Clifford Watts Ltd 

Landowner Landowner supports submission 
 

Current Use Agriculture and woodland 
 

Minerals Estimated 
Reserve (tonnes) 
 

2,000,000 

Minerals Annual 
Output (tonnes) 
 

250,000 

Waste Annual 
Tonnage import 
 

None proposed to MJP12 site area 
 

Recycled Materials 
Annual output 
(tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

Size of Site 
(hectares) 

9.0 
 

Estimated date of 
commencement 
 

Prior to 2023 
 

Proposed Life of 
Site 
 

2031 
 

Proposed Access The existing quarry access 
approximately 330m south of the edge of 
Norton onto Whitewall Corner Hill road 
(C177), with no access to MJP12 site 
direct from public highway 

ANNEX 3
P

age 540



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                89 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

Light vehicles (two-
way daily 
movements) 

46 (based on details in application 
NY/2013/0058/FUL) 
 

HGVs  
(two-way daily 
movements) 
 

50 (submitter information) 

Possible site 
restoration and 
aftercare (if 
applicable) 

No detailed design for proposed 
extension yet, but would be compatible 
with the approved scheme for the 
existing quarry, which is undulating 
grassland with tree and shrub planting 
 

Other information (if 
applicable) 
 

Southern half of MJP12 site would be not 
be extracted, but would be used for 
landscape screening purposes only 
 

Key Sensitivities identified by Site Assessment 

 Ecological issues, including impacts on: River Derwent SAC, 
Welham Hill verges SINC, protected species, potential 
habitats 

 Impact on best and most versatile agricultural land 
 Heritage asset issues as identified by Historic England, 

including proximity to and impact on: archaeological remains, 
Scheduled Monuments at The Three Dykes and West Wold 
Farm, Langton Conservation Area, Listed Buildings including 
Whitewall House, Whitewall Cottages & associated stable and 
their settings 

 Landscape and visual intrusion issues, including: on the town 
and landscape features including the ridgeline, and cumulative 
impact of quarrying 

 Impact on economy of the Malton, Norton and local area, 
including the horse racing industry 

ANNEX 3
P

age 541



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                90 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 Water issues, including: hydrology, flood risk (Zone 1), water 
main and surface water drainage 

 Geodiversity issues 

 Traffic impact, including: access, HGV use of local roads, the 
Yorkshire Wolds Way cycle route, Malton and Norton 

 Amenity issues, including: noise, dust, air quality in Malton 
and Norton, vibration, quality of life and cumulative impact in 
relation to residential amenity and proximity of the adjacent 
stables 

 

Development requirements identified through Site 
Assessment and Consultation processes 
 

 Mitigation of ecological issues, including impact on designated 
sites (such as the River Derwent SAC and Welham Hill verges 
SINC), protected species and habitats 

 Mitigation to minimise the irreversible loss of best and most 
versatile agricultural land and to protect high quality soil 
resources 

 An appropriate site design and landscaping of site to mitigate 
potential impacts on heritage assets as identified by Historic 
England, (archaeological remains, Scheduled Monuments at 
The Three Dykes and West Wold Farm, Langton 
Conservation Area, Listed Buildings including Whitewall 
House, Whitewall Cottages & associated stable) and their 
respective settings including appropriate archaeological 
investigation and mitigation 

 A suitable flood risk assessment, which to be satisfactory will 
need to include any necessary mitigation such as 
compensatory storage, attenuation and SuDS as appropriate 
and mitigation of any impacts groundwater quality and 
groundwater supplies 

 An appropriate transport assessment to ensure suitable 
arrangements for access onto Whitewall Corner Hill road and 

ANNEX 3
P

age 542



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                91 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

on local roads, including an appropriate traffic management 
plan that reflects the volume of traffic using the site in 
connection with the development and other activities taking 
place within the quarry site. 

 Mitigation of impact on right of way users and other recreation 
activities in the vicinity including the route of the Yorkshire 
Wolds cycle route 

 Appropriate arrangements for assessment, control of and 
mitigation of effects such as ancillary development noise, 
blasting, and dust and including a cumulative impact 
assessment which demonstrates the relationship of any 
proposed development on the allocated site with existing 
operations; the potential for consolidated mitigation of the 
operation and control at the quarry and ancillary infrastructure; 
measures to ensure adequate protection against potential 
impacts on residential amenity and use of the stables; and 
monitoring (and where appropriate reporting) of potential 
impacts. 

 Appropriate restoration scheme using opportunities for habitat 
creation and which relates to the whole of the quarry site. 

 

Reasons for allocating site: 
 
The site is consistent with the broad geographical approach to the 
supply of aggregates (Policy M01) and could contribute to 
maintaining the landbank of crushed rock (Policy M06) and a local 
source of supply of Jurassic Limestone as evidence, including 
from the adjacent existing quarry, indicates that there is a suitable 
resource in this location. No major issues have been raised by 
statutory consultees in respect of local amenity, landscape, 
biodiversity, historic and water environments which indicate any 
significant conflict with other strategic policies in the Plan. 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 543



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                92 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

There are development requirements which have been identified 
through the Site Assessment process which would need to form 
part of the development proposals for any subsequent planning 
application, when particular scrutiny will be required of potential 
impacts on traffic, residential amenity and the adjacent stables. 
No overriding constraints have been identified at this stage 
through the site assessment process to indicate that the site could 
not be developed and operated in an appropriate manner 
 
Therefore this site is an allocated site 
 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 544



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                93 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 545



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                94 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
  

MM125 Appen
dix 1 
before 
page 
69 

MJP13 Insert MJP13 into Ryedale District section of Allocated sites in Appendix 1 after MJP63 plan on page 68.  
 

WHITEWALL QUARRY, NEAR NORTON 
 

Site reference MJP13 

Nature of Planning Proposal 

Expansion to area used for recycling of construction, demolition 
and soil waste for secondary aggregates within existing quarry void 
 

Location of Land 
 
 
 
 
(Grid Reference) 

Whitewall Quarry 
Welham Road 
Norton 
YO17 9EH 
 
(479163 469527) 
 

District 
 

Ryedale 

Mineral and Waste 
Planning Authority 
 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

Submitted by 
 

W. Clifford Watts Ltd 

Landowner Landowner supports submission 
 

Current Use 
 

Part quarry, part existing recycling area 

Minerals Estimated 
Reserve (tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

ANNEX 3
P

age 546



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                95 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Minerals Annual 
Output (tonnes) 
 

Not applicable 

Waste Annual Tonnage 
import 
 

20,000 

Recycled Materials 
Annual output (tonnes) 
 

20,000 

Size of Site (hectares) 
 

2.25 

Estimated date of 
commencement 
 

Prior to 2023 

Proposed Life of Site 
 

Until 2023 (permitted lifespan of 
existing quarry) 

Proposed Access 
 

Existing quarry access, approximately 
330m south of edge of Norton onto 
Whitewall Corner Hill road (C177) 
 

Light vehicles (two-way 
daily movements) 
 

No additional vehicles (to those of 
MJP12) 

HGVs  
(two-way daily 
movements) 
 
 
 

25, based on 50% being backhauled 
using MJP12 vehicles 

Possible site 
restoration and 
aftercare (if applicable) 
 

Proposed restoration to the approved 
scheme for the existing quarry, which is 
undulating grassland with tree and 
shrub planting 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 547



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                96 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Other information (if 
applicable) 
 

 

Key Sensitivities identified by Site Assessment 

 Ecological issues, including impacts on: River Derwent SAC, 
potential habitats 

 Heritage asset issues as identified by Historic England, 
including: proximity to and impact on Scheduled Monuments 
(The Three Dykes and the barrow at West Wold Farm, Langton 
Conservation Area, Listed Buildings (Whitewall House and 
Whitewall Cottages and stable and buildings in Langton and 
their settings) 

 Landscape impact if retained in long-term 

 Water issues, including: hydrology, flood risk (Zone 1) and 
surface water drainage 

 Traffic impact, including: access, HGV use of local roads, the 
Yorkshire Wolds Way cycle route, Malton and Norton and the 
economy 

 Amenity issues, including: noise, dust and cumulative impact in 
relation to residential amenity and the proximity of the adjacent 
stable. 

 

Development requirements identified through Site 
Assessment and Consultation processes  

 Mitigation of ecological issues, including impact on designated 
sites (such as the River Derwent SAC and Welham Hill verges 
SINC), protected species and habitats 

 Appropriate site design and landscaping of site to mitigate 
potential impacts on heritage assets as identified by Historic 
England (archaeological remains, Scheduled Monuments at 
The Three Dykes and West Wold Farm, Langton Conservation 
Area, Listed Buildings including Whitewall House, Whitewall 
Cottages & associated stable) and their respective settings 

ANNEX 3
P

age 548



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                97 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

including appropriate archaeological investigation and 
mitigation. 

 Mitigation to minimise the irreversible loss of best and most 
versatile agricultural land and to protect high quality soil 
resources 

 A suitable flood risk assessment, which to be satisfactory will 
need to include any necessary mitigation such as 
compensatory storage, attenuation and SuDS as appropriate 
and mitigation of any impacts groundwater quality and 
groundwater supplies 

 An appropriate transport assessment to ensure suitable 
arrangements for access onto Whitewall Corner Hill road and 
on local roads, including an appropriate traffic management 
plan that reflects the volume of traffic using the site in 
connection with the development and other activities taking 
place within the quarry site. 

 Mitigation of impact on right of way users and other recreation 
activities in the vicinity including the route of the Yorkshire 
Wolds cycle route 

 Appropriate arrangements for assessment, control of and 
mitigation of effects such as ancillary development noise, and 
dust and including a cumulative impact assessment which 
demonstrates the relationship of any proposed development on 
the allocated site with existing operations; the potential for 
consolidated mitigation of the operation and control at the 
quarry and ancillary infrastructure and the measures to ensure 
adequate protection against potential impacts on residential 
amenity and use of stables; monitoring and reporting as 
appropriate, of potential impacts of the recycling operation to 
the MPA. 

 Appropriate restoration scheme using opportunities for habitat 
creation and which relates to the whole of the quarry area. 

 

Reasons for allocating site: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 549



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                98 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
The site is located within the existing Whitewall Quarry operational 
area where, and is adjacent to an area where recycling currently 
takes place. 
 
The site could contribute to the provision of infrastructure which 
could help move waste up the waste hierarchy (Policy W01), 
facilitate net self-sufficiency in the management of waste (Policy 
W02) and to meeting capacity requirements for CD & E waste 
(Policy W05). Subject to it being linked to the life of Whitewall 
Quarry it would not conflict with Policy W11 waste site identification 
principles. No major issues have been raised by statutory 
consultees in respect of local amenity, landscape, biodiversity, 
historic and water environments which indicate any significant 
conflict with other strategic policies in the Plan. 
 
There are development requirements which have been identified 
through the site assessment process which would need to form part 
of the development proposals for any subsequent planning 
application and consideration will need to be given to potential 
impacts on residential amenity and the adjacent stables. No 
overriding constraints have been identified at this stage through the 
site assessment process to indicate that the site could not be 
developed and operated in an appropriate manner 
 
Therefore this site is an allocated site 
 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 550



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                99 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 551



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 100 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM126 Appen
dix 1 
page 
63 

MJP30 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM127 Appen
dix 1 
page 
66 

MJP63 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM128 Appen
dix 1 
page 
70 

WJP15 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 15.2m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted in respect of Staxton Wold Radar on any structures proposed over 
15.2m in height 

MM129 Appen
dix 1 
page 
74 

MJP45 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM130 Appen
dix 1 
page 
78 

MJP55 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 

ANNEX 3
P

age 552



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 101 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM131 Appen
dix 1 
page 
82 

MJP28 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM132 Appen
dix 1 
page 
85 

MJP29 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM133 Appen
dix 1 
page 
89 

MJP23 Key 
Sensitivities and 
Development 
requirements 

 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

 The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection 
with this development 

 

MM134 Appen
dix 1 
page 
93 

MJP22 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 553



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 102 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM135 Appen
dix 1 
page 
99 

MJP54 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM136 Appen
dix 1 
page 
102 

MJP09 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM137 Appen
dix 1 
page 
105 

MJP24 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM138 Appen
dix 1 
page 
108 

MJP27 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM139 Appen
dix 1 

MJP26 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 

ANNEX 3
P

age 554



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 103 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

page 
111 

 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM140 Appen
dix 1 
page 
114 

WJP10 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM141 Appen
dix 1 
page 
120 

WJP16 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM142 Appen
dix 1 
page 
120 

WJP06 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM143 Appen
dix 1 
page 
126 

WJP22 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 555



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 104 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM144 Appen
dix 1 
page 
129 

WJP03 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM145 Appen
dix 1 
page 
132 

WJP25 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height  
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM146 Appen
dix 1 
page 
135 

WJP19 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM147 Appen
dix 1 
page 
138 

MJP52 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Linton on Ouse birdstrike safeguarding zone 

ANNEX 3
P

age 556



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 105 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

MM148 Appen
dix 1 
page 
141 

WJP02 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 50m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 50m in height in connection with 
this development 

MM149 Appen
dix 1 
page 
145 

WJP05 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Linton on Ouse birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM150 Appen
dix 1 
page 
148 

WJP11 Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m in height 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m in height in connection with 
this development and any development of open water bodies, creation of wetland habitat, refuse or landfill site 
within the RAF Linton on Ouse birdstrike safeguarding zone 

MM151 Appen
dix 1 
page 
153 

Area of Search A Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m, 45.7 and 15.2 in height within this area 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m, 45.7m and 15.2m in height 
in connection with development within this area and any development as it lies within the RAF Topcliffe 
birdstrike safeguarding zone 

ANNEX 3
P

age 557



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 106 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures greater than 15.2 metres in height proposed within 
the Area of Search to enable an assessment of the potential for any such structures to infringe or inhibit 
aerodrome operations, and also the Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any development which has the 
potential to attract large, and, or flocking bird species hazardous to aircraft safety. 
 

MM152 Appen
dix 1 
page 
155 

Area of Search C Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Key Sensitivities: 

 Structures proposed over 91.4m, 45.7 and 15.2 in height within this area 
 
Insert extra bullet point at the end of the Development requirements: 
 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures proposed over 91.4m, 45.7m and 15.2m in height 
in connection with development within this area and any development as it lies within the RAF Dishforth 
birdstrike safeguarding zone 
The Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any structures greater than 15.2 metres in height proposed within 
the Area of Search to enable an assessment of the potential for any such structures to infringe or inhibit 
aerodrome operations, and also the Ministry of Defence should be consulted on any development which has the 
potential to attract large, and, or flocking bird species hazardous to aircraft safety. 
 

MM153 Appen
dix 3 – 
Monit
oring 
p275 

 Insert new monitoring mechanism into Table titled ‘Monitoring of implementation of policies in Minerals and 
Waste Joint Plan’: for Policy S03 –  
 

Policy (inc. 

link to 

objectives) 

In
d

ica
to

r 

N
u

m
b

er 

Indicator Ta
rg

et 

Metho

d 

Trig
g

er P
o

in
t 

Action 

Required if 

Trigger Point 

hit 

S03: 

Safeguarde

d Deep 

Mineral 

57 Percentage 

of approved 

applications 

that do not 

have an 

adverse 

100% 

of 

relevan

t 

approv

als are 

Monito

ring of 

plannin

g 

applica

tion 

If 

more 

than 

3 

propo

sals 

Consider need 

for review of 

relevant policy 

and initiate 

ANNEX 3
P

age 558



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 107 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Resource 

areas 

Linked to 

Objective 3 

SA 

Objective 8 

effect on the 

Mineral 

Safeguardin

g Areas for 

sand and 

gravel as 

identified on 

the policies 

map 

consist

ent 

with 

policy  

 

decisio

ns, 

annual 

monito

ring 

appro

ved in 

any 

one 

year 

go 

again

st this 

policy 

review if 

appropriate 

 

MM154 Appen
dix 3 – 
Monit
oring 
p279 

 Insert new monitoring mechanism into Table titled ‘Monitoring of implementation of policies in Minerals and 
Waste Joint Plan’: for Policy D14 – Planning Obligations 
 

Policy (inc. 

link to 

objectives) 

In
d

ica
to

r 

N
u

m
b

er 

Indicator Ta
rg

et 

Method Trig
g

er P
o

in
t 

Action 

Required if 

Trigger Point 

hit 

D14: 

Planning 

Obligations

. Linked to 

Objectives 

9, 10, 12 

57 Approved 

applications 

are 

consistent 

with this 

policy 

(where 

appropriate) 

N

A 

Monitoring 

of planning 

application 

decisions, 

annual 

monitoring 

NA NA 

 
 

MM155 Appen
dix 3 - 

 Insert new monitoring mechanism into Table titled ‘Monitoring of implementation of policies in Minerals and 
Waste Joint Plan’: for Policy D15 – Air Quality 
 

ANNEX 3
P

age 559



Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                                                                Schedule of Main Modifications to the Publication Draft 
 

Minerals and Waste Joint Plan                                               
 108 
 

OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Monit
oring 

Policy (inc. 

link to 

objectives) 

In
d

ica
to

r 

N
u

m
b

er 

Indicator Ta
rg

et 

Method Trig
g

er P
o

in
t 

Action 

Required if 

Trigger Point 

hit 

D15: Air 

Quality. 

Linked to 

Objectives 

1, 5, 7, 8, 

10, 11 

58 Approved 

applications 

are 

consistent 

with this 

policy 

(where 

appropriate) 

N

A 

Monitoring 

of planning 

application 

decisions, 

annual 

monitoring 

NA NA 

 
 

 

ANNEX 3
P

age 560



ANNEX 4 

 
 Annex 4 The Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 2015 – 2030 Adoption Statement  

 
Adoption Statement 

 
Notification under Regulations 26 and 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
 
 

In accordance with the above Regulations, notice is hereby given that the Minerals & Waste 
Joint Plan 2015–2030 and accompanying Policies Map was formally adopted by the City of 
York Council on [date month 2022]. For the City of York Council there are no adopted Plans 
which the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will replace. However, the City of York Draft Local 
Plan (incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes), April 2005 was approved for development 
management purposes (some of the policies refer to minerals & waste). The City of York 
2018 Publication Draft Plan contains policies which refer the decision maker to the Minerals 

and Waste Joint Plan. 
 
The Minerals & Waste Joint Plan 2015 – 2030 was the subject of an independent 
examination conducted by Elizabeth C Ord (LLB(hons) LLM MA DipTUS), an Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State. The examination included public hearing sessions 
between 27 February 2018 and 25 January 2019. The Inspector’s Report was issued on 
date 4th February 2022 and concluded that the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan is sound and 
legally compliant, subject to the Inspector’s Main Modifications pursuant to Section 20(5) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
The adopted Minerals & Waste Joint Plan 2015–2030 (month 2022) incorporates all the 
Main Modifications set out in the appendix to the Inspector’s Report, as well as the 
Authority’s Additional Minor Modifications to the Submission Plan. 
 
The adopted Minerals & Waste Joint Plan 2015–2030, Policies Map, Sustainability Appraisal 
Report and Adoption Statement can be viewed on the Authority’s website at:  
https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1 
 
The Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 2015-2030 and accompanying documents can be 
viewed at the Authority’s Offices at West Offices, Station Rise, York, YO1 6GA by 
appointment only. Copies will also be placed in local libraries (subject to any restrictions that 
may be in place).  
 
Any person aggrieved by the adoption of the Minerals and Waste Joint Plan 2015-2030 may 

make an application to the High Court, under Section 113 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004, on the grounds that (i) the Plan is not within the appropriate power of the 

local planning authority and/or (ii) a procedural requirement has not been complied with. Any 

application must be made no later than the end of the period of six weeks starting from the 

date the Joint Plan was adopted. This period ends on [date month 2022]. If you have any 

questions or require the documents in an alternative format, please contact the Strategic 

Planning Policy team by email: localplan@york.gov.uk or by telephone on 01904 552255. 

 

Neil Ferris, Corporate Director of Place, City of York Council 

Page 561

https://www.york.gov.uk/planning-policy/minerals-waste-joint-plan/1


This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 
 

City of York Council 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
 

 

Who is submitting the proposal?  
 

 
 

Step 1 – Aims and intended outcomes   
 

Directorate: 
 

Economy and Place 

Service Area: 
 

Strategic Planning Policy 

Name of the proposal : 
 

Minerals & Waste Joint Plan – Inspector’s Report 

Lead officer: 
 

John Roberts, Strategic Planning Policy Officer 

Date assessment completed: 
 

15/02/22 

Names of those who contributed to the assessment : 

Name                                             Job title Organisation  Area of expertise 

Heidi Lehane Senior Solicitor Planning City of York Council Legal 

P
age 563



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

 

1.1 What is the purpose of the proposal? 
Please explain your proposal in Plain English avoiding acronyms and jargon.  

 The proposal has been produced jointly by North Yorkshire County Council, City of York Council and the North York Moors National 
Park Authority.  In line with the requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, it was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate in November 2017 for 
independent examination. The Examination in Public took place between Tuesday 27th February and 23rd March 2018. Additionally, a 
session was held on 13th April 2018, and later, in 2019, a further session was held on Thursday 24th and Friday 25th January 2019, 
relating to unconventional oil and gas. The Planning Inspector examined the submitted document in relation to the tests of 
‘soundness’, as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. The authorities producing the Joint Plan have now received the 
Inspectors Report and accompanying letter, dated 4 February 2022, stating that the Joint Plan satisfies all requirements and is 
considered to be ‘sound’, subject to the modifications recommended by her, to satisfy as a result of the discussions which took place 
at the Examination. The adoption of the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will provide an up to date policy framework against which to 
assess and determine applications in relation to both minerals and waste in York & North Yorkshire. 

1.2 Are there any external considerations? (Legislation/government directive/codes of practice etc.) 

 The proposal needs to be considered in line with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town & Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The council’s duties under the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998 are 
also key considerations.  

1.3 Who are the stakeholders and what are their interests? 

 Stakeholders primarily include people who live & work within York and North Yorkshire, and also interested parties in relation to 
minerals & waste, within York & North Yorkshire.   

P
age 564



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

 
Step 2 – Gathering the information and feedback   
 

2.1  What sources of data, evidence and consultation feedback do we have to help us understand the 
impact of the proposal on equality rights and human rights? Please consider a range of sources, 
including: consultation exercises, surveys, feedback from staff, stakeholders, participants, research reports, 
the views of equality groups, as well your own experience of working in this area etc. 

 Source of data/supporting evidence Reason for using  

National Planning Policy Framework: 
Equality Impact Assessment, July 2018 

The updated NPPF was assessed under an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and 
the Plan has been developed to comply with the National Planning Policy Framework.    

Public consultation on the Minerals & 
Waste Joint Plan 

The plan has undergone a number of stage of public consultation, between 2013 and 
2021, inc Regulation 18 Consultation (May-June 2013), Issues & Options Consultation 
(Feb-April 2014), Supplementary Sites Consultation (Jan- March 2015), Preferred 
Options Consultation (Nov 2015-Jan 2016), Regulation19 Consultation (Nov-Dec 2016), 

1.4 What results/outcomes do we want to achieve and for whom?  This section should explain what 
outcomes you want to achieve for service users, staff and/or the wider community. Demonstrate how the 
proposal links to the Council Plan (2019- 2023) and other corporate strategies and plans. 

 The Minerals & Waste Joint Plan is required to be in conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The proposals 
seek to support the Council Plan (2019-2023) in particular, with respect to:  

 Well-paid jobs and an inclusive economy 

 A greener and cleaner city 
With respect to the emerging Local Plan, the proposal seeks in particular  to support:  

 Policy WM1: Sustainable Waste Management  

 Policy WM1: Sustainable Minerals Management. 
 

P
age 565



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Addendum of Proposed Changes to the Publication Draft). The last stage of consultation 
ending on 15th September 2021, which sought the views on proposed main 
Modifications to the Plan. Additionally, some interested parties only consultation has 
taken place. The consultation has informed the development of the Minerals & Waste 
Joint Plan. 

 

Step 3 – Gaps in data and knowledge  
  

 
 

Step 4 – Analysing the impacts or effects. 
 

4.1  Please consider what the evidence tells you about the likely impact (positive or negative) on people 
sharing a protected characteristic, i.e. how significant could the impacts be if we did not make any 
adjustments? Remember the duty is also positive – so please identify where the proposal offers 
opportunities to promote equality and/or foster good relations. 

Equality Groups  
and  
Human Rights.  

Key Findings/Impacts  Positive (+) 
Negative (-)  
Neutral (0)   

High (H) 
Medium (M) 
Low (L) 

3.1 What are the main gaps in information and understanding of the impact of your proposal?  Please 
indicate how any gaps will be dealt with. 

Gaps in data or knowledge  Action to deal with this  

n/a  n/a P
age 566



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Age No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Disability 
 

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Gender 
 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Gender 
Reassignment 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Pregnancy  
and maternity  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Race No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Religion  
and belief 

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Sexual  
orientation  

No impacts identified  0 n/a 

Other Socio-
economic groups 
including :  

Could other socio-economic groups be affected e.g. 
carers, ex-offenders, low incomes? 

 

Carer No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Low income  
groups  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Veterans, Armed 
Forces 
Community  

No impacts identified 0 n/a 

Other  n/a, no other groups identified n/a n/a 

P
age 567



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

Impact on human 
rights: 

  

List any human 
rights impacted. 

No impacts identified   0 n/a 

 
 

Use the following guidance to inform your responses: 
 
Indicate: 

- Where you think that the proposal could have a POSITIVE impact on any of the equality groups like 

promoting equality and equal opportunities or improving relations within equality groups  

- Where you think that the proposal could have a NEGATIVE impact on any of the equality groups, i.e. it 

could disadvantage them 

- Where you think that this proposal has a NEUTRAL effect on any of the equality groups listed below i.e. it 

has no effect currently on equality groups. 

 

It is important to remember that a proposal may be highly relevant to one aspect of equality and not relevant to 
another. 
 
 

P
age 568



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

High impact 
(The proposal or process is very equality 
relevant) 

There is significant potential for or evidence of adverse impact 
The proposal is institution wide or public facing 
The proposal has consequences for or affects significant 
numbers of people  
The proposal has the potential to make a significant contribution 
to promoting equality and the exercise of human rights. 
 

Medium impact 
(The proposal or process is somewhat 
equality relevant) 

There is some evidence to suggest potential for or evidence of 
adverse impact  
The proposal is institution wide or across services, but mainly 
internal 
The proposal has consequences for or affects some people 
The proposal has the potential to make a contribution to 
promoting equality and the exercise of human rights 
 

Low impact 
(The proposal or process might be equality 
relevant) 

There is little evidence to suggest that the proposal could result in 
adverse impact  
The proposal operates in a limited way  
The proposal has consequences for or affects few people 
The proposal may have the potential to contribute to promoting 
equality and the exercise of human rights 
 

P
age 569



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Step 5 - Mitigating adverse impacts and maximising positive impacts 
 
5.1 Based on your findings, explain ways you plan to mitigate any unlawful prohibited conduct or 

unwanted adverse impact. Where positive impacts have been identified, what is been done to 
optimise opportunities to advance equality or foster good relations? 

The Minerals & Waste Joint Plan supports a number of positive impact measures, including assisting in the strengthening of employment in 
the minerals & waste sectors, promotion of sustainable waste management, mitigating against unacceptable impacts on air quality, 
mitigating against any impacts on the natural environment etc. These positive impacts will be optimised through policies in the Plan. 
Additionally, the plan will also be subject to monitoring and periodic review.  

 
 
 

Step 6 – Recommendations and conclusions of the assessment 

 
 

6.1    Having considered the potential or actual impacts you should be in a position to make an 
informed judgement on what should be done. In all cases, document your reasoning that 
justifies your decision. There are four main options you can take: 

- No major change to the proposal – the EIA demonstrates the proposal is robust.  There is no                       
   potential  for unlawful discrimination or adverse impact and you have taken all opportunities to  
   advance equality and foster good relations, subject to continuing monitor and review. 

P
age 570



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

- Adjust the proposal – the EIA identifies potential problems or missed opportunities. This involves taking 
steps to remove any barriers, to better advance quality or to foster good relations.  

 
- Continue with the proposal (despite the potential for adverse impact) – you should clearly set out the 

justifications for doing this and how you believe the decision is compatible with our obligations under the 
duty 

 
- Stop and remove the proposal – if there are adverse effects that are not justified and cannot be 

mitigated, you should consider stopping the proposal altogether. If a proposal leads to unlawful 
discrimination it should be removed or changed.  
 

Important: If there are any adverse impacts you cannot mitigate, please provide a compelling reason in the 
justification column. 

Option selected  Conclusions/justification  

No major change to the 
proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The EIA demonstrates the proposal is robust.  There is no potential for unlawful discrimination or 
adverse impacts.  

 
 
 
 

P
age 571



ANNEX 5 

EIA 02/2021 
 

Step 7 – Summary of agreed actions resulting from the assessment 
 
 

7.1  What action, by whom, will be undertaken as a result of the impact assessment. 

Impact/issue   Action to be taken  Person 
responsible  

Timescale 

n/a    
 

 

Step 8 - Monitor, review and improve 
 

8. 1 How will the impact of your proposal be monitored and improved upon going forward?   
Consider how will you identify the impact of activities on protected characteristics and other 
marginalised groups going forward? How will any learning and enhancements be capitalised 
on and embedded? 

 National legislation requires that development plans must be reviewed every 5 years from adoption, although it is possible that 
matters justifying a review may arise over a timescale of less than 5 years. The Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will be reviewed in 
line with these requirements. It recognises that there are 3 key areas addressed by the Plan which could lead to the need for a 
review, including; to ensure that adequate landbanks of sand & gravel and/or crushed rock can be maintained over the plan 
period; to ensure that sufficient site allocations are identified to meet requirements resulting from a significant & unforeseen 
increase in waste arising in the plan area; to respond to new issues arising from any further exploration activity for shale gas in 
the area.  

P
age 572



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Service submitting the proposal: Planning and Public Protection

Name of person completing the assessment: John Roberts

Job title: Strategic Planning Policy Officer

Directorate: Economy and Place

Date Completed: 16/02/2022

Date Approved (form to be checked by head of service):

The production of the Joint Minerals and Waste Plan has taken place over many years, resulting in the Inspector submitting a report 
concluding that with the inclusion of Main Modifications as suggested, the Plan is 'sound'. In order to reach this conclusion, the Plan has 
been produced taking into account multiple levels of data and evidence, produced by the three partner authorities and 3rd parties,as 
outlined in the background to the Plan. 

2.1

What data / evidence is available to support the proposal and understand its likely impact? (e.g. hate crime figures, obesity levels, 
recycling statistics)

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

The 'Better Decision Making’ tool has been designed to help you consider the impact of your proposal on the health and wellbeing of 
communities, the environment, and local economy. It draws upon the priorities set out in our Council Plan and will help us to provide 
inclusive and discrimination-free services by considering the equalities and human rights implications of the decisions we make. The 
purpose of this tool is to avoid decisions being made in isolation, and to encourage evidence-based decision making  that carefully balances 
social, economic and environmental factors, helping us to become a more responsive and resilient organisation.

The Better Decision Making tool should be used when proposing new projects, services, policies or strategies, or significant amendments to 
them. The tool should be completed at the earliest opportunity, ideally when you are just beginning to develop a proposal. However, it can 
be completed at any stage of the decision-making process. If the tool is completed just prior to the Executive, it can still help to guide future 
courses of action as the proposal is implemented.  

The Better Decision Making tool must be attached as an annex to Executive reports.  A brief summary of your findings should be 
reported in the One Planet Council / Equalities section of the report itself. 

Guidance to help you complete the assessment can be obtained by hovering over the relevant question.

Section 1: What is the proposal?

Please complete all fields. If you wish to enter multiple paragraphs in any of the boxes, hold down ‘Alt’ before hitting ‘Enter’.

Introduction

Section 2: Evidence

To progress the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan to adoption. Once adopted, the Plan will set the key land use planning considerations and land 
use policies involving minerals and waste, across York & North Yorkshire.   

1.3

1.2

1.1

What are the main aims of the proposal? 

That members recommend adoption of the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan, and publication of the Plan and supporting documentation, to 
meet the statutory requirements of the  Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

   What are the key outcomes?

Name of the service, project, programme, policy or strategy being assessed?

On 4/2/22, the Inspector for the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan submitted her Report on the document, proposing that with a number of 
recommended modifications, it should proceed to adoption.  The document has been jointly produced by North Yorkshire County 
Council, City of York Council, and the North York Moors National Park Authority. 

ANNEX 6Page 573



Are there any other initiatives that may produce a combined impact with this proposal? (e.g. will the same individuals / communities 
of identity also be impacted by a different project or policy?)

The Minerals & Waste Joint Plan has been developed to replace existing Minerals & Waste planning policies across York & North 
Yorkshire. Land owners and interested parties have been involved in the preparation of the Plan - they may also be consulted on with 
respect to other land use policies contained within emerging Local Plans, Neighbourhood Plans and other planning documents across 
York & North Yorkshire. 

2.3

What public / stakeholder consultation has been undertaken and what were the findings? 

The  Plan has been subject to a number of full consultations prior to submission for Examination, including Reg 18 Consultation (May-
June 2013); issue & Options Consultation (Feb-April 2014); Supplementrary Sites Consultation (Jan-March 2015); Preferred Options 
Consultation (Nov 2015-Jan 2016); Reg 19 Consultation (Nov-Dec 2106); Addendum of Proposed Changes to Publication Draft (July-Sept 
2017); Main Modifications Consultation (July-Sept 2021).

2.2

ANNEX 6Page 574



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Does your proposal? Impact

3.1
Impact positively on the business 
community in York?

Positive

3.2
Provide additional employment or training 
opportunities in the city? 

Neutral

3.3
Help improve the lives of individuals from 
disadvantaged backgrounds or 
underrepresented groups?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.4
Improve the physical health or emotional 
wellbeing of residents or staff?

Neutral

3.5 Help reduce health inequalities?

Neutral

3.6
Encourage residents to be more responsible 
for their own health?

Neutral

3.7 Reduce crime or fear of crime?

Neutral

3.8
Help to give children and young people a 
good start in life?

Neutral

What are the impacts and how do you know? 
The Plan will assist in seeking to strengthen businesses 
in the minerals and waste sectors (and secondary 
sectors) by providing land use planning policies and 
guiding such developments in the most appropriate 
areas.

There may be some opportunities provided for 
additional employment and training within the CYC 
area within the waste and minerals sectors, and 
secondary / supporting employment sectors.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence physical health or emotional 
wellbeing.

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence helping to give children and 
young people a good start in life.

it is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence the reduction in crime or 
fear of crime.

it is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence  the reduction of health 
inequalities.

Please summarise any potential positive and negative impacts that may arise from your proposal on residents or staff. 
This section relates to the impact of your proposal on the ten One Planet principles. 

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Culture & Community

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly encrouage residents to be more 
responsible for their own health.

No specific provision made for this

Section 3: Impact on One Planet principles

Equity and Local Economy

If you wish to enter multiple paragraphs in any of the boxes, hold down ‘Alt’ before hitting ‘Enter’.
For ‘Impact’, please select from the options in the drop-down menu.

Health & Happiness

ANNEX 6Page 575



Does your proposal? Impact

3.9 Help bring communities together?

Neutral

3.10
Improve access to services for residents, 
especially those most in need?

Neutral

3.11 Improve the cultural offerings of York?

Neutral

3.12
Encourage residents to be more socially 
responsible?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.13

Minimise the amount of energy we use and 
/ or reduce the amount of energy we pay 
for? E.g. through the use of low or zero 
carbon sources of energy?

Neutral

3.14
Minimise the amount of water we use 
and/or reduce the amount of water we pay 
for?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.15
Reduce waste and the amount of money we 
pay to dispose of waste by maximising 
reuse and/or recycling of materials?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.16
Encourage the use of sustainable transport, 
such as walking, cycling, ultra low emission 
vehicles and public transport?

Neutral

3.17
Help improve the quality of the air we 
breathe?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.18
Minimise the environmental impact of the 
goods and services used? 

Neutral
It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence the environmental impact of 
the goods and services used. 

Local and Sustainable Food

Zero Carbon and Sustainable Water

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly encourage residents to be more 
socially responsible.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence bringing communities 
together.

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly improve access to services for 
residents.

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly improve the cultural offerings in York.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

The promotion of sustainable waste management, 
through multiple criteria, as outlined in the Plan, will 
help maximise the efficiency of managing waste.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly encourage the use of sustainable 
transport, such as walking, cycling, ultra low emission 
vehicles and public transport.

There are policies (eg. D14 Air Quality) which aim to 
mitigate any unacceptable impacts on air quality and 
Air Quality Management Areas, from minerals and 
waste developments.

The increased use of recycling and more efficient ways 
of managing residual municipal waste and the 
extraction of energy from waste is likely to have  a 
positive impact on minimising the amount of energy we 
use & pay for.

Due to the lack of existing minerals sites within the City 
of York area, it is not anticipated that the Minerals & 
Waste Joint Plan will significantly influence minimising 
the amount of water we use or reduce the amount we 
pay for.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

Sustainable Materials

Zero Waste

Sustainable Transport

ANNEX 6Page 576



Does your proposal? Impact

3.19
Maximise opportunities to support local 
and sustainable food initiatives?

Neutral

Does your proposal? Impact

3.20
Maximise opportunities to conserve or 
enhance the natural environment?

Neutral

3.21
Improve the quality of the built 
environment?

Neutral

3.22
Preserve the character and setting of the 
historic city of York?

Neutral

3.23 Enable residents to enjoy public spaces?

Neutral

3.40

There are policies which attempt to protect local 
amenity inc public open spaces (eg. D02 Local Amenity 
and Cumulative Impacts) in relation to minerals & 
waste developments.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint 
Plan will directly influence the maximisation of 
opportunities to support local and sustainable food 
initiatives.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 
There are  policies  which aim mitigate any harm 
created by minerals & waste and protect the natural 
environment (eg. policies D05 (Minerals & Waste 
development in the Green Belt), D06 (Landscape), D07 
(Biodiversity & Geodiversity).

The majority of minerals and waste developments will 
be outside main urban centres, however there are 
policies which aim to protect local amenity (eg. D02) 
and the historic environment (eg. D08).

Whilst there are no existing minerals sites in York, there 
a number of waste sites - through policies, in the Plan, 
there are a number of criteria aimed at helping to 
preserve the historic character and setting of York (eg. 
DO5: Minerals and Waste Development in the Green 
Belt) 

Additional space to comment on the impacts

Land Use and Wildlife

ANNEX 6Page 577



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

Impact

4.1 Age

Neutral

4.2 Disability

Neutral

4.3 Gender

Neutral

4.4 Gender Reassignment

Neutral

4.5 Marriage and civil partnership

Neutral

4.6 Pregnancy and maternity

Neutral

4.7 Race

Neutral

4.8 Religion or belief

Neutral

4.9 Sexual orientation

Neutral

4.10 Carer

Neutral

4.11 Lowest income groups

Neutral

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on pregnancy & maternity

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on race

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on religion or belief

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on sexual orientation

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on carers

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Will the proposal adversely impact upon ‘communities of identity’?
Will it help advance equality or foster good relations between people in ‘communities of identity’? 

Section 4: Impact on Equalities and Human Rights

Equalities

For ‘Impact’, please select from the options in the drop-down menu.

If you wish to enter multiple paragraphs in any of the boxes, hold down ‘Alt’ before hitting ‘Enter’

Please summarise any potential positive and negative impacts that may arise from your proposal on staff or residents. 
This section relates to the impact of your proposal on advancing equalities and human rights and should build on the impacts 

you identified in the previous section.

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on age

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on disabilities

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on gender

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on gender reassignment

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on marriage and civil partnerships

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on lowest income groups

ANNEX 6Page 578



4.12 Veterans, Armed forces community

Neutral

Impact

4.13 Right to education

Neutral

4.14
Right not to be subjected to torture, 
degrading treatment or punishment

Neutral

4.15 Right to a fair and public hearing

Neutral

4.16
Right to respect for private and 
family life, home and 
correspondence

Neutral

4.17 Freedom of expression

Neutral

4.18
Right not to be subject to 
discrimination

Neutral

4.19 Other Rights

4.20

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on veterans and the Armed Forces community

What are the impacts and how do you know? 

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right to education

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right not to  be subject to torture, 
degrading treatment or punishment

Additional space to comment on the impacts

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right to a fair and public hearing

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right to respect for private and family life, 
home and correspondence

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right to freedom of expression

It is not anticipated that the Minerals & Waste Joint Plan will 
directly impact on the right not to be subject to discrimination

Consider how a human rights approach is evident in the proposal

Human Rights

ANNEX 6Page 579



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

6.2

Action Person(s) Due date

5.2

What could be changed to improve the impact of the proposal on the One Planet principles? (please consider the questions 
you marked either mixed or negative, as well as any additional positive impacts that may be achievable)

No improvements considered necessary. 

5.3

What could be changed to improve the impact of the proposal on equalities and human rights? (please consider the 
questions you marked either mixed or negative, as well as any additional positive impacts that may be achievable)

No mixed or negative impacts on equality and human rights are considered likely. 

Section 6: Planning for Improvement

6.1

What further evidence or consultation is needed to fully understand its impact? (e.g. consultation with specific communities 
of identity, additional data)

The public and interested parties have been widely consulted on the content of the Plan, throughout all stages of its 
production. This is the final stage of its production, although there will be a 6 week period for a High Court challenge following 
adoption of the Plan, on the grounds that the document is not within the appropriate power of the local planning authority 
and/or a procedural requirement has not been complied with.

What are the outstanding actions needed to maximise benefits or minimise negative impacts in relation to this proposal? 
Please include the action, the person(s) responsible and the date it will be completed (expand / insert more rows if needed)

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Part 1 

Section 5: Developing Understanding

Based on the information you have just identified, please consider how the impacts of your proposal could be improved upon, in 
order to balance social, environmental, economic, and equalities concerns, and minimise any negative implications. 

It is not expected that you will have all of the answers at this point, but the responses you give here should form the basis of 
further investigation and encourage you to make changes to your proposal. Such changes are to be reported in the final section.

5.1

Taking into consideration your responses about all of the impacts of the project in its current form, what would you consider 
the overall impact to be on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient city?

The Joint Plan has been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment, and has been examined by the Inspector. No negative 
equality implications are forecast to arise.  

ANNEX 6Page 580



6.3

Additional space to comment on the impacts

ANNEX 6Page 581



Informing our approach to sustainability, resilience  and fairness

1.4

Taking into consideration everything you know about the proposal in its revised form, what would you consider the overall 
impact to be on creating a fair, healthy, sustainable and resilient city? 

Your response to this question must be input under the One Planet Council implications section of the Executive report. Please 
feel free to supplement this with any additional information gathered in the tool. 

The Joint Plan has been subject to an Equality Impact Assessment, and has been examined by the Inspector. No negative 
equality implications are forecast to arise. 

1.5

Any further comments?

1.2

What changes have you made to your proposal to increase positive impacts? 

No changes considered necessary.

1.3

What changes have you made to your proposal to reduce negative impacts? 

No negative impacts anticipated. 

 'Better Decision Making' Tool 

Part 2

Section 1: Improvements

Part 2 builds on the impacts you identified in Part 1.  Please detail how you have used this information to make improvements 
to your final proposal. 

Please note that your response to question 1.4 in this section must be reported in the One Planet Council implications 
section of reports going to the Executive. 

1.1

For the areas in the 'One Planet' and 'Equalities' sections, where you were unsure of the potential impact, what have you 
done to clarify your understanding?

Potential impacts are considered to be positive and in line with national and local planning policy and as such no further work 
has been undertaken to clarify understanding. 

ANNEX 6Page 582


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 York Minster Precinct Neighbourhood Plan – Examiner’s Report and Decision Statement
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C
	Annex D
	D.1.pdf
	D.2.pdf
	D.3.pdf
	D.4.pdf
	D.5.pdf

	Annex E

	5 Adoption of Minerals and Waste Joint Plan
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Annex 5
	Annex 6
	6.1.pdf
	6.2.pdf
	6.3.pdf
	6.4.pdf
	6.5.pdf





